# ADVANCES IN PARASITOLOGY





Edited by J.R. BAKER R. MULLER D. ROLLINSON

## Advances in PARASITOLOGY

VOLUME 64

#### **Editorial Board**

- M. Coluzzi, Director, Istituto de Parassitologia, Università Degli Studi di Roma 'La Sapienza', P. le A. Moro 5, 00185 Roma, Italy
- **C. Combes**, Laboratoire de Biologie Animale, Université de Perpignan, Centre de Biologie et d'Ecologie Tropicale et Méditerranéenne, Avenue de Villeneuve, 66860 Perpignan Cedex, France
- **D. D. Despommier**, Division of Tropical Medicine and Environmental Sciences, Department of Microbiology, Columbia University, 630 West 168th Street, New York, NY 10032,USA
- J.J. Shaw, Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade de São Paulo, av. Prof Lineu Prestes 1374, 05508-990, Cidade Universitária, São Paulo, SP, Brazil
- K. Tanabe, Laboratory of Biology, Osaka Institute of Technology, 5-16-1 Ohmiya Asahi-Ku, Osaka, 535, Japan

## *Advances in* PARASITOLOGY

#### Edited by

## J.R. BAKER

Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, London, England

## **R. MULLER**

London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, England

and

## **D. ROLLINSON**

The Natural History Museum, London, England

## VOLUME 64





PRESS

📸 Amsterdam Boston Heidelberg London New York Oxford R Paris San Diego San Francisco Singapore Sydney Tokyo Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier 84 Theobald's Road, London WC1X 8RR, UK Radarweg 29, PO Box 211, 1000 AE Amsterdam, The Netherlands Linacre House, Jordan Hill, Oxford OX2 8DP, UK 30 Corporate Drive, Suite 400, Burlington, MA 01803, USA 525 B Street, Suite 1900, San Diego, CA 92101-4495, USA

First edition 2007

Copyright © 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher

Permissions may be sought directly from Elsevier's Science & Technology Rights Department in Oxford, UK: phone (+44) (0) 1865 843830; fax (+44) (0) 1865 853333; email: permissions@elsevier.com. Alternatively you can submit your request online by visiting the Elsevier web site at http://elsevier.com/locate/permissions, and selecting *Obtaining permission to use Elsevier material* 

Notice

No responsibility is assumed by the publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein. Because of rapid advances in the medical sciences, in particular, independent verification of diagnoses and drug dosages should be made

ISBN: 978-0-12-031767-7 ISSN: 0065-308X

For information on all Academic Press publications visit our website at books.elsevier.com

Printed and bound in the United Kingdom

07 08 09 10 11 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Working together to grow libraries in developing countries www.elsevier.com | www.bookaid.org | www.sabre.org

ELSEVIER BOOK AID International Sabre Foundation

## **CONTRIBUTORS TO VOLUME 64**

- T. A. BAKKE, Department of Zoology, Natural History Museum, University of Oslo, P.O. Box 1172, Blindern, NO-0318 Oslo, Norway
- A.-L. BAÑULS, Institut pour la Recherche et Développement, UMR CNRS/IRD 2724, Génétique et Evolution des Maladies Infectieuses, IRD Montpellier, 911 avenue Agropolis, 34394 Montpellier cedex 5, France
- J. CABLE, School of Biosciences, Cardiff University, Cardiff CF10 3TL, UK
- B. FRIED, Department of Biology, Lafayette College, Easton, PA 18042, USA
- T. K. GRACZYK, Division of Environmental Health Engineering, Department of Environmental Health Sciences, Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, 615 N. Wolfe Street, Baltimore, MD 21205, USA
- P. D. HARRIS, Schools of Education and Biology, University of Nottingham, Jubilee Campus, Wollaton Road, Nottingham NG8 1BB, UK
- M. HIDE, Institut pour la Recherche et Développement, Laboratoire de Génétique et Evolution des Maladies Infectieuses (UMR CNRS/ IRD 2724), Centre IRD, 911 avenue Agropolis, BP 64501, 34394 Montpellier cedex 5, France

- F. PRUGNOLLE, Institut pour la Recherche et Développement, Laboratoire de Génétique et Evolution des Maladies Infectieuses (UMR CNRS/IRD 2724), Centre IRD, 911 avenue Agropolis, BP 64501, 34394 Montpellier cedex 5, France
- M. TIBAYRENC, Institut pour la Recherche et Développement (IRD) Representative Office, French Embassy, 29 Thanon Sathorn Tai, Bangkok 10120, Thailand

## Preface

The first review in this volume, by Anne-Laure Bañuls, Mallorie Hide and Franck Prugnolle from l'Institut pour la Recherche et Développement in Montpellier, France, considers the recent advances in knowledge of the genetics of species of the genus *Leishmania* and examines the ways in which these advances can help in the interpretation of the taxonomy and population structure of the organisms themselves and the epidemiology and pathogenicity of the infections they produce in humans.

In spite of some conflicting evidence, including the rare production of hybrids between some species of *Leishmania*, the authors conclude that the parasites have a predominantly clonal structure with occasional genetic exchange occurring, not necessarily by conventional sexual processes. The species are best regarded as agamospecies, and taxonomy below the level of the genus cannot therefore be based on the concept of biological species. As morphology has long been known to be inadequate for the separation of most species of *Leishmania*, the result has been taxonomic confusion and the probable creation of an unjustified number of species. The genetic heterogeneity of the genus *Leishmania*, apparently greater in the subgenus *Viannia* than it is in the other subgenus *Leishmania*, has influenced both the epidemiology and the pathogenicity of the parasites and needs to be borne in mind when seeking to elucidate underlying concepts in these two fields.

The review by Thaddeus K. Graczyk of the Bloomberg School of Public Health at Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA and Bernard Fried of the Department of Biology of Lafayette College, Easton, USA, brings up to date recent scattered research on human waterborne helminth and protozoan infections. Trematodes considered include the fasciolids, echinostomes and eye flukes. The schistosomes are not included as they have been recently reviewed in *Advances* (volume 61, 2006). Protozoans include *Cryptosporidium*, *Giardia*, *Cyclospora*, *Toxoplasma* and microsporidia. The biological features of the life cycles of some of the parasites are reviewed as are molecular methods of diagnosis in the environment.

"Russian Doll Killers" sounds like a good title for a movie but is, in fact, a fascinating and comprehensive review of gyrodactylid monogeneans written by three experts in the field: Tor A. Bakke from the Natural History Museum in Oslo, Norway, Jo Cable from the School of Biosciences, Cardiff University, UK and Philip D. Harris from the Schools of Education and Biology, University of Nottingham, UK. The gyrodactylid monogeneans are a large and diverse group of parasites, which are biologically extremely interesting and include oviparous and viviparous genera. They are also of great economic importance to the fish industry and can devastate fish stocks. The authors consider in detail many aspects of their biology ranging from morphology through taxonomy, host specificity and behaviour, evolution and host immunity to parasite pathogenicity. Epidemics of Gyraulus salaris on Atlantic salmon in Norway are considered and there is much of interest concerning strategies for control and the potential spread of parasites to new areas.

The final paper differs somewhat from our usual reviews, insofar as it deals more with the human host than with parasites. Michel Tibayrenc, who, like the authors of the first paper, is based at the French Institut pour la Recherche et Développement, discusses susceptibility/ resistance to transmissible disease, including parasitic infections, from the viewpoint of the genetic make-up of the host rather than that of the parasite. He points out that resistance or susceptibility to infection, although based on the host's genome, is manifested phenotypically. The parasite exerts selection pressure on its host as much as the latter's immune response exerts similar pressure on the parasite, and the author makes an eloquent plea for an integrated study of this coevolutionary phenomenon. Much less is known about the interplay between the parasite's and the host's genes than about the other half of the equation, although some work has been done on identifying the loci involved in determining susceptibility or resistance to several parasitic infections, including leishmaniasis, malaria, schistosomiasis and South American trypanosomiasis. The author draws mainly on his own experience of the latter condition, human infection with *Trypanosoma cruzi*, to illustrate his discussion.

> J.R. Baker R. Muller D. Rollinson

#### A personal postscript by John R. Baker

The late Russell Lumsden, professor of medical parasitology at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, took over the editorship of Advances in Parasitology from the founding editor, Professor Ben Dawes, in 1978 with volume 16, with Ralph Muller and I, then at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine and the Medical Research Council Biochemical Parasitology Unit in Cambridge, UK, respectively, as junior editors. Professor Lumsden retired from the post in 1981, and in 1994 (volume 34) the number of editors was restored to three by the appointment of David Rollinson, of the Natural History Museum in London, UK. After 30 years, and 49 volumes, I feel that the time has come, however reluctantly, to lay down my editorial red pen (possibly wielded rather prolifically, in the view of some contributors). I have greatly enjoyed my time as co-editor, and during its course I have learned a great deal of parasitology, much of which I have, needless to say, subsequently forgotten. My collaboration and friendship with Professor Lumsden and my subsequent colleagues has been wholly enjoyable and constructive. I have also benefited greatly from getting to know, and forming friendships with, the numerous authors with whose work I have been involved. It has also been a great pleasure to have worked with a series of development editors and, due to acquisitions, a series of publishers-successively, Academic Press, Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Harcourt Brace (whatever happened to Jovanovich?) and, latterly, the publishing giant Elsevier. All of these press colleagues have been delightful to know and to work with. It is a truism, and therefore true, that without their efforts not a single volume of Advances would have reached the booksellers' shelves. I thank them all, and also our readers, without whom the series would soon have become defunct. I hope they have enjoyed and profited from reading the product as we, collectively, have enjoyed producing it. I am delighted to know that my place will be filled by Simon Hay, of the University of Oxford, UK, who has already proved his worth by guest editing two of our thematic volumes, those on Remote Sensing and Geographical Information Systems in Epidemiology (volume 47) and Global Mapping of Infectious Diseases (volume 62). The series remains in good hands and my wish and belief is that it may long continue to satisfy its readers.

## Contents

Contributors to Volume 64	v
Preface	vii

## Leishmania and the Leishmaniases: A Parasite Genetic Update and Advances in Taxonomy, Epidemiology and Pathogenicity in Humans

Anne-Laure Bañuls, Mallorie Hide and Franck Prugnolle

	Abstract	2
1.	Introduction	2
2.	General Information on the Epidemiology, Taxonomy and Life	
	Cycle of Leishmania.	4
3.	Evolutionary Genetics and Population Structure of Leishmania:	
	Impact on Taxonomy and Epidemiology	12
4.	Leishmania Genetics and Pathogenicity: What's New?	35
5.	What Genetic Research is Necessary to Advance Knowledge of	
	Leishmaniasis?	53
	Acknowledgements	70
	References	70

## Human Waterborne Trematode and Protozoan Infections

#### Thaddeus K. Graczyk and Bernard Fried

	Abstract	112
1.	Introduction	112
2.	Fasciolids	113
3.	The Genus Echinochasmus	116
4.	Philophthalmids (Eye Flukes)	120
5.	Human Waterborne Protozoan Parasites	124
6.	The Organisms	126
7.	Detection Methods for Human Waterborne Protozoan	
	Parasities	137
8.	Water Treatment	140

9.	Associations of Human Waterborne Parasites with Molluscan	
	Shellfish	141
10.	Conclusions	146
	Acknowledgments	149
	References	150

## The Biology of Gyrodactylid Monogeneans: The "Russian-Doll Killers"

#### T.A. Bakke, J. Cable and P.D. Harris

	Abstract	162
1.	Introduction	164
2.	Morphology	169
3.	Ethology	201
4.	Phylogeny: The Family Album	217
5.	Systematics: The Biological Bedrock	236
6.	Evolution and Phylogeny of Gyrodactylids	259
7.	Epidemiological Models: Bridging the Gap between Micro- and	
	Macroparasites	279
8.	Host Immunity and Parasite Pathogenicity	280
9.	Environmental Interactions	295
10.	The Gyrodactylus salaris Epidemic in Norway: Implications for	
	other Countries	306
11.	Conclusions and Future Research Areas	328
	Acknowledgements	330
	References	330

## Human Genetic Diversity and the Epidemiology of Parasitic and Other Transmissible Diseases

#### Michel Tibayrenc

	Abstract	378
	List of Abbreviations	379
1.	Introduction	380
2.	Exploring the Genetic Background of Human Genetic	
	Susceptibility to Infectious Disease	384
3.	Human Diversity Revealed by Neutral/Historical Genetic	
	Markers	391
4.	Genetically Driven Phenotypic Diversity	396

#### CONTENTS

5.	Are Races and Ethnic Groups Biologically Meaningful and	
	Medically Relevant?	400
6.	Our Genetic Inheritance has been Sculpted by Infectious	
	Diseases	406
7.	Major International Programmes that will Boost Understanding	
	of Human Genetic Diversity	407
8.	Conclusion	414
	References	415
	Glossary	423
Indi	ΕΧ	429
~		
CON	ITENTS OF VOLUMES IN THIS SERIES	445

Colour Plate Section can be found at the end of the book

This page intentionally left blank

## Leishmania and the Leishmaniases: A Parasite Genetic Update and Advances in Taxonomy, Epidemiology and Pathogenicity in Humans

Anne-Laure Bañuls\*, Mallorie Hide\* and Franck Prugnolle

Institut de Recherche pour le Développement, UMR CNRS/IRD 2724, Génétique et Evolution des Maladies Infectieuses, IRD Montpellier, 911 avenue Agropolis, 34394 Montpellier cedex 5, France

	Abstract	2
1.	Introduction	2
2.	General Information on the Epidemiology, Taxonomy and Life	
	Cycle of Leishmania.	4
	2.1. Life Cycle	4
	2.2. Taxonomy	6
	2.3. Epidemiological and Clinical Profiles	8
3.	Evolutionary Genetics and Population Structure of <i>Leishmania</i> :	
	Impact on Taxonomy and Epidemiology	12
	3.1. Leishmania Genome	12
	3.2. Molecular Tools for Epidemiology, Population Genetics and	
	Phylogeny.	15
	3.3. Population Structure of <i>Leishmania</i> : Evolutionary,	
	Epidemiological and Taxonomic Consequences	24
4.	Leishmania Genetics and Pathogenicity: What's New?	35
	4.1. Clinical Outcomes in Humans and <i>Leishmania</i> Taxonomy	35
	4.2. Experimental Data: Variations in Pathogenic Potential	
	Among and Within Species	39
	4.3. Relation Between Pathogenic Diversity in Humans and	
	Leishmania Genetic Polymorphism	41
5.	What Genetic Research is Necessary to Advance Knowledge of	
	Leishmaniasis?	53

<sup>\*</sup>These two authors contributed equally to the work.

5.1. The Remaining Gaps and How to Fill Them	54
5.2. New Genetic Approaches for <i>Leishmania</i>	58
5.3. Towards an Integrated Approach	67
Acknowledgements	70
References	70

## ABSTRACT

Leishmaniases remain a major public health problem today despite the vast amount of research conducted on Leishmania pathogens. The biological model is genetically and ecologically complex. This paper explores the advances in Leishmania genetics and reviews population structure, taxonomy, epidemiology and pathogenicity. Current knowledge of Leishmania genetics is placed in the context of natural populations. Various studies have described a clonal structure for Leishmania but recombination, pseudo-recombination and other genetic processes have also been reported. The impact of these different models on epidemiology and the medical aspects of leishmaniases is considered from an evolutionary point of view. The role of these parasites in the expression of pathogenicity in humans is also explored. It is important to ascertain whether genetic variability of the parasites is related to the different clinical expressions of leishmaniasis. The review aims to put current knowledge of Leishmania and the leishmaniases in perspective and to underline priority questions which 'leishmaniacs' must answer in various domains: epidemiology, population genetics, taxonomy and pathogenicity. It concludes by presenting a number of feasible ways of responding to these questions.

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

The parasitic protozoa of the genus *Leishmania* Ross, 1903 are the pathogenic agents responsible for leishmaniases. These parasitoses are widespread on all continents except Antarctica (distribution maps are available on the World Health Organization website: http://www.who.int/leishmaniasis/leishmaniasis\_maps/en/index.html).

Leishmaniases still constitute a major public health problem and the burden is increasing (Desjeux, 2001, 2004). In 2002, the World Health Organization (WHO) estimated the number of persons at risk to be around 350 million and the number of new cases to be 2357000 per year. Despite the huge amount of research conducted on these pathogens in numerous scientific fields since the beginning of the last century, recent studies have shown the reactivation of several foci-in Italy, China, Brazil and central Israel (Arias et al., 1996; Gradoni et al., 2003; Guan et al., 2003; Nasereddin et al., 2005)-and the emergence of new epidemic foci in northern and central Israel and Morocco (Jacobson et al., 2003; Al-Jawabreh et al., 2004; Guernaoui et al., 2005; Shani-Adir et al., 2005). Other studies indicate the undervaluation of the severity of these infections and of their socioeconomical impact (Rioux et al., 1990; Desjeux, 2001, 2004). In addition, co-infection with Leishmania and human immunodeficiency virus is becoming more and more problematic in developing and industrialized countries (southern Europe) (Desjeux, 2001, 2004; Wolday et al., 2001). Nevertheless, these diseases are still considered as neglected diseases.

For all these reasons, research on these parasites is necessary to improve diagnosis and hence epidemiological study and also to support drug and vaccine development.

Despite considerable progress in cellular and molecular biology and in evolutionary genetics, we are far from understanding how these organisms act in natural populations. They have a complex life cycle, are present in very diverse ecological niches and can infect a wide range of hosts. Furthermore, *Leishmania* spp. can produce a great variety of clinical symptoms in humans. The genetic determinants responsible for this clinical polymorphism are still unknown, making this biological model complex from ecological, genetic and phylogenetic points of view. This review explores the advances in knowledge of *Leishmania* genetics in natural populations and tackles the problems of taxonomy, epidemiology and pathogenicity with the aid of genetic data.

The first objective of this review is to present an update of the genetics of *Leishmania* and to situate the biological phenomena in

the context of natural populations. The second objective is to explore the role of these parasites in the expression of pathogenicity in humans. An important issue to address is whether the genetic variability of the parasites is linked with the different clinical expressions of infection. The third objective is to integrate current knowledge of *Leishmania* and the leishmaniases.

## 2. GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE EPIDEMIOLOGY, TAXONOMY AND LIFE CYCLE OF *LEISHMANIA*

## 2.1. Life Cycle

During their complex life cycle, *Leishmania* parasites are exposed to different extra- and intracellular environments. These organisms are digenetic parasites with two basic life cycle stages: one extracellular stage within an invertebrate host (phlebotomine sand fly) and one intracellular stage within a vertebrate host (Figure 1, which is Plate 1.1 in the separate Colour Plate Section). Thus, the parasites exist in two main morphological forms, amastigotes and promastigotes, which are found in vertebrate hosts and invertebrate hosts, respectively.

#### 2.1.1. Stages in the Invertebrate Host

The invertebrate hosts or vectors are small insects of the order Diptera, belonging to the subfamily Phlebotominae. They are commonly called phlebotomine sand flies (Figure 2, which is Plate 1.2 in the Colour Plate Section). Of the six genera described, only two are of medical importance: *Phlebotomus* of the 'Old World', divided into 12 subgenera, and *Lutzomyia* of the 'New World', divided into 25 subgenera and species groups. All known vectors of the leishmaniases are species of these two genera. Among the 500 known phlebotomine species, only 31 have been positively identified as vectors of pathogenic species of *Leishmania* and 43 as probable vectors (Killick-Kendrick, 1990, 1999). The sand fly species involved in the transmission of *Leishmania* vary from one geographical region to another but also depend on the species of *Leishmania* (see Killick-Kendrick, 1990, 1999). Like

mosquitoes, the female needs a blood meal for egg development and only the female is haematophagous.

Some phlebotomine species can support the growth of only those species of *Leishmania* with which they are infected in nature, such as *Phlebotomus papatasi* and *P. sergenti*; these species are considered to be restricted vectors (Pimenta *et al.*, 1994; Kamhawi *et al.*, 2000). By contrast, other phlebotomine species such as *Lutzomyia longipalpis* and *Phlebotomus argentipes* are permissive vectors since they are able to develop mature transmissible infections when infected with several *Leishmania* species (Pimenta *et al.*, 1994; Kamhawi *et al.*, 2000; Sadlova *et al.*, 2003; Rogers *et al.*, 2004).

Within the intermediate host, *Leishmania* develops as promastigote forms, elongated motile extracellular stages possessing a prominent free flagellum (Figure 3, which is Plate 1.3 in the Colour Plate Section). Nevertheless, a variety of different promastigote forms have been distinguished on morphological grounds (reviewed by Bates and Rogers, 2004).

#### 2.1.2. Stages in the Vertebrate Host

As stated by Shaw (1997), perhaps one of the most remarkable accomplishments of Leishmania is that they successfully parasitize the mammalian cells that are responsible for killing invaders: the macrophages. Leishmania are extremely successful parasites and natural infections are found in many different orders of mammals (Lainson and Shaw, 1987): rodents, canids, edentates, marsupials, procyonids, primitive ungulates and primates. All these mammals are considered as potential reservoirs of the disease. Humans are possible hosts of these parasites, but in the majority of cases they are considered to be accidental hosts. Shaw (1997) pointed out that a Leishmania species is far more likely to become successfully adapted to a reservoir host on which the vector feeds regularly. Although susceptible to infection with many Leishmania species whose natural hosts range from edentates to rodents (Lainson et al., 1994), humans are not bitten regularly by the vector and they are not involved in the enzootic cycle. Similarly, the golden hamster (Mesocricetus auratus) is not a natural

reservoir of any *Leishmania* but it is experimentally susceptible to most of the species that infect humans (Sinagra *et al.*, 1997; Bories *et al.*, 1998; Saravia *et al.*, 2005). This implies that mammalian host specificity may not be as restricted as the data on reservoir infections suggest. A few *Leishmania* species, such as *L. enriettii*, which has been found only in guinea pigs, may, however, present a higher degree of host specificity (Lainson *et al.*, 1994).

In the vertebrate host, the parasite evolves into an amastigote form. Amastigotes are ovoid  $(2.5-5\,\mu m$  diameter), nonmotile intracellular stages (Figure 4, which is Plate 1.4 in the Colour Plate Section). They do not have a free flagellum and are located in the parasitophorous vacuoles of the host's macrophages.

#### 2.1.3. Life Cycle

The life cycle starts when a parasitized female sand fly takes a blood meal from a vertebrate host. As the sand fly feeds, infective promastigote forms (metacyclic promastigotes) enter the vertebrate host via the insect's proboscis. The promastigotes are then phagocytosed by macrophages in which they metamorphose into amastigote forms and reproduce by binary fission. They increase in number until the cell eventually bursts and then infect other phagocytic cells to continue the cycle (Figure 1).

## 2.2. Taxonomy

The classification of *Leishmania* was initially based on ecobiological criteria such as vectors, geographical distribution, tropism, antigenic properties and clinical manifestation (Bray, 1974; Lumsden, 1974; Pratt and David, 1981; Lainson and Shaw, 1987). However, biochemical and molecular analysis showed that pathological and geographical criteria were often inadequate and thus other criteria such as the patterns of polymorphism exhibited by kinetoplastic DNA (kDNA) markers, proteins or antigens came to be used to classify *Leishmania* (Chance *et al.*, 1974; Kreutzer and Christensen, 1980; Simpson *et al.*, 1980; Arnot and Barker, 1981; Miles *et al.*, 1981; Pratt and David, 1981; De Ibarra *et al.*, 1982; Handman and Curtis, 1982;

Wirth and Pratt, 1982; Anthony *et al.*, 1985; Saravia *et al.*, 1985; Barker *et al.*, 1986; Le Blancq *et al.*, 1986). A modern scheme of classification of *Leishmania* is shown in Figure 5.

All members of the genus *Leishmania* Ross, 1903 are parasites of mammals. The two subgenera, *Leishmania* and *Viannia*, are separated on the basis of their location in the vector's intestine (Lainson and Shaw, 1987). Rioux *et al.* (1990) used isoenzyme analysis to define species complexes within the subgenera.

Initially, species classification was based on various extrinsic criteria such as clinical, geographical and biological characteristics—for example, *L. guyanensis* (isolated in Guyana), *L. peruviana* (isolated in Peru), *L. infantum* (isolated from a child in Tunisia) and *L. gerbilli* (isolated from gerbils). Since the 1970s, intrinsic criteria such as immunological, biochemical and genetic data have been used to define species of *Leishmania*. Use of these molecular techniques led to the publication of a taxonomic scheme by the World Health Organization (WHO, 1990). New methods of detection, isolation and genetic identification resulted in a massive increase in the number of species described. Today, 30 species are known and approximately 20 are pathogenic for humans (see Figure 5).



*Figure 5* Taxonomy of *Leishmania*; underlined species are or have been questioned. (Based on the scheme published by the World Health Organization [WHO, 1990] with additions from the literature.)

These species generally present different epidemiological and clinical characteristics related to different genetic and phenotypic profiles. The validity of the classification scheme, considered by some workers as too arbitrary, has been questioned several times. Debate has centred on *L. panamensis*, *L. peruviana*, *L. chagasi*, *L. infantum*, *L. archibaldi*, *L. garnhami*, *L. pifanoi*, *L. venezuelensis* and *L. forattinii* (see Bañuls *et al.*, 1999b, 2000 and unpublished data; Mauricio *et al.*, 2000, 2001; Cupolillo *et al.*, 2001) (see Figure 5). Different studies have already clarified the status of some of these species; for example, *L. chagasi* is accepted as a synonym of *L. infantum* (see Mauricio *et al.*, 2000) and *L. peruviana* has been validated as an independent species (Bañuls *et al.*, 2000). The other species listed above are still under discussion.

## 2.3. Epidemiological and Clinical Profiles

#### 2.3.1. Epidemiological and Ecological Diversity

The distribution area of the leishmaniases has been broadly subdivided into the 'New World' (the Americas) and the 'Old World' (Africa, Asia, Europe). *Leishmania* species are generally associated with one or other of the two subdivisions. All species of the subgenus *Viannia* were isolated in the 'New World', while those of the subgenus *Leishmania* were isolated from the 'Old World', except for species of the *L. mexicana* complex, *L. hertigi*, *L. deanei*—which are found in the 'New World' only—and *L. infantum/chagasi* and *L. major*, which are found in both the 'New' and 'Old Worlds'.

Leishmaniasis is a typical example of an anthropozoonosis. The majority of infections are originally zoonotic, although some cases are known of transmission of *L. donovani* from human to human. The different epidemiological cycles are (i) a primitive or sylvatic cycle (human infection is accidental, transmission occurring in wild foci), e.g. *L. braziliensis*; (ii) a secondary or peridomestic cycle (the reservoir is a peridomestic or domestic animal, the parasite being transmitted to humans by anthropophilic sand flies), e.g. *L. infantum*; and (iii) a tertiary, strictly anthroponotic cycle, in which the animal reservoir has disappeared (or not yet been identified) and the sand fly vectors

are totally anthroponotic, e.g. *L. donovani*. Nevertheless, many unknown factors remain. For example, the main animal reservoir of *L. braziliensis* is still unknown (Cupolillo *et al.*, 2003). *L. tropica* was considered to be a strict anthroponosis, but several cases of canine infection have been described (Dereure *et al.*, 1991a, b; Guessous-Idrissi *et al.*, 1997).

One of the characteristics of the Leishmania cycle is that it is associated with various biotopes. For example, in the 'New World', the transmission cycles are mainly located in the Amazonian primary forest. Nevertheless, the foci are tending to become more domestic (Lainson and Shaw, 1987; OMS, 1990). For instance, L. braziliensis, described as a 'wild' zoonosis of the primary forest area, also occurs in settled areas resulting from deforestation and agricultural development and in periurban areas (Dedet, 1993). Thus, the cycle of a Leishmania species is not restricted to one specific environment, since a single species can be found in very different environments. Several examples can be cited such as L. infantum (syn. L. chaqasi), which is present in the 'New' and 'Old Worlds' (Mauricio et al., 2000), and L. guyanensis, which is present in the Peruvian Andes and the Amazon rain forest in numerous South American countries (Lucas et al., 1998; Bañuls et al., unpublished data). Therefore, a single parasite species can develop in different sand fly species; for example, L. infantum (syn. L. chagasi) has been isolated from very different vector species such as Phlebotomus perniciosus in the 'Old World' and Lutzomvia longipalpis in the 'New World' (Martin-Sanchez et al., 1994; Ferro et al., 1995), and the specific vector of L. guyanensis is Lutzomyia umbratilis (see Ferro et al., 1995), but it has also been isolated from Lutzomvia peruensis in the Peruvian Andes (Bañuls et al., unpublished data). This environmental diversity also favours the ability of Leishmania to adapt to different vertebrate hosts; some species have been isolated from a large range of mammalian hosts (Rotureau, 2006).

Another complicating factor is the possible presence of several *Leishmania* species in a single leishmaniasis focus and thus sometimes in a single host (Lucas *et al.*, 1998; Saravia *et al.*, 1998; Martinez *et al.*, 2002; Antoniou *et al.*, 2004; Madeira *et al.*, 2006; Rotureau, 2006). These various characteristics could have played an important

role in diversification of the *Leishmania* population and in speciation (Shaw, 1997).

#### 2.3.2. Clinical Diversity and the Immune Response in Humans

(a) Clinical expression in humans. The hypothesis, based on epidemiological data, is that the majority of Leishmania species are adapted to a large range of hosts, and that the infections remain asymptomatic (Lainson and Shaw, 1987). On the other hand, in animals that are less well adapted, such as humans, infections can produce a wide range of diversified pathologies, from asymptomatic carriers and benign cutaneous lesions to more serious cases such as the visceral form. When humans are bitten by an infective sand fly, parasite inoculation can lead to the development of leishmaniasis but can also have no effect on health. The rate of asymptomatic carriers (infected individuals without clinical manifestations) is not accurately known, but different studies have suggested that it may be higher than expected. For example, in the Balearic Islands, L. infantum DNA was amplified by the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) from the blood of 22% of donors (Riera et al., 2004) and asymptomatic carriers have also been identified in Brazil (Costa et al., 2002), southern France (Le Fichoux et al., 1999) and India (Sharma et al., 2000). These data strongly suggest that asymptomatic human hosts could play an important role in transmission and could contribute to maintaining leishmaniasis foci.

Leishmaniases cause considerable morbidity and mortality. In humans, the disease occurs in at least four major forms: cutaneous, diffuse cutaneous, mucocutaneous, and visceral (Desjeux, 2004). Cutaneous leishmaniasis is frequently self-healing in the 'Old World' but, when the lesions are multiple and disabling with disfiguring scars, it creates a lifelong aesthetic stigma (Figure 6A) (Figure 6, A–D, forms Plate 1.6 in the Colour Plate Section). Its most severe form, recidivans leishmaniasis, is very difficult to treat, long-lasting, destructive and disfiguring. Diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis occurs in individuals with a defective cell-mediated immune response (Figure 6C). Its severity is due to disseminated lesions, resembling those of lepromatous leprosy, which never heal spontaneously, and it is subject to relapse after treatment with any of the currently available drugs. Because of the devastating consequences to the patient, it is recognized as a special public health problem. Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis, also known as espundia, causes extensive destruction of oro-nasal and pharyngeal cavities with hideously disfiguring lesions, mutilation of the face and great life-long distress for the patient (see Figure 6B). Visceral leishmaniasis, also known as kala-azar, is the most severe form (nearly always fatal if left untreated), characterized by undulating fever, loss of weight, splenomegaly, hepatomegaly and/or lymphadenopathies and anaemia (Figure 6D). It causes large-scale epidemics with a high fatality rate. After recovery, patients may develop a chronic cutaneous form called post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis (PKDL), which usually requires long and expensive treatment. PKDL is normally a sequel to kala-azar treatment, although some cases have been reported with no history of kala-azar. PKDL usually appears within two years of complete cure of the visceral infection, and commences with the appearance of mottling of the skin, resembling freckles. Five to fifteen percent of visceral leishmaniasis patients in India develop postkalaazar dermal leishmaniasis, usually 1-2 years after apparent clinical cure (Salotra and Singh, 2006).

It appears that the different clinical forms are closely related to the adaptive immune response of the host, especially the equilibrium between cellular and humoral immunity. The nature of the pathogen, notably the species, seems to be a strong factor as well. Nevertheless, how *Leishmania* spp. cause human diseases and why the clinical symptoms are so variable remain enigmatic. These wide-ranging differences in clinical manifestations in human infection (virulence or degree of pathogenicity) have been discussed by Chang *et al.* (1999, 2003) and Chang and McGwire (2002).

(b) *The immune response in human leishmaniasis.* Since many individuals remain asymptomatic (see Section 2.3.2 (a) above), it is obvious that the natural immune response of humans can eliminate or control the parasites. As described above, macrophages are the first host cells to contact and be parasitized by *Leishmania*. They are key cells in the host immune defence (Basu and Ray, 2005). These cells, as well as dendritic cells, present the parasite antigens to T cell receptors, via the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules (Klein and Sato, 2000; Zinkernagel and Hengartner, 2001). This

is the acquired immune response. This step is fundamental since it may influence the type of immune response (Dennert, 1974; Kisielow *et al.*, 1975; Mosmann *et al.*, 1986) depending on the cytokine context and on the *Leishmania* peptides presented. Thus, *Leishmania* parasites have evolved mechanisms to evade or interfere with antigen presentation processes, making it possible to partially resist the T cell-mediated immune responses (Antoine *et al.*, 2004).

These escape strategies appear complex and various since, in humans, different patterns of immunological response are observed according to the clinical manifestation and exposure to different Leishmania species. Briefly, different T cell responses are observed among the different cutaneous forms of leishmaniasis: an absence of a Th1 response (rather than presence of Th2) in diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis; a Th1 response in patients with self-healing lesions (Kemp et al., 1994; Ajdary et al., 2000; Kemp, 2000); and a mixed Th1/Th2 response with high interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) levels in patients with mucocutaneous leishmaniasis (Carvalho et al., 1985; Melby et al., 1994; Louzir et al., 1998; Bacellar et al., 2002). In visceral leishmaniasis, a mixed Th1/Th2 response is observed with production of IFN- $\gamma$  along with interleukin-10 (IL-10) (Ghalib et al., 1993; Kenney et al., 1998). However, individuals with asymptomatic or subclinical infections of visceralizing species of Leishmania show peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) proliferation and production of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-12; in cured patients, both Th1 and Th2 clones producing IFN- $\gamma$ and IL-4 have been isolated (Kemp et al., 1993).

## 3. EVOLUTIONARY GENETICS AND POPULATION STRUCTURE OF *LEISHMANIA*: IMPACT ON TAXONOMY AND EPIDEMIOLOGY

### 3.1. Leishmania Genome

#### 3.1.1. Nuclear Genome

The Leishmania major genome project, begun in 1994, has had considerable success. The sequencing of Leishmania major is finished (see the website http://www.sanger.ac.uk/Projects/L\_major) and the sequencing of *L. braziliensis* and *L. infantum* is in progress (Ivens *et al.*, 2005). The determination of these *Leishmania* genome sequences will be a milestone for *Leishmania* research. The genome of *L. major* has been evaluated at 32.8 Mb distributed on 36 chromosome pairs. 'Old World' *Leishmania* species have 36 chromosome pairs (0.28–2.8 Mb) (Wincker *et al.*, 1996), whereas the 'New World' species have 34 or 35, with chromosomes 8 and 29, and 20 and 36, fused in the *L. mexicana* group and 20 and 34 in the *L. braziliensis* group (Britto *et al.*, 1998). The chromosomes are linear, between 200 and 4000 kb in length, and possess telomeres, but centromeres have not been identified (Lighthall and Giannini, 1992). Chromosome size variability is characteristic of some *Leishmania* species, even between homologous chromosomes (Blaineau *et al.*, 1991), which complicates the use of the karyotype for taxonomic studies.

From the *L. major* genome, 911 RNA genes, 39 pseudogenes and 8272 protein-coding genes (36% of which have a putative function) were predicted. The genome has a G+C content of 59.7% (Ivens *et al.*, 2005). *Leishmania* genes are often organized in tandem arrays or at least have two or more copies spread through the genome (Bard, 1989).

Sequence analysis revealed a density of one gene every 3.5 kb. Previous studies have established that 30% of the genome is composed of repeated elements, roughly half of which are telomeric/subtelomeric repeats, the rest being dispersed transposons, repeated genes and other simple repeated sequences. None of the protein-encoding genes of Leishmania studied to date contains introns, simplifying the identification of these genes in the genomic DNA. The first comparisons with other genomes revealed that gene order is highly conserved among the 30 Leishmania species, although interloci distances may vary (Ravel et al., 1999). Nevertheless, a high level of polymorphism exists in nucleic acid sequences (Beverley et al., 1987; Ravel et al., 1999). Indeed, Beverley et al. (1987) estimated that nuclear DNA sequence divergence based on restriction patterns among the major lineages of Leishmania ranged from 13% to 25%, which is comparable to that observed between animal species that diverged 10-80 million years ago (Britten, 1986; Beverley et al., 1987). This level of divergence has been confirmed by Ravel *et al.* (1999) based on the comparison of *L. major* and *L. infantum* genomes. The complete genome sequencing of *L. braziliensis* and *L. infantum* will provide information about the true genetic divergence between these species.

Several studies suggest that *Leishmania* chromosomes are mainly diploid (Iovannisci *et al.*, 1984; Beverley, 1988), with some chromosomes being aneuploid (Bard, 1989). Until the mid-1990s, *Leishmania* was considered an aneuploid organism. Now diploidy of *Leishmania* is widely accepted (Wong, 1995). The ploidy level was challenged since gene amplification is a frequent mechanism by which *Leishmania* resists the action of cytotoxic or environmental pressures (Beverley, 1991). Nevertheless, Cruz *et al.* (1993) demonstrated that these relatively frequent phenomena transform *Leishmania* into facultative or transient aneuploids.

Even though the three classical RNA polymerases (pol I, II and III) have been detected in trypanosomatids (Cornelissen et al., 1990), Leishmania exhibits an unusual combination of gene expression mechanisms (Donelson et al., 1999). In trypanosomatids, including Leishmania, most gene transcription is polycistronic (Kapler and Beverley, 1989), followed by processing reactions including a coupling of transsplicing and polyadenylation. Genes are initially transcribed into large polycistronic precursor RNAs 60 kb or more in length, which are cleaved into monocistronic mRNAs by the action of two intergenic RNA cleavage reactions, trans-splicing of a 39 nucleotides spliced leader to generate the 5' ends of all mRNAs, and 3' cleavage/polyadenylation to create the 3' ends (Ullu et al., 1993; Donelson et al., 1999). Efficient 5' trans-RNA splicing typically occurs at a short consensus sequence preceded by a polypyrimidine tract (Matthews et al., 1994). Little is known about the mechanism of transcription initiation in trypanosomatids, and only a few promoters have been functionally analysed (Clayton, 2002). Different processes of protein modification occur within Leishmania (phosphorylation, glycosylation and lipidation for stabilization and/or activation). Several major modifications have been described and shown to be essential, namely glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor addition, acylation (including Nmyristoylation and palmitoylation) and prenylation, all of which facilitate membrane attachment and/or protein-protein interactions.



*Figure 7* Kinetoplast DNA (kDNA) of *Leishmania*. The kDNA is a network containing thousands of catenated DNA molecules (minicircles and maxicircles) (electron micrograph by Michèle M. Klingbeil, reproduced with permission).

#### 3.1.2. Kinetoplast DNA

The kDNA is the mitochondrial DNA of the Kinetoplastida and constitutes 10–20% of the total DNA (Simpson, 1987). It is a network of concatenated circular DNA (see Figure 7), divided into two classes: the homogenous maxicircles (~25–50 molecules of 20 kb) and the heterogeneous minicircles (~0.8 kb), which have many (~10<sup>4</sup>) copies. The maxicircle is the functional counterpart of the mitochondrial DNA even though its role in the editing of uracil residues into mRNA nucleotides has been demonstrated (León *et al.*, 1996). The minicircles encode guide RNAs (gRNA) for editing cytochrome oxidase subunit III mRNA (Sturm and Simpson, 1990). Also, Singh and Rastogi (1999) have described an unprecedented open reading frame in the variable region of one of the minicircle sequence classes of *L. donovani*, which is transcribed and translated to a protein product.

## 3.2. Molecular Tools for Epidemiology, Population Genetics and Phylogeny

The only way to detect the true genetic diversity of an organism is sequencing several entire genomes from different isolates of natural populations. Since it is not yet possible to sequence the whole genome of *Leishmania* populations, in the last few decades, many different molecular methods based on DNA 'fingerprints' have been developed. Several molecular techniques are available to explore the genetic diversity of *Leishmania* populations. Only the main molecular techniques classically used for the study of genetic diversity in a natural population will be discussed here.

#### 3.2.1. Multilocus Enzyme Electrophoresis and Multilocus Sequence Typing

For epidemiological purposes, the most useful taxonomic technique has long been isoenzyme analysis or multilocus enzyme electrophoresis (MLEE) (Miles et al., 1980; Evans et al., 1984; Rioux et al., 1990; WHO, 1990). This technique is still considered the 'gold standard' for Leishmania species identification and genetic diversity studies. MLEE detects different alleles of housekeeping genes by scoring the electrophoretic mobility of the enzymes they encode. Mobility differences usually reflect differences in the charge (amino acid sequence) of proteins, and thus nucleotide differences in the genes encoding them. In MLEE data analysis, it was generally assumed that isolates exhibiting the same mobility for a given enzyme contain the same allele of the underlying gene. This technique can be performed on starch gel or acetate gel (see Figure 8 for an example of MLEE on acetate gel). A zymodeme consists of all the strains showing exactly the same profiles for all the enzymatic systems under study (the number of enzymatic systems used depending on the study). This technique remains one of most frequently used molecular techniques for Leishmania species identification and zymodeme characterization. Indeed, there are international databases in the WHO reference centres composed of worldwide zymodemes. Nevertheless, this technique has several disadvantages. First, it requires mass culture of Leishmania and use of a large amount of protein. Second, it is very timeconsuming, labour-intensive, costly and technically demanding. Third, it has relatively poor discriminatory power since nucleotide substitutions that do not change the amino acid composition remain undetected, as do changes in the amino acid composition that do not



*Figure 8* Multilocus enzyme electrophoretic (MLEE) profiles of nucleoside hydrolase substrate inosine on acetate plates from various species and hybrid strains of *Leishmania*. Lane 1: *L. amazonensis*; lanes 2, 3, 5, 10, 11 and 12: *L. braziliensis*; lane 4: mixed infection of *L. braziliensis* and *L. amazonensis*; lane 6: *L. infantum*; lanes 7 and 8: hybrids between *L. braziliensis* and *L. guyanensis*; lane 11: *L. guyanensis*.

modify the electrophoretic mobility. Thus MLEE is not well adapted for microepidemiology. For example, the most famous L. infantum zymodeme, MON1, is responsible for the majority of visceral leishmaniasis cases around the Mediterranean basin. This zymodeme was revealed to be more genetically heterogeneous and was shown to be polyphyletic with better resolving molecular markers (Hide et al., 2001; Ochsenreither et al., 2006). This technique was also confusing from a taxonomical point of view. For example, the distinction between L. donovani and L. infantum does not appear robust since it is based on only one enzymatic system, GOT (glutamate-oxaloacetate transaminase). Therefore, one zymodeme, MON30, was long identified as L. infantum, whereas recent analyses with various markers have shown that it is L. donovani (see Jamjoom et al., 2004; Zemanova et al., 2004). One of the advantages of this technique is its codominant character, which can easily identify heterozygous profiles and thus potential hybrids (see Figure 8). Furthermore, if the proteins are highly polymeric, the distinction can be made between a heterozygous profile and a mixed infection, which is not the case for microsatellite markers, for example (see below).

MLEE was developed when the ability to sequence DNA rapidly could hardly be imagined and, although the method is now dated, the concept of indexing variation at multiple loci remains as valid as ever. A modification of this method, multilocus sequence typing (MLST), which takes advantage of the speed and simplicity of automated DNA sequencing, was described at the end of the 1990s and had many important advantages over the other methods available at the time (reviewed by Enright and Spratt, 1999). MLST is based on the well-tested principles of MLEE but identifies the alleles at each locus directly by nucleotide sequencing. As nucleotide sequencing reveals all of the variation at a locus, the number of alleles found per locus is much higher than with MLEE, and sequences of 450-500 bp internal fragments of only seven housekeeping genes are determined for each isolate. This length of DNA fragment was chosen as it can be sequenced accurately on both strands using a single pair of primers and, in most pathogens, it provides sufficient variation to identify many different alleles within the population (see the review by Enright and Spratt, 1999). This technique was first used for bacterial pathogens (Enright and Spratt, 1998; Maiden et al., 1998; Feil et al., 1999) and today it remains largely exploited and considered as the reference technique for several bacterial organisms (Bougnoux et al., 2006; Perez-Losada et al., 2006; Vivoni et al., 2006) and has been very little used for Leishmania. Indeed, only one analysis similar to MLST has been performed very recently on the L. donovani complex (Mauricio et al., 2006). These authors demonstrated that the technique could be applied directly to clinical samples or to small-volume cultures. Furthermore, it can be used to detect recombination indirectly and for population genetics studies (Mauricio et al., 2006).

#### 3.2.2. Molecular Karyotyping

Trypanosomatid chromosomes have been studied using pulse field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) and variations on this technique such as

orthogonal field alternate gel electrophoresis (OFAGE), since there is no evidence available for typical chromosome condensation during mitosis (Bishop and Miles, 1987; Lighthall and Giannini, 1992; León *et al.*, 1996). This technique allowed separation and visualization of the *Leishmania* chromosomes. A PFGE-karyotype is the simplest type of physical map. During continuous field electrophoresis, DNA above 30–50 kb migrates with the same mobility regardless of size. This is seen in a gel as a single large diffuse band. If, however, the DNA is forced to change direction during electrophoresis, different sized fragments within this diffuse band begin to separate from each other. With each reorientation of the electric field relative to the gel, smaller sized DNA will begin moving in the new direction more quickly than the larger DNA; thus, the larger DNA lags behind and is separated from the smaller DNA.

This technique also has been extensively used for genetic characterization of Leishmania populations (Blaineau et al., 1992; Dujardin et al., 1993a, b, 1994, 1995a, b, c, 1998; Katakura et al., 1993; Bañuls et al., 2000; Pacheco et al., 2000; Guerbouj et al., 2001). Karyotype variability has been shown to result mainly from chromosomal rearrangement, an event taking place at a rate different from the rate of point mutations (Wilson et al., 1974). In the genus Leishmania, molecular karyotype displays extensive plasticity as well as conserved characters (Lighthall and Giannini, 1992). Two types of protocols were developed to study genetic polymorphism in Leishmania populations: size determination of chromosomal bands on ethidium bromide-stained OFAGE gels (Pagès et al., 1989; Giannini et al., 1990; Blaineau et al., 1992) and size determination of chromosomes following hybridization with probes for genes such as the mini-exon gene or psa-2 or gp63 (Giannini et al., 1986, 1990; Dujardin et al., 1993a; Guerbouj et al., 2001). Molecular karyotyping seems particularly appropriate for studying recent evolutionary divergence, including eco-geographical diversification, because of its rapid rate of evolution (resulting essentially from amplification/deletion of tandemly repeated genes). Despite this fast chromosome evolutionary rate, significant differences may be observed between major lineages, probably corresponding to major and less frequent rearrangements (fusion/fission, translocation) (Dujardin et al., 2000).

#### 3.2.3. Microsatellites

For more than 15 years, microsatellite markers have been extensively used to study the population genetics of various organisms (Goldstein and Schlotterer, 1999). Microsatellites (also known as short tandem repeats or STRs) are short stretches of DNA in which a motif of 1-6 bp is repeated, often up to 60 times. They show substantial allelic diversity at a large number of loci and are distributed throughout the genome, inherited in a Mendelian fashion and co-dominant (Litt and Luty, 1989). Microsatellites are easy to clone (therefore banks can be established) and characterized, and they display considerable polymorphism because of variation in the number of repeat units. This high variability makes them the most useful molecular markers now available for use in genetic typing of individuals or of larger populations (Bruford and Wayne, 1993) and also for constructing highresolution genetic maps to identify susceptibility loci involved in common genetic diseases (Hearne et al., 1992). Zhu et al. (2000) reported that microsatellites were among the fastest evolving DNA sequences, with length mutation rates ranging from  $10^{-2}$  to  $10^{-5}$  per generation. The most likely mechanism for length variation is mutation in the repeat number due to slippage during replication (Schlotterer and Tautz, 1992; Strand et al., 1993; Weber and Wong, 1993). It is thought that microsatellite markers occur within all eukaryotic organisms. If this is indeed true, then it is reasonable to expect that they are capable of playing a significant role in the study of parasite population genetics, as they have done in similar studies for vertebrates. Nevertheless, in Leishmania or Trypanosoma cruzi only a few genetic structure studies have made use of these markers. In the genus Leishmania, microsatellites have been under-exploited so far for population genetics or microepidemiology studies. Furthermore, the few studies published have used these markers mainly to examine allopatric samples. Nevertheless, these studies showed the advantages of microsatellite study for the population genetic approach in this genus. Several microsatellite loci have been reported in a few Leishmania taxa such as the L. donovani complex (Bulle et al., 2002; Jamjoom et al., 2002; Ochsenreither et al., 2006), L. tropica (see Schwenkenbecher et al., 2004, 2006) and the subgenus Viannia (see Rodriguez *et al.*, 1997; Russell *et al.*, 1999). This technique has made it possible to reveal more intraspecific genetic polymorphism and higher frequencies of heterozygous loci than previously (Schwenkenbecher *et al.*, 2004, 2006). Thus, their potential interest for intraspecific genetic study has been proved. Unfortunately, there has been no rigorous study of population genetics using these markers in the genus *Leishmania*. It is worth noting that these markers are not suitable for phylogenic studies of *Leishmania* at a supraspecific level since they are generally specific for only one species or one complex and they evolve too rapidly.

#### 3.2.4. PCR-RFLP, RAPD and SCAR

Methods to genotype strains within parasite species using rapid PCRbased assays have provided valuable tools to study the genetic diversity of parasites. DNA amplification by PCR from low numbers of parasites in small sample volumes can overcome the limitations imposed by culture *in vitro* of clinical or field isolates, which may lead to selective growth and selection of strains. The PCR-based methods used most often for genotyping are PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism (PCR-RFLP), random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), and sequence-confirmed amplified region analysis (SCAR). These are rapid and simple tools which have been recently applied in molecular epidemiological studies. They provide useful information on the nature and extent of genetic diversity of parasite populations in a specific geographical location.

RFLP was long used to replace sequencing. PCR-RFLP remains in wide use today. This method detects minor variations in a gene where a single base substitution has either created or abolished a site capable of being digested by a specific restriction endonuclease. This methodology has been applied to various genes in the genus *Leishmania* such as the *gp63* coding sequences (Victoir *et al.*, 1998; Mauricio *et al.*, 2001), kDNA amplification (Ferroglio *et al.*, 2006), the cysteine proteinase B gene (*cpb*) (Tintaya *et al.*, 2004) and miniexon sequences (Marfurt *et al.*, 2003). Recently, Rotureau *et al.* (2006) demonstrated that this technique, based on a small subunit and internal transcribed
spacer 1 of the rRNA genes, has many advantages over MLEE: (i) it differentiated the most medically relevant *Leishmania* species using only one enzyme (RsaI), (ii) it could be used directly on human biopsy specimens (sensitivity = 85.7%) and (iii) it revealed great diversity of several enzymes and thus could also be useful for taxonomic, ecological and epidemiological studies in space and time.

The PCR-RFLP method for genotyping relies on prior knowledge of the DNA sequence to be amplified. However, with RAPD, no DNA sequence knowledge is required, as only one relatively short oligonucleotide of arbitrary sequence is utilized in the PCR. This technique provides an effective method for obtaining genetic markers with all sorts of organisms (Welsh and McClelland, 1990; Williams et al., 1990; Welsh et al., 1991, 1992). The RAPD method identifies polymorphisms that are detected as DNA fragments, amplified by PCR, that are present in one but not in another individual or strain. Short oligonucleotides (about 10-mer) of arbitrary nucleotide sequences are often used as amplifying primers, although nonrandom longer primers have proved useful for certain purposes (Welsh et al., 1991). Normally a number of short oligonucleotides are tested individually and those which result in reproducible banding patterns are used for genetic studies. Since the oligonucleotides are capable of binding to any complementary DNA, there is a high risk of DNA contamination. Using this technique, DNA 'fingerprinting' and genetic variation have been described for many parasites and have been extensively used for studying the structure of natural populations (Tibayrenc et al., 1993; Mauricio et al., 1999; Bañuls et al., 2000). RAPD proved to be informative in differentiating Leishmania species and some intraspecific lineages (see, e.g., Hide et al., 2001; Zemanova et al., 2004). Furthermore, it is rapid and simple to use. Thus, RAPD is often used in molecular studies (Cuervo et al., 2004; Indiani de Oliveira et al., 2004; Martin-Sanchez et al., 2004; De Castro et al., 2005). The main drawbacks of this technique are that (i) bands of equal electrophoretic mobility may not be homologous, (ii) recognition of allelic variants of randomly amplified polymorphic DNA markers is difficult in the absence of crossing data and so it is normally impossible to distinguish homozygous from heterozygous genotypes at specific loci with this technique, and (iii) the technique is not very reproducible.

#### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

Genetic markers identified by sequence-confirmed amplified region analysis (SCAR) have been successfully applied to population genetic studies in fungi (reviewed by Taylor et al., 1999). These markers have two advantages: (i) they seem to represent a random sample of genetic variation in natural populations and (ii) they can easily be amplified by conventional PCR techniques using only minute quantities of even partially degraded DNA. These markers were initially amplified by PCR using random primers and subsequently analysed by single-strand conformation polymorphism and direct sequencing. They were used to assess levels of genetic variation, heterozygosity and genotype segregation in different strains of L. donovani (see Lewin et al., 2002). The markers are co-dominant since they can detect all possible allele combinations in a diploid organism and may, therefore, be very useful for population genetic analysis of Leishmania. This technique has also been used for genetic characterization of Trypanosoma cruzi (see Brisse et al., 2000). The authors concluded that the excellent correspondence of these PCR markers with the phylogenetic lineages, allied with their sensitivity, made them reliable tools for lineage identification and strain characterization in T. cruzi; this approach could be generalized to any species of microorganism harbouring clear-cut phylogenetic subdivisions. Despite all the advantages described, SCAR has not been extensively used for Leishmania. The main drawback of this technique is that the PCR fragments must be cloned and labelled radioactively. Thus, SCAR is time-consuming, labour-intensive, costly and technically demanding.

#### 3.2.5. Kinetoplast DNA

Leishmania kDNA has mainly been used as a diagnostic tool to detect small amounts of parasite DNA in biological materials because of its highly repetitive character (see the reviews by Barker, 1989 and Wilson, 1995 for more detail). kDNA is a useful target for PCR due to the abundance of minicircles. The high degree of sequence heterogeneity makes kDNA useful for taxonomic and genetic purposes. Studies have shown that kDNA, and especially the minicircle sequences, have a significant degree of polymorphism together with some highly conserved regions (McCann et al., 1999; Franco et al., 2000: Brewster and Barker, 2002). Based on these properties, kDNA is also used as a target to study genetic polymorphism at specific and intraspecific levels. Two types of approach have been developed: (i) PCR amplification of kDNA minicircles by specific primers followed by cleavage of PCR fragments by different restriction endonucleases (RFLP) (Kapoor et al., 1998; Berzunza-Cruz et al., 2000; Rodriguez-Gonzalez et al., 2006); (ii) PCR amplification of kDNA minicircles using general kinetoplastid primers, which generates a polymorphic multi-banding pattern for all Leishmania species and other Kinetoplastida, followed by hybridization of the PCR products with specific kDNA probes (Brenière et al., 1999). The banding patterns produced were generally very heterogeneous, making kDNA-PCR useful for differentiating closely related strains and for 'fingerprinting' individual strains. A combination of kDNA-PCR fingerprinting and hybridization with kDNA probes was found to be useful for both sensitive detection and direct identification of Leishmania species complexes (Brenière et al., 1999). However, this technique is also labour-intensive and costly.

## 3.3. Population Structure of *Leishmania*: Evolutionary, Epidemiological and Taxonomic Consequences

## 3.3.1. Population Structure, Reproductive System and Recombination Events

Different evolutionary mechanisms such as migration, selection and genetic drift play a fundamental role in the genetic distribution in natural populations, but reproduction is the basic biological process influencing the population genetic structure. Identifying the reproductive system is all the more essential since it governs the allelic and genetic distribution in natural populations and conditions the stability of genotypes in space and time (Tibayrenc, 1995; Ayala, 1998; Spratt and Maiden, 1999). Therefore, this has important consequences from an epidemiological and medical point of view (strain typing, pathogenicity, vector specificity and susceptibility to drugs and vaccines). For pathogenic microorganisms such as some bacteria and parasitic protozoa, the clarification of population structure provides unique insights into crucial public health issues, including the appearance and persistence of variants escaping immunity or the emergence of resistance to antibiotics (Tibayrenc and Ayala, 1991; Musser, 1996; Levin et al., 1999; Spratt and Maiden, 1999; Smith et al., 2000). Consequently, it appears incontestable that knowledge of the reproductive system is essential to exploit molecular epidemiological data fully. Prugnolle et al. (2005) explained that the study of population genetic structure is crucial for the understanding of microevolutionary processes (Nevo et al., 1984; Nadler, 1995). Furthermore, for small organisms and in particular parasites, the analysis of genetic variation at different hierarchical levels is often the only way to investigate natural population characteristics such as gene flow and breeding strategies (Nadler, 1995). Population genetic structure can also constitute a powerful tool to investigate epidemiological patterns (Paterson and Viney, 2000).

Pathogenic organisms including bacteria, parasitic protozoa and trematodes have a range of breeding strategies, but the most startling life-history trait of these organisms is that within a genus or even in a single species they are able to use several breeding strategies either (i) depending on the stage of the life cycle, e.g. *Plasmodium falciparum* (see Razakandrainibe *et al.*, 2005), *Toxoplasma gondii* (see Ajzenberg *et al.*, 2004) and trematodes (see Prugnolle *et al.*, 2005) or (ii) independently of the cycle but as a function of environmental pressures (known or unknown), e.g. *Trypanosoma brucei* (see MacLeod *et al.*, 2000), *Trypanosoma cruzi* (see Brisse *et al.*, 2000) and *Neisseria meningitidis* (see Smith *et al.*, 2000).

*Leishmania* also has complex breeding strategies and can implement various evolutionary processes. The first descriptions of *Leishmania* population structure were the subject of debate until the mid-1990s. These parasites were included in the clonal model by Tibayrenc *et al.* (1990). However, other authors have challenged this hypothesis based on pulse field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) data and have proposed that some *Leishmania* populations are potentially panmictic (Bastien *et al.*, 1992; Blaineau *et al.*, 1992). This hypothesis was also investigated using *L. peruviana*. The genetic markers used in the study gave

apparently conflicting results. OFAGE data showed no apparent departure from panmictic expectations, while RAPD results showed considerable linkage disequilibrium (different reproduction models can produce linkage disequilibrium such as self-hybridization, autogamy, consanguinity and clonality). Indeed, putative parental OFAGE genotypes and all possible offspring combinations were present in the same sample (Dujardin et al., 1993b). Blaineau et al. (1992) described a similar apparent genetic equilibrium in chromosomal variability in a population of L. infantum from the Pyrenean valleys in France and they explained it by either random genetic exchange or a high rate of recurrent chromosomal mutations. Accumulation of chromosomal rearrangements might explain the apparent discrepancy between OFAGE and RAPD results and this phenomenon has been extensively described. It is mainly the result of amplification/deletion of repeated sequences (Iovannisci and Beverley, 1989; Victoir et al., 1995) and a very fast molecular 'clock' (Dujardin et al., 1998). However, even if such mechanisms might theoretically generate all the observed combinations, it is still not clear whether they could lead to frequencies that meet panmictic expectations. A last hypothesis to account for apparent panmixia in OFAGE data might be the occurrence of pseudo-recombination in Leishmania populations. This could happen without sexual exchange, in three steps. First, rearrangement might occur in one chromosome of a pair of homologues, as described elsewhere (Iovannisci and Beverley, 1989; Dujardin et al., 1994; Wincker et al., 1996). Secondly, this parasite might become tetraploid (totally or for this chromosome alone) under stress conditions, as shown by experiments in vitro (Cruz et al., 1993). Return to diploidy might generate apparent patterns of segregation (or linkage equilibrium if considering two chromosomes) of chromosomal variants without affecting the genetic loci characterized by RAPD. These phenomena have also been demonstrated in vitro since the molecular karyotype of an L. peruviana strain changed during long-term cultivation (Dujardin et al., 2007). Thus, the hypothesis proposed was that Leishmania presented a basically clonal population structure with the occurrence of pseudo-recombination events. These evolutionary processes could explain the divergence which existed in the literature concerning the clonality or sexuality of Leishmania. Concurrently with these phenomena of intrachromosomic recombinations, Victoir *et al.* (2005) suggested mechanisms of intragenic recombination. From a study of the organization of the gene *gp63* (or *msp*, *major surface protein*) the authors provided evidence of a mosaic structure in *Leishmania*. This type of structure is normally encountered in a sexual species (Kapur *et al.*, 1995; Maiden, 1998; Putaporntip *et al.*, 2002) and is generally attributable to reciprocal crossing over and segmental gene conversion, as reported in *Trypanosma brucei* by Victoir *et al.* (2005). In *Leishmania*, gene amplification, which is a common phenomenon (Iovannisci and Beverley, 1989; Inga *et al.*, 1998; Kebede *et al.*, 1999), and the linkage of *gp63* genes with subtelomeric regions, which are known to be especially turbulent (Inga *et al.*, 1998; Wickstead *et al.*, 2003), might be responsible for these mosaic structures.

Concerning interindividual recombinations, some studies suggest genetic exchange in Leishmania despite the lack of evidence for a sexual stage. For example, in the 'New World', hybrids between L. braziliensis and L. peruviana, and L. guyanensis and L. braziliensis, have been described (Da-Cruz et al., 1992; Belli et al., 1994; Dujardin et al., 1995a; Bañuls et al., 1997) and in the 'Old World' hybrids have been reported between L. major and L. arabica (see Evans et al., 1987; Kelly et al., 1991) and between L. infantum and L. donovani (Hide et al., 2006 and in press). Furthermore, Kreutzer et al. (1994) demonstrated by quantitative microspectrophotometry that nuclear fusion or sexual reproduction takes place in the intracellular amastigote form. This has been confirmed by Youssef et al. (1997) in amastigotes and promastigotes stained using the Feulgen procedure followed by determination of nuclear DNA content using computerized image analysis. Nevertheless, this is the only evidence obtained in vitro of possible sexual events. It is worth noting that molecular data suggest that, after a hybridization event, hybrids are clonally propagated in a natural population, e.g. the Leishmania sample from Huanuco (Dujardin et al., 1995a) or hybrids between L. braziliensis and L. guyanensis from Ecuador (Bañuls et al., 1997). To date, the hypothesis is that Leishmania has a clonal population structure with the occurrence of genetic exchanges that are not frequent enough to disturb the propagation of clones stable in space and time. Nevertheless,

much remains to be elucidated since contradictions remain in the model such as the absence of excess heterozygosity and the lack of a clear structure in individualized lineages at an intraspecific level, elements that would normally be expected in a clonal model (unpublished observations). In Section 5 (p. 53) recommendations are provided to advance knowledge of the population structure and develop a reproduction model of these organisms.

### 3.3.2. Genetic Processes and Evolutionary Significance

As described above, *Leishmania* species must adapt to varied and heterogeneous environments during their life cycle. Efficient biological mechanisms are essential for the long-term and short-term survival of the parasite. It seems evident that the different processes described above—asexual multiplication, gene amplification, occasional interindividual recombination, and intrachromosomic and intragenic recombination—might be evolutionarily advantageous for *Leishmania*.

First, it is postulated that the asexual model contributes to parasite fitness and that sexual recombination would not be necessary for the production of a large repertoire of genotypes (Ayala, 1998; Victoir and Dujardin, 2002). Furthermore, the evolutionary consequences of this model are the propagation of independently evolving clonal lineages, with or without rare genetic recombination between them, significant genetic diversity between the lineages and an association between genes (linkage disequilibrium) (Ayala, 1998). According to the model proposed by Lythgoe (2000), *Leishmania* may have developed asexual mechanisms for generating a large range of genotypes in order to ensure parasite fitness in various environmental conditions.

Second, concerning the occasional sexual recombinations, Awadalla (2003) detailed the evolutionary significance of recombination in pathogenic species. Analysis of different models, from obligatory sexual species to optionally asexual and sexual species, indicates that optional sex endows these taxa with an alternative mechanism, other than mutation, to generate new multilocus genotypes with different types of fitness (Awadalla, 2003). This hypothesis was confirmed by

#### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

Otto and Lenormand (2002), who also postulated that most of the evolutionary hypotheses for sex stem from the idea that sex generates greater variability because chromosomal segregation and recombination break down genetic associations. The different authors agree that genetic exchange enhances the diversity of the species' repertoire and thus might influence the maintenance of antigenically distinct strains, which has been clearly demonstrated in Trvpanosoma brucei (see Gupta et al., 1996; Hastings and Wedgwood-Oppenheim, 1997). Another hypothesis to explain the occasional occurrence of sexual recombination has been proposed for the pathogen yeast Candida albicans, the prevailing mode of reproduction of which in natural populations is also clonal, with rare sexual events (Nebavi et al., 2006). With these organisms, mating can occur only between specific genotypes (homozygous at a particular locus, called mating-type locus or MTL), and this is extremely rare or absent (Nebavi et al., 2006). The same hypothesis can also be applied to Leishmania, i.e. the ability to recombine only between specific genotypes, since to date very few hybrids have been reported, almost always between the same species (Darce et al., 1991; Belli et al., 1994; Bañuls et al., 1997).

Third, gene amplification and gene duplication are both biological mechanisms which can modulate gene expression to enable rapid adaptation to a changing environment (Victoir and Dujardin, 2002). Stiles et al. (1999) and Victoir and Dujardin (2002) showed that, in natural conditions, gene expression can be regulated through several mechanisms, including increase in gene expression by gene amplification. In Leishmania, the process of gene amplification is well documented: (i) tandem repetition of genes encoding housekeeping products required in abundance such as tubulin, rRNA and miniexon (Spithill and Samaras, 1987; Inga et al., 1998; Kebede et al., 1999); (ii) amplification of short or long chromosome segments in the form of linear or circular DNA (Ouellette and Papadopoulou, 1993); and (iii) ploidy changes in the entire chromosome or genome (Cruz et al., 1993). Furthermore, expansion such as duplication and contraction of loci is also a common feature in wild Leishmania populations. Victoir and Dujardin (2002) described two types of tandem repeats: (i) tandem repeats that encode housekeeping genes such as rDNA and mini-exon genes for enhancing gene overexpression (Inga

et al., 1998; Kebede et al., 1999), and (ii) tandems corresponding to genes involved in host-parasite relationships, such as those for gp63, promastigote surface antigen (PSA-2) and cysteine proteinase (Victoir et al., 1995; Mottram et al., 1997; Jimenez-Ruiz et al., 1998). Victoir and Dujardin (2002) suggested that gene overexpression is also probably important for gp63, PSA-2 and cysteine proteinase (CP). Nevertheless, they proposed that, considering the role of these genes as an interface between the parasite and a heterogeneous external environment, it is probable that gene repetition offers additional benefits (Victoir and Dujardin, 2002). These duplication events would allow the organism to 'try out' mutations on the additional gene copies at low risk: the normal copies of the gene would compensate for deleterious mutations, whereas successful mutations could be expanded. This has been documented as a major source of variation in several organisms (Flavell, 1982). Another hypothesis suggested by the structure, function and differential expression of cp tandem repeats in Leishmania is that this multicopy gene represents an archival library of variant genes (M. Hide et al., unpublished data). Indeed, many different types of parasites escape host immunity by switching gene expression between variants stored within each genome (Frank, 2002) such as Trypanosoma brucei and Plasmodium vivax. Del Portillo et al. (2001) have demonstrated that P. vivax has an extensive family of vir gene variants whose products are immunogenic. However, they observed that the parasites expressed only a small subset of these genes in an infected erythrocyte. The differential expression of these variants in the host serum bore the hallmarks of antigenic variation from a large archival library (Frank, 2002). Experiments conducted by Mottram et al. (1997, 1998), Rafati et al. (2001) and Denise et al. (2003) supported the hypothesis that the *cpb* gene corresponds to an archival antigenic library by demonstrating that the *cpb* gene variants are immunogenic and differentially expressed.

#### 3.3.3. Taxonomic Consequences and Species Definition

The species concept has long been a matter of debate which is far from resolved (see De Meeûs *et al.*, 2003 for a review). Whatever the

concept, nature hardly ever conforms to human-made definitions, and even the most operational species definition, in terms of classifying life, will never be able appropriately to describe the process of life (De Meeûs *et al.*, 2003). Nevertheless, scientific investigation would be impossible without these categories, and there is an indispensable need for rigorous and clear nomenclature to permit efficient communication between the scientific and medical professions.

Considering clonal organisms, the first problem noted was that they could not be defined on the basis of the biological species concept (BSC) defined by Mayr (1963) (see review by De Meeûs *et al.*, 2003 for further details). These authors clearly stated that this concept could be applied only to organisms reproducing exclusively by biparental sexual reproduction and excluded all organisms able to crossbreed between more or less distant lineages, as it excludes clones and cannot apply to strict 'selfers' (self-fertilizing populations). Other species concepts have been designed but De Meeûs *et al.* (2003) explained that they all fail by trying to fit living things into fixed categories even though life itself is not fixed.

Thus, since the genetic data suggest that *Leishmania* species correspond to agamospecies (a group of individuals in which reproduction is almost exclusively by asexual means) (Cain, 1954), the species definition still remains arbitrary and is based on a mix of intrinsic and extrinsic characteristics considered together. Thus, in *Leishmania*, the notion of species is particularly confusing and today there is still no firm consensus on species definition. The drawback of this is the description of an exaggerated and unjustified number of species (see above and Figure 5). Furthermore, with the development of molecular tools with ever-increasing powers of resolution, there is a risk that a non-codified use of molecular data will lead to an uncontrolled and useless increase in the number of species of *Leishmania*.

Different analyses have clearly shown that the species status of some taxa is questionable or not taxonomically valid (see Figure 5). The status of several species has been explored, including *L. peruviana*, *L. panamensis*, *L. infantum* and *L. chagasi*. The results supported the species status of *L. peruviana* (see Bañuls *et al.*, 2000) and *L. infantum* (M. Hide *et al.*, unpublished data), while *L. panamensis* cannot be clearly distinguished from *L. guyanensis*, and *L. chagasi*, as

already demonstrated by Mauricio *et al.* (2000), cannot be distinguished from *L. infantum* (see Hide *et al.*, 2001). These studies demonstrate that there is a crucial need for a clear definition. Thus, in order to limit the increasing number of unjustified species, we propose the adoption of guidelines to define the species status of *Leishmania* parasites (see Section 5.1.1, p. 54).

## 3.3.4. Genetic Diversity in Leishmania: What Does it Mean Epidemiologically?

As described above, the genus *Leishmania* is characterized by ecological, epidemiological and clinical complexity. The presence of these organisms throughout the world, except in Antarctica, and their ability to infect a large range of mammalian hosts and sand fly species, show that *Leishmania* has the ability to adapt and survive in very diverse environments. Environmental changes and biotic interactions can impose strong selection pressures on various life-history traits and thus influence their degree of genetic diversity.

As shown by genome comparison (see above), all the published data have revealed a high level of global heterogeneity in the genus Leishmania (see Beverley et al., 1987; Rioux et al., 1990). At this level of phylogenetic divergence, slowly evolving markers such as ribosomal ribonucleic acid genes are indispensable to build up a reliable picture of the various phylogenetic subdivisions within this genus. A very high level of genetic divergence is also observable at the subgenus level; it is at the species complex level that genetic diversity decreases considerably. Furthermore, the genetic and phylogenetic data demonstrated that, at any given taxonomic level, different taxa can reveal different levels of genetic heterogeneity. For example, the Leishmania subgenus appears much more genetically heterogeneous than the Viannia subgenus (A.-L. Bañuls et al., unpublished observations). Similarly, all the species complexes do not present the same degree of genetic diversity. For example, the L. braziliensis complex and L. mexicana complex appeared more polymorphic than the L. quyanensis or L. donovani complexes (Cupolillo et al., 1995, 1998; A.-L. Bañuls, unpublished data). Other authors have also observed decreasing degrees of genetic variation among the following *Leishmania* species from the 'Old World': *L. tropica* > *L. aethiopica* > *L. major* > *L. donovani* (see Schonian *et al.*, 2001).

At the intra- and inter-specific levels, the evaluation of genetic diversity is the basis for all population genetics and taxonomic studies and therefore for understanding the organism's evolution. From an applied research point of view, it is an essential step in understanding the epidemiology of the disease, defining the most efficient diagnostic tools, and selecting and elaborating pertinent and efficient vaccine targets (Bañuls et al., 1999a, 2002). Moreover, the genetic heterogeneity level provides information on life-history traits since it is directly linked to the recent or ancient emergence of species in a country or in an area and to the selection pressure stemming from environmental factors (variety of hosts, diversity of vectors, presence of several Leishmania species or other organisms such as Trypanosoma cruzi). Although several studies have discussed the polymorphism observed in natural populations of different Leishmania species (Cupolillo et al., 1998, 2003; Mauricio et al., 2001; Schonian et al., 2001), until now there has been little information available on the genetic variability of the parasites and the correlation with ecoepidemiological features of the disease (Guerbouj et al., 2001; Cupolillo et al., 2003; Zemanova et al., 2004; Garcia et al., 2005) and with the evolution of the parasites (Ibrahim and Barker, 2001; Victoir et al., 2005). The data available from natural population studies show differential degrees of polymorphism, first among Leishmania species (as described above) and second within a single species among geographical location or host (vector or reservoir) diversity.

The Leishmania donovani complex, L. infantum and L. donovani, can be considered in the light of the first point. L. donovani revealed much more polymorphism than L. infantum despite a wider geographical distribution for the latter (Ibrahim and Barker, 2001; M. Hide *et al.*, unpublished data). This does not seem to be related to either pathogenicity (see below) or epidemiology (L. infantum is an anthropozonootic parasite, while L. donovani is considered to be mainly anthroponotic). Phylogenetic studies suggest that L. infantum is a descendant of an L. donovani lineage and thus L. infantum may have appeared more recently than L. donovani (see Ibrahim and Barker, 2001; Hide and Bañuls, 2006). This evolutionary event can explain the genetic differences between these two species. Furthermore, the homogeneous environment in Europe (considering reservoir hosts or vectors) can also explain the limited genetic divergence seen in *L. infantum*.

An interesting example of the second point is L. braziliensis. This species has been described as the most heterogeneous species of Leishmania (Chouicha et al., 1997; Ishikawa et al., 2002). Nevertheless, L. braziliensis populations from different regions have shown a relationship between the level of similarity among the parasite populations and their geographic range (Macedo et al., 1992; Gomes et al., 1995; Cupolillo et al., 2003). Furthermore, recent data have also indicated that the considerable variability detected among these parasites is more probably related to the sand fly vector(s) and/or animal reservoir(s) involved in the transmission cycles (Ishikawa et al., 2002; Cupolillo et al., 2003), in agreement with the accepted argument that pathogens that produce many different genetic variants are more prone to infect multiple hosts (Woolhouse et al., 2001). In the case of L. braziliensis, the principal mammalian hosts in the sylvan cycle have not been identified, but there is evidence that dogs, horses and donkeys may act as this parasite's reservoir hosts (Grimaldi and Tesh, 1993; Cupolillo et al., 2003). These relationships between genetic polymorphism and geographical distribution and the range of reservoir hosts and vectors can be observed for many species such as L. quyanensis (see Saravia et al., 1998; Bañuls et al., 1999a, b) and L. donovani (see Kamerbeek et al., 1997; Zemanova et al., 2004). One of the less polymorphic species is L. peruviana (see Bañuls et al., 2000). This can be explained by different factors: (i) its geographical distribution, restricted to the east Andean region of Peru and (ii) the low number of different reservoir hosts and vector species (Llanos-Cuentas et al., 1999; Caceres et al., 2004). Another important point is the hypothesis that this species is a descendant of L. braziliensis. These two species are genetically very close (Bañuls et al., 2000), suggesting that L. peruviana appeared recently.

This demonstrates that, in order to understand the evolution and the various epidemiological traits of *Leishmania*, research efforts must not be limited to only one strain of only one species of *Leishmania* (see Bañuls *et al.*, 1999a, 2002). The environmental factors

#### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

affecting each *Leishmania* population must also be investigated since each focus can contain different hosts, different vectors and different *Leishmania* species; also, other microorganisms may be present. Furthermore, because coevolutionary interactions can be highly divergent across time and space, it is also important to quantify and compare the phylogeographic variation in both host and parasite throughout their geographical range (Huyse *et al.*, 2005).

# 4. *LEISHMANIA* GENETICS AND PATHOGENICITY: WHAT'S NEW?

Clinical manifestations of *Leishmania* infection are determined by a combination of factors: the host's genetic make-up and immune status, features of the parasite, and factors associated with vectors. First of all, infections by *Leishmania* may remain inapparent, indicating that the parasites are well adapted to almost all their vertebrate hosts (Lainson and Shaw, 1987). As described above, epidemiological studies have revealed that infected humans may remain asymptomatic or manifest more or less severe pathological processes (Ho *et al.*, 1982; Badaro *et al.*, 1986; Zijlstra *et al.*, 1994; Le Fichoux *et al.*, 1999; Sharma *et al.*, 2000; Costa *et al.*, 2002; Bucheton *et al.*, 2003; Riera *et al.*, 2004).

The objectives of this section are (i) to show that parasites play a role at both specific and intraspecific levels in determining the degree of pathogenicity and (ii) to analyse the advances in genetic knowledge concerning this role. We also detail the modern tools available for studying the parasitic factors involved in virulence and pathogenicity and the advances resulting from their use.

# 4.1. Clinical Outcomes in Humans and *Leishmania* Taxonomy

Specific clinical manifestations are generally associated with particular *Leishmania* species, but different clinical forms of disease can be encountered within a given species. *Leishmania* species display preferential tropisms (viscerotropism, dermotropism and mucocutaneous tropism) and all the resulting diseases can progress from infection to the symptomatic phase and then to host death or recovery. Cutaneous leishmaniases are generally relatively benign, even though they may develop into serious and complex clinical disease such as diffuse or mucocutaneous leishmaniasis. In contrast, visceral leishmaniases are fatal in the absence of treatment.

### 4.1.1. Leishmania Species and Clinical Symptoms in Humans

The main clinical varieties of leishmaniasis in humans and the *Leishmania* species involved are as follows:

- (a) Cutaneous leishmaniasis (CL), usually caused by species of the *Viannia* subgenus, members of the *Leishmania tropica* complex, *L. major, L. aethiopica* and all species of the *L. mexicana* complex; CL may however result from infection by any of the *Leishmania* species that infect humans (reviewed by Murray *et al.*, 2005).
- (b) Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis (MCL), or espundia (Escomel, 1911), usually caused by *L. braziliensis*, but also more rarely by *L. panamensis* and *L. guyanensis* (Saravia *et al.* 1985; Naiff *et al.*, 1988; Santrich *et al.*, 1990; Saenz *et al.*, 1991; Osorio *et al.*, 1998).
- (c) Diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis (DCL), produced by *L. aethiopica* or *L. amazonensis* (reviewed by Lainson and Shaw, 1998).
- (d) Visceral leishmaniasis (VL) (kala azar), usually produced by species of the *L. donovani* complex (Boelaert *et al.*, 2000).
- (e) Post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis (PKDL), caused by *L. dono-vani* following cure of the initial visceral leishmaniasis (reviewed by Zijlstra *et al.*, 2003).

Nevertheless, these are not absolute categories and there is considerable overlap in clinical manifestations caused by the various species of *Leishmania*. For instance, cases have been described of visceral disease caused by *L. amazonensis* (see Almeida *et al.*, 1996; Aleixo *et al.*, 2006) and *L. tropica* (see Magill *et al.*, 1993; Lemrani *et al.*, 2002; Alborzi *et al.*, 2006). Other examples have been published of patients with mucosal leishmaniasis due to infection by *L. donovani*  or *L. major* in Sudan and Tunisia (El-Hassan *et al.*, 1995; Kharfi *et al.*, 2003). Similarly, a form of disseminated leishmaniasis following infection with *L. guyanensis* has been observed in French Guyana (Couppie *et al.*, 2004).

#### 4.1.2. Particular Cases: Hybrids and Mixed Infections

Other factors may complicate the clinical picture: the existence of hybrids as described above (Section 3.3.1, p. 24) and mixed infections with different *Leishmania* strains. Examples of hybrids include those between *L. braziliensis*, which can produce cutaneous or mucocutaneous lesions in humans requiring care, and *L. peruviana*, responsible for dry benign cutaneous lesions that heal spontaneously. Hybrids between these two species have been isolated from patients in Peru with either mucocutaneous lesions or benign lesions typical of *L. peruviana* infection (Dujardin *et al.*, 1995a). These hybrids strains were thus capable of producing the different pathologies characteristic of each species.

Mixed infections by different *Leishmania* species have been described in only a few cases (Ibrahim *et al.*, 1994; Strelkova *et al.*, 2001; Martinez *et al.*, 2002; Bastrenta *et al.*, 2003; Antoniou *et al.*, 2004), although molecular epidemiology studies demonstrated that many foci exist in which several species circulate simultaneously (Lucas *et al.*, 1998). It is hypothesized that the number of mixed infections is underestimated because of selection during parasite culture. This was confirmed by a study conducted in Bolivia (Bastrenta *et al.*, 2003). Mixed infections present a problem for *Leishmania* diagnosis, prognosis, and for understanding the real role played by the parasites in pathogenicity in humans.

It is also important to consider cases of co-infection of *Leishmania* with other pathogens. This is relatively frequent according to the literature, and various pathogens such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (see Wang *et al.*, 1999; Delobel *et al.*, 2003), *Trypanosoma cruzi* (see Bastrenta *et al.*, 2003), *Salmonella* and *Schistosoma* (see Djidingar *et al.*, 1997) and of course human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (for reviews see Deniau *et al.*, 2003; Desjeux and Alvar, 2003; Molina *et al.*, 2003; Rabello *et al.*, 2003) have been described in association

with *Leishmania*. In some cases, these co-infections can produce unusual clinical forms of leishmaniasis (Colebunders *et al.*, 1999; Calza *et al.*, 2004).

### 4.1.3. Diverse Pathogenic Properties at Intraspecific Level

As discussed above, each species is generally associated with one type of disease in humans. However, this rule is not absolute and some variations in clinical outcome may exist within species. One hypothesis to explain these infrequent manifestations is the patient's physiological status. Thus, a particular clinical progression may occur in immunocompromised patients. This was observed for instance in an Italian patient infected with *L. infantum* and undergoing haemodialysis, who displayed mucosal leishmaniasis (Maggi *et al.*, 2002). Another current example is the case of HIV–*Leishmania* co-infection. Unusual forms of leishmaniasis have been reported in HIV-positive patients, due to the alteration of the natural immune response caused by the action of the virus (Echevarria *et al.*, 1993; Miralles *et al.*, 1994; Durand *et al.*, 1998; Bosch *et al.*, 2002). As shown here, it may sometimes be difficult to know whether the parasite is responsible for these infrequent forms.

Some species such as *L. braziliensis* or *L. infantum* possess the intrinsic potential to produce various symptoms in humans such as cutaneous or mucocutaneous symptoms for *L. braziliensis* and cutaneous or visceral leishmaniasis for *L. infantum*. However, with both species the cutaneous form is more frequent than mucocutaneous or visceral progression (see, e.g., Rioux *et al.*, 1986, 1990; Jones *et al.*, 1987; Campos, 1990; Pratlong *et al.*, 2004; Campos-Ponce *et al.*, 2005). About 10% of all patients infected with *L. braziliensis* and having a primary cutaneous lesion will develop a metastatic mucosal infection at some time (Campos, 1990). Different disease outcomes of infection with *L. amazonensis* have also been reported: three of six patients showed cutaneous lesions, one had mucosal lesions, and two had diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis (Lucas *et al.*, 1998). It remains unknown whether the parasite plays a role in the expression of the disease at an intraspecific level.

## 4.2. Experimental Data: Variations in Pathogenic Potential Among and Within Species

### 4.2.1. Animal Models

Animal models are largely used for immunobiological studies to understand and characterize host-parasite interactions during infection. Both the host and the *Leishmania* species are determinants in the progression of the infection.

Thus, animal models such as mice, hamsters and non-human primates respond differently depending on the *Leishmania* species involved (McMahon-Pratt and Alexander, 2004; Wilson *et al.*, 2005). For example, the *Leishmania* subgenus *Viannia* (which is found predominantly in Latin America) fails reliably to infect mice, whereas the 'Old World' species such as *L. infantum* and *L. major* do so regularly (McMahon-Pratt and Alexander, 2004). This is also true at an intraspecific level, since different genetic strains of mice may show different responses to different *Leishmania* species. Mice strains C57BL/6, C57BL/10 and B10.D2 are susceptible to *L. donovani* infection but resistant to *L. major*, while DBA/2 is resistant to *L. donovani* and susceptible to *L. major* (see Wilson *et al.*, 2005).

Differences in disease expression and immune response were observed depending on the *Leishmania* species, but also depending on the strains used for infection. Genetic and immunological studies using animal models have shown that various members of the *Leishmania* genus differ in various aspects of their relationship with the host immune system. In mice infected with *L. major* (responsible for cutaneous leishmaniasis), a dichotomy was shown in the host's immune response, determined by the type of cytokines and CD4+ T cells involved (McMahon-Pratt and Alexander, 2004). Infected mice can develop either self-limiting cutaneous infection or progressive disease depending on their genetic background. With *L. donovani*, responsible for visceral leishmaniasis, it was not possible to establish a clear dichotomy in the immune response because of the existence of a mixed Th1/Th2 response in mice, as has been described in humans (Kurtzhals *et al.*, 1994; Khalil *et al.*, 2005).

Other experiments have demonstrated that different Leishmania strains of several species can produce different immune responses and disease expression. In BALB/c IL-4-deficient mice, different L. major strains can induce either a non-healing or a healing infection (Kopf et al., 1996; Noben-Trauth et al., 1996). Other authors have also demonstrated that different L. major strains can generate different immunological responses in mice (Hondowicz and Scott, 1999). Another example concerns L. tropica strains isolated from dermotropic and visceral infections in humans and then used to infect mice and hamsters (Lira et al., 1998). This experiment showed differences in disease progression that may reflect the parasite tissue tropism and pathogenic potential displayed by these strains in their human hosts. All these observations suggest a role for parasite-related determinants in the clinical spectrum of disease. Similarly, Gangneux et al. (2000) used C.B-17 SCID and congenic BALB/c mice to examine L. infantum strain pathogenicity independently of host genetic factors. While parasite loads were significantly higher in immunodeficient than in immunocompetent mice, the kinetics of infection during long-term follow-up were similar, suggesting that intrinsic parasitic factors also influence the outcome of L. infantum infection. Furthermore, Garin et al. (2001) concluded that parasite virulence in L. infantum-induced visceral leishmaniasis was clonal and dominant in nature, having explored the biodiversity of different Leishmania strains previously known to express different virulence phenotypes in mice. The fact that different human parasite isolates produced different infection patterns in a given mouse model also suggested that parasite-related factors play an important role in the resistant versus susceptibility status and in the type of immune response elicited in the infected host (Kebaier et al., 2001). There is, thus, good evidence that, in addition to host factors, parasites also influence the progression of infection.

#### 4.2.2. Experiments In Vitro

Studies *in vitro* of parasite dynamics have been conducted to compare virulent and avirulent strains at inter- and intra-specific levels. A study of growth behaviour *in vitro* of promastigotes of *L. braziliensis* (responsible for MCL), *L. peruviana* (responsible for benign CL) and putative hybrids between *L. braziliensis* and *L. peruviana* by Dujardin

*et al.* (1995a) found that hybrids and *L. peruviana* presented similar growth characteristics and a growth capacity (growth rate and cell density at the stationary phase) significantly lower than that of *L. braziliensis* (see Torrico *et al.*, 1999).

We compared the dynamics in vitro of L. infantum promastigotes in relation to the clinical characteristics (visceral or cutaneous) of the infection in humans (M. Hide et al., unpublished data). Promastigote concentrations of nine L. infantum strains (four VL and five CL strains) were estimated on a daily basis using a FACScan flow cytometer until population extinction. All the experiments were repeated three times to check reproducibility and used a rigorous statistical protocol. A mathematical model was developed to analyse the raw data involving the whole dynamics of promastigote growth including exponential and stationary phases (Choisy et al., 2004). Analysis revealed that VL and CL strains could be discriminated by characters related to the exponential phase, i.e. the procyclic promastigotes; those from viscerotropic strains grew faster than those from dermotropic ones and needed a smaller initial inoculum. These experiments also showed different biological characteristics related to strain tropism. Since the dynamics were obtained without any interaction with host cells, these results suggested that the strains themselves played a role in disease progression. Our results were in agreement with other studies. Infectivity in the murine model (Sulahian et al., 1997) and in macrophages (Louassini et al., 1998) has been shown to be higher for L. infantum visceral strains. Louassini et al. (1998) also compared the growth rate of one CL strain and one VL strain and found that the maximum percentage of metacyclic promastigotes was produced earlier, and was higher, for the VL strain than for the CL strain.

It seems clear that the clinical outcome of the disease in humans is multifactorial. Despite the complex clinical picture, parasite biology and genetics seem to be very important in determining the clinical outcome.

# 4.3. Relation Between Pathogenic Diversity in Humans and *Leishmania* Genetic Polymorphism

The genetic mechanisms which lead to the expression of the disease in hosts are of course complex since they result from the interactions

between parasites and hosts. The majority of genetic studies on pathogens have the primary objective of identifying whether there is a genetic association between virulence and/or pathogenicity of strains and the disease outcome in humans and identifying the markers involved directly or indirectly in the different clinical forms. The parasite factors described in the literature as related to disease outcome can be divided into three categories: (i) indirect genetic markers of pathogenicity, (ii) factors called invasive/evasive determinants (Chang and McGwire, 2002), and (iii) so-called pathoantigenic determinants (Chang and McGwire, 2002).

#### 4.3.1. Indirect Genetic Markers

Indirect genetic markers include genes or loci not directly involved in virulence or pathogenicity but associated with clinical polymorphism. They have been and continue to be widely explored. This type of comparison is warranted because of the population structure of these organisms, i.e. a reproduction model with infrequent genetic exchange between different lineages (Tibayrenc, 1996) (see Section 3.3.1., p. 24). The population structure and the frequency of genetic exchange condition the importance of these genes or loci as epidemiological or clinical markers. Infrequent genetic exchange implies linkage disequilibrium (non-random associations of genotypes occurring at different loci) and thus a correlation between genetic and phenotypic markers. This strongly suggests the possibility of finding some genotypes associated with clinical or biological phenotypes (Tibayrenc, 1996). Other reproduction models can also produce this type of linkage disequilibrium such as self-fertilization, homogamy or consanguinity. Different molecular tools such as the 'gold standard' method for species identification MLEE (multilocus enzyme electrophoresis) (Rioux et al., 1990) or RAPD (random amplified polymorphic DNA) (Cuervo et al., 2004; Indiani de Oliveira et al., 2004), PFGE (pulse field gel electrophoresis) (Dujardin et al., 1993a; Guerbouj et al., 2001), RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism) (Victoir et al., 1995; Cuervo et al., 2004) and recently microsatellites (Russell et al., 1999; Bulle et al., 2002; Jamjoom et al., 2002) or real-time PCR

(Schulz et al., 2003; Quispe Tintaya et al., 2005) were used extensively to analyse the Leishmania genome regarding clinical and epidemiological data. The results showed that these genetic markers were able to distinguish the different species or reveal intraspecific polymorphism. However, only a few of them were found to be associated with clinical phenotypes at the intraspecific level. For example, some zymodemes of L. infantum (all the stocks belonging to the same zymodeme have the same MLEE patterns) were associated exclusively with dermotropic strains and others with strains mainly isolated from visceral forms of the disease (Rioux et al., 1985; Harrat et al., 1996; Aoun et al., 2000). Other investigations studying different genetic markers also showed a correlation between clinical polymorphism and genetic data in L. infantum (see Guerbouj et al., 2001) and L. braziliensis (see Schriefer et al., 2004). Similarly, a relation between MLEE, RAPD and PFGE data and severity of lesions in patients was found in L. peruviana by Dujardin et al. (1993b, 1998) and Bañuls et al. (2000). Unfortunately, all these associations were relatively weak and neither provided a clear understanding of the role of parasites in the outcome of the disease nor allowed the use of these tools as prognosis markers. Interestingly, except for the data described above, many studies based on different markers have failed to find an association with clinical diversity. Thus, different PCR multilocus approaches revealed that, within L. braziliensis, there was no specific genetic difference between parasites isolated from cutaneous and mucosal lesions (Garcia et al., 2005). Microsatellite analysis of L. braziliensis (E. Waleckx et al., unpublished data) could not distinguish between strains causing the various clinical expressions observed in humans.

## 4.3.2. Parasite Factors Involved in Pathogenicity and Virulence

For these reasons, recent studies have concentrated on parasitic genetic factors and genetic markers directly related to virulence or on genetic markers that make it possible to apprehend them. With recent progress in molecular biology, a variety of tools is available to study these markers from genes to proteins, their functions in cells and their involvement in interactions between hosts and parasites. Direct genetic factors have been explored via genome manipulations which can be classified into two groups: forward and reverse methods. The first is used to identify genes involved in a given phenotype and the second provides a better understanding of gene function by manipulating it (for a review see Beverley *et al.*, 2002). Based on these methods, many genetic and genomic tools have been used for the study of *Leishmania*, e.g. expression vectors, gene knockout and mutagenesis (Clayton, 1999). Furthermore, many genes have been cloned and their function inferred from homology with genes of other organisms, the location of the corresponding proteins, or their expression in heterologous systems. Later, transfection methodology analysed gene function within the organisms themselves. Since then, it has become possible to create mutants, overexpress foreign proteins in the parasites, knockout genes and even switch off essential functions.

The technique of RNA interference (RNAi; a strategy for reducing RNA expression) and experiments based on sexual crosses and positional cloning approaches (to define phenotypes of interest) cannot be used for *Leishmania*. These organisms, unlike *Trypanosoma brucei*, are RNAi-negative (Robinson and Beverley, 2003) and genetic exchange between different genotypes appears to be infrequent (see above) and impossible to produce experimentally (Panton, 1991). These tools have largely been used for *Trypanosoma brucei*, which is RNAi-positive (Motyka and Englund, 2004) and with which experimental crosses are easily performed *in vitro* (Gibson *et al.*, 1995; Turner *et al.*, 2004).

With the development of these molecular tools, numerous potential *Leishmania* virulence and pathogenicity factors have been discovered. To classify them, Chang and colleagues have proposed a model for *Leishmania* virulence. Their model is based on the classification of parasite factors into invasive/evasive determinants and pathoantigenic determinants, as outlined above (Chang and McGwire, 2002; Chang *et al.*, 2003). Invasive/evasive determinants of *Leishmania* are crucial for infection, but produce no pathology in the host, whereas *Leishmania* pathoantigenic determinants elicit antibodies at high titres and thus host immunopathology is the principal cause of clinical symptoms (Chang and McGwire, 2002). This is not to say that patients with

leishmaniasis do not produce any antibodies against the invasive/evasive determinants, but that the titres against these determinants are insignificant in comparison to those produced by pathoantigenic ones. It should be noted that the distinction between these two groups is somewhat unclear and must not be considered inflexible. This classification depends on knowledge acquired about each type of marker and therefore could be questioned in the future. Section 4.3.2(c) (p. 49) details these modern tools and the usefulness of gene expression and protein studies in *Leishmania* for identifying new genes and proteins involved in virulence or pathogenicity.

(a) *Invasive/evasive determinants*. The invasive/evasive determinants (Chang and McGwire, 2002) relate to parasitic mechanisms that are necessary to establish infection, such as (i) *Leishmania*-macrophage attachment, (ii) entry of *Leishmania* into macrophages, (iii) intramacrophage survival, and (iv) differentiation and intracellular multiplication of *Leishmania* amastigotes. They are not responsible for the symptoms of the disease. These determinants therefore refer to all molecules that help *Leishmania* successfully to establish in the host such as glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI), glycosylphospholipid (GIPL), lipophosphoglycan (LPG), leishmanolysin (GP63), cysteine proteases (CPs) and others. These molecules have been widely studied, especially LPG, GP63 and CPs.

LPG is the dominant surface molecule of promastigotes involved in many of the processes essential to the survival of *Leishmania* within hosts, including binding, migration and release of the parasite in the sand fly midgut, but it is also involved in the modulation of resistance to lysis by the host's complement, resisting the innate immune system and entering macrophages. It is almost completely absent from amastigotes (McConville *et al.*, 1992; Pimenta *et al.*, 1992; Cunningham, 2002; Olivier *et al.*, 2005). LPG differs among *Leishmania* species, particularly in its sugar composition, in the sequence of branching sugars attached to the repeat galactose–mannose–phosphate backbone, and in the cap structure (Soares *et al.*, 2002). The involvement of LPG in virulence has been demonstrated during *L. donovani* and *L. major* infection (McNeely and Turco, 1990; Spath *et al.*, 2000), whereas Ilg (2000) showed that it was not required for *L. mexicana* infection. In addition to stage-specific and interspecies variability,

some analyses have shown an intraspecies polymorphism in lipophosphoglycan structure (Mahoney *et al.*, 1999). This diversity may be related to the parasite's adaptation to the sand fly species rather than to the clinical diversity observed in humans.

GP63 is another important surface molecule, an ecto-metalloprotease particularly abundant in promastigotes and released by this stage (McGwire *et al.*, 2002). Like LPG, GP63 is down-regulated in the amastigote form (Schneider *et al.*, 1992). These molecules may be involved in evasion from humoral lytic factors and in attachment of parasites to macrophages followed by their entry into these phagocytes (Yao *et al.*, 2003). GP63 protein is encoded by a multigene family repeated in tandem. Genetic and structural diversity were extensively studied and showed a high degree of both inter- and intra-specific polymorphism (Roberts *et al.*, 1993; Steinkraus *et al.*, 1993; Espinoza *et al.*, 1995; Victoir *et al.*, 1998; Guerbouj *et al.*, 2000). Like LPG, this protein seems to be subjected to strong host selection pressure in both vector and mammalian host; however, no link was found between the genetic or phenotypic diversity of GP63 and the intraspecies clinical polymorphism of strains (Guerbouj *et al.*, 2001).

There has been increased interest in cysteine proteases (CPs) because of the key roles some of them play in infection and expression of the disease, making them potential targets for new chemotherapy. Within the genus Leishmania, three types of CPs have been found: CPA and CPB, homologous with mammalian cathepsin L, and CPC, which is homologous with mammalian cathepsin B (Mottram et al., 1997, 1998; Sajid and McKerrow, 2002); cpa and cpc are single-copy genes, whereas *cpb* is a multicopy gene. CPs seem to play crucial roles in host-parasite interactions, particularly in facilitating survival and growth of parasites in mammals by destruction of host proteins, aiding nutrition, evasion of the host immune response and promoting survival within host macrophages (Alexander et al., 1998; Rosenthal, 1999; Mundodi et al., 2002; Mottram et al., 2004). CPA and CPB are involved in immune system-modulating activities such as the inhibition of IL-12 production by macrophages, degradation of MHC class II molecules in the parasitophorous vacuole and induction of IL-4 production (Mottram et al., 2004). Inoculation of CP-deficient Leishmania mutants to mice demonstrated the involvement of these

proteins in virulence and pathogenicity. For example, an L. mexicana strain deficient in the *cpb* array showed reduced virulence in BALB/c mice (Mottram et al., 1996; Alexander et al., 1998). In addition, Zadeh-Vakili et al. (2004) showed that a recombinant hybrid protein consisting of CPA and CPB could elicit a protective immune response against L. major in the BALB/c mice model. Recently, Campos-Ponce et al. (2005) demonstrated a statistical correlation between gene organization of cpb in an L. infantum population and strain tropism (cutaneous or visceral). Rafati et al. (2005) demonstrated the importance of CPB, and C-terminal extension, in particular, as a target of the immune response. The first trials of a vaccine in dogs using CPA and CPB 'cocktails' gave interesting results but further study is needed (Rafati et al., 2005; Poot et al., 2006). Finally, the copy number of *cpb* genes in the tandem array is variable among Leishmania species. L. mexicana contains nineteen cpb genes (Mottram et al., 1997) which differ in length, substrate specificities, COOH-terminal extension and expression during the Leishmania life cvcle (Mottram et al., 1997, 1998; Brooks et al., 2001), whereas the L. donovani complex seems to have roughly five cpb genes (Mundodi et al., 2002). Recently, we showed that the L. donovani complex contained one specific gene in the cpb cluster (named cpbE for L. infantum and cpbF for L. donovani) which is absent from the L. mexicana and L. major genome (Hide et al., 2006; Hide and Bañuls, in press). However, any involvement of this *cpb* cluster in the viscerotropic character of the L. donovani complex has yet to be demonstrated.

This list is far from exhaustive; other important molecules include PSA (GP46), an abundant surface glycoprotein of the promastigote form (Symons *et al.*, 1994; Beetham *et al.*, 2003).

Miniexon genes can also be considered as fundamental parasite factors since they are present in all trypanosomatids, including *Leishmania*, and their corresponding transcripts play a major role in the maturation of mRNA in these parasites through the process known as *trans*-splicing (Kooter *et al.*, 1984). To demonstrate the role of these genes, Zhang and Matlashewski (2004) introduced an *L. donovani* cosmid library into *L. major* to select for *L. donovani* sequences which might increase *L. major* virulence in BALB/c mice. They identified a region of the *L. donovani* genome which increased virulence in

both visceral and cutaneous sites and was divergent from the corresponding region of the *L. major* genome, which supports the argument that amplification of miniexon genes is associated with increased virulence. Antoniazi *et al.* (2000) observed that more virulent *L. major* strains (such as LV39 and Friedlin V9) contained longer stretches of miniexon gene arrays than less virulent strains (e.g. LT252), which contains a 44-kb miniexon sequence. However, in the same study these authors showed that an additive miniexon gene array could reduce the virulence of LV39. They hypothesized that there was a subtle imbalance in the transcriptional level of a gene, or class of genes, crucial to parasite development in the vertebrate host cell. They suggested that it is possible to imagine that miniexon imbalance would play a more universal role affecting regulation of different factors by altering the maturation process of these transcripts, leading to attenuation of virulence.

(b) Pathoantigenic determinants. The second group of factors comprises Leishmania pathoantigenic determinants (Chang and McGwire, 2002; Chang et al., 2003). As described above, this group includes all the molecules described in the literature capable of inducing host immunopathology as the principal cause of clinical symptoms. Thus, all Leishmania antigens eliciting antibodies at high titres compared to those raised against invasive/evasive determinants can be classified in this category. These pathoantigenic determinants are all conserved structural or soluble cytoplasmic proteins, which are often complexed with other molecules to form subcellular particles (Chang and McGwire, 2002; Chang et al., 2003). Moreover, they have been found to contain immunogenic B cell epitopes. The list of candidate molecules is based on data obtained from kala-azar patients with visceral leishmaniasis (VL) (Requena et al., 2000): it includes cytoskeletal components (e.g. kinesin and tubulins), chaperones (e.g. HSP60, 70, 83, STI 1), ribosomes (e.g. eIF, PO, P2a, b), nucleosomes (e.g. H2A/B, H3, H4), glycosomes (e.g. TPI), etc. These molecules clearly differ from those present in strains isolated from cutaneous leishmaniasis.

For example, the unique 117 bp repeat, encoding for a 39-amino acid peptide (recombinant products = rK39) in the *Leishmania* kinesin-like gene, is expressed by the amastigotes of visceralizing *Leishmania* species (*L. donovani*, *L. chagasi*) and not by dermotropic

species (*L. major*, *L. amazonensis* and *L. braziliensis*) (Burns *et al.*, 1993). Sera from VL patients contains high titres of antibodies specific to this 39-amino acid peptide, called anti-rK39 (Singh *et al.*, 1995). This antigen has been successfully used for serodiagnosis of active VL cases.

Another example is the A2 protein, known to have an influence on the outcome of the disease (Zhang *et al.*, 2003). A2 is an important gene for *L. donovani* virulence but is not expressed in *L. major* (see Zhang and Matlashewski, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2003). *L. donovani* strains deficient in A2 protein are attenuated with respect to survival in the viscera of infected mice (Zhang and Matlashewski, 1997, 2001). Although *L. major* does contain *A2* genes, they are not expressed and lack multiple repeats in the protein-coding regions and therefore represent non-expressed pseudogenes (Ghedin *et al.*, 1998; Zhang *et al.*, 2003). This study suggests that the inability of *L. major* to express A2 has contributed to its tropism for cutaneous infections (Zhang *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, Ghedin *et al.* (1997) demonstrated that high levels of anti-A2 antibodies also occur in cases of acute VL. All these data suggest that A2 should be considered as a pathoantigenic determinant.

To date, the interactions between these molecules and the human immune system and the method of activation of specific antibody production remain unknown. All these molecules are localized in amastigote cytoplasm and are thus beyond the reach of their specific antibodies (Chang and McGwire, 2002; Chang *et al.*, 2003). However, their potential contributions to immunopathology are apparent. Commenting on a study on protective immunity in *Leishmania* by Probst *et al.* (2001), Chang and McGwire (2002) and Chang *et al.* (2003) suggested that some *Leishmania*-specific T cell epitopes may exist and may cause additional immunopathology.

(c) Usefulness of modern tools for gene expression and protein analysis. Thanks to the *L. major* genome project (http://www.sanger. ac.uk/Projects/L\_major and http://www.genedb.org/genedb/leish/ index.jsp), many new genetic tools are being developed for the post-genomic analysis of *Leishmania*. These include large-scale sequence annotation and database building, microarray analysis and proteomics. Until now, these modern tools have been used mostly to explore differences between the development stages of *Leishmania*, but exploration of pathogenic diversity at the inter- and intra-species level has also recently begun.

Microarray or genechip analysis can be based on genomic DNA or cDNA. DNA microarray is a high-density arrangement of immobilized samples of nucleic acid on a glass slide. Hybridization with fluorescent cDNAs synthesized from RNA samples of interest permits the evaluation of gene expression on a genomic scale (Rathod et al., 2002; Stears et al., 2003). The use of DNA microarrays for the analysis of biological samples is becoming a mainstream tool for exploring the transcriptional regulation of gene expression (Li and Lazar, 2002) and can rapidly screen new vaccine candidates. The array elements react specifically with labelled mixtures, producing signals that reveal the identity and concentration of each labelled species in solution. These attributes provide miniature biological assays that allow the exploration of any organism on a genomic scale. This technology can be used for new gene discovery, a global genetic perspective on biological processes important in parasite survival and host-parasite interactions of Leishmania parasites. Despite polycistronic transcription, RNA transcript abundance can be measured using microarrays, and this tool was validated by the observation of genes that are known to be upregulated at the procyclic promastigote stage ( $\beta$ -tubulin, histories and ribosomal proteins) and at the metacyclic promastigote stage (HASP/geneB, SHERP/geneD, META1 and HSP70) (Beverley et al., 2002). Previous studies have examined differential gene expression in Leishmania (reviewed by Duncan et al., 2004) and most microarray studies have investigated L. major. Differential gene expression in L. major procyclic and metacyclic promastigotes has been studied by Saxena et al. (2003). This study confirmed the stage-specific expression of several known genes and identified a number of novel genes that are up-regulated in either procyclics or metacyclics (Saxena et al., 2003). At the same time, Almeida et al. (2002, 2004) generated microarrays using PCRamplified inserts from an L. major cDNA library. Despite the lack of transcriptional regulation that polycistronic transcription in Leishmania dictates, the data provided evidence for a high level of post-transcriptional regulation of RNA abundance during the developmental cycle of promastigotes in culture and in the lesionderived amastigotes of L. major (Almeida et al., 2002). Furthermore, the results from a study of L. donovani genomic microarray led to the discovery of new genes (Duncan et al., 2004). Holzer et al. (2006) analysed the L. mexicana transcriptome (the set of all messenger RNA [mRNA] molecules, or 'transcripts') by microarray using L. major probes and showed that interspecies hybridization with microarrays can be used to analyse closely related Leishmania species. In another study, cDNA microarrays were used to compare L. donovani at day 5 and L. major promastigotes at days 3, 5, 7 and 10 in culture. This analysis identified 147 unique genes among 1092 (13.5%) that were significantly upregulated in amastigotes (Almeida et al., 2002). Almeida et al. (2004) compared cDNAs from L. major promastigotes at days 3, 7, 10 of culture and lesion-derived amastigote libraries. Four hundred and thirty unique (i.e. non-redundant) stage-specific genes were identified. A higher percentage of stagespecific gene expression was observed in amastigotes (c. 35%) than in metacyclics (c. 12%) for both cDNAs and open reading frames (ORFs). It is worth noting that cDNAs provided a richer source of regulated genes than currently annotated ORFs from the Leishmania genome (Almeida et al., 2004). A similar study conducted by Akopyants et al. (2004) compared promastigote, metacyclic and amastigote stage microarrays based upon random 1kb 'shotgun' DNA fragments. They obtained a set of genes that included most of those previously identified in the literature as differentially regulated as well as a number of novel genes. The microarray method has also recently been used to screen novel vaccine candidates against murine Leishmania major infection (Stober et al., 2006).

Concerning the differential pathogenic potential of *Leishmania* strains, in a recent study using highly sensitive gene expression microarray technology, Salotra *et al.* (2006) identified genes that are differentially expressed in *Leishmania* parasites isolated from PKDL patients in comparison with those from VL. Sequence analysis revealed that these genes showed significant homology with gp63, gp46, putative amastin, a putative reductase and a possible calpain-like protein.

Proteomics is the study of the proteome, i.e. all the proteins that can be synthesized by the cell. The proteomic approach is based on the separation of proteins by two-dimensional (2D) gel electrophoresis. This separates the proteins in one dimension by their electrical charge and in the second dimension by their size. The technique can be used to compare the proteome of strains showing different characteristics such as virulent versus avirulent, pathogenic versus non-pathogenic, or sensitive versus resistant, etc. For example, proteomics using 2D polyacrylamide gels is used for researching drug targets and studying resistance mechanisms (Drummelsmith *et al.*, 2003). The different protein spots obtained can be punched out and analysed by mass spectrometry.

To further the molecular knowledge of virulence and resistance, proteomics has been widely used with *Leishmania*. The production of large-scale proteomic data sets has been made possible by technological advances in mass spectrometry, combined with the availability of complete *L. major* genome sequences; proteomic analysis of *L. major* is available on the internet (http://www.cri.crchul.ulaval.ca/proteome/). This technology is also used to aid understanding of intracellular survival and pathogenesis of *Leishmania*.

Several studies have compared procyclic promastigote, metacyclic promastigote and amastigote stages. For example, these stages have been compared for L. donovani (see Thiel and Bruchhaus, 2001; Bente et al., 2003), L. infantum (see El Fakhry et al., 2002) and L. mexicana (see Nugent et al., 2004). These studies defined changes in the protein pattern during the Leishmania cycle. For example, Bente et al. (2003) visualized a total of approximately 2000 protein spots in L. donovani; of these, 31 proteins were present only in promastigotes. They also observed a decreased abundance of four proteins late in amastigote differentiation. From these analyses, the authors used mass spectrometry and peptide mass 'fingerprinting' to analyse 67 protein spots, identified as 41 different proteins known from databases and eight hypothetical proteins. They showed that most of the stage-specific proteins fell into five groups of functionally related proteins: (i) stress response (e.g. heat, oxidative stress), (ii) cytoskeleton and cell membrane, (iii) energy metabolism and phosphorylation, (iv) cell cycle and proliferation, and (v) amino acid metabolism. They also confirmed the critical role of HSP90 in controlling life cycle differentiation. Similarly, a combined proteomic and transcriptomic study of stage

differentiation in *L. infantum* by McNicoll *et al.* (2006) suggested that post-transcriptional control at translational and post-translational levels could play a major role in differentiation of *Leishmania* parasites.

In a study of interspecies polymorphism, Papadopoulou et al. (2004) have tried to compare 2D gels derived from L. major and L. donovani in order to reveal species-specific proteins. While several spots (c. 30%) in both species were at the same position on the 2D gel, the variability between these two species was too great to have confidence that a protein migrating differently was species-specific. Thus, the proteomic approach may not lead to the discovery of species-specific proteins. At an intraspecific level, Walker et al. (2006) compared the soluble proteomes of L. guyanensis promastigotes from the laboratory clone MCL (mucocutaneous leishmaniasis) phenotype (ranging from highly metastatic through to infrequently metastatic) and the CL (cutaneous lesion) phenotype (non-metastatic) using 2D electrophoresis. They found two abundant protein spots specifically associated with MCL phenotype clones and two others exclusively expressed by CL phenotype clones. Identification of these spots by biological mass spectrometry (LC-ES-MS/MS) and bioinformatics revealed that MCL phenotype clones express distinct acidic and neutral isoforms of both elongation factor-1 subunit beta (EF-1 $\beta$ ) and cytosolic tryparedoxin peroxidase (TXNPx) (Walker et al., 2006). Both polypeptides are active in resistance to chemical and oxidant stress, providing a basis for further elucidation of the importance of antioxidant defence in the pathogenesis underlying MCL. Currently, we are using this approach to identify proteins associated with pathogenesis by comparing virulent and avirulent strains of the same species (especially dermotropic and viscerotropic strains of L. infantum) (M. Hide et al., unpublished data).

## 5. WHAT GENETIC RESEARCH IS NECESSARY TO ADVANCE KNOWLEDGE OF LEISHMANIASIS?

The objective of this last section is to put current knowledge about *Leishmania* and leishmaniases in perspective. We will underline

important questions to which 'leishmaniacs' must find priority answers in various domains: epidemiology, population genetics, taxonomy and pathogenicity/virulence. We will also suggest a number of feasible ways of responding to these questions.

## 5.1. The Remaining Gaps and How to Fill Them

In the previous sections, we have attempted to detail the advances in epidemiology, taxonomy, population genetics and clinical diversity of *Leishmania*. Important advances have been made, but many important questions must still be answered.

## 5.1.1. Population Structure, Taxonomy and Epidemiology

As we have seen above, *Leishmania* population structure is complex since these organisms have a 'clonal structure' but are also able to make use of different genetic processes such as recombination, pseudorecombination, gene amplification, etc. (see Section 3.3.1, p. 24). Nevertheless, a number of points conflict within this model. A clonal model implies an excess of heterozygous genotypes and a population structure with individualized lineages at specific and intraspecific levels. On one hand, the published genetic studies on L. infantum and L. donovani (see Mauricio et al., 2006; Ochsenreither et al., 2006) and the genetic data obtained in our laboratory with L. infantum and L. braziliensis (V. Rougeron et al., unpublished data) suggest a deficit in heterozygous genotypes and no clear structuring at an intraspecific level in sympatric populations (A.-L. Bañuls et al., unpublished observations). Similarly, even though Leishmania tropica revealed a higher degree of heterozygosity (Schonian et al., 2001; Schwenkenbecher et al., 2004), the populations displayed a deficit of heterozygous genotypes (Schwenkenbecher et al., 2006). This suggests that unknown factors remain and that further studies are necessary to clarify Leishmania population structure and the mating system of each species. Study of the genetic structure in natural populations is crucial for different reasons: (i) it obviously provides a better understanding of the connections by migration between different populations; (ii) it is fundamental for the understanding of Leishmania

mating systems, since experimental crossings are not feasible; (iii) the population genetics approach constitutes one of the best ways to understand the epidemiology; and (iv) knowledge of the reproduction model is the foundation for defining Leishmania species and therefore for building a solid taxonomy. However, the amount of information on parasite biology that can be retrieved using population genetics depends on some very important aspects that are still too often neglected in molecular epidemiological studies. We should like to emphasize their importance here. First, the sampling design is a crucial if not the most important aspect. Too often, unfortunately, the sampling design is not appropriate or adequate to answer the research question under investigation. Obviously, it depends on the question but some general advice can be given. As much as possible, (i) populations must be sampled hierarchically, from local to regional; (ii) the sampling must be exhaustive, i.e. both symptomatic and asymptomatic patients should be sampled; (iii) whenever possible, strains in animal reservoirs or in vectors must be sampled from the same places as those sampled in humans; and (iv) the detailed location of each sample must be known.

Another important aspect in population genetics is the use of powerful and well-adapted molecular markers. Until now, imperfect markers such as MLEE (with low resolving power), RAPD or PFGE have usually been employed in studying Leishmania population genetics. While the use of these markers contributed interesting information regarding the epidemiology and the biology of Leishmania species, other markers such as microsatellites could be more efficient in describing their genetic structure, especially their mating system. In comparison to RAPD and PFGE, which are dominant markers (homozygotes are not distinguishable from heterozygotes), microsatellites are co-dominant (homozygotes are distinguishable from heterozygotes), a very important difference. With microsatellites (or other codominant markers), it is possible to access the genetic variability within individuals (the observed heterozygosity) and to compare it to the expected variability (the expected heterozygosity given the allelic frequencies). Comparison of these two variables may, for instance, provide very valuable information on mating systems.  $F_{\rm IS}$  is the parameter measuring the difference between both variables (see Wright,

1951; Weir and Cockerham, 1984; see also Box 1 in the review by Tibayrenc, 2007, on p. 395 of this volume). No difference between observed and expected heterozygosity translates into  $F_{IS} = 0$  and means that individuals sexually reproduce at random in the population (panmixia). Departure from  $F_{IS} = 0$  ( $F_{IS} > 0$  or < 0) is indicative of a deviation from panmixia. For instance, self-mating may lead to  $F_{IS} > 0$  (deficit in heterozygotes), while in very strong or strict clonality one may expect excesses in heterozygotes [ $F_{IS} < 0$ ; De Meeûs and Balloux (2004)]. Finally, choosing the appropriate parameters is important in describing genetic structure. F-statistics (e.g.  $F_{IS}$  and  $F_{ST}$ ) and their estimators are advantageous when describing the distribution of genetic variability at different hierarchical levels. We have just seen that  $F_{IS}$  different from 0 is indicative of departure from panmixia within populations.  $F_{ST} > 0$  is indicative of differences in allelic frequencies between different populations. This parameter depends on the effective population size and the rate of migration occurring between populations. A value of  $F_{ST} > 0$  is indicative of low connectivity between populations (i.e. a low effective migration rate). As such it may be used to describe the patterns of migration among different Leishmania populations, at different scales.

From a taxonomic point of view, as described above, until now there have been no clear criteria for species definition. Therefore, species description still remains totally arbitrary and is often based only on the identification of genetic or epidemiological variants. It is for this reason that the status of several species remains under debate and must be elucidated: L. garnhami, L. pifanoi, L. venezuelensis and L. forattinii. Several species have been reconsidered, such as L. chagasi, L. peruviana, L. panamensis and L. infantum. Several recent studies have agreed that L. archibaldi has no taxonomic value (Jamjoom et al., 2004; Zemanova et al., 2004; Kuhls et al., 2005). The subgenus to which L. colombiensis and L. equatoriensis should be assigned is not clear (Cupolillo et al., 1998; Fernandes et al., 1999). Clarifying the species status of these taxa would avoid both multiple descriptions of the same organism under different names and confusion on the clinical or epidemiological properties by misidentification. Therefore, there is a crucial need for a clear and stable definition of taxa and especially of species of Leishmania, to

permit efficient communication between scientists of various disciplines and medical doctors. In this context, we (Bañuls *et al.*, 2002) have proposed that any new species of *Leishmania* should be based on the clearly distinct phylogenetic approach of Tibayrenc's discrete typing unit (Tibayrenc, 1998), which includes specific medical and/or epidemiological characteristics. This definition rests on the phylogenetic species concept (PSC) described by Cracraft (1983), combined with medical or epidemiological criteria. In any case, the prerequisite to rigorous species description is knowledge of the mode of reproduction and the population structure.

In epidemiology, we have emphasized that foci of leishmaniasis vary greatly. A single species can be found in different foci, in various hosts, and transmitted by different vectors, while different species can be transmitted in a single focus by the same vectors and can have the same reservoir hosts. This shows how extraordinarily adaptable Leishmania species are. For these reasons, clear knowledge of the overall characteristics of a species requires a solid taxonomy and consideration of the different populations throughout the distribution area of this species with its environmental diversity. Studies of this nature will do away with limited specific descriptions resulting from the exploration of a single epidemiological environment; it is necessary to investigate any given species in various foci in which the other components differ within these foci (vectors, host, environment, etc.), and to consider all the resulting data. This approach is indispensable to developing an integrated study (see Section 5.3, p. 67), the main objective of which is to take account of all the factors involved in the transmission of the disease.

## 5.1.2. Pathogenic Properties of Leishmania at an Intraspecific Level

In Section 4 (p. 35), we detailed the different studies conducted on pathogenic diversity. The clinical diversity observed in leishmaniasis stems from complex interactions between host factors (genetics, immunity, nutrition, etc.), parasite factors and environmental factors. The part played by *Leishmania* in the clinical diversity observed in human infections, especially that between cutaneous and visceral leishmaniasis, has to date been related mainly to the particular
Leishmania species involved. However, although numerous genetic factors implicated in virulence and pathogenicity have been identified at both the interspecific and intraspecific levels, we cannot strictly associate a clinical phenotype with a particular genotype, mutated gene, differential expression or any other single factor. For all these reasons, the role of parasite factors in clinical diversity must be studied by isolating the effects of the host or the environment, i.e. by concentrating on the intraspecific level. This approach also requires an integrative approach, at epidemiological and ecological levels (see below) as well as at the genomic, transcriptional and proteomic levels in the parasites themselves. For example, we are currently comparing dermotropic and viscerotropic strains of L. infantum with regard to their gene expression, proteomics, antigen polymorphism, potential epitope variation and comparative genomics (see below) in order to gain knowledge of the evolutionary events that have led to this dichotomy (Hide et al., unpublished data).

Currently, the microarray (see Section 4.3.2(c), p. 49) is the major tool used to compare gene expression between the developmental stages of a strain. It could also be used to identify genes regulating transcript abundance in *Leishmania* strains isolated from different clinical forms of infection with a given species. This idea was first explored by Salotra and Singh (2006), who compared the regulation of surface proteins in *L. donovani* strains isolated from patients with either PKDL or VL. Similarly, the proteomic approach is currently being used to study stage differentiation by El Fakhry *et al.* (2002), Nugent *et al.* (2004), McNicoll *et al.* (2006) and Walker *et al.* (2003).

Much remains to be discovered with the aid of these markers but we are convinced that other tools, developed for use with other organisms, could be usefully employed to advance our knowledge of *Leishmania*.

# 5.2. New Genetic Approaches for Leishmania

Comparative genomics and single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping are two existing tools that could be applied to *Leishmania* research.

### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

### 5.2.1. Comparative Genomics

The comparative genomics approach has already been tested for other parasites such as *Plasmodium* by Carlton et al. (2002) and has recently begun to be used on the Kinetoplastida by El-Sayed et al. (2005). Thanks to the complete sequencing of Trypanosoma cruzi, T. brucei and L. major, El-Sayed et al. (2005) have revealed a conserved core proteome of approximately 6200 genes in large syntenic polycistronic gene clusters (gene arrays conserved on chromosomes among species). Many species-specific genes, especially large surface antigen families, occur at nonsyntenic chromosome-internal and subtelomeric regions. Retroelements, structural RNAs and gene family expansion are often associated with syntenic discontinuities thattogether with gene divergence, acquisition and loss, and rearrangement within the syntenic regions-have shaped the genomes of each parasite (El-Sayed et al., 2005). Comparative genomics has thus provided very interesting data on these genomes; for this reason we will now discuss this approach which we hope will soon be applied to the comparison of Leishmania genomes.

The availability of genome sequences and their comparison among species is a revolution in biological science that is greatly accelerating our knowledge of species biology and evolution. Comparative genomic approaches have now been used for a number of different purposes concerning pathogens. Giving an extensive description of the tools used and the questions that could be addressed by comparing genomes of different species, and especially *Leishmania* species, would deserve a complete review in itself. We will thus make only a brief summary of the basic principles of comparative genomics, and indicate how these tools could be used to understand better both the biology and the evolution of pathogens.

(a) What is comparative genomics? Comparative genomics is the analysis and comparison of the genomes of different species. The major principle of comparative genomics is very simple: the two (or more) genomes under examination once had a common ancestor (Figure 9). Therefore, every nucleotide base present in the genome of each species is the result of both nucleotide composition of the original ancestral genome and the action of evolution on the genome of



*Figure 9* Schematic representation of the divergence of two base sequences after a speciation process which occurred T generations ago. Each resulting species has one fixed mutation (indicated by arrows).

each species since their divergence. In this context, evolution can be regarded as a combination of three major forces that independently affect and modify the composition of the genome of each species: mutation, selection and genetic drift. Mutations are artefacts generated randomly and recurrently in the genome of living organisms. These mutations can be of different types, affecting only one base pair in certain cases (i.e. one nucleotide change), or a larger region of the genome (by insertion or deletion) in other cases. Once a mutation has occurred in the genome, its future is then determined by the two other processes: selection and genetic drift. Selection pressure can act upon mutations in two different ways: purifying selection tends to eliminate mutations from the population when the mutation has a deleterious effect, i.e. when it reduces the fitness of the individuals that carry it, while positive selection increases the frequency of the mutant gene up to fixation (100% frequency) because of its positive effect on the individual's fitness. Genetic drift refers to the gradual drift over time of gene frequencies in a population due to random sampling effects in the formation of successive generations. In a narrower sense, genetic drift refers to the expected population dynamics of alleles, which are predicted eventually to become fixed at zero or 100% frequency in the absence of other mechanisms such as selection affecting the distribution of the alleles. Genetic drift therefore tends to increase or decrease the frequency of a mutation in the population, but only by chance. Because it is caused by random sampling effects,

it depends on the effective population size and is higher in small populations. The future of a mutation affected solely by drift is thus randomly determined. Neutral mutations (i.e. mutations that have no effect on fitness) are affected only by genetic drift. Mutations that affect fitness (negatively or positively) are influenced by both selection and, especially in small populations, genetic drift.

Because of mutation, genetic drift and selection, the two diverging species will tend to fix different mutations in their genomes and will therefore tend to accumulate differences over time. By analysing these differences between genomes, comparative genomics provides a means of understanding and reconstructing what happened during the evolution of the two species. Depending on the question addressed, many different features can be compared among genomes: sequence similarity/dissimilarity, gene location, the length and number of coding regions (exons) or noncoding regions (introns) within genes (it is worth noting that *Leishmania* lacks introns), the amount of noncoding DNA in each genome, the number of duplicated genes and highly conserved regions and so on.

In any case and whatever the question addressed, the first step of comparative genomics is generally to identify, in the genome of both (or all) species, the regions of similar ancestry and to align them, which requires the use of several specific and basic tools (homology research using BLAST processes and sequence alignment using ClustalX, or Bioedit software, for example).

(b) What can be learnt about gene function? Comparing genomes can help to reveal and analyse gene function. Information on sequence similarity among genomes of different species is a major resource for finding functional regions and for predicting what those functions are (Fraser *et al.*, 2000; Gutierrez, 2000). One of the best examples is, for instance, the improvement in identification of protein-coding genes. Various methods that incorporate interspecies similarity into gene prediction are now being used to analyse large genomes. The basic idea is very simple. Since common sequences of active genes are commonly under the influence of strong negative selection, comparing genomes is expected to unveil new sets of sequences corresponding to previously unidentified genes, thus expanding the complete gene catalogue for each organism. Several of the novel genes predicted in mammals using this method have been verified experimentally, adding many new genes to the mammalian set (International Mouse Genome Sequencing Consortium, 2002).

Functional assignment of genes comes primarily from biochemical experimentation. However, comparative genomics can also help to resolve gene function. For instance, the regions involved in an organism's pathogenicity can be identified by comparing its genome with that of a related, non-pathogenic, organism. The pathogenicity genes will, a priori, be located in a region that greatly differs between the two genomes. This strategy can reduce the number of genes needing to be subjected subsequently to a specific and systematic functional analysis using 'knock-out' techniques, for instance. Comparing the genome of newly sequenced species to the genome of a well-known model organism in which most of the gene functions have been characterized through systematic biotechnological approaches is also a good way to identify gene function. Comparative genomics is therefore a powerful tool helping to gain greater insight into the genes present in a pathogen's genome. The ability to do this will increase with the amount of information available on different model organisms and the variety of these organisms. Obviously, the greater the number of completely sequenced genomes available, the more widespread this type of fast and economic *in silico* approach will become.

(c) *Discovering new drug and vaccine targets.* Comparative genomics can be a good strategy for identifying and discovering genes that might encode novel drug targets or protective antigens (Gutierrez, 2000; Carlton, 2003; McCarter, 2004). This can involve the use of comparative bioinformatics to identify single genes or families of genes which encode proteins whose function is known or which are already considered to be good drug targets in other organisms. In addition, the identification of genes involved in novel pathways or biochemical processes that are clearly essential for life but fundamentally different from the pathways found in the host can provide an important lead to potential new drug targets. The availability of genome sequences also makes it possible to develop the approach of reverse vaccinology, which uses genome comparison to predict new putative antigens. Practically speaking, to identify new drug targets, BLAST research can be conducted against specific databases to find genes that are essential for the pathogen—i.e., which produce molecules essential to their life cycle—or genes already known to be good drug targets in related pathogen species. If the homologous gene is found, the queried genes may also be essential. Based on comparative genomics, the essential genes that are restricted to a group of species or a given species could represent novel targets for highly specific chemotherapy, whereas those that are preserved across many pathogens might be suitable targets for broad-spectrum antiparasitic agents. Such analyses must obviously be supplemented by systematic functional genomics to filter and ensure the validity as drug targets of the different candidate genes obtained through comparative genomics.

Comparative genomic methods have been successfully used to identify new drug targets in different types of pathogens. For instance, the genomic approach has been applied to tuberculosis, a major cause of transmissible morbidity and mortality, with notable success. Complete genome sequences are available for three members of the Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex and the related intracellular pathogen *M. leprae*. Many of the predictions generated *in silico* by comparative genomics have been validated through functional analysis, including studies of the transcriptome (Mostowy et al., 2004) and proteome (Betts et al., 2000), and have led to the identification of many genes essential for the life of the bacteria (Mushegian and Koonin, 1996). Knowledge of the latter genes defines potential targets for new and existing drugs. Their specificity has been assessed by comparative genomics with the host or other pathogens (Cole, 2002). Genomics has also advanced tuberculosis vaccine development by pinpointing potentially new antigenic proteins (Cockle et al., 2002).

In the genus *Plasmodium*, comparative genomics has also been applied to the search for new drug targets. One of the best examples concerns the identification of pathways in the apicoplast similar to those found in bacteria (Foth and McFadden, 2003). The bacterial nature of these pathways provided several new potential targets to which inhibitors had already been developed as antibiotics. Several experimental studies demonstrated *a posteriori* the validity of these candidate genes as good drug targets (Jomaa *et al.*, 1999). Several *Leishmania* genomes are or will soon be available on GeneDB: *L. major*, *L. infantum* and *L. braziliensis*. A great deal of interesting information will be provided by comparative genomics when the annotations are completely finished.

(d) Understanding species evolution: what about selection? As previously noted, traces of the evolutionary processes remain in the information of similarities and dissimilarities found between genomic sequences of different species. A number of useful evolutionary quantities can thus be analysed or estimated from between-species comparisons of genome-wide divergence patterns: the magnitude and variation of mutation rates within a genome, the magnitude of positive and negative (purifying) selection, the variation in selection across different lineages, chromosomes, gene families and individual genes as well as the number of genes participating in the speciation process or involved in adaptation to a new environment.

One of the best and most famous examples of how comparative genomics can give insight into the evolution of species is the analysis of how selection has shaped protein-coding genes in the genome.

The most direct method for showing the presence of positive selection is comparing and analysing the levels of divergence between sequences at two different types of sites within the DNA-coding region: the synonymous sites (also called silent sites because mutations there do not lead to a change in the protein sequence) and the nonsynonymous sites (also called replacement sites because mutations at these sites lead to a change in the protein sequence) (Yang and Bielawski, 2000). Non-synonymous (N) and synonymous (S) sites undergo different selective forces in the genome. Whereas the former may experience positive and negative selection, the latter are generally assumed to be neutral and dependent on the mutation rate alone (but see Akashi et al., 1998). The contrast between the differences observed between sequences at N and S sites has thus opened up ample opportunities for rigorous analyses of the effects of both positive and negative selection. In particular, the non-synonymous-to-synonymous substitution rate ratio (dN/dS) provides a sensitive measure of selective pressure on the protein. Values of dN/dS < 1 indicate that a substantial proportion of amino acid changes must have been eliminated by purifying selection. Assuming that synonymous substitutions are neutral, dN/dS > 1 implies, but is not a necessary condition for, adaptive or positive selection. However, changes in the dN/dS ratio, regardless of whether values are significantly >1 within genes, among genes, among regions of the genome or among groups of species, can be indicative of changes in selective constraints and/or positive selection. A statistical framework for making inferences regarding dN and dS was developed by Goldman and Yang (1994). These methods (and new ones) are included in PAML software.

Overall genome analyses of selection acting on protein-coding genes have been applied to pathogenic species such as those of *Plasmodium* and *Trypanosoma*, for which multiple genomes of related species are available. In particular, it has been demonstrated in trypanosomatids that the genes of unknown function were those that displayed the highest rate of non-synonymous substitutions, suggesting that they were subject to positive selection or neutral evolution. Some of the genes undergoing positive selection probably included genes involved in single processes such as interaction with the host. For *Plasmodium* species, the analysis demonstrated that genes involved in host–parasite interactions or those which governed production of antigens recognized by the human immune system were evolving at the fastest rates (Carlton *et al.*, 2002).

### 5.2.2. Other Tools: The Example of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are single nucleotides that are polymorphic in the population. SNPs represent the most widespread type of sequence variation in genomes and are quite easily characterized and genotyped. As a consequence, they constitute interesting genetic markers that can be used for various purposes: revealing and analysing the evolutionary history of populations (Brumfield *et al.*, 2003), analysing the recombination rate in the genome, mapping genomes or conducting association studies, i.e. linking particular genotypes to particular phenotypes.

SNP discovery is the process by which a single nucleotide position in the genome is determined to be polymorphic in the population of interest (Marth *et al.*, 1999; Lindblad-Toh *et al.*, 2000). Generally, SNPs have to be found through sequencing and comparison of segments of the genome from multiple individuals. Ideally the entire genome is sequenced in several individuals, so as to determine the number of SNPs overall in both coding and non-coding regions. For less ambitious and less costly projects, the number of genome segments that must be screened is largely dependent on the density of the SNPs present in each species. However, in many species, SNPs occur every 200–500 bp, suggesting that screening 100 segments of the genome is generally sufficient to obtain more than 50 SNPs.

For genotyping, the choice of method depends on many criteria and it is not our purpose to explain and develop all of them. Details of potential methods are given in the reviews by Kwok (2001) and Syvanen (2005). For instance, SNP genotyping can be performed using allele-specific methods, hybridization or primer extension (Kwok, 2001).

(a) Recombination studies. The nature and scale of recombination rate variation are largely unknown for most species. Recombination allows sites to evolve independently, and thus may act as a diversifying force, generating new variants of the parasite. SNPs can help to analyse and/or reveal patterns of recombination in the genome of pathogens (Mu et al., 2005). Different methods, parametric and nonparametric (see Awadalla, 2003 for more details), can be used to estimate the effective recombination rate within populations of pathogens. Such SNP-based approaches have been used in several species including Plasmodium falciparum. Mu et al. (2005) analysed the recombination rate of P. falciparum using SNPs distributed all over chromosome 3. This study revealed in particular that variation in effective recombination rates was high, both among populations and along the chromosome, with recombination 'hotspots' conserved among populations at chromosome ends. These markers might be used to infer the level of recombination in the genome of Leishmania species. This can be very informative since several recombination events have been demonstrated but their frequency in natural populations and their real impact on the population structure remain unknown

(b) Association studies and their limitations. SNPs can also be used to genetically map DNA sequences that contribute to heritable phenotypes (Pardi et al., 2005). While most SNPs are found outside genes and probably do not have an effect, those located in and near genes may contribute to the genetic basis of certain phenotypes, for example pathogenicity, virulence or resistance to certain drugs. The approach used to identify SNP alleles associated with particular phenotypes is conceptually quite straightforward. Two populations of individuals are screened, one with the phenotype of interest (e.g. resistant to a drug) and one without (e.g. susceptible to the same drug). The frequencies of the different alleles at each SNP in each sample population are then compared. If one allele is significantly more common in the first population than in the other, this suggests that one of the alleles confers the phenotype of interest or is linked to a site that directly confers the phenotype. Where an association is found, the SNP is therefore likely to be within or at least close to a gene that influences the phenotype. The ability of SNPs to provide information on that gene depends on the linkage disequilibrium existing between the SNP and the gene of interest, hence on the effective recombination rate in the genome and in the population being scrutinized. Unfortunately, SNPs are not useful or very informative in the case of association studies for asexual species or species displaying a 'clonal structure', as has been suggested for Leishmania and certain other pathogens (Wickstead et al., 2003), because linkage disequilibrium is expected to be high even for SNPs located far away from the gene of interest.

# 5.3. Towards an Integrated Approach

As mentioned above, the life cycle of *Leishmania* basically includes the vector, the parasite and the host, but the outcome of transmission infection and disease—are dependent on the intrinsic characteristics of these three factors. Indeed, the epidemiology of leishmaniasis reflects the particular combination of interactions among these factors, but in many endemic areas the exact role of each factor and its relation to human infection are unknown. It is known, however, that all of them have an impact on the manifestation of the disease: (i) there is strong vector–parasite specificity, (ii) *Leishmania*  species are statistically associated with certain clinical forms and various factors have been described as associated with clinical diversity, and (iii) the risk of leishmaniasis is markedly increased by allelic variants at specific host genetic loci. This strongly suggests that it is necessary to study all these factors in a single-focus population in order to understand fully the epidemiology of leishmaniasis.

Concerning interactions with vectors, to complete their development in the sand fly, Leishmania have to overcome several adverse conditions (Killick-Kendrick, 1985; Sacks, 2001) such as digestive enzymes secreted by the insect (Borovsky and Schlein, 1987; Dillon and Lane, 1993; Ramalho-Ortigao et al., 2003), midgut lectins (Wallbanks et al., 1986; Volf et al., 1994, 2002), excretion of bloodmeal remnants (Killick-Kendrick et al., 1994; Pimenta et al., 1994), and the sand fly's innate immune responses (Ramalho-Ortigao et al., 2001; Boulanger et al., 2004). The consequences of these interactions are termed vector competence. Some vectors have evolved as restricted vectors, such as Phlebotomus (Phlebotomus) papatasi and *P. (Paraphlebotomus) sergenti*, because they can be infected by only one species of Leishmania (L. major and L. tropica, respectively) (Pimenta et al., 1994; Kamhawi et al., 2000), whereas Lutzomyia longipalpis and Phlebotomus argentipes have evolved as permissive vectors, able to develop mature transmissible infections when infected with any of several Leishmania species (Pimenta et al., 1994; Kamhawi et al., 2000; Sadlova et al., 2003; Rogers et al., 2004). Numerous studies have shown that sand fly saliva enhances Leishmania infection in mammals and can modulate the immune response of the latter through the modulatory effect of molecules injected into the skin. These include salivary molecules and/or molecules of parasite origin, such as PSG (promastigote secretory gel) (reviewed by Gillespie et al., 2000; Kamhawi et al., 2000; Sacks, 2001). However, pre-exposure to sand fly saliva protected mice against infection with L. major (see Belkaid et al., 1998; Kamhawi et al., 2000). Sand fly saliva consists of a complex mixture of pharmacologically active compounds such as vasodilators, anticoagulants, platelet inhibitors and immunogenic proteins (Ribeiro, 1995; Charlab et al., 1999; Kamhawi et al., 2000; Valenzuela et al., 2001; Valenzuela, 2002).

From numerous studies it is now emerging that host genetic factors also influence the outcome of human infection by Leishmania. Indeed, several epidemiological studies have shown that human infection by Leishmania parasites remains asymptomatic in most cases (Ho et al., 1982; Badaro et al., 1986; Zijlstra et al., 1994; Bucheton et al., 2003). Such asymptomatic subjects are able either to clear infection or to remain asymptomatic carriers for years (as shown by the development of overt leishmaniasis in immunosuppressed patients several years after their last visit to an endemic area). Other subjects, however, are unable to control parasite dissemination and/or multiplication and develop clinical symptoms of diverse severity. Several risk factors are associated with the development of leishmaniasis such as malnutrition, immunosuppression (acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, malignancy), pregnancy, age, immunological capacity and genetic factors. For example, the effect of malnutrition on persons infected with L. donovani infection is to alter the immune response and lead to increased parasite visceralization (Harrison et al., 1986; Anstead et al., 2001). The involvement of genetic host factors in resistance/susceptibility was first suggested by the fact that genetically distinct inbred strains of mice exhibited substantial differences in the outcome of experimental infection by a single strain of Leishmania. Overall studies in mice and in populations living in endemic areas suggest that the risk of clinical leishmaniasis (CL, MCL and VL) is markedly increased by allelic variants at specific genetic loci. During the early stages of L. donovani infection, control of the parasite is associated with a mutation in the transmembrane domain of the Nramp1 gene (natural resistance-associated macrophage protein 1 gene or Sl11a1) (Bradley et al., 1979; Vidal et al., 1995). Alleles at the MHC locus have been associated with the late control of L. donovani infection in susceptible mouse strains (Blackwell et al., 1980). Furthermore, in humans, some familial aggregations of clinical phenotypes, consistent with the existence of inherited factors in susceptibility to CL and VL, have been revealed by several epidemiological studies (Zijlstra et al., 1994; Cabello et al., 1995; Bucheton et al., 2003). Furthermore, some studies indicated that the distribution of disease phenotypes (CL or VL) in extended pedigrees of persons living in endemic areas were statistically best explained by the

segregation of one or two major susceptibility loci (Shaw *et al.*, 1995; Alcais *et al.*, 1997; Peacock *et al.*, 2001). Together with the observation of profound ethnic differences in the ratio of asymptomatic to symptomatic infections (Ibrahim *et al.*, 1999; Bucheton *et al.*, 2003), these epidemiological observations strongly suggest that human susceptibility to cutaneous or visceral leishmaniasis is also mediated by host genetic factors. The integrated analysis of parasite genetics, parasite virulence factors, host immune responses, vector competence, host genetics, socioeconomic and environmental risk factors is now necessary for a better understanding of the interplay between these different factors and the risk of developing leishmaniasis. This approach could also provide information on the critical biological pathways involved in host resistance or susceptibility to leishmaniasis and therefore help to design new therapeutic or vaccine strategies.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to l'Institut de Recherche pour le Développement and le Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique for financial support. We thank T. De Meeûs, C. Chevillon, B. Bucheton and R. Bras-Gonçalves for helpful discussions and L. Northup for English corrections.

# REFERENCES

- Ajdary, S., Alimohammadian, M.H., Eslami, M.B., Kemp, K. and Kharazmi, A. (2000). Comparison of the immune profile of non-healing cutaneous leishmaniasis patients with those with active lesions and those who have recovered from infection. *Infection and Immunity* 68, 1760–1764.
- Ajzenberg, D., Bañuls, A.L., Su, C., Dumetre, A., Demar, M., Carme, B. and Darde, M.L. (2004). Genetic diversity, clonality and sexuality in *Toxoplasma gondii*. *International Journal for Parasitology* 34, 1185–1196.

- Akashi, H., Kliman, R.M. and Eyre-Walker, A. (1998). Mutation pressure, natural selection, and the evolution of base composition in *Drosophila*. *Genetica* 102–103, 49–60.
- Akopyants, N.S., Matlib, R.S., Bukanova, E.N., Smeds, M.R., Brownstein, B.H., Stormo, G.D. and Beverley, S.M. (2004). Expression profiling using random genomic DNA microarrays identifies differentially expressed genes associated with three major developmental stages of the protozoan parasite *Leishmania major*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 136, 71–86.
- Alborzi, A., Rasouli, M. and Shamsizadeh, A. (2006). Leishmania tropicainfected patient with visceral leishmaniasis in southern Iran. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 74, 306–307.
- Alcais, A., Abel, L., David, C., Torrez, M.E., Flandre, P. and Dedet, J.-P. (1997). Evidence for a major gene controlling susceptibility to tegumentary leishmaniasis in a recently exposed Bolivian population. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 61, 968–979.
- Aleixo, J.A., Nascimento, E.T., Monteiro, G.R., Fernandes, M.Z., Ramos, A.M., Wilson, M.E., Pearson, R.D. and Jeronimo, S.M. (2006). Atypical American visceral leishmaniasis caused by disseminated *Leishmania* amazonensis infection presenting with hepatitis and adenopathy. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 100, 79–82.
- Alexander, J., Coombs, G.H. and Mottram, J.C. (1998). Leishmania mexicana cysteine proteinase-deficient mutants have attenuated virulence for mice and potentiate a Th1 response. Journal of Immunology 161, 6794–6801.
- Al-Jawabreh, A., Schnur, L.F., Nasereddin, A., Schwenkenbecher, J.M., Abdeen, Z., Barghuthy, F., Khanfar, H., Presber, W. and Schonian, G. (2004). The recent emergence of *Leishmania tropica* in Jericho (A'riha) and its environs, a classical focus of *L. major. Tropical Medicine and International Health* 9, 812–816.
- Almeida, R.P., Barral-Netto, M., De Jesus, A.M.R., De Freitas, L.A.R., Carvalho, E.M. and Barral, A. (1996). Biological behavior of *Leishmania amazonensis* isolated from humans with cutaneous, mucosal, or visceral leishmaniasis in Balb/C mice. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 54, 178–184.
- Almeida, R., Norrish, A., Levick, M., Vetrie, D., Freeman, T., Vilo, J., Ivens, A., Lange, U., Stober, C., McCann, S. and Blackwell, J.M. (2002).
  From genomes to vaccines: *Leishmania* as a model. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences* 357, 5–11.
- Almeida, R., Gilmartin, B.J., McCann, S.H., Norrish, A., Ivens, A.C., Lawson, D., Levick, M.P., Smith, D.F., Dyall, S.D., Vetrie, D., Freeman, T.C., Coulson, R.M., Sampaio, I., Schneider, H. and Blackwell, J.M.

(2004). Expression profiling of the *Leishmania* life cycle: cDNA arrays identify developmentally regulated genes present but not annotated in the genome. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **136**, 87–100.

- Anstead, G.M., Chandrasekar, B., Zhao, W., Yang, J., Perez, L.E. and Melby, P.C. (2001). Malnutrition alters the innate immune response and increases early visceralization following *Leishmania donovani* infection. *Infection and Immunity* 69, 4709–4718.
- Anthony, R.L., Williams, K.M., Sacci, J.B. and Rubin, D.C. (1985). Subcellular and taxonomic specificity of monoclonal antibodies to New World *Leishmania*. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 34, 1085–1094.
- Antoine, J.C., Prina, E., Courret, N. and Lang, T. (2004). *Leishmania* spp.: on the interactions they establish with antigen-presenting cells of their mammalian hosts. *Advances in Parasitology* 58, 1–68.
- Antoniazi, S., Lima, H.C. and Cruz, A.K. (2000). Overexpression of miniexon gene decreases virulence of *Leishmania major* in BALB/c mice in vivo. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology 107, 57–69.
- Antoniou, M., Doulgerakis, C., Pratlong, F., Dedet, J.-P. and Tselentis, Y. (2004). Treatment failure due to mixed infection by different strains of the parasite *Leishmania infantum*. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine* and Hygiene **71**, 71–72.
- Aoun, K., Bouratbine, A., Harrat, Z., Guizani, I., Mokni, M., Bel Hadj Ali, S., Ben Osman, A., Belkaid, M., Dellagi, K. and Ben Ismail, R. (2000).
  Epidemiologic and parasitologic data concerning sporadic cutaneous leishmaniasis in northern Tunisia. *Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique* 93, 101–103.
- Arias, J.R., Monteiro, P.S. and Zicker, F. (1996). The reemergence of visceral leishmaniasis in Brazil. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 2, 145–146.
- Arnot, D.E. and Barker, D.C. (1981). Biochemical identification of cutaneous leishmanias by analysis of kinetoplast DNA. II. Sequence homologies in *Leishmania* kDNA. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 3, 47–56.
- Awadalla, P. (2003). The evolutionary genomics of pathogen recombination. *Nature Reviews: Genetics* 4, 50–60.
- Ayala, F.J. (1998). Is sex better? Parasites say 'no'. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95, 3346–3348.
- Bacellar, O., Lessa, H., Schriefer, A., Machado, P., Ribeiro de Jesus, A., Dutra, W.O., Gollob, K.J. and Carvalho, E.M. (2002). Up-regulation of Th1-type responses in mucosal leishmaniasis patients. *Infection and Immunity* **70**, 6734–6740.
- Badaro, R., Jones, T.C., Lorenco, R., Cerf, B.J., Sampaio, D., Carvalho, E.M., Rocha, H., Teixeira, R. and Johnson, W.D., jr (1986). A prospective study of visceral leishmaniasis in an endemic area of Brazil. *Journal* of Infectious Diseases 154, 639–649.

- Bañuls, A.-L., Guerrini, F., Le Pont, F., Barrera, C., Espinel, I., Guderian, R., Echeverria, R. and Tibayrenc, M. (1997). Evidence for hybridization by multilocus enzyme electrophoresis and random amplified polymorphic DNA between *Leishmania braziliensis* and *Leishmania panamensis/guyanensis* in Ecuador. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology* 44, 408–411.
- Bañuls, A.-L., Hide, M. and Tibayrenc, M. (1999a). Molecular epidemiology and evolutionary genetics of *Leishmania* parasites. *International Journal for Parasitology* 29, 1137–1147.
- Bañuls, A.-L., Jonquières, R., Guerrini, F., Le Pont, F., Barrera, C., Espinel, I., Guderian, R., Echeverria, R. and Tibayrenc, M. (1999b). Genetic analysis of *Leishmania* parasites in Ecuador: are *Leishmania* (*Viannia*) panamensis and *Leishmania* (V.) guyanensis distinct taxa? American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 61, 838–845.
- Bañuls, A.-L., Dujardin, J.C., Guerrini, F., De Doncker, S., Jacquet, D., Arevalo, J., Noel, S., Le Ray, D. and Tibayrenc, M. (2000). Is *Leishmania* (*Viannia*) peruviana a distinct species? A MLEE/RAPD evolutionary genetics answer. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology* 47, 197–207.
- Bañuls, A.-L., Hide, M. and Tibayrenc, M. (2002). Evolutionary genetics and molecular diagnosis of *Leishmania* species. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **96** (supplement 1), S9–S13.
- Bard, E. (1989). Molecular biology of *Leishmania*. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 67, 516–524.
- Barker, D.C. (1989). Molecular approaches to DNA diagnosis. *Parasitology* **99** (supplement), S125–S146.
- Barker, D.C., Gibson, L.J., Kennedy, W.P., Nasser, A.A. and Williams, R.H. (1986). The potential of using recombinant DNA species-specific probes for the identification of tropical *Leishmania*. *Parasitology* 92 (supplement 1), S139–S174.
- Bastien, P., Blaineau, C. and Pagès, M. (1992). *Leishmania*: sex, lies and karyotype. *Parasitology Today* 8, 178–181.
- Bastrenta, B., Mita, N., Buitrago, R., Vargas, F., Flores, M., Machane, M., Yacsik, N., Torrez, M., Le Pont, F. and Brenière, F. (2003). Human mixed infections of *Leishmania* spp. and *Leishmania–Trypanosoma cruzi* in a sub Andean Bolivian area: identification by polymerase chain reaction/hybridization and isoenzyme. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 98, 255–264.
- Basu, M.K. and Ray, M. (2005). Macrophage and *Leishmania*: an unacceptable coexistence. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology* 31, 145–154.
- Bates, P.A. and Rogers, M.E. (2004). New insights into the developmental biology and transmission mechanisms of *Leishmania*. *Current Molecular Medicine* 4, 601–609.

- Beetham, J.K., Donelson, J.E. and Dahlin, R.R. (2003). Surface glycoprotein PSA (GP46) expression during short- and long-term culture of *Leishmania chagasi*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **131**, 109–117.
- Belkaid, Y., Kamhawi, S., Modi, G., Valenzuela, J., Noben-Trauth, N., Rowton, E., Ribeiro, J. and Sacks, D.L. (1998). Development of a natural model of cutaneous leishmaniasis: powerful effects of vector saliva and saliva preexposure on the long-term outcome of *Leishmania major* infection in the mouse ear dermis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 188, 1941–1953.
- Belli, A.A., Miles, M.A. and Kelly, J.M. (1994). A putative *Leishmania* panamensis/Leishmania braziliensis hybrid is a causative agent of human cutaneous leishmaniasis in Nicaragua. Parasitology **109**, 435–442.
- Bente, M., Harder, S., Wiesgigl, M., Heukeshoven, J., Gelhaus, C., Krause, E., Clos, J. and Bruchhaus, I. (2003). Developmentally induced changes of the proteome in the protozoan parasite *Leishmania donovani*. *Proteomics* 3, 1811–1829.
- Berzunza-Cruz, M., Bricaire, G., Romero, S.Z., Perez-Becker, R., Saavedra-Lira, E., Perez-Montfort, R., Crippa-Rossi, M., Velasco-Castrejon, O. and Becker, I. (2000). *Leishmania mexicana mexicana*: genetic heterogeneity of Mexican isolates revealed by restriction length polymorphism analysis of kinetoplast DNA. *Experimental Parasitology* 95, 277–284.
- Betts, J.C., Dodson, P., Quan, S., Lewis, A.P., Thomas, P.J., Duncan, K. and McAdam, R.A. (2000). Comparison of the proteome of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strain H37Rv with clinical isolate CDC 1551. *Microbiology* 146, 3205–3216.
- Beverley, S.M. (1988). Characterization of the 'unusual' mobility of large circular DNAs in pulsed field-gradient electrophoresis. *Nucleic Acids Research* 16, 925–939.
- Beverley, S.M. (1991). Gene amplification in *Leishmania*. Annual Review of Microbiology 45, 417–444.
- Beverley, S.M., Ismach, R.B. and Pratt, D.M. (1987). Evolution of the genus Leishmania as revealed by comparisons of nuclear DNA restriction fragment patterns. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 84, 484–488.
- Beverley, S.M., Akopyants, N.S., Goyard, S., Matlib, R.S., Gordon, J.L., Brownstein, B.H., Stormo, G.D., Bukanova, E.N., Hott, C.T., Li, F., MacMillan, S., Muo, J.N., Schwertman, L.A., Smeds, M.R. and Wang, Y. (2002). Putting the *Leishmania* genome to work: functional genomics by transposon trapping and expression profiling. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences 357, 47–53.
- Bishop, R.P. and Miles, M.A. (1987). Chromosome size polymorphisms of *Leishmania donovani*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 24, 263–272.

- Blackwell, J., Freeman, J. and Bradley, D. (1980). Influence of H-2 complex on acquired resistance to *Leishmania donovani* infection in mice. *Nature* 283, 72–74.
- Blaineau, C., Bastien, P., Rioux, J.A., Roizes, G. and Pagès, M. (1991). Long-range restriction maps of size-variable homologous chromosomes in *Leishmania infantum*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 46, 292–302.
- Blaineau, C., Bastien, P. and Pagès, M. (1992). Multiple forms of chromosome I, II and V in a restricted population of *Leishmania infantum* contrasting with monomorphism in individual strains suggest haploidy or automixy. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 50, 197–204.
- Boelaert, M., Criel, B., Leeuwenburg, J., Van Damme, W., Le Ray, D. and Van der Stuyft, P. (2000). Visceral leishmaniasis control: a public health perspective. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 94, 465–471.
- Bories, C., Coffin, C., Mathieu, D., Bories, P.N., Scherman, E., Rivollet, D. and Deniau, M. (1998). Lack of a nitric-oxide response during the course of *Leishmania infantum* infection in the golden hamster (*Mesocricetus auratus*), with or without treatment with liposomal amphotericin B. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 92, 685–692.
- Borovsky, D. and Schlein, Y. (1987). Trypsin and chymotrypsin-like enzymes of the sandfly *Phlebotomus papatasi* infected with *Leishmania* and their possible role in vector competence. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology* 1, 235–242.
- Bosch, R.J., Rodrigo, A.B., Sanchez, P., de Galvez, M.V. and Herrera, E. (2002). Presence of *Leishmania* organisms in specific and non-specific skin lesions in HIV-infected individuals with visceral leishmaniasis. *International Journal of Dermatology* **41**, 670–675.
- Bougnoux, M.E., Diogo, D., François, N., Sendid, B., Veirmeire, S., Colombel, J.F., Bouchier, C., Van Kruiningen, H., d'Enfert, C. and Poulain, D. (2006). Multilocus sequence typing reveals intrafamilial transmission and microevolutions of *Candida albicans* isolates from the human digestive tract. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 44, 1810–1820.
- Boulanger, N., Lowenberger, C., Volf, P., Ursic, R., Sigutova, L., Sabatier, L., Svobodova, M., Beverley, S.M., Spath, G., Brun, R., Pesson, B. and Bulet, P. (2004). Characterization of a defensin from the sand fly *Phlebotomus duboscqi* induced by challenge with bacteria or the protozoan parasite *Leishmania major*. *Infection and Immunity* 72, 7140–7146.
- Bradley, D.J., Taylor, B.A., Blackwell, J., Evans, E.P. and Freeman, J. (1979). Regulation of *Leishmania* populations within the host. III. Mapping of the locus controlling susceptibility to visceral leishmaniasis in the mouse. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 37, 7–14.

Bray, R.S. (1974). Leishmania. Annual Review of Microbiology 28, 189–217.

- Brenière, S.F., Telleria, J., Bosseno, M.F., Buitrago, R., Bastrenta, B., Cuny, G., Bañuls, A.-L., Brewster, S. and Barker, D.C. (1999). Polymerase chain reaction-based identification of New World *Leishmania* species complexes by specific kDNA probes. *Acta Tropica* 73, 283–293.
- Brewster, S. and Barker, D.C. (2002). Analysis of minicircle classes in Leishmania (Viannia) species. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 96 (supplement 1), S55–S63.
- Brisse, S., Dujardin, J.C. and Tibayrenc, M. (2000). Identification of six *Trypanosoma cruzi* lineages by sequence-characterised amplified region markers. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 111, 95–105.
- Britten, R.J. (1986). Rates of DNA sequence evolution differ between taxonomic groups. *Science* 231, 1393–1398.
- Britto, C., Ravel, C., Bastien, P., Blaineau, C., Pagès, M., Dedet, J.-P. and Wincker, P. (1998). Conserved linkage groups associated with large-scale chromosomal rearrangements between Old World and New World *Leishmania* genomes. *Gene* 222, 107–117.
- Brooks, D.R., Denise, H., Westrop, G.D., Coombs, G.H. and Mottram, J.C. (2001). The stage-regulated expression of *Leishmania mexicana* CPB cysteine proteases is mediated by an intercistronic sequence element. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 47061–47069.
- Bruford, M.W. and Wayne, R.K. (1993). Microsatellites and their application to population genetic studies. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* 3, 939–943.
- Brumfield, R.T., Beerli, P., Nickerson, D.A. and Edwards, S.V. (2003). The utility of single nucleotide polymorphisms in inferences of population history. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **18**, 249–256.
- Bucheton, B., Abel, L., Kheir, M.M., Mirgani, A., El-Safi, S.H., Chevillard, C. and Dessein, A. (2003). Genetic control of visceral leishmaniasis in a Sudanese population: candidate gene testing indicates a linkage to the NRAMP1 region. Genes and Immunity 4, 104–109.
- Bulle, B., Millon, L., Bart, J.M., Gallego, M., Gambarelli, F., Portus, M., Schnur, L., Jaffe, C.L., Fernandez-Barredo, S., Alunda, J.M. and Piarroux, R. (2002). Practical approach for typing strains of *Leishmania infantum* by microsatellite analysis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 40, 3391–3397.
- Burns, J.M., jr, Shreffler, W.G., Benson, D.R., Ghalib, H.W., Badaro, R. and Reed, S.G. (1993). Molecular characterization of a kinesinrelated antigen of *Leishmania chagasi* that detects specific antibody in African and American visceral leishmaniasis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **90**, 775–779.

- Cabello, P.H., Lima, A.M., Azevedo, E.S. and Krieger, H. (1995). Familial aggregation of *Leishmania chagasi* infection in northeastern Brazil. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **52**, 364–365.
- Caceres, A.G., Villaseca, P., Dujardin, J.C., Bañuls, A.-L., Inga, R., Lopez, M., Arana, M., Le Ray, D. and Arevalo, J. (2004). Epidemiology of Andean cutaneous leishmaniasis: incrimination of *Lutzomyia ayacuchensis* (Diptera: Psychodidae) as a vector of *Leishmania* in geographically isolated, upland valleys of Peru. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **70**, 607–612.
- Cain, A.J. (1954). *Animal Species and Their Evolution*. London: Hutchinson University Library.
- Calza, L., D'Antuono, A., Marinacci, G., Manfredi, R., Colangeli, V., Passarini, B., Orioli, R., Varoli, O. and Chiodo, F. (2004). Disseminated cutaneous leishmaniasis after visceral disease in a patient with AIDS. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* **50**, 461–465.
- Campos, M. (1990). Development of mucosal lesions among cases of leishmaniasis in the southeast of Peru: a case-control study for identifying risk factors and estimating the preventive efficacy of treatment. Ph.D. thesis, London School of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, University of London.
- Campos-Ponce, M., Ponce, C., Ponce, E. and Maingon, R.D. (2005). Leishmania chagasi/infantum: further investigations on Leishmania tropisms in atypical cutaneous and visceral leishmaniasis foci in Central America. Experimental Parasitology 109, 209–219.
- Carlton, J.M. (2003). Genome sequencing and comparative genomics of tropical disease pathogens. *Cellular Microbiology* **5**, 861–873.
- Carlton, J.M., Angiuoli, S.V., Suh, B.B., Kooij, T.W., Pertea, M., Silva, J.C., Ermolaeva, M.D., Allen, J.E., Selengut, J.D., Koo, H.L., Peterson, J.D., Pop, M., Kosack, D.S., Shumway, M.F., Bidwell, S.L., Shallom, S.J., van Aken, S.E., Riedmuller, S.B., Feldblyum, T.V., Cho, J.K., Quackenbush, J., Sedegah, M., Shoaibi, A., Cummings, L.M., Florens, L., Yates, J.R., Raine, J.D., Sinden, R.E., Harris, M.A., Cunningham, D.A., Preiser, P.R., Bergman, L.W., Vaidya, A.B., van Lin, L.H., Janse, C.J., Waters, A.P., Smith, H.O., White, O.R., Salzberg, S.L., Venter, J.C., Fraser, C.M., Hoffman, S.L., Gardner, M.J. and Carucci, D.J. (2002). Genome sequence and comparative analysis of the model rodent malaria parasite *Plasmodium yoelii yoelii*. *Nature* 419, 512–519.
- Carvalho, E.M., Johnson, W.D., Barreto, E., Marsden, P.D., Costa, J.L., Reed, S. and Rocha, H. (1985). Cell mediated immunity in American cutaneous and mucosal leishmaniasis. *Journal of Immunology* 135, 4144–4148.

- Chance, M.L., Peters, W. and Shchory, L. (1974). Biochemical taxonomy of Leishmania. I. Observations on DNA. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 68, 307–316.
- Chang, K.P. and McGwire, B.S. (2002). Molecular determinants and regulation of *Leishmania* virulence. *Kinetoplastid Biology and Disease* 1, 1–7. [Published online only.]
- Chang, K.P., Akman, L. and Nielsen, J.S. (1999). *Leishmania* virulence and genetic heterogeneity. *Clinics in Dermatology* **17**, 269–273.
- Chang, K.P., Reed, S.G., McGwire, B.S. and Soong, L. (2003). *Leishmania* model for microbial virulence: the relevance of parasite multiplication and pathoantigenicity. *Acta Tropica* **85**, 375–390.
- Charlab, R., Valenzuela, J.G., Rowton, E.D. and Ribeiro, J.M. (1999). Towards an understanding of the biochemical and pharmacological complexity of the saliva of a hematophagous sand fly *Lutzomyia longipalpis*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **96**, 15155–15160.
- Choisy, M., Hide, M., Bañuls, A.-L. and Guegan, J.F. (2004). Rocking the curve. *Trends in Microbiology* **12**, 534–536.
- Chouicha, N., Lanotte, G., Pratlong, F., Cuba Cuba, C.A., Velez, I.D. and Dedet, J.-P. (1997). Phylogenetic taxonomy of *Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis* based on isoenzymatic study of 137 isolates. *Parasitology* 115, 343–348.
- Clayton, C.E. (1999). Genetic manipulation of Kinetoplastida. *Parasitology Today* **15**, 372–378.
- Clayton, C.E. (2002). Life without transcriptional control? From fly to man and back again. *EMBO Journal* **21**, 1881–1888.
- Cockle, P.J., Gordon, S.V., Lalvani, A., Buddle, B.M., Hewinson, R.G. and Vordermeier, H.M. (2002). Identification of novel *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* antigens with potential as diagnostic reagents or subunit vaccine candidates by comparative genomics. *Infection and Immunity* **70**, 6996–7003.
- Cole, S.T. (2002). Comparative and functional genomics of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. *Microbiology* **148**, 2919–2928.
- Colebunders, R., Depraetere, K., Verstraeten, T., Lambert, J., Hauben, E., Van Marck, E., Maurer, T., Bañuls, A.-L. and Dujardin, J.C. (1999). Unusual cutaneous lesions in two patients with visceral leishmaniasis and HIV infection. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* **41**, 847–850.
- Cornelissen, A.W., Backes, S., Evers, R., Grondal, E.J., Jess, W. and Kock, J. (1990). Transcription analysis in *Trypanosoma brucei*. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 18, 710–714.
- Costa, C.H., Stewart, J.M., Gomes, R.B., Garcez, L.M., Ramos, P.K., Bozza, M., Satoskar, A., Dissanayake, S., Santos, R.S., Silva, M.R., Shaw, J.J., David, J.R. and Maguire, J.H. (2002). Asymptomatic human

carriers of Leishmania chagasi. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 66, 334–337.

- Couppie, P., Clyti, E., Sainte-Marie, D., Dedet, J.-P., Carme, B. and Pradinaud, R. (2004). Disseminated cutaneous leishmaniasis due to *Leishmania guyanensis*: case of a patient with 425 lesions. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 71, 558–560.
- Cracraft, J. (1983). Species concept and speciation analysis. In: *Current Ornithology* (R.F. Johnson, ed.), pp. 159–187. New York: Plenum Press.
- Cruz, A.K., Titus, R. and Beverley, S.M. (1993). Plasticity in chromosome number and testing of essential genes in *Leishmania* by targeting. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 90, 1599–1603.
- Cuervo, P., Cupolillo, E., Nehme, N., Hernandez, V., Saravia, N. and Fernandes, O. (2004). *Leishmania (Viannia)*: genetic analysis of cutaneous and mucosal strains isolated from the same patient. *Experimental Parasitology* **108**, 59–66.
- Cunningham, A.C. (2002). Parasitic adaptive mechanisms in infection by *Leishmania. Experimental and Molecular Pathology* **72**, 132–141.
- Cupolillo, E., Grimaldi, G., jr and Momen, H. (1995). Discrimination of Leishmania isolates using a limited set of enzymatic loci. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 89, 17–23.
- Cupolillo, E., Momen, H. and Grimaldi, G., jr (1998). Genetic diversity in natural populations of New World *Leishmania*. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* **93**, 663–668.
- Cupolillo, E., Aguiar Alves, F., Brahim, L.R., Naiff, M.F., Pereira, L.O., Oliveira-Neto, M.P., Falqueto, A. and Grimaldi, G., jr (2001). Recent advances in the taxonomy of the New World leishmanial parasites. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology (Berlin)* **190**, 57–60.
- Cupolillo, E., Brahim, L.R., Toaldo, C.B., de Oliveira-Neto, M.P., de Brito, M.E., Falqueto, A., de Farias Naiff, M. and Grimaldi, G., jr (2003).
  Genetic polymorphism and molecular epidemiology of *Leishmania* (*Viannia*) braziliensis from different hosts and geographic areas in Brazil. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 41, 3126–3132.
- Da-Cruz, A.M., Machado, E.S., Menezes, J.A., Rutowitsch, M.S. and Coutinho, S.G. (1992). Cellular and humoral immune responses of a patient with American cutaneous leishmaniasis and AIDS. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **86**, 511–512.
- Darce, M., Moran, J., Palacios, X., Belli, A., Gomez-Urcuyo, F., Zamora, D., Valle, S., Gantier, J.C., Momen, H. and Grimaldi, G., jr (1991). Etiology of human cutaneous leishmaniasis in Nicaragua. *Transactions of* the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 85, 58–59.

- De Castro, E.A., Luz, E., Telles, F.Q., Pandey, A., Biseto, A., Dinaiski, M., Sbalqueiro, I. and Soccol, V.T. (2005). Eco-epidemiological survey of *Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis* American cutaneous and mucocutaneous leishmaniasis in Ribeira Valley River, Parana State, Brazil. Acta Tropica 93, 141–149.
- Dedet, J.-P. (1993). Leishmania et leishmanioses du continent américain. Annales de l'Institut Pasteur 4, 3-25.
- De Ibarra, A.A., Howard, J.G. and Snary, D. (1982). Monoclonal antibodies to *Leishmania tropica major*: specificities and antigen location. *Parasitology* 85, 523–531.
- Delobel, P., Launois, P., Djossou, F., Sainte-Marie, D. and Pradinaud, R. (2003). American cutaneous leishmaniasis, lepromatous leprosy, and pulmonary tuberculosis coinfection with downregulation of the T-helper 1 cell response. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 37, 628–633.
- Del Portillo, H.A., Fernandez-Becerra, C., Bowman, S., Oliver, K., Preuss, M., Sanchez, C.P., Schneider, N.K., Villalobos, J.M., Rajandream, M.A., Harris, D., Pereira da Silva, L.H., Barrell, B. and Lanzer, M. (2001). A superfamily of variant genes encoded in the subtelomeric region of *Plasmodium vivax. Nature* **410**, 839–842.
- De Meeûs, T. and Balloux, F. (2004). Clonal reproduction and linkage disequilibrium in diploids: a simulation study. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* **4**, 345–351.
- De Meeûs, T., Durand, P. and Renaud, F. (2003). Species concepts: what for? *Trends in Parasitology* **19**, 425–427.
- Deniau, M., Canavate, C., Faraut-Gambarelli, F. and Marty, P. (2003). The biological diagnosis of leishmaniasis in HIV-infected patients. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 97 (supplement 1), 115–133.
- Denise, H., McNeil, K., Brooks, D.R., Alexander, J., Coombs, G.H. and Mottram, J.C. (2003). Expression of multiple CPB genes encoding cysteine proteases is required for *Leishmania mexicana* virulence *in vivo*. *Infection and Immunity* **71**, 3190–3195.
- Dennert, G. (1974). Evidence for non-identity of T killer and T helper cells sensitised to allogeneic cell antigens. *Nature* **249**, 358–360.
- Dereure, J., Rioux, J.A., Gallego, M., Perières, J., Pratlong, F., Mahjour, J. and Saddiki, H. (1991a). *Leishmania tropica* in Morocco: infection in dogs. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 85, 595.
- Dereure, J., Rioux, J.A., Khiami, A., Pratlong, F., Perières, J. and Martini, A. (1991b). Ecoépidémiologie des leishmanioses en Syrie. 2—Présence, chez le chien, de *Leishmania infantum* Nicolle et *Leishmania tropica* Wright (Kinetoplastida—Trypanosomatida). *Annales de Parasitologie Humaine et Comparée* 66, 252–255.

#### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

- Desjeux, P. (2001). The increase in risk factors for leishmaniasis worldwide. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **95**, 239–243.
- Desjeux, P. (2004). Leishmaniasis: current situation and new perspectives. Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases 27, 305–318.
- Desjeux, P. and Alvar, J. (2003). Leishmania/HIV co-infections: epidemiology in Europe. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 97 (supplement 1), 3–15.
- Dillon, R.J. and Lane, R.P. (1993). Bloodmeal digestion in the midgut of Phlebotomus papatasi and Phlebotomus langeroni. Medical and Veterinary Entomology 7, 225–232.
- Djidingar, D., Chippaux, J.P., Gragnic, G., Tchani, O., Meynard, D. and Julvez, J. (1997). Visceral leishmaniasis in Niger: six new parasitologically confirmed cases. *Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique* 90, 27–29.
- Donelson, J.E., Gardner, M.J. and El-Sayed, N.M. (1999). More surprises from Kinetoplastida. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **96**, 2579–2581.
- Drummelsmith, J., Brochu, V., Girard, I., Messier, N. and Ouellette, M. (2003). Proteome mapping of the protozoan parasite *Leishmania* and application to the study of drug targets and resistance mechanisms. *Molecular and Cellular Proteomics* **2**, 146–155.
- Dujardin, J.C., Gajendran, N., Arevalo, J., Llanos-Cuentas, A., Guerra, H., Gomez, J., Arroyo, J., De Doncker, S., Jacquet, D., Hamers, R. and Le Ray, D. (1993a). Karyotype polymorphism and conserved characters in the *Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis* complex explored with chromosome-derived probes. *Annales de la Société belge de Médecine tropicale* 73, 101–118.
- Dujardin, J.C., Llanos-Cuentas, A., Caceres, A., Arana, M., Dujardin, J.P., Guerrini, F., Gomez, J., Arroyo, J., De Doncker, S., Jacquet, D., Hamers, R., Guerra, H., Le Ray, D. and Arevalo, J. (1993b). Molecular karyotype variation in *Leishmania (Viannia) peruviana*: indication of geographical populations in Peru distributed along a north-south cline. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 87, 335–347.
- Dujardin, J.C., De Doncker, S., Victoir, K. and Le Ray, D. (1994). Size polymorphism of chromosomes bearing gp63 genes in Leishmania of the braziliensis complex: indication of a rearrangement of the gp63 genes in L. braziliensis and L. peruviana. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 88, 445–448.
- Dujardin, J.C., Bañuls, A.-L., Llanos-Cuentas, A., Alvarez, E., DeDoncker, S., Jacquet, D., Le Ray, D., Arevalo, J. and Tibayrenc, M. (1995a). Putative *Leishmania* hybrids in the eastern Andean valley of Huanuco, Peru. *Acta Tropica* 59, 293–307.

- Dujardin, J.C., Bañuls, A.-L., Victoir, K., De Doncker, S., Arevalo, J., Llanos-Cuentas, A., Tibayrenc, M. and Le Ray, D. (1995b). From population to genome: ecogenetics of *Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis* and *L. (V.) peruviana. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 89 (supplement 1), 45–53.
- Dujardin, J.C., Dujardin, J.P., Tibayrenc, M., Timperman, G., De Doncker, S., Jacquet, D., Arevalo, J., Llanos-Cuentas, A., Guerra, H., Bermudez, H., Hamers, R. and Le Ray, D. (1995c). Karyotype plasticity in neotropical *Leishmania*: an index for measuring genomic distance among *L*. (*V.*) peruviana and *L*. (*V.*) braziliensis populations. Parasitology 110, 21–30.
- Dujardin, J.C., Bañuls, A.-L., Dujardin, J.P., Arevalo, J., Tibayrenc, M. and Le Ray, D. (1998). Comparison of chromosome and isoenzyme polymorphism in geographical populations of *Leishmania (Viannia)* peruviana. Parasitology **117**, 547–554.
- Dujardin, J.C., Henriksson, J., Victoir, K., Brisse, S., Gamboa, D., Arevalo, J. and Le Ray, D. (2000). Genomic rearrangements in trypanosomatids: an alternative to the 'one gene' evolutionary hypothesis? *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* **95**, 527–534.
- Dujardin, J.C., De Doncker, S., Jacquet, D., Bañuls, A.-L., Balavoine, M., Van Bockstaele, D., Tibayrenc, M., Arevalo, J. and Le Ray, D. (2007). Clonal propagation and the fast generation of karyotype diversity: an *in vitro Leishmania* model. *Parasitology* **134**, 33–39.
- Duncan, R.C., Salotra, P., Goyal, N., Akopyants, N.S., Beverley, S.M. and Nakhasi, H.L. (2004). The application of gene expression microarray technology to kinetoplastid research. *Current Molecular Medicine* 4, 611–621.
- Durand, I., Beylot-Barry, M., Weill, F.X., Doutre, M.S. and Beylot, C. (1998). Leishmaniose cutanée diffuse révélatrice d'une infection par le virus de l'immunodéficience humaine. *Annales de Dermatologie et de* Vénéréologie 125, 268–270.
- Echevarria, J., Campos, P., Chang, J., Cuellar, L., Gotuzzo, E., Paz, L. and Llanos-Cuentas, A. (1993). Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis and AIDS: case report. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 87, 186.
- El Fakhry, Y., Ouellette, M. and Papadopoulou, B. (2002). A proteomic approach to identify developmentally regulated proteins in *Leishmania infantum*. *Proteomics* **2**, 1007–1017.
- El-Hassan, A.M., Meredith, S.E., Yagi, H.I., Khalil, E.A., Ghalib, H.W., Abbas, K., Zijlstra, E.E., Kroon, C.C., Schoone, G.J. and Ismail, A. (1995). Sudanese mucosal leishmaniasis: epidemiology, clinical features, diagnosis, immune responses and treatment. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **89**, 647–652.

- El-Sayed, N.M., Myler, P.J., Blandin, G., Berriman, M., Crabtree, J., Aggarwal, G., Caler, E., Renauld, H., Worthey, E.A., Hertz-Fowler, C., Ghedin, E., Peacock, C., Bartholomeu, D.C., Haas, B.J., Tran, A.N., Wortman, J.R., Alsmark, U.C., Angiuoli, S., Anupama, A., Badger, J., Bringaud, F., Cadag, E., Carlton, J.M., Cerqueira, G.C., Creasy, T., Delcher, A.L., Djikeng, A., Embley, T.M., Hauser, C., Ivens, A.C., Kummerfeld, S.K., Pereira-Leal, J.B., Nilsson, D., Peterson, J., Salzberg, S.L., Shallom, J., Silva, J.C., Sundaram, J., Westenberger, S., White, O., Melville, S.E., Donelson, J.E., Andersson, B., Stuart, K.D. and Hall, N. (2005). Comparative genomics of trypanosomatid parasitic protozoa. *Science* 309, 404–409.
- Enright, M.C. and Spratt, B.G. (1998). A multilocus sequence typing scheme for *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: identification of clones associated with serious invasive disease. *Microbiology* **144**, 3049–3060.
- Enright, M.C. and Spratt, B.G. (1999). Multilocus sequence typing. Trends in Microbiology 7, 482–487.
- Escomel, E. (1911). Espundia. *Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique* **4**, 489–492.
- Espinoza, J.R., Skinner, A.C., Davies, C.R., Llanos-Cuentas, A., Arevalo, J., Dye, C., McMaster, W.R., Ajioka, J.W. and Blackwell, J.M. (1995).
  Extensive polymorphism at the Gp63 locus in field isolates of *Leishmania peruviana*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 72, 203–213.
- Evans, D.A., Lanham, S.M., Baldwin, C.I. and Peters, W. (1984). The isolation and isoenzyme characterization of *Leishmania braziliensis* subsp. from patients with cutaneous leishmaniasis acquired in Belize. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **78**, 35–42.
- Evans, D.A., Kennedy, W.P.K., Elbihari, S., Chapman, C.J., Smith, V. and Peters, W. (1987). Hybrid formation within the genus *Leishmania? Parassitologia* 29, 165–173.
- Feil, E.J., Maiden, M.C., Achtman, M. and Spratt, B.G. (1999). The relative contributions of recombination and mutation to the divergence of clones of *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 16, 1496–1502.
- Fernandes, O., Catanho, M.P., Segura, I., Labrada, L.A., Derre, R., Saravia, N. and Degrave, W. (1999). Minicircle variable region probes for characterization of *Leishmania (Viannia)* species. *Journal of Parasitology* 85, 563–568.
- Ferro, C., Morrison, A.C., Torres, M., Pardo, R., Wilson, M.L. and Tesh, R.B. (1995). Age structure, blood-feeding behavior, and *Leishmania chagasi* infection in *Lutzomyia longipalpis* (Diptera: Psychodidae) at an endemic focus of visceral leishmaniasis in Colombia. *Journal of Medical Entomology* **32**, 618–629.

- Ferroglio, E., Romano, A., Trisciuoglio, A., Poggi, M., Ghiggi, E., Sacchi, P. and Biglino, A. (2006). Characterization of *Leishmania infantum* strains in blood samples from infected dogs and humans by PCR–RFLP. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 100, 636–641.
- Flavell, R. (1982). Sequence amplification and rearrangement: major sources of variation during species divergence. In: *Genome Evolution* (G.A. Dover and R.B. Flavell, eds), pp. 301–323. London: Academic Press.
- Foth, B.J. and McFadden, G.I. (2003). The apicoplast: a plastid in *Plasmodium falciparum* and other apicomplexan parasites. *International Review of Cytology* **224**, 57–110.
- Franco, A.M., Machado, G.M., Moreira, C.F. and Grimaldi, G., jr (2000). Minicircle kDNA microheterogeneity in *Endotrypanum* indicate diversity within this genus. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* **95**, 189–191.
- Frank, S. (2002). *Immunology and Evolution of Infectious Disease*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Fraser, C.M., Eisen, J., Fleischmann, R.D., Ketchum, K.A. and Peterson, S. (2000). Comparative genomics and understanding of microbial biology. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 6, 505–512.
- Gangneux, J.P., Sulahian, A., Honore, S., Meneceur, P., Derouin, F. and Garin, Y.J. (2000). Evidence for determining parasitic factors in addition to host genetics and immune status in the outcome of murine *Leishmania infantum* visceral leishmaniasis. *Parasite Immunology* **22**, 515–519.
- Garcia, A.L., Kindt, A., Quispe-Tintaya, K.W., Bermudez, H., Llanos, A., Arevalo, J., Bañuls, A.-L., De Doncker, S., Le Ray, D. and Dujardin, J.C. (2005). American tegumentary leishmaniasis: antigen–gene polymorphism, taxonomy and clinical pleomorphism. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* 5, 109–116.
- Garin, Y.J., Sulahian, A., Pratlong, F., Meneceur, P., Gangneux, J.P., Prina, E., Dedet, J.-P. and Derouin, F. (2001). Virulence of *Leishmania infantum* is expressed as a clonal and dominant phenotype in experimental infections. *Infection and Immunity* **69**, 7365–7373.
- Ghalib, H.W., Piuvezam, M.R., Skeiky, Y.A., Siddig, M., Hashim, F.A., El-Hassan, A.M., Russo, D.M. and Reed, S.G. (1993). Interleukin 10 production correlates with pathology in human *Leishmania donovani* infections. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **92**, 324–329.
- Ghedin, E., Zhang, W.W., Charest, H., Sundar, S., Kenney, R.T. and Matlashewski, G. (1997). Antibody response against a *Leishmania donovani* amastigote-stage-specific protein in patients with visceral leishmaniasis. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology* **4**, 530–535.

- Ghedin, E., Charest, H. and Matlashewski, G. (1998). *A2rel*: a constitutively expressed *Leishmania* gene linked to an amastigote-stage-specific gene. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **93**, 23–29.
- Giannini, S.H., Schittini, M., Keithly, J.S., Warburton, P.W., Cantor, C.R. and Van der Ploeg, L.H. (1986). Karyotype analysis of *Leishmania* species and its use in classification and clinical diagnosis. *Science* 232, 762–765.
- Giannini, S.H., Curry, S.S., Tesh, R.B. and Van der Ploeg, L.H. (1990). Size-conserved chromosomes and stability of molecular karyotype in cloned stocks of *Leishmania major*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **39**, 9–21.
- Gibson, W., Kanmogne, G. and Bailey, M. (1995). A successful backcross in *Trypanosoma brucei*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **69**, 101–110.
- Gillespie, R.D., Mbow, M.L. and Titus, R.G. (2000). The immunomodulatory factors of bloodfeeding arthropod saliva. *Parasite Immunology* **22**, 319–331.
- Goldman, N. and Yang, Z. (1994). A codon-based model of nucleotide substitution for protein-coding DNA sequences. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **11**, 725–736.
- Goldstein, B. and Schlotterer, C. (1999). *Microsatellites. Evolution and Applications.* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gomes, R.F., Macedo, A.M., Pena, S.D. and Melo, M.N. (1995). *Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis*: genetic relationships between strains isolated from different areas of Brazil as revealed by DNA fingerprinting and RAPD. *Experimental Parasitology* **80**, 681–687.
- Gradoni, L., Gramiccia, M. and Scalone, A. (2003). Visceral leishmaniasis treatment, Italy. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 9, 1617–1620.
- Grimaldi, G., jr and Tesh, R.B. (1993). Leishmaniases of the New World: current concepts and implications for future research. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* **6**, 230–250.
- Guan, L.R., Zuo, X.P. and Yimamu (2003). [Reemergence of visceral leishmaniasis in Kashi Prefecture, Xinjiang]. *Zhongguo Ji Sheng Chong Xue Yu Ji Sheng Chong Bing Za Zhi* **21**, 285 [in Chinese].
- Guerbouj, S., Guizani, I., Victoir, K., Le Ray, D. and Dujardin, J.C. (2000). Parasite candidate vaccines: a warning from polymorphic *Leishmania* populations. *Parasitology Today* **16**, 265.
- Guerbouj, S., Guizani, I., Speybroeck, N., Le Ray, D. and Dujardin, J.C. (2001). Genomic polymorphism of *Leishmania infantum*: a relationship with clinical pleomorphism? *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* **1**, 49–59.
- Guernaoui, S., Boumezzough, A., Pesson, B. and Pichon, G. (2005). Entomological investigations in Chichaoua: an emerging epidemic focus of

cutaneous leishmaniasis in Morocco. *Journal of Medical Entomology* **42**, 697–701.

- Guessous-Idrissi, N., Berrag, B., Riyad, M., Sahibi, H., Bichichi, M. and Rhalem, A. (1997). *Leishmania tropica*: etiologic agent of a case of canine visceral leishmaniasis in northern Morocco. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 57, 172–173.
- Gupta, S., Maiden, M.C., Feavers, I.M., Nee, S., May, R.M. and Anderson, R.M. (1996). The maintenance of strain structure in populations of recombining infectious agents. *Nature Medicine* 2, 437–442.
- Gutierrez, J.A. (2000). Genomics: from novel genes to new therapeutics in parasitology. *International Journal for Parasitology* **30**, 247–252.
- Handman, E. and Curtis, J.M. (1982). *Leishmania tropica*: surface antigens of intracellular and flagellate forms. *Experimental Parasitology* 54, 243–249.
- Harrat, Z., Pratlong, F., Belazzoug, S., Dereure, J., Deniau, M., Rioux, J.A., Belkaid, M. and Dedet, J.P. (1996). *Leishmania infantum* and *L. major* in Algeria. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **90**, 625–629.
- Harrison, L.H., Naidu, T.G., Drew, J.S., de Alencar, J.E. and Pearson, R.D. (1986). Reciprocal relationships between undernutrition and the parasitic disease visceral leishmaniasis. *Reviews of Infectious Diseases* 8, 447–453.
- Hastings, I.M. and Wedgwood-Oppenheim, B. (1997). Sex, strains and virulence. *Parasitology Today* 13, 375–383.
- Hearne, C.M., Ghosh, S. and Todd, J.A. (1992). Microsatellites for linkage analysis of genetic traits. *Trends in Genetics* **8**, 288–294.
- Hide, M. and Bañuls, A.-L. (in press). Species-specific PCR assay for *L. infantum/L. tropica* discrimination. *Acta Tropica*.
- Hide, M., Bañuls, A.-L. and Tibayrenc, M. (2001). Genetic heterogeneity and phylogenetic status of *Leishmania* (*Leishmania*) infantum zymodeme MON-1: epidemiological implications. *Parasitology* **123**, 425–432.
- Hide, M., Bras-Gonçalves, R. and Bañuls, A.-L. (2006). Specific *cpb* copies within the *Leishmania donovani* complex. Evolutionary interpretations and potential clinical implications in humans. *Parasitology* 28, 1–11.
- Ho, M., Siongok, T.K., Lyerly, W.H. and Smith, D.H. (1982). Prevalence and disease spectrum in a new focus of visceral leishmaniasis in Kenya. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 76, 741–746.
- Holzer, T.R., McMaster, W.R. and Forney, J.D. (2006). Expression profiling by whole-genome interspecies microarray hybridization reveals differential gene expression in procyclic promastigotes, lesion-derived amastigotes, and axenic amastigotes in *Leishmania mexicana*. *Molecular* and Biochemical Parasitology 146, 198–218.

- Hondowicz, B. and Scott, P. (1999). Influence of host and parasite factors on the innate immune response and Th2 stability following infection with *Leishmania major. Microbes and Infection* **1**, 65–71.
- Huyse, T., Poulin, R. and Theron, A. (2005). Speciation in parasites: a population genetics approach. *Trends in Parasitology* **21**, 469–475.
- Ibrahim, M.E. and Barker, D.C. (2001). The origin and evolution of the *Leishmania donovani* complex as inferred from a mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase II gene sequence. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* 1, 61–68.
- Ibrahim, M.E., Smyth, A.J., Ali, M.H., Barker, D.C. and Kharazmi, A. (1994). The polymerase chain reaction can reveal the occurrence of naturally mixed infections with *Leishmania* parasites. *Acta Tropica* 57, 327–332.
- Ibrahim, M.E., Lambson, B., Yousif, A.O., Deifalla, N.S., Alnaiem, D.A., Ismail, A., Yousif, H., Ghalib, H.W., Khalil, E.A., Kadaro, A., Barker, D.C. and El-Hassan, A.M. (1999). Kala-azar in a high transmission focus: an ethnic and geographic dimension. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 61, 941–944.
- Ilg, T. (2000). Lipophosphoglycan is not required for infection of macrophages or mice by *Leishmania mexicana*. *EMBO Journal* **19**, 1953–1962.
- Indiani de Oliveira, C., Teixeira, M.J., Teixeira, C.R., Ramos de Jesus, J., Bomura Rosato, A., Santa da Silva, J., Brodskyn, C., Barral-Netto, M. and Barral, A. (2004). *Leishmania braziliensis* isolates differing at the genome level display distinctive features in BALB/c mice. *Microbes and Infection* 6, 977–984.
- Inga, R., De Doncker, S., Gomez, J., Lopez, M., Garcia, R., Le Ray, D., Arevalo, J. and Dujardin, J.C. (1998). Relation between variation in copy number of ribosomal RNA encoding genes and size of harbouring chromosomes in *Leishmania* of subgenus *Viannia*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 92, 219–228.
- International Mouse Genome Sequencing Consortium (2002). Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. *Nature* **420**, 520–562.
- Iovannisci, D.M. and Beverley, S.M. (1989). Structural alterations of chromosome 2 in *Leishmania major* as evidence for diploidy, including spontaneous amplification of the mini-exon array. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 34, 177–188.
- Iovannisci, D.M., Goebel, D., Allen, K., Kaur, K. and Ullman, B. (1984). Genetic analysis of adenine metabolism in *Leishmania donovani* promastigotes. Evidence for diploidy at the adenine phosphoribosyltransferase locus. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 259, 14617–14623.
- Ishikawa, E.A., Silveira, F.T., Magalhaes, A.-L., Guerra, R.B., jr, Melo, M.N., Gomes, R., Silveira, T.G. and Shaw, J.J. (2002). Genetic variation

in populations of *Leishmania* species in Brazil. *Transactions of the Royal* Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene **96** (supplement 1), S111–S121.

- Ivens, A.C., Peacock, C.S., Worthey, E.A., Murphy, L., Aggarwal, G., Berriman, M., Sisk, E., Rajandream, M.A., Adlem, E., Aert, R., Anupama, A., Apostolou, Z., Attipoe, P., Bason, N., Bauser, C., Beck, A., Beverley, S.M., Bianchettin, G., Borzym, K., Bothe, G., Bruschi, C.V., Collins, M., Cadag, E., Ciarloni, L., Clayton, C., Coulson, R.M., Cronin, A., Cruz, A.K., Davies, R.M., De Gaudenzi, J., Dobson, D.E., Duesterhoeft, A., Fazelina, G., Fosker, N., Frasch, A.C., Fraser, A., Fuchs, M., Gabel, C., Goble, A., Goffeau, A., Harris, D., Hertz-Fowler, C., Hilbert, H., Horn, D., Huang, Y., Klages, S., Knights, A., Kube, M., Larke, N., Litvin, L., Lord, A., Louie, T., Marra, M., Masuy, D., Matthews, K., Michaeli, S., Mottram, J.C., Muller-Auer, S., Munden, H., Nelson, S., Norbertczak, H., Oliver, K., O'Neil, S., Pentony, M., Pohl, T.M., Price, C., Purnelle, B., Quail, M.A., Rabbinowitsch, E., Reinhardt, R., Rieger, M., Rinta, J., Robben, J., Robertson, L., Ruiz, J.C., Rutter, S., Saunders, D., Schafer, M., Schein, J., Schwartz, D.C., Seeger, K., Seyler, A., Sharp, S., Shin, H., Sivam, D., Squares, R., Squares, S., Tosato, V., Vogt, C., Volckaert, G., Wambutt, R., Warren, T., Wedler, H., Woodward, J., Zhou, S., Zimmermann, W., Smith, D.F., Blackwell, J.M., Stuart, K.D., Barrell, B. and Myler, P.J. (2005). The genome of the kinetoplastid parasite, Leishmania major. Science 309, 436–442.
- Jacobson, R.L., Eisenberger, C.L., Svobodova, M., Baneth, G., Sztern, J., Carvalho, J., Nasereddin, A., El Fari, M., Shalom, U., Volf, P., Votypka, J., Dedet, J.P., Pratlong, F., Schonian, G., Schnur, L.F., Jaffe, C.L. and Warburg, A. (2003). Outbreak of cutaneous leishmaniasis in northern Israel. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 188, 1065–1073.
- Jamjoom, M.B., Ashford, R.W., Bates, P.A., Kemp, S.J. and Noyes, H.A. (2002). Towards a standard battery of microsatellite markers for the analysis of the *Leishmania donovani* complex. *Annals of Tropical Medicine* and Parasitology 96, 265–270.
- Jamjoom, M.B., Ashford, R.W., Bates, P.A., Chance, M.L., Kemp, S.J., Watts, P.C. and Noyes, H.A. (2004). *Leishmania donovani* is the only cause of visceral leishmaniasis in East Africa; previous descriptions of *L. infantum* and '*L. archibaldi*' from this region are a consequence of convergent evolution in the isoenzyme data. *Parasitology* 129, 399–409.
- Jimenez-Ruiz, A., Boceta, C., Bonay, P., Requena, J.M. and Alonso, C. (1998). Cloning, sequencing, and expression of the PSA genes from *Leishmania infantum*. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 251, 389–397.
- Jomaa, H., Wiesner, J., Sanderbrand, S., Altincicek, B., Weidemeyer, C., Hintz, M., Turbachova, I., Eberl, M., Zeidler, J., Lichtenthaler, H.K.,

Soldati, D. and Beck, E. (1999). Inhibitors of the nonmevalonate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis as antimalarial drugs. *Science* **285**, 1573–1576.

- Jones, T.C., Johnson, W.D., Barreto, A.C., jr, Lago, E., Badaro, R., Cerf, B., Reed, S.G., Netto, E.M., Tada, M.S., Franca, F., Wiese, K., Golightly, L., Fikrig, E., Costa, J.M.L., Cuba, C.C. and Mardsen, P.D. (1987). Epidemiology of American cutaneous leishmaniasis due to *Leishmania braziliensis braziliensis. Journal of Infectious Diseases* 156, 73–83.
- Kamerbeek, J., Schouls, L., Kolk, A., van Agterveld, M., van Soolingen, D., Kuijper, S., Bunschoten, A., Molhuizen, H., Shaw, R., Goyal, M. and van Embden, J. (1997). Simultaneous detection and strain differentiation of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* for diagnosis and epidemiology. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 35, 907–914.
- Kamhawi, S., Modi, G.B., Pimenta, P.F., Rowton, E. and Sacks, D.L. (2000). The vectorial competence of *Phlebotomus sergenti* is specific for *Leishmania tropica* and is controlled by species-specific, lipophosphoglycan-mediated midgut attachment. *Parasitology* **121**, 25–33.
- Kapler, G.M. and Beverley, S.M. (1989). Transcriptional mapping of the amplified region encoding the dihydrofolate reductase-thymidylate synthase of *Leishmania major* reveals a high density of transcripts, including overlapping and antisense RNAs. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 9, 3959–3972.
- Kapoor, G.S., Arora, S.K. and Sehgal, S. (1998). Genetic polymorphism of *Leishmania* species using kinetoplast DNA restriction fragment length polymorphism and cDNA probe of *Leishmania donovani*. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology (Berlin)* 186, 209–214.
- Kapur, V., Kanjilal, S., Hamrick, M.R., Li, L.L., Whittam, T.S., Sawyer, S.A. and Musser, J.M. (1995). Molecular population genetic analysis of the streptokinase gene of *Streptococcus pyogenes*: mosaic alleles generated by recombination. *Molecular Microbiology* 16, 509–519.
- Katakura, K., Matsumoto, Y., Gomez, E.A., Furuya, M. and Hashiguchi, Y. (1993). Molecular karyotype characterization of *Leishmania panamensis*, *Leishmania mexicana*, and *Leishmania major*-like parasites: agents of cutaneous leishmaniasis in Ecuador. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 48, 707–715.
- Kebaier, C., Louzir, H., Chenik, M., Ben Salah, A. and Dellagi, K. (2001). Heterogeneity of wild *Leishmania major* isolates in experimental murine pathogenicity and specific immune response. *Infection and Immunity* 69, 4906–4915.
- Kebede, A., De Doncker, S., Arevalo, J., Le Ray, D. and Dujardin, J.C. (1999). Size-polymorphism of mini-exon gene-bearing chromosomes among natural populations of *Leishmania*, subgenus *Viannia*. *International Journal for Parasitology* 29, 549–557.

- Kelly, J.M., Law, J.M., Chapman, C.J., Van Eys, G.J. and Evans, D.A. (1991). Evidence of genetic recombination in *Leishmania*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 46, 253–263.
- Kemp, K. (2000). Cytokine-producing T cell subsets in human leishmaniasis. Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis (Warszawa) 48, 173–176.
- Kemp, M., Kurtzhals, J.A., Bendtzen, K., Poulsen, L.K., Hansen, M.B., Koech, D.K., Kharazmi, A. and Theander, T.G. (1993). *Leishmania donovani*-reactive Th1- and Th2-like T-cell clones from individuals who have recovered from visceral leishmaniasis. *Infection and Immunity* 61, 1069–1073.
- Kemp, M., Hey, A.S., Kurtzhals, J.A., Christensen, C.B., Gaafar, A., Mustafa, M.D., Kordofani, A.A., Ismail, A., Kharazmi, A. and Theander, T.G. (1994). Dichotomy of the human T cell response to *Leishmania* antigens. I. Th1-like response to *Leishmania major* promastigote antigens in individuals recovered from cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 96, 410–415.
- Kenney, R.T., Sacks, D.L., Gam, A.A., Murray, H.W. and Sundar, S. (1998). Splenic cytokine responses in Indian kala-azar before and after treatment. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 177, 815–818.
- Khalil, E.A., Ayed, N.B., Musa, A.M., Ibrahim, M.E., Mukhtar, M.M., Zijlstra, E.E., Elhassan, I.M., Smith, P.G., Kieny, P.M., Ghalib, H.W., Zicker, F., Modabber, F. and El-Hassan, A.M. (2005). Dichotomy of protective cellular immune responses to human visceral leishmaniasis. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 140, 349–353.
- Kharfi, M., Fazaa, B., Chaker, E. and Kamoun, M.R. (2003). Localisation muqueuse de la leishmaniose en Tunisie: 5 observations. *Annales de Dermatologie et de Vénéréologie* 130, 27–30.
- Killick-Kendrick, R. (1985). Some epidemiological consequences of the evolutionary fit between *Leishmaniae* and their phlebotomine vectors. *Bulletin de la Société de Pathologie Exotique et ses Filiales* 78, 747–755.
- Killick-Kendrick, R. (1990). Phlebotomine vectors of the leishmaniases: a review. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology* **4**, 1–24.
- Killick-Kendrick, R. (1999). The biology and control of phlebotomine sand flies. *Clinics in Dermatology* **17**, 279–289.
- Killick-Kendrick, R., Killick-Kendrick, M. and Tang, Y. (1994). Anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Kabul, Afghanistan: the low susceptibility of *Phlebotomus papatasi* to *Leishmania tropica*. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 88, 252–253.
- Kisielow, P., Hirst, J.A., Shiku, H., Beverley, P.C., Hoffman, M.K., Boyse, E.A. and Oettgen, H.F. (1975). Ly antigens as markers for functionally distinct subpopulations of thymus-derived lymphocytes of the mouse. *Nature* 253, 219–220.

#### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

- Klein, J. and Sato, A. (2000). The HLA system. First of two parts. *New England Journal of Medicine* **343**, 702–709.
- Kooter, J.M., De Lange, T. and Borst, P. (1984). Discontinuous synthesis of mRNA in trypanosomes. *EMBO Journal* **3**, 2387–2392.
- Kopf, M., Brombacher, F., Kohler, G., Kienzle, G., Widmann, K.H., Lefrang, K., Humborg, C., Ledermann, B. and Solbach, W. (1996). IL-4deficient Balb/c mice resist infection with *Leishmania major*. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 184, 1127–1136.
- Kreutzer, R.D. and Christensen, H.A. (1980). Characterization of *Leish-mania* spp. by isozyme electrophoresis. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 29, 199–208.
- Kreutzer, R.D., Yemma, J.J., Grogl, M., Tesh, R.B. and Martin, T.I. (1994). Evidence of sexual reproduction in the protozoan parasite *Leishmania* (Kinetoplastida: Trypanosomatida). *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 51, 301–307.
- Kuhls, K., Mauricio, I.L., Pratlong, F., Presber, W. and Schonian, G. (2005). Analysis of ribosomal DNA internal transcribed spacer sequences of the *Leishmania donovani* complex. *Microbes and Infection* 7, 1224–1234.
- Kurtzhals, J.A.L., Hey, A.S., Jardim, A., Kemp, M., Schaefer, K.U., Odera, E.O., Christenson, C.B.V., Githure, J.I., Olafson, R.W., Theander, T.G. and Kharazmi, A. (1994). Dichotomy of the human T cell response to *Leishmania* antigens. II. Absent or Th2-like response to gp63 and Th1like response to lipophosphoglycan-associated protein in cells from cured visceral leishmaniasis patients. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 96, 416–421.
- Kwok, P.Y. (2001). Methods for genotyping single nucleotide polymorphisms. Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics 2, 235–258.
- Lainson, R. and Shaw, J.J. (1987). Evolution, classification and geographical distribution. In: *The Leishmaniases in Biology and Medicine*, Vol. 1 (W. Peters and R. Killick-Kendrick, eds), pp. 1–120. London: Academic Press.
- Lainson, R. and Shaw, J.J. (1998). New World leishmaniasis—The Neotropical *Leishmania* species. In: *Topley and Wilson's Microbiology and Microbial Infections*, Vol. 5 (F.E.G. Cox, J.P. Kreier and V. Wakelin, eds), pp. 241–266. London: Hodder Arnold.
- Lainson, R., Shaw, J.J., Silveira, F.T., de Souza, A.A.A., Braga, R.R. and Ishikawa, E.A.Y. (1994). The dermal leishmaniases of Brazil, with special reference to the eco-epidemiology of the disease in Amazonia. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 89, 435–443.
- Le Blancq, S.M., Cibulskis, R.E. and Peters, W. (1986). *Leishmania* in the Old World: 5. Numerical analysis of isoenzyme data. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **80**, 517–524.

- Le Fichoux, Y., Quaranta, J.F., Aufeuvre, J.P., Lelievre, A., Marty, P., Suffia, I., Rousseau, D. and Kubar, J. (1999). Occurrence of *Leishmania infantum* parasitemia in asymptomatic blood donors living in an area of endemicity in southern France. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* **37**, 1953–1957.
- Lemrani, M., Nejjar, R. and Pratlong, F. (2002). A new Leishmania tropica zymodeme—causative agent of canine visceral leishmaniasis in northern Morocco. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 96, 637–638.
- León, A.M., Shaw, J.J. and Tapia, F.J. (1996). A guide for the cutaneous leishmaniasis connoisseur. In: *Molecular and Immune Mechanisms in the Pathogenesis of Cutaneous leishmaniasis* (F.J.D. Tapia, G.C. Dittmar and M.A. Sànchez, eds), pp. 1–23. Austin, TX: Academic Press and R.G. Landes Company.
- Levin, B.R., Lipsitch, M. and Bonhoeffer, S. (1999). Population biology, evolution, and infectious disease: convergence and synthesis. *Science* 283, 806–809.
- Lewin, S., Schonian, G., El Tai, N., Oskam, L., Bastien, P. and Presber, W. (2002). Strain typing in *Leishmania donovani* by using sequence-confirmed amplified region analysis. *International Journal for Parasitology* 32, 1267–1276.
- Li, Y. and Lazar, M.A. (2002). Differential gene regulation by PPARgamma agonist and constitutively active PPARgamma2. *Molecular Endocrinology* **16**, 1040–1048.
- Lighthall, G.K. and Giannini, S.H. (1992). The chromosomes of *Leishmania*. *Parasitology Today* **8**, 192–199.
- Lindblad-Toh, K., Winchester, E., Daly, M.J., Wang, D.G., Hirschhorn, J.N., Laviolette, J.P., Ardlie, K., Reich, D.E., Robinson, E., Sklar, P., Shah, N., Thomas, D., Fan, J.B., Gingeras, T., Warrington, J., Patil, N., Hudson, T.J. and Lander, E.S. (2000). Large-scale discovery and genotyping of single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the mouse. *Nature Genetics* 24, 381–386.
- Lira, R., Mendez, S., Carrera, L., Jaffe, C., Neva, F. and Sacks, D. (1998). *Leishmania tropica*: the identification and purification of metacyclic promastigotes and use in establishing mouse and hamster models of cutaneous and visceral disease. *Experimental Parasitology* 89, 331–342.
- Litt, M. and Luty, J.A. (1989). A hypervariable microsatellite revealed by *in vitro* amplification of a dinucleotide repeat within the cardiac muscle actin gene. *American Journal of Human Genetics* **44**, 397–401.
- Llanos-Cuentas, E.A., Roncal, N., Villaseca, P., Paz, L., Ogusuku, E., Perez, J.E., Caceres, A. and Davies, C.R. (1999). Natural infections of *Leishmania peruviana* in animals in the Peruvian Andes. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **93**, 15–20.

### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

- Louassini, M., Adroher, F.J., Foulquie, M.R. and Benitez, R. (1998). Investigations on the *in vitro* metacyclogenesis of a visceral and a cutaneous human strain of *Leishmania infantum*. Acta Tropica **70**, 355–368.
- Louzir, H., Melby, P.C., Ben Salah, A., Marrakchi, H., Aoun, K., Ben Ismail, R. and Dellagi, K. (1998). Immunologic determinants of disease evolution in localized cutaneous leishmaniasis due to *Leishmania major*. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 177, 1687–1695.
- Lucas, C.M., Franke, E.D., Cachay, M.I., Tejada, A., Cruz, M.E., Kreutzer, R.D., Barker, D.C., McCann, S.H. and Watts, D.M. (1998). Geographic distribution and clinical description of leishmaniasis cases in Peru. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 59, 312–317.
- Lumsden, W.H. (1974). Biochemical taxonomy of *Leishmania*. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene **68**, 74–75.
- Lythgoe, K.A. (2000). The coevolution of parasites with host-acquired immunity and the evolution of sex. *Evolution: International Journal of Organic Evolution* 54, 1142–1156.
- Macedo, A.M., Melo, M.N., Gomes, R.F. and Pena, S.D. (1992). DNA fingerprints: a tool for identification and determination of the relationships between species and strains of *Leishmania*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 53, 63–70.
- MacLeod, A., Tweedie, A., Welburn, S.C., Maudlin, I., Turner, C.M. and Tait, A. (2000). Minisatellite marker analysis of *Trypanosoma brucei*: reconciliation of clonal, panmictic, and epidemic population genetic structures. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 97, 13442–13447.
- Madeira, M.F., Schubach, A., Schubach, T.M., Pacheco, R.S., Oliveira, F.S., Pereira, S.A., Figueiredo, F.B., Baptista, C. and Marzochi, M.C. (2006). Mixed infection with *Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis* and *Leishmania (Leishmania) chagasi* in a naturally infected dog from Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 100, 442–445.
- Maggi, P., Larocca, A.M., Mininni, F., Fiorentino, G., Saracino, A.L., Chironna, M. and Quarto, M. (2002). Autochthonous mucosal leishmaniasis in a hemodialyzed Italian patient. *The New Microbiologica* 25, 103–106.
- Magill, A.J., Grogl, M., Gasser, R.A., Jr., Sun, W. and Oster, C.N. (1993). Visceral infection caused by *Leishmania tropica* in veterans of Operation Desert Storm. *New England Journal of Medicine* **328**, 1383–1387.
- Mahoney, A.B., Sacks, D.L., Saraiva, E., Modi, G. and Turco, S.J. (1999). Intra-species and stage-specific polymorphisms in lipophosphoglycan structure control *Leishmania donovani*-sand fly interactions. *Biochemistry* 38, 9813–9823.
- Maiden, M.C. (1998). Horizontal genetic exchange, evolution, and spread of antibiotic resistance in bacteria. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 27 (supplement 1), S12–S20.
- Maiden, M.C., Bygraves, J.A., Feil, E., Morelli, G., Russell, J.E., Urwin, R., Zhang, Q., Zhou, J., Zurth, K., Caugant, D.A., Feavers, I.M., Achtman, M. and Spratt, B.G. (1998). Multilocus sequence typing: a portable approach to the identification of clones within populations of pathogenic microorganisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 95, 3140–3145.
- Marfurt, J., Nasereddin, A., Niederwieser, I., Jaffe, C.L., Beck, H.P. and Felger, I. (2003). Identification and differentiation of *Leishmania* species in clinical samples by PCR amplification of the miniexon sequence and subsequent restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* **41**, 3147–3153.
- Marth, G.T., Korf, I., Yandell, M.D., Yeh, R.T., Gu, Z., Zakeri, H., Stitziel, N.O., Hillier, L., Kwok, P.Y. and Gish, W.R. (1999). A general approach to single-nucleotide polymorphism discovery. *Nature Genetics* 23, 452–456.
- Martin-Sanchez, J., Guilvard, E., Acedo-Sanchez, C., Wolf-Echeverri, M., Sanchiz-Marin, M.C. and Morillas-Marquez, F. (1994). *Phlebotomus perniciosus* Newstead, 1911, infection by various zymodemes of the *Leishmania infantum* complex in the Granada province (southern Spain). *International Journal for Parasitology* 24, 405–408.
- Martin-Sanchez, J., Navarro-Mari, J.M., Pasquau-Liano, J., Salomon, O.D. and Morillas-Marquez, F. (2004). Visceral leishmaniasis caused by *Leishmania infantum* in a Spanish patient in Argentina: what is the origin of the infection? Case report. *BioMed Central Infectious Diseases* 4, 20. [Published online only.]
- Martinez, E., Mollinedo, S., Torrez, M., Munoz, M., Bañuls, A.-L. and Le Pont, F. (2002). Co-infection by *Leishmania amazonensis* and *L. infantum*/ *L. chagasi* in a case of diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis in Bolivia. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 96, 529–532.
- Matthews, K.R., Tschudi, C. and Ullu, E. (1994). A common pyrimidinerich motif governs trans-splicing and polyadenylation of tubulin polycistronic pre-mRNA in trypanosomes. *Genes and Development* **8**, 491–501.
- Mauricio, I.L., Howard, M.K., Stothard, J.R. and Miles, M.A. (1999). Genomic diversity in the *Leishmania donovani* complex. *Parasitology* **119**, 237–246.
- Mauricio, I.L., Stothard, J.R. and Miles, M.A. (2000). The strange case of *Leishmania chagasi. Parasitology Today* 16, 188–189.
- Mauricio, I.L., Gaunt, M.W., Stothard, J.R. and Miles, M.A. (2001). Genetic typing and phylogeny of the *Leishmania donovani* complex by

restriction analysis of PCR amplified gp63 intergenic regions. *Parasitology* **122**, 393–403.

- Mauricio, I.L., Yeo, M., Baghaei, M., Doto, D., Pratlong, F., Zemanova, E., Dedet, J.P., Lukes, J. and Miles, M.A. (2006). Towards multilocus sequence typing of the *Leishmania donovani* complex: resolving genotypes and haplotypes for five polymorphic metabolic enzymes (ASAT, GPI, NH1, NH2, PGD). *International Journal for Parasitology* 36, 757–769.
- Mayr, E. (1963). *Animal Species and Evolution*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- McCann, S.H., Eresh, S. and Barker, D.C. (1999). Kinetoplast minicircle DNA from *Leishmania (Viannia) lainsoni. Parasitology* **118**, 371–374.
- McCarter, J.P. (2004). Genomic filtering: an approach to discovering novel antiparasitics. *Trends in Parasitology* **20**, 462–468.
- McConville, M.J., Turco, S.J., Ferguson, M.A. and Sacks, D.L. (1992). Developmental modification of lipophosphoglycan during the differentiation of *Leishmania major* promastigotes to an infectious stage. *EMBO Journal* 11, 3593–3600.
- McGwire, B.S., O'Connell, W.A., Chang, K.P. and Engman, D.M. (2002). Extracellular release of the glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-linked *Leishmania* surface metalloprotease, gp63, is independent of GPI phospholipolysis: implications for parasite virulence. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 8802–8809.
- McMahon-Pratt, D. and Alexander, J. (2004). Does the *Leishmania major* paradigm of pathogenesis and protection hold for New World cutaneous leishmaniases or the visceral disease? *Immunological Reviews* **201**, 206–224.
- McNeely, T.B. and Turco, S.J. (1990). Requirement of lipophosphoglycan for intracellular survival of *Leishmania donovani* within human monocytes. *Journal of Immunology* **144**, 2745–2750.
- McNicoll, F., Drummelsmith, J., Muller, M., Madore, E., Boilard, N., Ouellette, M. and Papadopoulou, B. (2006). A combined proteomic and transcriptomic approach to the study of stage differentiation in *Leish-mania infantum*. Proteomics 6, 3567–3581.
- Melby, P.C., Andrade-Narvaez, F.J., Darnell, B.J., Valencia-Pacheco, G., Tryon, V.V. and Palomo-Cetina, A. (1994). Increased expression of proinflammatory cytokines in chronic lesions of human cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Infection and Immunity* 62, 837–842.
- Miles, M.A., Povoa, M.M., de Souza, A.A., Lainson, R. and Shaw, J.J. (1980). Some methods for the enzymic characterization of Latin-American *Leishmania* with particular reference to *Leishmania mexicana amazonensis* and subspecies of *Leishmania hertigi*. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 74, 243–252.

- Miles, M.A., Lainson, R., Shaw, J.J., Povoa, M. and de Souza, A.A. (1981). Leishmaniasis in Brazil: XV. Biochemical distinction of *Leishmania mexi*cana amazonensis, L. braziliensis braziliensis and L. braziliensis guyanensis—aetiological agents of cutaneous leishmaniasis in the Amazon Basin of Brazil. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 75, 524–529.
- Miralles, E.S., Nunez, M., Hilara, Y., Harto, A., Moreno, R. and Ledo, A. (1994). Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis and HIV. *Dermatology* **189**, 275–277.
- Molina, R., Gradoni, L. and Alvar, J. (2003). HIV and the transmission of *Leishmania. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 97 (supplement 1), 29–45.
- Mosmann, T.R., Cherwinski, H., Bond, M.W., Giedlin, M.A. and Coffman, R.L. (1986). Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *Journal* of Immunology 136, 2348–2357.
- Mostowy, S., Cleto, C., Sherman, D.R. and Behr, M.A. (2004). The *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex transcriptome of attenuation. *Tuberculosis (Edinburgh)* **84**, 197–204.
- Mottram, J.C., Souza, A.E., Hutchison, J.E., Carter, R., Frame, M.J. and Coombs, G.H. (1996). Evidence from disruption of the *lmcpb* gene array of *Leishmania mexicana* that cysteine proteinases are virulence factors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 93, 6008–6013.
- Mottram, J.C., Frame, M.J., Brooks, D.R., Tetley, L., Hutchison, J.E., Souza, A.E. and Coombs, G.H. (1997). The multiple *cpb* cysteine proteinase genes of *Leishmania mexicana* encode isoenzymes that differ in their stage regulation and substrate preferences. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **272**, 14285–14293.
- Mottram, J.C., Brooks, D.R. and Coombs, G.H. (1998). Roles of cysteine proteinases of trypanosomes and *Leishmania* in host-parasite interactions. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* **1**, 455–460.
- Mottram, J.C., Coombs, G.H. and Alexander, J. (2004). Cysteine peptidases as virulence factors of *Leishmania*. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 7, 375–381.
- Motyka, S.A. and Englund, P.T. (2004). RNA interference for analysis of gene function in trypanosomatids. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 7, 362–368.
- Mu, J., Awadalla, P., Duan, J., McGee, K.M., Joy, D.A., McVean, G.A. and Su, X.Z. (2005). Recombination hotspots and population structure in *Plasmodium falciparum. Public Library of Science Biology* **3**, 1734–1741.
- Mundodi, V., Somanna, A., Farrell, P.J. and Gedamu, L. (2002). Genomic organization and functional expression of differentially regulated cysteine protease genes of *Leishmania donovani* complex. *Gene* 282, 257–265.

#### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

- Murray, H.W., Berman, J.D., Davies, C.R. and Saravia, N.G. (2005). Advances in leishmaniasis. *Lancet* **366**, 1561–1577.
- Mushegian, A.R. and Koonin, E.V. (1996). A minimal gene set for cellular life derived by comparison of complete bacterial genomes. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93, 10268–10273.
- Musser, J.M. (1996). Molecular population genetic analysis of emerged bacterial pathogens: selected insights. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* **2**, 1–17.
- Nadler, S.A. (1995). Microevolution and the genetic structure of parasite populations. *Journal of Parasitology* **81**, 395–403.
- Naiff, R.D., Talhari, S. and Barrett, T.V. (1988). Isolation of *Leishmania guyanensis* from lesions of the nasal mucosa. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 83, 529–530.
- Nasereddin, A., Baneth, G., Schonian, G., Kanaan, M. and Jaffe, C.L. (2005). Molecular fingerprinting of *Leishmania infantum* strains following an outbreak of visceral leishmaniasis in central Israel. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43, 6054–6059.
- Nebavi, F., Ayala, F.J., Renaud, F., Bertout, S., Eholie, S., Moussa, K., Mallie, M. and De Meeûs, T. (2006). Clonal population structure and genetic diversity of *Candida albicans* in AIDS patients from Abidjan (Côte d'Ivoire). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103, 3663–3668.
- Nevo, E., Bieles, A. and Schlomo, B. (1984). Evolutionary dynamics of genetic diversity. In: *The Evolutionary Significance of Genetic Diversity: Ecological, Demographic and Life-History Consequences* (G.S. Mani, ed.), pp. 13–213. Berlin: Springer.
- Noben-Trauth, N., Kropf, P. and Muller, I. (1996). Susceptibility to *Leishmania major* infection in interleukin-4-deficient mice. *Science* 271, 987–990.
- Nugent, P.G., Karsani, S.A., Wait, R., Tempero, J. and Smith, D.F. (2004). Proteomic analysis of *Leishmania mexicana* differentiation. *Molecular* and Biochemical Parasitology 136, 51–62.
- Ochsenreither, S., Kuhls, K., Schaar, M., Presber, W. and Schonian, G. (2006). Multilocus microsatellite typing as a new tool for discrimination of *Leishmania infantum* MON-1 strains. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 44, 495–503.
- Olivier, M., Gregory, D.J. and Forget, G. (2005). Subversion mechanisms by which *Leishmania* parasites can escape the host immune response: a signaling point of view. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* **18**, 293–305.
- OMS (1990). Lutte contre les leishmanioses: rapport d'un Comité OMS d'experts. Genève: Organisation Mondiale de la Santé, Série des rapports techniques no. 793.
- Osorio, L.E., Castillo, C.M. and Ochoa, M.T. (1998). Mucosal leishmaniasis due to *Leishmania (Viannia) panamensis* in Colombia: clinical characteristics. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 59, 49–52.

- Otto, S.P. and Lenormand, T. (2002). Resolving the paradox of sex and recombination. *Nature Reviews: Genetics* **3**, 252–261.
- Ouellette, M. and Papadopoulou, B. (1993). Mechanisms of drug resistance in *Leishmania*. *Parasitology Today* 9, 150–153.
- Pacheco, R.S., Fernandes, O., Salinas, G., Segura, I., Momen, H., Degrave, W., Saravia, N.G. and Campbell, D.A. (2000). Intraspecific heterogeneity in the mini-exon gene localization of *Leishmania (Viannia) panamensis* and *Leishmania (Viannia) guyanensis* from Colombia. *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 1250–1253.
- Pagès, M., Bastien, P., Veas, F., Rossi, V., Bellis, M., Wincker, P., Rioux, J.A. and Roizes, G. (1989). Chromosome size and number polymorphisms in *Leishmania infantum* suggest amplification/deletion and possible genetic exchange. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 36, 161–168.
- Panton, L.J. (1991). A test for genetic exchange in mixed infections of Leishmania major in the sand fly Phlebotomus papatasi. Journal of Protozoology 38, 224–228.
- Papadopoulou, B., Drummelsmith, J. and Ouellette, M. (2004). Proteomics to explore pathogenesis and drug resistance mechanisms in protozoan parasites. In: *Biomedical and Pharmaceutical Applications of Proteomics* (H. Hondermarck, ed.), pp. 367–383. Amsterdam: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Pardi, F., Lewis, C.M. and Whittaker, J.C. (2005). SNP selection for association studies: maximizing power across SNP choice and study size. *Annals of Human Genetics* 69, 733–746.
- Paterson, S. and Viney, M.E. (2000). The interface between epidemiology and population genetics. *Parasitology Today* 16, 528–532.
- Peacock, C.S., Collins, A., Shaw, M.A., Silveira, F., Costa, J., Coste, C.H., Nascimento, M.D., Siddiqui, R., Shaw, J.J. and Blackwell, J.M. (2001). Genetic epidemiology of visceral leishmaniasis in northeastern Brazil. *Genetic Epidemiology* 20, 383–396.
- Perez-Losada, M., Browne, E.B., Madsen, A., Wirth, T., Viscidi, R.P. and Crandall, K.A. (2006). Population genetics of microbial pathogens estimated from multilocus sequence typing (MLST) data. *Infection, Genetics* and Evolution 6, 97–112.
- Pimenta, P.F., Turco, S.J., McConville, M.J., Lawyer, P.G., Perkins, P.V. and Sacks, D.L. (1992). Stage-specific adhesion of *Leishmania* promastigotes to the sandfly midgut. *Science* 256, 1812–1815.
- Pimenta, P.F., Saraiva, E.M., Rowton, E., Modi, G.B., Garraway, L.A., Beverley, S.M., Turco, S.J. and Sacks, D.L. (1994). Evidence that the vectorial competence of phlebotomine sand flies for different species of *Leishmania* is controlled by structural polymorphisms in the surface lipophosphoglycan. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **91**, 9155–9159.

- Poot, J., Spreeuwenberg, K., Sanderson, S.J., Schijns, V.E., Mottram, J.C., Coombs, G.H. and Vermeulen, A.N. (2006). Vaccination with a preparation based on recombinant cysteine peptidases and canine IL-12 does not protect dogs from infection with *Leishmania infantum*. *Vaccine* 24, 2460–2468.
- Pratlong, F., Rioux, J.A., Marty, P., Faraut-Gambarelli, F., Dereure, J., Lanotte, G. and Dedet, J.P. (2004). Isoenzymatic analysis of 712 strains of *Leishmania infantum* in the south of France and relationship of enzymatic polymorphism to clinical and epidemiological features. *Journal* of *Clinical Microbiology* 42, 4077–4082.
- Pratt, D.M. and David, J.R. (1981). Monoclonal antibodies that distinguish between New World species of *Leishmania*. *Nature* **291**, 581–583.
- Probst, P., Stromberg, E., Ghalib, H.W., Mozel, M., Badaro, R., Reed, S.G. and Webb, J.R. (2001). Identification and characterization of T cellstimulating antigens from *Leishmania* by CD4T cell expression cloning. *Journal of Immunology* 166, 498–505.
- Prugnolle, F., Liu, H., De Meeûs, T. and Balloux, F. (2005). Population genetics of complex life-cycle parasites: an illustration with trematodes. *International Journal for Parasitology* 35, 255–263.
- Putaporntip, C., Jongwutiwes, S., Sakihama, N., Ferreira, M.U., Kho, W.G., Kaneko, A., Kanbara, H., Hattori, T. and Tanabe, K. (2002). Mosaic organization and heterogeneity in frequency of allelic recombination of the *Plasmodium vivax* merozoite surface protein-1 locus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 99, 16348–16353.
- Quispe Tintaya, K.W., Laurent, T., Decuypere, S., Hide, M., Bañuls, A.-L., De Doncker, S., Rijal, S., Alvar, J., Campino, L. and Dujardin, J.C. (2005). Fluorogenic assay for molecular typing of the *Leishmania dono*vani complex: taxonomic and clinical applications. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 192, 685–692.
- Rabello, A., Orsini, M. and Disch, J. (2003). *Leishmania*/HIV co-infection in Brazil: an appraisal. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 97 (supplement 1), 17–28.
- Rafati, S., Salmanian, A.H., Hashemi, K., Schaff, C., Belli, S. and Fasel, N. (2001). Identification of *Leishmania major* cysteine proteinases as targets of the immune response in humans. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **113**, 35–43.
- Rafati, S., Nakhaee, A., Taheri, T., Taslimi, Y., Darabi, H., Eravani, D., Sanos, S., Kaye, P., Taghikhani, M., Jamshidi, S. and Rad, M.A. (2005). Protective vaccination against experimental canine visceral leishmaniasis using a combination of DNA and protein immunization with cysteine proteinases type I and II of *L. infantum. Vaccine*, 23, 3716–3725.

- Ramalho-Ortigao, J.M., Temporal, P., de Oliveira, S.M., Barbosa, A.F., Vilela, M.L., Rangel, E.F., Brazil, R.P. and Traub-Cseko, Y.M. (2001). Characterization of constitutive and putative differentially expressed mRNAs by means of expressed sequence tags, differential display reverse transcriptase-PCR and randomly amplified polymorphic DNA-PCR from the sand fly vector *Lutzomyia longipalpis*. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* **96**, 105–111.
- Ramalho-Ortigao, J.M., Kamhawi, S., Rowton, E.D., Ribeiro, J.M. and Valenzuela, J.G. (2003). Cloning and characterization of trypsin- and chymotrypsin-like proteases from the midgut of the sand fly vector *Phlebotomus papatasi*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 33, 163–171.
- Rathod, P.K., Ganesan, K., Hayward, R.E., Bozdech, Z. and DeRisi, J.L. (2002). DNA microarrays for malaria. *Trends in Parasitology* **18**, 39–45.
- Ravel, C., Dubessay, P., Britto, C., Blaineau, C., Bastien, P. and Pagès, M. (1999). High conservation of the fine-scale organisation of chromosome 5 between two pathogenic *Leishmania* species. *Nucleic Acids Research* 27, 2473–2477.
- Razakandrainibe, F.G., Durand, P., Koella, J.C., De Meeûs, T., Rousset, F., Ayala, F.J. and Renaud, F. (2005). 'Clonal' population structure of the malaria agent *Plasmodium falciparum* in high-infection regions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102, 17388–17393.
- Requena, J.M., Alonso, C. and Soto, M. (2000). Evolutionarily conserved proteins as prominent immunogens during *Leishmania* infections. *Para*sitology Today 16, 246–250.
- Ribeiro, J.M. (1995). Blood-feeding arthropods: live syringes or invertebrate pharmacologists? *Infectious Agents and Disease* **4**, 143–152.
- Riera, C., Fisa, R., Udina, M., Gallego, M. and Portus, M. (2004). Detection of *Leishmania infantum* cryptic infection in asymptomatic blood donors living in an endemic area (Eivissa, Balearic Islands, Spain) by different diagnostic methods. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 98, 102–110.
- Rioux, J.A., Lanotte, G., Maazoun, R. and Pasteur, N. (1985). Electrophoresis of enzymes of the genus *Leishmania* Ross 1903. *Parassitologia* 27, 141–156.
- Rioux, J.A., Moreno, G., Lanotte, G., Pratlong, F., Dereure, J. and Rispail,
  P. (1986). Two episodes of cutaneous leishmaniasis in man caused by different zymodemes of *Leishmania infantum* s.l. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 80, 1004–1005.
- Rioux, J.A., Lanotte, G., Serres, E., Pratlong, F., Bastien, P. and Perières, J. (1990). Taxonomy of *Leishmania*. Use of isoenzymes. Suggestions for a new classification. *Annales de Parasitologie Humaine et Comparée*, 65, 111–125.

#### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

- Roberts, S.C., Swihart, K.G., Agey, M.W., Ramamoorthy, R., Wilson, M.E. and Donelson, J.E. (1993). Sequence diversity and organization of the *msp* gene family encoding gp63 of *Leishmania chagasi*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 62, 157–171.
- Robinson, K.A. and Beverley, S.M. (2003). Improvements in transfection efficiency and tests of RNA interference (RNAi) approaches in the protozoan parasite *Leishmania*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **128**, 217–228.
- Rodriguez, N., De Lima, H., Rodriguez, A., Brewster, S. and Barker, D.C. (1997). Genomic DNA repeat from *Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis* (Venezuelan strain) containing simple repeats and microsatellites. *Para-sitology* **115**, 349–358.
- Rodriguez-Gonzalez, I., Marin, C., Vargas, F., Cordova, O., Barrera, M., Gutierrez-Sanchez, R., Alunda, J.M. and Sanchez-Moreno, M. (2006). Identification and biochemical characterization of *Leishmania* strains isolated in Peru, Mexico, and Spain. *Experimental Parasitology* **112**, 44–51.
- Rogers, M.E., Ilg, T., Nikolaev, A.V., Ferguson, M.A. and Bates, P.A. (2004). Transmission of cutaneous leishmaniasis by sand flies is enhanced by regurgitation of fPPG. *Nature* 430, 463–467.
- Rosenthal, P.J. (1999). Proteases of protozoan parasites. Advances in Parasitology 43, 105–159.
- Rotureau, B. (2006). Ecology of the *Leishmania* species in the Guianan ecoregion complex. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **74**, 81–96.
- Rotureau, B., Ravel, C., Couppie, P., Pratlong, F., Nacher, M., Dedet, J.P. and Carme, B. (2006). Use of PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis to identify the main New World *Leishmania* species and analyze their taxonomic properties and polymorphism by application of the assay to clinical samples. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 44, 459–467.
- Russell, R., Iribar, M.P., Lambson, B., Brewster, S., Blackwell, J.M., Dye, C. and Ajioka, J.W. (1999). Intra- and inter-specific microsatellite variation in the *Leishmania* subgenus *Viannia*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 103, 71–77.
- Sacks, D.L. (2001). *Leishmania*-sand fly interactions controlling speciesspecific vector competence. *Cellular Microbiology* **3**, 189–196.
- Sadlova, J., Hajmova, M. and Volf, P. (2003). Phlebotomus (Adlerius) halepensis vector competence for Leishmania major and Le. tropica. Medical and Veterinary Entomology 17, 244–250.
- Saenz, R.E., de Rodriguez, C.G., Johnson, C.M. and Berman, J.D. (1991). Efficacy and toxicity of pentostam against Panamanian mucosal leishmaniasis. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 44, 394–398.

- Sajid, M. and McKerrow, J.H. (2002). Cysteine proteases of parasitic organisms. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **120**, 1–21.
- Salotra, P. and Singh, R. (2006). Challenges in the diagnosis of post kalaazar dermal leishmaniasis. *Indian Journal of Medical Research* 123, 295–310.
- Salotra, P., Duncan, R.C., Singh, R., Subba Raju, B.V., Sreenivas, G. and Nakhasi, H.L. (2006). Upregulation of surface proteins in *Leishmania donovani* isolated from patients of post kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis. *Microbes and Infection* 8, 637–644.
- Santrich, C., Segura, I., Arias, A.L. and Saravia, N.G. (1990). Mucosal disease caused by *Leishmania braziliensis guyanensis*. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 42, 51–55.
- Saravia, N.G., Holguin, A.F., McMahon-Pratt, D. and D'Alessandro, A. (1985). Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis in Colombia: *Leishmania braziliensis* subspecies diversity. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 34, 714–720.
- Saravia, N.G., Segura, I., Holguin, A.F., Santrich, C., Valderrama, L. and Ocampo, C. (1998). Epidemiologic, genetic, and clinical associations among phenotypically distinct populations of *Leishmania (Viannia)* in Colombia. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 59, 86–94.
- Saravia, N.G., Escorcia, B., Osorio, Y., Valderrama, L., Arteaga, L. and Travi, B.L. (2005). Pathogenicity and protective immunogenicity of cysteine proteinase-deficient mutants of *Leishmania mexicana* in nonmurine models. *Vaccine* 23, 984–995.
- Saxena, A., Worthey, E.A., Yan, S., Leland, A., Stuart, K.D. and Myler, P.J. (2003). Evaluation of differential gene expression in *Leishmania major* Friedlin procyclics and metacyclics using DNA microarray analysis. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **129**, 103–114.
- Schlotterer, C. and Tautz, D. (1992). Slippage synthesis of simple sequence DNA. Nucleic Acids Research 20, 211–215.
- Schneider, P., Rosat, J.P., Bouvier, J., Louis, J. and Bordier, C. (1992). *Leishmania major*: differential regulation of the surface metalloprotease in amastigote and promastigote stages. *Experimental Parasitology* 75, 196–206.
- Schonian, G., El Fari, M., Lewin, S., Schweynoch, C. and Presber, W. (2001). Molecular epidemiology and population genetics in *Leishmania*. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology (Berlin)* **190**, 61–63.
- Schriefer, A., Schriefer, A.L., Goes-Neto, A., Guimaraes, L.H., Carvalho, L.P., Almeida, R.P., Machado, P.R., Lessa, H.A., de Jesus, A.R., Riley, L.W. and Carvalho, E.M. (2004). Multiclonal *Leishmania braziliensis* population structure and its clinical implication in a region of endemicity for American tegumentary leishmaniasis. *Infection and Immunity* 72, 508–514.
- Schulz, A., Mellenthin, K., Schonian, G., Fleischer, B. and Drosten, C. (2003). Detection, differentiation, and quantitation of pathogenic

*Leishmania* organisms by a fluorescence resonance energy transfer-based real-time PCR assay. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* **41**, 1529–1535.

- Schwenkenbecher, J.M., Frohlich, C., Gehre, F., Schnur, L.F. and Schonian, G. (2004). Evolution and conservation of microsatellite markers for *Leishmania tropica*. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* **4**, 99–105.
- Schwenkenbecher, J.M., Wirth, T., Schnur, L.F., Jaffe, C.L., Schallig, H., Al-Jawabreh, A., Hamarsheh, O., Azmi, K., Pratlong, F. and Schonian, G. (2006). Microsatellite analysis reveals genetic structure of *Leishmania tropica*. *International Journal for Parasitology* **36**, 237–246.
- Shani-Adir, A., Kamil, S., Rozenman, D., Schwartz, E., Ramon, M., Zalman, L., Nasereddin, A., Jaffe, C.L. and Ephros, M. (2005). *Leishmania tropica* in northern Israel: a clinical overview of an emerging focus. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 53, 810–815.
- Sharma, M.C., Gupta, A.K., Das, V.N., Verma, N., Kumar, N., Saran, R. and Kar, S.K. (2000). *Leishmania donovani* in blood smears of asymptomatic persons. *Acta Tropica* 76, 195–196.
- Shaw, J. (1997). Ecological and evolutionary pressures on leishmanial parasites. *Brazilian Journal of Genetics* **20**, 123–128.
- Shaw, M.A., Davies, C.R., Llanos-Cuentas, E.A. and Collins, A. (1995). Human genetic susceptibility and infection with *Leishmania peruviana*. *American Journal of Human Genetics* **57**, 1159–1168.
- Simpson, L. (1987). The mitochondrial genome of kinetoplastid protozoa: genomic organization, transcription, replication and evolution. *Annual Review of Microbiology* **41**, 363–382.
- Simpson, L., Simpson, A.M., Kidane, G., Livingston, L. and Spithill, T.W. (1980). The kinetoplast DNA of the hemoflagellate protozoa. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 29, 1053–1063.
- Sinagra, A., Riarte, A., Luna, C., Campanini, A. and Segura, E.L. (1997). *Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis*: biological behavior in golden hamsters of isolates from Argentine patients. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 57, 115–118.
- Singh, N. and Rastogi, A.K. (1999). Kinetoplast DNA minicircles of *Leish-mania donovani* express a protein product. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1444, 263–268.
- Singh, S., Gilman-Sachs, A., Chang, K.P. and Reed, S.G. (1995). Diagnostic and prognostic value of K39 recombinant antigen in Indian leishmaniasis. *Journal of Parasitology* 81, 1000–1003.
- Smith, J.M., Feil, E.J. and Smith, N.H. (2000). Population structure and evolutionary dynamics of pathogenic bacteria. *Bioessays* 22, 1115–1122.
- Soares, R.P., Macedo, M.E., Ropert, C., Gontijo, N.F., Almeida, I.C., Gazzinelli, R.T., Pimenta, P.F. and Turco, S.J. (2002). *Leishmania chagasi*: lipophosphoglycan characterization and binding to the midgut of the sand fly vector *Lutzomyia longipalpis*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **121**, 213–224.

- Spath, G.F., Epstein, L., Leader, B., Singer, S.M., Avila, H.A., Turco, S.J. and Beverley, S.M. (2000). Lipophosphoglycan is a virulence factor distinct from related glycoconjugates in the protozoan parasite *Leishmania major*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97, 9258–9263.
- Spithill, T.W. and Samaras, N. (1987). Genomic organization, chromosomal location and transcription of dispersed and repeated tubulin genes in *Leishmania major*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **24**, 23–37.
- Spratt, B.G. and Maiden, M.C. (1999). Bacterial population genetics, evolution and epidemiology. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* of London, Series B: Biological Sciences 354, 701–710.
- Stears, R.L., Martinsky, T. and Schena, M. (2003). Trends in microarray analysis. *Nature Medicine* 9, 140–145.
- Steinkraus, H.B., Greer, J.M., Stephenson, D.C. and Langer, P.J. (1993). Sequence heterogeneity and polymorphic gene arrangements of the *Leishmania guyanensis gp63* genes. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitol*ogy 62, 173–185.
- Stiles, J.K., Hicock, P.I., Shah, P.H. and Meade, J.C. (1999). Genomic organization, transcription, splicing and gene regulation in *Leishmania*. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* **93**, 781–807.
- Stober, C.B., Lange, U.G., Roberts, M.T., Gilmartin, B., Francis, R., Almeida, R., Peacock, C.S., McCann, S. and Blackwell, J.M. (2006). From genome to vaccines for leishmaniasis: screening 100 novel vaccine candidates against murine *Leishmania major* infection. *Vaccine* 24, 2602–2616.
- Strand, M., Prolla, T.A., Liskay, R.M. and Petes, T.D. (1993). Destabilization of tracts of simple repetitive DNA in yeast by mutations affecting DNA mismatch repair. *Nature* 365, 274–276.
- Strelkova, M.V., Eliseev, L.N., Ponirovsky, E.N., Dergacheva, T.I., Annacharyeva, D.K., Erokhin, P.I. and Evans, D.A. (2001). Mixed leishmanial infections in *Rhombomys opimus*: a key to the persistence of *Leishmania major* from one transmission season to the next. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* **95**, 811–819.
- Sturm, N.R. and Simpson, L. (1990). Kinetoplast DNA minicircles encode guide RNAs for editing of cytochrome oxidase subunit III mRNA. *Cell* 61, 879–884.
- Sulahian, A., Garin, Y.J., Pratlong, F., Dedet, J.P. and Derouin, F. (1997). Experimental pathogenicity of viscerotropic and dermotropic isolates of *Leishmania infantum* from immunocompromised and immunocompetent patients in a murine model. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiol*ogy 17, 131–138.
- Symons, F.M., Murray, P.J., Ji, H., Simpson, R.J., Osborn, A.H., Cappai, R. and Handman, E. (1994). Characterization of a polymorphic family of

integral membrane proteins in promastigotes of different *Leishmania* species. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **67**, 103–113.

- Syvanen, A.C. (2005). Toward genome-wide SNP genotyping. Nature Genetics 37 (supplement), S5–S10.
- Taylor, J.W., Geiser, D.M., Burt, A. and Koufopanou, V. (1999). The evolutionary biology and population genetics underlying fungal strain typing. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 12, 126–146.
- Thiel, M. and Bruchhaus, I. (2001). Comparative proteome analysis of *Leishmania donovani* at different stages of transformation from promastigotes to amastigotes. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology (Berlin)* 190, 33–36.
- Tibayrenc, M. (1995). Population genetics of parasitic protozoa and other microorganisms. *Advances in Parasitology* **36**, 47–115.
- Tibayrenc, M. (1996). Towards a unified evolutionary genetics of microorganisms. *Annual Review of Microbiology* **50**, 401–429.
- Tibayrenc, M. (1998). Genetic epidemiology of parasitic protozoa and other infectious agents: the need for an integrated approach. *International Journal for Parasitology* **28**, 85–104.
- Tibayrenc, M. (2007). Human genetic diversity and the epidemiology of parasitic and other transmissible diseases. *Advances in Parasitology* **64**, 377–429.
- Tibayrenc, M. and Ayala, F.J. (1991). Towards a population genetics of microorganisms: the clonal theory of parasitic protozoa. *Parasitology Today* 7, 228–232.
- Tibayrenc, M., Kjellberg, F. and Ayala, F.J. (1990). A clonal theory of parasitic protozoa: the population structures of *Entamoeba*, *Giardia*, *Leishmania*, *Naegleria*, *Plasmodium*, *Trichomonas*, and *Trypanosoma* and their medical and taxonomical consequences. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **87**, 2414–2418.
- Tibayrenc, M., Neubauer, K., Barnabé, C., Guerrini, F., Skarecky, D. and Ayala, F.J. (1993). Genetic characterization of six parasitic protozoa: parity between random-primer DNA typing and multilocus enzyme electrophoresis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **90**, 1335–1339.
- Tintaya, K.W., Ying, X., Dedet, J.P., Rijal, S., De Bolle, X. and Dujardin, J.C. (2004). Antigen genes for molecular epidemiology of leishmaniasis: polymorphism of cysteine proteinase B and surface metalloprotease glycoprotein 63 in the *Leishmania donovani* complex. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 189, 1035–1043.
- Torrico, M.C., De Doncker, S., Arevalo, J., Le Ray, D. and Dujardin, J.C. (1999). In vitro promastigote fitness of putative Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis/Leishmania (Viannia) peruviana hybrids. Acta Tropica 72, 99–110.

- Turner, C.M., McLellan, S., Lindergard, L.A., Bisoni, L., Tait, A. and Mac-Leod, A. (2004). Human infectivity trait in *Trypanosoma brucei*: stability, heritability and relationship to *sra* expression. *Parasitology* **129**, 445–454.
- Ullu, E., Matthews, K.R. and Tschudi, C. (1993). Temporal order of RNAprocessing reactions in trypanosomes: rapid trans splicing precedes polyadenylation of newly synthesized tubulin transcripts. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **13**, 720–725.
- Valenzuela, J.G. (2002). High-throughput approaches to study salivary proteins and genes from vectors of disease. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 32, 1199–1209.
- Valenzuela, J.G., Belkaid, Y., Garfield, M.K., Mendez, S., Kamhawi, S., Rowton, E.D., Sacks, D.L. and Ribeiro, J.M. (2001). Toward a defined anti-*Leishmania* vaccine targeting vector antigens. Characterization of a protective salivary protein. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 194, 331–342.
- Victoir, K. and Dujardin, J.C. (2002). How to succeed in parasitic life without sex? Asking *Leishmania*. *Trends in Parasitology* **18**, 81–85.
- Victoir, K., Dujardin, J.C., De Doncker, S., Barker, D.C., Arevalo, J., Hamers, R. and Le Ray, D. (1995). Plasticity of gp63 gene organization in Leishmania (Viannia) braziliensis and Leishmania (Viannia) peruviana. Parasitology 111, 265–273.
- Victoir, K., Bañuls, A.-L., Arevalo, J., Llanos-Cuentas, A., Hamers, R., Noel, S., De Doncker, S., Le Ray, D., Tibayrenc, M. and Dujardin, J.C. (1998). The *gp63* gene locus, a target for genetic characterization of *Leishmania* belonging to subgenus *Viannia*. *Parasitology* 117, 1–13.
- Victoir, K., Arevalo, J., De Doncker, S., Barker, D.C., Laurent, T., Godfroid, E., Bollen, A., Le Ray, D. and Dujardin, J.C. (2005). Complexity of the major surface protease (*msp*) gene organization in *Leishmania* (*Viannia*) braziliensis: evolutionary and functional implications. Parasitology 131, 207–214.
- Vidal, S., Tremblay, M.L., Govoni, G., Gauthier, S., Sebastiani, G., Malo, D., Skamene, E., Olivier, M., Jothy, S. and Gros, P. (1995). The *Ity/Lsh/ Bcg* locus: natural resistance to infection with intracellular parasites is abrogated by disruption of the *Nramp1* gene. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 182, 655–666.
- Vivoni, A.M., Diep, B.A., de Gouveia Magalhaes, A.C., Santos, K.R., Riley, L.W., Sensabaugh, G.F. and Moreira, B.M. (2006). Clonal composition of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates at a Brazilian university hospital: identification of international circulating lineages. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 44, 1686–1691.
- Volf, P., Killick-Kendrick, R., Bates, P.A. and Molyneux, D.H. (1994). Comparison of the haemagglutination activities in gut and head extracts of various species and geographical populations of phlebotomine sandflies. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* **88**, 337–340.

- Volf, P., Skarupova, S. and Man, P. (2002). Characterization of the lectin from females of *Phlebotomus duboscqi* sand flies. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 269, 6294–6301.
- Walker, J., Vasquez, J.J., Gomez, M.A., Drummelsmith, J., Burchmore, R., Girard, I. and Ouellette, M. (2006). Identification of developmentallyregulated proteins in *Leishmania panamensis* by proteome profiling of promastigotes and axenic amastigotes. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 147, 64–73.
- Wallbanks, K.R., Ingram, G.A. and Molyneux, D.H. (1986). The agglutination of erythrocytes and *Leishmania* parasites by sandfly gut extracts: evidence for lectin activity. *Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 37, 409–413.
- Wang, J., Vanley, C., Miyamoto, E., Turner, J.A. and Peng, S.K. (1999). Coinfection of visceral leishmaniasis and *Mycobacterium* in a patient with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine* 123, 835–837.
- Weber, J.L. and Wong, C. (1993). Mutation of human short tandem repeats. *Human Molecular Genetics* **2**, 1123–1128.
- Weir, B.S. and Cockerham, C.C. (1984). Estimating *F*-statistics for the analysis of population structure. *Evolution* **38**, 1358–1370.
- Welsh, J. and McClelland, M. (1990). Fingerprinting genomes using PCR with arbitrary primers. *Nucleic Acids Research* 18, 7213–7218.
- Welsh, J., Petersen, C. and McClelland, M. (1991). Polymorphisms generated by arbitrarily primed PCR in the mouse: application to strain identification and genetic mapping. *Nucleic Acids Research* **19**, 303–306.
- Welsh, J., Pretzman, C., Postic, D., Saint Girons, I., Baranton, G. and McClelland, M. (1992). Genomic fingerprinting by arbitrarily primed polymerase chain reaction resolves *Borrelia burgdorferi* into three distinct phyletic groups. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* 42, 370–377.
- WHO (1990). Control of Leishmaniases. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wickstead, B., Ersfeld, K. and Gull, K. (2003). Repetitive elements in genomes of parasitic protozoa. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 67, 360–375.
- Williams, J.G., Kubelik, A.R., Livak, K.J., Rafalski, J.A. and Tingey, S.V. (1990). DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. *Nucleic Acids Research* 18, 6531–6535.
- Wilson, A.C., Sarich, V.M. and Maxson, L.R. (1974). The importance of gene rearrangement in evolution: evidence from studies on rates of chromosomal, protein, and anatomical evolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 71, 3028–3030.

- Wilson, M.E., Jeronimo, S.M. and Pearson, R.D. (2005). Immunopathogenesis of infection with the visceralizing *Leishmania* species. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 38, 147–160.
- Wilson, S.M. (1995). DNA-based methods in the detection of *Leishmania* parasites: field applications and practicalities. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 89 (supplement 1), 95–100.
- Wincker, P., Ravel, C., Blaineau, C., Pagès, M., Jauffret, Y., Dedet, J.P. and Bastien, P. (1996). The *Leishmania* genome comprises 36 chromosomes conserved across widely divergent human pathogenic species. *Nucleic Acids Research* 24, 1688–1694.
- Wirth, D.F. and Pratt, D.M. (1982). Rapid identification of *Leishmania* species by specific hybridization of kinetoplast DNA in cutaneous lesions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 79, 6999–7003.
- Wolday, D., Berhe, N., Akuffo, H., Desjeux, P. and Britton, S. (2001). Emerging *Leishmania*/HIV co-infection in Africa. *Medical Microbiology* and Immunology (Berlin) 190, 65–67.
- Wong, A.K. (1995). Molecular genetics of the parasitic protozoan Leishmania. Biochemistry and Cell Biology 73, 235–240.
- Woolhouse, M.E., Taylor, L.H. and Haydon, D.T. (2001). Population biology of multihost pathogens. *Science* 292, 1109–1112.
- Wright, S. (1951). The genetic structure of populations. *Annals of Eugenics* 15, 323–354.
- Yang, Z. and Bielawski, J.P. (2000). Statistical methods for detecting molecular adaptation. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 15, 496–503.
- Yao, C., Donelson, J.E. and Wilson, M.E. (2003). The major surface protease (MSP or GP63) of *Leishmania* sp. Biosynthesis, regulation of expression, and function. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **132**, 1–16.
- Youssef, M.Y., Eissa, M.M. and el Mansoury, S.T. (1997). Evidence of sexual reproduction in the protozoan parasite *Leishmania* of the Old World. *Journal of the Egyptian Society of Parasitology* **27**, 651–657.
- Zadeh-Vakili, A., Taheri, T., Taslimi, Y., Doustdari, F., Salmanian, A.H. and Rafati, S. (2004). Immunization with the hybrid protein vaccine, consisting of *Leishmania major* cysteine proteinases Type I (CPB) and Type II (CPA), partially protects against leishmaniasis. *Vaccine* 22, 1930–1940.
- Zemanova, E., Jirku, M., Mauricio, I.L., Miles, M.A. and Lukes, J. (2004). Genetic polymorphism within the *Leishmania donovani* complex: correlation with geographic origin. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **70**, 613–617.
- Zhang, W.W. and Matlashewski, G. (1997). Loss of virulence in *Leishmania* donovani deficient in an amastigote-specific protein, A2. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94, 8807–8811.

#### LEISHMANIA AND LEISHMANIASES

- Zhang, W.W. and Matlashewski, G. (2001). Characterization of the *A2–A2rel* gene cluster in *Leishmania donovani*: involvement of *A2* in visceralization during infection. *Molecular Microbiology* **39**, 935–948.
- Zhang, W.W. and Matlashewski, G. (2004). In vivo selection for Leishmania donovani miniexon genes that increase virulence in Leishmania major. Molecular Microbiology 54, 1051–1062.
- Zhang, W.W., Mendez, S., Ghosh, A., Myler, P., Ivens, A., Clos, J., Sacks, D.L. and Matlashewski, G. (2003). Comparison of the A2 gene locus in *Leishmania donovani* and *Leishmania major* and its control over cutaneous infection. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 35508–35515.
- Zhu, Y., Strassmann, J.E. and Queller, D.C. (2000). Insertions, substitutions, and the origin of microsatellites. *Genetical Research* 76, 227–236.
- Zijlstra, E.E., El-Hassan, A.M., Ismael, A. and Ghalib, H.W. (1994). Endemic kala-azar in eastern Sudan: a longitudinal study on the incidence of clinical and subclinical infection and post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 51, 826–836.
- Zijlstra, E.E., Musa, A.M., Khalil, E.A., el-Hassan, I.M. and El-Hassan, A.M. (2003). Post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis. *Lancet Infectious Dis*eases 3, 87–98.
- Zinkernagel, R.M. and Hengartner, H. (2001). Regulation of the immune response by antigen. *Science* **293**, 251–253.

This page intentionally left blank

# Human Waterborne Trematode and Protozoan Infections

Thaddeus K. Graczyk<sup>1,2</sup> and Bernard Fried<sup>3</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Division of Environmental Health Engineering, Department of Environmental Health Sciences, Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD 21205, USA
 <sup>2</sup>Department of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD 21205, USA
 <sup>3</sup>Department of Biology, Lafayette College, Easton, PA 18042, USA

. 112
. 112
. 113
. 115
. 116
116
117
119
120
120
121
10/
104
100
100
. 120
. 131
. 134
. 135
. 136
3137
. 137
. 138
. 138

	7.4. The Cellulose Acetate Membrane (CAM)-Filter Dissolution
	Method
	7.5. Method 1622/1623
8.	Water Treatment
9.	Associations of Human Waterborne Parasites with Molluscan
	Shellfish
	9.1. Quantitative Estimation of Removal of Human Waterborne
	Parasites by Molluscan Shellfish
	9.2. A Public Health Threat from Shellfish Contaminated with
	<i>Cryptosporidium</i> 143
10.	Conclusions
	Acknowledgments
	References

## ABSTRACT

Waterborne trematode and protozoan infections inflict considerable morbidity on healthy, i.e., immunocompetent people, and may cause life-threatening diseases among immunocompromised and immunosuppressed populations. These infections are common, easily transmissible, and maintain a worldwide distribution, although waterborne trematode infections remain predominantly confined to the developing countries. Waterborne transmission of trematodes is enhanced by cultural practices of eating raw or inadequately cooked food, socioeconomical factors, and wide zoonotic and sylvatic reservoirs of these helminths. Waterborne protozoan infections remain common in both developed and developing countries (although better statistics exist for developed countries), and their transmission is facilitated via contacts with recreational and surface waters, or via consumption of contaminated drinking water. The transmissive stages of human protozoan parasites are small, shed in large numbers in feces of infected people or animals, resistant to environmental stressors while in the environment, and few are (e.g., Cryptosporidium oocysts) able to resist standard disinfection applied to drinking water.

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Current literature on human waterborne protozoan and helminthic infections is abundant and enormously scattered over various epidemiological and parasitological journals, and is presented in diverse aspects and approaches. This review is concerned mainly with humans as hosts of waterborne protozoan and trematode infections, but other hosts that play an important zoonotic role are also covered in our review. The waterborne infections are mainly concerned with protozoans transferred as cysts, oocysts, or spores, and trematodes (exclusive of schistosomes) transferred as cercariae or metacercariae. Main coverage includes the following genera: Cryptosporidium, Giardia, Cyclospora, Toxoplasma, human-infective microsporidia, Philophthalmus, Echinochasmus, Fasciola, and Fasciolopsis. Information on the important topic of Travel Medicine and Risk Factors is included in one or more of the major sections in the text for most genera of organisms covered. Where such information is available, the modes of environmental contamination and transmission of some of these parasites is explained and the zoonotic reservoir characterized. The epidemiology of the diseases caused by some of these parasites is described for immunocompetent and immunocompromised human populations. The graphical presentation of the transmission cycles are utilized for certain parasites showing various epidemiological transmission sub-cycles. The article also presents the ways in which the environment is contaminated by some of these parasites. In this regard, we focus on agricultural runoff and wastewater discharges. The current statistics on waterborne infections, i.e., outbreaks and cases, are presented based on electronically available data collected by the Centers for Disease Control (CDC), Atlanta, GA, USA. The biological features of the life cycles of some of these parasites that facilitate environmental contamination, particularly waterborne transmission, are characterized. The article also covers the modern conventional molecular diagnostic techniques used for identification of some of these parasites in environmental samples, and in water, and for the assessment of their infectivity.

#### 2. FASCIOLIDS

The purpose of this section is to review the salient information on the role of fasciolids in waterborne trematode infections. The backdrop of the review is the edited book by Dalton (1999) on all aspects of

*Fasciola* and fasciolosis. Although the book is concerned mainly with the cosmopolitan species Fasciola hepatica, it also documents some information on various aspects of the biology of the less-studied Asian liver fluke Fasciola gigantica. Dalton's edited book should be examined to appreciate the voluminous literature on fasciolids covered prior to about 1998, including all aspects of the biology of fasciolids. Generic characteristics and keys to the family Fasciolidae Ralliet, 1895 were provided by Jones (2005) in volume 2 of the Keys to the Trematoda. The major genera considered in our review are Fasciola Linnaeus, 1758 and Fasciolopsis Loos, 1899. Species of both genera are usually considered plantborne pathogens with humans and animals becoming infected following the ingestion of raw or improperly cooked vegetation tainted with metacercarial cysts. The topic of fascioliasis and other plantborne trematode zoonoses has been reviewed recently by Mas-Coma et al. (2005). Earlier reviews by Mas-Coma et al. (1999a, b) suggested that F. hepatica should also be considered as a waterborne trematode: recent information in Mas-Coma et al. (2005) also suggested that this is true for both F. gigantica and Fasciolopsis buski. Further information on this topic is considered in the section on fasciolids as waterborne trematodes.

A review of the literature using the ISI Web of Science indicates that most of the fasciolid literature is on *F. hepatica*. An ISI search in June 2006 covering the literature from 1998 to 2006 showed 1508 citations on *F. hepatica*, 235 on *F. gigantica*, and 23 on *F. buski*.

Whereas adults of *F. hepatica* and *F. gigantica* parasitize the liver and the biliary system of their human and animal hosts, *F. buski* is a gastrointestinal trematode. The topic of *F. buski* and fasciolopsiasis as a foodborne disease in humans has been reviewed by Graczyk *et al.* (2001a). Because the literature on fasciolopsiasis as a waterborne trematode intestinal infection is sparse, little further information on the topic is provided in this review. Although transmission of this digenean is generally associated with the ingestion of raw contaminated aquatic plants, Weng *et al.* (1989) noted that cercariae of this species may encyst on the water surface and that about 10% of all human infections may result from drinking tainted water.

Relative to human *F. hepatica*, this is a cosmopolitan species found in developed and under-developed countries. Human fascioliasis has

been an underestimated and under-explored disease but is now considered an emerging/reemerging disease (Mas-Coma *et al.*, 2005). Recent estimates have cited figures ranging from 2.4 to 17 million humans infected with fascioliasis, with most infections probably due to *F. hepatica* (Mas-Coma *et al.*, 1999a). It should be noted that *F. gigantica* has considerable impact on humans in under-developed countries and consequently the number of studies on this species is relatively sparse compared to those on *F. hepatica* (compare ISI WEB data as noted above). Undisputed proof of the distinctness of these two fasciolid species comes from the PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) work of Marcilla *et al.* (2002). This is an important study for future work on the epidemiology of fascioliasis.

#### 2.1. Waterborne Infections with Fasciola

Several studies (Mas-Coma et al., 1999a; Esteban et al., 2002) have implicated water as a source of infection with Fasciola metacercariae. Bargues et al. (1996), in their studies on the fascioliasis in the Bolivian Altiplano, noted that 13% of the experimentally obtained metacercariae were always floating. Mas-Coma et al. (2005) stated that water containing fasciolid metacercariae may contaminate food, kitchen utensils, and other objects, thus becoming a source of infection. Several indirect studies also show the importance of fascioliasis transmission through tainted water. Estaban et al. (2002, 2003) showed significant positive associations between fasciolid infection and infection with other waterborne parasites. For instance, the association of Giardia intestinalis with Fasciola in Peru (Esteban et al., 2002) and of Schistosoma mansoni with Fasciola in Egypt (Esteban et al., 2003) supported this idea. Hillyer and Apt (1997) noted that in many fasciolid hyperendemic areas of South America, humans do not eat watercress, and in the Asillo irrigation area of the Peruvian Altiplano, people do not eat freshwater plants. Esteban et al. (2002) cited additional evidences that infection of humans in the high areas of Peru occur mainly through drinking water, i.e., there is an absence of typical aquatic vegetation in the drainage channels inhabited by the fasciolid intermediate lymnacid snail hosts and the lack of potable

water systems inside dwellings, which required the residents to obtain water from irrigation canals and drainage channels.

Some studies have been designed to examine fasciolids as floating cysts. Thus, Cheriyof and Warne (1990) examined the distribution of the metacercariae of *F. gigantica* on some objects in containers in the laboratory. Cercariae of *F. gigantica* from *Lymnaea natalensis* were observed to encyst in varying degrees on different objects in the containers. However, some cysts were found unattached on the bottom of the containers or floating on the surface and bottom of the water. Vareille-Morel *et al.* (1993) provided data on the dispersion and fate of floating *F. hepatica* metacercariae. The authors concluded that the role of floating cysts is important in the transmission of fascioliasis to man.

#### 3. THE GENUS ECHINOCHASMUS

The genus *Echinochasmus* contains a number of species that are transmitted to humans as foodborne trematode infections. Transmission is mainly by way of the ingestion of metacercarial cysts by humans with raw or improperly cooked freshwater fish. The genus has at least one species, *Echinochasmus liliputanus*, which is transmitted to humans as a waterborne infection. Humans ingesting cercariae of this species of echinostome may develop an intestinal trematodiasis referred to as echinochasmiasis. Fried (2001) reviewed the earlier literature till about the year 2000 on the descriptive, experimental, biochemical, and molecular studies of the various species in this genus. In the current review, emphasis is placed on significant studies on *E. liliputanus* as waterborne trematodes. We also review other significant literature on the genus *Echinochasmus* from 2000 to 2006.

## 3.1. Significant Literature on Species of *Echinochasmus* Exclusive of *E. liliputanus* from 2000 to 2006

Several studies have described species of *Echinochasmus* from animals of significance in wildlife biology and from humans. Thus, Borgsteede *et al.* (2000) described *E. beleocephalus* from passeriform birds, *Sitta europacea*, in the Netherlands and Rajkovic-Janje *et al.* (2002)

reported the species *E. pertoliatus* from the wild boar, *Sus scrofa*, in eastern Croatia. Dronen *et al.* (2003) reported on the species *E. donaldsoni* from the brown pelican, *Pelecanus occidentalis*, and the American white pelican, *Pelecanus erythrochynchus*, from Galveston Bay, TX, USA. Chai and Lee (2002), in their studies on foodborne intestinal trematodiases in the Republic of Korea, reported *E. japonicus* from humans. Although this echinostome is typically a parasite of birds in Korea, humans become infected by eating a variety of freshwater fish contaminated with metacercariae of this species.

Various studies on the biochemistry, systematics, and biology of echinochasmid species were done during 2000-2006. Thus, Cheng et al. (2000) analyzed the LDH isoenzymes and some proteins in two strains of E. fujianeses from China (the Guangdong strain versus the Fujian strain). Methods used in their study were isoenzyme electrophoresis, discontinuous PAGE, and thin-layer isoelectric equilibrium PAGE. The observed biochemical differences between the strains were minor, indicating that both strains are of the species E. fujianeses. Kostadinova (2005), in her revision of the family Echinostomatidae Looss, 1899, described the major characteristics of the genus Echinochasmus Dietz, 1909 and provided excellent figures (line drawings) of the species E. coaxatus Dietz, 1909. The Kostadinova (2005) key provides for separation of the genus Echinochasmus from related genera of Echinostomatidae. A distinction of the major species in the genus Echinochasmus was beyond the scope of the key. However, Kostadinova (2005) provided excellent morphological characterizations and considerable generalized life cycle information on the genus. Recently, Choi et al. (2006) provided morphological observations on the cercariae of E. japonicus and detailed methods used to maintain the life cycle of this species from the cercaria to the adult. Such information is valuable to workers who need to test the direct infectivity of cercariae via a water infection route by per os feeding of this larval stage to experimental definitive hosts.

#### 3.2. E. liliputanus as a Waterborne Trematode

Numerous cases of human infection with *E. liliputanus* have been reported in China by Xiao and his collaborators from about 1990 to

the present (2006). The fact that this echinostome species can infect humans via the cercarial stage in contaminated water is of considerable interest to the medical community.

Xiao et al. (1992) reported the first case of natural infection of E. liliputanus in China. Because of the prevalence of echinochasmiasis in Anhui province, China, Wang et al. (1993) were able to determine the efficacy of praziguantel (often referred to as pyquiton in China) in the treatment of this echinostome in humans. Two hundred cases of E. liliputanus infection were divided into three groups and treated with 10, 5, or 2.5 mg of praziquantel per kg of body weight as a single dose. One month later, egg numbers were reduced by 100%, 98.7%, and 96.5%, respectively. The major symptoms of human echinochasmiasis, i.e., abdominal pain, distention of the abdomen, diarrhea, and anorexia, were alleviated. Xiao et al. (1994) carried out an epidemiological survey of E. liliputanus in Anhui province, China from 1991 to 1993. The overall infection rate was 13.7% with no significant difference in the infection rates between males and females. The infection rate was closely related to age with the highest rates occurring in relatively young persons. For instance, among all the infected people, the age group 3-30 had 78.3% of the infections. The study also determined a link between infection and drinking water. The infection rate in the major reservoir hosts (dogs and cats) was 62.2% in dogs and 39.8% in cats.

Xiao *et al.* (1995a) conducted epidemiological studies on *E. liliputanus* infections in intermediate hosts in Anhui province, China from 1991 to 1993. Seasonal variations in the infections in the intermediate hosts were recorded. The viviparid prosobranch snail, *Bellamya aeruginosa*, was reported as a new first intermediate host for this echinostome. Patent infections (those releasing cercariae) were reported from *B. aeruginosa* in late July, and peaked in September through November; they disappeared by early December. The overall infection prevalence of metacercariae in 20 species of freshwater fishes was 83.7% with the peak prevalence of infection in the fishes occurring between November and April. Xiao *et al.* (1995b) showed direct infection of *E. liliputanus* cercariae in nine dogs and two human volunteers. The subjects were infected *per os* with 1500–88000 cercariae of this echinostome species. All the experimental subjects became infected showing that humans and animals may become infected with this echinostome by drinking water containing the cercariae. In the two human subjects, eggs appeared in the stools on days 15 and 16 postinfection, respectively. In the dogs, the worm recovery rate was 4.0% and eggs first appeared in the feces at 14 days postinfection.

Xiao et al. (1995c) reported on epidemiological studies done in 1992 in Anhui province, China on the mode of human infection with E. liliputanus. The results showed that humans could become infected with this echinostome by drinking unboiled water containing cercariae or by eating raw fish containing metacercariae. Infection rates of E. liliputanus were 1.5% among the persons who did not drink unboiled water, but 20.1% for those who did. Only cercariae and not metacercariae were observed in the water of ponds used by these subjects. None of the people claimed to have eaten raw fish. Wang et al. (1998) conducted a longitudinal survey in a primary school in Anhui province, China to investigate the seasonal distribution, annual infection rate, and factors influencing infection by E. liliputanus. Infection with this echinostome in children reached a peak in autumn, particularly in September and October. The main reason for this seasonal distribution was that children drank untreated water from local ponds where E. liliputanus cercariae occurred. There was a significant correlation between E. liliputanus infection rate and the rate, frequency, and quantity of untreated water consumption. The annual infection rate of the echinostome in children was 31.9%.

#### 3.3. Experimental Studies on E. liliputanus

Because of the importance of this echinostome as a waterborne infective agent, some basic experimental work has been done on this organism. Thus, Wu *et al.* (1997) used scanning electron microscopy (SEM) to examine the tegument of adults obtained from experimentally infected dogs. Most of the body surface is covered with spines except for the collar, acetabulum, and the posterior aspect of the body. There are three types of papillae on the tegument: two types of papillae are ciliate and the third type is aciliate. The acetabulum has 32 protruded aciliate papillae. Knowledge of the ultrastructure of the tegument of *E. liliputanus* may be of taxonomic significance in distinguishing this medically important species of *Echinochasmus* from other closely related species.

Xiao et al. (2000) provided basic information on the cercariae of E. liliputanus obtained from infected B. aeruginosa (Viviparidae) snails. Daughter rediae of this echinostome species were able to produce enormous numbers of cercariae. For instance, in October with a mean temperature of 23°C, average cercarial release was 209200 cercariae daily per snail. Under natural conditions, the release of cercariae from snails showed a typical diurnal pattern with cercariae being shed mainly between 08:00 and 16:00 h with a significant peak between 10:00 and 12:00 h and no cercariae were released at night. The main factors affecting the emergence of cercariae were temperature and light. Cercariae were phototactic and the newly shed cercariae tended to remain at the water surface. Survival and infectivity data of these cercariae at different temperatures were also reported. As in other studies on digeneans, cercarial longevity exceeded the period of infectivity at a given temperature. Xiao et al. (2006) examined the in vivo and in vitro encystment of cercariae of E. liliputanus and also reported on the biological activity of the metacercariae. In vivo encystment occurred in the gills of goldfish, a second intermediate host for this echinostome. The cercariae also encysted in various dilutions of Locke's solution, NaCl solutions, artificial gastric juice, and human gastric juice. In vitro formed cysts were capable of excysting when treated with a bile salt medium. Cysts formed in vitro and *in vivo* were both capable of infecting experimental rabbit hosts. The authors concluded that the finding of E. liliputanus cercariae encysting in vitro, especially in human gastric juice, might be helpful in elucidating mechanisms of the definitive host that allow for direct infection by the cercariae.

## 4. PHILOPHTHALMIDS (EYE FLUKES)

#### 4.1. Introduction

Philophthalmid eye flukes may be considered waterborne trematodes (WBT) transmitted to the human eye by direct contact with cercariae

or metacercariae of a species of *Philophthalmus* in fresh or salt water. Probably, the usual mode of transmission of philophthalmid eye flukes to birds is by the oral route. Birds presumably ingest encysted metacercariae contained on the surfaces of objects, i.e., the shells of mollusks or crustaceans and the encysted metacercariae excyst in the oral cavity, aided by the warmth in the mouth; excysted metacercariae then migrate to the eye via the median slit and nasolacrimal canals. There is the possibility that some humans with a defective dorsal pallet can be infected by transmission of larval to stages via an opening in the dorsal pallet that connects to the nasal–lacrinal canals; the eye fluke larvae would then migrate to the orbit, probably the conjunctiva, where maturation from larva to adult would occur. Definitive evidence for this latter mode of transmission in humans is lacking.

This review examines significant studies on the biology of philophthalmids with coverage mainly from 1995 to 2005. The review on the taxonomy and biology of philophthalmids by Nollen and Kanev (1995) serves as background for our work. Significant articles earlier than 1995, but not cited in Nollen and Kanev (1995), are also included herein. Our coverage is in reverse chronological order and considers studies from about 1993 to 2005 on the biology, transmission, life cycles, epidemiology, and experimental studies of eye flukes in the genus *Philophthalmus*. Emphasis in the review is on human philophthalmosis, but we also consider studies on eye fluke diseases in non-human mammals and birds. Molecular biology studies on philophthalmid eye flukes are not available and therefore there is no coverage of this topic.

## 4.2. Biological Studies

Mukaratirwa *et al.* (2005) described a field outbreak of the oriental eye fluke, *Philophthalmus gralli*, in 17 commercially reared ostriches, *Struthio camelus*, in Zimbabwe. The ostriches had swollen eyes, severe conjunctivitis, and constant tears with a purulent exudate. Some birds were almost blind and showed severe loss of body condition. The eye flukes, attached to the nictitating membranes and conjunctival sacs of both eyes, were identified as *P. gralli*. The freshwater prosobranch snail, *Melanoides tuberculata*, was identified as the snail intermediate host based on natural and experimental infections. This was the first

report of *P. gralli* in birds in Zimbabwe and Africa and extends the known geographical range of this species.

Pinto *et al.* (2005) described the pathology and natural infection of *P. lachrymosus* in a non-human mammalian host. There are no reports of this eye fluke in humans, and information on any philophthalmid in non-human mammalian hosts is sparse. This report, concerned with philophthalmosis in two naturally infected capybaras, *Hydrochaeus hydrochaeris*, in Brazil, described the clinical signs, and gross and microscopic lesions in the eyes of these hosts; the study also provided new morphometric data on adults of *P. lachrymosus*.

Dailey *et al.* (2005) described a new philophthalmid, *Philophthalmus zalophi*, from the eyes of pinnepids, *Zalophus wollebaeki*, in the Galapagos Islands, Ecuador. This marine species differed from the four other described marine species (*P. andersoni*, *P. hegeneri*, *P. burrilli*, and *P. larsoni*) based on the mammalian host, large body size, lack of tegumental spines, and other morphometric features.

Abdul-Salam *et al.* (2004) described the cercariae of *P. hegeneri* from Kuwait Bay (Kuwait) in the marine snail *Cerithium scabridum*. Infected snails released megalurous cecariae, which produced the characteristic flask-shaped cysts described by Penner and Fried (1963) for *P. hegeneri*. Adult philophthalmids were recovered from the orbit of domestic ducks experimentally infected with excysted metacercariae. The study of Abdul-Salam *et al.* (2004) extended the range of *P. hegeneri* to Kuwait. Previous reports of this marine eye fluke by Penner and Fried (1963) were based on natural and experimental infections of various avian hosts in the Gulf of Mexico (FL, USA); the snail vector for *P. hegeneri* was from naturally infected marine snails, *Batillaria minima*, also from the Gulf of Mexico.

Urabe (2005) described a megalurous cercaria in the genus *Philoph-thalmus* from the freshwater snail, *Semisulcospira libertine*, in Kyushi, Japan. This was the first record of a philophthalmid cercaria from East Asia and from snails in the genus *Semisulcopira*.

Rathinam *et al.* (2002) described a presumed trematode-induced granulomatous anterior uveitis as a cause of intraocular inflammation in children from South India. The affected children had a history of bathing and swimming in local ponds and rivers. It was presumed, but not proven, that the infection was caused by a waterborne, infectious agent, possibly a philophthalmid.

Lamothe-Argumedo *et al.* (2003) reported the first case in Mexico of conjunctivitis in the human eye caused by the avian eye fluke, *Philoph-thalmus lacrymosus*. The patient, a 31-year-old male, visited an ophthalmologist in Sinaloa, Mexico because of a foreign body sensation in his left eye for 2 months. An eye fluke was removed surgically under local anesthesia from the connective tissue of the bulbar conjunctiva and the fluke was identified by morphological means as *P. lacrymosus*. Diaz *et al.* (2002) completed the life cycle of *P. gralli* in experimentally infected domestic chicks from larval stages found in *M. tuberculata* snails from freshwater streams in Sucre State, Venezuela. Their report provided a new geographical record for this species.

Dimitrov *et al.* (2000) described argentophilic structures in miracidia and cercariae of *Philophthalmus distomatosa* n. comb. The epidermal plate arrangement of most miracidia conformed to the formula 6:8:4:2 = 20. The distribution of tegumentary papillae on the cephalic and periaceablular body regions and the tail of the cercariae were given. The authors discussed the potential use of both miracidial and cercarial papillae patterns in identifying valid species of *Philophthalmus*.

Radev *et al.* (2000) studied the biology and life cycle of an eye fluke from larval stages in the freshwater snail *M. tuberculata* in Israel based on comparisons of the life cycle stage of the Israeli species with numerous philophthalmids from many parts of the world; the authors described the species from Israel as *P. distomatosa* n. comb.

Radev *et al.* (1999) identified *Philophthalmus lucipetus* from larval stages of a philophthalmid from *Melanopsis praemorsa* snails collected in Israel. The work included extensive studies on natural and lab-reared infections with larval and adult stages of this eye fluke.

Lang *et al.* (1993) reported the first instance of human philophthalmosis in Israel, based on conjunctivitis caused by a *Philophthalmus palperbrarum* adult in a 13-year-old Israeli girl. A single mature worm was detected on the palpebral conjunctiva of the upper eyelid of the right eye. Removal of the worm resulted in a cessation of the ocular symptoms.

Munizpereira and Amato (1993) reported the occurrence of *P. gralli* from the white-cheeked pintail duck, *Anas bahamensis*, and the Brazilian duck, *Amazonetta grasilieassis*, from lagoons in Marica County, Rio-de Janero, Brazil. This was the first record of a species of

eye fluke in the Neotropical region and both species of ducks were new hosts for *P. gralli*.

#### 4.3. Experimental Studies

As reviewed by Nollen and Kanev (1995) philophthalmid eye flukes have provided useful models for various experimental studies on digeneans including work on chemoattraction of larval and adult stages, wound healing of adults, *in vitro* and *in vivo* cultivation of larval and adult stages and studies on the reproductive biology within and between species of philophthalmids. For detailed coverage of these topics, the reader is referred to Nollen and Kanev (1995). Two additional experimental studies after the review are listed below.

Radev et al. (1998a, b) used light microscopy to study the "socalled" body spines of adults of P. hegeneri and P. lucipetus obtained experimentally from the eyes of domestic chicks. The authors described four types of body spines based on light microscopy, but were cautioned that more detailed descriptions of these species by electron microscopy were needed. In a follow-up study using P. lucipetus, Radev et al. (1998a) used light and electron microscopy to study the body spines of *P. lucipetus* during maturation of this fluke in the eye cavity of bird hosts. Light microscopy showed long and thin spinelike structures clearly visible in young worms (up to 10 days olds), but absent in most of the older worms. Observations with electron microscopy showed that what were thought to be tegumentary spines were in fact papilla-like structures. It was concluded that the so-called body spines of *P. lucipetus* are different from the true tegumentary spines of echinostomatid-like digeneans that live in the intestine. The question of tegumentary papillae versus tegumentary spines in most species of philophthalmids needs more work.

#### 5. HUMAN WATERBORNE PROTOZOAN PARASITES

*Cryptosporidium, Giardia, Cyclospora, Toxoplasma*, and humaninfective microsporidia (e.g., *Encephalitozoon intestinalis, Encephalitozoon hellem, Encephalitozoon cuniculi*, and *Enterocytozoon bieneusi*) are human enteric parasites in which transmission is associated with water (Wolfe, 1992; Ortega et al., 1993; Graczyk et al., 1997a; Lindsay et al., 2001; Weiss, 2001). Cryptosporidium, Giardia, Cyclospora, and Toxoplasma are protozoan enteropathogens, and recent genetic information indicates that microsporidia are closely related to fungi (Weiss, 2001). All aforementioned parasites inflict considerable morbidity in immunocompetent people. Medically, the most important is Cryptosporidium as it significantly contributes to the mortality of people with impaired immune systems due to the lack of effective prophylaxis or therapy (Blagburn and Soave, 1997). Mortality rates due to Cryptosporidium among these individuals vary from 52% to 68% (Rose, 1997). The infectious dose of Cryptosporidium for immunosuppressed people has not been established, but it is believed that the disease can be caused by a single parasite cell (Rose, 1997). Although Giardia lamblia (syn. G. intestinalis, G. duodenalis) and Cyclospora cayetanensis cause serious diarrheal illness in adults and children worldwide (Pozio, 2003), the infections usually respond well to pharmacological treatment (Wolfe, 1992; Ortega et al., 1993; Mansfield and Gajadhar, 2004). Toxoplasma gondii infections are life-threatening to persons with severely weakened immune systems, such as individuals with HIV/AIDS, those taking certain types of chemotherapy, and those who have recently received an organ transplant (Arkush et al., 2003; Bonfioli and Orefice, 2005). Toxoplasma infections are also life-threatening to infants born to mothers who became infected for the first time during or just before pregnancy. Several pharmacological options are available for treatment of toxoplasmosis (Bonfioli and Orefice, 2005). Human-infective microsporidia cause serious illness in immunodeficient patients; however, they also respond well to pharmacological treatment (Weiss, 2001). Cryptosporidium parvum, G. lamblia, T. gondii, and human-infective microsporidia are anthropozoonotic pathogens (Wolfe, 1992; Graczyk et al., 1997a; Lindsay et al., 2001), and no zoonotic reservoir has been revealed for C. cayetanensis despite considerable efforts worldwide (Ortega et al., 1993; Mansfield and Gajadhar, 2004). Clinical infections of C. parvum are mainly confined to calves, which can shed up to  $10^6$  oocysts per g of their feces, and exceed  $10^9$  oocysts in daily output (Anderson, 1981). As many as 10<sup>6</sup> C. parvum oocysts can be found in human diarrhetic feces (Rose, 1997). All aforementioned

parasites produce a robust, long-lasting, and environmentally resistant transmissive infectious stage, the oocyst (i.e., *Cryptosporidium, Cyclospora, and Toxoplasma*), the cyst (i.e., *Giardia*), and the spore (i.e., microsporidia), which can be effectively and efficiently transmitted via water (Wolfe, 1992; Ortega *et al.*, 1993; Graczyk *et al.*, 1997a; Lindsay *et al.*, 2001). Therefore, transmissive stages of these parasites are ubiquitous in the environment (Wolfe, 1992; Rose *et al.*, 1997; Kucerova-Pospisilova *et al.*, 1999) and pollute surface waters via point sources of contamination such as wastewater discharges, leaky septic tanks, urban runoff, recreational activities, and agricultural runoff predominantly from livestock operations (Graczyk *et al.*, 2000a, b).

#### 6. THE ORGANISMS

#### 6.1. Cryptosporidium

Parasites of the genus Cryptosporidium are cyst-forming protozoons, which have a monogenous life cycle and inhabit epithelial cells of the gastrointestinal or respiratory tracts (Fayer et al., 1997). Of approximately11 valid species infecting all vertebrate groups, two species, C. parvum and C. hominis, represent a global public health problem (Morgan-Ryan et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2005). The only exogenous stage, the oocyst, is long-lived and resistant to standard water disinfection (Graczyk et al., 1997a). As a result, Cryptosporidium has caused massive epidemics and has become recognized as the most important water biological contaminant in the USA (Rose et al., 2002; Gupta and Hass, 2004; Eisenberg et al., 2005). Waterborne transmission is facilitated by the small size of the oocyst  $(3.5-5.0 \,\mu\text{m})$ , sub-optimal processing at water-treatment facilities, chlorine resistance, and long-lasting infectivity of the oocysts in the environment (Graczyk et al., 1997a). Approximately 1 week after ingestion of oocysts, severe chronic or self-limiting diarrheal disease may result depending on a person's immune status (Fayer et al., 1997). As few as 10 oocysts initiated infection in a dose-response study involving immunocompetent humans (Okhuysen et al., 1999, 2004). Over one

billion oocysts can be excreted daily in diarrheal stools (up to 30 bowel motions, totaling 3 L/day) by an immunodeficient person (Blagburn and Soave, 1997). Persons at greatest risk are young children and immunocompromised and immunosuppressed individuals (Graczyk et al., 1997a). The pathogen significantly contributes to mortality of AIDS patients; extraintestinal infections in the pancreas, gallbladder, bile ducts, and even the lungs has been observed in such patients (Fayer et al., 1997). The oocysts can remain viable when exposed to temperatures as low as -22 °C, remain infectious for up to 12 months in an aqueous suspension at 4 °C, resist the lethal effects of chlorine and chloramine used in drinking water disinfection, and can survive contact with commonly used flocculents, e.g., alum, ferric sulfate, and lime (Rose et al., 1997). The oocysts remain viable after an 18h exposure at 4°C to 3% sodium hypochlorite (Rose et al., 1997). In immunocompetent (healthy) people, the  $ID_{50}$  is 132 oocysts (Chappell et al., 1999). Symptoms of cryptosporidiosis include profuse, watery diarrhea, abdominal cramping, nausea, vomiting, anorexia, low-grade fever, and headache. In young malnourished children, Cryptosporidium infections can last longer than 3 weeks (Okhuysen et al., 1999, 2004).

Crvptosporidium oocysts are continuously (as distinct from intermittently) prevalent in surface waters (Rose et al., 1997) in which the prevalence of positive samples varies from 6% to 100% with oocyst concentrations of 0.003 to 5800 oocyst/L, respectively (Rose et al., 1997). Adverse weather conditions such as heavy rains, snow melts, and floods wash oocysts from land areas into surface waters, elevate turbidity, cause sewage overflow, and increase urban and agricultural runoff resulting in water contamination (Graczyk et al., 2000a, b). Although molecular techniques have demonstrated differences among Cryptosporidium species and genotypes, no methods to speciate waterborne oocysts at a water-treatment facility have been adopted (Graczyk et al., 1997a). Assessment of infectivity of oocysts recovered from treated drinking water would be invaluable in providing accurate information facilitating communication of health officials with waterplant managers (Arnone and Walling, 2006).

#### 6.1.1. Historical Prospective on Waterborne Cryptosporidiosis

Cryptosporidium was known to parasitologists long before human cryptosporidiosis emerged as a global problem. The zoonotic potential of C. parvum raised early concerns that large concentrations of domestic animals, particularly dairy farms and cattle grazing lands and pastures, were possible sources for waterborne oocyst (Lisle and Rose, 1995). Concern of environmental contamination by cattle feces increased when cider from fallen apples collected in a pasture caused outbreak of cryptosporidiosis (Fayer et al., 1997). Agricultural, sewage waste and discharges, and urban runoff have become recognized as potential sources of water contamination (Lisle and Rose, 1995). Consequently, current watershed protection programs include elimination of human activity from the area of water catchment (Lisle and Rose, 1995). Surprisingly, waters from the protected watersheds have been found to be contaminated at similar levels to waters from unprotected or industrially impacted areas (Rose et al., 1997), raising the concern that environmental factors contributing to the contamination may not be fully recognized (Lisle and Rose, 1995). Wildlife, particularly large game-animals, was postulated as a potential factor contributing to water contamination (Hansen and Ongerth, 1991). Currently, mammalian wildlife is recognized as a significant source of waterborne Cryptosporidium oocysts in a watershed (Macpherson, 2005).

# 6.1.2. Cryptosporidium in Recreational, Drinking, and Surface Waters

*Cryptosporidium* is the most frequent etiologic agent identified in recreational waters in the United States (Craun *et al.*, 2005). Outbreaks caused by *Cryptosporidium* are primarily associated with treated waters in swimming and wading pools, and the important sources of contamination for both treated and untreated recreational waters are the bathers themselves (Craun *et al.*, 2005). Contamination from sewage discharges and wild or domestic animals are important contamination sources for untreated waters (Craun *et al.*, 2005). Factors contributing to swimming pool-related outbreaks include inadequate attention to maintenance, operation, disinfection, and filtration (Craun *et al.*, 2005). Most of the outbreaks of *Cryptosporidium* in drinking water were associated with semi-public water systems, followed by public and private water systems (Schuster *et al.*, 2005). Severe weather conditions, close proximity to animal populations, treatment system malfunctions, and poor maintenance and treatment practices were associated with reported *Cryptosporidium* outbreaks in drinking water (Schuster *et al.*, 2005).

Monitoring of the water samples from 14 states of the USA and one Canadian province showed that Cryptosporidium oocysts were found in 87% of the 85 raw surface water samples with the geometric mean of 2.70 oocysts/L (Rose et al., 1997). All of the river water samples contained Cryptosporidium oocysts (Rose et al., 1997). In 97% of 85 samples, either Giardia spp. cysts or Cryptosporidium oocysts were found with Cryptosporidium being about 1.5 times more numerous than Giardia spp. (Rose et al., 1997). Testing of river water in Washington State and California (USA) showed 100% positivity for Cryptosporidium oocysts; the oocyst concentrations varied from two to 112 oocysts/L with a mean of 25.1 oocysts/L (Rose et al., 1997). The other study that examined two rivers (Snoqualmie and Cedar) in Washington State showed that 34 of the 35 samples (97%) were positive for Cryptosporidium with oocysts concentrations ranging from 0.15 to 63.5 oocysts/L (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). Although Cryptosporidium oocysts were present in the Cedar river (considered as pristine), the oocyst concentrations were nearly 10 times lower than those in the Snoqualmie River (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). The highest concentrations were found in samples taken farthest downstream on the Snoqualmie River, below numerous dairy farms (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). Cryptosporidium oocysts were found consistently over the 3-month study period, leading to the conclusion that Cryptosporidium does not appear intermittently, but rather is present continuously (Graczyk et al., 1997a), and that seasonal factors such as runoff of land drainage, affect oocyst concentrations (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). In other studies, 77% of 107 samples taken from surface waters in Arizona, California, Colorado, Oregon, Texas, and Utah (USA) contained Cryptosporidium oocysts with the mean concentration within the limits of 0.91-0.94 oocysts/L (Rose et al., 1997). Higher oocyst concentrations were found in waters receiving sewage effluents
(Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). In studies conducted in 17 states of the USA, 55% of 257 water samples contained Cryptosporidium oocysts with an average concentration of 0.43 oocysts/L (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). Higher concentrations of oocysts were found in polluted waters; the oocyst concentrations were 11 times greater in polluted lakes as opposed to pristine lakes (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). Polluted rivers contained 2.2 times greater concentrations of Cryptosporidium oocysts over their pristine counterparts. Although the differences between pristine and polluted lakes was greater than the difference between pristine and polluted rivers, rivers demonstrated higher peaks of oocyst concentrations (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). Polluted rivers contained approximately four times greater oocyst concentrations when compared to polluted lake waters (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). In addition, concentrations of Cryptosporidium oocysts were compared with concentrations of Giardia spp. cysts in the same samples. On average, Cryptosporidium oocyst concentrations were 10-100-fold greater than concentration of Giardia spp. cysts (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). Although Cryptosporidium oocysts were found in greater numbers than Giardia spp. cysts, their levels were found to be significantly correlated (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). In the study conducted in Canada, 4.5% of 1173 water samples collected from 72 municipalities across the country contained Cryptosporidium oocysts (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). In Yukon (Canada), 5% of 63 samples were positive for Cryptosporidium oocysts (Pan and Graczyk, 1997).

The 1993 outbreak of cryptosporidiosis in Milwaukee (WI, USA) affected over 403 000 people out of a population of approximately 800 000 (Gupta and Hass, 2004; Eisenberg *et al.*, 2005). At least 100 deaths are attributed to the outbreak, most of whom were HIV-positive (Gupta and Hass, 2004; Eisenberg *et al.*, 2005). The source of the outbreak was traced to one of two water treatment plants that drew its water from Lake Michigan at a point 42 ft [13 m] below the water's surface. Suggested sources of oocyst contamination of the raw water supply included a wastewater discharge (Gupta and Hass, 2004; Eisenberg *et al.*, 2005).

#### 6.2. Giardia spp.

Giardia spp. are flagellated protozoan parasites of vertebrates; their infectious stage, the cyst, is transmitted via the fecal-oral route and frequently via water (Wolfe, 1992). The genus Giardia has been divided into three morphological types: G. duodenalis (= lamblia, intestinalis), G. muris, and G. agilis (Thompson et al., 1993). Giardia duodenalis and G. muris have been reported from mammals and birds (Thompson et al., 1993). In the wild, a wide variety of aquatic and semi-aquatic mammals can be a source of waterborne Giardia cysts (Erlandsen and Bemrick, 1988). Giardiasis is one of the most common protozoan intestinal zoonotic diseases. The pathogen is the most frequently identified etiologic agent of waterborne and foodborne outbreaks of intestinal illnesses worldwide (Wolfe, 1992). Over 44% of the outbreaks in which Giardia was identified as an etiologic agent were foodborne, versus 30% and 26% drinking and recreational water-related epidemics, respectively (Graczyk et al., 1999b; Mead et al., 1999). The zoonotic reservoirs for waterborne cysts include aquatic and semi-aquatic mammals, e.g., beavers and muskrats, small rodents, and wild or domestic mammals (Monzingo and Hibler, 1987). Contamination of surface waters is enhanced by adverse weather conditions, which carry cysts from fields containing feces of livestock and wildlife, and cause sewage and waste-related water contamination (Graczyk et al., 1999b). Human infections manifested by a transient or persistent acute steatorrhea, or intermittent acute diarrhea and abdominal cramps, malabsorption, nausea, abdominal distention, malodorous flatulence, and occasional vomiting are associated with weight loss (Wolfe, 1992). Giardia infections can be generated by as few as 10 waterborne cysts (Wolfe, 1992). Giardiasis has a median prepatent period of 14 days, the median incubation time of 8 days, and infections are usually self-limiting. Treatment includes quinacrine, metronidazole, tinidazole, or furazolidone (Wolfe, 1992).

*Giardia* cysts can remain viable in surface water for approximately 2 months (deRegnier *et al.*, 1998). In the water, these cysts gravitate to the bottom of the reservoir and are more easily found in the sediment than in the water (deRegnier *et al.*, 1998). Also, sedimentation is

the most efficient procedure for the removal of *Giardia* cysts during drinking water treatment (Rose *et al.*, 1997). A long-term (over 14 months) ecological investigation demonstrated that *Giardia* sp. cysts originating from beaver and muskrat colonies settled rapidly to the bottom of slow-moving water reservoirs and contaminated the sediment (Monzingo and Hibler, 1987).

Studies on giardiasis in a variety of birds suggest they may be zoonotic reservoirs (Upcroft et al., 1997); however, these indications have not been substantiated. As reviewed by Hopkins et al. (1997), numerous studies demonstrated genetic and antigenic similarities among Giardia cyst isolates from humans and other mammalian hosts. Identification of the genotype of Giardia directly from cysts appears to be the most reliable means to demonstrate zoonotic transmission (Hopkins et al., 1997; Issac-Renton et al., 1997). Genotyping characterization of G. duodenalis from cyst samples originating from a human waterborne outbreak was identical to the genotype of cysts derived from beavers living in the same epidemic locality (Issac-Renton et al., 1997). For studying the epidemiology of giardiasis, a PCR-based method for genotyping Giardia isolates directly from cysts appears to be most successful to differentiate genotypes of the parasites (Hopkins et al., 1997). This molecular identification does not require cultivation to increase the number of organisms and can be applied directly to the cysts recovered from environmental sources (Hopkins et al., 1997). Current data on Giardia do not support the traditional view that numerous, highly host-specific Giardia species exist (Hopkins et al., 1997; Issac-Renton et al., 1997), but rather indicate the existence of a limited number of species. Of these, G. duodenalis exhibits considerable intraspecific variability with a number of genotypes, some of which are not rigidly host-specific (Hopkins et al., 1997; Issac-Renton et al., 1997).

#### 6.2.1. Giardia spp. in Recreational, Drinking, and Surface Waters

*Giardia* is a one of the most frequent biological contaminant reported from recreational and drinking waters (Craun *et al.*, 2005; Schuster *et al.*, 2005). Close proximity to domestic livestock populations and inadequate attention to maintenance, operation, disinfection, and

filtration were main factors contributing to contamination of water in swimming pools (Craun *et al.*, 2005). Deficiencies related to drinking water productions were predominant reasons for presence of *Giardia* cysts in finished drinking water (Schuster *et al.*, 2005).

Giardia is considered to be a problem in waters that received sewage, agricultural or industrial runoff (Rose et al., 1997). Higher cyst concentrations are found in human-impacted surface waters, consistent levels of cysts are also being found in waters considered as pristine (Rose et al., 1997). In the study that examined 66 surface water sources for treatment plants in 14 states of the USA and one Canadian province, Giardia spp. cysts were found in 81.2% of the samples (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). The cyst concentration ranged from 0.04 to 66 cysts/L, with a geometric mean of 2.77 cysts/L (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). While these numbers may seem high, examination of the cysts for a possible viable morphology showed that only 12.8% resembled viable pathogen types (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). This study also concluded that higher cyst concentrations were found in waters that received industrial or sewage effluents (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). In another study of water samples from 17 states of the USA, Giardia spp. cysts were found in only 16% of the samples (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). The presence of Giardia spp. cysts was compared in two rivers in Washington state (USA) (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). One of the river, the Hoh River, is heavily visited by tourists and contains many recreational facilities. The other, the Queets River, sees 10 times less human usage. Concentration of 0.15 cysts/L was found in Hoh River, while concentration of only 0.05 cysts/L was found for the Queets River (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). On the basis of these data, it was concluded that concentrations of Giardia spp. cysts of 0.05 cysts/L can be expected in relatively pristine rivers (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). Another study examined three pristine rivers in Washington state (USA) and found Giardia spp. cysts in 43% of the 222 samples; cyst concentration ranged from 0.1 to 5.2 cysts/L. The conclusion reached by the authors stated that Giardia spp. cysts are continuously present in pristine waters at low concentrations (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). In another study that examined remote pristine surface water sources in the Yukon (Canada), Giardia

spp. cysts were found in 32% of 22 samples (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). In this study, animal scats in the watersheds of these water sources were also examined and 21% of them contained Giardia spp. cysts (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). The animals that were harboring the cysts included beavers, coyotes, sheep, grizzly bears, muskrats, and wolves (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). Another study conducted in Canada sampled water from 72 municipalities across the country (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). Giardia spp. cysts were found in 21% of the raw water samples (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). Concentrations tended to be low, with most samples containing fewer than 2 cysts/100 L (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). High Giardia spp. cyst concentrations were found during an outbreak in Ontario (Canada) (230 cysts/100 L). Although Giardia spp. cysts were found in samples collected throughout the year, the incidence and concentration tended to be higher during the late winter-early spring and fall (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). The study that examined the prevalence of Giardia spp. cysts in two watersheds in British Columbia (Canada) showed that the pathogen was present in 100% of the water samples (Pan and Graczyk, 1997). These two watersheds serviced communities that are active in cattle ranching. Cyst concentrations ranged from 0.006 to 22.15 cysts/L (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). The concentrations of Giardia spp. cysts were also found to be higher downstream of cattle ranches, with a peak coinciding with calving activity, implicating cattle ranching as a main factor for water contamination (Pan and Graczyk, 1997; Rose et al., 1997). Giardia spp. cysts are ubiquitous in surface waters, both pristine and those impacted by human activity. While water sources that are industrially or agriculturally impacted show higher concentrations of Giardia spp. cysts, pristine water still consistently demonstrated low cyst concentration.

#### 6.3. Cyclospora

*C. cayetanensis* is an intestinal coccidian protozoon that causes prolonged diarrheal illness in adults and children worldwide (Ortega *et al.*, 1993; Madico *et al.*, 1997). *Cyclospora* infects the small intestine and usually causes watery diarrhea, with frequent, sometimes explosive,

bowel movements (Mansfield and Gajadhar, 2004). Other symptoms can include loss of appetite, substantial loss of weight, bloating, increased gas, stomach cramps, nausea, vomiting, muscle aches, lowgrade fever, and fatigue (Mansfield and Gajadhar, 2004). However, some people who are infected with Cyclospora do not have any symptoms, and can spread this pathogen to other persons (Mansfield and Gajadhar, 2004). People of all ages are at risk for infection. In the past, Cyclospora infection was usually found in people who lived or traveled in developing countries. However, nowadays the infection is found worldwide. The recommended treatment for infection with Cyclospora is a combination of two antibiotics, trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, also known as Bactrim, Septra, or Cotrim (Madico et al., 1997; Mansfield and Gajadhar, 2004). People who have diarrhea should rest and drink plenty of fluids. Avoiding water or food that may be contaminated with stool may help prevent Cyclospora infection. People who have previously been infected with Cyclospora can become infected again.

Waterborne transmission of *C. cayetanensis* is believed to be the main mode of transmission (Ortega *et al.*, 1993; Graczyk *et al.*, 1998); however, with the exception of one confirmed drinking water outbreak, it remains epidemiologically unproven (Graczyk *et al.*, 1998; Mansfield and Gajadhar, 2004). The outbreaks of cyclosporiasis epidemiologically linked to contamination of berries or vegetables have been consequently classified as foodborne, although contamination of field watering systems with the oocysts was suggested (Mansfield and Gajadhar, 2004). Epidemiological circumstances presented in the cases, outbreaks, or non-outbreak settings of *C. cayetanensis* infections, together with the prolonged pathogen sporulation period, strongly indicate waterborne transmission of the oocysts (Mansfield and Gajadhar, 2004).

#### 6.4. Toxoplasma gondii

*T. gondii* causes a disease known as toxoplasmosis. While the parasite is found throughout the world, more than 60 million people in the United States may be infected with this parasite (Dawson, 2005). Of

those who are infected, very few have symptoms because a healthy person's immune system usually keeps the parasite from causing illness (Dawson, 2005). However, *Toxoplasma* infection could cause serious health problems for pregnant women and individuals who have compromised immune systems. Infections are acquired via ingestion of oocysts originating from cat feces (Lindsay *et al.*, 2001). This might happen accidentally when the hands touch the mouth after gardening, after cleaning a cat's litter box, or after touching anything that has come into contact with cat feces. Toxoplasmosis can also be acquired via eating contaminated raw or partly cooked meat, especially pork, lamb, or venison, or drinking water contaminated with the oocysts (Arkush *et al.*, 2003; Sroka *et al.*, 2006).

Most people who become infected with *Toxoplasma* are not aware of it (Dawson, 2005). Some people who have toxoplasmosis may feel as if they have the "flu" with swollen lymph glands or muscle aches and pains that last for a month or more. Severe toxoplasmosis, causing damage to the brain, eyes, or other organs, can develop from an acute *Toxoplasma* infection or one that had occurred earlier in life and is now reactivated. Severe cases are more likely in individuals who have weak immune systems, though occasionally, even persons with healthy immune systems may experience eye damage from toxoplasmosis (Dawson, 2005). Most infants who are infected while still in the womb have no symptoms at birth, but they may develop symptoms later in life. A small percentage of infected newborns have serious eye or brain damage at birth (Dawson, 2005; Bonfioli and Orefice, 2005).

#### 6.5. Microsporidia

Microsporidia are obligate intracellular parasites that are emerging opportunistic pathogens among both immunocompromised and immunocompetent people (Weiss, 2001). Microsporidia are on the Contaminant Candidate List of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency because their transmission routes are unknown, spore identification, removal, or inactivation in drinking water is technologically challenging (Nwachcuku and Gerba, 2004), and human infections are difficult to treat (Weiss, 2001). Considerable evidence gathered to date indicates involvement of water in the epidemiology of human microsporidiosis (Slodkowicz-Kowalska *et al.*, 2006); however, this epidemiological link has not been conclusively substantiated. Identification of microsporidian spores of species known to infect humans (i.e., *Encephalitozoon intestinalis, E. hellem, E. cuniculi,* and *Enterocytozoon bieneusi*) represents a challenge because microsporidia can infect a variety of non-human hosts, and spore morphology is insufficient for species identification (Weiss, 2001).

Human microsporidiosis is a serious disease, which currently occurs more frequently than in the past in immunocompetent and immunosuppressed people with the most common species identified as *E. intestinalis, E. cuniculi, E. hellem*, and *E. bieneusi* (Weiss, 2001). Besides the frequent intestinal infections, extraintestinal infections (e.g., urinary, respiratory, disseminated systemic infections, sinusitis, otitis, keratoconjunctivitis) are common (Kotler and Orenstein, 1999; Weiss, 2001). Despite the advances in molecular technology, most epidemiological aspects of human microsporidiosis, particularly transmission cycles, remain unresolved (Weiss, 2001). Zoonotic (i.e., understood as a result of direct-contact exposure) and foodborne and waterborne transmissions are generally postulated to be predominant (Deplazes *et al.*, 1996; Breitenmoser *et al.*, 1999; Rinder *et al.*, 2000; Weiss, 2001; Graczyk *et al.*, 2002; Slodkowicz-Kowalska *et al.*, 2006).

#### 7. DETECTION METHODS FOR HUMAN WATERBORNE PROTOZOAN PARASITES

# 7.1. The American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) Method

The ASTM method was first described as a protocol for the detection of *Giardia* spp. cysts, but it was later adapted for use with both *Giardia* spp. cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts (Graczyk *et al.*, 1997b, c). The method involves three stages: sampling, concentration and purification, and identification and enumeration. The sampling utilizes polypropylene yarn-wound cartridge filters with a 1.0  $\mu$ m nominal pore size and sample volumes range from 100 to 4001 (Graczyk *et al.*, 1997b, c). Further processing involves cutting the filter fibers, removing the fibers from the cartridge core, and eluting the entrapped particles in 3–4 L of eluting solution. The fluid is concentrated by centrifugation, the pellet resuspended in an equal volume of 10% formalin (Graczyk *et al.*, 1997b, c), and the cysts and oocysts separated from debris by centrifugation, and detected by immunofluorescent antibody (IFA).

## 7.2. The Alternate Method (AM)

The AM utilizes a 401 water sample passed through a 2.0  $\mu$ m pore polycarbonate membrane filter of 293 mm diameter. After the sample is passed under vacuum, the filter is rinsed with a 0.01% Tween 80 solution and scraped with a small rubber squeegee to remove the cysts and oocysts. The washing solution containing the cysts and oocysts is centrifuged and decanted to 10% of its original volume (Graczyk *et al.*, 1997b, c). The pellet is resuspended and processed by Percoll gradients; *Giardia* spp. cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts are then detected by IFA.

## 7.3. Information Collection Rule (ICR) Method

Sampling for this method involves concentrating large volume samples using nominal 1  $\mu$ m pore size cartridge filters. Laboratory processing includes eluting the particulates from the filter and concentrating the eluant suspension by centrifugation. A Percoll–sucrose flotation procedure is used to separate the biological and non-biological particulates and a portion of the floated material is stained with IFA to enhance the detection of *Giardia* and *Cryptosporidium* under fluorescent microscopy. Numerous methodological shortcomings of this procedure have been identified, including the use of a nominal 1  $\mu$ m filter; losses associated with the elution, concentration, and purification steps; the subjective nature of microscopic examination; and the lack of viability and infectivity data it yields (Rose *et al.*, 1997).

#### 7.4. The Cellulose Acetate Membrane (CAM)-Filter Dissolution Method

This method is unique in that the filter washing steps in the AM and ASTM method are replaced by the dissolution of the entire membrane filter (Graczyk et al., 1997b, c). This prevents any losses during the washing steps (Graczyk et al., 1997b, c). The method is optimized for the detection of Giardia cysts and Cryptosporidium oocysts in drinking water. The sampling step of this method begins with the filtration of up to 3001 sample through a 1.2 µm pore cellulose acetate membrane filter (Graczyk et al., 1997b, c). The filter is dissolved in acetone and centrifuged. The pellet is subsequently washed with 95% ethanol, 75% ethanol, and water (Graczyk et al., 1997b, c). The rest of the protocol follows the ASTM method (Graczyk et al., 1997b, c). The use of this method has shown recovery rates as high as 70.5% and 77.8% for Cryptosporidium oocysts, which is a vast improvement over the previous methods (Graczyk et al., 1997b, c). In addition, C. parvum oocysts retain their infectivity after isolation with this method, which allows viability assays to be completed on the recovered oocysts (Graczyk et al., 1997b, c). This is important for the monitoring of Cryptosporidium in finished drinking water, where oocysts may still be present, but in an inactivated, non-viable form that poses no public health risk (Graczyk et al., 1997b, c).

## 7.5. Method 1622/1623

Method 1622/1623 for the detection and enumeration of *Crypt-osporidium* and *Giardia* uses filtration, immunomagnetic separation (IMS), and IFA microscopy (Arnone and Walling, 2006). Organisms may be confirmed using 4',6-diamidoino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) vital dye staining and differential interference contrast (DIC) microscopy. Method 1622/1623 sampling involves collecting a 10 L volume of untreated water in a carboy in the field and shipment of the sample to a qualified laboratory for concentration and analysis (Arnone and Walling, 2006). It should also be noted that new techniques are still needed to answer questions researchers have about *Cryptosporidium* in water. For example, even Method 1622/1623 will not identify the

species of *Cryptosporidium* or the host origin, nor do they determine viability or infectivity of the oocysts (Arnone and Walling, 2006).

#### 8. WATER TREATMENT

Giardia spp. cysts and Cryptosporidium oocysts have been detected in finished drinking water indicating that these biological contaminants of source waters can pass through water treatment processes (Rose *et al.*, 1997). Addressing the public health risks of waterborne giardiasis and cryptosporidiosis, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) instituted the Surface Water Treatment Rule (SWTR) and the Information Collection Rule (Nwachcuku and Gerba, 2004). These rules require filtration and disinfection of all surface water supplies with a goal to reduce the annual risk of acquiring a waterborne infections to less than  $10^{-4}$  (under the assumption that the average person consumes 2 L of water per day) (Rose *et al.*, 1997). Calculation of the acceptable concentration of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in drinking water that would not exceed the annual risk level showed a maximum concentration of  $3.27 \times 10^{-3}$  oocysts/100 L (Rose *et al.*, 1997).

Extensive monitoring of drinking water from 66 surface water treatment facilities in 14 states of the USA and one Canadian province showed that of the 83 samples, 17% contained Giardia spp. cysts and 27% contained Cryptosporidium oocysts (Rose et al., 1997). All these water treatment plants employed filtration systems in addition to disinfection. These findings suggest that current water treatment practices may not reduce the load of Giardia spp. cysts and Cryptosporidium oocysts enough to achieve the  $10^{-4}$  annual risk level (Rose et al., 1997). The different types of filtration produced different levels of cyst and oocyst removal. It was demonstrated that rapid sand filters and granular activated carbon filters were more likely to have effluent samples positive for cysts and oocysts than dual media or mixed media filters (Rose et al., 1997). Other studies have demonstrated that slow sand filtration may be more effective in removing Giardia cysts. The U.S. EPA attributes a 3 log<sub>10</sub> reduction in Giardia cysts to conventional filtration methods. However, even if a  $3 \log_{10}$ cyst/oocyst removal is achieved, the levels of cysts and oocysts in the

raw water supply may still overcome the filtration if their concentrations are high (Rose *et al.*, 1997). Common disinfectants used in water treatment are not entirely effective at inactivating *Giardia* spp. cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts. Numerous studies have shown, however, that ozone may prove to be a much more effective disinfectant (Rose *et al.*, 1997). Although ozone is not widely used due to the expense and expertise needed to properly set up and run such a disinfection plan, it should be considered as a viable and perhaps necessary addition to current water treatment plants.

#### 9. ASSOCIATIONS OF HUMAN WATERBORNE PARASITES WITH MOLLUSCAN SHELLFISH

Molluscan shellfish are suspension- or sediment-feeding organisms, which filter unicellular algae, bacteria, other microorganisms, and detrital particles of approximately 1-30 µm size range (McMahon, 1991; Kennedy et al., 1996). Bivalves have an important role in aquatic habitats; by filtering suspended particles they clarify the water and generally improve water quality (McMahon, 1991). The diameter of transmissive stages of Cryptosporidium, Cyclospora, and Toxoplasma does not exceed 6 and 10 µm, respectively, and Giardia cysts are oval and no longer than 15 µm (Wolfe, 1992; Ortega et al., 1993; Graczyk et al., 1997a; Lindsay et al., 2001). Microsporidian spores range from 1.5 to 4 µm (Graczyk et al., 2004). Thus, cystic stages of these parasites fall within the range of particles filtered by bivalve mollusks. Multiple in vitro and in vivo experimental studies demonstrated that aforementioned parasites can be efficiently recovered from water, then retained and concentrated in shellfish (Munoz, 1999; Graczyk, 2003; Graczyk et al., 2005).

Historically, *C. parvum* oocysts of waterborne origin were first identified in the tissue of blue mussels in Ireland (Chalmers *et al.*, 1997), initiating worldwide investigation of this pathogen in molluscan shellfish (Graczyk, 2003; Graczyk *et al.*, 2005). Since then, multiple studies demonstrated that these filter-feeding organisms can harbor environmentally derived protozoan parasites as a result of concentrating the recovered particles (Graczyk, 2003).

A recent and interesting epidemiological discovery is the identification, for the first time, of human-infectious microsporidia spores, i.e., E. intestinalis and E. bieneusi in molluscan shellfish, zebra mussels (Dreissena polymorpha) (Graczyk et al., 2004). Microsporidia infects a variety of vertebrate and invertebrate hosts, and approximately 14 species have been reported to infect people (Weiss, 2001). Of these E. intestinalis and E. bieneusi have been reported to be zoonotic and to infect domestic animals and livestock (Graczyk et al., 2002; Slodkowicz-Kowalska et al., 2006). Although the actual transmission route of this specific spore species is not known, it is quite possible that infectious spores of human or animal origin passed to the aquatic environments via feces or urine (Bryan and Schwartz, 1999). Spores of microsporidia have been detected in a variety of surface waters (Avery and Undeen, 1987), and water as a source of human infections has been concluded from epidemiological data (Cotte et al., 1999). Spores of E. intestinalis and E. bieneusi have been detected previously in surface waters (Sparfel et al., 1997).

*Cryptosporidium* oocysts have also been identified in feral bivalves, supporting the concept that estuarine shellfish can be used in the sanitary assessment of water quality as biological indicators for contamination of water and sediment (Graczyk *et al.*, 2003). Zebra mussels and *Corbicula* clams very efficiently concentrate *C. parvum* and *G. lamblia* in relation to low ambient concentrations (Graczyk *et al.*, 2003). In addition, zebra mussels are also able to recover spores of human-infective species of microsporidia such as *E. intestinalis* and *E. bieneusi* (Graczyk *et al.*, 2004). Bivalves such as zebra mussels or *Corbicula* clams are convenient for such purposes because they form dense populations and clusters that facilitate the collection of large samples, do not have economic value, have a relatively small size, and are easily collected throughout the year (McMahon, 1991; Graczyk *et al.*, 2004).

#### 9.1. Quantitative Estimation of Removal of Human Waterborne Parasites by Molluscan Shellfish

Zebra mussels collected from the St. Lawrence River, Canada, near a wastewater discharge site contained on average approximately 440 *C. parvum* oocysts/mussel (Graczyk *et al.*, 2001b). Knowing the *C. parvum* retention rate as  $4.9 \times 10^2$  oocysts/mussel/24 h (Frischer *et al.*, 1999) and *D. polymorpha* densities of approximately 30 000 specimens/m<sup>2</sup> for adult (>1-year-old) mussels (McMahon, 1991), it has been calculated that during 24 h approximately  $1.3 \times 10^7$  waterborne *C. parvum* oocysts can be removed by each square meter of mussel bed in the St. Lawrence River (Graczyk *et al.*, 2001b).

The concentration of *C. parvum* observed in zebra mussels from the Shannon River, Ireland (Graczyk *et al.*, 2004), was much lower than that reported from the St. Lawrence River (Graczyk *et al.*, 2001b). However, in the St. Lawrence River, mussels originated from sites impacted by wastewater discharge, and in the Shannon River, no apparent sources of water contamination have been identified near any of the sites. Considering the natural densities of zebra mussels (McMahon, 1991), and the fact that on average approximately eight parasites/mussel have been identified in the Shannon River study (Graczyk *et al.*, 2004), at least  $2.4 \times 10^5$  pathogens/24 h can be potentially removed per each square meter of zebra mussel bed in the Shannon River.

# 9.2. A Public Health Threat from Shellfish Contaminated with *Cryptosporidium*

Prior to 1992, the association between contamination derived from animal fecal wastes and the occurrence of shellfish-vectored illnesses was inconclusive (Stelma and McCabe, 1992). In 1994, enterohemorr-hagic *Escherichia coli* 0157 became a major concern (Rippey, 1994). This bacterium has not been associated with shellfish; however, its frequent occurrence in cattle indicated potential public health problems with shellfish harvested from waters affected by runoff from cattle farms (Rippey, 1994).

Beginning in 1998, multiple studies worldwide indicated that molluscan shellfish intended for human consumption can be contaminated with *Cryptosporidium*. So far there has been no reported outbreak (or case) of foodborne cryptosporidiosis linked to consumption of raw oysters in the US. However, (A) over 40% of all foodborne infections linked to ovster consumption are in the category of an unknown etiologic agent (Anonymous, 1996); (B) 20% of the general US population are vulnerable to C. parvum infection (Gerba et al., 1996); (C) epidemiology of enteric infections, i.e., cryptosporidiosis, indicates an association with consumption of raw shellfish (Graczyk and Schwab, 2000); and (D) it is believed that in the United States and Canada the true incidence of shellfish-vectored gastroenteritis is underestimated as much as 20-fold (Hauschild and Bryan, 1980). Since there is no mandatory federal requirement for reporting of gastroenteritis of an unspecified nature, physicians and state health departments are not forwarding case reports to federal authorities (Rippey, 1994; Wallace et al., 1999). In intensive seafood production regions such as northwest Gallicia, Spain, where molluscan shellfish production is the most important industry, cases of selflimiting diarrhea associated with consumption of raw oysters and clams are often reported (Freire-Santos et al., 2000, 2001).

#### 9.2.1. Why are the Shellfish-Caused Illness not Declining?

There are several reasons why shellfish-vectored outbreaks and cases of gastroenteritis due to waterborne protozoan parasites are not projected to decline.

- A. The fecal coliform count, which is the main standard indicator for waterborne fecal contamination, is not reliable in determining the quality of water at shellfish harvesting sites (Rippey, 1994; Anonymous, 1996; Graczyk *et al.*, 2007). The transmissive stages of human protozoan parasites can persist in aquatic environments for greater lengths of time as compared to enteric and indicator bacteria (Richards, 1998; Graczyk and Schwab, 2000). Thus, waters considered to be "safe" based on the fecal coliform standards may, in fact, be contaminated by human enteric parasites (Rippey, 1994; Anonymous, 1996; Wallace *et al.*, 1999; Graczyk and Schwab, 2000; Graczyk *et al.*, 2007).
- B. Animal operations such as individual farms or concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFO) located near shores and river

banks can generate enormous surface runoff particularly under adverse weather conditions and can cause water pollution (Todd *et al.*, 1992; Freire-Santos *et al.*, 2000; Gomez-Bautista *et al.*, 2000; Gomez-Couso *et al.*, 2003, 2004).

- C. Deficiencies at the sewage treatment plants such as volume limitations related to designed capacity of a plant under adverse weather conditions, i.e., heavy rainfall, allow the discharge of large amounts of unprocessed waste waters. In addition, the periodic breakdown in particle removal, or inadequate disinfection can deliver human enterapathogens into surface waters including shellfish harvested waters (Rippey, 1994).
- D. Transmissive stages of human enteric parasites are resistant to environmental degradation (i.e., heat, sunlight, temperature fluctuations, etc.) and may even remain infectious after exposure to chemical water treatment processes such as chlorination (Graczyk and Schwab, 2000). These pathogens can still be infectious even after the oyster meat has been processed (Tamburini and Pozio, 1999; Graczyk and Schwab, 2000) and are also very poorly, i.e., slowly, depurated (removed) from molluscan shellfish tissue (Graczyk and Schwab, 2000; Freire-Santos *et al.*, 2002).
- E. Increased fecal pollution determined on the fecal coliform counts has decreased the total area of coastal habitats approved for harvesting of molluscan shellfish, particularly oysters, for human consumption (Rippey, 1994). Thus, large and very productive areas have been closed, resulting in illegal harvesting of oysters from unapproved or closed, but profitable waters (Rippey, 1994). Such criminal activity unavoidably affects public health when contaminated shellfish enter the market (Rippey, 1994).
- F. Improper postharvest handling and transportation of molluscan shellfish, i.e., temperature abuse, affect oysters directed for consumption in a raw form (Rippey, 1994). Holding of oysters at temperatures greater than 4 °C in transit or in the market place can contribute to multiplication of bacterial enteropathogens (Rippey, 1994).
- G. Many shellfish-related outbreaks have more than one contributing factor (Altekruse *et al.*, 1999; Wallace *et al.*, 1999). For example, contaminated ingredients added to raw or lightly

cooked mollusks have been also reported as contributing factors for foodborne infections factor (Wallace *et al.*, 1999).

H. Development of new molecular techniques that can be applied to a wide variety of food items have dramatically increased the sensitivity and specificity of detection of human enteric parasites in the tissue of molluscan shellfish (Graczyk and Schwab, 2000; Graczyk *et al.*, 2007).

#### **10. CONCLUSIONS**

- The role of certain species of fasciolids, echinostomids, and phi-Α. lophthalmids as waterborne trematode parasites is considered in this review. It is apparent from the review that species of *Fasciola*, Philophthalmus, and Echinohasmus must be considered as waterborne trematode parasites of humans. With the possible exception of philophthalmids, a prime mode of transmission of some fasciolid and echinochasmid species is by human ingestion of encysted metacercariae (cysts) in contaminated water. Echinochasmids are also transmitted to humans by the ingestion of free cercariae in tainted water. For species of Philophthalmus, most transmission occurs in water by direct infection of the human eye by cercariae or metacercariae. Transmission of fasciolids and echinostomids by the ingestion of plant and animal material tainted with metacercarial cysts (foodborne trematodiasis) is considered reasonably common knowledge in the biomedical community. This review provides the scientific community with new information on the possibility of certain trematodes transmitted to humans as waterborne infections.
- B. The emergence and explosive spread of HIV around the world, together with the consequences of AIDS, greatly enhance the life-threatening manifestation of cryptosporidiosis and other water-mediated diseases as a global health problem (Graczyk *et al.*, 1997a). Prevention of waterborne infections by blocking transmission via water to which exposure cannot be avoided, constitutes a challenge that humans have to face in the developing and developed world (Graczyk *et al.*, 1997a). The importance

of ensuring the high quality of the water supply is greater now considering the growing population of immunocompromised and immunosuppressed people worldwide, and the fact that waterborne infections are predominantly related to poverty and low sanitation (Pozio, 2003).

- C. *Giardia* spp. cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts have been detected in finished drinking water in developed countries, indicating that these biological contaminants can pass through water treatment processes. The operational practices necessary to reduce the risk of waterborne infections to acceptable levels are not well understood. Also, current standards are obviously not stringent enough, since some waterborne outbreaks occurred while the treatment plants were operating within regulations. A systemic and coordinated national surveillance system for comparison purposes, trend identification, and policy development is needed so that future waterborne outbreaks can be avoided (Schuster *et al.*, 2005).
- Analysis of drinking water-related outbreaks of Cryptosporidium D. when coupled with genotyping data provides important epidemiologic information on the public health significance of zoonotic versus anthroponotic transmission of this pathogen (Hunter and Thompson, 2005). Such studies supported the hypothesis that C. hominis is spread among humans and a major reservoir for C. parvum are domestic animals, predominantly cattle, and that the contact with infected cattle and indirect transmission through drinking water represents the major transmission routes for C. parvum (Hunter and Thompson, 2005). The situation is less clear for Giardia; however, the evidence gathered to date does not support the zoonotic transmission as a major risk for human infection (Hunter and Thompson, 2005). Although neither all waterborne outbreaks of Cryptosporidium and Giardia are recognized nor reported, the national surveillance of these outbreaks has helped identify important sources of contamination of surface, recreational, and drinking waters (Craun et al., 2005).
- E. Human waterborne protozoan parasites, particularly Cryptosporidium, represent a serious public health threat due to

waterborne transmission (Graczyk *et al.*, 1997a; Craun *et al.*, 2005; Schuster *et al.*, 2005). However, the extent to which water consumers are at risk cannot be precisely determined until more sensitive and reliable methods for the recovery and detection of these pathogens are developed (Graczyk *et al.*, 2007). The history of waterborne outbreaks of *Giardia* spp. and *C. parvum* infections related to drinking water does demonstrate that the risk is considerably high. By increasing knowledge in key areas of *Cryptosporidium* research such as etiology, transmission, and host interactions, the number of waterborne outbreaks and cases is expected to be reduced (Sunnotel *et al.*, 2006).

Economically important shellfish, such as oysters, which are har-F. vested commercially and preferentially consumed raw can be of public health importance if contaminated with human waterborne parasites (Graczyk, 2003; Graczyk et al., 2005, 2007). Shellfish which do not have an apparent economic value may serve as indicators in monitoring aquatic environments for pollution with human waterborne pathogens such as Cryptosporidium, Giardia, Cyclospora, Toxoplasma, and human-infective microsporidia (Lindsay et al., 2001; Arkush et al., 2003; Graczyk et al., 2004, 2005). Foodborne illnesses following consumption of molluscan shellfish continue to occur despite that (1) testing of waters for fecal coliforms from which oysters are harvested for human consumption demonstrate that the water quality met the criteria of the National Shellfish Sanitation Program (NSSP) (Rippey, 1994; Anonymous, 1996). (2) Oysters harvested from the NSSP-approved waters are considered as "safe" with regards to fecal pollution (Rippey, 1994; Anonymous, 1996). (3) Sanitation procedures at ovster-harvesting facilities met standards set by the state authorities (Rippey, 1994; Anonymous, 1996). (4) In most instances, neither confirmed evidences of improper handling or processing of outbreak-implicated oysters nor the environmental source(s) of pollution were detected (Rippey, 1994; Anonymous, 1996). These facts indicate that the monitoring of water for fecal coliform at molluscan shellfish-harvesting sites may not be sufficient indicating the presence of human waterborne parasites such as Cryptosporidium, Cyclospora, Giardia, Toxoplasma, and human-infectious microsporidia (Rippey, 1994; Wallace et al., 1999; Lindsay et al., 2001; Arkhus et al., 2003; Graczyk et al., 2005, 2007).

G. Estuarine molluscan shellfish, both commercial and feral, can be used for the sanitary assessment of water quality as biological indicators for water and sediment contamination with Cryptosporidium, Giardia, Toxoplasma, and Cyclospora (Graczyk et al., 1999a; Lindsay et al., 2001; Xiao et al., 2001; Arkush et al., 2003). Reducing the number of foodborne diseases due to bivalve mollusks will require the coordinated efforts of different agencies involved in water quality assessment, shellfish harvesting and processing, disease surveillance, and consumer education (Rippey, 1994; Anonymous, 1996; Wallace et al., 1999). It may be useful to reduce or eliminate economic incentives for illegal harvesting of shellfish from unapproved or prohibited waters that results in contaminated shellfish reaching the market place (Rippey, 1994). Continued surveillance for outbreaks and cases of gastroenteritis associated with consumption of raw shellfish are needed to assess the efficacy of the NSSP in preventing human illnesses (Rippey, 1994; Wallace et al., 1999; Graczyk and Schwab, 2000). Public health officials should consider consumption of raw shellfish as a possible source of infection during the evaluation of a gastroenteritis outbreak (Rippey, 1994; Wallace et al., 1999; Graczyk and Schwab, 2000).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize for not citing all original articles due to space constraints. The studies on human waterborne enteropathogens and molluscan shellfish were supported by the NATO Collaborative Linkage Grant, Brussels, Belgium (grant no. 979765), Johns Hopkins Center in Urban Environmental Health (grant no. P30 ES03819), Johns Hopkins Center for a Livable Future, Johns Hopkins Faculty Research Initiative Fund, Alternatives Research & Development Foundation, and NOAA Chesapeake Bay Office (grant no. NA04NMF4570426).

#### REFERENCES

- Abdul-Salam, J., Sreelatha, B.S. and Ashkanani, H. (2004). The eye fluke *Philophthalmus hegeneri* (Digenea: Philophthalmidae) in Kuwait Bay. *Kuwait Journal of Science & Engineering* 31, 119–133.
- Altekruse, S.F., Yang, S., Timbo, B.B. and Angulo, F.J. (1999). A multistate survey of consumer food-handling and food-consumption practices. *American Journal of Prevention and Medicine* **16**, 216–221.
- Anderson, B.C. (1981). Patterns of shedding cryptosporidial oocysts in Idaho calves. *Journal of American Veterinary Medical Association* **178**, 982–984.
- Anonymous. (1996). Surveillance for foodborne-disease outbreaks— United States, 1988–1992. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports* **45**, 1–66.
- Arkush, K.D., Miller, M.A., Leutenegger, C.M., Gardner, I.A., Packham, A.E., Heckeroth, A.R., Tenter, A.M., Barr, B.C. and Conrad, P.A. (2003). Molecular and bioassay-based detection of *Toxoplasma gondii* oocyst uptake by mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*). *International Journal* for Parasitology 33, 1087–1097.
- Arnone, R.D. and Walling, J.P. (2006). Evaluating *Cryptosporidium* and *Giardia* concentrations in combined sewer overflow. *Journal of Water and Health* 4, 157–165.
- Avery, S.W. and Undeen, A.H. (1987). The isolation of microsporidia and other pathogens from concentrated ditch water. *Journal of American Mosquito Control Association* **3**, 54–58.
- Bargues, M.D., Funatsu, I.R., Oveids, J.A. and Mas-Coma, S. (1996). Natural water, an additional source for human infection by *Fasciola hepatica* in the Northern Bolivian Altiplano. *Parasitologia* 38, 251.
- Blagburn, B.L. and Soave, R. (1997). Prophylaxis and chemotherapy: human and animal. In: *Cryptosporidium and Cryptosporidiosis* (R. Fayer, ed.), pp. 111–128. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Bonfioli, A.A. and Orefice, F. (2005). Toxoplasmosis. Seminars in Ophthalmology 20, 129–141.
- Borgsteede, F.H.M., Okulewicz, A. and Okulewicz, J. (2000). A study of the helminth fauna of birds belonging to the Passeriformes in the Netherlands. *Acta Parasitologica* **45**, 14–21.
- Breitenmoser, A.C., Mathis, A., Burgi, E., Weber, R. and Deplazes, P. (1999). High prevalence of *Enterocytozoon bieneusi* in swine with four genotypes that differ from those identified in humans. *Parasitology* **118**, 447–453.
- Bryan, R.T. and Schwartz, D.A. (1999). Epidemiology of microsporidiosis. In: *The Microsporidia and Microsporidiosis* (M. Wittner and L.M. Weiss, eds), pp. 502–516. Washington, DC: ASM Press.

#### HUMAN WATERBORNE TREMATODE AND PROTOZOAN INFECTIONS 151

- Chai, J.Y. and Lee, S.H. (2002). Food borne intestinal trematode infections in the Republic of Korea. *Parasitology International* **51**, 129–154.
- Chalmers, R.M., Sturdee, A.P., Mellors, P., Nicholson, V., Lawlor, F., Kenny, F. and Timpson, P. (1997). *Cryptosporidium parvum* in environmental samples in the Sligo area, Republic of Ireland: a preliminary report. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 25, 380–384.
- Chappell, C.L., Okhuysen, P.C., Sterling, C.R., Wang, C., Jakubowski, W. and Dupont, H.L. (1999). Infectivity of *Cryptosporidium parvum* in healthy adults with pre-existing anti-*C. parvum* serum immunoglobulin G. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **60**, 157–164.
- Cheng, Y.Z., Xu, Y.D., Yang, W.C., Li, Y.S., Lin, J.X., Wang, O., Lei, S., Yang, Z.H. and Yu, G.X. (2000). Analyses on LDH isoenzyme and protein from both Guangdong strain and Fujian strain of *Echinochasmus fujianensis*. *Chinese Journal of Zoonoses* **16**, 80–83.
- Cheriyof, H.K. and Warne, L.W. (1990). Distribution of metacercariae of *Fasciola gigantica* on some objects in the laboratory. *Bulletin of Animal Health and Production in Africa* **38**, 139–142.
- Choi, M.H., Kim, S.H., Chung, J.H., Jang, H.Y., Joon, H.E., Chung, B.S., Sohn, W.N., Chai, J.Y. and Hong, S.T. (2006). Morphological observations of *Echinochamsus japonicus* cercariae and the in vitro maintenance of its life cycle from cercariae to adults. *Journal of Parasitology* 92, 236–241.
- Cotte, L., Rabodonirina, M., Chapuis, F., Bailly, F., Bissuel, F., Raynal, C., Gelas, P., Persat, F., Piens, M.A. and Trepo, C. (1999). Waterborne outbreak of intestinal microsporidiosis in persons with and without human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 180, 2003–2008.
- Craun, G.F., Calderon, R.L. and Craun, M.F. (2005). Outbreaks associated with recreational water in the United States. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research* **15**, 243–262.
- Dailey, M., Ellin, R. and Paras, M. (2005). First report of parasites from pinnipeds in the Galapagos Islands, Ecuador, with a description of a new species of *Philophthalmus* (Digenea: Philophthalmidae). *Journal of Parasitology* **91**, 614–617.
- Dalton, J. P. (1999). Fasciolosis, 544 pp. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing.
- Dawson, D. (2005). Foodborne protozoan parasites. International Journal of Food Microbiology 103, 207–227.
- Deplazes, P., Mathis, A., Muller, C. and Weber, R. (1996). Molecular epidemiology of *Encephalitozoon cuniculi* and first detection of *Enter*ocytozoon bieneusi in faecal samples of pigs. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 43, 93.
- deRegnier, D.P., Cole, L., Schupp, D.G. and Erlandsen, S.L. (1998). Viability of *Giardia* cysts suspended in lake, river, and tap water. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* **55**, 1223–1229.

- Diaz, M.T., Hernandez, L.E. and Bashirullah, A.K. (2002). Experimental life cycle of *Philophthalmus gralli* (Trematoda: Philophthalmidae) in Venezuela. *Revista de Biologica Tropical* **50**, 629–641.
- Dimitrov, V., Kanev, I. and Panaiotova, M. (2000). Argentophilic structures of the miracidia and cercariae of *Philophthalmus distomatosa* n. comb. from Israel. *Journal of Parasitology* **86**, 1239–1243.
- Dronen, N.O., Blend, C.K. and Anderson, C.K. (2003). Endohelminths from the brown pelican, *Pelecanus occidentalis*, and the American white pelican, *Pelecanus erthorhynchus*, from Galveston Bay, Texas, USA, and checklist of pelican parasites. *Comparative Parasitology* **70**, 140–154.
- Eisenberg, J.N., Lei, X., Hubbard, A.H., Brookhart, M.A. and Colford, J.M. (2005). The role of disease transmission and conferred immunity in outbreaks: analysis of the 1993 *Cryptosporidium* outbreak in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 161, 62–72.
- Erlandsen, S.L. and Bemrick, W.J. (1988). Waterborne giardiasis: sources of *Giardia* cysts and evidence pertaining to their implications in human infection. In: *Advances in Giardia Research* (P.M. Wallis and B.R. Hammond, eds), pp. 227–236. Calgary: University of Calgary Press.
- Esteban, J.G., Gonzalez, C., Bargues, M.D., Augles, R., Sanchez, C., Naquira, C. and Mas-Coma, S. (2002). High fascioliasis infection in children linked to a man-made irrigation zone in Peru. *Tropical Medicine* and International Health 7, 339–348.
- Esteban, J.G., Gonzalez, C., Cutula, F., Munoz-Anatoli, C., Valero, M.A., Bargues, M.D., El Sayer, M., El Wakeel, A., Aldel-Wahol, Y., Montresor, A., Engels, P., Savioli, L. and Mas-Coma, S. (2003). Hyperdermic fascioliasis associated with schistosomiasis in villages in the Nile Delta, Egypt. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 69, 429–437.
- Fayer, R., Spear, C.A. and Dubey, J.P. (1997). General biology of Cryptosporidium and cryptosporidiosis. In: Cryptosporidium and Cryptosporidiosis (R. Fayer, ed.), pp. 1–49. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Freire-Santos, F., Oteiza-Lopez, A.M., Vergara-Castiblanco, C.A., Ares-Mazas, M.E., Alvarez-Suarez, E. and Garcia-Martin, O. (2000). Detection of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in bivalve mollusks destined for human consumption. *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 853–854.
- Freire-Santos, F., Oteiza-Lopez, A.M., Castro-Hermida, J.A., Garcia-Martin, O. and Ares-Mazas, M.E. (2001). Viability and infectivity of oocysts recovered from clams, *Ruditapes philippinarum*, experimentally contaminated with *Cryptosporidium parvum*. *Parasitology Research* 87, 428–430.
- Freire-Santos, F., Gomez-Couso, H., Ortega-Inarrea, M.R., Castro-Hermida, J.A., Oteiza-Lopez, A.M., Garcia-Martin, O. and Arez-Mazas, M.E. (2002). Survival of *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts recovered from experimentally contaminated oysters (*Ostrea edulis*) and clams (*Tapes decussatus*). *Parasitology Research* 88, 130–133.

- Fried, B. (2001). Biology of echinostomes except *Echinostoma*. Advances in *Parasitology* **42**, 163–210.
- Frischer, M.E., Nierzwicki-Bauer, S.A., Resto, M., Toro, A. and Toranzos, G.A. (1999). Zebra mussels as possible biomonitors/filters of the protozoan pathogen *Cryptosporidium*. *Dreissena National Aquatic Nuisance Species Clearinghouse* 10, 1–4.
- Gerba, C.P., Rose, J.B. and Haas, C.N. (1996). Sensitive population: who is at the greatest risk? *International Journal of Food Microbiology* **30**, 113–123.
- Gomez-Bautista, M., Ortega-Mora, L.M., Tabares, E., Lopez-Rodas, V. and Costas, E. (2000). Detection of infectious *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) in cockles (*Cerastoderma edule*). Applied Environmental Microbiology **66**, 1866–1870.
- Gomez-Couso, H., Freire-Santos, F., Martinez-Urtaza, J., Garcia-Martin, O. and Ares-Mazas, M.E. (2003). Contamination of bivalve molluscs by *Cryptosporidium* oocysts: the need for new quality control standards. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* **87**, 97–105.
- Gomez-Couso, H., Freire-Santos, F., Amar, C.F., Grant, K.A., Williamson, K., Ares-Mazas, M.E. and McLauchlin, J. (2004). Detection of *Crypto-sporidium* and *Giardia* in molluscan shellfish by multiplexed nested-PCR. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* **91**, 279–288.
- Graczyk, T.K. (2003). Human waterborne parasites in molluscan shellfish. *Journal of Parasitology* **89**, S57–S61.
- Graczyk, T.K. and Schwab, K.J. (2000). Foodborne infections vectored by molluscan shellfish. *Current Gastroenterology Reports* **2**, 305–309.
- Graczyk, T.K., Fayer, R. and Cranfield, M.R. (1997a). Zoonotic potential of *Cryptosporidium parvum*: implications for waterborne cryptosporidiosis. *Parasitology Today* **13**, 348–351.
- Graczyk, T.K., Cranfield, M.R. and Fayer, R. (1997b). Recovery of waterborne oocysts of *Cryptosporidium parvum* from water samples by the membrane-filter dissolution method. *Parasitology Research* 83, 121–125.
- Graczyk, T.K., Fayer, R., Cranfield, M.R. and Owens, R. (1997c). *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts recovered from water by the membrane filter dissolution method retain their infectivity. *Journal of Parasitology* **83**, 111–114.
- Graczyk, T.K., Ortega, Y.R. and Conn, D.B. (1998). Recovery of waterborne oocysts of *Cyclospora cayetanensis* by Asian freshwater clams (*Corbicula fluminea*). American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 59, 928–932.
- Graczyk, T.K., Fayer, R., Lewis, E.J., Trout, J.M. and Farley, C.A. (1999a). *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in Bent mussels (*Ischadium recurvum*) in the Chesapeake Bay. *Parasitology Research* **85**, 518–521.
- Graczyk, T.K., Thompson, R.C.A., Fayer, R., Adams, P., Morgan, U.M. and Lewis, E.J. (1999b). *Giardia duodenalis* of genotype A recovered from

clams in the Chesapeake Bay subestuary, Rhode River. *American Journal* of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene **61**, 526–529.

- Graczyk, T.K., Fayer, R., Jenkins, M.C., Trout, J.M., Higgins, J., Lewis, E.J. and Farley, C.A. (2000a). Susceptibility of the Chesapeake Bay to environmental contamination with *Cryptosporidium parvum*. *Environmental Research* **82**, 106–112.
- Graczyk, T.K., Evans, B.M., Shiff, C.J., Karreman, H.J. and Patz, J.A. (2000b). Environmental and geographical factors contributing to contamination of watershed with *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts. *Environmental Research* **82**, 263–271.
- Graczyk, T.K., Gilman, R.H. and Fried, B. (2001a). Fasciolopsis: is it a controllable food-borne disease. *Parasitology Research* 87, 80–83.
- Graczyk, T.K., Marcogliese, D.J., de Lafontaine, Y., da Silva, A.J., Mhangami-Ruwende, B. and Pieniazek, N.J. (2001b). *Cryptosporidium parvum* oocysts in zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*): evidence from the St. Lawrence River. *Parasitology Research* 87, 231–234.
- Graczyk, T.K., Bosco-Nizeyi, J., Da Silva, A.J., Moura, I.N.S., Pieniazek, N.J., Cranfield, M.R. and Lindquist, H.D. (2002). A single genotype of *Encephalitozoon intestinalis* infects free-ranging gorillas and people sharing their habitats in Uganda. *Parasitology Research* 88, 926–931.
- Graczyk, T.K., Conn, D.B., Marcogliese, D.J., Graczyk, H. and DeLafontaine, Y. (2003). Accumulation of human waterborne parasites by zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) and Asian freshwater clams (*Corbicula fluminea*). *Parasitology Research* **89**, 107–112.
- Graczyk, T.K., Conn, D.B., Lucy, F., Tamang, L., Moura, L.N. and Da-Silva, A.J. (2004). Human waterborne parasites in zebra mussels (*Dreis*sena polymorpha) from the Shannon River drainage area, Ireland. *Parasitology Research* 93, 385–391.
- Graczyk, T.K., Tamang, L. and Graczyk, H. (2005). Human protozoan parasites in molluscan shellfish. In: *Advances in Food and Nutrition Research* (S.L. Taylor, ed.), pp. 79–100. Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
- Graczyk, T.K., Lewis, E.J., Glass, G., DaSilva, A.J., Tamang, L., Girouard, A.S. and Curriero, F.C. (2007). Quantitative assessment of viable *Crypto-sporidium parvum* load in commercial oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) in the Chesapeake Bay. *Parasitology Research* 100, 247–253.
- Gupta, M. and Hass, C.N. (2004). The Milwaukee *Cryptosporidium* outbreak: assessment of incubation time and daily attack rate. *Journal of Water and Health* **2**, 59–69.
- Hansen, J.S. and Ongerth, J.E. (1991). Effect of time and watershed characteristic on the concentration of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in river water. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* 57, 2790–2795.
- Hauschild, A.H.W. and Bryan, F.L. (1980). Estimate of food and waterborne illnesses in Canada and United States. *Journal of Food Protection* 43, 435–440.

- Hillyer, G.V. and Apt, W. (1997). Food-borne trematode infection in the Americas. *Parasitology Today* **13**, 87–88.
- Hopkins, R.M., Meloni, B.P., Groth, D.M., Wetherall, J.D., Reynoldson, J.A. and Thompson, R.C.A. (1997). Ribosomal RNA sequencing reveals differences between the genotypes of *Giardia* isolates recovered from humans and dogs living in the same locality. *Journal of Parasitology* 83, 44–51.
- Hunter, P.R. and Thompson, R.C. (2005). The zoonotic transmission of *Giardia* and *Cryptosporidium*. *International Journal of Parasitology* **35**, 1181–1190.
- Issac-Renton, J.L., Cordeiro, C., Sarafis, K. and Shahriari, H. (1997). Characterization of *Giardia duodenalis* isolates from a waterborne outbreak. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 167, 431–440.
- Jones, A. (2005). Family Fasciolidae Railliet, 1985. In: Keys to the Trematoda (A. Jones, R.A. Bray and D.I. Gibson, eds), Vol. 2, pp. 79–86. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing.
- Kennedy, V. S., Newell, R. I. E. and Eble, A. F. (1996). *The Eastern Oyster Crassostrea virginica*. Maryland Sea Grant Book, Sea Grant Publication UM-SG-TS-96-01, College Park, MD.
- Kostadinova, A. (2005). Family Echinostomatidae Looss, 1899. In: Keys to the Trematoda (A. Jones, R.A. Bray and D.I. Gibson, eds), Vol. 2, pp. 9–64. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing.
- Kotler, D.P. and Orenstein, J.M. (1999). Clinical syndromes associated with microsporidiosis. In: *The Microsporidia and Microsporidiosis* (M. Wittner and L.M. Weiss, eds), pp. 258–292. Washington, DC: ASM Press.
- Kucerova-Pospisilova, Z., Carr, D., Leitch, G., Scanlon, M. and Visvesvara, G.S. (1999). Environmental resistance of *Encephalitozoon* spores. *Journal* of *Eukaryotic Microbiology* 46, 11.
- Lamothe-Argumedo, R., Diaz-Camacho, S.P. and Nawa, Y. (2003). The first human case in Mexico of conjunctivitis caused by the avian parasite, *Philophthalmus lacrimosus. Journal of Parasitology* **89**, 183–185.
- Lang, Y., Weiss, Y. and Garzozi, H. (1993). A first instance of human philophthalmosis in Israel. *Journal of Helminthology* 67, 107–111.
- Lindsay, D.S., Phelps, K.K., Smith, S.A., Flick, G., Summer, S.S. and Dubey, J.P. (2001). Removal of *Toxoplasma gondii* oocysts from sea water by eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*). *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology* 48, S197–S198.
- Lisle, J.T. and Rose, J.B. (1995). *Cryptosporidium* contamination of the water in the USA and UK: a mini-review. *Aqua* 44, 103–117.
- McMahon, R.B. (1991). Mollusca: Bivalvia. In: *Ecology and Classification* of North American Freshwater Invertebrates (J.H. Thorp and A.P. Covich, eds), pp. 315–401. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Macpherson, C.L.N. (2005). Human behaviour and the epidemiology of parasitic zoonoses. *International Journal for Parasitology* **35**, 1319–1331.

- Madico, G., McDonald, J., Gilman, R.H., Cabrera, L. and Sterling, C.R. (1997). Epidemiology and treatment of *Cyclospora cayetanensis* infection in Peruvian children. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 24, 977–981.
- Mansfield, L.S. and Gajadhar, A.A. (2004). *Cyclospora cayetanensis*, a foodand waterborne coccidian parasite. *Veterinary Parasitology* **126**, 73–90.
- Marcilla, A., Bargues, M.D. and Mas-Coma, S. (2002). A PCR-RFLP assay for the distinction between *Fasciola hepatica* and *Fasciola gigantica*. *Molecular and Cellular Probes* 16, 327–333.
- Mas-Coma, M.S., Esteban, J.G. and Bargues, M.D. (1999a). Epdemiology of human fascioliasis: a review and proposed new classification. *Bulletin* of the World Health Organization 77, 340–346.
- Mas-Coma, S., Bargues, M.P. and Esteban, J.G. (1999b). Human fasciolosis. In: *Fasciolosis* (J.P. Dalton, ed.), pp. 411–434. Wallingford, UK: CAB International Publishing.
- Mas-Coma, S., Bargues, M.P. and Valero, M.A. (2005). Fascioliasis and other plant-borne trematode zoonoses. *International Journal for Parasi*tology 35, 1255–1278.
- Mead, P.S., Slutsker, L. and Dietz, V. (1999). Food-borne illness and death in the United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 5, 607–625.
- Monzingo, D.L. and Hibler, C.P. (1987). Prevalence of *Giardia* sp. in a beaver colony and the resulting environmental contamination. *Journal of Wildlife Disease* 23, 576–585.
- Morgan-Ryan, U.M., Fall, A., Ward, L.A., Hijjawi, N., Sulaiman, N., Fayer, R., Thompson, R.C., Olson, M., Lal, A.A. and Xiao, L. (2002). *Cryptosporidium hominis* n. sp. (Apicomplexa: Cryptosporidiidae) from *Homo sapiens. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology* 49, 433–440.
- Mukaratirwa, S., Hove, T. and Cindzi, Z.M. (2005). First report of a field outbreak of the oriental eye-fluke, *Philophthalmus gralli* (Mathis and Leger, 1910), in commercially reared ostriches (*Struthio camelus*) in Zimbabwe. *Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research* **72**, 203–206.
- Munizpereira, L.C. and Amato, S.B. (1993). Philophthalmus gralli (Digenea, Philophthalmidae) parasite of Anas bahamensis and Amazonetta brasiliensis, form lagoons of Marica County, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz 88, 567–569.
- Munoz, J. (1999). Foodborne disease: seafood. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 18, 910–911.
- Nollen, P.M. and Kanev, I. (1995). The taxonomy of biology of philophthalmid eyeflukes. *Advances in Parasitology* **36**, 205–269.
- Nwachcuku, N. and Gerba, C.P. (2004). Emerging waterborne pathogens: can we kill them all? *Current Opinions in Biotechnology* **15**, 175–180.
- Okhuysen, P.C., Chappell, C.L., Crabb, J.H., Sterling, C.R. and Dupont, H.L. (1999). Virulence of three distinct *Cryptosporidium parvum* isolates for healthy adults. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 180, 1275–1281.
- Okhuysen, P.C., Rogers, G.A., Crisanti, A., Spano, F., Huang, D.B., Chappell, C.L. and Tzipori, S. (2004). Antibody response of healthy

adults to recombinant thrombospondin-related adhesive protein of *Cryptosporidium* 1 after experimental exposure to *Cryptosporidium* oocysts. *Clinical Diagnosis and Laboratory Immunology* **11**, 235–238.

- Ortega, Y.R., Sterling, C.R., Gilman, R.H., Cama, M.A. and Diaz, F. (1993). *Cyclospora* species—a new protozoan pathogen of humans. *New England Journal of Medicine* **328**, 1308–1312.
- Pan, J.T. and Graczyk, T.K. (1997). Giardia spp. and Cryptosporidium contamination of surface water supplies. In: Recent Research Developments in Microbiology (S.G. Pandalai, ed.), pp. 101–109. Trivandrum, India: Research Signpost.
- Penner, L.R. and Fried, B. (1963). *Philopthalmus hegeneri* sp. n., an ocular trematode from birds. *Journal of Parasitology* **49**, 974–977.
- Pinto, R.M., dos Santos, L.C. and Tortelly, R. (2005). Pathology and first report of natural infections of the eye trematode *Philophthalmus lachrymosus* Braun, 1902 (Digenea, Philophthalmidae) in a non-human mammalian host. *Mermorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 100, 679–683.
- Pozio, E. (2003). Foodborne and waterborne parasites. *Acta Microbiologica Polonica* **52**, 83–96.
- Radev, V., Kanev, I. and Nollen, P.M. (1998a). Light, transmission and scanning electron microscope observations of body spines of *Philophthalmus lucipetus* (Trematoda) during maturation in the eye cavity of birds. *Acta Parasitologica* 43, 111–115.
- Radev, V., Kanev, I. and Nollen, P.M. (1998b). Body spines of the eye fluke *Philophthalmus hegeneri*. *Helminthologica* **35**, 83–85.
- Radev, V., Kanev, I. and Nollen, P.M. (1999). Life history and identification of *Philophthalmus lucipetus* from Israel. *Journal of Parasitology* 85, 291–294.
- Radev, V., Kanev, I. and Gold, D. (2000). Life cycle and identification of an eyefluke from Israel transmitted by *Melanoides tuberculata* (Muller, 1774). *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 773–776.
- Rajkovic-Janje, R., Bosnic, S., Rimac, D., Dragiceevic, P. and Vinkovic, B. (2002). Prevalence of helminths in wild boar from hunting grounds in eastern Croatia. *Zeitshrift fur Jagdwissenschaft* 48, 261–270.
- Rathinam, S.R., Usha, K.R. and Rao, N.A. (2002). Presumed trematodeinduced granulomatous anterior uveitis: a newly recognized cause of intraocular inflammation in children from South India. *American Journal* of Ophthalmology 133, 773–779.
- Richards, G.P. (1998). Microbial purification of shellfish: a review of depuration and relaying. *Journal of Food Protection* **51**, 218–251.
- Rinder, H., Thomschke, A., Sengjel, B., Gothe, R., Loscher, T. and Zahler, M. (2000). Close genetic relationship between *Enterocytozoon bieneusi* from humans and pigs and first detection in cattle. *Journal of Parasitol*ogy 86, 185–188.
- Rippey, S.R. (1994). Infectious diseases associated with molluscan shellfish consumption. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 7, 419–425.

- Rose, J.B. (1997). Environmental ecology of *Cryptosporidium* and public health implications. *Annals Reviews in Public Health* **18**, 135–161.
- Rose, J.B., Lisle, J.T. and LeChevallier, M. (1997). Waterborne cryptosporidiosis: incidence, outbreaks, and treatment strategies. In: *Cryptosporidium and Cryptosporidiosis* (R. Fayer, ed.), pp. 93–110. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Rose, J.B., Huffman, D.E. and Gennaccaro, A. (2002). Risk and control of waterborne cryptosporidiosis. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* **2**, 113–123.
- Schuster, C.J., Ellis, A.G., Robertson, W.J., Charron, D.F., Aramini, J.J., Marshall, B.J. and Medeiros, D.T. (2005). Infectious disease outbreaks related to drinking water in Canada, 1974–2001. *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 96, 254–258.
- Slodkowicz-Kowalska, A., Graczyk, T.K., Tamang, L., Jedrzejewski, S., Nowosad, A., Zduniak, P., Solarczyk, P., Girouard, A.S. and Majewska, A.C. (2006). Microsporidia species known to infect humans are present in aquatic birds: implications for transmission via water? *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 72, 4540–4544.
- Sparfel, J.M., Sarfati, C., Liquory, O., Caroff, B., Dumoutier, N., Gueglio, B., Billaud, E., Raffi, F., Molina, L.M., Miegeville, M. and Derouin, F. (1997). Detection of microsporidia and identification of *Enterocytozoon bieneusi* in surface water by filtration followed by specific PCR. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology* 44, 78S.
- Sroka, J., Wojcik-Fatle, A. and Dutkiewicz, J. (2006). Occurrence of *Toxoplasma gondii* in water from wells located on the farms. *Annals of Agriculture and Environmental Medicine* 13, 169–175.
- Stelma, G.N. and McCabe, L.J. (1992). Nonpoint pollution from animal sources and shellfish sanitation. *Journal of Food Protection* 55, 649–656.
- Sunnotel, O., Lowery, C.J., Moore, J.E., Dooley, J.S., Xiao, L., Millar, B.C., Rooney, P.J. and Snelling, W.J. (2006). Cryptosporidium. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 43, 7–16.
- Tamburini, A. and Pozio, E. (1999). Long-term survival of Cryptosporidium parvum oocysts in seawater and in experimentally infected mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis). International Journal for Parasitology 29, 711–715.
- Thompson, R.C., Olson, M.E., Zhu, G., Enomoto, S., Abrahamsen, M.S. and Hijjawi, N.S. (2005). *Cryptosporidium* and cryptosporidiosis. *Advances in Parasitology* 59, 77–158.
- Thompson, R.C.A., Reynoldson, J.A. and Mendis, A.H.W. (1993). *Giardia* and giardiasis. *Advances in Parasitology* **32**, 72–160.
- Todd, E.C.D., Brown, D.J. and Rutheford, M. (1992). Illness associated with seafood. *Canadian Community Disease Reports* 18, 19–23.
- Upcroft, J.A., McDonnell, P.A., Gallagher, A.N., Cheng, N. and Upcroft, P. (1997). Lethal *Giardia* from a wild-caught sulphur-crested cockatoo (*Cacatua galerita*) established in vitro chronically infects mice. *Parasi*tology **114**, 407–412.

- Urabe, M. (2005). Cercariae of a species of *Philophthalmus* detected in a freshwater snail, *Semisulcospira libertine*, in Japan. *Parasitology International* 54, 55–57.
- Vareille-Morel, C., Dreyfus, G. and Rondelcund, D. (1993). First data on the dispersion and fate of floating *Fasciola hepatica* metacercariae. *Bulletin de la Societe Francaise de Parasitologie* 11, 63–69.
- Wallace, B.J., Guzewich, J.J., Cambridge, M., Altekruse, S. and Morse, D.L. (1999). Seafood-associated outbreaks in New York, 1980–1994. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 17, 48–54.
- Wang, T.P., Gao, J.F., Xiao, Q., Lu, D.B., Wu, W.F., Mei, J.D., An, J.S., Pen, H.Z. and Xu, F.N. (1993). Efficacy of pyquiton in the treatment of *Echinochasmus liliputanus* infection. *Chinese Journal of Parasitology & Parasitic Diseases* 11, 165–167.
- Wang, T.P., Zhu, C.G., Fang, G.R., Xiao, X., Lu, D.B., Wu, D.G., Zhang, B.Z. and Li, H.B. (1998). Studies on seasonal distribution and influence factors of *Echinochasmus liliputanus* infection. *Chinese Journal of Parasitic Disease Control* **11**, 295–297.
- Weiss, L.M. (2001). Microsporidia: emerging pathogenic protists. *Acta Tropica* **78**, 89–102.
- Weng, Y.L., Zhuang, Z.L., Jiang, H.P., Lin, G.R. and Lin, J.J. (1989). Studies on ecology of *Fasciolopsis buski* and control strategy of fasciolopsiasis. *Chinese Journal of Parasitology & Parasitic Disease* 7, 108–111.
- Wolfe, M.S. (1992). Giardiasis. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 5, 93-100.
- Wu, W.D., Xiao, X., Xu, F.L., Lu, D.B., Wang, T.P. and Cheng, X.L. (1997). Observation on fine structures of *Echinochasmus liliputanus* tegument by scanning electron microscopy. *Chinese Journal of Parasitol*ogy & Parasitic Diseases 15, 205–207.
- Xiao, L., Singh, A., Limor, J., Graczyk, T.K., Gradus, S. and Lal, A. (2001). Molecular characterization of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in samples of raw surface and wastewater. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* 67, 1097–1101.
- Xiao, X., Wong, T.P., Lu, D.B., Gao, J.F., Xu, L.F., Wu, W.D., Mei, J.D. and Xu, F.L. (1992). The first record of human natural infection of *Echinochasmus liliputanus. Chinese Journal of Parasitology & Parasitic Diseases* 10, 132–135.
- Xiao, X., Lu, D.B., Wang, T.P., Gao, J.F., Wu, W.D., Peng, H.C., Zhang, B.J., Xu, M.R., Wu, D.G. and An, J.S. (1994). Epidemiological studies on *Echinochasmus liliputanus* infection. I. Parasite infection and distribution in final hosts. *Chinese Journal of Parasitic Disease Control* 7, 285–287.
- Xiao, X., Lu, D.B., Wang, T.P., Zhu, C.B., Wu, W.P., Mei, J.P., Peng, H.C. and Zhang, B.J. (1995a). Epidemiological studies on *Echinochasmus liliputanus* infection. II. Infection and seasonal variations in intermediate hosts. *Chinese Journal of Parasitic Disease Control* 8, 24–27.

- Xiao, X., Lu, D.B., Wang, T.P., Zhu, C.G. and Fang, G.R. (1995b). Experiment on direct infection of definitive hosts with *Echinochasmus liliputanus* cercariae. *Chinese Journal of Parasitic Disease Control* 8, 28–30.
- Xiao, X., Lu, D.B., Wang, T.P., Gao, J.P., Zhu, C.G., Zhang, B.J., An, J.S., Pong, H.C., Xu, M.R., Wu, W.P., Mei, J.P. and Xu, F.N. (1995c). Studies on the mode of human infection with *Echinochasmus liliputanus*. *Chinese Journal of Parasitology & Parasitic Diseases* 13, 197–199.
- Xiao, X., Li, C.T., Fang, G.R., Wang, T.P., Lu, D.B. and Wu, W.P. (2000). Studies on biology of *Echinochasmus liliputanus* cercariae. *Chinese Journal of Parasitic Disease Control* **13**, 199–204.
- Xiao, X., Wang, T.P., Zheng, X., Shen, G. and Tian, Z. (2006). In vivo and in vitro encystment of *Echinochasmus liliputanus* cercariae and biological activity of the metacercariae. *Journal of Parasitology* **91**, 492–498.

# The Biology of Gyrodactylid Monogeneans: The "Russian-Doll Killers"

T.A. Bakke<sup>1</sup>, J. Cable<sup>2</sup> and P.D. Harris<sup>3,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Zoology, Natural History Museum, University of Oslo, P.O. Box 1172 Blindern, NO-0318 Oslo, Norway <sup>2</sup>School of Biosciences, Cardiff University, Cardiff CF10 3TL, UK <sup>3</sup>Schools of Education and Biology, University of Nottingham, Nottingham NG8 1BB, UK

	Abstr	act	. 162
1.	Introc	luction	. 164
	1.1.	Early History	165
	1.2.	Taxonomic and Faunistic Research	166
	1.3.	The Gyrodactylus salaris Epidemic	166
	1.4.	Genus, Species Flock or Host Races?	167
	1.5.	Gyrodactylus: The Drosophilids of the Parasitic World .	168
2.	Morp	hology	. 169
	2.1.	The Importance of Progenesis and Viviparity	170
	2.2.	Tegument	174
	2.3.	Attachment and Musculature	175
	2.4.	Digestive System	185
	2.5.	Glandular System	189
	2.6.	Excretory System	190
	2.7.	Nervous System	190
	2.8.	Reproductive System	193
З.	Ethology.		. 201
	3.1.	General Behaviour.	201
	3.2.	Site Specificity and Migrations on the Host	207
	3.3.	Migration Between Hosts: Lack of a Dispersive Phase .	214
4.	Phylo	geny: The Family Album	.217
	4.1.		217
	4.2.	The Family Gyrodactylidae	220
	4.3.	The Genera	220

<sup>\*</sup>The authors contributed equally to this manuscript.

	4.4.	Evolutionary Affinities of the Gyrodactylids	232	
5.	Systematics: The Biological Bedrock.			
	5.1.	Morphological Conservatism	236	
	5.2.	Molecular Genetics	242	
	5.3.	Host Specificity Among Gyrodactylids	251	
6.	Evolu	tion and Phylogeny of Gyrodactylids	. 259	
	6.1.	Models of Parasite Speciation	259	
	6.2.	Evolution of Gyrodactylids on Guppies	262	
	6.3.	Species Flocks on Gobies.	263	
	6.4.	Refugia and Pleistocene Dispersals.	266	
	6.5.	Paraphyly of Gyrodactylus salaris	271	
	6.6.	Terminology of the G. salaris Species Complex	278	
7.	Epide	Epidemiological Models: Bridging the Gap between Micro-		
	and N	Acroparasites	. 279	
8.	Host	immunity and Parasite Pathogenicity	. 280	
	8.1.	Host Immune Responses	280	
	8.2.	The Heritability of Disease Resistance	288	
	8.3.	Parasite Pathogenicity	290	
	8.4.	Host Specificity and Immunity: Two Sides of the Same		
		Coin?	293	
9.	Envir	onmental Interactions	. 295	
	9.1.	Micropredation	295	
	9.2.	Temperature	296	
	9.3.	Salinity and Water Chemistry	302	
	9.4.	Pollution and Water Quality	305	
10.	The C	Gyrodactylus salaris Epidemic in Norway: Implications		
	for ot	her Countries	. 306	
	10.1.	History	306	
	10.2.	The Status of <i>G. salaris</i> within the EU	310	
	10.3.	The Current Status of <i>G. salaris</i> in Norway	314	
	10.4.	Control Measures	319	
	10.5.	Potential for Further Spread of Gyrodactylus salaris	326	
11.	Concl	usions and Future Research Areas	. 328	
	Acknowledgements			
	Refer	ences	. 330	

#### ABSTRACT

This article reviews the history of gyrodactylid research focussing on the unique anatomy, behaviour, ecology and evolution of the viviparous forms while identifying gaps in our knowledge and directions for future research. We provide the first summary of research on the oviparous gyrodactylids from South American catfish, and highlight the plesiomorphic characters shared by gyrodactylids and other primitive monogeneans. Of these, the most important are the crawling, unciliated larva and the spike sensilla of the cephalic lobes. These characters allow gyrodactylids to transfer between hosts at any stage of the life cycle, without a specific transmission stage. We emphasise the importance of progenesis in shaping the evolution of the viviparous genera and discuss the relative extent of progenesis in the different genera. The validity of the familial classification is discussed and we conclude that the most significant division within the family is between the oviparous and the viviparous genera. The older divisions into Isancistrinae and Polyclithrinae should be allowed to lapse. We discuss approaches to the taxonomy of gyrodactylids, and we emphasise the importance of adequate morphological and molecular data in new descriptions. Host specificity patterns in gyrodactylids are discussed extensively and we note the importance of host shifts, revealed by molecular data, in the evolution of gyrodactylids. To date, the most closely related gyrodactylids have not been found on closely related hosts, demonstrating the importance of host shifts in their evolution. The most closely related species pair is that of G. salaris and G. thymalli, and we provide an account of the patterns of evolution taking place in different mitochondrial clades of this species complex. The host specificity of these clades is reviewed, demonstrating that, although each clade has its preferred host, there is a range of specificity to different salmonids, providing opportunities for complex patterns of survival and interbreeding in Scandinavia. At the same time, we identify trends in systematics and phylogeny relevant to the G. salaris epidemics on Atlantic salmon in Norway, which can be applied more generally to parasite epidemiology and evolution. Although much of gyrodactylid research in the last 30 years has been directed towards salmonid parasites, there is great potential in using other experimental systems, such as the gyrodactylids of poeciliids and sticklebacks. We also highlight the role of glacial lakes and modified river systems during the ice ages in gyrodactylid speciation, and suggest that salmon infecting clades of G. salaris first arose from G. thymalli in such lakes, but failed to spread fully across Scandinavia before further dispersal was ended by rising sea levels. This dispersal has been continued by human activity, leading to the appearance of G. salaris as a pathogen in Norway. We

review the history and current status of the epidemic, and current strategies for elimination of the parasite from Norway. Finally, we consider opportunities for further spread of the parasite within and beyond Europe.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Monogeneans of the genus *Gyrodactylus* have been known for almost 180 years for their retention of fully grown daughters *in utero* until they themselves contain developing embryos (Figure 1). This "Russian-doll" reproduction, dubbed hyperviviparity by Cohen (1977), is extremely rare in the Animal Kingdom and was the focus for intensive study by late 19th century microscopists. We recently reviewed gyrodactylid reproduction (Cable and Harris, 2002) and specificity (Bakke *et al.*, 2002) but there are now compelling reasons to reevaluate their ecology. In the first place, although the viviparous gyrodactylids have attracted most attention, we are becoming increasingly aware of the diversity of oviparous gyrodactylids from South American catfish (Kritsky *et al.*, 2007) and a review of their relationship to the viviparous genera is timely. Furthermore, the viviparous gyrodactylids are increasingly reported as pathogens of



*Figure 1* Light micrograph (interference contrast) of a living gravid *Gyrodactylus salaris* with two daughters *in utero* like "a Russian-doll". The lack of penis and spermatozoa in the seminal receptacle together with the near term F1 embryo *in utero* indicates that the parasite has not yet given birth for the first time. (G. Robertsen, unpublished.) See coloured version on the front cover.

farmed fish (Lile *et al.*, 1993; Woo, 1995; Mo and Lile, 1998; Jalali *et al.*, 2005; You *et al.*, 2006) and the notoriety of the *Gyrodactylus salaris* epidemic has stimulated research to such an extent that gyrodactylids are now the best studied of all monogeneans. Much research in Europe has focussed on three economically relevant species: *G. salaris* on Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and its non-pathogenic sibling *G. thymalli* on grayling (*Thymallus thymallus*), and *G. derjavini* on brown trout (*Salmo trutta*). Recent studies suggest that in the former case we are observing the evolution of a fish pathogen complex in real time. However, several other gyrodactylids have also been studied extensively, including those infecting guppies, gobies and sticklebacks, and represent ideal model systems for studying evolutionary and ecological processes in this group, and in parasitic organisms in general.

#### 1.1. Early History

Gyrodactylus was first described from bream (Abramis brama) by von Nordmann (1832). Although he observed the embryo in utero, he failed to appreciate its significance, and the prominent embryonic hamuli (Figure 1) were interpreted as "stomach hooks". Viviparity was first recognised by von Sieboldt (1849) and the value of gyrodactylids for studies on reproduction was established. Gyrodactylids were particularly useful to early microscopists as flatworms without an impervious egg shell. Flatworms attracted much attention at the end of the 19th century because of their apparently basal position close to Haeckel's (1874) hypothetical gastraea ancestor of the Metazoa and their potential for regeneration. The enclosure of several embryos inside each other also represented an attractive model for the study of germ cell lineages, a paradigm which was just becoming established at this time. Gyrodactylus was therefore a popular choice for early studies on chromosome and embryonic cell behaviour (e.g. Wagener, 1860; Kathariner, 1893, 1899, 1904; Gille, 1914), remaining important until shortly before the First World War.
## 1.2. Taxonomic and Faunistic Research

Gyrodactylids soon became well known as pathogens in fish farms (e.g. Atkins, 1901; Embody, 1924; Guberlet *et al.*, 1927) and wild fish populations (e.g. Williams, 1964). Fish health textbooks describe "fluke" infections, often without differentiating the distinct epidemiology of viviparous gyrodactylids from that of oviparous dactylogyrids and ancyrocephalids. The gyrodactylids were known to be species-rich, and by 1970 some 200 species had been described, mostly from North America and Eurasia (Malmberg, 1970). There was considerable scepticism over the validity of many taxa, and gyrodactylids were largely ignored by evolutionary ecologists because of their complex taxonomy. They were perceived as difficult to work with, which undoubtedly has held back research into their ecology, and by the 1980s only a handful of researchers worldwide retained an interest in the group.

# 1.3. The Gyrodactylus salaris Epidemic

During the mid-1970s, Norwegian researchers began to report a highly pathogenic epidemic disease amongst both farmed and wild salmon populations, which they ascribed to Gyrodactylus salaris (see Tanum, 1983). The first international report of the epidemic (Johnsen, 1978) followed internal reports in Norway (Bergsjö and Vassvik, 1977). Research was at first slow, but over the next 20 years the disease was observed in many rivers within Norway (Heggberget and Johnsen, 1982; Johnsen and Jensen, 1986, 1991; Mo, 1994). The generally accepted conclusion is that the parasite was introduced from the Baltic region into East Atlantic stocks of salmon which lacked endogenous resistance to the parasite (but see Halvorsen and Hartvigsen, 1989; and Section 10 below). Subsequently, G. salaris has spread to cause epidemic disease in the Russian River Keret (Kola Peninsula) and high infection levels are also recorded in the River Högvadsån on the south west Coast of Sweden. Much effort is devoted to prevent the pathogen spreading to Scotland, Ireland and other areas with large natural populations of Atlantic salmon. *G. salaris* now represents the most significant threat to the continued existence of large wild populations of East Atlantic stocks of Atlantic salmon, and endangers the reintroduction of salmon into rivers of the North Sea basin. It represents a major drain on resources for the EU and the potential for translocation with salmonid stocks to other parts of the world cannot be ignored. This pathogen has been a research driver which has led to huge improvements in our understanding of gyrodactylid biology. In addition, due to their species richness, ubiquity, economic importance in aquaculture and potential conservation threat, they are the most intensively studied group of monogeneans. From a research backwater, gyrodactylid research is now a growth area within parasitology and wildlife disease ecology.

## 1.4. Genus, Species Flock or Host Races?

One of the most interesting questions regarding *Gyrodactylus* today concerns the species concept; what is the relationship between the operational taxonomic units (OTU's) that we currently regard as valid species? Gyrodactylus is hugely species-rich but lacks obvious morphological diversity. Over 400 species have been described (Harris et al., 2004) but from only  $\sim$ 200 predominantly teleost hosts (Bakke et al., 2002). Extrapolation to the  $\sim$ 24000 teleost species would suggest around 20 000 gyrodactylid species. The existence of such a megadiverse genus has wider significance. There is no evidence that the rate of discovery of new gyrodactylids is slowing for any reason other than lack of research, and where close attention has been paid to specific host groups, species descriptions have multiplied (on poeciliid fishes, see Harris and Cable, 2000; Cable et al., 2005; on gobiids see Longshaw et al., 2003; Huyse and Malmberg, 2004; Huyse et al., 2004a). The rate of discovery of new gyrodactylid taxa is set to risen again, as the availability of molecular markers reveals previously undetected species and strains (Lautraite et al., 1999; Zietara and Lumme, 2002; Hansen et al., 2003).

# 1.5. *Gyrodactylus*: The Drosophilids of the Parasitic World

The discovery of G. salaris as a devastating pathogen marked a turning point in gyrodactylid research and by stimulating interest in molecular markers, has reinvigorated gyrodactylid taxonomy and evolutionary biology. Molecular probes (Cunningham et al., 1995a, b; Cunningham, 1997) were initially developed to provide objective and reliable means for identification of Gyrodactylus parasitising salmonid fish by nonspecialists, and from this the modern field has developed. One of the most exciting observations has been the ability to record evolution in action by an actively adapting species, G. salaris. The boundaries between G. salaris on Atlantic salmon and on Arctic charr (Olstad et al., 2005, 2007; Robertsen et al., 2007a), and G. thymalli on grayling (Hansen et al., 2003; Meinilä et al., 2004) are not distinct, suggesting that we are watching the evolution of a gyrodactylid which has switched hosts and is developing new patterns of host specificity. This has stimulated interest in other gyrodactylids, for example those infecting guppies (Cable and van Oosterhout, 2007; King and Cable, 2007; van Oosterhout et al., 2003, in press a, b) and gobies (Huyse and Volckaert, 2002; Huyse et al., 2003, 2004a, b), and has shown that the patterns of evolution of these organisms are subtle and informative about general evolutionary processes in parasites. It may not be too fanciful to consider the genus Gyrodactylus the Drosophila of the parasite world. Our strains of G. turnbulli have been maintained experimentally for more than 10 years, and G. salaris for more than 5 years in the laboratory. With their short generation times and simple culture requirements, the entire trajectory of infection of these ectoparasites can be monitored in real time on a single host. However, the most important resource for evolutionary biologists is the huge diversity of gyrodactylids on bony fishes, representing a wide range of evolutionary interactions. The temporary evasion of host responses by host transfer may increase the abilities of Gyrodactylus species to colonise new host species and may partially explain the high rate of diversification demonstrated by viviparous gyrodactylids (Boeger et al., 2005). Amongst the 400 recorded species, there are examples where speciation may have occurred in the last few thousand years, through to species which are

several millions of years old. By reviewing gyrodactylid biology here, we aim to increase the profile of these parasites not just among helminthologists, but also for those with a wider interest in evolution.

#### Part 1. Gyrodactylid autecology

# 2. MORPHOLOGY

Gyrodactylids are amongst the smallest monogeneans (Figure 2) and some, such as *Isancistrum* (see Llewellyn, 1984), are similar in size to oncomiracidium larvae ( $\sim 200 \,\mu$ m). The fusiform body has a posterior opisthaptor armed with marginal hooks, hamuli and bars (see Section 2.3). Anteriorly, two conspicuous cephalic processes bearing



*Figure 2* Scanning electron micrograph of a heavy *Gyrodactylus salaris* infection on the skin of an Atlantic salmon parr (K. Kvalsvik, unpublished).

adhesive glands and spike sensilla are involved in attachment but are also important in the sensory biology of gyrodactylids (see Bakke *et al.*, 2004a). The transparent body is dominated by the F1 generation embryo curled within the uterus (Figures 1 and 3); in gravid worms, all other body organs are compressed by the sheer volume of the developing embryonic mass.

The internal anatomy of gyrodactylids has been extensively misinterpreted because they lack many structures present in oviparous monogeneans. Egg-laying monogeneans produce large tanned egg capsules (Smyth, 1954) which hatch to a (normally) swimming oncomiracidium. This larva has external, ciliated locomotory cells and usually four eye spots, and on hatching swims to a new host, where it sheds ciliated cells and settles to a sedentary existence, usually spending its entire life on the same host. The female reproductive system of these oviparous monogeneans is separated into a germarium, producing oöcytes and vitellaria, producing vitelline cells which contribute to the egg shell and provide nourishment for the developing embryo. These cells, with sperms, mix within the oötype to form a mature egg, which is then extruded and laid. Several reviews have been dedicated to different aspects of the biology of oviparous monogeneans, but gyrodactylids have barely any characteristics in common with these organisms, and their structure was consequently poorly understood for many years. Harris (1983) was the first to recognise egg laying in Ooegyrodactylus farlowellae, which allowed the identification of derived structures from plesiomorphic characters in gyrodactylids.

# 2.1. The Importance of Progenesis and Viviparity

The term progenesis is often confused with neoteny. Neoteny is the retention of larval characters beyond the normal developmental stage to allow continued exploitation of a particular habitat. Duration of the life cycle is not shortened (for further clarification, see Gould, 1977). Progenesis, on the other hand, is the acceleration of the life cycle to allow an organism to reproduce as a juvenile or larva. The early-maturing precocious larvae of *Polystoma* spp. are excellent examples of



*Figure 3* Light micrographs of *Gyrodactylus salaris* showing embryonic development during the life cycle. (a) Following birth (newborn, first born and second born daughters as shown), the hamuli of the next generation are visible towards the posterior axis of the F1 embryo close the Egg Cell Forming Region (ECFR) of the parent. (b) The hamuli of the F2 embryo lie at the anterior pole of the parental uterus, whereas the sclerites of the F1 embryo, at the posterior pole, are fully developed in near term adults. (c) Following birth, the contracted uterus contains two dividing cells which have originated from a single cell that has entered the uterus from the ECFR. (d) F1 embryo is a mass of ~50 cells that fills the uterus. No evidence of embryonic sclerite development. (e) A ring of primordial marginal hooks and rod-like hamuli primordial within the F1 embryo. (f) The marginal hooks have separated so a ring structure is no longer visible and curvative of the hamuli apparent in F1 haptor. The F1 embryo in this postfirst birth worm is similar to that of a newborn parasite.

progenesis (although confusingly referred to as neotenics), as they reproduce when only weeks old, whereas "normal adults" (otherwise known as slow-growing worms) reproduce after 3 years. The retention of larval eye spots by the adult Pseudodiplorchis (see Cable and Tinsley, 1991) may be a neotenic adaptation allowing a light response when the toad hosts emerge from hibernatory burrows. Paedogenesis is as a general term used to describe reproduction in larvae, but often life-cycle duration is overlooked, so examples (such as salamanders) that have a life cycle of normal length or extended, should actually be considered neotenic. The viviparous gyrodactylids are highly progenetic (Harris, 1983) and the mature Gyrodactylus closely resembles larval and young (male) Ooegyrodactylus. The first birth of Gyrodactylus occurs after days (e.g. Jansen and Bakke, 1991), whereas in O. farlowellae there is a generation time of weeks (Harris, 1983). This abbreviation of the life cycle in viviparous gyrodactylids can be attributed to progenesis.

Viviparous gyrodactylids are amongst the most successful progenetic groups. Progenesis is also thought to have been important in the evolution of other minor phyla including rotifers, gnathostomulids and kinorynchs, groups which contain at most hundreds to thousands of species. If we are correct in estimating  $\sim 20\,000$  Gyrodactylus species (see above), the gyrodactylids would be one or two orders of magnitude more species-rich than these other groups.

Cable and Harris (2002) described the effects of progenesis on the female reproductive system. In other monogeneans, including the egg-laying gyrodactylids, this system has extensive vitellaria with a complex oötype and glandular apparatus. In the viviparous gyrodactylids however, the female system never fully develops and remains structurally simple, characterised by syncytial structures. Viviparous gyrodactylids are protogynous hermaphrodites, the female system maturing before the male, whereas all other monogeneans, including the oviparous gyrodactylids, are protandrous. This is further evidence of precocious maturation of the simplified female system, which becomes active before the male system has followed its normal trajectory to maturation. However, substantial differences exist in the extent of progenesis in different gyrodactylids. *Macrogyrodactylus* appears least progenetic, undergoing considerable post-embryonic differentiation, particularly in the putative glandular tissue/subtegumental cells of the posterior body (see Cable *et al.*, 1996, 1997, 1998; El-Naggar and Cable, in press). By contrast, *Isancistrum* may represent extreme progenetic abbreviation of the life cycle; the haptor lacks hamuli and bars, and other organ systems appear simplified.

Coincident with progenesis in other organisms, such as bdelloid rotifers, is eutely (a constant number of nuclei, usually established in the juvenile stage), and this is also seen in gyrodactylids. Gyrodactylids such as *G. gasterostei*, contain ~1000 cells, with all non-reproductive cell division being completed before birth. The only major changes which occur post-birth are within the male reproductive system. This may not be the case for all genera, especially for the very large and relatively long-lived *Macrogyrodactylus*. The exact point at which eutely is established must represent the switch from development of the parent to development of the next-generation embryo, and is therefore an important determinant of reproductive rate.

As in other progenetic, eutelic groups, gyrodactylid body size and cell number are insufficient to support the development of extensive internal organ systems. Functions such as internal transport and homeostasis are carried out by syncytial layers; many of the internal boundaries in gyrodactylids are syncytial, allowing transport of material within, but not necessarily across, layers. Syncytia characterise this group and are found throughout the body including the external tegument, the absorptive layer of the intestine, the lining of the Egg Cell Forming Region (ECFR; see Jones *et al.*, 1997, 1998; Cable *et al.*, 1996, 1997, 1998), and the uterus.

Viviparity is the second major reproductive adaptation of gyrodactylids. Uniquely they give birth to fully grown young which already contain developing embryos *in utero* (Figures 1 and 3). Embryos may originate in one of two ways. The second-born and subsequent daughters develop from mature oöcytes in the same manner as in any other metazoan (although oöcytes may be fertilised by sperm or develop apomictically). However, the first-born daughter always develops asexually in the centre of its parental embryo as a group of cells that become differentiated from their parent. It is impossible therefore to track the first-born daughter back to a single cell. In this respect, viviparity in gyrodactylids, at least the development of the first-born daughter is another expression of the large potential for asexual reproduction in platyhelminths. A plausible hypothesis for the origin of viviparity is that an oviparous gyrodactylid acquired an adaptation whereby an embryo *in ovo* developed daughter embryos asexually, to be born almost directly after the larva had hatched. Such an adaptation would be favoured because of the reduction in generation time achieved, and eventually loss of egg shell would lead to the assumption of an entirely viviparous life cycle. All other aspects of morphology must be interpreted in the context of the extreme progenesis and viviparity shown by gyrodactylids.

## 2.2. Tegument

The characteristic syncytial tegument of monogeneans has been described for Gyrodactylus gasterostei (see Lyons, 1970; Cable et al., 1996), Gyrodactylus eucaliae (see Kritsky, 1971; Kritsky and Kruidenier, 1976) and for G. turnbulli and G. bullatarudis (see Cable et al., 1996). Embryonic gyrodactylids have a nucleated epidermis, which in other monogeneans is replaced by an outer anucleated cytoplasmic layer connected to subtegumental cell bodies that usually lie beneath muscle blocks. Surprisingly, no intact cytoplasmic connections linking the outer tegument of mature gyrodactylids to the putative subtegument have been described and there is considerable confusion as to the identity of the subtegumental cells themselves. However, there are a series of lateral cells, which are assumed to be subtegumental cells as they contain secretory vesicles similar to those in the surface layer of the adult tegument (e.g. El-Naggar and Cable, in press). In G. eucaliae, a single type of subtegumental cell appears to produce two distinct tegumental vesicles (Kritsky and Kruidenier, 1976) whereas in Macrogyrodactylus clarii three different secretory vesicles are each manufactured in a distinct cell type (El-Naggar and Cable, in press). In both gyrodactylids, these putative subtegument cells are restricted to particular regions of the body. The extent of subtegumental variation in other gyrodactylids is unknown, but the basic structure of the tegument appears similar to that of other monogeneans. The outer surface is surrounded by an outer plasma membrane amplified with numerous microvilli, between which

often lies a prominent carbohydrate-rich glycocalyx. The outer cytoplasmic layer is usually devoid of cell organelles, as nuclei, mitochondria, Golgi bodies, and endoplasmic reticulum tends to be restricted to the subtegumental cells. It rests on a basal membrane overlying a basal lamina complex and muscle layers; in gravid worms this tissue is often greatly compressed against the uterus (Cable *et al.*, 1996). The contents of tegumental vesicles are secreted on to the surface of *Gyrodactylus* spp. (Cable *et al.*, 1996; Bakke *et al.*, 2006) and there is presumably quite a high turnover of vesicles as indicated by the manufacture of large numbers of vesicles in the putative subtegumental cells. Even the surface layer of near term F1 embryos contains numerous tegumental vesicles, but their secretion has only been observed after birth.

#### 2.3. Attachment and Musculature

Gyrodactylids primarily attach using the opisthaptor armed with 16 peripheral articulated marginal hooks and usually with a single pair of ventrally orientated hamuli, linked by separate dorsal and ventral bars. As in the acanthocotylids, Enoplocotyle, the anoplodiscids, bothitremids and tetraonchoidids, the marginal hooks have articulated blades (sickles), which can move relative to their shafts. The marginal hooks are arranged around the periphery of the haptor within finger-like tegumental papillae (Figure 4). The marginal hooks are capable of considerable mobility, moving freely within each tegumental papilla, in addition to the shafts being capable of extension in and out of the haptor. The papillae have an extensive musculature, allowing each individual marginal hook to work independently of its neighbours, but the roof of the haptor is also well provided with radial fibres which bind the hooks together and allow them to act as a unit. Fibres attaching to the marginal hooks may be strengthened and therefore more visible than normal musculature. The "sickle filament loop" (Figure 5) of Malmberg (1970) is an open-ended loop which fits over the marginal sickle blade and transmits force from effector muscles located deep within the papilla (Shinn et al., 1993), while "shank ligaments" connect the marginal hooks into the deeper haptor. The marginal hooks represent the major attachment organs of



Figure 4 Scanning electron microscopy of the opisthaptor of Gyrodactylus salaris attached to the skin of an Atlantic salmon.

gyrodactylids and, with the hamuli and ventral bar, represent the main taxonomic structures. Shinn *et al.* (2003) showed that their gaffing action, taken in concert, firmly attach the gyrodactylid to the fish surface. They are also essential in other behaviours, most notably helping to attach to smooth surfaces, such as glass (personal observation) and the surface water film (Cable *et al.*, 2002a).

The single pair of hamuli lies ventral to the marginal hooks. In skin parasites, the hamuli are fish-hook shaped, connected by the dorsal bar which is fused at its ends to processes on the surface of the hamuli and a ventral bar loosely attached to the hamuli (Figure 6). The anterior tips of the hamulus roots are bound to large fibrous ligaments running anteriorly and eventually join the body wall musculature. Some  $30-50 \,\mu\text{m}$  anterior of the hamulus roots these ligaments pass through a fibrous yoke which ensures that the force exerted by the body wall musculature acts at an angle to pull the hamulus roots forward and into the mid-line. The dorsal bar antagonises these forces and maintains the spacing between the hamulus shafts (Figure 7). When the body wall musculature relaxes, the hamuli rotate slightly (Shinn *et al.*, 2003) and move relative to the ventral bar. This



*Figure 5* Scanning electron micrograph of the sickle filament loop of the marginal hook of *Gyrodactylus salaris* from Atlantic salmon, often mentioned in species descriptions. In our opinion, this structure, often detached entirely from the sickle during digestion, is of little value in *Gyrodactylus* taxonomy.

sequence of movements forces the hamulus points against the fish skin, exerting pressure to lift the roof of the haptor, while tensioning the marginal hooks. The ventral bar (Figure 8) acts as a pressure pad preventing slippage of the anterior part of the haptor and the hamuli (Shinn *et al.*, 2003). In skin parasitic gyrodactylids (on which Shinn *et al.*, 2003 based this model of attachment), the hamulus points normally do not extend from the tegument (Wagener, 1860; Cone and Odense, 1984) or gaff the fish skin (Figure 7). Instead, pressure is applied by the whole length of the point, forced down onto the fish skin but not penetrating it. This is therefore similar to the mechanism of attachment of skin-parasitic capsalid monogeneans (e.g. Kearn, 1971) in which damage to the host epithelium is minimised and attachment is achieved while the musculature is relaxed.



*Figure 6* Light micrograph of flat mount preparation of the hamuli and bars of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Lierelva strain) from Atlantic salmon as seen from the ventral side.

The apparent uniformity of gyrodactylid attachment hides a huge diversity of detail. In gill-parasites, with their characteristic strongly curved hamulus shafts, the hamuli often penetrate the gill tissue to some depth. Ooegyrodactylus farlowellae, despite appearing similar to other skin parasitic gyrodactylids, also gaffs skin tissue deeply, and marginal hooks are relatively unimportant in attachment (Harris, 1983). This may be because the large body size requires more robust attachment than the smaller Gyrodactylus species or it may be an adaptation to the bony external surface of loricarid catfish. More subtle diversity of attachment also exists. Harris and Cable (2000) noted that G. poeciliae, with slender marginal hook sickle points less than 1 µm in length, all fell from the host following fixation, whereas G. milleri, with more robust marginal hook sickles, remained attached to the same poeciliid host. Cone and Odense (1984) found that G. avaloniae, G. adspersi, G. bullatarudis (possibly G. turnbulli, see Harris, 1986) and Gyrodactylus sp. from goldfish (close to G. qurleyi according to Cone and Wiles, 1984) all had a superficial attachment mechanism in which the marginal hooks hardly penetrated the



*Figure 7* Scanning electron micrographs of the dorsal side (a, Lake Bullaren strain from rainbow trout) and ventral side (b, River Rauma strain from salmon) of the hamuli (anchors) and dorsal bar of *Gyrodactylus salaris*.



*Figure 8* Scanning electron micrographs of the dorsal (a) and ventral (b) sides of the ventral bar of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (River Rauma strain) from Atlantic salmon.

epithelium. In contrast, *G. salmonis* penetrated host cells deeply (Cone and Cusack, 1988). In *G. salaris*, the sickle points are approximately 6  $\mu$ m in length and too short to penetrate the epidermis into the blood supplied dermis (Figures 9 and 10; see Sterud *et al.*, 1998).



Figure 9 Scanning electron micrograph of a marginal hook of Gyrodactylus salaris (River Rauma strain) from Atlantic salmon.



Figure 10 Scanning electron micrograph of the marginal hooks of Gyrodactylus salaris penetrating the skin of an Atlantic salmon. The sickle points are  $\sim 6 \,\mu$ m in length and too short to penetrate the epidermis into the blood supplied dermis.

Overall, *Gyrodactylus* species seem to have been selected to minimise damage to the host epithelium, trending towards superficial attachment via the marginal hooks and the hamuli used as a pressure pad.

The structure and organisation of the haptor has been the main character used in describing new genera, and different genera therefore have different attachment strategies. The simplest modification is the complete loss of the hamuli and bars. This appears to have occurred independently at least twice; in Anacanthocotyle parasitising characins in Central America (Kritsky and Fritts, 1970) and in Isancistrum infecting squids in the North Atlantic (de Beauchamp, 1912; Llewellyn, 1984). In these genera attachment relies on the marginal hooks only, in *Isancistrum* possibly because of the very small body size (100-300 µm length; Llewellyn, 1984) or the fragile thin epidermis of the host squid (Polglase et al., 1983). Loss of hamuli and bars may also be due to progenesis, which reduces developmental time available for hamulus development and migration. Progenesis may also explain the peduncular location of hamuli in Acanthoplacatus (see Ernst et al., 2001a) which do not migrate into the haptor as the parasite matures. It is difficult to see how the hamuli could

function in their peduncular position and they appear rudimentary in the illustrations of Ernst (1999).

The larger-bodied gyrodactylids such as Macrogyrodactylus, Swingleus, Polyclithrum and Mormyrogyrodactylus (Luus-Powell et al., 2003) all use shallow suctorial attachment. The marginal hooks are separated into anterior and posterior groups (recognising the stresses placed on the haptor when the host fish moves), and the haptor may be strengthened with accessory plates or bars. In each of these genera, the haptor has evolved independently for suctorial attachment suggesting strong common selective forces on gyrodactylid evolution. The functional parallels with the capsalid attachment mechanism (Kearn, 1971) are striking. In Fundulotrema, Swingleus and Mormyrogyrodactylus, an accessory peduncular plate is present to allow the anterior of the haptor to be pressed against the host (Cone and Odense, 1988; Billeter et al., 2000; Luus-Powell et al., 2003). Suctorial attachment has also evolved in Gyrdicotylus gallieni, from the mouths of clawed toads (Xenopus). The entire haptoral rim has become modified into a sucker, partially separated into two units by the hamuli (Harris and Tinsley, 1987). The membraneous edge of the haptor extends beyond the marginal hooks and lacks the papillae characteristic of the genus Gyrodactylus, instead being modified into a marginal valve (Harris and Tinsley, 1987). Attachment is to the highly contractile oral epithelium and the suckers have converged upon those of polystomatid monogeneans, which attach to the extensible epithelium of the amphibian urinary bladder.

The attachment of several gyrodactylid genera has not been fully analysed. The haptors of *Gyrodactyloides* and *Laminiscus* were originally thought to be identical, but are clearly not, even though both are adapted for gill attachment. *Laminiscus* is most similar to *Archigyrodactylus* (Mizelle and Kritsky, 1967) and has an additional plate within the haptor, the function of which remains unknown. It is unfortunate that we understand so little about the diversity of gyrodactylid attachment, as the minutiae of hamulus and bar structure still form the basis for classification of the group. There are many descriptions of haptoral structures which we do not understand functionally; *G. anudarinae*, *G. tibetanus* and *G. luckyi* all have a ventral bar membrane (an essential component of the pressure pad) modified into two filaments; *G. aksuensis* has hamuli barely larger than the marginal hooks; and many species have hamulus roots folded inwards to the mid-line of the haptor. This has evolved independently at least twice (once in loach gyrodactylids such as *G. pavlovskyi*, *G. jiroveci* and *G. incognitus* and the second time in *G. pleuronecti*, *G. flesi* etc. infecting flatfishes), suggesting that it confers specific advantage to skin parasites.

Hamuli and bars of individual species are invariant. In G. gasterostei, the variance of hamular dimensions in natural populations was no greater than that within inbred laboratory lines, with variance being only  $\sim 5\%$  of the mean (Harris, 1998). This work, and our unpublished observations on the guppy parasites G. turnbulli and G. bullatarudis, implies that the hamuli and bars are tightly controlled genetically, although their size may vary according to environmental influences. The most important environmental factor affecting hamulus and marginal hook size is temperature, an increase in which results in smaller hamuli and marginal hooks (Kulemina, 1977; Mo, 1991a, b, c, 1993; Dávidová et al., 2005; see also Section 9.1). This is general in all species in which it has been studied. Why then is gyrodactylid morphology so constant within, but consistently different between, species? The evidence, particularly from the G. salaris species complex is that morphology can change following host switching and isolation, as populations of G. salaris from salmon (and rainbow trout) are morphologically different to specimens from grayling (Lindenstrøm et al., 2003a; Shinn et al., 2004; Olstad et al., unpublished), despite their suggested recent origin by host switching (see Meinilä et al., 2004). These anecdotal observations suggest that the rate of morphological evolution in gyrodactylids changes when a host shift occurs, in addition to being influenced by environmental factors.

The body wall musculature in *G. eucaliae* is typical of other invertebrates with one to three discontinuous layers (Kritsky, 1971); an outer circular, an intermediate longitudinal and an inner diagonal layer. The outer two layers were present throughout the body whereas the inner was usually restricted to the cephalic and peduncular regions of the parasite. Two types of myofilaments with an electron-dense sarcoplasm were non-striated and orientated longitudinally in the fibres (Kritsky, 1971). More recently, El-Naggar *et al.* (2004a) confirmed the triad of muscle layers and using confocal scanning microscopy were able to show the intricate lattice-like arrangement of muscle fibres throughout the body and haptor of *Macrogyrodactylus clarii*.

## 2.4. Digestive System

All gyrodactylids are epidermal browsers that occasionally will take dermal cells as well. Goblet mucous cells may be digested with epithelial cells, and as a thin layer of mucus covers the epidermis (Whitear, 1970), their diet is usually cited as epidermal cells and mucus. Gyrodactylids with black guts have invariably been grazing on melanocytes (Cable *et al.*, 1997, 2002b), rather than on blood.

The ultrastructure of the bilobed, blind ended gut of gyrodactylids is well documented, especially the characteristic syncytial gastrodermis (Kritsky *et al.*, 1994; Cable *et al.*, 1996, 1997, 1998; El-Said Arafa, 1998; Olstad *et al.*, 2006). This pattern is common throughout the group except in *Isancistrum*, in which the two caeca fuse behind the testis forming a ring. The gastrodermis lies on a thin basal lamina complex, often close to the surface of the parental uterus enclosing the embryo. Nuclei are sparse, and often associated with mitochondria and Golgi bodies, while much of the cytoplasm is packed with a range of different digestive vesicles (Kritsky *et al.*, 1994; Cable *et al.*, 1999). Microvilli project into the gut lumen or are compressed together in newborn worms or specimens which have recently evacuated their gut contents.

The pharynx, lying just above the union of the two gut caeca, is less well described. It consists of a ring of eight large cells, constricted by muscle blocks (Figure 11). Malmberg (1970) made the distinction between species with long pharyngeal processes (e.g. *G. salaris*; Figure 12) and those with short processes. However, the processes extend anteriorly from the pharyngeal cells, their difference in length being one of degree. The pharynx is protruded through a bell-like valve onto the host epithelium (Figure 12) during feeding, and the processes placed against the host epithelium. This can be seen more easily in species with long processes, but the feeding mechanism appears identical irrespective of process length.



*Figure 11* Transmission electron micrograph of the mouth (arrow head) and pharynx of *Gyrodactylus gasterostei*. The pharyngeal bulb constricted by muscle blocks (arrows) lies in close proximity to the parental uterus (ut) and F1 embryo. [Reproduced from Cable *et al.* (2002b) with permission of Cambridge University Press.]

The pharyngeal cells are packed with secretory granules, and, by analogy with Entobdella soleae (see Kearn, 1971) and other skinfeeding monogeneans (Halton, 1997), we assume that digestive enzymes are released directly onto the skin of the fish within the chamber sealed off by the pharyngeal valve. This begins digestion, and partly digested epithelial cells are drawn up into the gut for further intra-cellular digestion by the gastrodermis. Proteolytic activity has never been demonstrated in the pharyngeal cells of gyrodactylids, but using SEM potential feeding pits are detectable in the host epidermis (Figure 13). These circular lesions appear to heal rapidly by epidermal growth and regeneration, and probably leave the dermis intact (see Figure 13; Kearn, 1963). Within the intestine, digestion proceeds rapidly. The actively phagocytic intestinal syncytium takes up fragments of host cells. Using previously starved parasites (the only feasible experimental scenario), feeding recommenced within 1 min of starved G. gasterostei being returned to a host



*Figure 12* Light micrograph of the extended pharynx with the eight pharyngeal lobes spread out in a *Gyrodactylus salaris* specimen. (K.B. Nilsen, unpublished.)



*Figure 13* Scanning electron micrograph demonstrating the wounds (see arrows) on the epidermis of an Atlantic salmon parr caused by the feeding activity of *Gyrodactylus salaris*.

(Cable *et al.*, 2002b). The ingested material was highly particulate suggesting that the initial homogenisation of contents during the extra-corporeal phase of digestion is effective at breaking up host cells, although occasionally, almost intact host cells and host melanin are detected in the gut lumen (Figure 14). Within 5 min of first feeding, material was being actively phagocytosed into the intestinal syncytium and a digestive cycle similar to that observed in *Calicotyle kroyeri* (see Halton and Stranock, 1976; Kritsky *et al.*, 1994) was then followed (Cable *et al.*, 2002b). In *G. gasterostei*, feeding occurs once every 15–30 min, a patch of epidermis containing ~30 cells being stripped away on each occasion (Harris, 1982).

Direct physical damage to the host caused by feeding has been most comprehensively documented in *G. salaris* (see Figure 13). Not all ingested material is either absorbed or directly excreted. Observations on the fate of melanin granules in *Macrogyrodactylus polypteri* (see Cable *et al.*, 1997), where these are a common dietary component, and



*Figure 14* Transmission electron micrograph of the gastrodermis of *Gyrodactylus gasterostei*. The gut lumen (Gl) contains intact host cells (arrow) and melanosomes (arrow heads). The syncytial gastrodermis (Ga) is compressed between the tegumental surface layer of the parent (Pt) and the F1 embryo (F1). [Reproduced from Cable *et al.* (2002b) with permission of Cambridge University Press.]

in *G. gasterostei* (see Cable *et al.*, 2002b) where they are not, indicate that the granules become phagocytosed by the gastrodermal syncytium and then remain *in situ* for long periods. The accumulation of host melanosomes in four distinct transverse bands in the intestine of *M. polypteri* is particularly intriguing (Malmberg, 1957; Khalil, 1970; Cable *et al.*, 1997). Granules are also phagocytosed elsewhere in the gut, giving old animals an orange colouration between the black bands. Defecation has been observed in *M. polypteri* because melanin granules colours the expelled material.

#### 2.5. Glandular System

Generally, monopisthocotyleans possess groups of bilaterally paired unicellular glands in the cephalic and trunk regions. In gyrodactylids, Wagener (1860) was the first to describe these glands and their distribution. Kathariner (1893) then observed ducts leading to the cephalic lobes and described these as cephalic glands. The cephalic glands release their contents individually onto the surface of the cephalic lobes. The first detailed account of these glands in any monogenean is that of Kritsky (1978, Figures 1-6), who described them in G. eucaliae. In this species, they consist of three distinct morphological types: three dorsal bilaterally paired groups producing elongated acidophilic secretions; one paired antero-ventral group producing basophilic secretions; and a group of postero-ventral glands immediately behind the pharynx secreting granular acidophilic secretions. All three glands are merocrine (the cell survives the cycle of secretory activity). The release of the contents of each granule is by union of its limiting membrane with the tegumental unit membrane (Kritsky, 1978). The presence of several types of cephalic glands indicates a multi-purpose role in G. eucaliae, but their primary function is considered to be adhesion (Kritsky, 1978; see Section 5.3).

Other components of the glandular system are described in Section 2.2 (tegumental secretions), Section 2.4 (secretions of the pharyngeal glands and the gastrodermis) and Section 2.8.2 (female reproductive system), but there are also unpublished thesis accounts of glands located throughout the body and associated with the haptor

(Kritsky, 1971; El-Said Arafa, 1998). Nothing is known of the chemistry of secretions from tegument and glands in gyrodactylids or in monogeneans in general (Whittington *et al.*, 2000a; Whittington and Cribb, 2001).

# 2.6. Excretory System

The excretory system consists of two longitudinal looped canals draining the two halves of the body and receiving smaller ducts from individual flame cells. The structure of individual flame cells and ducts is identical with that of all other platyhelminths in which they have been studied (Kritsky, 1971; Rohde, 1989; Cable and Harris, 2002) but overall the system is much simpler than in larger flatworms, presumably because of progenesis. Malmberg (1957, 1970) described the excretory system in considerable detail, and used it to subdivide the genus Gyrodactylus and establish the phylogeny of the group. The validity of Malmberg's (1970) classification based on excretory systems is discussed in Sections 4.1 and 5.2. A drawback to the use of the excretory system in taxonomy is that it can only be studied in living material, and apart from Gyrodactylus, only Ooegyrodactylus (see Harris, 1983), Macrogyrodactylus (see Malmberg, 1957), Gyrdicotylus (Vercammen Grandjean, 1960; Harris and Tinsley, 1987), Swingleus, Polyclithrum and Isancistrum (Malmberg, 1998) have been fully described.

## 2.7. Nervous System

Despite the wealth of descriptions of platyhelminth nervous systems visualised by immunofluorescence (e.g. Halton and Maule, 2004, and references therein), until recently the only accounts of the gyrod-actylid nervous system were an early description of an unidentified species from the three-spined stickleback visualised using the thiocholine method (Lyons, 1969) and immunocytochemical demonstration of two neuroactive substances in *G. salaris* (see Reuter, 1987) revealing the now classical orthogonal pattern of nerve cords (Reuter *et al.*, 1998). However, confocal scanning laser microscopy has revealed with superb clarity the spatial arrangement of muscle and associated

cholinergic, peptidergic and aminergic innervations in *Macro-gyrodactylus clarii* (see El-Naggar *et al.*, 2004a).

Three types of putative sense organ have been described in gyrodactylids. Firstly, there are uniciliate tegumental receptors, consisting of a nerve bulb connected to the tegument by septate desmosomes and a terminal, free 9+2 axoneme with no basal body (Lyons, 1969), which in other invertebrates are thought to be mechanoreceptors (Lyons, 1973). In G. salaris, three distinct types of uniciliate sensilla occur in the head region of G. salaris: a tapering form, a cylindrical form and a form with a terminal bulb (see Bakke et al., 2004a). The length of sensilla axonemes is also highly variable reflecting growth or functional differences, and some may be retractable (Bakke et al., 2004a). Second, there are compound uniciliate tegumental receptors clustered to form the prominent pair of "spike sensilla" on the cephalic lobes of Gyrodactylus spp. (Lyons, 1969, 1973; Figures 15 and 16). The phylogenetic distribution of these receptors is unclear, but they are absent from most monogenean groups. Kearn (1993) recorded similar structures from an analogous position in Enoplocotyle kidakoi and Lyons (1969) found them in the same position in the oncomiracidium of Entobdella soleae, and from the pharynx of adult Acanthocotyle lobianchi (see Lyons, 1969). The phylogenetic distribution of these receptors warrants further examination. These



*Figure 15* Scanning electron micrograph of the sensory apparatus on the anterior lobes of *Gyrodactylus salaris*, dorsal view.



*Figure 16* Scanning electron micrograph of the sensory apparatus at the anterior lobes of *Gyrodactylus salaris* actively searching the skin surface of an Atlantic salmon parr, anterior lateral view. (Adapted from Bakke *et al.*, 2004a with permission from *Folia Parasitologica.*)

receptors are thought to be chemosensory and are used extensively when gyrodactylids probe their substrate or surrounding environment prior to movement, feeding or interaction with another gyrodactylid (Figure 16). Third, there are sub-surface ciliary receptors, possibly photoreceptors, described by Watson and Rohde (1994) using TEM from just below the spike sensilla of an unidentified *Gyrodactylus* sp. from swordtails. Each receptor consisted of a single dendrite ending in an extra-cellular cavity containing a small number of modified cilia. Unlike most monogeneans, no pigmented eye spots have been described from *Gyrodactylus* species. In living *Ooegyrodactylus farlowellae*, a pale green, lenticular structure lies in the midline anterior to the pharynx, which persists throughout life although it is most obvious in larvae (Harris, 1983). In fixed, stained specimens, this structure lies in the same position as the cerebral organ of *Macro-gyrodactylus polypteri* (see Malmberg, 1957). Harris (1983) suggested that this may be a photoreceptor, but this has also never been investigated further.

Surface sensilla (uniciliate and compound uniciliate) are symmetrically distributed around the median longitudinal axis and can be mapped using silver nitrate that stains cell junctions. Shinn et al. (1997, 1998a, b) and El-Naggar et al. (2001) used this method to distinguish Gyrodactylus and Macrogyrodactylus species, but single specimens cannot be identified reliably. Staining is particularly unreliable in the haptoral region due to the presence of other argentophilic structures and host mucus (Shinn et al., 1997; Bakke et al., 2004a), and the sensilla pattern on the body can sometimes be obscured by a large in utero embryo (Shinn et al., 1997). Bakke et al. (2004a) questioned the temporal stability of the sensilla pattern at specific locations, and the pattern may change with age. Bakke et al. (2004a, b) concluded that mapping sensilla was useful in investigating variation in gyrodactylids, but was not diagnostic. Chaetotaxy may prove to be a reliable indicator of higher taxon relationships (Shinn et al., 1998a; El-Naggar et al., 2001) based on the branching structure of the nerve systems in relation to sensilla pattern, but perhaps more interesting would be to assess whether there is any relationship between the abundance and distribution of sensilla and gyrodactylid life history strategies, such as mode of transmission and behaviour on the host.

# 2.8. Reproductive System

The reproductive system of viviparous gyrodactylids is highly simplified because of progenesis (see Kritsky, 1971 for ultrastructural details; and Section 2.1). Reproductive structures and modes were reviewed by Kearn (1996) and more recently by Cable and Harris (2002), but here we briefly consider the differences in reproductive morphology between genera, focussing on the viviparous forms unless otherwise specified.

#### 2.8.1. Male Reproductive System

The gyrodactylid male reproductive system consists of a single saclike post-ovarian testis with flat epithelial cells resting on a thin basal lamina enclosing a central mass of loosely packed germinal cells, from which spermatozoa pass forward to a penis, localised just behind the pharynx. In viviparous genera, the male system only becomes functional after the parasite has given birth once. In G. gasterostei, sperms begin to mature just after the first birth and then accumulate in the anterior seminal vesicle, located just behind the penis (Harris, 1985; Cable et al., 2001) (Figure 17, which is plate 3.17 in the separate Colour Plate Section). Malmberg (1970) and Kritsky (1971) depicted a vas deferens connecting the testis to the penis (following either the left or right gut caeca, respectively) but we have never identified this in whole mount preparations or sections, although the accumulation of sperms in the seminal vesicle is very clear. We suspect that in some species sperms migrate anteriorly via tissue layers (Harris et al., 1997; Cable et al., 1998, 2001). The structure of the male reproductive system varies in different species and appears more complex in Macrogyrodactylus polypteri (see Malmberg, 1957). This genus is least affected by progenesis and therefore additional development of the male system may take place.

Considerable diversity exists in the structure of the male intromittent organ, which forms an important character for generic diagnosis. Previous nomenclature, including Kritsky (1971), refers to the intromittent organ as a cirrus, a structure that is inverted when not in use. Strictly speaking a penis is not inverted when stored, and may be protruded or extended during copulation. The confusion arises from the fact that the spherical intromittent organ of *Gyrodactylus* is similar in structure to that of rhabdocoels (Baer and Joyeux, 1961), which was known to be everted during use and is therefore a cirrus. Observations on copulation in *Gyrodactylus* show that the structure does not evert (Braun, 1966; Cable and Harris, unpublished); it is thrust out of the body and used the hook into the tegument of the partner. The structure is therefore technically a penis. Amongst the egg-laying gyrodactylids, *Ooegyrodactylus* also has a penis, in this case tubular, and Harris (1983) captured images of this structure extended. We have therefore previously favoured use of the term "penis" for the intromittent organ of gyrodactylids and have considered that an evolutionary trend from tubular to spherical has taken place. The ball-like penis of Gyrodactylus comprises a muscular bulb enclosing both the prostatic reservoir and a short ejaculatory duct (Kritsky, 1971), and is armed with a large hook and small spines. This situation has recently become much more complex. Amongst the viviparous genera, published descriptions suggest that some African Gyrodactylus species have tubular penes (Paperna, 1979) and we have seen similar structures in undescribed species of Gyrdicotylus (Harris, unpublished). Mormyrogyrodactylus has a tubular structure characterised as a cirrus (Luus-Powell et al., 2003), but this organ may be extended from the body, functioning partly as a penis. The recent description of several new egg-laying gyrodactylids by Kritsky et al. (2007) has also demonstrated the diversity of the male intromittent organ. Although Ooegyrodactylus farlowellae appears to have a conventional penis (Harris, 1983), the intromittent organ of Phanerothecium caballeroi is coiled and covered entirely in a layer of hardened tissue, making it difficult to imagine how it could function as either an eversible cirrus or an extensible penis. In some genera, such as *Hyperopletes*, the intromittent organ is lined with fine spines, suggesting that it everts as a cirrus, much like Mormyrogyrodactylus (Luus-Powell et al., 2003). Amongst the other genera of egglaying gyrodactylids, diversity of the intromittent organ approaches the bizarre. Nothogyrodactylus, Aglaiogyrodactylus and Onychogyrodactylus all have a system of accessory sclerites around the penis, the function of which is entirely unknown. Oviparous genera may also have two seminal vesicles of various shapes (e.g. Kritsky et al., 2007), in contrast to the single seminal vesicle of viviparous forms. In Onychogyrodactylus sudis, copulation was observed (Kritsky et al., 2007) similar to that of O. farlowellae (see Harris, 1983). The accessory sclerites did not appear to be used for hypodermic impregnation in this case, or to be inserted into the partner's female tract.

The spermatozoa of monopisthocotyleans show considerable morphological variation (Justine *et al.*, 1985; Justine, 2001). There is a relatively large database on monogenean spermiogenesis and sperm ultrastructure covering more than 60 species; however, few attempts have been made to study gyrodactylid spermatozoa (Justine, 1993). The mature 30 µm-long filiform spermatozoa of G. eucaliae conform to the typical flatworm structure, being spindle-shaped, of a nearly uniform diameter (0.7 µm) except at its gradually tapering ends (Kritsky, 1971; see also Malmberg and Lilliemarck, 1993). The nucleus extends from within its lobe towards the centre of the spermatozoa, the two axonemes are bilateral on either side of the nucleus and the mitochondrial lobe opposes that of the nucleus (Kritsky, 1971). The sperms are differentiated from those of other flatworms by the lack of free flagellae and/or peripheral or marginal microtubules beneath the plasmalemma (Figure 17); they most closely resemble those of turbellarians and digeneans. More recently, Schmahl and Elwasila (1992) described spermatogenesis of Macrogyrodactylus pol*ypteri* as similar to that of other monopisthocotyleans, but clearly different from that of polyopisthocotyleans.

#### 2.8.2. Female Reproductive System

The female reproductive system is also apparently simple, belying complexity at a subcellular level. The egg-laying gyrodactylids have a female system similar to that of other oviparous monogeneans, although they possess characters linking them with Enoplocotyle and the acanthocotylids: the ovary is in the mid-body and develops after the testis. The testis of *Ooeqyrodactylus* becomes less apparent and recrudesces when the female system matures (Harris, 1983; Kritsky and Boeger, 1991). In young O. farlowellae, with a mature male system, the female system consists of a small germarium, immediately posterior to a large seminal receptacle. This opens to the exterior via the common female duct, which functions as a vagina in young worms. The male and female systems of O. farlowellae open side by side in the mid-region of the body, and insemination occurs when the penis of one individual is inserted into the common female duct of a partner (Harris, 1983). As the male system starts to recrudesce, the female germarium grows substantially. Four rows of post-germarial vitelline follicles appear, and the seminal receptacle and posterior part of the common female duct begins to function as an oötype. The

oötype region is surrounded by large, diffuse glandular tissue, a synapomorphy with *Enoplocotyle* (see Boeger *et al.*, 1994). Eggs develop one at the time and are retained in the common female duct before being laid, when they are glued to the substrate via the adhesive droplet (Harris, 1983; Kritsky *et al.*, 2007).

In the viviparous forms, the female system is modified, but the basic pattern of oviparous forms can still be discerned. As a result of progenesis, the full developmental expression of the female system is never attained; the "vitellaria" never fully developed and never produce egg-shell precursor proteins. The vitelline cells appear reduced to patches of glandular syncytia within the posterior part of the body (Cable et al., 1996), which have no connection with the other parts of the female system, but our understanding of the function and physiology of these tissues is rudimentary, and to complicate matters further, some of these "vitelline" cells (at least in Macrogyrodactylus) may actually be subtegumental cells (El-Naggar and Cable, in press). The most distinctive feature of the female system of the viviparous genera is the uterus, which develops as an expansion of the common female duct, anterior to the large seminal receptacle. The germarium is reduced to a patch of tissue on the posterior wall of the seminal receptacle. The main function of the germarium/seminal receptacle appears to be egg cell maturation, and for this reason it is termed the Egg Cell Forming Region (ECFR) (see Jones et al., 1994, 1997).

In *Macrogyrodactylus*, there is much more complexity to the posterior female system, much of which develops after the parasite has given birth for the first time. Patches of tissue in longitudinal rows have the same configuration as the vitellaria of *Ooegyrodactylus*. However, different cell groups have a different microscopic appearance (Malmberg, 1957) suggesting a different function. A further complication in *Macrogyrodactylus* is the appearance of a putative secondary seminal receptacle that lies to one side of the primary receptacle/ECFR. This structure was noted by Malmberg (1957) and has been confirmed by further light microscope studies on *M. clarii* by El-Abbassay (2001). This structure also appears to be present in the other large-bodied genera *Polyclithrum* (Ernst *et al.*, 2000, 2001a) and *Swingleus* (Billeter *et al.*, 2000). The diffuse glandular tissue which characterises the oötype region of the egg laying gyrodactylids and *Enoplocotyle* is not seen in viviparous forms. However, there are groups of cells at the junction of the ECFR and the uterus, which may be homologous with this glandular tissue. These cells are not well developed in *Gyrodactylus*, but are noticeable in, for example, *Gyrdicotylus* (see Harris and Tinsley, 1987).

A consequence of progenesis, and a remarkable feature of the gyrodactylid reproductive system, is a general lack of ducts. There appear to be no permanent ducts connecting the separate parts of the female or male reproductive systems. As noted above, at least in some species, self-sperm seem to migrate to the seminal vesicle through body tissues (Cable et al., 1998). Presumably, all sperm acquired from a partner during hypodermal impregnation that are not injected directly into the ECFR, must migrate through tissues. Similarly, different parts of the female system are not directly connected. When a daughter is born, it appears to break through the body wall (Jones et al., 1998; see Figures 3C and 19A in Cable et al., 1996 and Cable and Harris, 2002, respectively, for images of birth pore/plug), which then heals over, leaving no permanent female opening. Similarly, there is no permanent connection between the ECFR and the uterus. After a daughter is born, the next oöcyte enters the uterus via the so-called cap cells at the junction of uterus and ECFR (Cable and Harris, 2002). As noted above, there are also no ducts linking the structures identified as vitelline cell homologues. Any secretory product from these cells must disperse in some other way (Cable et al., 1996).

#### 2.8.3. Embryology

The early research on gyrodactylid germ cell lineages is remarkably accurate. Using mid-19th century light microscopy, Wagener (1860) in particular achieved results which were not surpassed until the advent of electron microscopy some 100 years later. The high quality of early osmium-fixed sectioned material prepared by Kathariner (1893, 1904) and Gille (1914) was demonstrated when Cable and Harris (2002) published comparable images prepared using Feulgen-stained chromosome spreads. The improved technology does not give

substantially better insight into gyrodactylid reproduction, and Gille (1914) was able to show both mitotic and meiotic chromosomes within the gyrodactylid oöcyte.

Kathariner (1904) undertook the work which led to Gyrodactylus being considered a classic example of polyembryony. The myth of Gyrodactylus development grew from this observation: following cleavage of the zygote, one of the cleavage products became quiescent, while the other forming the F1 generation grew around it. Eventually, the quiescent cell became activated to form the F2, when one cell produced by the first division of the F2 became quiescent, eventually re-activating to form the F3 (see Cable and Harris, 2002). *Gyrodactylus* thus appears a neat example of segregation of the germ cell lineage, which is then transferred intact to the next generation. Braun (1966) revisited this system and more or less confirmed Kathariner's (1904) results (although he claimed to observe meiosis within the quiescent cell) and demonstrated for the first time that reproduction (at least of the first-born daughter) can continue for up to 30 generations without the need for a sexual partner. This has subsequently been repeated with G. gasterostei (see Harris, 1998). Our own observations, however, suggest a re-interpretation of Kathariner (1904) and Braun (1966). In particular, we note the difficulty of tracking the F2 generation embryo back to a single cell, and note that the large, pale staining cells of the embryo (which Kathariner and Braun interpreted as quiescent) actually contain up to 4n copies of DNA, suggesting they are about to divide (Cable and Harris, 2002). It appears that the F1 generation embryo within the embryo cluster develops when the uterine wall of its parent appears, separating off cells at the centre of the embryo to become the next generation.

This mechanism remains poorly understood, partly because of the small size of gyrodactylids, the fact that two different developmental routes exist within the life cycle (the first daughter develops at the centre of an embryonic mass, whereas all subsequent daughters develop from an oöcyte), and because it is unique with no parallels in the Animal Kingdom. However, several interesting features have emerged over the past 15 years (reviewed in Cable and Harris, 2002). Perhaps, the most interesting concerns the role of "blastomere anarchy" in gyrodactylid development. In most invertebrates, cleavage is a precise process resulting in an embryo capable of developing into an adult organism. This precision is usually based upon the intra-cellular architecture of the oöcyte, with its specific localised mRNAs allowing structural differentiation. However, in neoophoran platyhelminths (in which yolk and oöcyte functions reside in separate cells), the pattern of cleavage is a property of the precise embryonic architecture and vitelline cells provide "scaffolding" within which the blastomeres can differentiate accurately. Bresslau (1909), coined the term "blastomeren anarchie" to describe this apparent totipotency of the blastomeres in rhabdocoels - only the position of blastomeres, determined by the scaffolding vitelline cells, could limit their developmental pathway. In gyrodactylids, this same phenomenon seems to apply, but vitelline cells are not available to form scaffolding. Instead, the early embryo can be highly plastic, with blastomeres separating and rejoining in different configurations. Only after the embryo has achieved a certain complexity, does re-organisation and re-shaping cease, and development proceed along a fixed pathway. These cellular re-organisations have not been observed during development of the first-born offspring, which occurs within a cell mass where cell movements are restricted. One consequence of blastomere anarchy is that it has proved impossible to identify a particular blastomere as the progenitor of the first-born daughter.

In the absence of scaffolding vitelline cells, the function of organising the embryo appears to have been taken over by the syncytial uterine lining. Cable *et al.* (1996) describe this layer in detail, finding it to be metabolically very active, with a great deal of protein secretion, and, judged by fluorescence microscopy, abundant RNA transcription. At the anterior and posterior poles of the uterus are cell bodies, termed cap cells by Cable *et al.* (1996). The role of these cell bodies and the associated syncytium is unclear, but is almost certainly related to nutrition of the embryo and to co-ordination of its early development (Cable and Harris, 2002).

There are surprisingly few studies on gyrodactylid internal structure from across the spectrum of species, and most studies have concentrated on easily obtainable forms from guppies, goldfish, salmonids and sticklebacks. The diversity of gyrodactylid internal structure has been underestimated, although several studies suggest that it might be considerable. In particular, the glandular tissue posterior to the ECFR and the extent of the fully formed testis, seem variable (Ernst et al., 2001a, b) as does the construction of the pharynx and penis spines. This diversity has never been fully investigated or placed within a phylogenetic context. There is also diversity in reproductive strategy, an extreme example being G. gemini, in which a pair of daughters develops in utero (Ferraz et al., 1994). No details are available as to the sequence of development in G. gemini, and it is not known whether these offspring are twins (i.e. derived from a single oöcyte) or sisters (originating from separate oöcytes). The intra-uterine generation (i.e. the first born daughters) presumably develop asexually as in conventional Gyrodactylus species (see Cable and Harris, 2002), but again whether this is synchronous or asynchronous development is unknown (Ferraz et al., 1994). We have been unable as yet to obtain new material of this parasite, but the factors controlling embryogenesis would be particularly interesting to examine. The original description of G. trairae, another South American species, also shows subtle differences in the orientation of the embryo cluster (Boeger and Popazoglo, 1996), which suggest a difference in embryology.

## 3. ETHOLOGY

#### 3.1. General Behaviour

Almost all behavioural observations have been made on viviparous gyrodactylids. Harris (1983) maintained *Ooegyrodactylus farlowellae* in culture for a short period, and additional behavioural observations have been provided by Kritsky *et al.* (2007). The viviparous gyrod-actylid monogeneans exhibit a limited behavioural repertoire and with the morphological uniformity of *Gyrodactylus* spp., researchers might be excused the belief that all species are very similar. In fact, the limited range of behaviours is combined in ways that adapt gyrodactylids to the wide range of hosts and habitats exploited. As the most diverse vertebrate group, fishes may be shoaling or territorial, lotic or lentic, pelagic or benthic, marine, brackish or freshwater (Bakke *et al.*, 1992a). Some hosts are semelparous (e.g.
*Oncorhynchus* or squid), others are anadromous (e.g. Atlantic salmon) or catadromous (e.g. European eel), while many acquire resistance, forcing gyrodactylids to transfer to other hosts (see Sections 8.1 and 8.2). Wherever investigated, there is growing evidence that the different behaviours are combined into repertoires that maximise transmission even where host ecology is extreme. The range of basic behaviours exhibited by gyrodactylids includes:

## 3.1.1. Locomotion

When moving on the host, the anterior glands cement the head temporarily to the substrate while the opisthaptor is released and drawn up to the head. The head is then released. This may be repeated for sustained periods, or just one or two steps may be taken before settling down to a single position again.

## 3.1.2. Swimming

Recently, El-Naggar *et al.* (2004b) reported swimming in *G. rysavyi*. This skin and gill parasite exhibits coordinated, unidirectional wriggling movements when detached from its host, the Nile catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). This questions the doctrine that gyrodactylids have no specific transmission stage, but so far this behaviour has not been observed in other gyrodactylids, most of which sink in an outstretched position if released in the water column. Specimens of *G. turnbulli* and *G. salaris* if forcibly detached may thrash back and forth until reaching a solid substrate, but such behaviour is not unidirectional. The specific transmission behaviour of *G. turnbulli* (in which detached parasites migrate into the water film, see Section 3.3; Cable *et al.*, 2002a) is not a "swimming behaviour" (cf. Huyse *et al.*, 2003).

## 3.1.3. Questing

All gyrodactylids spend much of their time questing, in which the body is extended away from the substrate, with the cephalic lobes frequently stretching and spreading out. At intervals, the parasite bends to allow the cephalic lobes to touch the surrounding substrate. Parasites may attach to another substrate or host, or may interact directly with other parasites leading sometimes to copulation. When questing is undertaken immediately before feeding, brushing of the host's epidermis with the cephalic lobes may involve mechanical or chemical assessment of the host skin. In all cases, questing behaviour seems to allow the spike sensilla and uniciliate receptors of the cephalic lobes to sample the environment, host or another parasite (see Figure 16).

Questing may be spontaneous, but it also increases substantially in response to external stimuli, such as touching the body with a fibre. Questing behaviour has been quantified in *Gyrdicotylus gallieni* (see Harris and Tinsley, 1987), which responds to vibration with increased activity and to water currents with violent thrashing movements. The response to vibration has also been noted anecdotally in other species. Responses to light or shadowing have not been tested. Generally, gyrodactylids alternate between phases of movement with stationary periods and periods of questing.

#### 3.1.4. Feeding

Our understanding of the mechanics of feeding is discussed in Section 2.4. In *G. gasterostei*, *G. turnbulli*, *G. salaris* and *M. polypteri*, individual parasites lie in a characteristic pose with the anterior portion of the body extended and flattened against the host epidermis while firmly attached by the opisthaptor, often with the anterior lobes raised (Harris, 1982; Cable et al., 2002b, unpublished). The pharynx is protruded and brought into close contact with the host's epithelium. Pumping of the pharynx can be observed, with slight waves of contraction passing along the body. Feeding lasts a few minutes, or even seconds, after which the worm straightens up but is contracted and less active for a few minutes.

## 3.1.5. Copulation

This has been described in detail for viviparous genera (Malmberg, 1957; Braun, 1966) and regularly observed during routine experimental

infections (Harris, 1989; Cable *et al.*, unpublished). Parasites quest with conspecifics until they impale their penis into the chosen partner. Once copulation is initiated, the partner may react by grasping the initiator with its own penis and mutual insemination may follow (Harris, 1989). Normally, viviparous gyrodactylids copulate with their bodies aligned or entwined for a few seconds or minutes, until insemination into the seminal receptacle, or other region of the body, has occurred via hypodermic impregnation. The parasites then part. Unilateral copulations, in which one partner does not reciprocally inseminate, are also common, at least in *G. turnbulli* (Cable *et al.*, unpublished). In oviparous gyrodactylids, the copulatory organ of one copulant is inserted directly into the uterine pore of its partner (Harris, 1983; Kritsky *et al.*, 2007). Considering the diversity of male copulatory organs (Kritsky *et al.*, 2007), it is possible that egg laying gyrodactylids also display a range of associated behaviours.

#### 3.1.6. Birth and Oviposition

Only the viviparous gyrodactylids give birth to fully grown young. The best description of birth in Gyrodactylus is Braun (1966). It was also described in Macrogyrodactylus polypteri (see Khalil, 1970), but in this case the worms were in suboptimal conditions and the births may have been pathological. In healthy worms attached to a fish, birth occurs rapidly. The daughter breaks out through a ventral birth pore close to the pharynx. A parasite about to give birth can be identified by its gravid appearance and the slow waves of muscular contraction passing along the parent's body. The first part of the daughter to emerge, as a bleb of tissue, is the central region of the folded body (see Figures 1 and 3), which is quickly followed by the anterior portion of the worm (see Figure 18). The head of the daughter attaches using sticky secretions from the cephalic glands and pulls the rest of the body out of the mother onto the skin of the host, where the haptor attaches. The mother then shrinks down and is quiescent for a period before activity is resumed, when she normally moves away from the immediate vicinity of the daughter, often towards the anterior of the host (Cable et al., 2000). If for some



*Figure 18 Gyrodactylus salaris* individual giving birth to a pregnant daughter as large as itself. Such a daughter potentially could give birth itself 1–2 days later depending on temperature. (T.A. Mo, unpublished.)

reason, the mother becomes detached during the early stages of birth and the daughter has no host substrate onto which it can attach its anterior glands, both worms usually die as the daughter is unable to escape from its mother's uterus. If, in these instances, the daughter is manually pulled free using watchmaker's forceps and a fine pin, the mother can survive. Thus, muscular activities of both parent and offspring are essential for successful birth. If parasites are detached for prolonged periods, abortion of young embryos is common (Cable *et al.*, 2002b).

Oviparous gyrodactylids lay eggs within the environment, where they adhere by the sticky droplet either to the surrounding substrate (*Ooegyrodactylus farlowellae*; see Harris, 1983) or to the surface of the fish itself (Kritsky *et al.*, 2007). Several egg-laying forms retain eggs *in utero* (Kritsky *et al.*, 2007) in a manner reminiscent of *Acanthocotyle greeni* (see Llewellyn, 1984).

#### 3.1.7. Transmission

Little is known about transmission of oviparous gyrodactylids. All stages of the life cycle can transmit (at least in *Ooegyrodactylus*; see Harris, 1983), and eggs are placed on (Kritsky *et al.*, 2007) or near

(Harris, 1983) the sedentary host, leading to the build up of infrapopulations. The relative importance of individuals of different ages in transmission is unknown although Harris (1983) found both very young larvae and adults able to move between hosts. In viviparous gyrodactylids, the egg stage is entirely absent, and development is curtailed by progenesis at the "young male" stage of the egg-laying gyrodactylids. Part of the selective pressure for progenesis in the viviparous genera may therefore be to maintain maximum transmission potential in the adult parasite. Continuous transmission and the infection of new hosts throughout the life cycle enhances colonisation of new host resources (Boeger et al., 2005) and favours host shifts. Viviparous gyrodactylids are renowned for transferring quickly from host to host, and some can move between fish during the most fleeting of contacts (Bychowsky, 1961). However, if given the opportunity to transfer under optimal conditions, many make no attempt to leave their current host, probably as most parasites only transfer when necessary (see Section 3.2). As noted by Scott (1985a), transmission is risky and results in high mortality. However, transmission may also influence population performance by reducing the death rate caused by host responses (Boeger et al., 2005). Not surprisingly, gyrodactylids show considerable diversity of strategies when detached from the host and we are becoming increasing aware of a range of different transmission strategies related to host ecology.

Following prolonged detachment or host death, individuals of *G. salaris* may hold their extended body (two or three times its length) at right angles to the substrate gently swaying back and forth. They rarely probe the surrounding substrate but can transfer immediately if a suitable host comes into contact. In *G. salaris* attached to dead hosts, two distinctive modes are recognised: (i) stationary transmission mode (STM), in which parasites are motionless with their slightly extended bodies held at right angles to the host tissue; and (ii) search mode (SM), in which the parasites' body is highly extended (at least  $4 \times$  its normal length) and makes constant circular movements and contractions around the motionless haptor (Olstad *et al.*, 2006). Thus, individuals of *G. salaris* in the laboratory remain on a dead host (Olstad *et al.*, 2006), possibly similar to *G. pungitii* (see Malmberg, 1970) but in marked contrast to *G. rarus* and

G. cryptarum (see Malmberg, 1970), G. gasterostei (see Harris, 1982) or G. turnbulli (see Cable et al., 2002a), which all leave the host shortly after its death. G. gasterostei and G. pungitii, infecting the three- (Gasterosteus aculeatus) and nine-spined sticklebacks (Pungitus pungitus), respectively, thus employ quite different transmission strategies although their hosts occupy the same macro- and microhabitats (e.g. Copp and Kovac, 2003). Future studies should examine the behaviour of these parasites on sympatric hosts and under the same macroenvironmental conditions.

## 3.2. Site Specificity and Migrations on the Host

Some gyrodactylids show pronounced site specificity, but this is highly variable between species. Most infect the skin and fins, but some also occur on the gills (G. masu, see Ogawa, 1986; G. arcuatus, see Harris, 1993). Amongst gill specialists, there may be further subdivision. Some (e.g. G. aeglefini and G. unipons) infect only the gill filaments, others may occur on gill filaments and on gill arches and in the pharynx (G. branchicus), some utilise the pharynx but also occur on filaments and arches (G. cernuae and G. perlucidus), while G. cryptarum inhabits the preopercular sensory canals of the head (Malmberg, 1970). Isancistrum subulata occurs mainly on the tentacles and suckers of the squid, Alloteuthis subulata, and rarely enters the mantle cavity, in contrast to I. loliginis which infects the gills (see Llewellyn, 1984). Such segregation of different species on the same host is common and may occur even within skin parasites. The two common gyrodactylids of guppies (Poecilia reticulata) display marked site preferences, with G. bullatarudis occurring rostrally, especially on the head and mouth at low densities (Harris and Lyles, 1992), while G. turnbulli occupies caudal regions (Harris, 1988). In mixed infections on salmonids, G. colemanensis almost exclusively attaches to the margin of fins and G. salmonis the head, body and the broad surfaces of the fins (Cone and Cusack, 1988).

Initial colonisation appears random, followed by migration to a specific site. In *G. colemanensis* on rainbow trout fry, parasites attach anywhere on the body surface but then relocate posteriorly, with

most migrating to the caudal fin followed by the pectoral and pelvic fins. The length of the fin margin and fin activity appeared to influence this distribution (Cone and Cusack, 1989). Under experimental conditions, G. turnbulli most commonly infects guppies via fins (Harris, 1988), but individual parasites then migrate to the peduncle and caudal fin where dense aggregated populations develop. After a few further days a return migration to the fins occurs, possibly to facilitate transmission (Harris, 1988). At low intensities, the dorsal fin of salmon parr was the principal site for attachment for G. salaris (see Jensen and Johnsen, 1992; Koski and Malmberg, 1995), followed by pectoral and anal fins. This pattern is also seen in the field. G. salaris on salmon parr from Batnfjordselva (Mo, 1992) occurred mainly on the fins (34.4% on the dorsal, 27% on the pectorals and 24.7% on the other fins). The remainder occurred on the body (7.8%), head (3.5%)and gills (2.6%). The parasite population only increased in size significantly on the caudal fin and body, suggesting these are the most suitable areas for parasite feeding. In a later study of Batnfjordselva, Appleby and Mo (1997) found 15% of G. salaris on the gills, predominantly on the filaments. In some years, up to 40% of the parasites were found on the gills (up to 300 per fish). In a few fish with small infections, all parasites were found on the gills. The proportion infecting the gills appeared higher in summer than winter and was also greater on older (2+) fish (Appleby and Mo, 1997). The reason for this difference between these two investigations in the same river system is not explained, even though both the intensity and age of infection were similar (see Harris, 1988, 1993). However, pragmatically, these data illustrate the importance of examining the gills for G. salaris, which has generally been assumed to be a skin parasite when monitoring epidemics in Norway (Appleby and Mo, 1997) and elsewhere in the EU.

Parasite distribution may also vary with infection intensity. At intensities of less than 100 parasites, more *G. salaris* were located on the dorsal fin, followed by the pectoral and anal fins, but at intensities of greater than 100 parasites more *G. salaris* were located on the caudal fin, and when exceeding 1000 parasites the body of the fish is also heavily infected (Jensen and Johnsen, 1992). Mo (1992, 1997) speculated that the preferred dorsal, pectoral and pelvic fins may be related to transmission, which is primarily via the substrate by detached parasites while the fish rest, and not via host-to-host contact (Bakke *et al.*, 1991a, b; Jensen and Johnsen, 1992). The preference for the dorsal fin might be due to physical contacts between fish as they nip each other while defending the territory against intruders (Mo, 1992). Appleby (1996a) noted increased abundance of *G. callariatis* on the skin in very heavy infections, which he interpreted as a migration of parasites out of the gill chamber for transmission. Conversely, in small infections, most worms were found on fins, suggesting they had recently arrived on the cod.

Individual gyrodactylids tend to move short distances on the host to feed (see Section 3.1), but at high parasite densities, intraspecific competition and resource depletion may induce a switch in site preference on a particular host. *Isancistrum subulatae*, which occurs on the arms and tentacles and suckers of the squid *Alloteuthis subulata*, is found on the surface of the head and the eyes only in heavy infections (>1000), and only in extremely high parasite loads does it enter the mantle cavity (Llewellyn, 1984). Crowding of growing infrapopulations of *G. salaris* on salmon may also result in dispersal of the parasite over wider areas of the host's skin and fins (Appleby and Mo, 1997).

Site specificity may be influenced directly or indirectly by external factors. Salinity influences site selection by G. callariatis. In salt water it parasitises the host's body, whereas in brackish water it is found mainly on the gill arches (Malmberg, 1970; Appleby, 1996a). This is also observed in G. arcuatus, although in this case, interaction with other gyrodactylid species may be as important as the direct impact of salinity. This species can infect gill arches, filaments, pharynx or skin and fins. In UK freshwater, it is normally restricted to the gills, with G. gasterostei present on the skin surface. In UK marine environments, G. arcuatus is often found on the skin surface, with G. branchicus in the gills (Harris, 1993). An increase in the proportion of Gyrodactylus individuals on the gills of cyprinids (goldfish and golden shiners) with increasing temperatures has also been observed (Anthony, 1969; Kirby, 1981). However, in these studies, individuals were not accurately identified, and the most likely explanation of this observation is that different species were present on the gills and skin that responded differently to temperature.

Morphological and physiological host parameters may also influence site specificity. Buchmann and Uldal (1997) infected four different salmonids (rainbow trout, brown trout, and Baltic and Atlantic strains of salmon) and found differences in site selection on each. Similarly, the site preference of the Danish Gx morph of G. salaris differed between rainbow trout and salmon (Lindenstrøm et al., 2003a). Microhabitat preferences of G. salaris in relation to susceptibility status of different salmonid strains has also been tested, with the highest proportion of parasites found on the fins and head of all fish species and strains (Heinecke, 2005). However, over time they found an increasing percentage of parasites on the caudal fin of susceptible East Atlantic salmon strains and a converse tendency of decreasing proportion on the tail of the responding Swedish Lule salmon. The factors triggering migration of gyrodactylids are unknown but are probably related to resource availability, infrapopulation density, parasite age, reproductive status, avoidance of the host's immune response, and finally inbreeding or hybridisation avoidance.

The age of individual gyrodactylids may be important in migrations. Young G. gasterostei placed on the head or pectoral fins of three-spined sticklebacks almost inevitably migrate towards the caudal fin (Harris, unpublished). Activity is closely linked to reproductive status and increases in post-first and post-second birth mothers that contain small embryos. This was observed both from living attached worms (Harris, 1982) and deduced from the age structure of detached parasites in sediment (Harris, 1993). Older G. gasterostei (post-second birth) develop a swollen, empty uterus which is filled with a clear fluid (Harris, 1985, 1997; Cable and Harris, 2002), and wander extensively upon the host, being found at widely different points on different days. It is not clear whether this is a change in behaviour as parasites become more active, or whether these older individuals readily become dislodged (see Lester, 1972) but in confined experimental situations can reattach again to different parts of the host. In G. salaris, most newborn parasites move only short distances but those which do migrate (defined as movement from one region to another) most commonly re-locate immediately after each birth. The majority migrated anteriorly when placed on the caudal fin

and did not return to posterior sites; the migration and distance from the original site increased with parasite age (Cable et al., 2000). Worms migrating from the tail were normally found on the peduncle (42%) or the anal or adipose fin. Only post-second birth or older worms migrated as far as the pectoral or more rarely the pelvic or dorsal fins. In G. salaris, the level of activity of individual worms after birth of the first daughter varies according to the particular stock of salmon that is infected (Cable et al., 2000), illustrating the complex interplay between factors influencing migration on the host. Movement of gill parasites is particularly interesting as it must be undertaken for transmission to occur. In UK lowland populations of G. arcuatus, where the parasite is normally found in the stickleback gill chamber, migration of older specimens onto the skin was noted during epidemic population growth (Harris, 1993). This suggests a movement of parasites from the gill chamber to achieve transmission. For obligate gill parasites (e.g. G. rarus), such migrations are a prerequisite for transmission and must take place at some point in the life cycle. Isancistrum loliginis from the squid A. subulata (see Llewellyn, 1984) must leave the gills to achieve transmission, but has only rarely been found among *I. subulatae* on the arms and tentacles. If transfer occurs during squid copulation both species may transfer to the arms but later migrate to their respective site-specific sites. The only gyrodactylids in which migrations have been directly observed are Gyrdicotylus spp., from the African clawed toad Xenopus spp. Entry to the mouth is normally via the nostril, and parasites experimentally placed on the skin orientate towards and enter the nostril, emerging into the mouth shortly after (Harris and Tinsley, 1987). The reverse migration, out of the mouth cavity, has not been observed directly, although specimens of Gyrdicotylus do appear in the water in old infections, suggesting migration away from the toad (Harris and Tinsley, 1987; Jackson and Tinsley, 1994).

Much migration behaviour may relate to immunological changes in the host epidermis. *G. derjavini* on rainbow trout normally prefers the caudal, pectoral, pelvic and anal fins, but as infections progress the proportion of worms on the pectoral fins declines (Lindenstrøm and Buchmann, 1998). In corticosteroid-treated immunosuppressed fish, this trend is reversed (Lindenstrøm and Buchmann, 1998). Olafsdóttir et al. (2003) noted aggregation of G. derjavini on the cornea (said to be an immunologically privileged site), with up to 30% localising on this relatively small area. This aggregation is reduced if hosts are immunosuppressed with dexamethasone (Olafsdóttir et al., 2003). Interestingly, Cable (unpublished) have noted similar behaviour by G. bullatarudis, but not by G. turnbulli which occurs on the same poeciliid host. Similarly, Pie et al. (2006) have suggested that migrations by G. anisopharynx on the surface of Corvdoras sp. are not adaptive in terms of transmission, but may be concerned with evading either the immune response or intra-specific competition. It has been suggested that mucous cell densities, which differ over the fish surface (Pickering, 1974), may influence behaviour and survival of gyrodactylids on rainbow trout, as they may select mucus cell-rich areas during initial colonisation but escape these areas during the host response phase (Buchmann and Bresciani, 1998). These results strongly suggest that mucous cells play a decisive role in gyrodactylid site selection. On abnormal hosts, distribution may change. Mo (1997) found G. salaris mainly on the gills and mouth of the strongly resistant brown trout. However, mucous cell density decreases when exponentially growing G. salaris populations are present, suggesting that more complex factors may influence site selection (Sterud et al., 1998). Matejusová et al. (2006) support this, suggesting very local expression of particular genes in relation to damage by parasites. G. vimbi on roach aggregates around the anus, but this species apparently migrates to the gills during the host response, returning to the skin when the acquired immune response has declined (unpublished). In Macrogyrodactylus polypteri, parasites may aggregate around inflamed areas of epidermis (Khalil, 1970), while surrounding skin is unexploited. These aggregations move from day to day and periodically disperse, but always appear to be associated with inflamed host tissue (Harris, unpublished). Appleby and Mo (1997) explained the frequent occurrence and relative high intensity of G. salaris on salmon gills as a possible evasion of the immune response. Generally, changes in the gyrodactylid site selection have been interpreted as being an escape from localised immune reactions (Richards and Chubb, 1996; Buchmann and Bresciani, 1997; Buchmann and Uldal, 1997; Buchmann, 1998a, b).

There is a temptation to regard site selection by gyrodactylids as niche restriction or specialisation to reduce competition with other species. Site selection can also enhance reproductive isolation, by ensuring that conspecifics find, and mate with, only their peers. This was originally suggested to account for the restriction of egg-laying polyopisthocotylean monogeneans to particular gill arches (Llewellyn, 1956; Rohde, 1979). There is little consensus about site selection and restriction by parasites (e.g. Friggens and Brown, 2005), and it is worth remembering that we know very little of the factors controlling gyrodactylid distributions. There is little consistent evidence that gyrodactylids can exhaust nutritional resources, as, for example, salmon can tolerate infections of several thousand G. salaris without immediate death (Mo, 1992), while guppies may support less than 20 G. turnbulli before dying (Madhavi and Anderson, 1985; Cable et al., unpublished). Different gyrodactylids all exploit the same carbon source when infecting a fish; over-exploitation leading to host death by one species will kill individuals of another gyrodactylid species on the same host, even if in a different microhabitat. It could be argued that microhabitat segregation allows one species to avoid a host response induced by another gyrodactylid. However, Richards and Chubb (1996) found that the host response affected both G. turnbulli and G. bullatarudis in similar ways, despite their differences in microhabitat. There is also no evidence that gyrodactylids of minnows, for example, which support more than 15 gyrodactylid species show any greater niche specialisation than do those of fishes, such as tench, which support only two gyrodactylid species. Arguments from reproductive biology are also not compelling; in general, gyrodactylids do not show the extent of microhabitat specialisation of dactylogyrids or ancyrocephalids, and they can also reproduce asexually (Section 2.8). Aggregation for the purposes of sexual reproduction is therefore unlikely.

Adaptive variation of the attachment organs is clearly important in the evolution of site specificity, as skin parasites generally have different haptoral morphology to gill parasites, and host shifts occur more readily than site shifts. Nevertheless, there are members of skin-parasitic groups which have become specialist gill parasites (e.g. *G. tincae*), although in this case there is no pressure to avoid competition with other gyrod-actylids. The shift in the distribution of *G. arcuatus* relative to other

species present may on the other hand be due to competitive interactions. However, there are many more distributions which cannot be explained in this way and there is much to learn about gyrodactylid site specificity before we can speculate on issues of niche restriction.

# 3.3. Migration Between Hosts: Lack of a Dispersive Phase

In most parasites, specific transmission stages or larval adaptations for dispersal have evolved. In contrast, gyrodactylids have no specific transmission stage as the newborn individual attaches itself to the same host as its mother and host transfer can occur at any life stage. Transmission must be linked either to the development of a hostile microenvironment due to host immunity or death, to occasional chance contacts with other hosts but related to the daily and seasonal host behaviour and ecology, to eventual density-dependent mechanisms within parasite infrapopulations themselves, or to accidental dislodgement.

Gyrodactylids may survive varying periods away from the host. Old accounts broadly refer to survival of 48h (Guberlet et al., 1927; Bychowsky, 1961; Tripathi, 1957), but this depends on temperature, species and physiological condition. At 15°C, Lester and Adams (1974a) observed a mean life expectancy of 1.8 days in G. alexanderi detached from Gasterosteus aculeatus. In Gyrodactylus gasterostei at 10°C, mortality was constant for the first 60 h of detachment, after which it increased substantially until the end of life, suggesting worms could survive until the exhaustion of energy reserves (Cable et al., 2002b). However, embryos of parasites long detached from a host tend to be aborted or show developmental abnormalities, suggesting that energy reserves are withdrawn from the embryo to sustain the parent (Cable et al., 2002b). In G. salaris, survival is improved by remaining attached to a dead host. At 18°C, maximum survival of worms attached to glass was only 27 h. On dead salmon, however, worms survived much longer, up to 72 h (Olstad et al., 2006). Parasites were particularly active on dead hosts, moving short distances on the fins during the 24 h after host death. A high proportion of G. salaris remain with their dead hosts, even after decay had begun (cf. *G. turnbulli*; Cable *et al.*, 2002a). After 72 h, they could re-infect naïve hosts much more successfully than worms attached to glass. Clearly, *G. salaris* is specialised to remain with the host after death, achieving survival advantage from doing so (Olstad *et al.*, 2006), although it can also drift in the water column, attaching to salmon both high in the water column or close to the bottom substrate (e.g. in rivers with water flow 0.25 m/s; Bakke *et al.*, 1992a; Soleng *et al.*, 1999a).

Detached Gyrdicotylus gallieni, Gyrodactylus turnbulli and G. bullatarudis survive for similar periods (Harris and Tinsley, 1987; Cable, unpublished) at tropical temperatures (25°C), and Macrogyrodactylus polypteri can survive for up to 5 days away from the host (Khalil, 1970; Harris, unpublished) at 25-30°C. Under these circumstances, energy conservation is paramount, and although the swimming behaviour of G. rysavyi (see El-Naggar et al., 2004b) may be a high-cost transmission strategy, most gyrodactylids adopt a "sit and wait" strategy, with limited movement until a host approaches. A substantial proportion of the total *M. polypteri* population can be detached at any one time (Harris, unpublished), and movement between the fish and the substrate appears a normal part of this host-parasite interaction. This is also true of G. salaris, which may survive for prolonged periods off the hosts, for example, attached to the walls (plastic) of fish tanks or net (metal) of grid boxes, and later infect newly introduced fishes (Bakke et al., 1991a, 2002, unpublished; Olstad et al., 2006). A high proportion of the G. salaris suprapopulation may, at any moment, be off the salmon due to transmission hazards in lotic habitats and the death of heavily infected hosts. Normally, however, the proportion of the population detached in other Gyrodactylus species is probably small. Harris (1982, 1988) used dishes on the tank floor to quantify detachment in G. gasterostei from sticklebacks and G. turnbulli from guppies. In both cases, although substantial numbers of parasites were recovered, they still represented a relatively small proportion compared to the number still attached to the hosts. Specific behaviours facilitate transmission in G. turnbulli (see Cable et al., 2002a). This species crawls into the meniscus of the water column to hang from the surface film, increasing opportunities for transmission when the surface-feeding host guppy skims the surface film for floating food items.

Transmission from living hosts is parasite age and stage dependent. In both *G. turnbulli* on guppies (Harris, 1989) and *G. salaris* on salmon (Harris *et al.*, 1994), the detached parasite population recovered from the water column contains an excess of older (post-first) birth worms. In the case of *G. salaris* (Harris *et al.*, 1994), this could be refined to show excess detachment of individuals 1–2 days after they had given birth for the first, second or third time. This coincides with an increase in activity seen in individuals of this age in *G. gasterostei* (see Harris, 1980, 1982) and presumably results in increased transmission of these age/stage classes. This phenomenon has also been deduced from observations of transmission of *G. sphinx* on the Black Sea Blenny (*Aidablennius sphynx*) where transmission is linked to development of the male reproductive system (Dmitrieva, 2003).

Vertical transfer of gyrodactylids may also occur. G. salaris cannot feed on salmon eggs, but they can attach and survive for up to 2 days (Mo, 1987; Bakke et al., 1998) making eggs potentially important in transnational dispersal by Man. However, G. salaris display a strong preference for newborn alevins as oppose to salmon eggs (Mo, 1987). Transmission may take place during adult-fry interactions, either during birth (G. turnbulli on guppies; Cable, unpublished) or brooding (G. gasterostei on three-spined sticklebacks; Cable, unpublished). Gyrodactylids are particularly common on fish with highly developed brood care, and the possibility of transfer from parent to offspring at birth (poeciliids) or within the nest (sticklebacks, gobies, blennies) is likely to be increased compared to fishes that show little parental investment or live in age-structured shoals. However, the introduction and spread of G. salaris and G. vimbi within the new salmon and roach generation, respectively, in spring occurs early and rapidly (Jansen and Bakke, 1993a; Appleby and Mo, 1997; unpublished). Harris (1982) demonstrated rapid acquisition of G. gasterostei and other ectoparasites by young stickleback fry, which presumably took place from male fish to fry in the nest. Transmission from these individuals to other stickleback fry then took place rapidly in the large shoals of young fish in river margins.

Transmission strategies must also take into account the population structure of the host population. This is very clear in *G. salaris*, a

parasite of wild salmon parr (Johnsen, 1978; Johnsen and Jensen, 1988, 1992, 1997, 2003; Jansen and Bakke, 1993a; Appleby and Mo, 1997). The length of the freshwater parr phase varies significantly, from  $\sim$ 9 months in southern Britain and Spain to 5 years in Northern Norway (Nicieza et al., 1994; Bakke and Harris, 1998). Although parasite dispersal to new salmon populations probably occurs via adult ascending and spawning salmon and parr (Soleng et al., 1998), or between precocious male parr, transmission between parr generations is also important in sustaining a G. salaris infection in a river. Clearly, there is greater potential for intra-parr transfer in the North of Norway than there is in southern Europe. The pathogenic potential of G. salaris is bound to be related to salmon population structure, and the parasite is unlikely to be highly pathogenic in rivers at the southern limit of the range. Here, there is a distinct break between parr generations, salmon are entirely absent from the river for a short period (Bakke and Harris, 1998) and G. salaris cannot survive in salt water (see Section 9.2).

These specific transmission behaviours are clearly an important part of gyrodactylid evolutionary biology and worthy of further investigation, especially given the ecological diversity of gyrodactylid hosts. Insufficient parasite species have been examined, but trends towards particular transmission strategies may occur, for example, in species infecting solitary compared to shoaling fishes, lotic vs. lentic hosts, or pelagic vs. benthic hosts. Finally, understanding the processes that facilitate transmission may be important in determining speciation mechanisms, as they are important in host switching.

#### Part 2. Gyrodactylid systematics, phylogeny and evolution

## 4. PHYLOGENY: THE FAMILY ALBUM

## 4.1. Taxonomic History

Attempts to subdivide the viviparous gyrodactylids (see below), have until recently been based entirely on morphology, primarily that of the attachment hooks and bars. This has run parallel with discussions over the species concept in *Gyrodactylus*. Although most authors tend to split species, a few have taken a wider view. Wagener (1860), for example, grouped all similar gyrodactylids from cyprinids into a single species, which was never formally described. Sproston (1946) similarly recognised only "*G. elegans*" or "*G. medius*", discriminating on hamulus characters now known to be a fixation artefact. Although this approach has long been discredited, it explains many spurious records [e.g. *G. elegans indicus* (see Tripathi, 1957) and *G. medius* from *Ciliata mustela* (see Srivastrava and James, 1967)].

Malmberg (1970) was the first to systematise relationships within Gyrodactylus and the Gyrodactylidae based on morphology. His scheme was based on the excretory system, supplemented with observations on marginal hook type, and assumed that the excretory system had evolved from greater to lesser complexity by the loss of flame cells and secondary canals (Malmberg, 1957, 1964, 1969, 1970). Six subgenera (Gyrodactylus, Mesonephrotus, Paranephrotus, Metanephrotus, Neonephrotus and Limnonephrotus) were formally described (Malmberg, 1970) using these characters and host group/ habitat. Malmberg (1970, 1993) also established species groups within each subgenus based on marginal hook morphology. The gyrodactylid subgenera were linked to the larger host phylogenetic categories within Greenwood et al.'s (1966) teleost classification. For example, species of the subgenus Gyrodactylus (according to Malmberg, the most primitive subgenus), infect ostariophysans, placed by Greenwood et al. (1966) at the base of the teleost stem. Within this subgenus, two species groups, the G. elegans and G. phoxini groups were recognised. The G. elegans group are gill parasites with a thin, spinelike ventral bar membrane, while G. phoxini-type species are skin parasites with a broad, spoon-like ventral bar membrane.

Malmberg's (1970) contribution in establishing the foundation for subsequent phylogenetic and taxonomic studies of this diverse group cannot be over emphasised. However, his scheme suffers from an assumption of host-parasite co-evolution. Originally based on a now outdated fish phylogeny (Greenwood *et al.*, 1966), Malmberg (1998) updated his work using Nelson's (1994) fish classification, but problems remain. The most significant weaknesses are the lack of an independent character system to establish the direction of excretory system evolution, and the assumption that Macrogyrodactylus polypteri has co-evolved with the chondrostean Polypterus and therefore the evolution of viviparous gyrodactylids predated the appearance of the teleosts. In fact, most Macrogyrodactylus species infect catfishes (Prudhoe, 1957; Paperna, 1979; El-Naggar and Serag, 1987), suggesting the association with chondrosteans is due to a host switch. Bakke et al. (2002) could find little convincing evidence for any coevolutionary relationships between gyrodactylids and their fish hosts, and certainly not before the evolution of the Ostariophysi or Clupeomorphs. Molecular work has shown the importance of host switching which has occurred even between families (Zietara et al., 2002) as well as orders (Huyse et al., 2003) of fishes in gyrodactylid evolution (see Section 6.1) and at the species level attempts to identify co-evolutionary trends have failed. Nevertheless, there is some support for groupings based on morphological, ecological and biogeographical trends, and although Malmberg's (1970) species groups have no formal taxonomic status, they have been important for handling the complexity of this genus.

Malmberg's subgeneric analysis was restricted to Scandinavian species and has never been fully adopted by other researchers, probably because the excretory system can only be studied in living worms. Only Gläser (1974) extended the excretory system analysis to describe new species groups within Gyrodactylus, again, for North European species and only from gobies. A great number of North American and Eastern Eurasian species may belong to existing species groups, but without redescription or molecular analysis their relationships cannot be confirmed. The danger of basing species groups on morphology and host group only is shown clearly by the G. salaris group, created by Malmberg (1993) to accommodate G. wageneri-like forms from salmonids. This notion of a separate radiation on salmonids is the simplest co-evolutionary hypothesis and accounts for those few G. wageneri-like forms that are found on salmonids in North America (Cone et al., 1983). However, molecular phylogenies fail to support a separate G. salaris group (Cable et al., 1999) and infer strongly that salmonids have instead been infected on several occasions by G. wageneri-like gyrodactylids (Matejusová et al., 2003; see Section 5.3.2).

## 4.2. The Family Gyrodactylidae

The Gyrodactylidae (Beneden and Hesse, 1864), as originally constituted included only the viviparous genus Gvrodactvlus. As explained by Bychowsky (1961), Beneden and Hesse (1864) referred to the "Gyrodactylides" rather than the Gyrodactylidae, and it was left to later authors (principally Cobbold, 1864) to implement the formal family name. This explains the confusion in the literature over the authority for the family "Gyrodactylidae". We agree with Bychowsky (1961) that the origin of the grouping in the modern sense lies with Beneden and Hesse (1864) and these authors should therefore be credited with establishing the family. A series of subfamilies have been erected piecemeal to accommodate genera based on haptor morphology. The Isancistrinae was erected by Furhmann (1928) for Isancistrum, lacking all bars and hamuli. Rogers (1967) erected the Polyclithrinae, for *Polyclithrum*, with numerous supporting bars in the haptor. All other genera have been assigned to the catch-all subfamily Gyrodactylinae. We deprecate the use of these subfamilies, which are based on morphology only and may reflect convergence rather than true relationship. They have received little support in either molecular (e.g. Matejusová et al., 2003) or morphological (e.g. Malmberg, 1998) phylogenies. However, we do recognise the division between the viviparous genera and the oviparous forms, which are so profoundly different biologically, and agree with Boeger et al. (1994) that viviparity evolved once within one group of the Gyrodactylidae. The family therefore includes both egg-layers and live-bearers, and the family Ooegyrodactylidae of Harris (1983) should be allowed to lapse.

## 4.3. The Genera

Based on morphological criteria, 30 genera have now been described (7 oviparous and 23 viviparous; see examples of genera in Figures 19 and 20). Several viviparous genera are however invalid. *Paragyrodactylus* Szidat is invalid as the name was preoccupied by *Paragyrodactylus* Gvosdev and Martechov. The genus was renamed as



*Figure 19* Relative body size and morphological complexity amongst the viviparous gyrodactylids. (A) *Isancistrum*, from squid (body length ~0.1 mm). Redrawn from Llewellyn (1984) and original observations; (B) *Acanthoplacatus*, from tropical marine fish (body length ~0.3 mm). Redrawn from Ernst *et al.* (2001a); (C) *Gyrodactylus* (body length ~0.6 mm, although much smaller and larger species are also known in this genus, 0.1–1 mm). Original; (D) *Macrogyrodactylus* from African fish (body length 1.0–1.5 mm). Redrawn from Malmberg (1956) and El-Naggar and Serag (1987). All drawn to scale.

*Paragyrodactyloides* (Szidat), but the species concerned is now regarded as a *Gyrodactylus* (Popazoglo and Boeger, 2000), making the generic name a junior synonym. *Neogyrodactylus* Prudhoe is similarly a junior synonym of *Macrogyrodactylus*. *Neogyrodactylus* Baugh, 1957 was pre-occupied and therefore should not be used. Yamaguti introduced *Metagyrodactylus* (Baugh) as a replacement. *Micropolyclithrum* is considered a junior synonym of *Polyclithrum* (Ernst *et al.*, 2000). We also recommend that *Fundulotrema* Kritsky and Thatcher and *Metagyrodactylus* (Baugh) Yamaguti be considered as junior synonyms of *Gyrodactylus* (see below). *Afrogyrodactylus* 

was synonymised with *Gyrodactylus* by Paperna (1979). The taxonomic status of *Swingleus* Rogers remains uncertain.

The following genera make up the family Gyrodactylidae Beneden and Hesse, 1864:

#### 4.3.1. Oviparous Genera

The oviparous *Phanerothecium* was originally described as viviparous (Kritsky and Thatcher, 1977), but its true significance was recognised by Harris (1983), who erected the Ooegyrodactylidae to accommodate this genus and *Ooegyrodactylus*. The Ooegyrodactylidae is paraphyletic (Boeger *et al.*, 1994) and so the oviparous forms are considered here as part of the Gyrodactylidae. The egg-laying genera



possess a unique combination of traits (16 articulated marginal hooks, single pair of hamuli with connective dorsal bar, "spike" sensilla) characteristic of the gyrodactylids. They are all protandrous and lay eggs with a sticky droplet that hatch to release unciliated crawling larvae with prominent spike sensilla. Seven genera have been described, including three new genera proposed by Kritsky *et al.* (2007), based on differences in the structure of the male reproductive system and the vitelline system [although Kritsky *et al.* (2007) comment that the taxonomic significance of the vitelline follicles and ducts should be re-evaluated].

These parasites infect South American catfish, predominantly loricariids. Some infect pimellodellids and Kritsky *et al.* (2007) also recorded undescribed forms from trichomycterid catfish. These often live within the gill chamber of loricariids and the parasites may be

Figure 20 Haptor diversity in the viviparous gyrodactylids. (A) Basic haptoral type with two hamuli, linking dorsal bar, ventral bar and 16 marginal hooks. Exemplified by Gyrodactylus. (B) Successive diminution of the haptor, in (i) Acanthoplacatus (hamuli and bars fail to migrate) and (ii) Isancistrum and Anacanthocotyle (attach to fish and cephalopod skin), hamuli and bars lost. (C) The "Swingleus" group (attach to fish skin). Hamular and ventral bar morphology suggests these genera are related. (i) Fundulotrema, peduncular bar and grouping of marginal hooks (three pairs anteriorly). This genus differs from species of Gyrodactylus infecting Fundulus only in the peduncular bar (ii). Swingleus, as Fundulotrema, but grouping of marginal hooks is more prominent, accessory plates present. (iii) Accessorius, as Swingleus but peduncular bar absent, accessory plates absent and two sucker-like sclerotised structures present. (D) Modification of haptor into discrete suckers in genera that attach to amphibian buccal epithelium. (i) Gyrdicotylus. (E) Marine forms (attach to fish gills), hamuli with two roots, accessory plate present in haptor, function unknown. (i) Gyrodactyloides; (ii) Archigyrodactylus; (iii) Lamniscus. (F) Large parasites (attach to fish skin), entire haptor modified into flattened sucker. (i) Mormyrogyrodactylus. Peduncle with peduncular bar present and functioning in attachment; (ii) Polyclithrum. Marginal hooks grouped anteriorly and posteriorly, accessory bars present; (iii) Macrogyrodactylus. Marginal hooks grouped anteriorly and posteriorly, different arrangement of accessory bars present. Note that these groupings are not exhaustive (Swingleus could equally be placed within group F), and that phylogenetic relationship is not implied by similarity of haptoral mechanism.

utilising the trichomycterid as a phoretic host. The loricarid catfish were probably one of the most recent groups of bony fishes to differentiate, making them unlikely primary hosts for such a large and diverse group as the gyrodactylids. Boeger *et al.* (2003) use the occurrence of egg-laying genera on loricariids to suggest that gyrodactylids diversified from a South American origin some 60 million years ago. We prefer to suggest that the presence of oviparous gyrodactylids on catfish is the result of an ancient host switch.

- (1) *Aglaiogyrodactylus* Kritsky, Vianna and Boeger, 2006: Species of this genus, recovered from loricarid (*Kronichthys*) catfish in Brazil, possess a complex accessory piece and a male copulatory organ enclosed within the copulatory sac.
- (2) *Hyperopletes* Boeger, Kritsky and Belmont-Jégu, 1994: Parasites of loricariid catfishes in Brazil, *Hyperopletes* is distinguished from the other egg-laying gyrodactylids by a copulatory organ armed with fine spines and by the arrangement of seminal vesicles; otherwise, it is very similar to the other oviparous forms.
- (3) *Ooegyrodactylus* Harris, 1983: Collected from the loricariid catfish (*Farlowella*) from Brazil/Peru, this genus can be distinguished by an entirely muscular penis with small basal bulb. The growth from small crawling larva through male phase to the large egg-laying females was described by Harris (1983) and it is the only oviparous genus so far to have been maintained in laboratory culture. Kritsky *et al.* (2007) consider this genus most similar to *Phanerothecium*, separated by characters including short egg-filament, separate seminal receptacle, absence of pregerminal vitelline follicles and inverted U-shaped vitelline ducts. The original name (*Oögyrodactylus*) was modified to *Ooegyrodactylus* in accordance with the International Code on Zoological Nomenclature.
- (4) Phanerothecium Kritsky and Thatcher, 1977: Phanerothecium differs from Ooegyrodactylus in having the intromittent organ supported by a thin external layer of hardened protein. Some species of Phanerothecium retain egg clusters in utero, have a long egg filament, the seminal receptacle is absent or intra-germarial and pre-germarial vitelline follicles are

present. Species have been described from the loricariid catfish *Plecostomus* (see Kritsky and Boeger, 1991) and *Hypostomus* (see Boeger *et al.*, 1994), suggesting that this genus also primarily infects loricariid catfish, although the type species was described from the pimellodellid *Zungaro zungaro*.

- (5) *Phanerothecioides* Kritsky, Vianna and Boeger, 2006: Species from this genus infect *Hypostomus* catfish in Brazil. The parasites lack haptoral bars, there are no pre-germinal vitelline follicles and the vitelline ducts take the form of an inverted U-shape. Species have a conspicuous testis, a syncytial prostatic gland and a reduced copulatory sac.
- (6) *Nothogyrodactylus* Kritsky and Boeger, 1991: Described from the loricarid catfish *Ancistrus* from Brazil, this genus was originally distinguished by the presence of accessory sclerites on the penis; these sclerites have subsequently also been found in *Onychogyrodactylus* and *Aglaiogyrodactylus*.
- (7) Onychogyrodactylus Kritsky, Vianna and Boeger, 2006: This genus is similar to Nothogyrodactylus with species of both infecting Ancistrus spp. Species are characterised by the spine-like accessory sclerites lying within a separate pouch to the copulatory sac.

## 4.3.2. Viviparous Genera

The viviparous genera are remarkably uniform, with little variation in internal anatomy. Differences tend to be either in the presence of accessory sclerites on the haptor (*Polyclithrum, Swingleus, Fundulo-trema* and *Macrogyrodactylus*) or loss of hamuli and bars (*Anon-chohaptor* and *Isancistrum*), or in penis structure (*Gyrdicotylus, Mormyrogyrodactylus* and *Scleroductus*). Molecular evidence (Cable *et al.*, 1999; Ziętara *et al.*, 2002) indicates fundamental differences even within the genus *Gyrodactylus*, which are not reflected in morphology.

(8) *Afrogyrodactylus* Paperna, 1968: Erected for *A. characinis* from *Alestes*, this genus has a tubular, spinous penis and hamuli

with a developed dorsal root. Synonymised with *Gyrodactylus* in Paperna (1979), this species would repay further examination as the penis structure suggests that it may represent a different genus, more akin, for example, to *Mormyro-gyrodactylus* described by Luus-Powell *et al.* (2003).

- (9) Accessorius Jara, An and Cone, 1991: This viviparous taxon from the South American characin, Lebiasina maculata, has two tubular sucker-like structures within the haptor. These appear to be reinforced, rather than simply muscular, and their function remains unclear. Jara *et al.* (1991) grouped Accessorius with Polyclithrum and Swingleus in the Polyclithrinae, but there is probably not a close relationship between the latter genera and there is certainly no reason to link Accessorius to them. The ventral bar morphology resembles that of Gyrodactylus costaricensis and G. poeciliae, but the detailed relationships of Accessorius remain unclear.
- (10) *Acanthoplacatus* Ernst, Jones and Whittington, 2001: Recorded from the skin of *Siganus* spp. from tropical reefs, this genus is characterised by hamuli that remain embryonic and fail to migrate back down the peduncle into the haptor. Surprisingly, this genus is recorded as lacking spike sensilla (Ernst *et al.*, 2001a).
- (11) Anacanthocotyle Kritsky and Fritts, 1977: A genus which lacks hamuli and bars: the haptor is armed only with 16 marginal hooks. Erected for Anonchohaptor anonchohaptor from a South American fish, this genus is poorly characterised and there seems little justification for it. Apart from host group, this genus cannot be distinguished from Isancistrum, and it appears to be a Gyrodactylus-type in which the hamuli and bars have been secondarily lost.
- (12) Archigyrodactylus Mizelle and Kritsky, 1967: Recorded from the Pacific tomcod Microgadus, this genus has an elaborated ventral bar membrane, with wings spreading back around the haptor, probably to reinforce the suctorial disc. Insufficient is known about this genus to comment on its validity; however, the resemblance with Laminiscus, from gadids in the Atlantic, is striking.

#### THE BIOLOGY OF GYRODACTYLID MONOGENEANS

- Fundulotrema Kritsky and Thatcher, 1977: This genus was (13)erected by Kritsky and Thatcher (1977) to accommodate five Gyrodactylus species infecting Fundulus and related fishes in North America: G. foxi Rogers, 1973, G. megacanthus Wellborn and Rogers, 1967, G. stableri Hathaway and Herlevich, 1973, G. trematoclithrus Rogers, 1967 and G. prolongis Hargis, 1955. All possess a characteristic peduncular bar, which is thought to act as a pressure plate during attachment (Kritsky and Thatcher, 1977; Cone and Odense, 1988). There is little doubt that Fundulotrema is derived from Gyrodactylus species; indeed there is a close relationship between the hamulus and bar structure of Fundulotrema and that of G. funduli or G. stequrus, which also infect Fundulus but lack the peduncular bar. To this extent Fundulotrema cannot be regarded as valid, but should rather be seen (with the species lacking peduncular bars) as part of a species group of Gyrodactylus in the sense of Malmberg (1970).
- (14) *Gyrdicotylus* Vercammen Grandjean, 1960: First recorded from the stomach of *Xenopus* toads in Kivu by Vercammen Grandjean (1960), this genus was redescribed by Harris and Tinsley (1987). These parasites infect the mouth and pharynx of *Xenopus* and the related pipid toads, *Silurana* and *Hymenochirus* (see Tinsley, 1996), and have a suctorial attachment mechanism in which the ventral and dorsal bars are absent, the hamuli have two roots which form the dorsal wall of the suctoral haptor, and the marginal hooks pin down a marginal valve around the edge of the haptor. The penis has a single complete row of large spines. *Gyrdicotylus* species have now been recovered from throughout sub-Saharan Africa (Harris and Tinsley, 1987; Tinsley 1996; J.A. Jackson, personal communication).
- (15) Gyrodactyloides Bychowsky, 1947: Bychowsky established this genus for species parasitic from marine teleosts (gadids, osmerids and marine phase salmonids). The ventral bar lacks a membrane, the hamuli have two roots and the dorsal bar is absent. Instead, a thin, membraneous structure extends around from the anterior of the haptor to just posterior to the ventral bar.

- (16) Gyrodactylus von Nordmann, 1832: The original genus described by von Nordmann (1832). Von Nordmann grouped both Gyrodactylus and what we now know as Tetraonchus and Dactylogyrus, within the same genus. It was left to Wagener (1860) to reformulate the generic description to include only viviparous forms. Gyrodactylus now contains over 480 species descriptions, ~400 of which are valid (Harris et al., 2004).
- Isancistrum de Beauchamp, 1912: Isancistrum loliginis held the (17)distinction of being the only monogenean from a cephalopod mollusc when described from the squid Loligo at Roscoff by de Beauchamp (1912). It was also characterised by the absence of hamuli and bars, the haptor being armed only with 16 marginal hooks. Subsequent workers were unable to rediscover this parasite until Llewellyn (1984) redescribed it from Alloteuthis subulata. Llewellyn also described I. subulatae, distinguished from the original species on the basis of site of infection. Isancistrum is probably derived from Gyrodactylus, although it shows a number of intriguing features. It is the smallest known gyrodactylid, with a body size of only 0.1-0.2 mm. Unlike Anonchohaptor, Isancistrum possesses a ring intestine. The extent to which Isancistrum has radiated onto cephalopods is not clear and molecular data are urgently needed for this genus.
- (18) Macrogyrodactylus Malmberg, 1956: This genus includes the largest known gyrodactylids, attaining a maximum length of  $\sim 1.5-2$  mm and clearly visible to the naked eye, infecting the skin of African freshwater fishes. Coincident with Malmberg's description, Prudhoe (1957) described a catfish-infecting form as Neogyrodactylus, which is therefore a junior synonym. The haptor is armed with two hamuli, ventral and dorsal bars and 16 marginal hooks. However, the anterior marginal hooks are reflected forwards, while the other seven pairs are arranged in a row along the posterior margin of the haptor. Additional hardened struts within the haptor reinforce the suctorial disc, which is also characterised by small, possibly sensory, peg-like tegumental extensions.

The penis is armed with flat plates (one larger than the others), rather than the hooked spines of other gyrodactylids.

There is also a secondary seminal receptacle behind the ECFR (Malmberg, 1957; El-Naggar and Serag, 1987; El-Abbassay, 2001) and numerous unidentified, lateral cells in the body, some of which have been identified as putative subtegumental cells (El-Naggar and Cable, in press), although the function of others remains unknown. In M. polypteri, the gut is banded (Malmberg, 1957), due to accumulation of melanin granules from the host Polypterus (see Cable et al., 1997), but other species of Macrogyrodactylus have a transparent intestine. Having described M. polypteri from the primitive fish Polypterus, Malmberg (1957) considered this genus to be primitive. Most other species, including the form described by Prudhoe (1957), have, however been described from catfish, and it seems most likely that *Polypterus* is infected as the result of a hostswitch. At a molecular level, Macrogyrodactylus appears to group with the African Gyrdicotylus from amphibians (see Matejusová et al., 2003), but many more African species need to be included in the analysis to draw conclusions about the primitiveness and relationships of these genera.

- (19) *Mormyrogyrodactylus* Luus-Powell, Mashego and Khalil, 2003: Described from the primitive African fish *Marcusenius macrolepidotus* in South Africa, this genus may be close to the forms described as "*Gyreteroncus*" by Euzet and Birgi (1988) in a conference abstract, but never properly described. Unfortunately, the internal structure of this genus was not fully described, and the homology of organ systems to those of other gyrodactylids is unclear. The significance of this genus is that it has many characters which appear primitive and it may be basal to many other genera. The haptor is reinforced to function as a shallow sucker, but anteriorly there is a broad peduncle, including a peduncular bar, which is also involved in attachment. Additional work on this genus is awaited with interest.
- (20) Neogyrodactylus Prudhoe, 1957: A junior synonym of Macrogyrodactylus Malmberg, 1957.
- (21) *Neogyrodactylus* Baugh, 1957: This genus was erected for a gyrodactylid from the parasitic crustacean *Argulus* in India.

According to the description, the ventral bar is absent. Current knowledge would suggest that this represents a *Gyrodactylus* species using *Argulus* as a phoretic host. However, the description is poor and does not correspond with any known description of a fish-infecting gyrodactylid. The name is preoccupied by Prudhoe (1957) and was therefore replaced by *Metagyrodactylus* Yamaguti 1963.

- (22) Metagyrodactylus (Baugh) Yamaguti, 1963: Yamaguti (1963) used this name to replace the preoccupied Neogyrodactylus Baugh, 1957. However, there is little to separate this genus from Gyrodactylus, and we suggest that this genus be considered a junior synonym of the latter.
- (23) Polyclithrum Rogers, 1967: Another genus with accessory supporting struts on the haptor and an asymmetrical distribution of marginal hooks (like Macrogyrodactylus and Swingleus). Polyclithrum has been recorded extensively from mullets (Mugilidae). As in Macrogyrodactylus (see above), there is a distinct seminal receptacle, lying to one side of the ECFR (Ernst et al., 2000), which was not identified by Rogers (1967). This sets Polyclithrum apart from the Gyrodactylus species infecting mullets, and links it with Macrogyrodactylus and Swingleus. This may indicate relationship between these genera, or may simply be because they are the largest and least progenetic of the viviparous genera. Molecular data are needed to answer this question.
- (24) Micropolyclithrum Skinner, 1975: Described to accommodate Polyclithrum-like forms from the mullet Mugil cephalus from Florida: considered a synonym of Polyclithrum by Ernst et al. (2000).
- (25) Scleroductus Jara and Cone, 1989: A South American form from pimellodellid and auchenipterid catfish, Scleroductus, is characterised by two hardened ribs along the ejaculatory duct within the bulbous penis (Jara and Cone, 1989). Although resembling Gyrodactylus, Kritsky et al. (1995) agreed that the structure of the copulatory organ was sufficiently different to justify the separate genus. The intromittent organ has welldeveloped prostatic reservoirs and a seminal vesicle, and

appears intermediate between the tubular primitive penes (in *Mormyrogyrodactylus* and the oviparous genera) and the globular copulatory organ of *Gyrodactylus*. Further study of this genus could help resolve important aspects of the evolution of primitive gyrodactylids.

- (26) Swingleus Rogers, 1969: Swingleus was erected for a gyrodactylid from Fundulus in which the haptor has one pair of marginal hooks shifted anteriorly while the remainder are grouped posteriorly. The haptor bears support struts and superficially resembles Macrogyrodactylus or Polyclithrum. However, Swingleus also possesses a peduncular bar, linking it with both Fundulotrema and those Gyrodactylus species (G. funduli and G. stegurus), with similar hamulus morphology that infect Fundulus. However, Swingleus also has an accessory seminal receptacle (Billeter et al., 2000), which may link it with Macrogyrodactylus and Polyclithrum. Swingleus potentially sheds light on the plasticity of the gyrodactylid haptoral apparatus; this radiation onto fundulids has resulted in considerable variation in haptoral armature.
- (27) *Paragyrodactylus* Gvosdev and Martechov, 1953: A parasite from loaches from the central Asian Ili River basin, separated from *Gyrodactylus* because of the greater complexity of the attachment apparatus. Further study needed to confirm whether these differences are fundamental, or whether this represents a local diversification within *Gyrodactylus*.
- (28) Paragyrodactylus Szidat, 1973: Erected for Paragyrodactylus superbus, a parasite of Corydoras from southern South America, the genus name was preoccupied by Paragyrodactylus Gvosdev and Martechov, 1953; the genus was therefore renamed Paragyrodactyloides by Nunez (1975).
- (29) *Paragyrodactyloides* Nunez, 1975: Renamed because of preoccupation of *Paragyrodactylus*, *Paragyrodactyloides* was synonymised with *Gyrodactylus* by Popazoglo and Boeger (2000).
- (30) *Laminiscus* Palsson and Beverly Burton, 1983: The haptor of *Gyrodactyloides gussevi*, from the capelin *Mallotus villosus*, differs significantly from that of other *Gyrodactyloides* species, having a rounded shield-like plate between the hamulus roots.

Palsson and Beverly Burton (1983) erected *Laminiscus* for this species and others (e.g. *G. strelkowi*) with a rounded plate between the hamulus roots. *Laminiscus* closely resembles *Archigyrodactylus* from gadids.

## 4.4. Evolutionary Affinities of the Gyrodactylids

Gyrodactylids are very different from other monogeneans, lacking structures and organ systems that may help determine their affinities. It is important to distinguish: (i) plesiomorphic characters which differ because ancestral oviparous gyrodactylids were different to other monogeneans, and (ii) apomorphic characters that have arisen due largely to progenesis and viviparity. Monogeneans typically have the highly modified, ciliated, swimming oncomiracidium larva, and Llewellyn (1981) discussed viviparity in Gyrodactylus from the viewpoint that this larva had been secondarily lost. Absence of a swimming larva was seen as an uninformative apomorphy resulting from the viviparous lifestyle. However, it then became apparent that gyrodactylids primitively lack a ciliated oncomiracidium (Harris, 1983), and that, like the terrestrial lice, all stages in the life cycle could transfer between hosts. The larva of Ooegyrodactylus is therefore plesiomorphic with the primitive unciliated crawling larva of the acanthocotylids, of Enoplocotyle and of Udonella. Plesiomorphic characters of gyrodactylids include: (i) a pair of multiciliate "spike" sensilla, one on each cephalic lobe (Lyons, 1969; see Figures 15 and 16), present throughout life; (ii) male and female reproductive systems with separate openings, but no secondary vaginae. The primitive intromittent organ is tubular, reinforced with rings, accessory sclerites or spines; (iii) an unciliated crawling juvenile, and (iv) pigmented eye spots absent throughout the life cycle. A combination of these plesiomorphic characters is shared with other primitive monogeneans, including the Acanthocotylids, Enoplocotyle and Udonella, although only Enoplocotyle shares all of these characters. Other characters, including the hinged marginal hooks (Boeger and Kritsky, 1997) also link the gyrodactylids with the acanthocotylids and Enoplocotyle, but these may be shared, derived characters.

The most striking resemblance is between the egg-laving gyrodactylids and Enoplocotyle, a small monogenean from the skin of the moray eel. In this genus, the haptor is armed with 16 small articulated marginal hooks, identical to Gyrodactylus. The larva is a primary unciliated "crawlaway", lacking eye spots and armed only with marginal hooks. The three species of Enoplocotyle are normally linked with the acanthocotylids, which also, have 16 marginal hooks, but develop a large pseudohaptor immediately in front of the haptor proper, armed with rows of plates which, in Acanthocotyle, engage with the dermal denticles of the host (Malmberg and Fernholm, 1991). In the related Myxinocotyle, the pseudohaptor is suctorial, allowing attachment to the smooth-skinned hagfish (Malmberg and Fernholm, 1989). Enoplocotyle has been poorly studied since first described by Tagliani (1912), but E. kidakoi is highly reminiscent of the ooegyrodactylids (Kearn, 1993), with four longitudinal rows of vitellaria, a post-germarial testis separate male and female systems, and a large fertilisation chamber (cf. the ECFR of gyrodactylids) adjacent to the germarium. Kearn (1993) also notes the presence of compound ciliary sensilla "at the anterior tip of each cone-shaped head lobe". No micrographs are available, but the described resemblance to the spike sensilla of gyrodactylids is considerable. Boeger and Kritsky (1997) also link the diffuse glands surrounding the fertilisation chamber of Enoplocotyle with those of egg-laying gyrodactylids. We consider it likely that enoplocotylids are probably the closest described monogeneans to the egg laying and viviparous gyrodactylids.

Frustratingly, acanthocotylids and *Enoplocotyle* (and the ooegyrodactylids) have not yet been included in molecular phylogenies. Using 18S rDNA sequence data, Olson and Littlewood (2002) linked the gyrodactylids with *Udonella*, the hyperparasite of caligid copepods which lacks opisthaptoral hooks and has often been treated as convergent with, rather than closely related to, the Monogenea. The morphology of *Udonella* is also very similar to that of *Enoplocotyle* and the oviparous gyrodactylids although the male and female systems share a common opening. Remarkably, despite all the molecular analyses of *Gyrodactylus*, no deposited 28S rDNA sequences were available to allow Olson and Littlewood (2002) to place *Gyrodactylus* more precisely. Boeger and Kritsky (1997) using morphology, link the gyrodactylids with the acanthocotylids (including Enoplocotyle), forming a sister group to the anoplodiscids, another primitive group with hinged marginal hooks. This analysis, however, is based on the premise that Enoplocotyle is indeed an acanthocotylid; Udonella was not considered. Matejusová et al. (2003), using a wider range of gyrodactylid 18S rDNA sequences, also achieved a close sister group relationship (>90% bootstrap support) between the gyrodactylids and Udonella, with capsalids again the sister group to the Gyrodactylus/Udonella clade. These appear to represent the surviving terminal branches of an earlier monogenean radiation, prior to the appearance of the modern dominant groups such as the microcotylids and polyopisthocotyleans. An argument against the basal position of the ooegyrodactylids in gyrodactylid ancestry is the identity of the host group; the loricariid catfish are relatively recently evolved (Boeger et al., 1994, 2003). However, other apparently primitive egg-laying monogenean groups also occur on modern fishes, presumably as a result of host switching. For example, Udonella is a hyperparasite of Caligus parasitic on a range of teleosts, Enoplocotvle is found on Muraena, while the acanthocotylids occur on elasmobranchs and agnathans.

The formal taxonomic position of gyrodactylids remains confused, partly because our perception of the position of these groups within the Monogenea is poorly developed. Today, the Monogenea are usually treated as a class of the Platyhelminthes (e.g. Brusca and Brusca, 1990 (see Tree of Life Project); Olson and Littlewood, 2002), distinct from the class Trematoda, which includes the Aspidogastreans and Digeneans. Although Odhner's (1912) classification into Monopisthocotylea (based on the adults fairly simple attachment mechanisms, and which feed on skin and mucus) and Polyopisthocotylea (based on the adults complex attachment mechanisms involving clamps and suckers, and which are generally gill feeders on blood) is well known and intuitively simple. However, the classification of Bychowsky (1961), who divided the Monogenea into the Polyonchoinea (with numerous marginal hooks in larvae, roughly corresponding to Monopisthocotylea) and the Oligonchoinea (reduced marginal hooks in larvae, roughly corresponding to the Polyopisthocotylea), is also widely used. The difficulties with all classifications of the Monogenea is that they fail to reflect the fact that the Monopisthocotylea (Polyonchoinea) are a much more diverse group than the Polyopisthocotylea, which most authors accept include only two natural groups, the Oligonchoinea proper and the polystomatids (Polystomatoinea) from amphibians. For an informative and acerbic discussion of these nomenclatural issues, see Olson and Littlewood (2002). The Polyonchoinea include such clearly natural monopisthocotylean groupings as the capsalids and the microcotylids, as well as a wide range of smaller groups, some (Enoplocotyle, Udonella) represented by only single taxa. To reflect this, Malmberg (1990) created the subclass Articulonchoinea, to include eight families with articulated marginal hook sickles (the Gyrodactylidae, Enoplocotylidae, Anoplodiscidae, Acanthocotylidae Bothitrematidae, Tetraonchoididae, Ooegyrodactylidae and Sundanonchidae) which he considered primitive. Shinn et al. (1998a), using patterns of sensilla distribution, also reflected these ideas, proposing that gyrodactylids were closer to the polyopisthocotylean line of monogenean evolution, and formed a separate subclass between monopisthocotyleans and polyopisthocotyleans. Boeger and Kritsky (1993), in the first cladistic analysis of the Monogenea rejected the Articulonchoinea as polyphyletic, as the Acanthocotylidae (including Enoplocotyle) grouped with the Capsalidea Lebedev, 1988. Later, Boeger and Kritsky (2001) demonstrated that the monophyly of the Order Gyrodactylidea Bychowsky, 1937 was supported by six synapomorphies of which three were non-homoplasious: the presence of two seminal vesicles, large vitelline follicles and hinged marginal hooks. Boeger and Kritsky (1993, 1997) additionally suggested that the Gyrodactylidea and the Dactylogyridea were sister groups within the Polyonchoinea. Boeger and Kritsky (2001) suggested an independent origin for the six families of the order Gyrodactylidea which comprises the Gyrodactylidae, Anoplodiscidae, Bothitrematidae, and Tetraonchoididae, with the Udonellidae Taschenberg, 1879 and the Acanthocotylidae. Further molecular and morphological studies on the Gyrodactylidea, including other taxa such as Enoplocotyle, and overcoming the prejudice to consider Udonella as not a monogenean, are required to resolve these competing hypotheses.

## 5. SYSTEMATICS: THE BIOLOGICAL BEDROCK

## 5.1. Morphological Conservatism

Gyrodactylid alpha taxonomy is based on morphology, predominantly upon the morphometrics of the attachment apparatus, but may implicitly rely heavily on the host identity. The hamuli and bars represent a remarkable taxonomic resource. They are composed of keratin-like proteins (Kayton, 1983; Shinn et al., 1995a), secreted with a remarkable degree of precision, and the complexity of their shapes provides much taxonomically useful information. The structures are stable in shape, for the most part fully formed at birth (but see Jackson and Tinsley, 1995), tough and not easily distorted, and resistant to most chemical fixatives. However, as 3D structures they present challenges to capture the subtleties of their shape. They are also composite structures, reflecting differences in the proteins secreted during their synthesis. The hamulus points and marginal hook sickles are particularly resilient, surviving prolonged proteinase digestion. These structures are also rigid, whereas hamulus roots (Figure 7) and the ventral bar membrane and processes (Figure 8) are far more fragile and easily damaged during preparation. These structures are also flexible and may distort badly in formalin or ethanol fixed material, or even in air-dried specimens for SEM, when they may appear hollow and flattened (cf. Veltkamp et al., 1996 for a freeze substitution method which minimises dehydration artefacts). This becomes a particular problem in those species with hamulus roots folded naturally into the midline (e.g. G. nemacheili and allies), and hence it is important that observations on preserved specimens are supplemented by observations of living gyrodactylids. Ventral bar shape is particularly crucial in identifying a novel gyrodactylid, although current analyses tend not to capture the complexity of this structure (Figures 8 and 21). Similarly, the shape of the dorsal bar can be diagnostic (Figure 8), but there is little need for measurements. On the other hand, critical examination of marginal hook sickles (Figure 9), and to a lesser extent the hamuli, is necessary to establish the finer points of relationship of a gyrodactylid, especially in such



*Figure 21* Scanning electron micrograph of a ventral bar (tilted anteriorly) of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (River Rauma strain) from Atlantic salmon.

difficult groups as the *G. wageneri* species complex (Malmberg, 1970), or within variants of *G. salaris* and *G. thymalli*.

Early gyrodactylid taxonomy relied on light microscopy of Canada Balsam mounted specimens. Marginal hooks and hamuli could be resolved with great accuracy in these preparations, and Wagener's (1860) descriptions can be instantly recognised today. However, many other taxonomists lacked this skill and their descriptions are so incomplete (e.g. Kathariner's 1904 description of *G. gracilis*) that the species cannot be re-identified. The viscosity of Canada Balsam makes it difficult to find properly flattened marginal hooks, while the refractive index is too close to that of the marginal hooks to make fine observation easy. American systematists used formalin and other reagents as a bath treatment to remove parasites from hosts prior to mounting (Parker and Haley, 1960; Putz and Hoffman, 1963). This generated many new species descriptions because of the ease with which fish could be screened (and is still in use e.g. Billeter *et al.*, 2000;
Kritsky *et al.*, 2007). However, formalin fixation may distort the hamulus roots, pulling them into the midline and, making their true shape difficult to discern.

With these difficulties in mind, Malmberg (1957, 1964, 1970) experimented with alternative mountants allowing adequate flattening and an appropriate refractive index. He developed saturated ammonium picrate mixed with glycerin as a combined fixative-mountant allowed to seep under the coverslip to fix a living, flattened gyrodactylid at the point of death. This revolutionised gyrodactylid taxonomy, offering significant improvements in flattening, refractive index and visibility, and combined with phase contrast illumination has become the method of choice for taxonomy of lower monogeneans. Although robust, it is not without disadvantages. Ammonium picrate mounts can dry out, but can subsequently be revived by allowing distilled water to seep under the cover slip. Mounts are fragile and contamination with immersion oil is a real problem, and so ringing with varnish is a necessity. They must also be stored flat. There are other disadvantages. Most notably, dried ammonium picrate is highly explosive, with severe restrictions on its supply and transportation and the viscosity of this medium can still be too great to allow full flattening of small marginal hooks. In addition, the limitations of resolution of the light microscope do impose limits on the use of marginal hooks in gyrodactylid taxonomy. For example, Gyrodactylus poeciliae has marginal hook sickles which are so small that their tips cannot be resolved with light microscopy (Harris and Cable, 2000). Suggestions for improvements of Malmberg's (1957) method include Ergens (1969) method for transferring Gyrodactylus specimens from ammonium picrate-glycerin into Canada balsam, Kritsky et al.'s (1978) method for staining the connecting bars of formalin-fixed Gyrodactylus specimens with Gomori's trichrome, and Richards and Chubb's (1995) technique using Mallory stain during the transfer of Gyrodactylus specimens from ammonium picrateglycerin into a permanent mountant. Deposition of ammonium picrate-glycerin specimens is permissible within most major museums, a concession to the value of the technique.

With the increasing use of molecular techniques, the main disadvantage of ammonium picrate-glycerin is its inadequacy for alcohol-fixed specimens, which often show significantly distorted hamulus roots preventing simultaneous high-resolution morphometry of the same specimens. This is particularly noticeable in the description of G. teuchis (Lautraite et al., 1999), the morphometrics of which are much less adequately described than the molecular sequence (Cunningham et al., 2001). This led to experimentation with various methods for examination of haptors of individuals, the bodies of which had previously been used for molecular analysis, and we highly recommend combined morphological and molecular descriptions of gyrodactylids in all taxonomic work (Harris et al., 1999). Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) has been used for monogenean taxonomy since Maillard et al. (1982) disrupted soft anatomy with sodium carbonate to free the copulatory organ of Diplectanum aequans. Mo and Appleby (1990) and Shinn et al. (1993) used proteases (principally trypsin), with ultrasound (sonication) to liberate hooks from gyrodactylids. This gave a poor yield, it was impossible to assign individual hooks to particular specimens, and if the body/uterus was not removed hooks from the parental and progeny generations were mixed. Harris et al. (1999) finally resolved these difficulties, developing proteinase K/sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) digestion of individual worms for both SEM and molecular analysis. This has been used to describe gyrodactylids from poeciliids (Harris and Cable, 2000; Cable et al., 2005), gobies (Longshaw et al., 2003), bullheads (Winger et al., 2005) and salmonids (Shinn et al., 2004; Robertsen et al., 2007a) including the description of the rainbow trout-infecting G. salaris variant (Lindenstrøm et al., 2003a). Another advantage is that, providing the surrounding tissue is suitably digested, application of variable pressure when applying the coverslip does not significantly alter measurements. A major drawback of digestion techniques remains their inability to deal with formalin-fixed material. This would be extremely valuable, as gyrodactylids can frequently be collected from museum specimens of their hosts. Analysis of material collected in this way is probably the only feasible method for collection of gyrodactylids from certain host groups, for example, those from the deep sea, from squids or from African freshwater fishes and amphibians.

A number of authors have looked to other morphological characters that could be used in gyrodactylid alpha taxonomy, most notably the mapping of sensory structures (chaetotaxy) (Shinn *et al.*, 1992, 1997, 1998a, b; Bakke *et al.*, 2004a; see Section 2.7). However, the use of haptoral measurements persists with associated advances in statistical analysis. Multivariate statistical analyses and automated methods applicable to a single hook are greatly improving the objectivity of these methods (Shinn *et al.*, 1996, 2000; Kay *et al.*, 1999; Bakke *et al.*, 2004a, b), although the most fundamental issue is to determine the most appropriate measurements to record.

Most authors have a favoured suite of measurements, which have evolved from the work of Malmberg (1957, 1970) and Ergens (1957) and centre on the hamuli and marginal hooks. Prior to this, the Soviet Russian school used dimensions such as "hamulus length", "marginal hook length", and so on, but these were poorly defined and remain open to interpretation. Malmberg (1957) was the first to use an explicit measurement system. A similar, but slightly different, system evolved in the United States (Mizelle and Kritsky, 1967) and an unresolved problem is that Nearctic and Palaearctic gyrodactylids have been measured using different systems. Eastern Palearctic species described by Gussev (1953, 1955) follow the Soviet measuring system, while most western Palearctic species follow the systems of Malmberg and Ergens. Harris (1985, 1986) followed Malmberg's system fairly closely, but found some characters, for example, dorsal bar measurements, relatively meaningless because they were susceptible to distortion. Shinn (1994) reviewed the measurement of gyrodactylids critically, and revised Malmberg's (1970) range of measurements to give greater precision and utility. In particular, he argued that measurements such as "marginal hook sickle distal width" were uninformative because they could not be measured accurately using the light microscope. Others, such as "marginal hook sickle filament length" are too variable. Shinn et al. (2004; see their Figures 1-4) developed a standard suite of light microscope measurements for gyrodactylids of salmonids with new measurements on the ventral bar added by Olstad et al. (unpublished). Light microscopy measurements should, where possible, be supplemented by SEM observations (e.g. Figures 7-10). The use of measurements between established

landmarks allow rapid semi-automatic identification of gyrodactylids by relatively untrained operators (Kay *et al.*, 1999). This has been developed further to utilise the power of PC neural networks to learn identification of single gyrodactylids (McHugh *et al.*, 2000; Shinn *et al.*, 2000). At the same time, shapes, particularly of the marginal hook sickles, can be adequate to discriminate individuals where linear dimensions cannot. This was noted by Malmberg (1970), but had not been addressed objectively until Shinn *et al.* (1996) began to investigate whether computerised image analysis techniques could discriminate aspects of shape, rather than absolute size. However, it is evident that inaccuracy in the specification of landmark positions for linear measurements in gyrodactylid taxonomy still occurs, and noncomparable dimensions of closely related species are still selected by different taxonomists.

Significant seasonal variations occur in the size of gyrodactylid haptoral hooks and bars, and can be generated experimentally using different temperature regimes (see Mo, 1991a, b, c; Appleby, 1994, 1996a, b). Lower temperatures extend embryogenesis leading to the birth of specimens with larger hooks (Kulemina, 1977; Mo, 1991a, b, c; Dávidová et al., 2005; see Section 9.1). This environmental effect can be so marked as to result in samples from the same population having non-overlapping size ranges at the warmest and coldest periods of the year (Mo, 1991b). Morphological variants are known (Harris, 1998; Geets et al., 1999), and there may be significant differences between individual parasites, with quite distinct individuals occasionally present within the same population and molecular clade (Winger et al., 2005; Robertsen et al., 2007a; Olstad et al., unpublished). Breeding of these individuals may lead to a reversion to type morphology (Harris, 1998). Host identity and site of attachment may also influence haptoral morphology (Huyse and Volckaert, 2002; Robertsen et al., 2007a) in genetically characterised taxa. Dmitrieva and Dimitrov (2002) also showed an effect of salinity on hamulus and marginal hook size, but in this case, parasites were not characterised genetically and may have represented different genotypes.

Species descriptions in gyrodactylids present a number of problems which can, in extreme cases, make re-identification almost impossible. This is particularly so for older species descriptions, but can also apply to recent descriptions which otherwise conform to ICZN protocols. We suggest that all new species descriptions of gyrodactylids include morphometric analysis based on proteolytic enzyme digested specimens using LM, preferably supplemented with SEM, and where possible rDNA sequence data spanning ITS1, 5.8S and ITS2 (Harris *et al.*, 1999; Bakke *et al.*, 2005). To some extent this suggestion has been followed, and recent descriptions such as those of *G. neili* (Le Blanc *et al.*, 2006) and *G. thlapi* (Christison *et al.*, 2005) do show much higher standards of description than many previous accounts.

#### 5.2. Molecular Genetics

Molecular approaches to parasite taxonomy and systematics began in the early 1990s (Wilson, 1991) and with the threat posed by further range extension of G. salaris, it became apparent that conventional morphological methodologies were insufficient for identification of this pathogen. Cunningham and co-workers therefore developed molecular probes to differentiate G. salaris from other, non-pathogenic species infecting salmonids (Cunningham et al., 1995a, b, c, 2000, 2003; Cunningham, 1997, 2002; Cunningham and Mo, 1997; Cunningham and Johnston, 1998; Collins and Cunningham, 2000; Collins et al., 2000; Matejusová et al., 2001; Sterud et al., 2002; Matejusová and Cunningham, 2004). The first marker developed was the V4 region of the 28S large ribosomal subunit (LSU), chosen because of the availability of highly conserved flanking regions that could be used to design universal primers. This locus contained amplifiable restriction fragments that distinguished G. salaris from non-pathogenic G. truttae and G. derjavini (see Cunningham et al., 1995a, b) but not from G. thymalli or G. teuchis (see Cunningham et al., 2001). This led to the sequencing of the internal transcribed spacers (ITS1 and ITS2) and 5.8S rDNA of the ribosomal gene cassette (Cunningham, 1997). The 5.8S rRNA sequence is highly conserved and may therefore be a good marker of the deeper divisions within the genus (Zietara and Lumme, 2002; Huyse et al., 2003). Cable et al. (1999) sequenced ITS from non-pathogenic species, allowing the first molecular phylogeny for the genus. Molecular

phylogenies of the genus *Gyrodactylus* inferred from rDNA ITS regions were used to evaluate the validity of subgenera and species groups (Ziętara *et al.*, 2002; Matejusová *et al.*, 2003), and the subdivision of species of gyrodactylids into groups with long and short ITS1 (Cable *et al.*, 1999; Ziętara *et al.*, 2002). ITS1 and ITS2 have proved more useful markers of gyrodactylid genomic variation than the V4 region. They are more variable than the structurally conserved LSU, and because of concerted evolution (Elder and Turner, 1995), they homogenise within sexually pannictic populations. ITS markers have proved remarkably robust and 125 species (over one quarter of the described species) have now been sequenced at this locus, principally by Matejusová *et al.* (2000a, 2001, 2003), Ziętara *et al.* (2000, 2002) and Ziętara and Lumme (2002, 2003, 2004). This data set is particularly useful for its emphasis on the freshwater Eurasian species, especially the *G. wageneri* group species.

ITS sequences have proved sensitive markers of the boundaries between different gyrodactylid taxa, with even small sequence differences signalling different species identity. For example, G. rarus and G. branchicus, which are almost identical by morphometry but infect different hosts and have different ecologies, differ by only 0.9-1.3% along 774 nucleotides of ITS (Zietara and Lumme, 2003). Within a species, sequences of PCR amplified ITS regions appear invariant; for example, Zietara et al. (2000) examined populations of several species from White Sea and Baltic Sea drainages without finding any differences in ITS. Cable and Harris (unpublished) have found identical ITS in G. gasterostei from different UK sites between which direct interbreeding is impossible. This is in marked contrast to other invertebrates where multiple ITS sequences from the same individual, revealed by cloning, render this data unusable for phylogenetic inference (e.g. Harris and Crandall, 2000). ITS sequences have also proved extremely useful for identifying previously unsuspected species or species complexes. G. teuchis, a non-pathogenic gyrodactylid of salmonids, was not differentiated until its ITS was sequenced (Lautraite et al., 1999; Cunningham et al., 2001). Zietara and Lumme (2003) in particular have used this approach to great effect, identifying G. alexqusevi from within specimens previously identified as G. lotae (host Lota lota) and G. jussii from within specimens previously identified as *G. macronychus* (host *Phoxinus phoxinus*). In both cases, morphological differences were observed a posteriori with the confidence given by recognition of distinct ITS sequences. None of these cases represent incipient speciation as in all three the difference in sequence identity between pair members is considerable. Interestingly, Ziętara and Lumme (2003) also identified a third variant of *G. macronychus*, also with a sequence difference of some 5% from either *G. macronychus* or *G. jussii*, within the work of Matejusová *et al.* (2003).

The large number of ITS sequences available through GenBank is making Gyrodactylus a highly attractive option for testing evolutionary hypotheses. One of the first and most robust findings to emerge is that host switching, rather than co-evolution, is the dominant mechanism for gyrodactylid evolution (Cable et al., 1999; Huyse, 2002; Huyse and Volckaert, 2002; Huyse et al., 2003; Matejusová et al., 2003; Zietara and Lumme, 2003). This is at odds with the view that co-evolution of hosts and gyrodactylids has dominated (Malmberg, 1970, 1998). For example, G. gasterostei on the three-spined stickleback (Gasterosteus aculeatus) and Gyrodactylus pungitii on the ninespined stickleback (Pungitius pungitius) were regarded as sister species by Harris (1985); ITS variation makes it clear however that the sister species to G. gasterostei is G. aphyae, infecting the minnow Phoxinus phoxinus (see Zietara and Lumme, 2003). Indeed, all cases of close molecular relationship concern parasites from widely differing fish hosts (Table 1), whereas apparently similar species infecting the same host are found to be only distantly related when ITS loci are sequenced (Table 1). These represent the first objective tests of speciation patterns within Gyrodactylus, in which molecular evidence is used to corroborate and test hypotheses generated from morphological and host identity evidence.

Perhaps, the most surprising feature of molecular phylogenies based on ITS1, 5.8S and ITS2 rDNA sequences is the apparent antiquity of the genus *Gyrodactylus*, and the extent of their morphological conservation. Ziętara and Lumme (2002) highlighted this, noting that differences between 5.8S rDNA of *Gyrodactylus* species from different subgenera exceeds that seen between different nematode families. Ziętara and Lumme (2002), perhaps wisely, did not speculate on the

Species pair				Pairwise molecular	Author
Species 1	Host 1	Species 2	Host 2	distance (70)	
Gyrodactylid species	s pairs from the same host				
Gyrodactylus teuchis	Salmonids	G. salaries		5.6	Lautraite et al. (1999)
G. alexgussevi	Lota lota	G. lotae		8.5	Ziętara and Lumme (2003)
G. macronychus	Phoxinus phoxinus	G. jussii		21.8	Ziętara and Lumme (2003)
G. macronychus	Phoxinus phoxinus	G. sp.		19.2	Ziętara and Lumme (2003)
G. rugiensis	Pomatoschistus microps	G. micropsi		16.2	Huyse and Volckaert (2002)
Gyrodactylid species	s pairs from different hosts				
G. branchicus	Gasterosteus aculeatus	G. rarus	Pungitius pungitius	0.9-1.3	Ziętara et al. (2001)
G. salaris	Salmo salar	G. thymalli	Thymallus thymallus	0	Cunningham (1997)
G. gasterostei	Gasterosteus aculeatus	G. aphyae	Phoxinus phoxinus	1.1-1.2	Ziętara and Lumme (2002)
G. rugiensis	Pomatoschistus microps	G. rugiensoides	Pomatischistus minutus	2.5	Huyse and Volckaert (2002)
G. arcuatoides	Pomatoschistus pictus	G. flavescensis	Gobiusculus flavescens	1.6	Huyse et al. (2004a)

Table 1 Pairwise molecular distances of rDNA internal transcribed spacer sequences between closely related Gyrodactylus species

Those infecting the same host are invariably less closely related than those infecting different hosts, suggesting that they evolved in different refugia. The most closely related forms infect different hosts, indicating the importance of host switching in gyrodactylid evolution.

reasons for the molecular differentiation with morphological conservation, but it is likely that this is an ancient genus, with origins relating to the differentiation of modern fish groups in the Triassic (Nelson, 1994). Morphological conservation is perhaps surprising, but larvae resemble each other more than their respective adults (Gould, 1977), and as a progenetic group close resemblance between species might be expected.

ITS sequences have proved an objective test of Malmberg's (1970) classification of subgenera and species groups based on excretory system and marginal hooks. Some of Malmberg's (1970) subgenera receive broad support (Zietara et al., 2002), although there are many differences of detail. Thus, Matejusová et al. (2003) reject the subgenus Gyrodactylus as paraphyletic because G. markakulensis forms a sister clade to the remainder of the genus; however, although Malmberg (1970) assigned G. markakulensis to the subgenus Gyrodactylus, he was clearly uncertain about its status and considered it somewhat different to other members of the group. All other species placed within subgenus Gyrodactylus by Malmberg (1970) which have been included in molecular analyses have formed a monophyletic clade (Matejusová et al., 2003). The subgenus Limnonephrotus remains recognisable in molecular analyses, although one paranephrotid species group, the G. rugiensis group (Gläser, 1974) also falls within this subgenus according to molecular analyses, and the subgenus Neonephrotus, represented by G. anguillae, is a separate clade within the G. rugiensis group which has evolved following a host switch to eels (Huyse et al., 2003; Matejusová et al., 2003). There is no support for the subgenera Metanephrotus, Mesonephrotus, or Paranephrotus excluding the G. rugiensis group, which all group together in molecular analyses. However, despite these differences in detail, we argue that Malmberg's (1970) subgenus concept remains useful, although the precise boundaries of the subgenera are bound to change as molecular re-evaluation of the group continues.

Malmberg's (1970) "species groups", are not as well supported, mainly because of host switching. The notion of a "*G. wageneri*" group as distinct from a "*G. salaris*" species group (Malmberg, 1993) gains no support, as closely related species infect sticklebacks, bullheads, salmonids and cyprinids (Cable *et al.*, 1999; Matejusová *et al.*, 2003). The

problem with ITS phylogenies are that too many of the sequenced species (and perhaps up to one third of the described species) are from the *G. wageneri/G. salaris* species group, and too few species groups and subgenera, especially from North America and the tropics, have been included. Nevertheless, sufficient consensus from morphology, molecules and biogeography is possible to allow some crude, but robust grouping of *Gyrodactylus* species at the sub-generic level. We would recognise the following entities:

- A grouping corresponding roughly to the Malmberg (1970) subgenus *Gyrodactylus*. This includes the gill parasites regarded by Malmberg (1970) as belonging to the *G. elegans* species group (curved hamuli, narrow spine-like ventral bar membrane) and the *G. phoxini* species group (straight hamuli, ventral bar membrane spathulate, often a boss on the ventral bar). Most species occur on ostariophysans (cyprinids and cobitids) in Eurasia, but Le Blanc *et al.* (2006) have confirmed Malmberg's (1970) suspicion that the subgenus has radiated widely in North America also, and host shifts onto the Esocidae have occurred. Some species with this morphology which appear to fall within this group (e.g. *G. markakulensis*) are, according to molecular analyses, not closely related. Further work is needed to establish their status.
- 2) A grouping corresponding to the Malmberg (1970) subgenus Limnonephrotus, including additionally the paranephrotid G. rugiensis species group and G. anguillae. This grouping is predominantly found in Eurasian freshwater, with extension into brackish water. Most species infect ostariophysans (predominantly cyprinids), but there are examples from most freshwater and brackish fish families in the Northern Hemisphere. There are some putative Nearctic species of this group [e.g. the G. pungitiilike form recorded by Cone and Wiles (1985) from Canadian sticklebacks], but these are rare and predominantly infect migratory fish such as salmonids or gasterosteids.
- 3) A third, catch-all group, including tropical and marine representatives of the subgenera *Mesonephrotus* and *Paranephrotus*, and *Metanephrotus*, many of which have a holarctic distribution,

possibly due to distribution with their hosts. This group undoubtedly will be subdivided further as more sequences become available. *Fundulotrema* may originate in this clade, according to sequence data presented by Kritsky and Boeger (2003). Although the overall grouping is holarctic in distribution, some species groups, such as the *G. eucaliae* group, are found predominantly in the Nearctic and Neotropical.

A problem with establishing robust gyrodactylid phylogenies has been the use of markers inappropriate for the purpose. ITS sequences are too variable for genus-wide phylogenies (although useful within species complexes). The 5.8S rDNA is more useful for genus-wide comparison, but is too short. The V4 region of the 18S rDNA (Cunningham et al., 1995a, b, c) contains sufficient variation to be informative, but is also short. Instead, a greater range of 18S and 28S sequences are needed to establish the wider familial phylogeny. This has not stopped several groups from making genus-wide comparisons using sequences which include both ITS1 and ITS2 (e.g. Matejusová et al., 2001; Kritsky and Boeger, 2003). Small differences in alignment necessitated by the difficulties of obtaining global alignments of ITS with limited numbers of indels, can make large differences to the final phylogeny. Even the use of the 5.8S rDNA for genus-wide phylogenies is not without problems. Zietara et al. (2002) identified sequencing errors in a number of sequences within GenBank which they took time to correct; there is no assumption of correctness in many accessed entries, and there is no curatorial control of accurate morphological identification of species prior to molecular analysis. In only a few cases have voucher specimens of taxa used for molecular analysis been deposited in easily accessible and secure collections.

The absence of any nuclear genomic markers at the intra-specific level has bedevilled molecular analysis of gyrodactylids. This was partly addressed by the studies of the Intergenic Spacer (IGS) of the ribosomal gene cassette (Collins and Cunningham, 2000; Collins *et al.*, 2000; Sterud *et al.*, 2002; Cunningham *et al.*, 2003). IGS remains under the constraint of concerted evolution and therefore does not evolve as rapidly as single locus markers. Cunningham and Mo (1997) employed random amplified polymorphism DNA (RAPD)

markers to differentiate G. salaris populations; this did show distinct differences between G. salaris populations which would not have been expected if the parasite had been introduced to Norway in the mid-1970s. More recently, Collins *et al.* (2004a) sequenced the  $\beta$ -tubulin gene from G. salaris, providing the first single copy nuclear marker for the genus. Variation was found, but predominantly appears to be between gene isoforms within a single genome. Other loci have not been characterised, and attempts to isolate microsatellite markers for the group have been painfully slow. As an alternative we have used amplified fragment length polymorphism PCR (AFLP; Vos et al., 1995) to analyse G. salaris stocks from rivers in Southern, Central and Western Norway, and compared this to diversity in G. turnbulli from guppies (unpublished). This method has proved highly useful in identifying polymorphisms between stocks, but suffers from the drawback at present that a minimum of 200 gyrodactylids is needed for the initial ligation reaction. Nevertheless, the method has great potential for identifying genomic markers, especially if polymorphic bands are subsequently cloned and sequenced (Cable et al., unpublished).

Mitochondrial markers for gyrodactylids lagged until Meinilä et al. (2002) published a preliminary sequence for the G. salaris mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase 1 (COI) gene, which was used to generate primers for a variety of species (Meinilä et al., 2002; Hansen et al., 2003, in preparation). This locus is proving indispensable in recreating patterns of gyrodactylid speciation (see Section 5.3.2) and has attracted much interest with the advent of DNA barcoding (Hebert et al., 2003), but two cautionary points should be considered. Firstly, Meinilä et al. (2004) examined mitochondrial diversity from a population (Lake Kitka) isolated by post-glacial uplift for 8400 years. Using such data, a rate of mitochondrial gene divergence of some 20% per million years was estimated (Meinilä et al., 2004). This may not be unreasonable considering the short generation time of this parasite, but it compares to a normal rate of 1-2% per million years in other invertebrates (Knowlton and Weigt, 1998; Gomez et al., 2000; Nieberding et al., 2005). This high rate of change has significant implications for the functionality of COI, and several haplotypes have been identified in which amino acid sequence was changed. So

little is known of the structure-function relationships of COI (e.g. Meunier, 2001) that it is unwise to expect all evolution at this locus to be selectively neutral, and with such high rates of mutation, one might expect biologically significant mutants to arise relatively frequently. Given the diffuse and often exotic consequences of mitochondriopathies in humans, the only species in which they have been systematically explored, the likelihood of significant effects from mitochondrial mutations in Gyrodactylus is high. Secondly, although the COI mtDNA is an invaluable comparative molecular dataset with which to test the validity of the rDNA ITS data, it is unclear to what extent it is influenced by NUMTs (nuclear copies of mtDNA genes or pseudogenes). Potential NUMT COI sequences are deposited in GenBank (Accession numbers AY225307-08), but Meinilä et al. (2004) did not mention the presence of these nuclear copies or discuss their significance. Work is currently ongoing to fully sequence and annotate the mitochondrial genomes of various strains of G. thymalli and G. salaris, respectively. The complete mitochondrial genome of G. salaris from Skibotnelva, Norway, will be published soon (Huyse et al., 2007) and the complete mitochondrial genome of G. thymalli from Hnilec, Slovakia, shall follow shortly (Plaisance et al., submitted). Once the sequence data are available, regions showing significant sequence variation within and between species can be determined and subsequently be used for strain differentiation and identification.

Almost all current GenBank gyrodactylid species were originally identified using morphology and host specificity, and it is still on this basis that they are deposited in the database. Only with a more comprehensive whole genomic approach to the entire genus will molecular data begin to rival morphological and experimental studies for understanding the gyrodactylid evolution. However, with appropriate markers there is tremendous potential for studying the molecular ecology of well-characterised gyrodactylids, such as *G. turnbulli* and *G. salaris*, which are readily available from natural populations and easy to maintain experimentally. These microparasitic worms circumvent many of the problems highlighted by Criscione *et al.* (2005), such as small infrapopulations and non-availability of adult stages, and offer almost endless opportunities for testing the impact of different life history traits (such as reproductive modes and pathogenicity) on genetic diversity.

## 5.3. Host Specificity Among Gyrodactylids

Most monogeneans are restricted to one or a few host species, and more than 70% are considered to infect a single host species (Bychowsky, 1961; Rohde, 1979). The paradigm that gyrodactylids are narrowly hostspecific (Malmberg, 1970) often suggested by published host records, was re-examined by Bakke et al. (1992a). After eliminating obvious misidentifications and synonymies and restricting analyses to those gyrodactylids which have featured in two or more field studies or have been used experimentally, the proportion occurring on a single host species declined to 30%, suggesting that gyrodactylids are less hostspecific than commonly thought, and that narrow specificity is an artefact based on the numerous descriptions of species collected only once. The prominent differences in susceptibility/resistance between stocks of the same host species (Bakke et al., 1990, 1996) and potential parasite strain differences in infectiousness (Lindenstrøm et al., 2003a; Olstad et al., 2005, 2007; Cable and van Oosterhout, unpublished), reinforces the uncertainty in estimating host utilisation of gyrodactylids based on field observations.

The mechanisms that contribute to host specificity in monogeneans operate at several levels: host localisation, recognition and attachment (ecological and behavioural mechanisms); and establishment, growth and reproduction (physiological mechanisms). Gyrodactylids live within a complex ecosystem on the surface of an aquatic animal. The epidermis of the host, and its products, may attract or be inhospitable to a gyrodactylid or may be refractory due to acquired immunity. Often overlooked, feeding and digestion probably play key roles in determining host specificity in gyrodactylids. These parasites appear to possess acute powers of host discrimination and preferentially infect particular hosts (e.g. Buchmann and Uldal, 1997; Buchmann *et al.*, 2003a, 2004). Given their highly developed sensory system, it is not clear whether they fail to feed on unsuitable hosts or feed but cannot assimilate host molecules. Specific inhibitory molecules may be present that prevent non-adapted gyrodactylids from utilising a host; but equally it may also be that the parasites are behaviourally specialised not to attempt feeding on sub-optimal hosts.

The cephalic glands have a primary adhesive function (see Section 2.5) and may influence host specificity (Whittington et al., 2000a, b; Whittington and Cribb, 2001). Whittington and Cribb (2001) proposes an instant reaction between the adhesive secretions of monogeneans and host mucus to allow firm but temporary attachment during transmission and locomotion on the epidermis (Whittington et al., 2000a). During birth, a newborn viviparous gyrodactylid attaches directly to the fish epidermis, initially with its anterior adhesive organs. Whittington et al. (2000a) hypothesised that initial contact allowed: (i) mechano- and chemosensory receptors of the parasite to interact with the host's surface, and (ii) a chemical reaction between the host's mucus and the adhesives secreted by the parasite, representing a potential recognition mechanism. As the anterior cephalic lobes of gyrodactylids make initial contact with the host, it is not surprising that Buchmann (1998a, c) found this region immunologically active, being rich in mannose-rich glycoproteins which stimulate the alternative complement pathway (see Harris et al., 1998). Both host epidermis and parasite tegument may therefore contribute to maintenance of the specific parasite-host relationship by chemical interactions between them (Whittington et al., 2000a, b). An important point about such "recognition" models of host specificity is that only a small change in chemical signature of either host or parasite could bring about a major shift in host specificity, which could not be predicted a priori. As an example, Leberg and Vrijenhoek (1994) noted that Gyrodactylus turnbulli could infect pathogenically a single clade of the gynogenetic clone *Poecilopsis* sp. In this case, a presumed minor genetic alteration in the host allowed an entirely unpredicted gyrodactylid to exploit it (but see King and Cable, 2007).

Despite the relative simplicity of a direct life cycle, research on host identification or recognition by monogeneans has been limited since Kearn's (1967) experiments on *Entobdella soleae* (see reviews by Whittington and Cribb, 2001; Whittington *et al.*, 2000a, b). Gyrodactylids are particularly suited for experimental studies on host

identification and host specificity (Bakke et al., 2002), and we may expect a diverse range of cues to be involved in host specificity considering their diversity of hosts. However, although gyrodactylids are frequently referred to as generalists and specialists (e.g. Matejusová et al., 2000b), their host specificity, with a few notable exceptions (see Section 5.3.3), remains a neglected area. Several species have been studied experimentally, but most data remain anecdotal, or, as in Gyrdicotylus, is restricted to published summaries of a much larger corpus of unpublished data (see Section 5.3.1.). A classic example concerns the common guppy parasites G. bullatarudis and G. turnbulli, considered generalist and specialist respectively based on their known host range (Harris et al., 2004). Harris (1986) presented anecdotal evidence that G. bullatarudis existed as host-specific strains, but although G. turnbulli has been the subject of numerous studies (e.g. Madhavi and Anderson, 1985; Scott, 1985a, b; Harris, 1986; van Oosterhout et al., 2003), its host specificity has only recently been experimentally tested (King and Cable, 2007). Even with limited material, Llewellyn (1984) was able to demonstrate that Isancistrium subulatae from Alloteuthis subulata could infect Sepiola atlantica. Similarly, the specificity of G. gasterostei, regarded as a generalist by Matejusová et al. (2000b), has been studied, but most data are anecdotal only or unpublished. Gläser (1974) noted that G. gasterostei could incidentally infect cyprinids when shoaling with these fishes during the winter months and Harris (1982) showed that it could infect Pungitius pungitius and Phoxinus phoxinus, but at significantly reduced rates compared to its preferred host, the three-spined stickleback (Gasterosteus aculeatus). These observations all suggest this species is a specialist, which can at best establish transient infections on other hosts. It is therefore all the more surprising this parasite is considered common on the cyprinid Leuciscus cephalus in the Czech Republic (see Gussev, 1985; Moravec, 2001). Hoffmann and Putz (1964) also presented anecdotal observations on the specificity of G. macrochiri, finding this species relatively restricted to Lepomis macrochirus. This again is at odds with observations from the field (summarised in Harris et al., 2004), which suggest that this gyrodactylid can infect a wide range of centrarchids. This highlights a common problem with gyrodactylid specificity studies; anecdotal

observations in the laboratory can have little relevance to the field, while accidental infections in the field inevitably broaden observed host ranges. This is best illustrated by Malmberg (1970), who noted species such as *G. errabundus* infecting almost every host with which it came in contact, and by Dmitrieva and Gerasev (1997) and Dmitrieva and Dimitrov (2002), who recorded *G. alviga* from 15 host species from the Black Sea, but again, the precise status of the parasite on most of these hosts is unknown. The three taxa which have been best studied are *Gyrdicotylus gallieni* from the clawed toad *Xenopus* (see Jackson and Tinsley, 1994; Tinsley, 1996), *Gyrodactylus salaris* (see Bakke, 1991; Bakke *et al.*, 2002) and *G. derjavini* (see Buchmann and Uldal, 1997) from salmonids.

#### 5.3.1. Case Study: Gyrdicotylus

The host specificity of Gyrdicotylus spp., from the clawed toad Xenopus has been studied in some detail, although only summaries have been published (Jackson and Tinsley, 1994; Tinsley, 1996). Xenopus contains  $\sim$ 30 species (Tinsley, 1996) and gyrdicotylids also infect the related genera Hymenochirus and Silurana (see Tinsley, 1996). Records from natural populations of these toads suggest that considerable diversity exists within Gyrdicotylus, although only one species, Gyrdicotylus gallieni from Xenopus laevis laevis (see Harris and Tinsley, 1987) and X. l. victorianus (Vercammen Grandjean, 1960) has so far been formally described. G. gallieni from X. l. laevis also infects X. l. victorianus (see Harris, 1982; Jackson and Tinsley, 1994), suggesting a single panmictic species infecting X. laevis and its subspecies across Central and Southern Africa. It can also infect the endemic South African X. ailli, but not X. borealis (see Harris, 1982; Jackson and Tinsley, 1994). Infection trials using allopolyploid hybrid Xenopus species, such as X. wittei and X. vestitus are particularly interesting. These taxa originated as hybrids of ancestors from lineages related to X. laevis and X. fraseri and contain copies of the genome of each parent. X. wittei and X. vestitus are octoploid, but other taxa are up to dodecaploid (Tinsley, 1996; Evans et al., 2005), derived as hybrids between an octoploid and a tetraploid species. These central

African polyploid taxa bear a rich Gyrdicotylus fauna, and different populations of X. wittei have at least two species of this parasite. Rwandan X. wittei is not susceptible to G. gallieni from X. laevis, although X. wittei shares half its genome with a lineage closely related to X. laevis. Similarly, parasites from X. wittei were unable to infect either of the X. laevis subspecies tested or X. vestitus, although the latter also shares half a genome with a lineage closely related to X. wittei. Parasites from X. vestitus were also unable to infect X. wittei (J.A. Jackson, personal communication). These experiments are particularly interesting in the light of Gyrodactylus salaris and G. derjavini infections of salmon-trout hybrids (Bakke et al., 1999; Section 8.2). Xenopus laevis develops prolonged acquired immunity to Gyrdicotylus spp. (Jackson and Tinsley, 1994), and this gyrodactylid is relatively insensitive to complement (J.A. Jackson, personal communication). It is possible therefore that immunity to Gyrdicotylus is mediated in a different way to that developed by fishes to Gyrodactylus. Clearly, this host-parasite interaction presents a fascinating model system with which to dissect the mechanisms for host specificity and resistance to gyrodactylids at a molecular level.

## 5.3.2. Case Study: The G. salaris Species Complex

Host specificity has been most intensively studied experimentally in *G. salaris* and its close relatives including *G. thymalli* and the Danish rainbow trout variants (Lindenstrøm *et al.*, 2003a; Jørgensen *et al.*, 2006). As a consequence, patterns of specificity within this species complex are fairly well known. Bakke *et al.* (1990) developed a protocol for experimental testing of salmonid susceptibility and resistance demonstrating that *G. salaris* (Lierelva strain) was pathogenic to River Lone (South West Norway) and River Altaelva (North Norway) salmon strains, but that infections of River Neva salmon from the Baltic were limited and eventually eliminated. This protocol has been greatly extended and the specificity of *G. salaris* Lierelva strain has been tested on many salmonids (see Tables 3 and 4 in Bakke *et al.*, 2002; Karlsson *et al.*, 2003; Bakke *et al.*, 2004b). However, it is important to note that under aquarium conditions infection of

atypical hosts may be possible, as experimental modulation of the host response in salmonids using cortisol (mimicking aspects of the stress response) significantly influences both innate and acquired resistance to *G. salaris* (see Harris *et al.*, 2000), and detached *G. salaris*, frequently observed in aquaria, are found to be less host selective and may attach to any available fish species (Bakke *et al.*, 1991a, 1992a).

A fundamental difference exists between the behaviour of Lierelva strain G. salaris on salmonids and that on non-salmonids. On brook lamprey, European eel, flounder, minnow, perch, roach, and threeand nine-spined sticklebacks, no population growth occurs and parasites are rapidly lost. On eels (Bakke et al., 1991a), survival is only slightly better than on glass (Olstad et al., 2006) and parasites may not feed. Generally, parasites transfer poorly to these non-salmonids, and parasites may possess behavioural and physiological mechanisms to avoid these hosts. On all salmonids tested, however, some parasite growth and reproduction was observed, although the population growth rate varied greatly between host species. On salmonids, G. salaris can generally transfer, establish, feed and reproduce, although poorly in some species, for example, on lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush) and whitefish (Coregonus lavaretus) (Bakke et al., 1992b; Soleng and Bakke, 2001a). On Atlantic salmon, the usual host in the wild, and on other susceptible salmonids, there is considerable variation in resistance between species, strains and individuals of the same population, even full-sibs (Bakke et al., 1996, 1999; see Sections 8.1 and 8.2).

On brown trout (*Salmo trutta*), after *S. salar* the host most likely to be encountered by *G. salaris* Lierelva strain in the wild, population growth is particularly poor (Jansen and Bakke, 1995; Bakke *et al.*, 1999, 2002), similar to population growth on the more distantly related *Salvelinus namaycush* and *Coregonus lavaretus* (see Bakke *et al.*, 1992b; Soleng and Bakke, 2001a). The grayling, *Thymallus thymallus*, is also a relatively poor host for *G. salaris* Lierelva strain (Soleng and Bakke, 2001b; Sterud *et al.*, 2002) compared to salmon, despite the supposed close relationship between *G. salaris* and *G. thymalli* (see Meinilä *et al.*, 2004). Soleng and Bakke (2001b) found that *G. salaris* populations survived for only ~35 days on grayling and that infection rarely exceeded 50 parasites per fish, although 0+ fish were more likely to be susceptible than older (1 +) grayling. On rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* and brook trout *Salvelinus fontinalis*, population growth of *G. salaris* Lierelva strain is effective (Bakke *et al.*, 1991b, 1992c) and, although infections eventually self-limit, *O. mykiss* in particular is capable of sustaining population growth for considerable periods. Given the discussion below (Sections 6.5 and 6.6) concerning the "rainbow trout strain" of *G. salaris* from Lierelva (and Drammenselva/Lærdalselva/Bullaren) (Hansen *et al.*, 2003), these experiments need to be repeated with other Norwegian *G. salaris* strains belonging to the other *G. salaris* clades (see Hansen *et al.*, 2003).

The position of the Arctic charr, Salvelinus alpinus as a host for G. salaris is particularly interesting. An isolated, land-locked Arctic charr population (Korssjøen, central Norway) proved almost entirely refractory to the Lierelva strain of G. salaris, eliminating infection within a few days, whereas a northern anadromous population, sustained parasites for long periods; many months in pooled host populations (Bakke et al., 1996). The role of this host in the natural epidemiology of G. salaris therefore remains unclear, although Mo (1988) considered Arctic charr a possible reservoir host when rotenone treatment of the Skibotnelva failed. Relatively high infections of Arctic charr were later observed in this river (Kristoffersen et al., 2005). Knudsen et al. (2004) have also recorded exceptionally high G. salaris infection on Arctic charr in the nearby Signaldalselva, where salmon are also infected by G. salaris. The G. salaris in these rivers belong to a different clade than the Lierelva strain (Hansen et al., 2003). Arctic charr are also infected with G. salaris in five salmon-free lakes in central south Norway (Robertsen et al., 2006, 2007b). This host seems to be able to support G. salaris in species-poor fish communities in the absence of Atlantic salmon or rainbow trout. Recent work by Robertsen et al. (2007a, b) has shown that the G. salaris strain isolated from charr in the lakes had the same mitochondrial haplotype as rainbow trout parasites isolated from Lake Bullaren, Sweden but was non-virulent to salmon (Olstad et al., 2005). However, the ITS of G. salaris from Arctic charr showed a difference of one nucleotide to that previously observed in G. salaris populations (Olstad et al., 2007).

The specificity of G. thymalli has also been examined, although in less detail. This parasite utilises Atlantic salmon even less effectively (Bakke et al., 2002) than G. salaris can exploit grayling (Soleng and Bakke, 2001b), but also appears less aggressive on its normal host, with slower population growth on grayling than G. salaris Lierelva strain exhibits on susceptible salmon strains (Bakke et al., 2002; Sterud et al., 2002). However, only the Norwegian River Glomma strain of G. thymalli has been used in susceptibility testing. Given the molecular heterogeneity of G. thymalli in Scandinavia (Hansen et al., 2003, 2007; Meinilä et al., 2004), and the occurrence of other grayling clades infected with G. thymalli outside Scandinavia (e.g. Denham and Longshaw, 1999; Hansen et al., 2007), this work should be repeated with other G. thymalli strains and gravling stocks. The final members of the G. salaris species complex that have been tested experimentally are the rainbow trout variants isolated by Lindenstrøm et al. (2003a) and Jørgensen et al. (2006) from Danish rainbow trout. These parasites failed to exploit salmon stocks (Baltic and East Atlantic), but reproduced successfully on rainbow trout. Unfortunately, neither grayling nor brown trout were included in these comparisons.

#### 5.3.3. Case Study: Gyrodactylus derjavini

The most frequently encountered gyrodactylid on salmonids in Scandinavia is *G. derjavini*, infecting both *Salmo trutta* and *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Infections of rainbow trout can only date back to the introduction of this fish into Europe at the end of the 19th century. The widespread occurrence and epidemiology of this parasite on brown trout in southeastern Norway (Mo, 1997; Bakke *et al.*, unpublished) suggests that the original host in Northern Europe is actually *S. trutta*. The host specificity of *G. derjavini* has been extensively tested by Buchmann's group. Buchmann and Uldal (1997) investigated the susceptibility of four salmonids (rainbow trout, brown trout, a Baltic and an Atlantic strain of salmon) to a Danish isolate of *G. derjavini*. They found initial parasite attachment did not differ between host species but that populations

increased significantly faster and to a higher level on rainbow trout compared with other salmonids. Parasite selection of microhabitat also differed between the host species. Salmon are slightly susceptible to *G. derjavini* Sandvikselva strain but this is also dependent upon the salmon stock tested (Bakke *et al.*, 1999, 2002). In an experimental study where detached parasites were offered a choice between salmon, rainbow trout and carp, Buchmann *et al.* (2004) found preferences in both *G. derjavini* and *G. salaris*, as after 2 days 90% of *G. derjavini* infected the rainbow trout and 60% of *G. salaris* were attached to the salmon.

# 6. EVOLUTION AND PHYLOGENY OF GYRODACTYLIDS

### 6.1. Models of Parasite Speciation

Gyrodactylus is one of several hyperdiverse monogenean genera that could provide important insights into parasite speciation processes. Originally, parasite speciation was viewed predominantly from the perspective of co-evolution (or co-speciation; Fahrenholz, 1913), a parasite group evolving in parallel with its host group. This was certainly considered so for monogeneans (Bychowsky, 1961; Llewellyn, 1963) and was extended to gyrodactylids by Malmberg (1970). Ironically, it is now realised that there are very few convincing cases of cospeciation because of the exacting requirements needed for its demonstration (see Page et al., 1996) and the difficulties of interpreting topological incongruence between host and parasite phylogenies (Page and Charleston, 1998). Indeed, if Raup (1994) are correct in estimating extinction rates of 10-15% of vertebrate species per million years, then it is hardly surprising that co-evolution is so difficult to recognize, as the probability that two related hosts could be found containing two related parasites more than a few million years after the initial divergence event is small. Even groups such as the lice, originally held to be strictly co-evolutionary (Rothschild and Clay, 1952), are now seen to be much more complex (e.g. Hafner and Nadler, 1988; Page et al., 1996). A more convincing case can be made for the importance of host-switching in parasite speciation, a concept long accepted by researchers of plant–insect interactions (e.g. Walsh, 1864) and shown by Brooks and McLennan (1993) to be a dominant force in the speciation of animal parasites.

Host switching is counterintuitive as it appears to be an unjustified example of sympatric speciation. Mayr (1963) argued that speciation could only occur when populations were physically separated by extrinsic barriers (allopatric speciation), either by separation into two parts of a previously contiguous population (vicariant allopatric speciation), or by the peripheral isolation of a small part of the initially contiguous population, within which divergence occurs much more rapidly because of its relatively small size (peripheral isolates allopatric speciation). Sympatric speciation, the evolution of intrinsic reproductive barriers between incipient species where the populations are not physically separated, was originally not held to be possible, and is still considered very rare in vertebrate evolution. Lynch (1989) considered over 70% of vertebrate speciation events took place through vicariant allopatric speciation, with 15% via peripheral isolation. Only 6% of cases could possibly be accounted for by sympatric speciation. Host switching within a single geographical locality can be an apparently sympatric isolating mechanism, if gene flow between parasite populations on different hosts is reduced to the point where reproductive barriers can evolve. It has been suggested many times for plant parasitic insects, most notably and persistently in the apple maggot fly Rhagoletis (see Jiggins and Bridle, 2004). Populations of this fly, infecting Hawthorn Crataegus spp., started to feed on apples after their introduction to America following European colonisation. This began a process in which the phenology of the apple feeding forms changed and now resultant changes in host identification and detection preferences have been detected (Feder et al., 2003). This situation is entirely analogous to, for example, the evolution of the rainbow trout variant of Gyrodactylus salaris (see Sections 6.5 and 6.6), an evolutionary change which could not have taken place until after the introduction of rainbow trout into Europe in the 19th century. In Rhagoletis, it is argued that the recentness of the evolution of the apple feeding forms is such that sympatric evolution must

be involved (Jiggins and Bridle, 2004). Feder et al. (2003), however, have argued that the apple-feeding race of *Rhagoletis* derived from forms which were already reproductively isolated from other hawthorn-feeding forms by chromosomal inversions. This would push the date for the initial divergence much further back in time, and argues again for an allopatric split with reproductive isolation, which preceded the host switch. As Jiggins and Bridle (2004) point out, this does not minimise the importance of sympatric processes in the evolution of the host shift, but does indicate that allopatric processes are initially necessary to establish genetic differences between strains. The relevance of these speciation models to Gyrodactylus remains to be seen, but the analogy between *Rhagoletis* and the situation in *G. salaris*/G. thymalli appears strong (see Section 6.6), and Kearn (1996) for example, was convinced of the importance of host shifts as a means of gyrodactylid speciation. The role of chromosome inversions in Gyrodactylus is uninvestigated; if they occur, they could, as in Rhagoletis, lock large parts of the genome from recombination with other parasite genotypes. There have been no investigations of the existence of chromosome races or polyploids in Gyrodactylus, although the recent work of Zietara et al. (2006) suggests the existence of potentially triploid races of G. salaris. The significance of this finding remains to be evaluated.

There is some evidence of co-evolution at the deeper levels of gyrodactylid speciation. This has been noted above (Section 6.5); the species of the sub-genus *Gyrodactylus* are mostly found on ostariophysans in Eurasia (not in America, where they have radiated onto other groups of fish, see Le Blanc *et al.*, 2006). This may represent a much older co-speciation event, of which only a few deep branches remain, while the terminal clades all represent fairly recent, host-switch driven speciation events. We now go on to discuss three possible speciation scenarios, of slightly different ages. These are: (i) relatively ancient speciation events on guppy hosts in the Caribbean (freshwater, tropical); (ii) more recent speciation events associated with European gobies (marine, temperate and subtropical); and (iii) the most recent events associated with European.

#### 6.2. Evolution of Gyrodactylids on Guppies

Several papers (Harris and Lyles, 1992; Harris and Cable, 2000; Cable et al., 2005) have described the natural gyrodactylid fauna of poeciliid fishes in the Caribbean. Poeciliids are excellent models for micro-evolution with some of the most compelling evidence for natural and sexual selection in the wild being provided by the guppy, Poecilia reticulata (e.g. Endler, 1986; Magurran et al., 1992; Magurran, 2005). Guppies occur naturally in most freshwater streams in Trinidad (Houde, 1997), with marked phenotypic and genetic differences between upstream and downstream populations within a single river (Endler, 1980; Reznick and Endler, 1982; Shaw et al., 1994; Magurran et al., 1995). For almost two decades, predation pressure has been identified as the key factor driving guppy evolution (Endler, 1980; Reznick and Endler, 1982; Magurran et al., 1992, 1995; Reznick et al., 1997), although recent studies indicate that density-dependent regulation and resource availability may also have been important (Reznick et al., 2002). Surprisingly, selection pressures imposed by parasites have, until recently, been entirely ignored (Cable and van Oosterhout et al., 2003, unpublished; van Oosterhout et al., in press a, b).

Wild guppies sustain a range of fungal, protozoal, helminth and nematode infections and many fish carry multiple infections. The well-studied laboratory models Gyrodactylus turnbulli and G. bullatarudis (see Scott, 1982, 1985a, b; Scott and Anderson, 1984; Harris, 1986, 1988) are widespread and abundant parasites in natural populations of these fishes (Harris and Lyles, 1992; Cable and van Oosterhout, unpublished). The pathology of even moderate Gyrodactylus spp. infections, and their effects on behaviour, reproduction and survival of guppies, can be severe. For example, feeding response and activity of guppies (which are good indicators of health and alertness; Houde, 1997) are significantly reduced in guppies with only relatively small burdens of G. turnbulli (see van Oosterhout et al., 2003a). Heavily infected fish, with clamped fins and erratic swimming behaviour (Cable et al., 2002a), are ostracised by uninfected shoal mates (Cable and Griffiths, unpublished), and females discriminate against males infected with G. turnbulli which show reduced colour

pattern and courtship activity (Houde and Torio, 1992; Houde, 1997; López, 1998). Experimental infection with an isogenic culture of *G. turnbulli* furthermore showed that upland and lowland population guppies differed significantly in immunocompetence (van Oosterhout *et al.*, 2003a), with upland populations experiencing higher infection rates and mortality than lowland fish (van Oosterhout *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, within guppy populations, the parasite-resistance of individual guppies is highly repeatable across infections (Cable and van Oosterhout, 2007).

We are becoming increasingly aware of the complex gyrodactylid fauna infecting poeciliid fishes and there is great potential for studying the interaction between poeciliid evolution and parasitism. The evolution of the poeciliids is partially known, but full molecular phylogenies are unavailable, and morphological phylogenies are uncertain (Poeser, 2003). Cable *et al.* (2005) described *G. pictae* from *Poecilia picta*, with a 5% difference in ITS sequence when compared with *G. turnbulli*. The respective hosts differ by 15% at the mito-chondrial ND2 locus (Breden *et al.*, 1999). These differences are considerable, and suggest an ancient division between these two fish species and their parasites, which may relate to sea level changes in the Caribbean several million years BP. This system represents an excellent model which can provide a comparison with the relatively much more recent speciation events we observe in salmonid gyrodactylids.

#### 6.3. Species Flocks on Gobies

A second example of gyrodactylid speciation on an evolving host group is illustrated by the gyrodactylids of gobies in the North East Atlantic, which clearly demonstrate that morphological similarity does not reflect relationship between forms. Sand gobies (*Pomatoschistus*, but also other inshore genera) represent a rapidly evolving species flock, the taxonomy of which is still under review. Gyrodactylids have been reported from two sand goby genera, *Pomatoschistus* and *Gobiusculus* (see Huyse *et al.*, 2004a, b). Significant events in the evolution of the hosts have included the Messinian Salinity Crisis (~6 million years ago), which ended with the reopening of the Straights of Gibraltar and led to the separation of the Pomatoschistus minutus and P. microps clades, and the more recent Pleistocene glaciations that led to the evolution of the P. minutus species group within the Mediterranean. As ice retreated from the Last Glacial Maximum (LGM), ~20000 years ago, gobies migrated North around the European coastline (Huyse, 2002; Huyse et al., 2004b). Huyse et al. (2004b) regard sand gobies as being somewhat older than the most recent glaciation, and Gysels et al. (2004) make the assumption that *Pomatoschistus* spp. distributions have moved north and south in response to glaciations, including the LGM. Their molecular evidence suggests an expansion of *P. minutus* in the North Atlantic during the Eemian interglacial, 120 000 years BP (Gysels et al., 2004). Both P. minutus and P. microps, which are not closely related and have been separated since the reopening of the Straights of Gibraltar, retreated southwards after the Eemian, but may have left refugial populations in the Southern North Sea area (Gysels et al., 2004). This detailed and robust phylogeny of the host group, correlated with known geological events such as the Messinian Salinity Crisis and the LGM, allow testing for concordance in the pattern of evolution of their gyrodactylids. Furthermore, given Meinilä et al.'s (2004) estimates for mitochondrial evolution in gyrodactylids, these parasites should provide a useful fine-grained marker for evolutionary processes in gobies.

*Pomatoschistus* gobies are infected by *G. arcuatus*-like forms, noted but not described by Appleby (1996b). The morphometric divergence between stocks of *G.* cf arcuatus from different goby species suggested separate species (Geets *et al.*, 1999), which were described by Huyse *et al.* (2003) as *G. branchialis, G. arcuatoides, G. gondae* and *G. flavescensis*. Surprisingly, they are not closely related to *G. arcuatus* with a difference in ITS sequences of 13% (Huyse *et al.*, 2003). Unfortunately, *G. arcuatus*-like forms on Eurasian freshwater and marine fishes are poorly known, although they are common on gadids (Bychowsky and Polyansky, 1953; Malmberg, 1970), and it is not clear which is the sister group to the forms on gobies. The host preference of the four gyrodactylids varies. *G. gondae* occurs on *P. minutus* and the sibling *P. lozanoi* from the North Sea and from

Atlantic watersheds in Norway; G. arcuatoides infects only P. pictus; G. branchialis occurs on P. microps from the southern North Sea and Norway, and is closely related to G. quadratidigitus from the western Channel (Longshaw et al., 2003), while G. flavescensis infects Gobiusculus flavescens from Norway. Comparison of host and parasite molecular phylogenies (Huyse et al., 2003) could not distinguish between host switching and co-evolution for the G. arcuatus-like species infecting Pomatoschistus minutus, P. lozanoi and P. norvegicus, but these authors (Huyse et al., 2003) note that the evolution of these gyrodactylids can probably be related to the last ice age (i.e. less than 100 000 years BP). If this timing is correct, then the host switch of G. ostendicus to the more distantly related host P. microps (see Huyse and Malmberg, 2004) is accompanied by a remarkable change in morphology; this species appears more closely related to G. harengi based on hook shape, and only molecular analysis reveals the true affinities of this taxon. Similarly, Huyse et al. (2003) closely relate G. anguillae from the common eel Anguilla anguilla to Gyrodactylus micropsi from Pomatoschistus microps, a further major change in morphology following what seems to have been a fairly recent host shift. Host switching also appears to have been the main factor promoting speciation in the G. rugiensis/G. micropsi group from the fins of gobies (Huyse and Volckaert, 2002). More recently, Huyse and Volckaert (2005) have used a range of statistical approaches to test for coevolution, as opposed to host switching, in this goby-gyrodactylid system. Although some of the methods used did generate evidence of co-speciation of host goby and gyrodactylid, particularly amongst the gill parasites, it is very difficult to distinguish genuine co-speciation from host shifts onto closely related hosts. When Huyse and Volckaert (2005) included some estimate of time from divergence in the analysis, it became apparent that all of the gyrodactylid sister species were probably much younger (related to Pleistocene events) than their sister host species, which had diverged in the Pliocene. This also rules out co-speciation and strongly suggests that infection of one host species predilects gyrodactylids to infect other closely related hosts by host shifting (Huyse and Volckaert, 2005). This is also the pattern that is observed in specificity studies (Section 5.3), that gyrodactylids normally infect a spectrum of more or less closely

related fish species although host shifts to unrelated fish species can also occur.

No experimental studies on the host preferences of these gyrodactylids of gobies have been undertaken, and no mitochondrial sequences are available. With evidence from both of these sources, we would be able to infer the evolutionary history of this group with greater confidence.

### 6.4. Refugia and Pleistocene Dispersals

The history of gyrodactylid speciation, within Eurasia and probably also North America, is closely tied to post-glacial history and the presence of isolated refugia for freshwater fish during the ice ages. The narrow host range of many gyrodactylids, and the molecular information now available, makes these highly attractive organisms for considering patterns of evolution of freshwater fishes in the post-glacial landscape, and can provide important corroboration of mitochondrial DNA evidence in studying evolution of the fishes themselves.

The precise age of gyrodactylid species is unclear, given the lack of a calibration for molecular divergence in the genus. However, several aspects of gyrodactylid evolutionary biology suggest that a major force responsible for their speciation has been the series of climatic upheavals known collectively as the ice ages. Over the past 800000 years, Eurasia has alternated between phases of cold, dry climate (ice ages) in which ice sheets pushed south and sea level fell, and phases of warm moist climate (interglacials), in which ice retreated and rising sea levels subdivided the land mass. This pattern has never been precisely repeated, and so the location of ice masses and possible refugia has differed between glacial events. As ice sheets have extended south, flora and fauna are thought to have retreated in front of the ice, and to have survived in scattered refugia. During the LGM, three southern European refugia for terrestrial organisms are normally acknowledged: the Iberian Peninsula, Italy/Sicily, and the Balkans (Hewitt, 1999). The relative importance of each varied depending on taxon, but, based on mtDNA evidence, most terrestrial and some aquatic

organisms recolonised northern Europe from one or more of these three areas (Hewitt, 2004). This pattern of recolonisation is still continuing, as organisms with poor dispersive powers failed to colonise northern Europe before rising sea level cut dispersal routes. This is probably the historical reason for the absence of *G. salaris* from Norway and Britain.

Refugia for aquatic organisms are much more complex. Aquatic organisms can retreat southwards only so far before increasingly steep river gradients make habitat unsuitable. Reduction in sea level during glacial maxima increased the distance between header streams of different watersheds (the header streams of Rhine, Rhone and Danube would have been much further apart at the time of the LGM than today), and fundamentally changed the relationships between major watersheds and river systems (Figure 22). During the LGM, the English Channel River, emptying to the west of the European continental shelf somewhere off Brittany (Lericolais et al., 2003), received water from the Thames, the Seine and the Rhine. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, a series of large impounded glacial lakes existed along the edge of the ice sheet. These included the relatively small Lake Humber/Lake Pickering complex in what is today northern England (Clark et al., 2004), but also probably a moderately large lake in the southern North Sea, and a series of very large ice-dammed lakes along the margin of the ice in northern Russia and Siberia (Mangerud et al., 2001, 2004; Svendsen et al., 2003). These lakes, caused by ice-damming of rivers such as the Ob and Yenissei, were of such a size as to potentially have had impacts on global climate (Krinner et al., 2004; Mangerud et al., 2004). From an evolutionary perspective, these were large enough to sustain large, resident populations of many fish, including the anadromous salmonids, sticklebacks, cottids and perhaps gobies. The precise combination of fish within these lakes, and the consequences of genetic drift, would depend in part on their size, and the effective population size of each species within them. These lakes changed their conformation and connections during the Weichselian, from their inception some 90000 years BP (Krinner et al., 2004; Mangerud et al., 2004) until the LGM  $\sim$ 20000 years BP. During different glaciations, different combinations of glacial lakes probably arose (there is little evidence of events



Figure 22 Modern coastline (pale outline), and coastline 20 000 before present (BP) (dark outline) showing significant bodies of freshwater (pale blue). Note that most European watersheds drain into the Black Sea, which at this time was freshwater. The Volga system also connected with the Black Sea and the other European rivers for a short period ~18 000 years BP due to meltwater overflow into the Manych Pass. Consequently, there were opportunities for mixing and exchange of gyrodactylids throughout central and western Europe, with only the Channel River system (Rhine, Thames and northern French rivers) remaining distinct. This should be viewed as a dynamic evolving landscape; prior to this time (60 000 years BP) the rivers of western Siberia (Ob, Yennisei) drained into the Caspian; subsequent to the LGM, the Baltic became a freshwater lake, allowing interchange of fish and gyrodactylids between rivers draining into the Eastern Baltic.

prior to the Weichselian, because later ice sheets have erased traces of previous glacial episodes). During the LGM, for example, drainages of the Danube, Dniepr and Don were all interconnected, draining into the freshwater Black Sea (Mangerud *et al.*, 2004), and were linked via the Manych Pass to the Volga drainage into the Caspian Sea. At a previous phase in the last ice age (80 000 years BP), the Siberian rivers Yenissei and Ob were also prevented from draining north, and instead drained south to the Aral, Caspian and Black Seas (Mangerud *et al.*, 2004). This mixing of drainage patterns throughout

the last ice age probably accounts for the uniformity and richness of the Central European gyrodactylid fauna, with only the Channel River drainage basin remaining distinct (Figure 22). Ice lakes were freshwater or of very low salinity, and allowed mixing of fish stocks and harsh, possibly immunosuppressive environmental conditions, potentially provided ideal environments for host switching by gyrodactylids, with consequent speciation and evolution. Interestingly, the most closely related parasite species pairs infect different hosts (indicating a host switch, see Table 1), while similar species infecting the same host tend to be more distinct at a molecular level, suggesting evolution in different refugia, possibly during different glaciations (Zietara and Lumme, 2002). This is best indicated by the gyrodactylids of the minnow, Phoxinus phoxinus. This cyprinid has a widespread distribution throughout Eurasia, and may reasonably be expected to have been restricted to several different ice lake refugia. Zietara and Lumme (2002) noted that host switching triggers adaptation to the new host, and pointed to two phases in the evolution of G. wageneri-like species, one phase  $\sim$ 5 million years BP, the other  $\sim$ 1 million years BP. This latter, recent burst of host switching and speciation occurred within the period of glacial and interglacial warmings but we would question the confidence limits for this estimate, suggesting that in some cases, speciation and host switching has occurred as recently as the LGM, perhaps as little as 20-50 000 years BP. This is suggested very strongly by the biogeography of some molecular variants. Zietara and Lumme (2002, 2003) identified distinctive molecular variants of several species, including G. aphyae and G. macronychus/G. jussii from opposite sides of the Fennoscandian watershed, from Oulu (draining to the Baltic) and from Oulanka (draining to the White Sea). During the Early, Middle and Late Weichselian glaciation (90000-20000 years BP), fishes from both the Baltic and White Seas were restricted to distinct ice-dammed lakes (Krinner et al., 2004). During the preceding warm phase, the Eemian ( $\sim$ 120 000 years BP), the two Seas were linked by a seaway through Lakes Ladoga and Onega, which would have led to the mixing of fish populations and subsequent geographical homogenisation of their gyrodactylids (Funder et al., 2002). A slightly older event may have been the evolution of G. limneus and G. phoxini on minnows in

separate ice-dammed lakes, as these species do occur conspecifically (Malmberg, 1970), suggesting prior mixing during a warm phase. On the other hand, the evolution and shift in host specificity between *G. salaris* and *G. thymalli* appears to have occurred during the LGM and afterwards (see below). Within the large ice lakes (e.g. the Black or Caspian Seas 20000 years BP and including the eastern Baltic today), conditions favoured the survival of freshwater fish alongside marine species. Within current day Greenland (where conditions probably approximate those within the ice-dammed lakes of the LGM), very low temperatures, and floating wedge-like layers of freshwater on salt at the heads of fjords, allows marine fish such as *Myoxocephalus* to penetrate into almost freshwater. It is under such conditions that the adaptation of marine gyrodactylids to freshwater probably occurred.

Glacial events influencing gyrodactylid speciation were not confined to the Baltic and northern Russia. One of only two gyrodactylids so far considered endemic in the British Isles is G. rogatensis from the bullhead Cottus gobio (see Harris, 1985). Elsewhere in Europe it is replaced by G. cotti, a more widespread species infecting a range of cottids, or by G. hrabei, described by Ergens (1957, 1971) as most closely related to marine forms infecting Myoxocephalus (e.g. Levinsen, 1881). G. hrabei-like forms infect Cottus poecilopus across much of its range (Ergens, 1961; Malmberg, 1972; Winger et al., 2005, unpublished). The occurrence of G. rogatensis is mirrored by molecular analyses of the host bullheads, which suggest that during the LGM either one group survived within the Channel River system and its tributaries, and has remained distinct within the UK and rivers as far east as the Rhine (Hänfling et al., 2002), or that this clade recolonised from southern Europe but has been subject to serial bottlenecking in the process (Volckaert et al., 2005). G. rogatensis appears to have switched to infect this clade within the catchment of the Channel River.

An interesting problem in recent gyrodactylid evolution concerns *G. wageneri*-forms infecting the three-spined stickleback, *Gasterosteus aculeatus*, and small cyprinids. The nine-spined stickleback, *Pungitius pungitius*, is infected by *Gyrodactylus pungitii*, which occurs throughout Scandinavia and is only distantly related to *G. gasterostei*, found on the three-spined stickleback. *G. gasterostei* occurs in northern

Germany (Gläser, 1974), but not in Scandinavia (Malmberg, 1970 failed to find this species), and probably evolved within the Channel River system, spreading eastwards into the Elbe system. The normal host is Gasterosteus aculeatus, and in Britain at least, this parasite is specific for this host (Cable et al., 2002b; Harris, unpublished). In the Czech Republic, however, G. gasterostei is considered a generalist, infecting primarily cyprinids (see Ergens, 1985a, b; Matejusová et al., 2001). Furthermore the three-spined stickleback is rare in central Europe (Ahnelt et al., 1995), and the molecular evidence of Zietara and Lumme (2002) indicates that G. gasterostei from the stickleback and G. aphyae from the minnow are so closely related that the distance between G. gasterostei and one G. aphyae clade is less than that between the two G. aphyae clades. Clearly, G. gasterostei and G. aphvae are sister species, one the result of a host switch from the other. However, is the Central European G. gasterostei of Ergens (1985a, b) simply a misidentification, or is there a more complex situation, with this species infecting a different host in these central European river systems?

# 6.5. Paraphyly of Gyrodactylus salaris

The most complex situation discovered to date is the pathogenic *Gyrodactylus salaris*, and its close relatives, *G. teuchis*, *G. bohemicus* and *G. thymalli*:

(i) G. teuchis was described from rainbow trout (the type host) in France (Lautraite et al., 1999; Cunningham et al., 2001); other hosts include wild Atlantic salmon and brown trout. G. teuchis has ITS sequences which are distinct from G. thymalli and G. salaris, but morphological variation falls within the total range reported for G. salaris (see Mo, 1991a, b, c), and few qualitative differences are seen in the hamuli and ventral bar (Cunningham et al., 2001). There are small differences in the shape of the marginal hook sickle. In the original description, G. teuchis was thought to have evolved in an "Iberian refugium", but this species probably evolved in the Channel River watershed, as it is distributed along the Spanish and French Atlantic seaboards. It has been reported from farmed rainbow trout in Scotland (Cunningham *et al.*, 2001) and from wild brown trout in Denmark (Buchmann *et al.*, 2000), but it is difficult to get an idea of the original range of this taxon as it is common on rainbow trout and may have been redistributed with this host. *G. teuchis* is not recorded in Norway and appears to be absent from wild salmon in the UK but this may be because salmon populations in southern rivers are so small, and parr generations do not overlap. Extermination of salmon from rivers around the North Sea in the 19th century also complicates any discussion of recreating the original range of *G. teuchis*.

- G. bohemicus from rainbow trout (type host) and brook trout in (ii) a trout farm in South Bohemia, Czech Republic, was considered (Ergens, 1992a) most closely related to G. thymalli and G. magnus. Both hosts were introduced to Europe from America and the parasite has neither been recorded from brown trout in Central Europe nor from any host in North America. The identity of this taxon was a mystery until Lindenstrøm et al. (2003a) described the "G. salaris variant" (Gx), with slight morphological variation in the marginal hook and a predilection for infecting rainbow trout (Lindenstrøm et al., 2000). The ITS rDNA sequence of this rainbow trout variant differed by just three bases from that of G. salaris sensu stricto, and one of these bases exhibited intra- and inter-individual polymorphism (Lindenstrøm et al., 2003a, b). Lindenstrøm et al. (2003a, b) argued against the rainbow trout variant being G. bohemicus; however, perhaps this reverses the burden of proof, and it should be demonstrated that G. bohemicus described from a handful of specimens collected during faunistic work, is actually distinct from the Lindenstrøm rainbow trout variant. We propose that, until such evidence is forthcoming, G. bohemicus should be regarded as the first record of the Lindenstrøm et al. (2003a, b) "Gx" rainbow trout variant. Parsimony would suggest that this is safest course until positive evidence is found to discriminate G. bohemicus from the "Gx" variant.
- (iii) *G. thymalli*, described from less than a dozen specimens from Slovakian grayling (Žitňan, 1960), was considered to be most

similar to G. salaris from salmon. G. thymalli can be distinguished from G. salaris and G. teuchis, being larger than either (Shinn et al., 2004), and yet the ribosomal sequences of the V4 and ITS regions of the rRNA gene array are identical to G. salaris (see Cunningham, 1997), suggesting that these taxa are more closely related than are any other Gvrodactvlus species (Cunningham, 2002). The two forms were originally considered to have distinct IGS haplotypes, although they share many of the individual repeat units which make up the haplotypes (Sterud et al., 2002). Recent research, however, shows that this interpretation is not correct (Hansen et al., 2005, 2006). The recently sequenced  $\beta$ -tubulin gene also shows differences between them (Collins *et al.*, 2004a). These observations, in addition to major differences in pathogenicity and host specificity suggest that these are valid species (Sterud et al., 2002). G. thymalli from Thymallus spp. is widespread in Eurasia, including Kamchatka (Ergens, 1983), Poland (Hansen et al., 2007), Slovakia (Žitňan, 1960; Hansen et al., 2007), Britain (Denham and Longshaw, 1999; Hansen et al., 2007), Norway (Hansen et al., 2003, 2006), Finland and the Kola Peninsula (Meinilä et al., 2004). The grayling is widespread in NW Europe and was certainly restricted to different ice lake refugia during the LGM (Koskinen et al., 2000, 2002; Weiss et al., 2002) giving rise to at least four major mtDNA lineages. There is however evidence of extensive mixing in contact zones between drainages (Gum et al., 2005) and, as with other salmonids, the distribution has been extensively modified by Man.

Recent work on *G. thymalli* has been based on samples from the Eastern Baltic, particularly Lake Kitka and the River Oulanka system (draining to the White Sea), the River Livojoki (Baltic drainage), and from Pjalma (Lake Onega) in Karelia (see Meinilä *et al.*, 2004). Populations from the White Sea drainage had mitochondrial haplotypes belonging to quite different clades to those from the Baltic, again emphasising the importance of different glacial refugia. Meinilä *et al.* (2004) calibrated the divergence between White and Baltic Sea forms to be ~100000 years, because, as noted above, an earlier
divergence would not have retained geographical separation following the Eemian interglacial. Meinilä et al. (2004) also analysed mitochondrial haplotypes collected by Hansen et al. (2003) from salmon, grayling and rainbow trout in Norway and Sweden, providing a unique opportunity to examine short-term evolution of G. salaris and G. thymalli in Scandinavia. These phylogenies (Hansen et al., 2003; Meinilä et al., 2004) may suggest that G. salaris on salmon is derived from G. thymalli. However, the data clearly show that G. salaris was introduced into Norway on several occasions, that it has been dispersed widely by anthropogenic means and that it is polyphyletic. Meinilä et al. (2004) consider G. thymalli to be a junior synonym of G. salaris and that all forms of this taxon from rainbow trout, salmon or grayling (named the G. salaris complex) should be referred to as the G. salaris cluster or G. salaris sensu lato. This mitochondrial evidence is not the full story, and ignores differences in nuclear sequencing data (Sterud et al., 2002; Cunningham et al., 2003; Collins et al., 2004a; Hansen et al., 2006), morphology (McHugh et al., 2000; Shinn et al., 2004) and host preference (Soleng and Bakke, 2001b; Bakke et al., 2002; Sterud et al., 2002) between the forms from grayling and salmon. It also oversimplifies the taxonomic situation. For example, Shulman et al. (2005) noted an apparently cold-adapted strain of G. salaris from the River Lhizma, in Karelia, while Olstad et al. (unpublished) have identified a parasite population from grayling which is morphologically intermediate between G. salaris and G. thymalli. The former originates from the apparent centre of diversity of G. salaris (see Meinilä et al., 2004), but the latter, from Norway, is more problematical. This implies a very rapid host shift and morphological divergence if this clade has indeed originated from the G. salaris clades imported into Norway during the 1970s. A final reason for not changing the nomenclatural status quo is that in the case of G. salaris/G. thymalli, a pure DNA-based taxonomy may result in a species definition which fails to reflect the significant differences in host response and pathology and will scarcely be accepted by the fish management authorities involved in the recognition of such a highly pathogenic notifiable fish disease of European concern (Olson and Tkach, 2005).

There is also great confusion over the "rainbow trout variant" of G. salaris from Norway described by Mo (1991a) infecting Lierelva and Drammenselva salmon. G. salaris sensu stricto (i.e. the salmon infecting forms) is polyphyletic (Meinilä et al., 2004), made up of a clade (clade I) which switched to salmon from grayling in North Fennoscandia and a clade (clade II) which switched to salmon and rainbow trout elsewhere, which Meinilä et al. (2004) consider genetically relatively invariant. This ignores the fact that clade II contains forms which can be distinguished morphologically (Mo, 1991a); the "Gx" form of Lindenstrøm et al. (2003a, b) and the variant of Jørgensen et al. (2006) are not identical to the "rainbow trout variant" of G. salaris described by Mo (1991a). More informative evidence about the nature of rainbow trout infecting forms is derived from the IGS data of Sterud et al. (2002) and Cunningham et al. (2003). This locus, in G. salaris, contains two repeat units, containing in turn a series of subrepeats. The pattern of repeats is fairly constrained in G. salaris from salmon, as would be expected if, as suggested by Meinilä et al. (2004), G. salaris is derived from such a restricted origin within clade III of G. thymalli. G. thymalli overall showed greater diversity in IGS repeat units than Norwegian G. salaris (see Cunningham et al., 2003; Hansen et al., 2006), but sampling of *G. thymalli* is relatively restricted geographically. Swedish populations of G. salaris contain more diversity of IGS haplotypes than Norwegian forms and rival the haplotype diversity seen with limited sampling of G. thymalli (see Hansen et al., 2006). Parasites from rainbow trout reveal surprising diversity in IGS haplotypes, exceeding that of G. salaris from Norwegian salmon populations or G. thymalli from grayling. The Sterud et al. (2002) study showed that IGS haplotypes from the rainbow trout variant resembles in part repeat variants normally found in salmon-infecting G. salaris (repeat region 1), alongside variants normally found in grayling-infecting G. thymalli (repeat region 1). Given this diversity, it is impossible to reconcile the rainbow trout variant with the restricted mitochondrial diversity noted by Meinilä et al. (2004). The lack of stability in the IGS of the rainbow trout variant is intriguing. Cunningham et al. (2003) speculate that the greater diversity of IGS repeats may be due

to selection against many repeat types in either salmon-infecting or grayling-infecting forms. This again seems quite at odds with Meinilä et al.'s (2004) hypothesis that the rainbow trout variant is represented by a highly restricted subset of mitochondrial haplotypes, and therefore derived from a very restricted clade of G. thymalli. The IGS locus is under the constraint of concerted evolution in a similar way as the other ribosomal gene loci; it might be expected therefore that the variation within the rainbow trout variant will eventually stabilise in a relatively homogenous form. The lack of agreement between mtCOI (Hansen et al., 2003; Meinilä et al., 2004) and IGS phylogenies (Sterud et al., 2002; Cunningham et al., 2003; Hansen et al., 2006) may not be intractable. Mitochondrial haplotypes spread through a population at different rates to nuclear genomic markers because of their maternal mode of transmission. This will be particularly marked in Gyrodactylus, with its predominantly parthenogenetic viviparous reproductive strategy. This may go some way to explaining the conflict over the status of the southern Norwegian populations of salmon-infecting G. salaris, one of which (River Lierelva) has been the principal strain used in experimental studies of the species (Bakke et al., 2002) and is linked by mtCOI haplotype (Hansen et al., 2003; Meinilä et al., 2004) to the rainbow trout infecting forms. Cunningham et al. (2003), on the other hand, using IGS nuclear markers, place the Lierelva strain with the majority of other G. salaris strains from salmon. AFLP patterns, also based on nuclear markers (Cable et al., unpublished) link Lierelva strain with the other salmon-infecting forms. There is however a history of introduction of the rainbow trout variant into the area immediately adjacent to the Lierelva/Drammenselva watercourses. The rainbow trout variant (Mo, 1987, 1991a) originally recovered from salmon in both rivers in 1987 might have originated from infected commercial hatcheries in Lake Tyrifjorden which imported salmonids (both rainbow trout and salmon) from Sweden (Mo, 1991a; B.O. Johnsen, personal communication). It has also been identified on escaped rainbow trout in Lake Tyrifjorden, from where it could have spread into both Drammenselva and Lierelva (probably via Holsfjorden; cf. Johnsen et al., 1999). The same parasite was also found in eight rainbow trout hatcheries around Lake Tyrifjorden which may also

represent the origin of the river infections. There has therefore been ample opportunity for hybridisation and introgression of the rainbow trout mitochondrial haplotype into *G. salaris* populations in South East Norway.

Currently, we would have to conclude that the G. salaris/G. thymalli evolutionary scenario remains highly complex and further research is needed to understand the patchwork of strains of the parasite currently found in Scandinavia. An interesting recent discovery has been of a resident Arctic charr population in lake Pålsbufjorden (Buskerud, County, southern Norway, draining into the commercially important salmon river Numedalslågen), which supports a persistent G. salaris infection with a mitochondrial haplotype similar to that of Drammenselva parasites (Robertsen et al., 2006, 2007b). This is the first observation of G. salaris maintaining a viable population on charr in the absence of any other susceptible salmonid species. This Arctic charr strain is of limited infectivity to salmon (Olstad et al., 2005, 2007) and may have originated following another host shift from a rainbow trout variant. In Denmark, a low pathogenic strain of G. salaris to salmon is reported based on experimental laboratory tests but originally from rainbow trout which experienced high parasite intensities (Jørgensen et al., 2006). All sequenced ITS clones of this Danish strain revealed only one single base substitution when compared to all other known species and strains of Gyrodactylus including Gx of Lindenstrøm et al. (2003a) and COI data demonstrated it to be closely related to one of the rainbow trout forms in Norway. Mitochondrial COI haplotypes cannot so far be linked with virulence. We must conclude that strains of the parasite were introduced into Norway from elsewhere in Fennoscandia, probably in the 1970s, and distributed widely by Man (Hansen et al., 2003; Robertsen et al., 2006, 2007a). This is clear from the very wide distribution of G. salaris clade I haplotypes throughout Norway and in the case of clade II haplotypes throughout Europe (Meinilä et al., 2004; clade III according to Hansen et al., 2003). It is a truism that the global threat to Atlantic salmon posed by strains of salmoninfecting G. salaris originating within Europe is not great. Further range extension will probably be by the rainbow trout form, which is not especially pathogenic to rainbow trout, and therefore easily overlooked, but still pathogenic to salmon. Secondly, we can conclude that the primary evolutionary stimulus for the pathogenic *G. salaris* has been these host switches from grayling to salmon. A very recent origin for these different salmon-infecting clades cannot be ruled out. Numerous salmon, grayling, rainbow trout and charr infecting forms have since arisen, and have been distributed extensively by Man. Introgression of strains have probably been widespread, and the role of the rainbow trout in strain hybridisation and introgression may have been paramount.

# 6.6. Terminology of the G. salaris Species Complex

G. salaris and G. thymalli are almost identical at a molecular level and there is no support from mtDNA (CO1) sequences for monophyly of all G. salaris and G. thymalli haplotypes (Hansen et al., 2003, unpublished data). These taxa therefore probably represent a case of incipient speciation with the sibling taxa representing either a semispecies (one or two polytypic species) or a superspecies (several sibling species; see Mallet, 2001), reproductively isolated by host preference. If we follow Meinilä et al. (2004), the relationship between G. salaris and G. thymalli is so close that they are merely host races of the same species, and both G. thymalli Žitňan, 1960 and probably G. bohemicus Ergens, 1992 should be treated as junior synonyms. Inclusion of the rainbow trout variant Gx with ITS differing to G. salaris at three positions (according to Lindenstrøm et al., 2003a) and two other variants differing in one base substitution (Jørgensen et al., 2006; Robertsen et al., 2006, 2007a) to all other known species and strains of Gvrodactvlus within G. salaris would make the latter polyphyletic as it appears to have evolved independently from different clades within G. thymalli. We appreciate that this is a difficult area, and that the names of these currently speciating forms must remain in flux. However, we propose to maintain G. salaris, G. thymalli and G. bohemicus as separate species until further clarification using new molecular markers, knowledge of the impact of different microenvironment factors on Gyrodactylus morphology and hybridisation experiments. It is most important that

practice is entirely transparent when depositing specimens or sequences (unfortunately not currently the case) so that future workers can interpret the early 21st century situation in the light of their own theoretical paradigms.

#### Part 3. Gyrodactylid synecology

# 7. EPIDEMIOLOGICAL MODELS: BRIDGING THE GAP BETWEEN MICRO- AND MACROPARASITES

The value of gyrodactylids as epidemiological models has been recognised for many years with some of the most elegant studies of host-parasite dynamics being conducted by Scott and co-workers in the 1980s using G. turnbulli (at the time called G. bullatarudis, see Harris, 1986; Richards and Chubb, 1995; Richards et al., 2000) on guppies (Scott, 1982, 1985a, b, 1987; Scott and Anderson, 1984; Scott and Nokes, 1984; Scott and Robinson, 1984; Harris, 1988, 1989; Leberg and Vrijenhoek, 1994; Richards and Chubb, 1996, 1998; Cable et al., 2002a). Gyrodactylid reproduction is characterised by a short generation time and completion of the life cycle in situ without the need for transmission. The period of infection is also short relative to host life span, due to the acquired host response (Section 8.1). Gyrodactylids bridge the gap between micro- and macroparasites and can potentially model other microparasites of animals and humans. A number of statistical and computer models have also been designed to risk assess the spread of gyrodactylid infections to new rivers (Anonymous, 1996; Paisley et al., 1999; Brun and Høgåsen, 2003; Høgåsen and Brun, 2003; Peeler and Thrush, 2004; Peeler et al., 2004; Jansen et al., 2005, 2007). Host age-structured population models have been used to assess the impact of disease-induced mortality at different stages of the life cycle of salmonids (de Clers, 1993). However, the full potential of gyrodactylid population models has yet to be realised due to the poorly known action of several micro- and macroenvironmental factors, and it remains impossible to predict the likely outcome of gyrodactylid introductions into novel watersheds. In particular, because individual fecundity is so low (normally less than

three daughters per worm), the statistical vagaries of survivorship and mortality make the outcomes of individual infections very difficult to predict. Gyrodactylids can be identified and counted long before their pathological effects are apparent, and so accurate, quantitative data can be collected during the entire infection of a single host (Jansen and Bakke, 1993a, b; van Oosterhout *et al.*, 2003). The guppy–gyrodactylid interaction is particularly tractable, and is already a paradigm for studies of host–parasite evolution (López, 1998) because the ecology of both *G. turnbulli* (e.g. Scott and Anderson, 1984; Scott, 1985; Harris, 1988, 1989; Cable *et al.*, 2002a) and guppies (Reznick and Endler, 1982; Magurran and Phillip, 2001; van Oosterhout *et al.*, 2003) is so well understood. The wealth of information on this system provides an invaluable database with which to test the impact of various host variables on parasite biology (e.g. Cable and van Oosterhout, submitted for publication).

# 8. HOST IMMUNITY AND PARASITE PATHOGENICITY

#### 8.1. Host Immune Responses

The subject of immunity of fish to monogenean ectoparasites has been reviewed in depth recently (Buchmann, 1999, 2000; Buchmann *et al.*, 2001, 2003; Buchmann and Lindenstrøm, 2002) and will only be touched upon here. Understanding immune responses against gyrodactylids was long hampered by the misconceptions that fish and other poikilothermic lower vertebrates possess a primitive and unsophisticated immune system, and that ectoparasites washed by the external milieu would not be significantly affected by blood-borne immune responses. These misconceptions have now been corrected, but there are major differences between the immune response to gyrodactylids and that to other ectoparasitic helminths, indeed that to other ectoparasitic monogeneans. Furthermore, with over 400 *Gyrodactylus* species described, it would be surprising if there were not a range of response mechanisms operating against them.

The first study normally cited as identifying a response against gyrodactylids is that of Lester (1972), who noted shedding of mucoid

material by *Gasterosteus aculeatus* infected with *G. alexanderi*. Parasites became physically entangled within this insoluble slough and became detached from the surface of the fish. They survived dislodgement and were able to reattach to new hosts. Lester and Adams (1974a, b) went on to link this response to the immunological status of the hosts, but this non-specific, physical mechanism of elimination became a paradigm of gyrodactylid immunity for the next 25 years and more subtle involvement of the immune system was not seriously considered until the late 1990s. This was unfortunate because Schechmeister *et al.* (1962) had already shown that irradiated gold-fish were far more susceptible to *Gyrodactylus* sp. than un-irradiated controls, suggesting strongly that an intact immune system is needed for a fully functional response against gyrodactylids.

Almost all gyrodactylid-vertebrate interactions which have been examined show evidence of parasite population limitation and decline. Apart from the G. alexanderi-stickleback system (Lester and Adams, 1974a), this has also been noted for G. turnbulli on guppies (Scott and Robinson, 1984; Madhavi and Anderson, 1985; Harris, 1988; van Oosterhout et al., 2003; Cable and van Oosterhout, 2007), G. colemanensis and G. derjavini on rainbow trout (Cusack, 1986; Buchmann and Uldal, 1997, respectively), G. stellatus on English sole (Kamiso and Olson, 1986), G. katharineri on carp (Gelnar, 1987a, b), G. gobiensis on gudgeon (Gelnar, 1987c), and G. salaris on rainbow trout, lake trout, brook trout and Arctic charr (Bakke et al., 1991b, 1992b, c, 1996). This phenomenon is also observed in other gyrodactylid genera, including Gyrdicotylus gallieni on clawed toads (Harris and Tinsley, 1987; Jackson and Tinsley, 1994). It has not been noted in Isancistrum subulatae on the squid Alloteuthis subulata (see Llewellyn, 1984). Typically, on an individual fish, gyrodactylid populations initially increase until the rate of population growth slows and declines, parasites are lost and eventually the infection is eliminated. A high proportion of fish may die as a result of infection. The macroenvironment may have a relatively minor effect on this process (but see Section 9) except to modify timing; responses have been noted in marine and freshwater fish, both tropical and cold water. The response can occur at low, potentially immunosuppressive temperatures (Bly and Clem, 1992) and has therefore been regarded as distinct from a classical immune reaction. However, it shows interhost heterogeneity (Bakke et al., 2002; van Oosterhout et al., 2003), and memory (Scott and Robinson, 1984; Scott, 1985a, b; Richards and Chubb, 1996; Bakke et al., 2002; Cable and van Oosterhout, 2007), requires an intact immune system (Schechmeister et al., 1962) and can be modulated by immunomodulatory hormones such as cortisol and testosterone (Buchmann, 1997a; Lindenstrøm and Buchmann, 1998; Harris et al., 2000; Nielsen and Buchmann, 2003), all characteristics of an acquired immune response, usually mediated via antibodies. Although antibodies have been detected in natural infections of blood-feeding monogeneans such as Heterobothrium okamotoi (see Wang et al., 1997), Pseudodactylogyrus (see Mazzanti et al., 1999; Monni and Cognetti-Varriale, 2002) and Discocotyle sagittata (see Rubio-Godoy et al., 2004), they have never been demonstrated in gyrodactylid infections. Buchmann (1998a, b, c) failed to find antibodies to G. derjavini in rainbow trout and we have similarly failed to find antibodies to G. salaris in either mucus or blood of infected salmon using ELISA (unpublished). Negative results are seldom published, but the absence of antibodies in these interactions is of considerable interest.

In the absence of specific antibody responses, inducible non-specific responses may play a part in limiting gyrodactylid population growth. Many species, including G. derjavini and G. salaris, are extraordinarily sensitive to host complement. Buchmann (1998a) noted binding of complement C3a to G. derjavini tegument and Harris et al. (1998) showed that living G. salaris are killed at physiologically relevant titres as low as 1:200, considerably lower than that needed to kill other parasites (Fishelson, 1989). Complement acts via the alternate (antibody-independent) pathway and pre-incubation in blood from fish exposed to high infections of G. salaris (and therefore most likely to possess antibodies against the parasite) failed to enhance killing, further suggesting that antibodies are not involved (Harris et al., 1998). Killing is presumably so efficient because G. salaris in a freshwater environment are osmotically stressed when the integrity of the tegument is disrupted by membrane attack complexes (MACs). However, Moore et al. (1994) also found a complement-like factor very effective against G. stellatus from winter flounder, although in

this case the parasites were maintained in salt water. Buchmann (1998a, b, c) noted the response was not species-specific, an observation confirmed by Harris et al. (1998) who noted that salmon complement lysed G. decorus from roach, while trout complement lysed G. salaris. It would be wrong to suggest that complement is a general mechanism for killing gyrodactylids, particularly as we have noted greater resistance to complement in G. turnbulli from guppies (unpublished), and J.A. Jackson (personal communication) has indicated that Gyrdicotylus is also relatively resistant. However, we have noted a correlation between complement levels during the course of G. salaris infections on salmon and the susceptibility of the strain concerned, with resistant Neva salmon having a C3 complement titre in mucus some  $\sim 25\%$  higher than the highly susceptible Alta strain (Bakke et al., 2002). The level of complement, at least in the serum of resistant Neva fish, was also inducible in response to G. salaris infection, being some 20% higher 45 days after infection than in naïve fishes (Bakke et al., 2002). These observations do suggest a role for complement in eliminating gyrodactylid infections of salmonids, but clearly there is much further work to be done to confirm this. In particular, salmonids express multiple C3 isoforms and have multiple genes encoding factor B (Sunyer, 2005). To date no functional studies of these different complement isoforms on gyrodactylids have been carried out, although differences in susceptibility to gyrodactylids could be related to complement diversity expressed by particular salmonids (Lindenstrøm, 2005).

As complement is so effective in killing gyrodactylids, a model based on alternate pathway activation can be suggested that does not require additional effectors to explain immunity. Alternative pathway complement activation occurs in response to carbohydrate moieties on the target surface and such molecules (particularly mannose-rich glycoproteins) occur on the gyrodactylid tegument (Buchmann, 2001). Gyrodactylids are always exposed to complement from host mucus and the accumulation of MACs on the tegument must limit their survival. Up to a point, complement-mediated tegument damage can be overcome by repair and this may partially explain the high density of secretory vesicles (Kritsky and Kruidenier, 1976; Bakke *et al.*, 2006) within the tegument. It may also explain the curious

phenomenon that detached gyrodactylids often display an inverted mortality curve, with higher age-specific mortality shortly after detachment. This is very clear in Harris et al. (1998; Figure 1), which shows percentage mortality of controls not exposed to complement and of parasites exposed to 1:1000 serum dilution, highest in the first 30 min after beginning the experiment. It is also apparent in G. gasterostei (see Cable et al., 2002b), in which mortality increases in the first 10 h after detachment in parasites removed from sticklebacks, but not in the first 10 h of life of parasites born in vitro. This suggests mortality due to damage (from MACs or some other mechanism) present when the parasites are first detached from the fish, which is minimised after 10 h, either through denaturation of complement factors or because tegument turnover has removed them from the parasite surface. As an infection builds on a fish, complement titre and hence MAC damage may increase, either killing parasites directly or forcing them to migrate into the environment (Lester and Adams, 1974a, b). As time goes by this effect becomes more marked, until natality is less than mortality and emigration, and the parasite population begins to decline. On unsuitable hosts, the balance between the ability of the parasite to exploit the fish nutritionally and the rate at which complement complexes form is shifted in favour of complement attack, and the parasites fail to thrive.

Although this mechanism can explain observed patterns of gyrodactylid-host population dynamics, it is far from a complete explanation. In the first place, alternate-pathway activated complement is a non-specific, universal response whereas the immune response to gyrodactylids clearly is very specific, but much reduced in some fish strains which nevertheless do possess complement (Bakke *et al.*, 1999). Most importantly, a model based on complement activation fails to explain the evidence for modulation of the response by hormonal status, the evidence for memory, or the results now being obtained using microarray approaches. The response to gyrodactylids can be modulated by the physiological state of the host, particularly by its hormonal status. Testosterone suppresses the response to gyrodactylids (Buchmann, 1997a) and hormonal interventions which mimic stress have the same effect (Lindenstrøm and Buchmann, 1998; Harris *et al.*, 2000). Using hydrocortisone acetate implants,

Harris et al. (2000) found that immunosuppression made previously innately resistant brook trout, Arctic charr and brown trout relatively susceptible to G. salaris, suggesting that host specificity involves factors which can be modulated in cortisol-treated hosts. However, this treatment did not entirely suppress the response, although it is unlikely that hydrocortisone release from the implants had ceased. There may therefore be a second, late, mechanism, which only becomes effective after several weeks. Natural elevation of cortisol concentrations has been observed in fish infected with G. derjavini (see Lindenstrøm and Buchmann, 1998, 2000) and natural stressors have frequently been noted as triggering gyrodactylid population growth. This is perhaps most obvious in *Macrogyrodactylus polypteri* infections on Polypterus (see Khalil, 1970; Harris, unpublished observations). If true, then elevation of cortisol by parasite-induced stress could lead to responses against them becoming less efficient, leading to positive feedback and exponential parasite population growth.

A range of other mechanisms may be involved in immune responses to gyrodactylids. The tegumental carbohydrate moieties may be the target of other host defence molecules, particularly lectins (Buchmann, 2001; Jørndrup and Buchmann, 2005). Lysozyme was identified as a potential defence molecule in the early 1980s (Ingram, 1980), but Buchmann and Uldal (1997) were unable to find convincing evidence for its involvement in the response against *G. derjavini*. Similarly, C-reactive protein, pentraxins and low molecular weight anti-microbial peptides have all been suggested as protective against monogeneans including gyrodactylids, but as yet without evidence (Buchmann, 1999, 2000, 2001).

More recent understanding has come from work using microarray technology to dissect the signalling pathways involved in the early immune response to gyrodactylids. Lindenstrøm *et al.* (2004) showed increased transcription of the pro-inflammatory cytokine tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ 1, but not TNF- $\alpha$ 2, 8 days post-infection. No increase was noted in secondary infections. Interleukin (IL)-8 transcription did not increase in either primary or secondary infections, but elevation of transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$  transcripts in secondary infections was dramatic; this transcript was hardly

detectable in uninfected fish or in primary infections, but was substantially elevated by 8 days post infection in secondary infections. The increase appears to have begun as early as 4 days post-secondary infection. Induced nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) was also strongly elevated in primary and secondary infections, while cyclo-oxygenase-2 (COX-2) showed significantly elevated transcription 8 days post-primary infection. In a similar study, Lindenstrøm et al. (2003b) demonstrated consistent elevation of two isoforms of IL-1 $\beta$ in primary infections, confirming earlier immunochemical results (Buchmann and Bresciani, 1998, 1999). Lindenstrøm et al. (2003b) suggest that IL-1 $\beta$  may activate mucus secretion, as the homologous molecule in mammals is a mucus secretagogue. If this were so, then activation of this cytokine would probably be central to the response. Lindenstrøm et al. (2006) have extended this work, suggesting that resistant salmon moderate their mucous cell proliferative response, rendering the microhabitat less suitable for G. salaris. Susceptible fish on the other hand are unable to limit their response to pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , leading to hypersecretion of mucus and a more suitable host microenvironment. Matejusová et al. (2006) also record elevated expression of the myeloid leukaemia differentiation protein (Mcl-1) homologue and the opioid growth factor receptor protein (OGFr) homologue in susceptible salmon; both of which may be linked to epidermal regeneration processes, and in the case of Mcl-1 at least, may be induced by IL-1 produced early in the infection (Matejusová et al., 2006). Later in the infection, a FIP-2-like gene (14 kDa interacting protein) is also induced in susceptible salmon (Collins et al., 2007). The elevation of iNOS and COX-2 is interesting as they represent effector arms of the non-specific immune response, responsible for the release of NO and prostaglandins, respectively. It is difficult to see how such reagents could affect the external surface of a gyrodactylid monogenean, but such metabolites probably have major effects when ingested; Cable et al. (2002b) showed the ingestion of intact host cells and organelles, and the action of such metabolites within the gut is likely to be harmful.

Gyrodactylid infections lead to gross changes in epidermal histology which are clearly related to the immune response. Sterud *et al.*  (1998) showed that in G. salaris infections, mucous cell density declined in susceptible salmon of the Lierelva stock, but was not affected in resistant brook trout. Similar results were also noted in the case of G. colemanensis infections of salmonids (Wells and Cone, 1990). This could relate to differences in the dynamics of epithelial grazing by gyrodactylids, but the evidence above (Lindenstrøm et al., 2003b, 2006; Collins et al., 2007; Matejusová et al., 2006), of specific changes in the expression of genes involved in mucous cell differentiation during infections suggest that this is a specific response. Appleby et al. (1997) observed no changes in mucous cell density in G. salaris-infected salmon of the relative tolerant Batnfjordelva stock but the epidermis was thicker and contained more cell layers than in uninfected fish. Following this, Buchmann and Uldal (1997) showed that the susceptibility of salmonids to G. derjavini was negatively correlated with mucous cell density (the most resistant hosts had the highest mucous cell density) and that parasites aggregated in sites with a poor supply of mucous cells, such as the cornea (Buchmann and Bresciani, 1998). Up to 30% of parasites may aggregate on corneas, which represent less than 1% of the total fish surface (Olafsdóttir et al., 2003), suggesting a significant advantage to such aggregation. Mucous cell density can be manipulated by dexamethasone treatment in a manner correlated with the increased susceptibility of treated fish to G. derjavini (see Olafsdóttir and Buchmann, 2004). Heavily infected fish developed a higher density of mucous cells than sham-infected controls, suggesting that, while the parasites induce mucous cell production, dexamethasone inhibits their discharge so that the cells accumulate in the epidermis. In this case, however, it should be borne in mind that the host used, Atlantic salmon, is normally refractive to infection with G. derjavini and so this is a somewhat artificial situation. These findings are interesting in that they demonstrate the impact of gyrodactylids on the epithelial architecture of the fish, and that these changes are in some way involved in the host response. The parallel between the changes in epithelial goblet mucous cell density (e.g. Sterud et al., 1998) and processes in the intestine during the mucus-mediated expulsion of gastro-intestinal (GI) nematodes (Ishikawa, 1994; Ishikawa et al., 1995) has been noted previously (e.g. Sterud et al., 1998). However,

similarities with the expulsion of GI nematodes go further. Cliffe *et al.* (2005) showed that changes in intestinal architecture and epithelial turnover have a major role in the elimination of *Trichuris muris*, an effect mediated via immunologically relevant cytokines. If a similar situation can be demonstrated in *Gyrodactylus*, there is potential for linking the "physical" explanations of expulsion (e.g. Lester, 1972) with the evidence for acquired immunity (see above), and the more subtle observations on signalling pathways of Lindenstrøm *et al.* (2004) and Matejusová *et al.* (2006).

#### 8.2. The Heritability of Disease Resistance

Disease resistance in fish, as in most animals (May and Anderson, 1983; Chevassus and Dorson, 1990), is strongly heritable. Pathogens exert selective pressure locally (Lively and Dybdahl, 2000) and parasitism may be an important determinant of local adaptation in host metapopulations. Because disease resistance is physiologically costly, it will be relaxed if a pathogen disappears from a host population, and will not evolve or be sustained in the absence of a pathogen. Significant genetic variation has been found in several immunological parameters in Atlantic salmon (Fevolden *et al.*, 1992; Fjalestad *et al.*, 1996; see Bakke and Harris, 1998) and in overall resistance to a variety of diseases (see Bakke *et al.*, 1999).

Closely related salmonids exhibit remarkable differences in susceptibility to infection with *G. salaris* and *G. derjavini* (see Section 8) ranging from hosts that serve as short-term transport vectors to those that are entirely susceptible to infection without any obvious immune response (Bakke, 1991; Buchmann and Uldal, 1997; Bakke *et al.*, 2002). This range of response can even be demonstrated experimentally between individuals of the same strain (Bakke *et al.*, 1991b, 1996, 1999, 2002; van Oosterhout *et al.*, 2003; Cable and van Oosterhout, 2007). Genetically determined resistance was first demonstrated by Madhavi and Anderson (1985), who selected guppies for resistance to *G. turnbulli* over a 2-year period. By selecting from the most resistant and most susceptible fishes, they were able to breed susceptible and resistant lines and demonstrate heritability of resistance. F1 crosses

between susceptible and resistant fishes had intermediate resistance. Unfortunately, these experiments were not pursued. More recently, the heritability of resistance to Gyrodactylus within and between strains of Atlantic salmon subject to different breeding regimes has been re-examined for correlations with genetic markers associated with ectoparasitic resistance (Collins et al., 2003, 2004b, 2005). The exact genetic basis of resistance is being investigated using a quantitiative trait loci (QTL) screening approach (Gilbey, 2004; Gilbey et al., 2006). In F2 backcrosses of Baltic and Scottish salmon, 10 genomic regions were identified associated with heterogeneity in resistance to G. salaris. However, mapping these regions with QTLs could account for only 27% of the total heritability of resistance, suggesting that there are additional, as yet unidentified, regions of the genome that are involved in resistance. Sarginson et al. (2004) also reported on the differential expression of immune-related genes in a backcross between susceptible River Conon (Scottish) and resistant River Neva (Russian) salmon. This allowed the identification of 11 immune-related genes with significantly higher expression in susceptible fish.

Infections of hybrids can be a useful way to characterise the nature of genetic resistance. Bakke et al. (1999) used salmon X brown trout hybrids to test for susceptibility to two host-specific gyrodactylids, the salmon-specific G. salaris and the trout-specific G. derjavini. The patterns of susceptibility were complex, including susceptible hosts supporting exponential parasite population growth, responders that showed an increase followed by a decline in infection, and resistant fish on which infections failed to grow, but basically hybrids had susceptibility intermediate to that of their parents. While pure-bred S. salar included both highly susceptible and responding individuals which failed to eliminate G. salaris infection, pure-bred S. trutta were entirely resistant to this species. Pure-bred S. trutta ranged in susceptibility to G. derjavini; some possessed innate resistance while others were initially susceptible but then mounted a host response, usually eliminating the parasite. Pure-bred S. salar, on the other hand, were all susceptible to G. derjavini, but population growth rates were reduced and a host response frequently eliminated infections. The abundance of both gyrodactylids was lower on hybrids than on their respective normal hosts, and a parental sire- and dam-influence on hybrid resistance was observed. When the sire was *S. salar*, the susceptibility of hybrids to *G. salaris* was similar to that of pure *S. trutta*; when the dam was *S. salar* innately resistant, intermediately susceptible and responding individuals were present. In the case of *G. derjavini*, when the sire was *S. trutta*, infections on hybrids were similar to those on pure *S. salar*; when the dam was *S. trutta*, an increased susceptibility was observed. This experiment has provided a fascinating insight into the processes of susceptibility and specificity, and should be followed up in other systems with shorter generation times which are easier to maintain in the laboratory.

#### 8.3. Parasite Pathogenicity

Although gyrodactylids are potentially highly pathogenic (Bauer, 1988; Bakke et al., 2002; Jalali et al., 2005), little is known about resulting disease in fish populations (Cone and Odense, 1984; van Oosterhout et al., in press b). At the individual level, feeding and attachment wounds destroy the osmotic integrity of the epidermis and encourage potential secondary infections (Snieszko and Bullock, 1968; Cone and Odense, 1984; Bakke et al., 2006; see Figures 10, 13 and 23). Saprolegnia infections are occasionally associated with G. salaris-induced mortality in salmon parr (unpublished observations). However, Busch et al. (2003), who emphasised the pathogenicity of G. derjavini on rainbow trout found only weak evidence that virulence is enhanced by concomitant infection with the bacterium Flavobacterium psychrophilum. The extent to which different Gyrodactylus species are pathogenic is variable. Cone and Odense (1984) who studied the attachment site pathology of five species of Gyrodactylus, observed that only G. salmonis appeared to cause extensive fin damage due to the activity of the marginal hooks deeply buried into the host epidermis. They observed few bacteria in the wounds.

The impact of *G. salaris* is clearly dependent on host size but larger salmon parr are normally killed when infrapopulations attain thousands (Mo, 1992 observed living fish with up to 12 500 *G. salaris*). Up



*Figure 23* Infected (A) Atlantic salmon tail with *Gyrodactylus salaris* and (B) a guppy with a *G. turnbulli* infection. Small immature fish of both species can harbour several hundred worms.

to  $\sim$ 5000 G. salaris per fish did not cause obvious pathology except a thickening of the epidermis in Batnfordselva salmon (Appleby et al., 1997; Bakke, personal observations), suggesting that disease tolerance, in addition to resistance, may occur in this strain. Overall, parasite-induced host death shows huge individual variability, and it is impossible to establish infection thresholds above which death is inevitable. G. maculosi may attain population sizes of up to 600 per gill chamber with no evidence of pathology (Cone and Roth, 1993), and Isancistrum may number thousands per squid without obvious mortality. By contrast, G. bullatarudis or G. turnbulli may kill guppies when only tens of parasites are present. Such differences can be apparent even on comparable hosts. G. colemanensis on Salmo gairdneri caused no pathogenicity, whereas G. salmonis on Salvelinus fontinalis was highly pathogenic (Cusack and Cone, 1986), possibly because of differences in attachment and feeding strategy (Cone and Odense, 1988; Section 2.3).

Models of gyrodactylid pathogenicity require consideration of parasite population growth rate, as host death becomes almost inevitable when the parasite population grows without check. The virulence of a gyrodactylid species or strain depends in the first place on population growth rate. For example, it is noted above (Section 7) that G. thymalli naturally has a lower population growth rate on grayling, than G. salaris does on salmon (Bakke et al., 2002; Sterud et al., 2002). Population growth rates for gyrodactylids infecting salmonids decline with age of infection and no correlation between growth rate and the intensity of infection was found (see Figure 9A and B in Bakke et al., 2002). Only hosts supporting the highest initial parasite population growth rates are likely to suffer significant mortality and pathogenicity (e.g. Bakke et al., 2002). There is a negative correlation between time to response in responding host strains and the proportion of innate resistant individuals of salmon (see Figure 13 in Bakke et al., 2002), which also suggests a link between parasite population growth rate and possible pathogenicity. The model of pathogenicity/immunity put forward by Bakke et al. (2002; Section 8.1 above) suggested that gyrodactylid infections pose a stress on the host which weakens the immune response. If the response is weakened sufficiently by rapid initial population growth, the host is more

likely to succumb. Growth rate in turn is partly intrinsic to the parasite, but is also dependent on the closeness of the adaptation of the parasite strain to the host and on individual immune status. Local adaptation of parasites and hosts is therefore likely to be important in gyrodactylid infections (Lively and Dybdahl, 2000), tempered by macroenvironmental influences on host immune status.

# 8.4. Host Specificity and Immunity: Two Sides of the Same Coin?

A paradigm in gyrodactylid research is that host specificity and immunity are closely linked. This has grown from the important studies on salmonid immunity to G. salaris and G. derjavini and is perhaps inevitable; the simplest and most informative models are unnatural interactions (e.g. G. salaris on brook trout, Arctic charr or rainbow trout, G. derjavini on rainbow trout) where the boundary between immunity and host specificity becomes blurred. Experiments with immunosuppressants (Buchmann, 1997a, b; Lindenstrøm and Buchmann, 1998; Harris et al., 2000), which rendered previously resistant host strains and species susceptible, also strongly link immunity with host specificity. Observations on immunity and specificity using these systems should be interpreted with caution. The natural host of G. derjavini is probably the brown trout, Salmo trutta, which has seldom been tested except by Bakke et al. (1999, 2002). The natural host of G. salaris is probably the Baltic race of Atlantic salmon but again only limited studies on this race has been undertaken (Bakke et al., 1990, 2002, 2004a, b; Dalgaard et al., 2003).

After successful transmission which relies on the parasite and host meeting in space and time, the physiological host specificity depends on the balance between the success of a gyrodactylid in exploiting the particular biochemical composition of the fish epidermis and the success of the fish at eliminating the parasite. Elimination may be via the host response, suggesting that host specificity is related to immunity, but the basic reason for failure is because parasites have been unable to feed properly or breed at a rate outstripping host-mediated loss. Quantifying specificity in gyrodactylids is difficult. Scott and

Anderson (1984) drew attention to the fact that gyrodactylids lie between traditional microparasites, for which a prevalence framework model is normally adequate, and macroparasite models. For macroparasites, which do not reproduce without transmission, specificity can be evaluated as establishment success (no. of adult parasites from a given inoculum) or reproductive output (no. of eggs/ parasite). Other measures, such as worm size, or number of uterine eggs, give indirect estimates of host suitability. Gyrodactylid specificity can be estimated as the number of parasites recorded after a certain period of growth from a specific inoculum size, but this omits many subtleties of the infection process. Microparasite reproductive rate is normally estimated as Fisher's  $R_0$ , the number of secondary infections arising from a single primary infection (see e.g. Anderson, 1982). This has never been calculated for gyrodactylids, and the impacts of host behaviour or environment on this parameter have never been considered. Instead, gyrodactylid host specificity has usually been considered using the following parameters:

- a) The percentage establishment of initial experimental infection;
- b) Rate of initial parasite population increase on a host, calculated as:

$$r = \frac{\ln N_t - \ln N_0}{t}$$

where r is the rate of parasite population growth,  $N_t$  the population on day t,  $N_0$  the population size on day 0, and t the time in days between census points  $(t_0-t_1)$  (e.g. Jansen and Bakke, 1991; Cable *et al.*, 2000);

c) The number of days before population growth becomes negative. Population counts give the impression of a sudden population crash, usually interpreted as activation of the host reaction (Section 8.1) leading to elimination of the parasites. Recalculation of published data for *G. salaris* indicates that the sudden overturn of the population (the "crash") follows a gradual slowing of population growth rate which begins early in the infection (Bakke *et al.*, 2002). Regression of population growth rate against infection age therefore allows estimation of the time needed for population growth to become negative.

#### THE BIOLOGY OF GYRODACTYLID MONOGENEANS

- d) The maximum time for which a host remains infected. The number of secondary infections generated is presumably proportional in some way to this period (see Soleng *et al.*, 1999a).
- e) The total reproductive output of an infection. Knowing (b), (c) and (d) above, it is possible to calculate the total number of worms produced from a single worm infecting a single fish. Although there have been no attempts to accurately calculate  $R_0$  for gyrodactylid infections on single hosts, it is felt that this is the measure which comes closest to  $R_0$  when estimating the possible contribution of a single parasite infrapopulation to the overall epidemiology of gyrodactylid infections.

### 9. ENVIRONMENTAL INTERACTIONS

In the microenvironment, host susceptibility and resistance are the main factors which control gyrodactylid occurrence (Bakke *et al.*, 1991a, b), although host species and ecology, including seasonal population dynamics are also important (Bakke *et al.*, 2002; Malmberg and Malmberg, 1993; Soleng *et al.*, 1998, 1999a; Boeger *et al.*, 2005). Experimental studies with regular introduction of naïve hosts into closed, otherwise uniform aquarium systems by Scott and Anderson (1984) and Bakke *et al.* (1991b) have revealed oscillatory parasite population dynamics with cycles of host susceptibility and refractoriness. Macroenvironmental influences may modify these cycles. The most important macroenvironmental factor is probably temperature, followed by water chemistry (e.g. Soleng and Bakke, 1997; Soleng *et al.*, 1999b; Poléo *et al.*, 2004a, b) and water quality generally (see Bauer, 1968). However, biotic macroenvironmental factors, such as micropredation, may also influence gyrodactylid population dynamics.

### 9.1. Micropredation

Gyrodactylids are large enough to be visible to fish and other visual predators and, like other ectoparasites are vulnerable to micropredation, either by conspecific hosts or other interacting organisms. This possibility was first suggested by Tyler (1963) who observed that Gyrodactylus-infected fish posed for and were cleaned by sticklebacks, and later by Lester and Adams (1974a). The transverse banding of the gut of Macrogyrodactylus species has been suggested as an antipredatory device, disrupting their outline for potential visual predators (Khalil, 1970). Harris (1982) found sticklebacks naturally support small numbers of the oligochaete worm Chaetogaster, known to feed on digenean cercariae (Khalil, 1961). However, he failed to find gyrodactylid remains within the gut of these worms, which fed instead on diatoms from the fish surface. However, on one occasion, gyrodactylid hooks were found in the faeces of a laboratory-maintained stickleback, suggesting that micropredation can occur. Several workers (Roubal and Quartararo, 1992; Whittington, 1996, 1998; Grutter, 2002; Grutter et al., 2002) have drawn attention to the potential importance of cleaner symbionts in removing monogeneans, and have described the cryptic adaptations of monogeneans to avoid this. The susceptibility of gyrodactylids to cleaner symbionts has now been demonstrated specifically between shrimps and fish. In laboratory experiments, the shrimps Palaemon adspersus and P. elegans removed more than half of a Gyrodactylus infrapopulation from plaice within 48 h (Ôstlund-Nilsson et al., 2005).

#### 9.2. Temperature

Gyrodactylids have short life spans, and low fecundity (1–5 offsprings per worm), but still have the highest reproductive rates in the Monogenea (Bychowsky, 1961), approaching those of larger micro-organisms, with doubling times in tropical species such as *G. bullatarudis* or *G. turnbulli* of less than 24 h (Turnbull, 1956; Scott, 1982). Gyrodactylids are sensitive to environmental temperature because growth rates depend not upon fecundity but upon rate of embryo development. Reproductive rate at different temperatures has been examined in *G. gasterostei* (see Harris, 1982) and in *G. salaris* (see Jansen and Bakke, 1991). In the latter, generation time and time between successive births were negatively correlated with temperature; reproductive rate increased with increasing temperature. In *G. turnbulli* (see Scott and Nokes, 1984), reproductive output also increased with temperature up to 27.5°C. This study is however difficult to compare with Scott (1982), because raw data on the timings of births was not presented, and reproductive rate is compounded of embryo developmental and survivorship. At 30°C, reproductive rate fell, because insufficient worms survived to give birth more than once. Scott and Nokes (1984) note that the relative timing of the births changes with temperature as well, so that the interval between subsequent births is temperature sensitive. Harris (1998) employed degree days to analyse reproduction in *G. gasterostei*, finding that the number of degree days needed for development declined slightly with increasing temperature. This may explain the relationship between the size of the hard parts of gyrodactylids and environmental temperature: as temperature increases the number of degree days needed for full development declines and, therefore, hooks do not attain the size they would reach at lower temperatures.

Environmental temperature also impacts upon gyrodactylid survival, low temperature extending life span both on (e.g. Lester and Adams, 1974a, b; Scott and Nokes, 1984; Jansen and Bakke, 1991; Andersen and Buchmann, 1998) and off the host (Olstad et al., 2006). Cable et al. (2002b) showed that survival of detached G. gasterostei is temperature dependent with a maximum of 101 h at 4°C but only 67 h at 15°C. G. salaris (see Jansen and Bakke, 1991; Olstad et al., 2005, 2006) had a maximum survival of 60 h at 3°C, declining to 27 h at 18°C. Temperature may also influence transmission, which in G. salaris on salmon is positively correlated with temperature (range 1.2-12.2°C) during single host-to-host contacts (Soleng et al., 1999a). In G. salaris, although survival declined as temperature increased, this was more than compensated by the increase in reproductive rate (Jansen and Bakke, 1991). These changes in reproductive rate and survival have an impact on gyrodactylid population structure, with sub-optimal survival at high temperature characterised by a high proportion of asexual first births in the population. At lower temperatures, when survival is optimal, worms may survive long enough to reproduce sexually. This was noticed by Harris (1993), who showed that the proportion of new-born individuals in G. gasterostei populations could transiently rise to more than 60% of the total population, whereas the stable age structure would predict  $\sim 40\%$ . These transient events, leading to clonal reproduction in the parasite population, are probably triggered by short-term changes in weather.

Temperature may also influence the host immune response. Immunity is normally enhanced at high temperatures, as reaction rates of complex proteins such as the complement cascade increase. Gyrodactylid populations may therefore cycle faster on hosts at higher temperatures, and not reach such large sizes. However, it has never been critically established whether the failure of gyrodactylid populations to grow large at high temperatures is due to the host response, or simply to the reduction in survival attendant on high temperature. Gelnar (1991) noted that water temperature markedly affected the growth rate of laboratory populations of G. gobiensis on gudgeon. At 12°C, the intensity of G. gobiensis gradually increased, reaching a maximum significantly later and at a larger size than at 18°C; populations subsequently declined at both temperatures. A similar phenomenon was noted when temperature was gradually increased or decreased. A field study of G. rhodei on bitterling (Rhodeus sericeus) demonstrated that both prevalences and intensity of infection increased in autumn and winter months when water temperature decreased (Dávidová et al., 2005). By contrast, G. katharineri and G. rutilensis, parasitising carp fry and dace respectively, may be more thermophilic, as populations grew faster at higher water temperatures (Gelnar, 1987a, 1990). Anthony (1969) suggested that temperature may have different effects at different sites as skin parasites were more sensitive to temperature changes than gill parasites. However, a more likely explanation is that parasites in different sites were different species (see also Section 3.2).

Seasonal variations in gyrodactylid abundance are frequently attributed to environmental temperature (see review by Chubb, 1977). Such studies have generally formed part of Ph.D. theses and therefore focus on American and European north temperate species, mainly infecting small, experimentally convenient hosts such as sticklebacks. There are no tropical studies, and no studies outside America or northern Eurasia. Apart from the normal concerns over taxonomy, the biggest drawback to such studies is their restriction to a study period of 3 years or less. Gyrodactylid population dynamics are unstable (Scott and Anderson, 1984) and oscillate even when external conditions are held constant (Scott and Anderson, 1984; Bakke et al., 1991b). Longer studies are therefore needed to gain definitive insights into seasonal processes. There is also, in some studies, a danger that samples are taken too far apart. Because of their high reproductive rate and rapid temperature response, samples taken once per week or once per fortnight are necessary for accurate monitoring, and less intensive sampling reduces confidence in the results. For many north temperate freshwater gyrodactylids, between latitudes 30°N and 70°N, populations remain small through the winter, growing rapidly to form epidemics in spring, before almost disappearing in summer. There may then be a second peak of abundance as water temperature declines in autumn. This is seen in G. katharineri on carp in Slovakia (Hanzelová and Zitnan, 1982), for G. aphyae, G. macronychus and G. magnificus infecting minnows in the Kola Peninsula (Shulman, 1977), for G. arcuatus on sticklebacks in Poland (Morozinska-Gogol, 2002) and in America for "G. elegans" infecting Notemigonus crysoleucas in Illinois (Parker, 1965) and for species on Fundulus [principally G. (Fundulotrema) prolongis] in Connecticut (Barkman and James, 1979). The same pattern has also been seen in one study from a warmer environment; Rawson and Rogers (1973) noted a spring and autumn peak in abundance for G. macrochiri from both Lepomis macrochirus and Micropterus salmioides in Alabama, where summer water temperature can exceed 30°C. By contrast, Aydogdu (2006), working in Turkey, found G. carassi abundance directly correlated with temperature, with no evidence of high temperatures inhibiting parasite population growth. In some cases, for example, G. stephanus infecting Fundulus within the cold environment of Newfoundland, populations decline throughout the cold winter to a springtime low, and then increase slowly through summer to peak in late summer/early autumn (Dickinson and Threlfall, 1975). This might be an example of low temperature inhibiting gyrodactylid re-

production so much that populations fail to trigger a host immune response before temperatures start to fall again at the end of summer.

An interesting series of seasonal studies relate to the gyrodactylids of intertidal marine fishes. Srivastrava and James (1967) found that "*G. medius*" (not *G. medius* but an undescribed species; see Harris *et al.*, 2004) on rockling (*Onos mustela*) was most abundant in early spring,

declining sharply in July through the autumn period. A negative correlation between the occurrence of *Gyrodactylus pterygialis* and temperature was also observed by Hodneland and Nilsen (1994) in a Norwegian fiord. This decline occurred during the warmest part of the year, again suggesting that this gyrodactylid is either adversely affected directly by summer temperatures, or because the host immune system is more efficient at high temperature (Jansen and Bakke, 1993a). Appleby (1996a), working with gyrodactylids of *Pomatoschistus* in Norway, observed a similar pattern. In a similar study of gyrodactylids of cod, Appleby (1996b) noted some evidence of a bimodal distribution, but it was very clear that gyrodactylid abundance was greatest in the summer period. Similarly, Kamiso and Olson (1986) found that prevalence of *G. stellatus* infecting English sole was unimodal, reaching a maximum in June and declining to a minimum in October.

A final aspect of temperature and seasonality which can affect gyrodactylid epidemiology is the effect on the seasonal biology of the fish. Sticklebacks in southern England, have an annual life cycle, spawning in the summer following hatching. This places a major constraint on gyrodactylid biology, as parasites must transmit between generations during a few weeks in midsummer, giving an apparent midsummer drop in abundance (Chappell, 1969; Harris, 1982). Similarly, salmon in cold oligotrophic streams in North Norway may require 5 years before smoltification, leading to stratification of the parr population in the river and simple transmission between age groups. In southern England and France, on the other hand, smoltification occurs in the summer following hatching. If the river lacks a permanent parr population, it might be assumed that G. salaris would be unable to survive permanently. Similarly, in winter at low temperatures salmon parr remain deeper within the interstitial environment at the bottom of rivers, presenting different conditions for the parasite population and offering new opportunities for transmission compared to when these fish are feeding actively in the water column. In these ways, the basic reproductive rate of gyrodactylid infections may be modified in ways which cannot be predicted by a simple understanding of temperature relationships. Complications of this sort influence many of the seasonal studies which have been undertaken, but were not considered or explained by the authors. For example, Srivastrava

and James (1967) found an apparent midsummer decline in the abundance of gyrodactylids on rockling which correlated exactly with the migration of the new cohort of rockling onto the shore. If these fish were uninfected, this would depress gyrodactylid abundance significantly. Similarly, MacKenzie's (1970) study of G. unicopula on plaice is sometimes cited as an example of seasonal patterns in gyrodactylid abundance. However, MacKenzie (1970) followed a single cohort of hosts through their first 2 years of life; the steady increase in abundance through the first winter was probably due to epidemic spread of the parasite through a naïve host population, while the contradictory decline in the second winter may have been due to elimination from the now immunocompetent hosts. The most extreme example of the role of host biology perhaps is that of G. katharineri infecting Varicorhinus steindachneri in warm springs with a constant temperature (18–20°C). These parasites exhibited a seasonal cycle, despite the constancy of water temperature (Daniyarov, 1975). The confounding effects of temperature and seasonality on host behaviour and ecology may be very important in understanding gyrodactylid seasonal dynamics.

The seasonal dynamics of G. salaris on different salmon cohorts has been studied in detail in five Norwegian river systems: the Vefsna (Johnsen and Jensen, 1988) and Lakselva (Johnsen and Jensen, 1992; Johnsen et al., 2004) in North Norway, Lierelva in southeastern Norway, both naturally (Jansen and Bakke, 1993a) and in field experiments (Jansen and Bakke, 1993b), and Lærdalselva (Johnsen and Jensen, 1997) and Batnfjordelva in western Norway (Mo, 1992; Appleby and Mo, 1997). In addition, yearly surveillance data are collected (see Johnsen et al., 1999). These studies demonstrate a marked seasonality in occurrence, with a spring increase in parasite abundance, peaking in late summer or autumn, followed by a decline throughout winter and early spring when temperatures are close to 0°C. Both geographical and year-to-year differences occur, and the epidemiological mechanisms and external factors controlling the abundance of G. salaris remain largely unknown. In Batnfjordselva (Mo, 1992), peak abundance occurred in the late summer (July, August, September) followed by a decline through mid winter and early spring. In one year, there was a small peak in March and April,

suggesting a bimodal pattern. Mo (1997) saw a similar unimodal pattern in *G. derjavini* on brown trout, peaking in July and August, and declining to a minimum in mid-winter. Transfer of *G. derjavini* onto salmon was most obvious during the midsummer peaks. Jansen and Bakke (1993a, b) on the other hand, working in the slightly warmer southeastern Lierelva river system, saw a pattern closer to the classic bimodal spring and autumn peak. The increase in spring was almost perfectly correlated with water temperature, but the decline in late summer was not related to temperature and may have been due to either immunity or parasite-induced host mortality. *G. salaris* is probably cold-adapted (Malmberg, 1973, 1988), but the discovery of large-scale interspecific genetic variation in this species (Hansen *et al.*, 2003; Meinilä *et al.*, 2004) raises questions about the potential of biological differences between *G. salaris* clades and haplotypes in relation to their temperature optima.

### 9.3. Salinity and Water Chemistry

Gyrodactylus species occur in freshwater, brackish and marine environments, but relatively few species are euryhaline. G. arcuatus is euryhaline (Malmberg, 1970), occurring in natural environments ranging from full seawater down to fairly acid soft water in montane lakes and streams. Molecular evidence suggests that all of these forms of G. arcuatus belong to a single panmictic species (Zietara and Lumme, 2002, 2003, 2004; Cable and Harris, unpublished), and laboratory populations of this parasite derived from freshwater can tolerate seawater with minimal adaptation (Harris, unpublished). Apart from this, only G. salaris has been extensively tested for salinity tolerance (Soleng and Bakke, 1997; Soleng et al., 1998). In this species, population growth increased at 5.0% salinity at 12°C, but at 7.5% salinity the population declined to extinction after 56 days, and at 20% salinity, survival was restricted to 12 h. Salinity tolerance was found to be significantly temperature dependent (Soleng et al., 1998). These results suggest that G. salaris is a freshwater species, albeit able to survive high salinities for short periods. The salinity tolerance of G. derjavini was tested by Buchmann (1997b) who stressed that G. derjavini seems less euryhaline than G. salaris. Parasites in 5% NaCl at 11°C survived only 4 days, in contrast to Soleng and Bakke (1997) who found that G. salaris survived more than a month (56 days) in 7.5‰ salinity at a comparable temperature. However, as Buchmann (1997b) used dilutions of sodium chloride, rather than of natural seawater, his results require confirmation.

Until recently, other parameters of water chemistry had not been studied. Anecdotally, many freshwater species are difficult to culture in soft water, and Malmberg (1970) alluded to the lack of gyrodactylids in water bodies stained with humic acids. This suggests that gyrodactylid diversity may be reduced in soft water. Following these observations, Soleng et al. (1999b) conducted the first experiments testing gyrodactylid survival in soft water and in dilute aluminium solutions (Figure 24). This metal is a frequent contaminant of acidified watercourses in northern Europe as it is leached out of soil and ground rocks. A combination of acidified water and aqueous aluminium (Al) had the most pronounced effects, eliminating G. salaris after 4 days at 202 µg Al/l without killing the salmon. The effect was dependent on Al concentration but relatively independent of pH, except at the lowest pH when the effect of Al was enhanced. Acidified water also impaired parasite survival in the absence of metal ions, and at pH 5.0, G. salaris was eliminated within 9 days (Figure 24). Similar results have been obtained with Al ions on the survival of G. derjavini from trout (Pettersen et al., 2006). These results were confirmed by Poléo et al. (2004a) who went on to test the effect of other metal ions on survival. These are rarely found naturally, but are frequently a consequence of human pollution. They may however reach high concentrations in watercourses flowing through metalliferous substrates, such as the serpentine soils of South West England. Poléo et al. (2004a) found zinc (Zn) to be effective in controlling G. salaris without any apparent influence on salmon. Other heavy metals, including iron (Fe), copper (Cu) and manganese (Mn), had no effect, except at the highest Cu concentrations (Poléo et al., 2004a). The mechanism behind the effect of aluminium on G. salaris is unknown, but could be direct (hypoxy-hypothesis) or indirect through the fish skin (repellent hypothesis) on the parasite (Soleng et al., 1997). Gheorghiu et al. (2007), studying the effects of waterborne zinc on G. turnbulli in vitro



and on isolated guppies, found that concentrations of  $120 \,\mu g \, Zn/l$  are directly toxic to the parasite, and they hypothesised that the host response against *G. turnbulli* may be impaired by high Zn concentrations. The different ecology of the gyrodactylids needs to be considered in evaluating these studies. *G. salaris* infects a host which predominantly inhabits soft-water areas with high water flow, low temperature and minimal human-mediated pollution. *G. turnbulli* is a tropical species inhabiting montane streams, which may also be oligotrophic. The parasite does extend into lowland areas where pollution may be significant (Harris and Lyles, 1992; Cable *et al.*, unpublished). These studies emphasise the importance of a basic knowledge of environmental factors in order to understand population dynamics, range extension and dispersal of gyrodactylids, and have formed the basis of new control strategies. Al is now being used for large-scale control of *G. salaris* in the field (see Section 10.3 below).

# 9.4. Pollution and Water Quality

Pollutants may directly impact upon the population dynamics, distribution and dispersal of fish ectoparasites (e.g. Møller, 1985, 1987; Khan and Thulin, 1991; Koskivaara, 1992; Poulin, 1992; Overstreet, 1993). Lately, focus is shifting towards the study of chronic exposure to sublethal concentrations not previously considered to have an important effect on fish (Poulin, 1992; Dusek *et al.*, 1998). Because ectoparasites such as gyrodactylids are easily observed, they can be important indicators of host health, reflecting water quality. Monitoring gyrodactylid epidemiology in chronic toxicity tests and in

*Figure 24* Course of infection of *Gyrodactylus salaris* on Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) parr (n = 15 in each exposure tank at day 0) at 12°C. (A) ( $\blacksquare$ ) Untreated control water at pH 6.4; ( $\bigcirc$ ) acidified Al-poor water at pH 5.6; ( $\bullet$ ) acidified Al-enriched water at pH 5.6, 106 µg Al/l. (B) ( $\blacksquare$ ) Untreated control water at pH 6.4; ( $\bigcirc$ ) acidified Al-poor water at pH 5.2; ( $\bullet$ ) acidified Al-enriched water at pH 5.0; ( $\blacksquare$ ) Untreated control water at pH 5.2, 93 µg Al/l. (C) ( $\blacksquare$ ) Untreated control water at pH 5.2, 93 µg Al/l. (C) ( $\blacksquare$ ) Untreated control water at pH 6.4; ( $\bigcirc$ ) acidified Al-poor water at pH 5.0; ( $\bullet$ ) acidified Al-enriched water at pH 5.0, 92 µg Al/l. Bars = standard error of the arithmetic mean. Note log<sub>10</sub> scale. [Reproduced from Soleng *et al.* (1999b) with permission of Cambridge University Press.]

polluted areas is an area of potential interest which has so far been largely neglected (see Poulin, 1992a). The impact of environmental factors on gyrodactylid communities has been stressed by Malmberg (1957, 1964, 1970) who indicated that many factors including water chemistry, salinity, and water temperature could influence the occurrence and spread of gyrodactylids. Few studies have considered these interactions, but Koskivaara *et al.* (1991) demonstrated a correlation between gyrodactylid diversity on roach and water quality (see Koskivaara, 1992). The effect of liming strategies to reduce acidification in southern Norway and the West coast of Sweden (Alenäs, 1995), may have inadvertently influence both the potential for gyrodactylid colonisation or level of infection, directly or via interactions with aluminium and pH (Soleng *et al.*, 1999b; Poléo *et al.*, 2004a, b; Soleng *et al.*, 2005).

#### Part 4. Applied biology of the Gyrodactylus salaris epidemic

# 10. THE GYRODACTYLUS SALARIS EPIDEMIC IN NORWAY: IMPLICATIONS FOR OTHER COUNTRIES

### 10.1. History

The first gyrodactylid described from a Scandinavian salmonid was collected from the Hölle laboratory (now Hölleforsens Laxodling, Indalsälv, Sweden) in 1952, and later described (Malmberg, 1957) as *G. salaris* (syntype later redescribed by Ergens, 1983) (Malmberg *et al.*, 1994). In Norway, *G. salaris* was first observed in 1975, following heavy salmon mortality at the Akvaforsk fish hatchery in Sunndalsøra, Møre and Romsdal County (Bergsjö and Vassvik, 1977; Tanum, 1983; Malmberg, 1989). In this year, the parasite was recorded for the first time from wild salmon parr in the Lakselva and Ranaelva (Nordland County, North-Norway). A significant reduction of salmon parr (but not brown trout) density was noted over the next 3 years in Lakselva (Johnsen, 1978). The epidemic was originally thought to be related to environmental pollution, as agricultural and domestic pollutants entered the river and the river bed was overgrown

with algae (Johnsen, 1978), and it was assumed that *G. salaris* occurred naturally in Norway (Johnsen and Jensen, 2003). However, over the next 20 years evidence accumulated that *G. salaris* had been introduced, probably from Sweden (Heggberget and Johnsen, 1982; Tanum, 1983; Johnsen and Jensen, 1986, 1991; Mo, 1994) and that Norwegian salmon were especially susceptible to this invader.

The discovery of four new infected rivers including some in the mid- and west of Norway (cf. Heggberget and Johnsen, 1982), led to the establishment of a "Gyrodactylus committee" to assess the problem, and a surveillance program to track the spread of the parasite. These studies recognised G. salaris as a serious threat to Atlantic salmon in Norway, with dramatic declines in salmon parr density in infected rivers, followed after a few years by declines in catches of returning adults by sports fishermen (Johnsen and Jensen, 1991; Mo, 1994; Johnsen et al., 1999; Mo et al., 2004). The committee concluded in 1982 that G. salaris was non-indigenous, probably newly established, spread via hatcheries, restocking and subsequently fish migration in estuaries. Few infected parr survived to the smolt stage, implying that production of adult salmon in infected rivers was strongly threatened. Gyrodactylosis on salmon was declared a notifiable disease (Group B) in Norway in 1983, and recognised a significant fish disease by the Office International des Epizooties (OIE) (Anonymous, 2002a).

Johnsen and Jensen (1986) grouped the 26 rivers then known to be infected into 14 regions. They demonstrated a close correlation between the distribution of *G. salaris* and the stocking of fish from infected hatcheries. Between 1982 and 2003, 23 new river systems were identified as infected, at a rate of 0-3 new rivers per year (Jansen *et al.*, 2005). Updated records of the parasite (Autumn 2006) and the actions taken in the rivers infected in Norway are summarised in Figure 25 (which is Plate 3.25 in the separate Colour Plate Section) and Table 2.

Brackish water dispersal has been most important in spreading the parasite (24 river systems), followed by restocking from known infected hatcheries (nine rivers). Dispersal from infected hatcheries into nearby watercourses with escaped salmonids probably accounted for seven river systems, while the origin of infection in four other river

Infected salmon rivers	Year of 1st observation	Year of chemical treatment	Status
Lakselva	1975	1990	Exterminated 1995
Ranaelva	1975	2003/2004	Uncertain status
Vefsna	1978		Infected
Skibotnelva	1979	1988, 1995	Infected
Røssåga	1980	2003/2004	Uncertain status
Bjerka	1980	2003/2004	Uncertain status
Drevja	1980		Infected
Fusta	1980		Infected
Steinkjervassdraget	1980	1993, 2001/2002,	
		2005, 2006/2007*	Uncertain status
Figga	1980	1993, 2001/2002,	
00		2005, 2006/2007*	Uncertain status
Batnfiordelva	1980	1994, 2004*	Infected
Driva	1980		Infected
Usma	1980		Infected
Rauma/Istra	1980	1993	Infected
Henselva	1980	1993	Infected
Valldalselva	1980	1990	Exterminated 1994
Bejarelva	1981	1994	Exterminated 2001
Litledalselva	1981		Infected
Tafiordelva	1981	1987	Exterminated 1990
Norddalselva	1981	1990	Exterminated 1994
Eidsdalselva	1981	1990	Exterminated 1994
Vikia	1981	1981/1982	Exterminated 1986
Skorga	1982	1993	Infected
Aureelva	1984	1988	Exterminated 1992
Vikelva	1984	1988	Exterminated 1992
Måna	1985	1993	Exterminated 1989
Korsbrekkelva	1985	1986	Exterminated 1990
Bævra	1986	1989	Exterminated 1994
Drammenselva	1987	1909	Infected
Lierelya	1987		Infected
Vulluelva	1988	1988	Exterminated 1997
Langsteinelva	1988	1988	Exterminated 1997
Sannaelva	1989	2004	Uncertain status
Bardalselva	1989	2004	Uncertain status
Storelya	1989	1991	Exterminated 1994
Innfiordelva	1991	1993	Infected
Hundåla	1992	1995	Infected
Slettenelva	1992	2004	Uncertain status
Leirelya	1996	1996 2004 2006	Uncertain status
Lærdaleelva	1996	1997 2005/2006*	Uncertain status
Signaldalselva	2000	1997, 2003/2000	Infected
Lundselva	2000	2002 2005	Uncertain status
Halsanelva	2002	2002, 2003	Infected
Hestdalselva	2002	2003	Infected
Sandeelva	2002	2005	Infected
Ranelva	2005	2006	Uncertain status
ixanoiva	2000	2000	Shoertain status

*Table 2 Gyrodactylus salaris* infected rivers in Norway, the years of first observation and the years of extermination of the parasite by use of rote-none or aluminium\* and the infection status per August 2006

309 systems is unknown. One river system was inadvertently infected via a

fish transport (Jansen et al., 2005). Norwegian salmon authorities were quick to introduce active measures to combat the epidemic, favouring the ATPase inhibitor, rotenone to kill the fish, and hence the parasite, in infected rivers (Mehli and Dolmen, 1986). Subsequent discovery of the parasite in additional river systems led to an action plan for G. salaris eradication (Dolmen and Mehli, 1988), a plan later revised for 1995-1999. In addition, a comprehensive report by the Wild Salmon Committee, established in 1997 (Anonymous, 1999) highlighted reasons for the decline in the Norwegian wild salmon populations and suggested control measures. The Committee's conclusions gained wide political support from The Ministry of the Environment (St.meld. nr. 8, 1999-2000, "Regjeringens miljøvernpolitikk og rikets miljøtilstand") which with the Committee plan (Anonymous, 1999) and previous drafts for action plans, formed the basis for the present action plan (Anonymous, 2000). In 2002, following direct commission from the Ministry of Environment, a plan for drastic action was developed by the Directorate for Nature Management (DN) and The Norwegian Animal Health Authority (SDT) which led to the official initiative for rotenone treatment of infected river courses (Anonymous, 2002b). This plan, based on the costbenefit analysis of Krokan and Mørkved (1994), presented detailed information on disease prevention (e.g. disinfection of equipment, physical barriers for preventing fish migration and rotenone treatment) in each of the eight currently infected regions, with a priority list and a "cost-use" analysis. The priorities for action and research/ developmental activities were assessed based on the threat of further disease spread within or outside of the infected region, the biological and economical value of the salmon stock in question, the infection status of other salmon rivers in the region, the possibility of eliminating the parasite from all rivers in the region, the local support of stakeholders for treatment, the probability of re-infection and the need for long-lived obstructions within rivers. Because several rivers have been re-infected shortly after treatment (Figure 25; Table 2) the methods for extermination of G. salaris have been revised and improved (Haukebø et al., 2000). Risk assessments for inter-river transmission or introduction into Norway (Anonymous, 1996;
Paisley *et al.*, 1999; Brun and Høgåsen, 2003; Høgåsen and Brun, 2003; Jansen *et al.*, 2005) and the North Calotte Region (Brørs, 2002) have also been undertaken. Recently (2001), a Gyromet project was established to develop a methodology using acidified aluminium to exterminate the parasite (see Section 9.3).

In the following account, we assess the current status of G. salaris within Europe, and then present an updated description of the distribution of G. salaris and the management initiatives to combat the parasite within Norway.

#### 10.2. The Status of G. salaris within the EU

*G. salaris* has been recorded from eight EU member states, although records from wild fish in France and the Iberian Peninsula (Spain, Andorra and Portugal) should be considered doubtful due to confusion with *G. teuchis*. Early German records may also be doubtful. It is worth pointing out that only Norway, Sweden, Iceland, the Faeroes, the UK and Eire contain substantial stocks of salmon within the European Economic area, or contain significant wild populations. France and Spain and the Baltic States contain small, threatened populations of salmon, while plans to return salmon to the Meuse and Rhine would reintroduce the fish to central European states such as Germany, Belgium and Luxembourg. In most European states, the primary host of *G. salaris* is rainbow trout. Translocations of this host, either deliberate or as escapees, present the greatest threat of dissemination of *G. salaris*.

*Sweden*: Some clades of *G. salaris* from the Baltic-draining Indals älv (Malmberg, 1957) are native to Sweden, where the parasite is generally not a serious pathogen. *G. salaris* became well known in salmon and rainbow trout hatcheries from the mid-1970s onwards in both Baltic and Atlantic watersheds, and could survive for years on rainbow trout (Malmberg and Malmberg, 1987, 1991). No *G. salaris* epidemic is known from the infected Swedish Baltic river systems, Torne älv, Vindelälv and Mörrumsån (Malmberg, 2004). However, 11 rivers of the Swedish West coast, draining into the Kattegat and Skagerak and supporting populations of the East Atlantic salmon race, are now infected. The parasite was first recorded in the Säveån (a tributary of the Göte älv) in 1989–1991, but it now seems to have disappeared from this river (Malmberg, 2004). Prior to this, there had been no evidence for parasite-induced mortality of salmon parr in Sweden (Malmberg, 1988), but subsequently, high parasite intensities ( $\sim$ 1700 per fish) were observed combined with an average decrease in salmon parr density of 90% (Alenäs, 1998; Alenäs et al., 1998). On the Swedish West coast, salmon stocks that co-exist with G. salaris range from those without obvious fish mortality to those experiencing population decline (Malmberg, 1998). However, in spite of the fact that smolt and precocious males exhibit relatively high infections, especially in Högvadsån (River Âtran system), G. salaris is said not to cause problems in Swedish rivers (Malmberg, 2004). Epidemics on the Swedish West coast have not followed the same pattern as that in Norway, and the epidemiology of *G. salaris* in this area would repay closer investigation. The dispersal of G. salaris is probably also a result of the spread of infected rainbow trout, as escaped fish from farms in Lake Bullaren on the west coast have been found infected with G. salaris (see Malmberg, 2004). The introduction of the parasite to the Swedish West Coast has also proved to be more complicated than originally thought as Hansen et al. (2003) demonstrated the presence of different G. salaris clades in different rivers. Neither parasite pathogenicity nor host susceptibility can be assumed a priori, but must be experimentally tested.

**Finland**: G. salaris probably has a long history in Finland on salmon, as it shares the infected Torne älv along the border with Sweden and the Russian Neva stock has been heavily used for restocked purposes. After the first record of the parasite in Finland in 1984 (Rintamäki, 1989), the parasite has been found in  $\sim 40\%$  of rainbow trout and salmon fish farms (Rimaila-Pärnänen and Wiklund, 1987) in northern Finland, including one farm in brackish water, one rainbow trout hatchery in Lake Inari (River Paatsjoki system) and others within the drainage area of Finnish rivers (Malmberg and Malmberg, 1991; Keränen *et al.*, 1992; Aalto and Rahkonen, 1994; Koski and Malmberg, 1995; Koski, 1996; Rintamäki-Kinnunen and Valtonen, 1996). There have been no reports of G. salaris epidemics on wild salmon in Finland, which are supposedly resistant to the parasite

(Keränen *et al.*, 1992; Aalto and Rahkonen, 1994; Rintamäki-Kinnunen and Valtonen, 1996). However, *G. salaris* can cause serious problems in Finnish fish farms (Malmberg, 2004). *G. salaris* occurs in the Kierettijoki River which flows into the White Sea, and the Rivers Teno and Näätämöjoki, flowing to the Arctic Ocean, are at risk (Aalto and Rahakonen, 1994).

**Denmark:** Salmonids (salmon, brown trout and rainbow trout) from ponds and fish farms in Denmark, are generally infected with G. salaris, G. derjavini, G. teuchis and G. truttae (Malmberg, 1973; Buchmann and Bresciani, 1997; Buchmann et al., 2000; Nielsen and Buchmann, 2001; Buchmann, 2005). G. truttae [described by Gläser (1974) from Salmo trutta (see Ergens, 1992b)] has not been recorded from Sweden, Finland or Norway but occurs frequently south of the Baltic (Poland, Denmark, Germany, Czech Republic, Slovakia and UK). G. teuchis also occurs in France and Scotland, and G. derjavini is widely distributed in Europe. Only G. salaris and G. derjavini were found on farmed rainbow trout in Denmark (Buchmann et al., 2000). The situation under natural conditions in Denmark is complicated by the presence of G. teuchis on wild salmon and rainbow trout escapees, in addition to G. salaris variants which infect rainbow trout but exhibit low pathogenicity to salmon (Buchmann et al., 2000; Lindenstrøm et al., 2003a; Jørgensen et al., 2006). No G. salaris epidemics on wild salmon have been reported in Denmark (Jørgensen et al., 2006), possibly because the rainbow trout variants of G. salaris (see Lindenstrøm et al., 2003a; Jørgensen et al., 2006) do not readily reproduce on salmon, or it may be due to the general scarcity of wild salmon in Danish watersheds.

*Italy*: The recent molecular confirmation of *G. salaris* on rainbow trout in Northern Italy (H. Hansen and A.P. Shinn, personal communication) indicates that the parasite has probably now spread widely throughout Europe with the rainbow trout trade.

*Germany*: Lux (1990) recovered *G. salaris* for the first time in Germany and reported infections in 70% of rainbow trout farms (intensity <40 per fish). However, these observations should be considered doubtful pending molecular analysis, which is urgently needed.

UK, Northern Ireland and Eire: G. salaris was not observed in the UK by Shinn et al. (1995b) despite extensive screening of several

species of salmonid, and it has not been found subsequently as part of routine screening by fish health authorities. Although *G. thymalli* is present in England (Denham and Longshaw, 1989; Hansen *et al.*, 2007), *G. salaris*-like clades appears absent.

**France**: The first report of *G. salaris* in France was based on heavily infected farmed rainbow trout examined in Oulu, Finland, during an EU Workshop on *G. salaris* (see Johnston *et al.*, 1996). This record was subsequently assumed to be a misidentification due to confusion with *G. teuchis* (Lautraite *et al.*, 1999; Cunningham *et al.*, 2001). During their comprehensive sampling, Lautraite *et al.* (1999) did not find *G. salaris* in Brittany (10 sampling sites from seven main salmon rivers and three restocking farms) or the Western Pyrénées (eight sampling sites from six main salmon rivers and one restocking farm) which are the main French water basins harbouring wild Atlantic salmon populations. Colonisation by *G. salaris* would be expected if the parasite was present in France. *G. derjavini*, in contrast, was frequently recorded on salmon in the area (Lautraite *et al.*, 1999). However, the complete absence of *G. salaris* in rainbow trout hatcheries and farms in France awaits confirmation.

**Portugal and Spain**: If the records of *G. salaris* in France are incorrect (Lautraite *et al.*, 1999), Johnston *et al.*'s (1996) report of *G. salaris* in Portugal also needs to be confirmed. In Eiras' (1999) studies on rainbow trout and brown trout in several trout farms belonging to different hydrographic basins in Portugal, no *G. salaris* was observed. Johnston *et al.*'s (1996) record may represent *G. teuchis*, but this needs clarification.

**The Czech Republic**: *G. salaris* is probably absent from the Czech Republic. However, the discovery of *G. bohemicus* by Ergens (1992a) in a rainbow trout and brook trout farm, and the close resemblance of this species to both *G. thymalli* and to the rainbow trout variant of *G. salaris* (see Lindenstrøm *et al.*, 2003a, b) does suggest that further studies to establish absence would be worthwhile.

The status of G. salaris in areas bordering the EU: Outside the EU, G. salaris is abundant in the Kola Peninsula, Russian Federation, abutting northern Finland. There are however records of G. salaris from elsewhere in the Russian Federation, including from Black Sea drainages.

The Kola Peninsula: The first record of *G. salaris* in the River Keret (draining into the White Sea) dates from 1992 when it was probably introduced with stocked fish from the Ladoga-Onega region (Ieshko *et al.*, 1995). According to Meinilä *et al.* (2004), infection has been traced to a helicopter-carried canvas bag used to transport salmon parr around Lake Onega and, in the same day, from another hatchery. An epidemic of *G. salaris* has been reported for this river, with a significant reduction in salmon parr density (see Johnsen *et al.*, 1999).

*Karelia*: *G. salaris* has been observed on parr from Lake Ladoga (Ergens, 1983) and in rivers entering Lakes Onega and Ladoga (Ieshko *et al.*, 1996). Prevalence and intensity of infection are reported to be low and no epidemics have been observed (Shulman *et al.*, 2000, 2005). At least some Karelian populations appear to be cold-adapted (Shulman *et al.*, 2005).

*Ukraine and Georgia*: *G. salaris* was reported on brown trout (*Salmo trutta fario*) in the River Seret, a tributary of the River Dnestr draining into the Black Sea (Malmberg, 1988), and was reported common on rainbow trout in two areas draining to the Black Sea, the River Pliva and the Jezero fish farm (Žitňan and Čankovič, 1970). Although outside the normal geographical range, these records are considered valid.

**Bosnia Herzegovina**: Žitňan and Čankovič (1970) recorded *G. salaris* from rainbow trout from the Adriatic coast (River Buna and the fish farm Blagaj) of Bosnia Herzegovina. Rainbow trout were widespread and *G. salaris* was common. Although far from the normal range of *G. salaris*, this record is normally considered valid.

#### 10.3. The Current Status of G. salaris in Norway

Among the 24 identified *Gyrodactylus* species from freshwater fish in Norway (Sterud, 1999), only *G. salaris* has proved a serious threat to wild salmon (Bakke and Harris, 1998; Mo, 2004). Losses in 1984 were estimated at 520 tonnes (Johnsen and Jensen, 1986), equivalent to 25% of the total salmon catch (Egidius *et al.*, 1991). In 14 rivers, the average density of salmon parr and adults was reduced by more than 85% (Johnsen *et al.*, 1999; Johnsen and Jensen, 2003). The parasite has exterminated salmon in six rivers and threatens populations in 34 other rivers. In some infected rivers (Skibotnelva, Røssåga and Vefsna), the relative abundance of salmon/trout hybrids has dramatically increased (by more than 50%), presumably because of the greater resistance of hybrids to G. salaris (see Bakke et al., 1999; Johnsen et al., 2004). Currently, annual loss due to G. salaris infections is estimated at 250-500 tonnes of salmon, approximately 15-20% of the natural smolt production (Anonymous, 1999). However, the economic cost of G. salaris is twofold: the loss in potential economic output and the direct cost of combating invasions. In Norway, the annual loss in lost fisheries, tourism etc. is calculated to be around USD 34 million per year, with a further expense of  $\sim$ USD 23 million in surveillance and eradication. Since introduction 30 years ago, the parasite is estimated to have cost a total of USD 450-600 million (Directorate for Natural Resources, May 2002), without including indirect costs due to restrictions on the export of live salmonids within the EU, or the costs of surveillance and control in other countries within (e.g. Scotland) or outside (e.g. the Russian Federation) the EU. Without control measures, G. salaris would have reduced the Norwegian salmon fishery by at least 15% (Johnsen et al., 1999; Johnsen and Jensen, 2003).

To date, 46 out of 379 salmon rivers and 39 farms (13 coastal salmon hatcheries/farms and 26 rainbow trout hatcheries/farms in Southern Norway) have been infected since in Norway since 1975 (Mo et al., 2004; Mo and Nordheim, 2005, unpublished). Eradication using rotenone or acidified aluminium treatment has been attempted in 35 rivers, but of August 2006, 19 remain infected, 12 are under post-treatment surveillance, 15 have been confirmed clear of the parasite and in 8 rivers attempts have proved unsuccessful (Figure 25; Table 2). In 2000, a National surveillance programme was implemented for all uninfected salmon rivers by the Norwegian Animal Health Authority (now part of the Norwegian Food Safety Authority) responsible for sampling salmon in both rivers and fish farms. The spread of G. salaris is tracked by routine annual surveillance of 150 salmon rivers and biennial examination of a number of freshwater fish farms. Thirty salmon fingerlings, parr or smolt from each river have been sampled by electro-fishing each year. The fish are

killed, preserved in 96% ethanol and the skin and fins examined by the National Veterinary Institute (NVI, Harstad, North-Norway). This low number of salmon parr examined on a yearly basis makes an immediate record of an infection upon introduction very arbitrary. Additionally, there is no regular or fully satisfactory surveillance control after rotenone treatment and before the 5-year check if the parasite has been exterminated, preventing study of the origin and epidemic spread of G. salaris in newly infected rivers. The parasite has reappeared in several rotenone-treated rivers; in some (Skibotnelva, Steinkjervassdraget, Figga, Lundselva, Batnfjordelva, Leirelva and Lærdalselva) more than once. By the mid-1980s, the NVI (OIE reference laboratory for gyrodactylosis) extended surveillance to fish farms, especially rainbow trout farms. In 2004, salmon from 120 rivers (4509 individuals) were screened and G. salaris recovered after rotenone treatment in two rivers, the Leirelva in Nordland County (rotenone treated in 1996) and the Halsanelva (rotenone treated in 2003). G. salaris was not observed in the 34 fish farms examined in 2004 (Mo and Norheim, 2005). Late autumn 2006, Batnfjordelva as (one of three rivers treated with aluminium) was found reinfected.

Currently infected watercourses and fjords in Norway can be grouped into infection-regions, representing geographic localities where *G. salaris* has been recorded on wild salmon parr, and which are bounded by features limiting natural dispersal by drift or host migration. Originally, 14 infection-regions were identified but only eight (or nine; see Region 8 below) now remain. Official policy (Anonymous, 2002b) is to eradicate the parasite from infected rivers by proceeding from region to region depending on annual funding. Since 1990, *G. salaris* has been introduced to between one and three new regions: Lærdals Region (1996), Halsanelva and Hestdalselva, close to the Vefsna Region and Sandelva in Drammens Region. As of 2006, the eight regions (from north to south) are:

Region 1—Skibotn Region (Troms County): G. salaris first observed in 1979 in Skibotnelva. The region consists of two infected river courses, Skibotnvassdraget and Signaldalsvassdraget (and Balsfjordelva which shares an estuary with Signaldalselva), all with natural stocks of salmon and anadromous Arctic charr and trout. Skibotnvassdraget was rotenone-treated in 1988, but re-infected in 1992, re-treated with rotenone in 1995, and re-infected again in 1998. *G. salaris* was recorded for the first time in Signaldalselva in 2000.

*Region 2—Rana Region* (Nordland County): *G. salaris* was first observed in 1975 in Ranaelva. The region consists of six infected rivers, two large (Ranaelva and Røssåga) and four small, Busteråga (Slettenelva), Bjerka, Sannaelva and Bardalselva. All have natural stocks of salmon and anadromous trout, some also contain Arctic charr. Ranaelva, Røssåga and Bjerka were rotenone treated in 2003 and all rivers in 2004. These rivers will be declared parasite-free if there is no re-occurrence within the next 5 years after treatment.

Region 3—Vefsn Region (Nordland County): G. salaris was first observed in 1978 in the large River Vefsnavassdraget. The region also includes seven smaller infected rivers, the Fusta, Drevja, Hundåla, Leirelva, Ranelva, Halsanelva and Hestdalselva. Leirelva was rotenone treated in 1996 and declared parasite-free in 2003, but G. salaris reappeared in 2004. The river was immediately rotenone treated again, and results of the treatment are awaited. However, in 2006 a new river was found infected in this region, Ranelva, close to Leirelva. Accordingly, both rivers were immediately rotenone treated and results of the treatment are awaited. Halsanelva and Hestdalselva were treated in 2003, but the parasite reappeared in Halsanelva in 2004 and in Hestdalselva August 2006. These two rivers may constitute a new infectionregion as natural dispersal via the relatively long migration route through saltwater from the Vefsna should be considered unlikely.

Region 4—Beitstad Region (Nord-Trøndelag County): G. salaris was first observed in 1980 in the Steinkjervassdraget (Steinkjerelva, Byaelva and Ogna) and Figga. The parasite was first observed in the Lundselva, the third river of this region, in 2001. All river courses have natural stocks of salmon and anadromous trout. Steinkjervassdraget and Figga were rotenone treated in 1993, but the parasite returned in 1997 and the rivers were re-treated in 2001/2002. Re-infection was immediately noted and the rivers re-treated in 2005 to reduce the salmon migration from the rivers. However, despite Steinkjervassdraget being treated twice in spring and autumn 2005, G. salaris has again been recovered but upstream from the treated regions (see Hjettnes *et al.*, 2006 for an analysis of the epidemic situation). In August 2006, this river system and some adjacent minor rivers were treated for the first time with aluminium sulphate based on the previous positive experiences with aluminium against *G. salaris* infections in Batnfjordelva (Region 5) and Lærdalselva (Region 6). This treatment with aluminium will be repeated in 2007. The success of this treatment in Steinkjersvassdraget is still to be seen.

*Region 5—Sunndals Region* (Møre and Romsdal County): The region consists of four infected river courses, one large (Driva) and three smaller (Usma, Batnfjordselva and Litledalselva), all with natural stocks of salmon and anadromous trout. *G. salaris* was first observed in 1975 in the Driva, Usma and Batnfjordelva. The latter was rotenone treated in 1994, but the parasite re-appeared in 2000. This river was selected for a pilot project for aluminium sulphate treatment (see Section 9.3; Table 2) in 2004. Late autumn 2006 the river was observed reinfected with *G. salaris*.

*Region 6—Romsdals Region* (Møre and Romsdal County): *G. salaris* was first observed in 1980 in Raumavassdraget and Hensvassdraget. This region consists of four infected river courses, the Raumavassdraget (Rauma and Istra), Innfjordelva, Hensvassdraget (Henselva) and Skorga, all rivers with natural stocks of salmon and anadromous trout. The rivers were rotenone treated in 1993 but the parasite reoccurred in Rauma in 1996, and from there has probably been spread to Innfjordelva (1999), Hensvassdraget (2000) and Skorga (2003).

*Region* 7—*Lærdals Region* (Sogn and Fjordane County): *G. salaris* was first observed in 1981 in the Vikja and in Lærdalselva in 1996. Vikja was successfully rotenone treated in 1981/1982. Lærdalsvassdraget was treated in 1997, but the parasite re-occurred in 1999. In 2005, a 24-km infected stretch of the river was treated with aluminium sulphate, a process which was repeated in 2006. Again, confirmation of the success of this trial has still to be announced.

*Region 8—Drammens Region* (Buskerud County): *G. salaris* was first observed in 1987 in the Drammensvassdraget and Lierelva, which both empty into Drammensfjorden. Both rivers have natural stocks of salmon and anadromous trout. Due to the complexity of this river and fjord system and of the fish fauna, there are no plans for rotenone treatment, but the rivers are restocked annually to maintain the salmon angling industry. In 2003 a new river, Sandeelva (Vesleelva; Vestfold County) was found infected with *G. salaris*, the

only other river with salmon in the area. However, this may represent a new infection-region, but infection from the nearby Drammens Region cannot be excluded.

Predicting host populations at risk of future invasion is problematic. However, three regions are deemed at high risk, as the parasite has previously occurred, or has been found in fish hatcheries but not on wild salmon:

*Risk Region 1—Enaresjøen and Pasvikelva* (Finland and Troms County, respectively). *G. salaris* was observed in Lake Enare in a rainbow trout hatchery and on escapees in the lake in 1990. The Norwegian Pasvikvassdraget is in the zone at risk;

*Risk Region 2—Torneälv and Nord-Troms* (Sweden/Finland and Troms County, respectively). Torne älv drains into the Baltic Sea and heavy restocking occurs within the Finnish catchment, where relative high infection levels have been observed on wild salmon parr. The Norwegian salmon rivers Målselva and Reisaelva are particularly at risk;

*Risk Region 3—Iddefjorden* (Sweden and Østfold County). Enningvassdraget drains several larger lakes in Sweden and Norway, including the Swedish Lake Bullaresjøen where *G. salaris* was observed in a rainbow trout hatchery and on escapees in the lake in 2001. Two Norwegian salmon rivers, Enningdalselva and Tista, are particularly at risk.

# 10.4. Control Measures

Eradication of a non-indigenous species is sometimes feasible particularly if it is detected early and resources can be applied quickly (Simberloff, 1997; Mack *et al.*, 2000). To eradicate an established invader, such as *G. salaris*, in natural areas is difficult, especially as it can exploit a range of commercially produced fish, and its reproductive rate and dispersal ability are high. Control measures to prevent the further spread vary in their efficacy and are dependent on the continued commitment and diligence of both salmon management authorities and relevant agencies (the fish traders, anglers and general public) to prevent re-introduction (Figure 26). In Norway, the methods considered and employed are designed to eradicate the parasite

#### T.A. BAKKE ET AL.



*Figure 26* An example of the many information brochures from Norwegian authorities to protect from anthropochore spread of *Gyrodactylus salaris* to uninfected river systems. (Reproduced with permission from Norwegian Food Safety Authority.)

from the respective infection-regions. Hence, the re-occurrence of the parasite may be caused by unsuccessful rotenone treatment, or by new introduction from external regions. The time between eradication and reappearance of the parasite in the largest river in five of the infection-regions has been from 3 to 6 years (Hjeltnes *et al.*, 2006). The available methods for eradication of *G. salaris* include:

*Biocides*: Rotenone ( $C_{23}H_{22}O_6$ ), an isoflavonoid from the roots of certain leguminous plants. It is insoluble in water and is normally

formulated as a liquid emulsion to allow rapid dispersion and efficacy as a piscicide. However, rotenone is non-specific and apart from being highly toxic to fish it also kills gill-breathing aquatic invertebrates. It has been widely used in Norway to eliminate G. salaris. Of the 46 G. salaris infected rivers, 28 were treated with rotenone between 1981 and 2003 (Guttvik et al., 2004). Different grades of rotenone are used, but CFT-Legumin<sup>TM</sup>, which contains approximately 5.3% (w/w) of the active substance dissolved in a mixture of diethylene-glycolmonoethyl-ether and 1-methyl-2 pyrrolidone, is recognised as least dangerous for the environment at the concentrations used (25 mg/l) (1.0 ppb) during the first hours, and thereafter at 12.5 mg/l (0.5 ppb). This procedure may be repeated in infected rivers. The limit of rotenone tolerance of salmon parr is 0.2 ppb, the 24 h LC<sub>50</sub> concentrations for rotenone active substance are between 2 and 10 ppb for salmonids that are among the most susceptible fish species. The lower limit for effective use of rotenone is set at 0.5 ppm (Guttvik et al., 2004). It is impossible to ensure 100% success with rotenone treatment (Haukebø et al., 2000), and after initial success exterminating the parasite in the River Vikja in 1981/1982, rotenone treatment has frequently failed (e.g. in Skibotnelva, Leirelva, Halsanelva, Steinkjersvassdraget, Figga, Rauma, Innfjordelva, Lærdalselva, Batnfjordelva). The failure is probably due to the complexity of effectively dosing all infected areas within a river system, but recolonisations cannot be excluded. After ~20 years experience, Haukebø et al. (2000) reviewed the procedures used and stressed the potential need for more extensive use of river obstructions, updated equipment, high-density rotenone compounds, prolonged periods of application, double treatments, increased focus on the land-water interface and better hydrological expertise as groundwater wells beneath the river beds have been a major problem (Brabrand and Koestler, 1999; Brabrand et al., 2005). There is also a concern of escape migration by salmon into groundwater wells or to river mouths or fjord basins, possibly triggered by the presence of rotenone or other substances in the river. After rotenone treatment, the river is artificially and naturally re-stocked with salmon of the local stock. Farms can be easily disinfected using antiparasitic drugs (Santamarina et al., 1991; Tojo et al., 1992, 1993a, b; Schmahl, 1993), although Norwegian

practice has been to enforce a dry fallow period to be certain of eradication.

Salmon and sea trout quickly recolonise treated rivers provided there is a sea population sufficient for recolonisation (Johnsen *et al.*, 1997; Lund, 1997). Wild salmon stocks preserved in gene banks are used for restocking purposes to supplement the contribution from the marine population and any surviving eggs of both salmon and sea trout buried in the gravel (Hartvigsen, 1997). The first generation salmon fry have a faster growth rate than normal, resulting in earlier smoltification and sea migration (Johnsen *et al.*, 1997). Although the effects on the genetic structure of fish populations are more pronounced in freshwater resident fish species than in anadromous or marine species, there are no empirical data on the genetic impact of rotenone on specific fish populations (Hindar, 1997).

The short-term impacts of rotenone on benthic macroinvertebrates have been studied by Arnekleiv (1997). The impact on estuarine fauna is largely unknown (Wingard and Swanson, 1992), but freshwater invertebrates are severely affected. In the River Steinkjerelva, treatment with rotenone led to an immediate catastrophic loss of invertebrates peaking  $\frac{1}{2}$  to 2 h after treatment followed by a decline through the next hours (Arnekleiv, 1997). All common taxa were affected. Amongst the benthic fauna of the upper stream, a reduction of around 90% occurred shortly after rotenone treatment. However, some insect species survived in great numbers and recolonisation by benthic macroinvertebrates occurred rapidly, requiring 6 weeks to restore insect densities to previous levels. One year later, the common species of Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera and Trichoptera had all reestablished (Arnekleiv, 1997). However, instability in species composition was observed and probably greatly underestimated due to limited sampling and lack of genetic studies to assess the effects on population structure. Generally, rotenone tolerance and the effects on invertebrates are little known; however, dramatic short turn effects are reported but differing between taxa and life stages (Binns, 1967; Morrison, 1977; Dolmen et al., 1995; Arnekleiv, 1997). Rotenone treatment is reported to have had little long-term impact in Norwegian rivers (Mo, 1994) but criticism of its use is growing because of (i) several unsuccessful attempts to exterminate G. salaris; (ii) potential

deleterious founder-effects and genetic drift in restored fish populations; (iii) destruction of a stable host-parasite association based on resistant salmon which could form the basis for breeding natural resistance; (iv) the continuous threat of re-infection (Hessen, 1997); and (v) health concerns for humans. Rotenone formulations are placed in Class II (moderately hazardous) or III (slightly hazardous) of the WHO classification of pesticides. However, rotenone has been suspected of being carcinogenic (Gosalvez, 1983) and involved in the aetiology of human illnesses (see Tables in Ling, 2002), such as Parkinson's disease (Alam and Schmidt, 2002; Sherer et al., 2003). Following the EU Biocide Directive (Directive 98/8/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 February 1998) rotenone must be removed from the market and its use ceased by 1 September 2006. The Norwegian Pollution Control Authority (SFT) in consultation with the Ministry of the Environment has applied to the EU-commission for exceptional permission to continue to use rotenone for G. salaris control until 2010. However, attention must focus on other strategies and the Norwegian authorities are seeking to identify alternative methods for G. salaris control. In Norway many substances have been assessed (Skjelstad and Simolin, 2001), but only aluminium or zinc show promise. However, most recently, Australian tea tree oil (TTO) has been tested on Gyrodactylus infected three-spined sticklebacks (Steverding et al., 2005). The results suggest that TTO, in combination with Tween 80 as an emulsifier, might be an effective and potentially environmentally friendly, treatment.

*Parasitocides—metal ions*: On-going development projects are currently investigating the partial replacement of rotenone by long-term treatment of rivers with aluminium sulphate with simultaneous acidification. The toxicity to *G. salaris* of aluminium and zinc ions in acidified water has been described in Section 9. Following these laboratory experiments (Soleng *et al.*, 1999b; Poléo *et al.*, 2004a), pilot studies have used aluminium sulphate to control *G. salaris* (see Poléo *et al.*, 2004a, b) in Lærdalselva (2002, but full treatment in 2005 and 2006), Batnfjordselva (2003, but full treatment in 2004, see Hytterød *et al.*, 2005) and for full treatment of Steinkjersvassdraget in 2006 and 2007. The application of Al is problematic as the concentration has to be balanced exactly to the specific water flow, chemistry and temperature to kill parasites but not fish. So far, the full-scale treatment of Lærdalselva and Steinkjersvassdraget with Al to eradicate *G. salaris* appears promising but must await appraisal over the next 5–6 years. The macrobenthos community in Lærdalselva and Batnfjordelva was sampled extensively before and after Al treatment, but awaits full analysis.

*Barrier methods*: Mechanical methods of controlling non-indigenous organisms are sometimes effective. The closure of fish ladders and construction of artificial barriers in infected rivers can prevent spawning salmon re-colonising parts of the river course where the disease is present (Thorstad *et al.*, 2001; Fjeldstad, 2004). Smoltification of salmon parr from above the barrier will then lead, over 2–5 years, to a total disappearance of salmon from the infected part of the river. This approach reduces the area containing infected fish, allowing more restricted and less expensive rotenone treatment. However, when barriers are close to the sea they are likely to be affected by flood, ice and debris, increasing cost and reducing effectiveness.

Selective breeding: Artificial breeding for resistance represents an apparently ideal solution to the problem of G. salaris susceptibility, and has been shown to be feasible as resistance has a strong genetic component (e.g. Bakke et al., 1990; Bakke and MacKenzie, 1993; Bakke et al., 1999; Cable et al., 2000; see Section 8.2). However, even once the practicalities are overcome to produce resistant fish for restocking, release of such genetically modified salmon into the environment will be controversial and politically sensitive. Each river system within the range of the Atlantic salmon is populated with a genetically unique fish stock, resulting from repeated bottlenecking and drift caused by the return of only a tiny number of breeding adults relative to the number of eggs laid (Mills, 1989). Conservation of this genetic diversity remains a priority for Norwegian conservation bodies (Anonymous, 1999) and therefore artificial selection for resistance has been ruled out except for complex river systems which are too complicated to be treated chemically (e.g. Drammenselva). Within Drammenselva, artificial mass selection for resistance to G. salaris of 50 family groups is in progress with both unexposed parr and the surviving exposed parr being cultured to maturity (Salte and Bentsen, 2004). Progeny from the most resistant fish will then be

tested for resistance and eventually used for restocking the river course. The main arguments against selection for disease resistance are that the heterogeneity of the salmon population will be reduced, escapees will impede the resistance development and artificial selection is time consuming and expensive. Because of the uniqueness of stocks, every infected river system will need its own breeding program. Perhaps most importantly, breeding for resistance will not eradicate the parasite and Norwegian rivers will continue to represent a focus for spread of the parasite. In addition, the evolutionary impact of increased host resistance to a particular parasite species is unknown. However, hopefully, such selective breeding experiments will increase our knowledge of the heterogeneity of Norwegian salmon resistance and of the heritability of resistance to gyrodactylids (Salte and Bentsen, 2004).

Integrated control measures: The governmental strategy in Norway aims for the complete extermination of G. salaris from all rivers, but there is still a need for "maintenance control" of the parasite (Schardt, 1997). As the drawbacks of individual control measures, such as rotenone, are realised (Sandodden et al., 2004), integrated control strategies using barriers, aluminium and selective breeding appear increasingly attractive. The treatment of Lærdalselva in 2005 with Al also involved application of rotenone in small quantities where Al treatment was not feasible. The success of this combined treatment will not be fully assessed until 2010. River barriers or closure of salmon ladders are often used as a first step in reducing the area requiring chemical treatment. In Drammenselva, smolt or yearlings of the same stock are restocked in the river mouth and in uninfected tributaries of the river, respectively, to compensate for deaths caused by G. salaris and to maintain the number of fish returning to the river for angling. This has been a success in this river (Hansen, 1990, 1991) but poses the danger of reducing the evolutionary development of natural disease resistance.

*Biological control*: The introduction of natural enemies such as hyperparasitic bacteria or viruses as biological control agents to eliminate *G. salaris* have not been explored, although micro-organisms are frequently observed externally on gyrodactylids (Cone and Odense, 1984; Bakke *et al.*, 2006; Section 7 above).

# 10.5. Potential for Further Spread of *Gyrodactylus* salaris

Alterations in the distribution of the Earth's biota brought about by human transport and commerce (Mack et al., 2000) represent a major threat for the future biological diversity of the biosphere. The potential for further spread of G. salaris within Europe, either naturally or by Man, remains significant (Bakke and Harris, 1998). The parasite is not a problem of rainbow trout in aquaculture and it does not cause losses in natural salmon populations across most of its Scandinavian range (see Section 10.2). The perception of G. salaris as a pathogen declines further if the suggestion of Meinilä et al. (2004) to synonymise salmon- and grayling-infecting clades as G. salaris is followed; the parasite then occurs throughout the EU and neighbouring countries but causes problems only in Norway, and perhaps in some infected rivers at the Swedish west coast and the Kola Peninsula. However, experimentally other east Atlantic stocks of salmon, such as those from Scotland and Denmark seem highly susceptible to Norwegian G. salaris (see Bakke and MacKenzie, 1993; Dalgaard et al., 2003, 2004). Risk analyses show that the potential for spread of G. salaris via wild salmon is very sensitive to changes in salinity within estuaries (Paisley et al., 1999). However, Peeler and Thrush (2004) and Peeler et al. (2004) established that for England and Wales, the greatest risk of introduction was via the movement of rainbow trout. A recent risk analysis of watercourses in which G. salaris is already present from the Norwegian Veterinary Institute (Jansen et al., 2005) concluded that the major risk factors for the spread of G. salaris are in diminishing order: (i) dissemination by migrating fish in brackish water; (ii) spread from infected hatcheries and farms; (iii) restocking with infected fish; (iv) spread by equipment which has been in contact with infected fish; (v) spread by non-predicted human activity; (vi) spread of dislodged parasites with water; and (vii) natural spread by other host species. In this context we would stress the potential of wild Arctic charr to disseminate G. salaris amongst natural salmon populations (see Sections 5.3.2 and 6.5). This may also be the case for wild lake trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) and rainbow trout which are susceptible to G. salaris and occasionally establish viable populations in Norway. Such populations may represent a reservoir for the spread of *G. salaris* and should be under surveillance (see Mo, 1988; Bakke *et al.*, 1992a, b, c; Hindar *et al.*, 1996; Knudsen *et al.*, 2004; Kristoffersen *et al.*, 2005; Robertsen *et al.*, 2006, 2007b; M. Eken, personal communication).

The trans-national spread of the parasite, particularly to highly sensitive islands as the UK, Ireland, the Faeroes and Iceland. or to the east Atlantic stocks of continental America, is most likely to occur with rainbow trout or other fish species. Recently (1 May 2004), regulations concerning salmon transportation within the EU were relaxed (EC decision 2004/453/EC) such that live salmonids could be moved to G. salaris-free areas, as long as the fish originated in coastal sites where the salinity does not drop below 25 parts per thousand. Peeler et al. (2006) concluded that this does not directly increase the risk of G. salaris introduction into new waterbodies, but that the risk is indirectly increased by the increased volume of salmonid transport. In general, the UK imports only salmonid eggs to ensure the exclusion of salmonid viruses such as Infectious Hepatic Necrosis and Viral Haemorrhagic Septicaemia (Scott, 2004). This should ensure the continued exclusion of G. salaris from the British Isles. However, the UK does also import salmonids for processing (Scott, 2004), it is conceivable that G. salaris could survive import in this way (see Section 3.3 for an appraisal of survival of G. salaris on dead fish) and remain attached to fish packaging materials long enough to gain access to a watershed containing live salmonids. The possibility that the parasite could survive for periods of days attached to eggs (Section 3.3) also raises the possibility of the spread of the disease with egg imports. Rationalisation in the international salmon industry has seen the recent closure of Scottish egg hatcheries with the proposal that eggs will be imported to farms from Scandinavia. Apart from the apparent breach of EU fish hygiene regulations in this proposal, this must represent an unacceptable level of risk for the importation of G. salaris into the UK. The illegal import of live fish (principally carp, wels and sturgeon) into the UK is also well known, and is thought to have been a route of origin for Spring Viraemia of Carp (SVC). Most imports do not come from countries where G. salaris is likely to be encountered, but clearly a route of entry into the UK exists which is not easily controllable given existing legislation. The UK is used here to demonstrate that even with a highly developed legislative and monitoring framework to prevent the import of *G. salaris*, biosecurity is by no means assured. In the past 3 years, the import of sleeping disease (SD) syndrome and SVC have both highlighted failures in the established system. Given these failures in a country with a sophisticated and stringent system for assessing fish health, the continued spread of *G. salaris* within continental Europe, where transboundary controls on fish imports could never be as careful, is inevitable. As the parasite spreads within Europe and neighbouring states, the risk of import into the highly sensitive Atlantic Fringe countries increases.

# **11. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH AREAS**

We have attempted to provide an overview of the biology of gyrodactylid monogeneans and to highlight the potential importance of this megadiverse group in studies of parasite evolution. The gyrodactylids are best known as viviparous fish parasites which are born already containing a developing daughter; here we highlight that this 19th century view of the group misses much that is biologically interesting and significant about them. In particular, we stress the importance of recognising that viviparity and progenesis are adaptations of only one group of gyrodactylids (albeit the most successful and currently the most species-rich part of the group). Studies on the egglaying gyrodactylids are in their infancy, but are starting to live up to their early promise. Although Boeger et al. (2003) consider the radiation of viviparous gyrodactylids to have occurred recently, we feel that gyrodactylids are a primitive monogenean group, perhaps the remnant of an earlier diversification before the evolution of modern forms such as the capsalids, microbothrids and polyopisthocotyleans. A study of the egg-laying forms is the only way in which potentially plesiomorphic characters, shared with other primitive monogeneans can be identified, because progenesis has modified the viviparous genera so extensively. Further investigations, particularly in the tropics, may also highlight additional variants in gyrodactylid reproductive

biology, behaviour and ecology. We will also point to the general need for more zoogeographic, phylogeographic and population genetic studies which would provide methods to measure for example migration and transmission dynamics, the amount of inbreeding and the effective population size.

The genus Gyrodactylus in particular is megadiverse, with over 400 species described out of a potential total of 20000 species. We have extensively reviewed the taxonomy and sub-generic phylogeny of the genus, and an important question which remains is whether the genus can be subdivided into more manageable natural units. We have identified three such units and have noted that many of the current generic descriptions do not correspond with natural divisions of the viviparous gyrodactylids. The three groups could be elevated to independent generic status. However, there remain many species which lie outside these three groupings and molecular sampling of the genus has been biased towards European species. More effort in sequencing additional gyrodactylids is essential, although such research may no longer appear novel. At present, inclusion of any new molecular sequence can lead to a dramatic re-drawing of phylogenetic relationships although the basic groupings may remain constant. We therefore conclude that it would be premature to fundamentally revise the genus Gyrodactylus to take account of molecular evidence, although this may become a feasible project within the next 5 years.

The primary means of evolution in the viviparous gyrodactylids has been host shifts, a phenomenon which has become very clear from molecular phylogenies of *Gyrodactylus*. In Eurasia, and possibly America, speciation and radiation of gyrodactylids has been greatly enhanced by the ice ages, creating and destroying a series of refugia within which host switches could occur. This phenomenon is potentially of particular interest to evolutionary biologists, but an understanding requires much more sophisticated analysis of patterns of host preference and of host specificity. This lack of knowledge is particularly apparent in relation to *G. salaris* in Norway; the precise relationships of the different forms which infect salmonids in Scandinavia, and which are actively evolving via a series of host shifts, remain obscure and elusive. There is a need to be very careful with nomenclature (which can be legally binding) in such a fluid situation, and we would highlight the potential of this system for evolutionary biologists with an interest in the role of host shifts. The reasons why *G. salaris* is so damaging, when the congener *G. thymalli* and some *G. salaris* strains are not, remain obscure, and much additional research is needed on the role of gyrodactylids as potential biotic invaders. In particular, we need to identify potential future pathogens, particularly of salmonids, to predict their likely impact. This has lent additional urgency by the recent report (You *et al.*, 2006) that *G. brachymystacis* can establish pathogenic infections of rainbow trout in China, with the potential that this may also become a significant pest in aquaculture.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are particularly grateful to the Norwegian Research Council (currently NRC 145861/720), the Norwegian Directorate for Natural Resources (currently DN 05040026) and the Natural Environment Research Council, U.K. (currently NER/J/S/2002/00706) who have funded the bulk of our gyrodactylid research. We would like to dedicate this manuscript to Jack Llewellyn, who died during its preparation.

# REFERENCES

- Aalto, J. and Rahkonen, R. (1994). The distribution, adverse effects and prevention of the parasite *Gyrodactylus salaris*. *Finnish Game and Fisheries Research Institute, Kalatutkimuksia-Fiskunder-sökningar* 76, 1–50 [in Finnish, English summary].
- Ahnelt, H., Gelnar, M., Konecny, R. and Walzl, M. (1995). Ein fur Osterreich neuer Fischparasit der gattung Gyrodactylus (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). Osterreichs Fischerei Wissenschaft 48, 13–17.
- Alam, M. and Schmidt, W.J. (2002). Rotenone destroys dopaminergic neurons and induces parkinsonian symptoms in rats. *Behavioural Brain Research* 136, 317–324.
- Alenäs, I. (1995). Liming strategies and effects: the river Högvadsån case study. In: *Liming of Acidified Surface Waters* (L. Henrikson and Y.W. Brodin, eds), pp. 363–374. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

#### THE BIOLOGY OF GYRODACTYLID MONOGENEANS

- Alenäs, I. (1998). *Gyrodactylus salaris* på lax i svenska vattendrag och laxproblematiken på svenska västkysten. *Vann* 1, 135–142 [in Swedish].
- Alenäs, I., Malmberg, G. and Carlstrand, H. (1998). Undersökningar av Gyrodactylus salaris på lax i Ätrans vattensystem, Falkenbergs kommun under fem år 1991–1995. *Miljö- og hälsoskyddskontoret, Falkenbergs kommun, Rapport 1998* 1, 1–12 [in Swedish].
- Andersen, P.S. and Buchmann, K. (1998). Temperature dependent population growth of *Gyrodactylus derjavini* on rainbow trout. *Journal of Helminthology* **72**, 9–14.
- Anderson, R.M. (1982). Directly transmitted viral and bacterial infections of Man. In: *Population Dynamics of Infectious Diseases* (R.M. Anderson, ed.), pp. 1–37. London: Chapman & Hall.
- Anonymous. (1996). Risikoanalyse for spredning av lakseparasitten *Gyrodactylus salaris* fra oppdrettsfisk i Tanafjorden til villfisk med en faglig vurdering for andre fiskesykdommer. *Statens Dyrehelsetilsyn, Fylkesveterinæren i Troms og Finmark, Rapport fra prosjektgruppen* Juli 1996, 1–64 [in Norwegian].
- Anonymous. (1999). Til laks åt alle kan ingen gjera? Om årsaker til nedgangen i de norske villaksbestandene og forslag til strategier og tiltak for å bedre situasjonen. *Norges offentlige utredninger NOU* **1999:9**, 1–297 [in Norwegian].
- Anonymous. (2000). Forslag til handlingsplan for tiltak mot lakseparasitten Gyrodactylus salaris. Direktoratet for naturforvaltning og Statens dyrehelsetilsyn, Rapport 2000, 1–38 [in Norwegian].
- Anonymous. (2002a). *International Aquatic Animal Health Code*, 5th edn. Paris: Office International des Epizooties.
- Anonymous. (2002b). Action plan for control and eradication of Gyrodactylus salaris in Norwegian salmon rivers. Norwegian Directorate for Nature Management and Norwegian Animal Health Authority September 2002, 1–19 [in Norwegian].
- Anthony, J.D. (1969). Temperature effect on the distribution of *Gyrodactylus* elegans on goldfish. Bulletin of Wildlife Disease Association 5, 44–47.
- Appleby, C. (1994). Gyrodactylus (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) infesting Atlantic cod, Gadus morhua L. Bulletin of the Scandinavian Society of Parasitology 4, 23–32.
- Appleby, C. (1996a). Seasonal occurrence, topographical distribution and transmission of *Gyrodactylus callariatis* (Monogenea) infecting juvenile Atlantic cod in the Oslo Fjord, Norway. *Journal of Fish Biology* 48, 1266–1274.
- Appleby, C. (1996b). Population dynamics of *Gyrodactylus* sp. from the sand goby in the Oslo fjord, Norway. *Journal of Fish Biology* **49**, 402–410.
- Appleby, C. and Mo, T.A. (1997). Population dynamics of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea) infecting Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*, parr in River Batnfjordselva, Norway. *Journal of Parasitology* 83, 23–30.

- Appleby, C., Mo, T.A. and Aase, I.L. (1997). The effect of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea) on the epidermis of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* in the river Batnfjordselva, Norway. *Journal of Parasitology* 83, 1173–1174.
- Arnekleiv, J.V. (1997). Short-time effects of rotenone treatment on benthic macroinvertebrates in the rivers Ogna and Figga, Steinkjer municipality. *Vitenskapsmuseet Rapport Zoologisk Serie* 1997:3, 1–28 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Atkins, C.G. (1901). The study of fish diseases. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **30**, 82–89.
- Aydogdu, A. (2006). Variations in the infections of two monogenean species parasitizing the gills of the crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*), in relation to water temperature over a period of one year in Golbasi Dam Lake, Bursa, Turkey. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* 26, 112–118.
- Baer, J. and Joyeux, C. (1961). Classe des Trématodes (Trematoda Rudolphi). In: *Traité de zoologie; anatomie, systématique, biologie. Tome 4, 1er fasc* (P.-P. Grassé, ed.), pp. 561–692, 894–895. Paris: Masson et Cie.
- Bakke, T.A. (1991). A review of the inter- and intraspecific variability in salmonid hosts to laboratory infections with *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg. *Aquaculture* **98**, 303–310.
- Bakke, T.A. and Harris, P.D. (1998). Diseases and parasites in wild Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) populations. *Canadian Journal of Fish and Aquatic Sciences* **55**, 247–266.
- Bakke, T.A. and MacKenzie, K. (1993). Comparative susceptibility of native Scottish and Norwegian stocks of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, to *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg: laboratory experiments. *Fisheries Research* 17, 69–85.
- Bakke, T.A., Jansen, P.A. and Hansen, L.P. (1990). Differences in the host resistance of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*, stocks to the monogenean *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957. *Journal of Fish Biology* **37**, 577–587.
- Bakke, T.A., Jansen, P.A. and Hansen, L.P. (1991a). Experimental transmission of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) between the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and the European eel (*Anquilla anquilla*). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **69**, 733–737.
- Bakke, T.A., Jansen, P.A. and Kennedy, C.R. (1991b). The host specificity of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea): the susceptibility of *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum) under experimental conditions. *Journal of Fish Biology* **39**, 45–57.
- Bakke, T.A., Harris, P.D., Jansen, P.A. and Hansen, L.P. (1992a). Host specificity and dispersal strategy in gyrodactylid monogeneans, with particular reference to *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea). *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 13, 63–74.

- Bakke, T.A., Jansen, P.A. and Grande, M. (1992b). The susceptibility of Salvelinus namaycush (Walbaum) to Gyrodactylus salaris Malmberg (Platyhelminthes; Monogenea) under experimental conditions. Norwegian Magazine of Zoology Series A 12, 1–7.
- Bakke, T.A., Harris, P.D. and Jansen, P.A. (1992c). The susceptibility of Salvelinus fontinalis (Mitchell) to Gyrodactylus salaris Malmberg (Platyhelminthes; Monogenea) under experimental conditions. Journal of Fish Biology 41, 499–507.
- Bakke, T.A., Jansen, P.A. and Harris, P.D. (1996). Differences in susceptibility of anadromous and resident stocks of Arctic charr to infections of *Gyrodactylus salaris* under experimental conditions. *Journal of Fish Biology* 49, 341–351.
- Bakke, T.A., Jansen, P.A. and Saltveit, S. (1998). Early life survival of wild Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) experimentally exposed to *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea). *Parasitology International* 47 (supplement), 318.
- Bakke, T.A., Soleng, A. and Harris, P.D. (1999). The susceptibility of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) × brown trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) hybrids to *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg and *Gyrodactylus derjavini* Mikailov. *Parasitology* 119, 467–481.
- Bakke, T.A., Harris, P.D. and Cable, J. (2002). Host specificity dynamics: observations on gyrodactylid monogeneans. *International Journal for Parasitology* 32, 281–308.
- Bakke, T.A., Nilsen, K.B. and Shinn, A. (2004a). The application of chaetotaxy to discriminate between Norwegian *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg clades and related species from salmonids. *Folia Parasitologica* 51, 253–261.
- Bakke, T.A., Harris, P.D., Hansen, H., Cable, J. and Hansen, L.P. (2004b). Comparable susceptibility of Baltic and East Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) stocks to *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea). *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 58, 171–177.
- Bakke, T.A., Cable, J. and Østbø, M. (2006). Ultrastructural observations of hypersymbionts on *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg (Monogenea) infecting Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Journal of Helminthology* 80, 377–386.
- Barkman, L.L. and James, H.A. (1979). A population study of monogenetic trematodes from the killifish *Fundulus heteroclitus* (Linnaeus) in Connecticut. *Iowa State Journal of Research* 54, 77–81.
- Bauer, O.N. (1968). The influences of environmental factors on reproduction of fish parasites. *Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Translation Series Number* 1099, 1–12 [translated from Russian].
- Bauer, O.N. (1988). Monogeneans as pathogens of fish diseases. In: *Inves-tigations of Monogeneans in the USSR* (O.A. Skarlato, ed.), pp. 137–142. Russian Translation Series published by A.A. Balkema.

- Beneden, P.J.van and Hesse, C.E. (1864). Recherches sur les bdellodes (hirudinees) et les trematodes marines (Read 8 Nov. 1862). *Memoires de l'Academie Royale des Sciences de Belgique* **34**, 1–142.
- Bergsjö, T. and Vassvik, V. (1977). *Gyrodactylus*—en sjelden, men plagsom fiskeparasitt. *Norsk Fiskeoppdrett* **4**, 11–13 [in Norwegian].
- Billeter, P.A., Klink, M.M. and Maugel, T.K. (2000). A new species of Swingleus (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) from the mummichog Fundulus heteroclitus, in the Delaware Bay. Journal for Parasitology 86, 1219–1222.
- Binns, N.A. (1967). Effects of rotenone treatment on the fauna of the Green River, Wyoming. *Fisheries Research Bulletin* 1, 1–114.
- Bly, J.E. and Clem, L.W. (1992). Temperature and teleost immune functions. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 2, 159–171.
- Boeger, W.A. and Kritsky, D.C. (1993). Phylogeny and a revised classification of the Monogenoidea Bychowsky, 1937 (Platyhelminthes). Systematic Parasitology 26, 1–32.
- Boeger, W.A. and Kritsky, D.C. (1997). Coevolution of the Monogenoidea (Platyhelminthes) based on a revised hypothesis of parasite phylogeny. *International Journal for Parasitology* **27**, 1495–1511.
- Boeger, W.A. and Kritsky, D.C. (2001). Phylogenetic relationships of the Monogenoidea. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 92–102. London: Taylor and Francis.
- Boeger, W.A. and Popazoglo, F. (1996). Neotropical Monogenoidea. 23. Two new species of *Gyrodactylus* (Gyrodactylidae) from a cichlid and an Erythrinid fish of southeastern Brazil. *Memorias Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 90, 689–694.
- Boeger, W.A., Kritsky, D.C. and Belmont-Jégu, E. (1994). Neotropical Monogenoidea. 20. Two new species of oviparous Gyrodactylidea (Polyonchoinea) from loricariid catfishes (Siluriformes) in Brazil and the phylogenetic status of Oeogyrodactylidae Harris, 1983. Journal of the Helminthological Society of Washington 61, 34–44.
- Boeger, W.A., Kritsky, D.C. and Pie, M.R. (2003). Context of diversification of the viviparous Gyrodactylidae (Platyhelminthes, Monogenoidea). *Zoologica Scripta* 32, 437–448.
- Boeger, W.A., Kritsky, D.C., Pie, M.R. and Engers, K.B. (2005). Mode of transmission, host switching, and escape from the red queen by viviparous gyrodactylids (Monogenoidea). *Journal of Parasitology* 9, 1000–1007.
- Brabrand, Å. and Koestler, A.G. (1999). Grunnvannstilførsel til Steinkjervassdragene som mulig årsak til overlevelse av lakseunger ved rotenonbehandling. Laboratorium for Ferskvannsøjkologi og innlandsfiske (LFI), Zoologisk museum, Rapport nr. 188-1999, 1–17 [in Norwegian].
- Brabrand, Å., Koestler, A.G. and Hørstad, S. (2005). Grunnvannstilførsel til Skibotnelva, Rauma, Driva, Vefsna og Lærdalselva som mulig årsak til overlevelse av laksunger ved rotenonbehandling. *Laboratorium for*

Ferskvannsøkologi og Innlandsfiske (LFI), Zoologisk Museum, Rapport nr. 236-2005, 1–37 [in Norwegian].

- Braun, E. (1966). Beiträge zur mikroskopischen Anatomie und Fortpflanzungsbiologie von *Gyrodactylus wageneri* v. Nordman 1832. Zeitschrift für Parasitenkunde 28, 142–174.
- Breden, F., Ptacek, M.B., Rashed, M., Taphorn, D. and Figueiredo, C.A. (1999). Molecular phylogeny of the live-bearing fish genus *Poecilia* (Cyprinidontiformes: Poeciliidae). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 12, 95–102.
- Bresslau, E. (1909). Die Entwicklung der Acoelen. Verhandlungen der Deutschen zoologischen Gesellschaft 19, 314–324.
- Brooks, D.R. and McLennan, D.A. (1993). *Parascript: Parasites and the Language of Evolution*. Washington and London: Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Brørs, S. (ed.). (2002). The salmon parasite *Gyrodactylus salaris* on the North Calotte: suggestions for further surveillance, information, management and legislation. *The North Calotte Council, Report No.* 57, 1–68.
- Brun, E. and Høgåsen, H. (2003). *Gyrodactylus salaris* I Drammensvassdraget Risiko for spredning til nye elver via migrasjon av laks. *Veterinærinstituttet Rapport* **2003**, 1–14 [in Norwegian].
- Brusca, R.C. and Brusca, G.J. (1990). *Invertebrates*. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates.
- Buchmann, K. (1997a). Population increase of *Gyrodactylus derjavini* on rainbow trout induced by testosterone treatment of the host. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* **30**, 145–150.
- Buchmann, K. (1997b). Salinity tolerance of *Gyrodactylus derjavini* from rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* **17**, 123–125.
- Buchmann, K. (1998a). Binding and lethal effect of complement from Oncorhynchus mykiss on Gyrodactylus derjavini (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea). Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 32, 195–200.
- Buchmann, K. (1998b). Some histochemical characteristics of the mucus microenvironment in four salmonids with different susceptibilities to gyrodactylid infections. *Journal of Helminthology* 72, 101–107.
- Buchmann, K. (1998c). Histochemical characteristics of *Gyrodactylus derjavini* parasitizing the fins of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Folia *Parasitologica* 45, 312–318.
- Buchmann, K. (1999). Immune mechanisms in fish skin against monogeneans—a model. *Folia Parasitologica* 46, 1–9.
- Buchmann, K. (2000). Antiparasitic immune mechanisms in teleosts: a two edged sword. Bulletin of the European Association for Fish Pathologists 20, 48–59.
- Buchmann, K. (2001). Lectins in fish skin: do they play a role in host-monogenean interactions? *Journal of Helminthology* 75, 227–231.

- Buchmann, K. (2005). Gyrodactylids in salmonids in Denmark. In: *Diagnosis and Control of Fish Diseases* (K. Buchmann, ed.), pp. 22–23. Fredriksberg C, Denmark: Sustainable Control of Fish Diseases (SCOFDA) Workshop, Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, November 2 and 3, 2005.
- Buchmann, K. and Bresciani, J. (1997). Parasitic infections in pond-reared rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* in Denmark. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 28, 125–138.
- Buchmann, K. and Bresciani, J. (1998). Microenvironment of *Gyrodactylus derjavini*: association between mucous cell density and microhabitat selection. *Parasitology Research* **84**, 17–24.
- Buchmann, K. and Bresciani, J. (1999). Rainbow trout leucocyte activity: influence on the ectoparasitic monogenean *Gyrodactylus derjavini*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* **35**, 13–22.
- Buchmann, K. and Lindenstrøm, T. (2002). Interactions between monogenean parasites and their fish hosts. *International Journal for Parasi*tology 32, 309–319.
- Buchmann, K. and Uldal, A. (1997). Gyrodactylus derjavini infections in four salmonids: comparative host susceptibility and site selection of parasites. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 28, 201–209.
- Buchmann, K., Lindenstrøm, T., Nielsen, M.E. and Bresciani, J. (2000). Diagnostik og forekomst af ektoparasitinfecksjoner (*Gyrodactylus* spp.) hos danske laksefisk. *Dansk Veterinærtidsskrift* 83, 15–19 [in Danish].
- Buchmann, K., Lindenstrøm, T. and Bresciani, J. (2001). Defence mechanisms against parasites in fish and the prospect for vaccines. *Acta Parasitologica* **46**, 71–81.
- Buchmann, K., Lindenstrøm, T. and Bresciani, J. (2003). Interactive associations between fish hosts and monogeneans. In: *Parasite Host Interactions* (G. Wiegertjes, ed.), pp. 161–184. Oxford, UK: Bios Scientific Publishers.
- Buchmann, K., Madsen, K.K. and Dalgaard, M.B. (2004). Homing of *Gyrodactylus salaris* and *G. derjavini* (Monogenea) on different hosts and response post-attachment. *Folia Parasitologica* 51, 263–267.
- Busch, S., Dalsgaard, I. and Buchmann, K. (2003). Concomitant exposure of rainbow trout fry to *Gyrodactylus derjavini* and *Flavobacterium psychrophilum*: effects on infection and mortality of host. Veterinary Parasitology **117**, 117–122.
- Bychowsky, B.E. (1947). Concerning a new genus of viviparous monogenetic trematode. *Doklady Akademiya Nauk SSSR* 58, 2139–2141. (In Russian.) (Translation Fisheries Research Board of Canada translation series No. 127.)
- Bychowsky, B.E. (1961). Monogenetic trematodes. Their classification and phylogeny. In: English translation of B.E. Bychowsky (1957), *Monogenetic Trematodes. Their Systematics and Phylogeny* (W.J. Hargis Jr., ed.),

#### THE BIOLOGY OF GYRODACTYLID MONOGENEANS

pp. 1–627, Akad. Nauk USSR (in Russian) by P.C. Oustinoff. Washington, DC: American Institute of Biological Sciences, Graphic Arts Press, Inc.

- Bychowsky, B.E. and Polyansky, Yu.I. (1953). Materials for the recognition of marine monogenetic trematodes of the family Gyrodactylidae Cobb. *Trudy Zoologicesko Instituta* **13**, 91–126.
- Cable, J. and Harris, P.D. (2002). Gyrodactylid developmental biology: historical review, current status and future trends. *International Journal for Parasitology* **32**, 255–280.
- Cable, J. and Tinsley, R.C. (1991). Ultrastructure of photoreceptors in *Pseudodiplorchis americanus* and *Neodiplorchis scaphiopodis* (Monogenea: Polystomatidae). *International Journal for Parasitology* **21**, 81–90.
- Cable, J. and van Oosterhout, C. (2007). The role of innate and acquired resistance in two natural populations of guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*) infected with the ectoparasite *Gyrodactylus turnbulli*. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* (in press).
- Cable, J., Harris, P.D. and Tinsley, R.C. (1996). Ultrastructural adaptations for viviparity in the female reproductive system of gyrodactylid monogeneans. *Tissue and Cell Research* **28**, 515–526.
- Cable, J., Harris, P.D. and Tinsley, R.C. (1997). Melanin deposition in the gut of the monogenean *Macrogyrodactylus polypteri* Malmberg 1957. *International Journal for Parasitology* 27, 1323–1331.
- Cable, J., Harris, P.D. and Tinsley, R.C. (1998). Life history specializations of monogenean flatworms: a review of experimental and microscopical studies. *Microscopy Research and Technique* **42**, 186–199.
- Cable, J., Harris, P.D., Tinsley, R.C. and Lazarus, C.M. (1999). Phylogenetic analysis of *Gyrodactylus* spp. (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) using rDNA sequences. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **77**, 1439–1449.
- Cable, J., Harris, P.D. and Bakke, T.A. (2000). Population growth of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea) on Norwegian and Baltic Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) stocks. *Parasitology* **121**, 621–629.
- Cable, J., Scott, E., and Tinsley, R.C. (2001). Spermatogenesis and migration of sperm in Gyrodactylus turnbulli. 4th International Symposium on Monogenea (ISM4), The University of Queensland, 9/7/01.
- Cable, J., Scott, E.C.G., Tinsley, R.C. and Harris, P.D. (2002a). Behavior favoring transmission in the viviparous monogenean *Gyrodactylus turnbulli*. *Journal of Parasitology* **88**, 183–184.
- Cable, J., Tinsley, R.C. and Harris, P.D. (2002b). Survival, feeding and embryo development of *Gyrodactylus gasterostei* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *Parasitology* **124**, 53–68.
- Cable, J., van Oosterhout, C., Barson, N. and Harris, P.D. (2005). *Gyrodactylus pictae* n. sp. from the Trinidadian swamp guppy *Poecilia picta* Regan, with a discussion on species of *Gyrodactylus* von Nordmann, 1832 and their poeciliid hosts. *Systematic Parasitology* **60**, 159–164.

- Chappell, L.H. (1969). Parasites of 3-spined stickleback *Gasterosteus* aculeatus L from a Yorkshire pond. 1. Seasonal variation of parasite fauna. Journal of Fish Biology 1, 137–152.
- Chevassus, B. and Dorson, M. (1990). Genetics of resistance to disease in fishes. *Aquaculture* **85**, 83–107.
- Christison, K.W., Shinn, A.P. and van As, J.G. (2005). *Gyrodactylus thlapi* n. sp. (Monogenea) from *Pseudocrenilabrus philander philander* (Weber) (Cichlidae) in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Systematic Parasitology* **60**, 165–173.
- Chubb, J.C. (1977). Seasonal occurrence of helminths in freshwater fishes. Part I. Monogenea. *Advances in Parasitology* **15**, 133–199.
- Clark, C.D., Evans, D.J.A., Khatwa, A., Bradwell, T., Jordan, C.J., Marsh, S.H., Mitchell, W.A. and Bateman, M.D. (2004). Map and GIS database of glacial landforms and features related to the last British Ice Sheet. *Boreas* 33, 359–375.
- Cliffe, L.A., Humphreys, N.E., Lane, T.E., Potten, C.S., Booth, C. and Grencis, R.K. (2005). Accelerated intestinal epithelial cell turnover: a new mechanism of parasite expulsion. *Science* **308**, 1463–1465.
- Cobbold, T.S. (1864). *Entozoa: An Introduction to the Study of Helminthology, with reference, more particularly, to the Internal Parasites of Man.* London: Groombridge and Sons.
- Cohen, J. (1977). Reproduction. London: Butterworth.
- Collins, C.M. and Cunningham, C.O. (2000). Characterisation of the *Gyro-dactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) ribosomal intergenic spacer (IGS) DNA. *Parasitology* 83, 215–219.
- Collins, C.M., Cunningham, C.O., Mo, T.A., Buchmann, K. and Lindenstrøm, T. (2000). Use of the intergenic spacer region of ribosomal DNA in the study of *Gyrodactylus* populations. *Acta Parasitologica* 45, 183–184.
- Collins, C.M., Matejusová, I., Sorsa-Leslie, T., Gilbey, J., Cunningham, C.O., Verspoor, E., Noble, L.R., Jones, C.S., Buchmann, K., Olstad, K., Sterud, E. and Mo, T.A. (2003). Investigating the genetic basic of *Gyrodactylus salaris* resistance in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Bulletin of the Scandinavian Society for Parasitology* 13, 34.
- Collins, C.M., Miller, K.A. and Cunningham, C.O. (2004a). Characterization of a beta-tubulin gene from the monogenean parasite, *Gyrodactylus* salaris Malmberg, 1957. Parasitology Research 92, 390–399.
- Collins, C., Matejusová, I., Sorsa-Leslie, T., Gilbey, J., Cunningham, C.O., Verspoor, E., Noble, L., Jones, C., Olstad, K., Sterud, E. and Mo, T.A. (2004b). Investigating the genetic response of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) to *Gyrodactylus salaris* infections. *BSP Joint Spring Meeting and Malaria Meeting*, Chester College, Chester, UK, April 4th–7th, 2004.
- Collins, C.M., Matejusová, I. and Cunningham, C.O. (2005). Investigating the genetic response to *Gyrodactylus salaris* in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). 12th EAFP International Conference on Diseases of Fish and Shellfish, Copenhagen, Denmark, September 11th–16th, 2005.

- Collins, C.M., Olstad, K., Sterud, E., Jones, C.S., Noble, L.R., Mo, T.A. and Cunningham, C.O. (2007). Isolation of a FIP2-like gene from Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*), found upregulated following infection with the monogenean parasite *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* **22**, 282–288.
- Cone, D.K. and Cusack, R. (1988). A study of *Gyrodactylus colemanensis* Mizelle and Kritsky, 1967 and *Gyrodactylus salmonis* (Yin and Sproston, 1948) (Monogenea) parasitizing captive salmonids in Nova Scotia. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 66, 409–415.
- Cone, D.K. and Cusack, R. (1989). Infrapopulation dispersal of Gyrodactylus colemanensis (Monogenea) on fry of Salmo gairdneri. Journal of Parasitology 75, 702–706.
- Cone, D.K. and Odense, P.H. (1984). Pathology of five species of Gyrodactylus Nordmann, 1832 (Monogenea). Canadian Journal of Zoology 62, 1084–1088.
- Cone, D.K. and Odense, P.H. (1988). Light and scanning electron microscope studies of *Fundulotrema prolongis* (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidea) parasitizing *Fundulus diaphanus* (Cyprinodontidae) in Nova Scotia, with an emended diagnosis of *Fundulotrema*. *Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington* 55, 225–228.
- Cone, D.K. and Roth, M. (1993). Prevalence and intensity of *Gyrodactylus* maculosi sp.n. (Monogenea) parasitizing the gills of sculpin (Ologocottus maculosus) in coastal British Columbia, Canada. Journal of the Helminthological Society of Washington **60**, 1–4.
- Cone, D.K. and Wiles, M. (1985). The systematics and zoogeography of *Gyrodactylus* species (Monogenea) parasitizing gasterosteid fishes in North America. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **63**, 956–960.
- Cone, D.K., Beverley-Burton, M. and Wiles, M. (1983). The taxonomy of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea) parasitizing certain salmonid fishes of North America, with a description of *Gyrodactylus nerkae* n. sp. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 61, 2587–2597.
- Copp, G.H. and Kovac, V. (2003). Sympatry between threespine *Gasterosteus aculeatus* and ninespine *Pungitius pungitius* sticklebacks in English lowland streams. *Annales Zoologici Fennici* **40**, 341–355.
- Criscione, C.D., Poulin, R. and Blouin, M. (2005). Molecular ecology of parasites: elucidating ecological and microevolutionary processes. *Molecular Ecology* 14, 2247–2257.
- Cunningham, C.O. (1997). Species variation within the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) ribosomal RNA genes. *Journal of Parasitology* **83**, 215–219.
- Cunningham, C.O. (2002). Gyrodactylus salaris Malmberg, 1957 (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea). In: Molecular Diagnosis of Salmonid Diseases (C.O. Cunningham, ed.), pp. 235–265. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

- Cunningham, C.O. and Johnston, C. (1998). Use of molecular biology methods in identification of *Gyrodactylus* species infecting salmonid fish.
  In: *Methodology in Fish Disease Research* (A.C. Barnes, G.A. Davidson, M.P. Hiney and D. McIntosh, eds), pp. 183–186. Aberdeen, UK: Fisheries Research Services.
- Cunningham, C.O. and Mo, T.A. (1997). Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis of three Norwegian *Gyrodactylus salaris* populations (Monogenea; Gyrodactylidae). *Journal of Parasitology* 83, 311–314.
- Cunningham, C.O., McGilliwray, D.M., MacKenzie, K. and Melvin, W.T. (1995a). Discrimination between *Gyrodactylus salaris*, *G. derjavini* and *G. truttae* (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) using restriction fragment length polymorphisms and an oligonucleotide probe within the small subunit ribosomal RNA gene. *Parasitology* **111**, 87–94.
- Cunningham, C.O., McGilliwray, D.M., MacKenzie, K. and Melvin, W.T. (1995b). Identification of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea) species parasitising salmonid fish using DNA probes. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 18, 539–544.
- Cunningham, C.O., McGilliwray, D.M. and MacKenzie, K. (1995c). Phylogenetic analysis of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 based on the small subunit (18S) ribosomal RNA gene. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **71**, 139–142.
- Cunningham, C.O., Aliesky, H. and Collins, C.M. (2000). Sequence and secondary structure variation in the *Gyrodactylus* (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) ribosomal gene array. *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 567–576.
- Cunningham, C.O., Mo, T.A., Collins, C.M., Buchmann, K., Thiery, R., Blanc, G. and Lautraite, A. (2001). Redescription of *Gyrodactylus teuchis* Lautraite, Blanc, Thiery, Daniel & Vigneulle, 1999 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae), a species identified by ribosomal RNA sequence. *Systematic Parasitology* 48, 141–150.
- Cunningham, C.O., Collins, C.M., Malmberg, G. and Mo, T.A. (2003). Analysis of ribosomal RNA intergenic spacer (IGS) sequences in species and populations of *Gyrodactylus* (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) from salmonid fish in northern Europe. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 57, 237–246.
- Cusack, R. (1986). Developments of infections of *Gyrodactylus colemanensis* Mizelle and Kritsky, 1967 (Monogenea) and the effect on fry of *Salmo gairdneri* Richardson. *Journal of Parasitology* **72**, 663–668.
- Cusack, R. and Cone, D.K. (1986). *Gyrodactylus salmonis* (Yin and Sproston, 1948) parasitizing fry of *Salvelinus fontinalis* (Mitchill). *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 22, 209–213.
- Dalgaard, M.B., Nielsen, C.V. and Buchmann, K. (2003). Comparative susceptibility of two races of *Salmo salar* (Baltic Lule river and Atlantic Conon river strains) to infection with *Gyrodactylus salaris*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 53, 173–176.

- Dalgaard, M.B., Larsen, T.B., Jørndrup, S. and Buchmann, K. (2004). Differing resistance of Atlantic salmon strains and rainbow trout to *Gyrodactylus* salaris infection. Journal of Aquatic and Animal Health 16, 109–115.
- Daniyarov, M.R. (1975). Parasite fauna of fish from the spring Chilu Chor Chasma, Tadzhikistan, with constant and high water temperature. *Parazitologiya* 9, 312–314 [in Russian].
- Dávidová, M., Jarkovský, J., Matějusová, I. and Gelnar, M. (2005). Seasonal occurrence and metrical variability of *Gyrodactylus rhodei* Žitňan, 1964 (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). *Parasitology Research* 95, 398–405.
- de Beauchamp, P.M. (1912). *Isancistrum loliginis*, n.g. n. sp., trematode parasite du calmar et l'existance de *Solenocotyle chiajei* Diesing. *Bulletin de la Societe Zoologique Francaise* **37**, 96–99.
- de Clers, S.D. (1993). Modelling the impact of disease-induced mortality on the population size of wild salmonids. *Fisheries Research* **17**, 237–248.
- Denham, K.L. and Longshaw, J. (1999). Occurrence of Gyrodactylus thymalli Žitňan, 1960 on Grayling, Thymallus thymallus (L.), in England. Journal of Fish Diseases 22, 247–252.
- Dickinson, A.B. and Threlfall, W. (1975). Metazoan parasites of *Fundulus heteroclitus* (Linnaeus, 1766) from insular Newfoundland. *Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington* **42**, 111–116.
- Dmitrieva, E.V. (2003). Transmission triggers and pathways in *Gyrodactylus* sphinx (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). Vestnik Zoologii **37**, 67–72.
- Dmitrieva, E.V. and Dimitrov, G. (2002). Variability in the taxonomic characters of Black Sea gyrodactylids. *Systematic Parasitology* **51**, 199–206.
- Dmitrieva, E.V. and Gerasev, P.I. (1997). On the fauna of *Gyrodactylus* (Gyrodactylidae, Monogenea) of Black Sea fishes. *Zoologichesky Zhurnal* **76**, 979–984 [in Russian].
- Dolmen, D. and Mehli, S.A. (1988). Revidert handlingsplan for tiltak mot lakseparasitten *Gyrodactylus salaris*. *Direktoratet for naturforvaltning*, *Trondheim*, *Rapport* 1998, 1–39 [in Norwegian].
- Dolmen, D., Arnekleiv, J.V. and Haukebø, T. (1995). Rotenone tolerance in the freshwater pearl mussel *Margaritifera margaritifera*. Nordic Journal of Freshwater Research 2, 21–30.
- Dusek, L., Gelnar, M. and Sebelova, S. (1998). Biodiversity of parasites in a freshwater environment with respect to pollution: metazoan parasites of chub (*Leuciscus cephalus* L.) as a model for statistical evaluation. *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1555–1571.
- Egidius, E., Hansen, L.P., Jonsson, B. and Nævdal, G. (1991). Mutual impact of wild and cultured Atlantic salmon in Norway. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 47, 404–410.
- Eiras, J.C. (1999). Ocorrência de *Gyrodactylus* spp. (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) em Portugal e sua importância. *Acta Parasitológica Portuguesa* **2**, 71–73 (in Portuguese, English summary).

- El-Abbassay, S.A. (2001). Biological and histochemical studies on some monogenean parasites of the catfish Clarias gariepinus inhabiting Nile Delta Waters. M.Sc. thesis, University of Mansoura, Egypt.
- El-Naggar, M.M. and Cable, J. Ultrastructural observations on the elusive subtegumental cells of the viviparous gill monogenean *Macro-gyrodactylus clarii. Parasitology Research* (in press).
- Elder, J.F. and Turner, B.J. (1995). Concerted evolution of repetitive DNA sequences in eukaryotes. *Quarterly Reviews of Biology* **70**, 297–320.
- El-Naggar, M.M. and Serag, H.M. (1987). Redescription of *Macro-gyrodactylus clarii* Gussev, 1961, a monogenean gill parasite of *Clarias lazera* in Egypt. *Arab Gulf Journal of Research Series B—Agricultural and Biological Sciences* **5**, 257–271.
- El-Naggar, M.M., Arafa, S.Z., El-Abassy, S.A. and Kearn, G.C. (2001). Chaetotaxy of the monogeneans *Macrogyrodactylus clarii* and *M. congolensis* from the gills and skin of the catfish *Clarias gariepinus* in Egypt, with a note on argentophillic elements in the nervous system. *Folia Parasitologica* **48**, 201–208.
- El-Naggar, M.M., Arafa, S.Z., El-Abbassy, S.A., Stewart, M.T. and Halton, D.W. (2004a). Neuromusculature of *Macrogyrodactylus clarii*, a monogenean gill parasite of the Nile catfish *Clarias gariepinus* in Egypt. *Parasitology Research* 94, 163–175.
- El-Naggar, M.M., El-Naggar, A.A. and Kearn, G.C. (2004b). Swimming in *Gyrodactylus rysavyi* (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) from the Nile catfish, *Claeias gariepinus. Acta Parasitologica* **49**, 102–107.
- El-Said Arafa, S.Z. (1998). *Biological studies on some monogenean parasites* of the teleost Clarias gariepinus in Dakahlia province. Ph.D. thesis, University of Mansoura, Egypt.
- Embody, G.C. (1924). Notes on the control of *Gyrodactylus* on trout. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **54**, 48–53.
- Endler, J.A. (1980). Natural selection on colour patterns in *Poecilia reticulata*. *Evolution* **34**, 76–91.
- Endler, J.A. (1986). *Natural Selection in the Wild*. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Ergens, R. (1957). *Gyrodactylus hrabei* n.sp. s ploutví varanky obecné. *Acta Societatis Zoologicae Bohemoslovenicae* 22, 143–147 [in Czech, German summary].
- Ergens, R. (1961). Zwei weitere Befunde der *Gyrodactylus*-art (Monogenoidea) aus der Tschechoslovakei. *Acta Societatis Zoologicae Bohemoslovacae* 25, 25–27.
- Ergens, R. (1969). The suitability of ammonium picrate-glycerin in preparing slides of lower Monogenoidea. *Folia Parasitologica* **16**, 320.
- Ergens, R. (1971). Dactylogyridae and Gyrodactylidae (Monogenoidea) from some fishes from mongolia. *Folia Parasitologica* **18**, 241–254.

- Ergens, R. (1983). *Gyrodactylus* from Eurasian freshwater Salmonidae and Thymallidae. *Folia Parasitologica* **30**, 15–26.
- Ergens, R. (1985a). Order Gyrodactylidea Bychowsky, 1937. In: Key to the Parasites of the Freshwater Fish Fauna of the USSR (A. Gussev, ed.), Vol. 2, pp. 269–347. Leningrad: Nauka [in Russian].
- Ergens, R. (1985b). Class Monogenea. In: Parasites of Freshwater Fishes of the USSR (A. Gussev, ed.), 2nd edn, pp. 269–347. Leningrad: Akademiya Nauk SSSR [in Russian].
- Ergens, R. (1992a). Gyrodactylus bohemicus sp.n. (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) from Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum) and Salvelinus fontinalis (Mitchill) (Clupeiformes: Salmonidae) in Czechoslovakia. Folia Parasitologica 39, 391–394.
- Ergens, R. (1992b). Redescription of *Gyrodactylus truttae* Gläser, 1974 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) from *Salmo trutta* m. *fario* L. (Clupeiformes: Salmonidae). *Folia Parasitologica* **39**, 2001–2006.
- Ernst, I. (1999). *Taxonomy and Biology of the Gyrodactylidae (Monogenea)*. Ph.D. thesis, University of Queensland, Australia.
- Ernst, I., Whittington, I.D. and Jones, M.K. (2000). Three new species of *Polyclithrum* Rogers, 1967 (Gyrodactylidae: Monogenea) from mugilid fishes from Australia and Brazil, with a redescription of *P. mugilini* Rogers 1967. *Systematic Parasitology* 45, 61–73.
- Ernst, I., Jones, M.K. and Whittington, I.D. (2001a). A new genus of viviparous gyrodactylid (Monogenea) from the Great Barrier Reef, Australia with descriptions of seven new species. *Journal of Natural History* 35, 313–340.
- Ernst, I., Whittington, I.D. and Jones, M.K. (2001b). Diversity of gyrodactylids from some marine fishes in tropical and subtropical Queensland, Australia. *Folia Parasitologica* **48**, 165–168.
- Euzet, L. and Birgi, E. (1988). Gyreteroncus n. gen. (Gyrodactylidae) parasite of Mormyridae in West Africa. Proceedings of the 1st International Symposium on Monogenea, Institute of Parasitology, Czech Academy of Sciences, Ceske Budejovice, p. 9.
- Evans, B.J., Kelley, D.B., Melnick, D.J. and Cannatella, D.C. (2005). Evolution of RAG-1 in polyploid clawed frogs. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 22, 1193–1207.
- Fahrenholz, H. (1913). Ectoparasiten und Abstammungs-lehre. Zoologischer Anzeiger 41, 371–374.
- Feder, J.L., Berlocher, S.H., Roethele, J.B., Dambroski, H., Smith, J.J., Perry, W.L., Gavrilovic, V., Filchak, K.E., Rull, J. and Aluja, M. (2003). Allopatric genetic origins for sympatric host-plant shifts and race formation in *Rhagoletis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science* 100, 10314–10319.
- Ferraz, E., Shinn, A.P. and Sommerville, C. (1994). *Gyrodactylus gemini* n. sp. (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae), a parasite of *Semaprochilodus*

*taeniurus* (Steindachner) from the Venezuelan Amazon. *Systematic Par-asitology* **29**, 217–222.

- Fevolden, S.E., Refstie, T. and Røed, K.H. (1992). Disease resistance in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) selected for stress response. *Aquaculture* **104**, 19–29.
- Fishelson, Z. (1989). Complement and parasitic trematodes. *Parasitology Today* **5**, 19–25.
- Fjalestad, K.T., Larsen, H.J. and Røed, K.H. (1996). Antibody response in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) against *Vibrio anguillarum* and *Vibrio salmonicida* O-antigens: heritabilities, genetic correlations and correlations with survival. *Aquaculture* 145, 77–89.
- Fjeldstad, H.-P. (2004). Bekjempelse av *Gyrodactylus salaris* med hjelp av fysiske sperrer. *Norsk Veterinærtidsskrift* **3**, 168–172 [in Norwegian].
- Friggens, M.M. and Brown, J.H. (2005). Niche partitioning in the cestode communities of two elasmobranchs. *Oikos* 108, 76–84.
- Funder, S., Demidov, I. and Yelovicheva, Y. (2002). Hydrography and mollusc faunas of the Baltic and the White Sea–North Sea seaway in the Eemian. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 184, 275–304.
- Furhmann, O. (1928). Zweite Klasse des Cladus Platyhelminthes. Trematoda. In: *Handbuch der Zoologie* (W. Kükenthal and T. Krumbach, eds) pp. 1–32. Berlin, Leipzig 2: Walter de Gruyter (in German).
- Geets, A., Appleby, C. and Ollevier, F. (1999). Host-dependent and seasonal variation in opisthaptoral hard parts of *Gyrodactylus* cf *arcuatus* from three *Pomatoschistus* species and *G. arcuatus* from *Gasterosteus aculeatus*: a multivariate approach. *Parasitology* **119**, 27–40.
- Gelnar, M. (1987a). Experimental verification of the effect of water temperature on micropopulation growth of *Gyrodactylus katharineri* Malmberg, 1964 (Monogenea) paraziting carp fry (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). Folia Parasitologica 34, 19–23.
- Gelnar, M. (1987b). Experimental verification of the effect of the form (scaly or scaleless) of carp host (*C. carpio* L.) on the growth rate of micropopulations of *Gyrodactylus katharineri* Malmberg, 1964 (Monogenea). *Folia Parasitologica* 34, 305–309.
- Gelnar, M. (1987c). Experimental verification of the effect of physical conditions of *Gobio gobio* (L.) on the growth rate of micropopulations of *Gyrodactylus gobiensis* Gläser, 1974 (Monogenea). *Folia Parasitologica* 34, 211–217.
- Gelnar, M. (1990). Experimental verification of the water temperature effect on the micropopulation growth of *Gyrodactylus rutilensis* Gläser, 1974 (Monogenea). *Folia Parastologica* **37**, 113–114.
- Gelnar, M. (1991). Experimental verification of constant and changing water temprature on the micropopulation growth in *Gyrodactylus gobiensis* Gläser, 1974 (Monogenea) parasitizing gudgeon (*Gobio gobio* L.). Folia Parastologica 38, 123–131.

- Gheorgiu, C., Cable, J., Marcogliese, D.J. and Scott, M. (2007). Toxic effects of waterborne zink on reproduction, survival and morphology of *Gyrodactylus turnbulli* (Monogenea) on guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*). *International Journal for Parasitology* (in press).
- Gilbey, J. (2004). Genome localization of genes associated with *Gyro-dactylus salaries* resistance in Atlantic salmon. In: *Diagnosis and Control of Fish Diseases* (K. Buchmann, ed.), p. 19. Fredriksberg C, Denmark: Sustainable Control of Fish Diseases (SCOFDA) Workshop, Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, November 3 and 4, 2004.
- Gilbey, J., Verspoor, E., Mo, T.A., Sterud, E., Olstad, K., Hytterød, S., Jones, C. and Noble, L. (2006). Identification of genetic markers associated with *Gyrodactylus salaris* resistance in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* **71**, 119–129.
- Gille, K. (1914). Untersuchungen über die Eireifung, Befruchtung und Zellteilung von *Gyrodactylus elegans* v. Nordmann. *Archive Zellforschmung* **12**, 415–456 [in German].
- Gläser, H.J. (1974). Six new species of the *Gyrodactylus-wageneri*-group (Monogena, Gyrodactylidae) including observations on preparation, determination, terminology and host specificity. *Zoologischer Anzeiger* 192, 56–76 [in German].
- Gomez, A., Carvalho, G.R. and Lunt, D.H. (2000). Phylogeography and regional endemism of a passively dispersing zooplankter: mitochondrial DNA variation in rotifer resting egg banks. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, **267**, 2189–2197.
- Gosalvez, M. (1983). Carcinogenesis with the insecticide rotenone. *Life Science* **32**, 808–816.
- Gould, S.J. (1977). Ontogeny and Phylogeny. Harvard: Belknap Press.
- Greenwood, P.H., Rosen, D.E., Weitzman, S.H. and Myers, G.S. (1966). Phyletic studies of teleostean fishes, with a provisional classification of living forms. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* **131**, 339–445.
- Grutter, A.S. (2002). Cleaning symbioses from the parasites' perspective. *Parasitology* **124**, S65–S81.
- Grutter, A.S., Deveney, M.R., Whittington, I.D. and Lester, R.J.G. (2002). The cleaner fish *Labroides dimidiatus* affects the capsalid monogenean *Benedenia lolo* on the labrid fish *Hemigymnus melapterus* on the Great Barrier Reef. *Journal of Fish Biology* **61**, 1098–1108.
- Guberlet, J.E., Hansen, W.A. and Kavanagh, J.A. (1927). Studies on the control of *Gyrodactylus*. University of Washington Publications in Fisheries 2, 17–29.
- Gum, B., Gross, R. and Kuehn, R. (2005). Mitochondrial and nuclear DNA phylogeography of European grayling (*Thymallus thymallus*): evidence for secondary contact zones in central Europe. *Molecular Ecology* 14, 1707–1725.
- Gussev, A.V. (1953). Materials on monogenetic trematodes of fishes of Amur. *Trudy Zoologica* **13**, 127–136 [in Russian].
- Gussev, A.V. (1955). Monogenetic trematodes from fishes of the Amur river system. Sb. Rab. Parazitologii, Trudy Zoologicheskogo Instituta, Akademiya Nauk SSSR 19, 171–399 [in Russian].
- Gussev, A.V. (1985). Key to the Parasites of Freshwater Fishes of the USSR Fauna. Vol 2. Parasitic Metazoans pt 1. Moskva: Nauka [in Russian].
- Guttvik, K.T., Moen, A. and Skår, K. (2004). Bekjempelse av lakseparasitten *Gyrodactylus salaris* ved bruk av plantegiften rotenon. *Norsk Veterinærtidsskrift* **3**, 172–174 [in Norwegian].
- Gvosdev, E.V. and Martechov, P.F. (1953). Parasites of fish from the Ili River basin. *Izvvestiya Akademii Nauk Kazakhskoi SSR, Alma Alta Seria Biologia* **8**, 92–114 [in Russian].
- Gysels, E.S., Hellemans, B., Pampoulie, C. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2004). Phylogeography of the common goby *Pomatoschistus microps*, with particular emphasis on the colonisation of the Mediterranean and North Sea. *Molecular Ecology* **13**, 403–417.
- Haeckel, E. (1874). The gastraea-theory, the phylogenetic classification of the Animal Kingdom and the homology of the germ-lamellae. *Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science* 14, 142–165, 223–247.
- Hafner, M.S. and Nadler, S.A. (1988). Phylogenetic trees support the coevolution of parasites and their hosts. *Nature* **332**, 258–259.
- Halton, D.W. (1997). Nutritional adaptations to parasitism within the Platyhelminthes. *International Journal for Parasitology* **27**, 693–704.
- Halton, D.W. and Maule, A.G. (2004). Flatworm nerve–muscle: structural and functional analysis. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **82**, 316–333.
- Halton, D.W. and Stranock, S.D. (1976). The fine structure and histochemistry of the caecal epithelium of *Calicotyle kroyeri* (Monogenea: Monopisthocotylea). *International Journal of Parasitology* **6**, 253–263.
- Halvorsen, O. and Hartvigsen, R. (1989). A review of the biogeography and epidemiology of *Gyrodactylus salaris*. *NINA Utredning* **2**, 1–41.
- Hänfling, B., Hellemans, B., Volckaert, F.A.M. and Carvalho, G.R. (2002). Late glacial history of the cold-adapted freshwater fish *Cottus gobio*, revealed by microsatellites. *Molecular Ecology* **11**, 1717–1729.
- Hansen, L.P. (1990). Exploitation of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) from the River Drammenselv, SE Norway. Fisheries Research 10, 125–135.
- Hansen, L.P. (1991). Rehabilitation of the Atlantic salmon stock in the River Drammenselva, SE Norway. In: *Proceedings of the Symposium on Strategies for the Rehabilitation of Salmon Rivers* (D. Mills, ed.), pp. 140–146. London: Linnean Society of London, The Atlantic Salmon Trust, and Institute of Fisheries Management.
- Hansen, H., Bachmann, L. and Bakke, T.A. (2003). Mitochondrial DNA variation of *Gyrodactylus* spp. (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) populations infecting Atlantic salmon, grayling and rainbow trout in Norway and Sweden. *International Journal for Parasitology* 33, 1471–1478.

- Hansen, H., Bakke, T.A. and Bachmann, L. (2005). Evolution of the intergenic spacer region in *Gyrodactylus salaris* and *G. thymalli*; implications for taxonomy and systematics. *Bulletin of the Scandinavian-Baltic Society for Parasitology* 14, 68–69.
- Hansen, H., Martinsen, L., Bakke, T.A. and Bachmann, L. (2006). The incongruence of nuclear and mitochondrial DNA variation supports conspecificity of the monogenean parasites *Gyrodactylus salaris* and *G. thymalli. Parasitology* 133, 639–650.
- Hansen, H., Bakke, T.A. and Bachmann, L. (2007). Mitochondrial haplotype diversity of *Gyrodactylus thymalli* (Platyhelminthes; Monogenea): extended geographic sampling in United Kingdom, Poland, and Norway reveals further lineages. *Parasitology Research* (in press).
- Hanzelová, V. and Zitnan, R. (1982). The seasonal dynamics of the invasion cycle of *Gyrodactylus katharineri* Malmber, 1964 (Monogenea). *Helminthologia* 19, 257–265.
- Harris, D.J. and Crandall, K.A. (2000). Intragenomic variation within ITS1 and ITS2 of freshwater crayfishes (Decapoda: Cambaridae): implications for phylogenetic and microsatellite studies. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 17, 284–291.
- Harris, P.D. (1980). The effect of temperature upon population growth in the viviparous monogeneans *Gyrodactylus*. *Parasitology* **81**, R26.
- Harris, P.D. (1982). Studies on the biology of the Gyrodactyloidea (Monogenea). Ph.D. thesis, Westfield College, London.
- Harris, P.D. (1983). The morphology and life-cycle of the oviparous *Oögyrodactylus farlowellae* gen. et sp. nov. (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidea). *Parasitology* **87**, 405–420.
- Harris, P.D. (1985). Observations on the development of the male reproductive system in *Gyrodactylus gasterostei* Gläser, 1974 (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). *Parasitology* **91**, 519–529.
- Harris, P.D. (1986). Species of *Gyrodactylus* von Nordmann, 1832 (Monogenea Gyrodactylidae) from poeciliid fishes, with a description of *G. turnbulli* sp. nov. from the guppy, *Poecilia reticulata* Peters. *Journal of Natural History* 20, 183–191.
- Harris, P.D. (1988). Changes in the site specificity of *Gyrodactylus turnbulli* Harris, 1986 (Monogenea) during individual infections of guppies (*Poecilia reticulata* Peters). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 66, 2854– 2857.
- Harris, P.D. (1989). Interactions between population growth and sexual reproduction in the viviparous monogenean *Gyrodactylus turnbulli* Harris, 1986 from the guppy *Poecilia reticulata* Peters. *Parasitology* **98**, 245–251.
- Harris, P.D. (1993). Interactions between reproduction and population biology in gyrodactylid monogeneans—a review. *Bulletin Francais de la Pêche et de la Pisciculture* 1, 47–65.

- Harris, P.D. (1998). Ecological and genetic evidence for clonal reproduction in *Gyrodactylus gasterostei* Gläser, 1974. *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1595–1607.
- Harris, P.D. and Cable, J. (2000). Gyrodactylus poeciliae n. sp. and G. milleri n. sp. (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) from Poecilia caucana (Steindachner) from Venezuela. Systematic Parasitology 47, 79–85.
- Harris, P.D. and Lyles, A.M. (1992). Infections of Gyrodactylus bullatarudis and Gyrodactylus turnbulli on Guppies (Poecilia reticulata) in Trinidad. *Journal of Parasitology* **78**, 912–914.
- Harris, P.D. and Tinsley, R.C. (1987). The biology of *Gyrdicotylus gallieni* (Gyrodactylidae), an unusual viviparous monogenean from the African clawed toad *Xenopus laevis. Journal of Zoology, London* **212**, 325–346.
- Harris, P.D., Jansen, P.A. and Bakke, T.A. (1994). The population age structure and reproductive biology of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea). *Parasitology* 108, 167–173.
- Harris, P.D., Cable, J. and Tinsley, R.C. (1997). Detection of sperms within *Gyrodactylus* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) tissues using fluorescence. *Parasitology Research* **83**, 533–538.
- Harris, P.D., Soleng, A. and Bakke, T.A. (1998). Killing of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) mediated by host complement. *Parasitology* 117, 137–143.
- Harris, P.D., Cable, J., Tinsley, R.C. and Lazarus, C.M. (1999). Combined ribosomal DNA and morphological analysis of individual gyrodactylid monogeneans. *Journal of Parasitology* 85, 188–191.
- Harris, P.D., Soleng, A. and Bakke, T.A. (2000). Increased susceptibility of salmonids to the monogenean *Gyrodactylus salaris* following administration of hydrocortisone acetate. *Parasitology* **120**, 57–64.
- Harris, P.D., Shinn, A.P., Cable, J. and Bakke, T.A. (2004). Nominal species of the genus *Gyrodactylus* v. Nordmann 1832 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae), with a list of principal host species. *Systematic Parasitology* 59, 1–27.
- Hartvigsen, R. (ed.). (1997). Effects of rotenone on the fauna of Norwegian salmon rivers: report from the consensus-meeting. *NINA Oppdragsmelding*, **497**, 1–30 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Haukebø, T., Eide, O., Skjelstad, B., Bakkeli, G., Tønset, K. and Stensli, J.H. (2000). Rotenonbehandling som tiltak mot lakseparasitten *Gyrodactylus* salaris. En gjennomgang av metodikk, utstyr og rutiner med forslag til forbedringer. Utredning for DN, Nr. 2000-2, 1–80 [in Norwegian].
- Hebert, P.D.N., Cywinska, A., Ball, S.L. and DeWaard, J.R. (2003).
  Biological identifications through DNA barcodes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences* 270, 313–321.
- Heggberget, T.G. and Johnsen, B.O. (1982). Infestations by *Gyrodactylus* sp. of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., in Norwegian rivers. *Journal of Fish Biology* 21, 15–26.

- Heinecke, R.D. (2005). Undersøgelser af modtageligheden hos forskellige stammer af laks (*Salmo salar*), over for ektoparasitten *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 - samt belysning af mekanismer involveret i et immunrespons mod *Gyrodactylus*. *Specialerapport i biologi* 2005, Den Kgl. Veterinær- og Landbohøjskole, København (in Danish, English summary).
- Hessen, D.O. (1997). Rotenonbehandling: arter på vektskålen. *NINA Oppdra*gsmelding **497**, 25–28 [in Norwegian].
- Hewitt, G.M. (1999). Postglacial recolonization of European biota. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 68, 87–112.
- Hewitt, G.M. (2004). Genetic consequences of climatic oscillations in the Quaternary. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, London B* 359, 183–195.
- Hindar, K. (1997). Genetiske effecter av rotenone på fisk. *NINA Oppdragsmelding* **497**, 13–16 [in Norwegian].
- Hindar, K., Fleming, I.A., Jonsoon, N., Breistein, J., Sægrov, H., Karlsbakk, E., Gammelsæter, M. and Dønnum, B.O. (1996). Rainbow trout in Norway: occurrence, reproduction and establishment. *NINA Oppdragsmelding* **454**, 1–32 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Hjeltnes, B., Mo, T.A., Jansen, P.A., Brabrand, Å., Johnsen, B.O., Stensli, J.H. and Bakke, T.A. (2006). Ny påvisning av *Gyrodactylus salaris* i Steinkjervassdraget og Figga i 2005: Mulige årsaker. *Veterinær-instituttet*, *Rapport* 2006, 1–22 [in Norwegian].
- Hodneland, K. and Nilsen, F. (1994). On the occurrence and morphology of *Gyrodactylus pterygialis* from saithe *Pollachius virens* in a Norwegian ford. *Journal of Parasitology* **80**, 938–945.
- Hoffmann, G.I. and Putz, R.E. (1964). Studies on Gyrodactylus macrochiri n.sp. (Trematoda: Monogenea) from Lepomis macrochirus. Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington 31, 76–82.
- Høgåsen, H.R. and Brun, E. (2003). Risk of inter-river transmission of *Gyrodactylus salaris* by migrating Atlantic salmon smolts, estimated by Monte Carlo simulation. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 57, 247–254.
- Houde, A. (1997). Sex, Color and Mate Choice in Guppies. Oxford: Princeton University Press.
- Houde, A.E. and Torio, A.J. (1992). Effects of parasite infection on male colour pattern and female choice in guppies. *Behaviour Ecology* 3, 346–351.
- Huyse, T. (2002). Evolutionary associations between *Gyrodactylus* and its goby host: bound forever? Doctoraatsthesis, Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, België.
- Huyse, T. and Malmberg, G. (2004). Molecular and morphological comparisons between *Gyrodactylus ostendicus* n. sp. (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) on *Pomatoschistus microps* (Krøyer) and *G. harengi*

Malmberg, 1957 on *Clupea harengus membras* L. *Systematic Parasitology* **58**, 105–113.

- Huyse, T. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2002). Identification of a host associated species complex using molecular and morphometric analyses, with the description of *Gyrodactylus rugiensioides* n. sp. (Gyrodactylidae, Monogenea). *International Journal for Parasitology* **32**, 907–919.
- Huyse, T. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2005). Comparing host and parasite phylogenies: *Gyrodactylus* flatworms jumping from goby to goby. *Systematic Biology* **54**, 710–718.
- Huyse, T., Audenaert, V. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2003). Speciation and host-parasite relationships in the parasite genus *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea, Platyhelminthes) infecting gobies of the genus *Pomatoschistus* (Gobiidae, Teleostei). *International Journal for Parasitology* **33**, 1679–1689.
- Huyse, T., Malmberg, G. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2004a). Four new species of *Gyrodactylus* von Nordmann, 1832 (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) on gobiid fishes: combined DNA and morphological analyses. *Systematic Parasitology* **59**, 103–120.
- Huyse, T., Van Houdt, J. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2004b). Palaeoclimatic history and vicariant speciation in the "sand goby" group (Gobiidae, Teleostei). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **32**, 324–326.
- Huyse, T., Plaisance, L., Webster, B.L., Mo, T.A., Bakke, T.A., Bachmann, L., Littlewood, D.T.J. (2007). The mitochondrial genome of *Gyrodactylus* salaris (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea: Monopisthocotylea), a pathogen of Atlantic salmon. *Parasitology* (in press).
- Hytterød, S., Pettersen, R.A., Høgberget, R., Lydersen, E., Mo, T.A., Hagen, A.G., Kristensen, T., Berntsen, S., Abrahamsen, B. and Poléo, A.B.S. (2005). Forsøk på utryddelse av *Gyrodactylus salaris* i Batnfjordelva ved hjelp av aluminium som hovedkjemikalium. Sluttrapport 2004-Gyromet. *NIVA Rapport LNR 5015-2005*, pp. 1–31. (In Norwegian.)
- Ieshko, E.P., Berland, B., Shulman, B., Bristow, G. and Shurov, I. (1995). On some parasites of salmon parr (*Salmo salar* L., 1758) (Pisces, Salmonidae) from rivers of the Karelian White Sea Basin. Abstract Fourth International Symposium of Ichthyoparasitology, Munich, Germany, October 3rd-7th, p. 100.
- Ieshko, E.P., Shulman, B.S. and Shurov, I.L. (1996). Pecularities of the Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) parasite fauna. In: Report from Seminar on Fish Diseases and Organisation of the Fish Health Service in the Finnish, Norwegian and Russian Parts of the Barents Region (T. Larsen, ed.), pp. 52–54. Høgskolen i Finnmark 12.
- Ingram, G.A. (1980). Substances involved in the natural resistance of fish to infection—a review. *Journal of Fish Biology* **16**, 23–60.
- Ishikawa, N. (1994). Histochemical characteristics of the goblet cell mucins and their role in defence mechanisms against *Nippostrongylus*

*brasiliensis* infection in the small intestine of mice. *Parasite Immunology* **16**, 649–654.

- Ishikawa, N., Shi, B.B., Khan, A.I. and Nawa, L. (1995). Reserpine-induced sulphomucin production by goblet cells in the jejunum of rats and its significance in the establishment of intestinal helminths. *Parasite Immunology* 17, 581–586.
- Jackson, J.A. and Tinsley, R.C. (1994). Infrapopulation dynamics of *Gyrdiocotylus gallieni* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *Parasitology* **108**, 447–452.
- Jackson, J.A. and Tinsley, R.C. (1995). Sclerite growth and morphometric variation in *Gyrdicotylus gallieni* Vercammen-Grandjean, 1960 (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) from *Xenopus laevis laevis* (Anura). *Systematic Parasitology* 31, 1–9.
- Jalali, B., Shamsi, S. and Barzegar, M. (2005). Occurrence of *Gyrodactylus* spp. (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) from Iranian freshwater fish. *Iranian Journal of Fisheries Sciences* 4, 19–30.
- Jansen, P.A. and Bakke, T.A. (1991). Temperature-dependent reproduction and survival of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) on the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Parasitology* 102, 105–112.
- Jansen, P.A. and Bakke, T.A. (1993a). Regulatory processes in the monogenean *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg–Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) association: I. Field studies in south-east Norway. *Fisheries Research* 17, 87–101.
- Jansen, P.A. and Bakke, T.A. (1993b). Regulatory processes in the monogenean Gyrodactylus salaris Malmberg–Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) association: II. Experimental studies. Fisheries Research 17, 103–114.
- Jansen, P.A. and Bakke, T.A. (1995). Susceptibility of brown trout to *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea) under experimental conditions. *Journal of Fish Biology* **46**, 415–422.
- Jansen, P.A., Høgåsen, H.R. and Brun, E. (2005). En vurdering av risiko for spredning av *Gyrodactylus salaris* knyttet til ulike potensielle smitteveier. *Veterinærinstiuttet, Rapport* **2005**, 1–20 [in Norwegian].
- Jansen, P.A., Matthews, L. and Toft, N. (2007). Geographic risk factors for inter-river dispersal of *Gyrodactylus salaris* in fjord systems in Norway. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 74, 139–149.
- Jara, C.A. and Cone, D.K. (1989). *Scleroductus yuncensi* gen et sp.n. (Monogenea) from *Pimellodella yuncensis* (Siluriformes: Pimelodidae) in Peru. *Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington* **56**, 125–127.
- Jara, C., An, L. and Cone, D. (1991). Accessorius peruensis gen. et sp. n. (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) from Lebiasina bimaculata (Characidae) in Peru. Journal of the Helminthological Society of Washington 58, 164–166.

- Jensen, A.J. and Johnsen, B.O. (1992). Site specificity of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 (Monogenea) on Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) in the river Lakselva, northern Norway. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 70, 264–267.
- Jiggins, C.D. and Bridle, J. (2004). Speciation in the apple maggot fly: a blend of vintages. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **19**, 111–114.
- Johnsen, B.O. (1978). The effect of an attack by the parasite *Gyrodactylus* salaris on the population of salmon parr in the river Lakselva, Misvær in Northern Norway. Astarte 11, 7–9.
- Johnsen, B.O. and Jensen, A.J. (1986). Infestations of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, by Gyrodactylus salaris in Norwegian rivers. Journal of Fish Biology 26, 233–241.
- Johnsen, B.O. and Jensen, A.J. (1988). Introduction and establishment of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957, on Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., fry and parr in the River Vefsna, northern Norway. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 11, 34–45.
- Johnsen, B.O. and Jensen, A.J. (1991). The *Gyrodactylus* story in Norway. *Aquaculture* **98**, 289–302.
- Johnsen, B.O. and Jensen, A.J. (1992). Infection of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., by Gyrodactylus salaris, Malmberg 1957, in the River Lakselva, Misvær in northern Norway. Journal of Fish Biology 40, 433–444.
- Johnsen, B.O. and Jensen, A.J. (1997). Density of Atlantic salmon parr and occurrence of *Gyrodactylus salaris* in the river Lærdalselva in 1996. *NINA Oppdragmelding* **459**, 1–17 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Johnsen, B.O. and Jensen, A.J. (2003). Gyrodactylus salaris in Norwegian waters. In: Atlantic Salmon: Biology, Conservation and Restoration, pp. 38-44. Petrozavodsk: Russian Academy of Sciences, Karelian Research Center, Institute of Biology.
- Johnsen, B.O., Jensen, A.J. and Møkkelgjerd, P.I. (1997). Reetablering av laks i rotenonbehandlede vassdrag. *NINA Oppdragsmelding* **497**, 16–22 [in Norwegian].
- Johnsen, B.O., Møkkelgjerd, P.I. and Jensen, A.J. (1999). The parasite *Gyrodactylus salaris* on salmon parr in Norwegian rivers, status report at the beginning of year 2000. *NINA Oppdargsmelding* **617**, 1–129 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Johnsen, B.O., Hindar, K., Balstad, T., Hvidsten, N.A., Jensen, A.J., Jensås, J.G., Syversveen, M. and Østborg, G. (2004). Atlantic salmon and *Gyrodactylus* in the rivers Vefsna and Driva. *Annual Report 2004 NINA Report* 34, 1–33 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Johnston, C., MacKenzie, K., Cunningham, C.O., Eiras, J.C. and Bruno, D.W. (1996). Occurrence of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmber, 1957 in Portugal. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* 16, 89–91.
- Jones, M.K., Ernst, E. and Whittington, I.D. (1997). Variation in the egg cell forming region of *Gyrodactylus kobayashii* Hukuda, 1940 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *International Journal for Parasitology* **27**, 507–516.

- Jones, M.K., Ernst, E. and Whittington, I.D. (1998). The uterine epithelium of *Gyrodactylus kobayashii* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae): ultrastructure of basal matrices, cytoplasmic membranes and the birth plug, and comparison with other reproductive epithelia. *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1805–1815.
- Jørgensen, T.R., Larsen, T.B., Kania, P.W. and Buchmann, K. (2006). Characterisation of a low pathogenic strain of *Gyrodactylus salaris* from rainbow trout. In: *Diagnosis and Control of Fish Diseases* (K. Buchmann, ed.), pp. 11–12. Fredriksberg C, Denmark: Sustainable Control of Fish Diseases (SCOFDA) Workshop, Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, April 4 and 5, 2006.
- Jørndrup, S. and Buchmann, K. (2005). Different carbohydrate localization on *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 and *G. derjavini* Mikailov, 1975 and corresponding carbohydrate binding capacity of their hosts *Salmo salar* L. and *S. trutta* L. *Journal of Helminthology* **79**, 41–46.
- Justine, J.-L. (1993). Ultrastructure of the Monogenea: lists of investigated species and organs. *Bulletin Francais de la Pêche et de la Pisciculture* **328**, 156–188.
- Justine, J.-L. (2001). Spermatozoa as phylogenetic characters for the Platyhelminthes. In: *Interrelationships of the Plathyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 231–238. London and New York: Taylor and Francis.
- Justine, J.-L., Lambert, A. and Mattei, X. (1985). Spermatozoon ultrastructure and phylogenetic relationships in the monogeneans (Platyhelminthes). *International Journal for Parasitology* 15, 601–608.
- Kamiso, H.N. and Olson, R.E. (1986). Host-parasite relationship between Gyrodactylus stellatus (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) and Parophrys vetulus (Pleuronectidae: English sole) from coastal waters of Oregon. Journal of Parasitology 72, 125–129.
- Karlsson, L., Kollberg, S., Olstad, K. and Mo, T.A. (2003). K\u00e4nslight hos lax fr\u00e4n Enningdals\u00e4lven, Gullsp\u00e4ngs\u00e4lven, Rolf\u00e4\u00e5n och Drammenselva f\u00f6r parasitten Gyrodactylus salaris i laboratoriefors\u00f6k. Rapport till Fiskeriverket och l\u00e4nsstyrelsen i Halland 2003-01-16, 1-32 [in Swedish].
- Kathariner, L. (1893). Die Gattung Gyrodactylus v. Nrdm. Arbeiten aus dem Zoologisch-Zootomischen Institut Wurzburg 10, 125–164.
- Kathariner, L. (1899). Ueber das Vorkommen von *Gyrodactylus* v. Nrdm im Salzwasser. *Zoologischer Anzeiger* **22**, 328–329.
- Kathariner, L. (1904). Ueber die Entwicklung von Gyrodactylus elegans v. Nrdm. Zoologischer Jahrbücher, Supplement 7, 519–550.
- Kay, J.W., Shinn, A.P. and Sommerville, C. (1999). Towards an automated system for the identification of notifiable pathogens: using *Gyrodactylus salaris* as an example. *Parasitology Today* **15**, 201–206.
- Kayton, R.J. (1983). Histochemical and X-ray elemental analysis of the sclerites of *Gyrodactylus* spp. (Platyhelminthes: Monogenoidea)

from the Utah chub, Gila atraria (Girard). Journal of Parasitology 69, 862–865.

- Kearn, G.C. (1963). Feeding in some monogenean skin parasites: Entobdella soleae on Solea solea and Acanthocotyle sp. on Raja clavata. Journal of the Marine Biological Society of the UK 43, 749–766.
- Kearn, G.C. (1967). Experiments on host-finding and host-specificity in the monogenean skin parasite *Entobdella soleae*. *Parasitology* **57**, 605.
- Kearn, G.C. (1971). The physiology and behaviour of the monogenean skin parasite *Entobdella soleae* in relation to its host (*Solea solea*). In: *Ecology* and Physiology of Parasites: A Symposium (A.M. Fallis, ed.), pp. 161–187. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Kearn, G.C. (1993). A new species of the genus *Enoplocotyle* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) parasitic on the skin of the moray eel *Gymnothorax kidako* in Japan, with observations on hatching and the oncomiracidium. *Journal of Zoology* **229**, 533–544.
- Kearn, G.C. (1996). Evolutionary expansion of the Monogenea. International Journal for Parasitology 24, 1227–1271.
- Keränen, A.L., Koski, P., Kulonen, K., Ek-Kommonen, C. and Neuvonen, E. (1992). Occurrence of infectious diseases in fish farms in Northern Finland. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 33, 161–167.
- Khalil, L.F. (1961). On the capture and destruction of miracidia by *Chaetogaster limnaei* (Oligochaeta). *Journal of Helminthology* **35**, 269–274.
- Khalil, L.F. (1970). Further studies on *Macrogyrodactylus polypteri*, a monogenean on the African freshwater fish *Polypterus senegalus*. Journal of Helminthology **44**, 329–348.
- Khan, R.A. and Thulin, J. (1991). Influence of pollution on parasites of aquatic animals. *Advances in Parasitology* **30**, 201–238.
- King, T.A. and Cable, J. (2007). Experimental infections of the monogenea *Gyrodactylus turnbulli* indicate that it is not a strict specialist. *International Journal for Parasitology*.
- Kirby, J.M. (1981). Seasonal occurrence of the ectoparasite *Gyrodactylus atratuli* on spotfin shiners. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **110**, 462–464.
- Knowlton, N. and Weigt, L.A. (1998). New dates and new rates for divergence across the isthmus of Panama. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological Sciences* 265, 2257–2263.
- Knudsen, R., Rikardsen, A., Kristoffersen, R., Sandring, S. and Sikavoupio, S. (2004). Registreringer av *Gyrodactylus* spp. i fiskesamfunnet i Signaldalselva og Kitdalselva i Troms 2003. *NINA Oppdragsmelding* 817, 1–24 [in Norwegian].
- Koski, P. (1996). Important parasites and diseases of freshwater and anadromous fish in northern Finland. In: *Report from Seminar on Fish Diseases and Organisation of the Fish Health Service in Finnish, Norwegian*

and Russian Parts of the Barents Region (T. Larsen, ed.), pp. 87–89. Hogskolen i Finnmark 12.

- Koski, P. and Malmberg, G. (1995). Occurrence of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea) on salmon and rainbow trout in fish farms in Northern Finland. *Bulletin of the Scandinavian Society for Parasitology* 5, 76–88.
- Koskinen, M.T., Ranta, E., Piironen, J., Veselov, A., Titov, S., Haugen, O.T., Nilsson, J., Carlstein, M. and Primmer, C.R. (2000). Genetic lineages and postglacial colonization of grayling (*Thymallus thymallus*, Salmonidae) in Europe, as revealed by mitochondrial DNA analyses. *Molecular Ecology* 9, 1609–1624.
- Koskinen, M.T., Nilsson, J., Veselov, A., Potutkin, A.G., Ranta, E. and Primmer, C.R. (2002). Microsatellite data resolve phylogeographic patterns in European grayling, *Thymallus thymallus*, Salmonidae. *Heredity* 88, 391–401.
- Koskivaara, M. (1992). Environmental factors affecting monogeneans parasitic on freshwater fish. *Parasitology Today* **8**, 339–342.
- Koskivaara, M., Valtonen, E.T. and Prost, M. (1991). Seasonal occurrence of gyrodactylid monogeneans on the roach (*Rutilus rutilus*) and variations between four lakes of differing water quality in Finland. Aqua Fennica 21, 47–55.
- Krinner, G., Mangerud, J., Jakobsson, M., Crucifix, M., Ritz, C. and Svendsen, J.I. (2004). Enhanced ice-sheet growth in Eurasia owing to adjacent ice-dammed lakes. *Nature* 427, 429–432.
- Kristoffersen, R., Rikardsen, A.H., Winger, A.C., Adolfsen, P. and Knudsen, R. (2005). Arctic charr as long-term host of *Gyrodactylus salaris* in River Skibotnelva, northern Norway. *NINA Rapport* 36, 1–27 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Kritsky, D.C. (1971). Studies on the fine structure of the monogenetic trematode, Gyrodactylus eucaliae Ikezaki and Hoffman, 1957. Ph.D. thesis, University of Illinois, Urbana.
- Kritsky, D.C. (1978). The cephalic glands and associated structures in *Gyrodactylus eucaliae* Ikezaki and Hoffman, 1957 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington* 45, 37–49.
- Kritsky, D.C. and Boeger, W.A. (1991). Neotropical Monogenea. 16. New species of oviparous Gyrodactylidea with proposal of *Nothogyrodactylus* gen. n. (Oogyrodactylidae). *Journal of the Helminthological Society of Washington* 58, 7–15.
- Kritsky, D.C. and Boeger, W.A. (2003). Phylogeny of the Gyrodactylidae and the phylogenetic status of *Gyrodactylus* von Nordmann, 1832 (Platyhelminthes, Monogenoidea). In: *Taxonomy, Ecology and Evolution* of Metazoan Parasites (C. Combes and J. Jourdaine, eds), Vol. 2, pp. 37–58. Perpignan, France: Presses Universitaires de Perpignan.

- Kritsky, D.C. and Fritts, T.H. (1970). Monogenetic trematodes from Costa Rica with the proposal of *Anacanthocotyle* gen. n. (Gyrodactylidae: Isancistrinae). *Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington* 37, 63–68.
- Kritsky, D.C. and Kruidenier, F.J. (1976). Fine structure and development of the body wall in the monogenean, *Gyrodactylus eucaliae* Ikezaki and Hoffman, 1957. *Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington* 43, 47–58.
- Kritsky, D.C. and Thatcher, V.E. (1977). *Phanerothecium* gen. nov. and *Fundulotrema* gen. nov. two new genera of viviparous Monogenea (Gyrodactyloidea) with a description of *P. caballeroi* sp. nov. and a key to the subfamilies and genera of the family. In: *Exerta Parasitologica in Memoria del doctor Eduardo Caballero y Caballero*, pp. 53–60. Mexico: Instituto di Biologie.
- Kritsky, D.C., Leiby, P.D. and Kayton, R.J. (1978). A rapid stain technique for haptoral bars of *Gyrodactylus* species (Monogenea). *Journal of Parasitology* 64, 172–174.
- Kritsky, D.C., Bouguet, D. and Spall, R.D. (1994). Fine structure of the gastrodermis of two species of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenoidea: Polyonchoinea, Gyrodactylidae). *Transactions of the American Microscopical Society* 113, 43–51.
- Kritsky, D.C., Boeger, W.A. and Popazoglo, F. (1995). Neotropical Monogenoidea 22. Variation in *Scleroductus* species (Gyrodactylidea, Gyrodactylidae) from siluriform fishes of Southeastern Brazil. *Journal of Helminthological Society of Washington* 62, 53–56.
- Kritsky, D.C., Vianna, R.T. and Boeger, W.A. (2007). Neotropical Monogenoidea. 50. Oviparous gyrodactylids from loricariid and pimelodid catfishes in Brazil, with proposal of *Phanerothecioides* n. gen., *Onychogyrodactylus* n. gen. and *Aglaiogyrodactylus* n. gen. (Polyonchoinea, Gyrodactylidea). *Systematic Parasitology* 66, 1–34.
- Krokan, P.A. and Mørkved, O.J. (1994). Nytte-kostanalyse av innsatsen for å bekjempe lakseparasitten *Gyrodactylus salaris* i perioden 1981–1998. *DN Utredning* **1994-4**, 1–53 [in Norwegian].
- Kulemina, I.V. (1977). Size variability of the adhesive elements in some species of *Gyrodactylus*. In: *Investigations of Monogeneans in the USSR* (O.A. Skarlato, ed.), pp. 34–37. Leningrad: AN SSSR [in Russian, English translation: New Delhi: Amerind Publishing Co., 1987].
- Lautraite, A., Blanc, G., Thiery, R., Daniel, P. and Vigneulle, M. (1999). Gyrodactylids parasitizing salmonids in Brittany and Western Pyrenees water basins: epidemiological features of infection and species composition. *Bulletin Francais de la Péche et de la Pisciculture* 355, 305–325.
- Leberg, P.L. and Vrijenhoek, R.C. (1994). Variations among desert topminnows in their susceptibility to attack by exotic parasites. *Conservation Biology* 8, 419–424.

- Le Blanc, J., Hansen, H., Burt, M. and Cone, D.K. (2006). *Gyrodactylus neili* n. sp. (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae), a parasite of chain pickerel *Esox niger* Lesueur (Esocidae) from freshwaters of New Brunswick Canada. *Systematic Parasitology* **65**, 43–48.
- Lericolais, G., Auffret, J.P. and Bourillet, J.F. (2003). The Quaternary Channel River: seismic stratigraphy of its palaeo-valleys and deeps. *Journal of Quaternary Science* 18, 245–260.
- Lester, R.J.G. (1972). Attachment of *Gyrodactylus* to *Gasterosteus* and host response. *Journal of Parasitology* 58, 712–722.
- Lester, R.J.G. and Adams, J.R. (1974a). Gyrodactylus alexanderi: reproduction, mortality, and effect on its host Gasterosteus aculeatus. Canadian Journal of Zoology 52, 827–833.
- Lester, R.J.G. and Adams, J.R. (1974b). A simple model of a *Gyrodactylus* population. *International Journal for Parasitology* **58**, 717–722.
- Levinsen, G.M.R. (1881). Bidrag til kunnskab om Grønlands trematodfauna. Oversikt over det Konglige Danske Videnskabers Selskabs Forhandlinger og dets Medlemmers Arbeier i Aaret 1881—København 1, 52–84 [in Danish].
- Lile, N.K., Mo, T.A. and Ryeng, K. (1993). Occurrence of *Gyrodactylus* spp. on the fins and skin of wild and farmed wolffish species (*Anarhichas* spp.) in Northern Norway. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* **13**, 92–93.
- Lindenstrøm, T. (2005). Complement and *Gyrodactylus*. In: *Diagnosis and Control of Fish Diseases* (K. Buchmann, ed.), pp. 23–26. Fredriksberg C, Denmark: Sustainable Control of Fish Diseases (SCOFDA) Workshop, Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, November 2 and 3, 2005.
- Lindenstrøm, T. and Buchmann, K. (1998). Dexamethasone treatment increases susceptibility of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum), to infections with *Gyrodactylus derjavini* Mikailov. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 1, 29–38.
- Lindenstrøm, T. and Buchmann, K. (2000). Acquired resistance in rainbow trout against *Gyrodactylus derjavini*. *Journal of Helminthology* **74**, 155–160.
- Lindenstrøm, T., Bresciani, J., Cunningham, C., Collins, C., Mo, T.A. and Buchmann, K. (2000). Comparative host susceptibility studies of four salmonids toward infection with an unusual Danish *Gyrodactylus salaris* morphotype. *Acta Parasitologica* 45, 270.
- Lindenstrøm, T., Collins, C.M., Bresciani, J., Cunningham, C.O. and Buchmann, K. (2003a). Characterization of a *Gyrodactylus salaris* variant: infection biology, morphology and molecular genetics. *Parasitology* 127, 1–13.
- Lindenstrøm, T., Buchmann, K. and Secombes, C.J. (2003b). *Gyrodactylus derjavini* infection elicits IL-1 beta expression in rainbow trout skin. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* **15**, 107–115.

- Lindenstrøm, T., Secombes, C.J. and Buchmann, K. (2004). Expression of immune response genes in rainbow trout skin induced by *Gyrodactylus derjavini* infections. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 97, 137–148.
- Lindenstrøm, T., Sigh, J., Dalgaard, M.B. and Buchmann, K. (2006). Skin expression of IL-1 beta in East Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., highly susceptible to *Gyrodactylus salaris* infection enhanced compared to low susceptibility Baltic stock. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 29, 123–128.
- Ling, N. (2002). Rotenone—a review of its toxicity and use for fisheries management. *Science for Conservation* **211**, 1–40.
- Lively, C.M. and Dybdahl, M.F. (2000). Parasite adaptation to locally common host genotypes. *Nature* **405**, 679–681.
- Llewellyn, J. (1956). The host-specificity, micro-ecology, adhesive attitudes and comparative morphology of some trematode gill parasites. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **35**, 113–127.
- Llewellyn, J. (1963). Larvae and larval development of monogeneans. Advances in Parasitology 1, 287–326.
- Llewellyn, J. (1981). Evolution of viviparity and invasion by adults. In: *Biology of the Monogenea. Parasitology*, 82, 57–68 [Proceedings of the 3rd EMOP, Cambridge, 1980].
- Llewellyn, J. (1984). The biology of *Isancistrum subulatae* n. sp. a monogenean parasitic on the squid, *Alloteuthis subulata*, at Plymouth. *Journal* of the Marine Biological Association U.K. **64**, 285–302.
- Longshaw, M., Pursglove, M. and Shinn, A.P. (2003). Gyrodactylus quadratidigitus n. sp. (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae), a parasite of the leopard spotted goby *Thorogobius ephippiatus* (Lowe) from the southwestern coast of the UK. Systematic Parasitology 55, 151–157.
- López, S. (1998). Acquired resistance affects male sexual display and female choice in guppies. *Proceedings of the Royal Society* **B 265**, 717–723.
- Lund, R.A. (1997). Re-establishment of sea trout population following rotenone treatment. *NINA Fagrapport* **026**, 1–20 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Luus-Powell, W.J., Mashego, S.N. and Khalil, L.F. (2003). *Mormyrogyrodactylus gemini* gen. et sp. nov. (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae), a new gyrodactylid from *Marcusenius macrolepidotus* (Mormyridae) from South Africa. *Folia Parasitologica* **50**, 49–55.
- Lux, E. (1990). Gyrodactylus salaris-parasitierung von Salmoniden, ein diagnostisch-taxonomisches Problem. In: Tagung der Fachgruppe "Fischkrankheiten" in Verbindung mit der EAFP/-deutsche Sektion European Association of Fish Pathologists (E.-M. Bernoth and R. Hoffmann, eds), pp. 87–98. Giessen: Deutsche Veterinärmedizinische Gesellschaft e. V [in German, English summary].

- Lynch, J.D. (1989). The gauge of speciation: on the frequency of modes of speciation. In: *Speciation and its Consequences* (D. Otte and J.A. Endler, eds), pp. 527–553. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer.
- Lyons, K.M. (1969). Sense organs of monogenean skin parasites ending in a typical cilium. *Parasitology* **59**, 611–623.
- Lyons, K.M. (1970). Fine structure of the outer epidermis of the viviparous monogenean *Gyrodactylus* sp. from the skin of *Gasterosteus aculeatus*. *Journal of Parasitology* **56**, 1110–1117.
- Lyons, K.M. (1973). The epidermis and sense organs of the Monogenea and some related groups. *Advances in Parasitology* **11**, 193–232.
- Mack, R.N., Simberloff, D., Lonsdale, W.M., Evans, H., Clout, M. and Bazzaz, F.A. (2000). Biotic invasions: causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. *Ecological Applications* 10, 689–710.
- MacKenzie, K. (1970). Gyrodactylus unicopula Glukhova from young plaice Pleuronectes platessa L. with notes on the ecology of the parasite. Journal of Fish Biology 2, 23–24.
- Madhavi, R. and Anderson, R.M. (1985). Variability in the susceptibility of the fish host, *Poecilia reticulata*, to infection with *Gyrodactylus bulla-tarudis* (Monogenea). *Parasitology* **91**, 531–544.
- Magurran, A.E. (2005). *Evolutionary Ecology. The Trinidadian Guppy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Magurran, A.E. and Phillip, D.A.T. (2001). Evolutionary implications of large-scale patterns in the ecology of Trinidadian guppies, *Poecilia reticulata. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 73, 1–9.
- Magurran, A.E., Seghers, B.H., Carvalho, G.R. and Shaw, P.W. (1992). Behavioural consequences of an artificial introduction of guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*) in N. Trinidad: evidence for the evolution of antipredator behaviour in the wild. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B* **248**, 117–122.
- Magurran, A.E., Seghers, B.H., Shaw, P.W. and Carvalho, G.R. (1995). The behavioural diversity and evolution of guppy, *Poecilia reticulata*, populations in Trinidad. *Advances in the Study of Behaviour* **24**, 155–202.
- Maillard, C., Gonzalez, J. and Noisy, D. (1982). A scanning electronmicroscope study of the male copulatory sclerite of the monogenean *Diplectanum aequans. Parasitology* **84**, 63–64.
- Mallet, J. (2001). Subspecies, semispecies, and superspecies. In: *Encyclopedia* of *Biodiversity* (S.A. Levin, ed.), Vol. 5, pp. 523–526. San Diego, San Francisco: Academic Press.
- Malmberg, G. (1957). On the occurrence of *Gyrodactylus* on Swedish fishes. *Skrifter utgivna av Södra Sveriges Fiskeriförening, Årsskrift* **1956**, 19–76 [in Swedish, English summary].
- Malmberg, G. (1964). Taxonomical and ecological problems in Gyrodactylus (Trematoda, Monogenea). In: Parasitic Worms and Aquatic

*Conditions* (R. Ergens and B. Rysavy, eds), pp. 203–230. Prague: Publ. House, Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences.

- Malmberg, G. (1969). The protonephridia of the genus *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenoidea). *Parazitologiceskij Sbornik* 24, 166–168.
- Malmberg, G. (1970). The excretory systems and marginal hooks as a basis for the systematics of *Gyrodactylus* (Trematoda, Monogenea). *Arkiv för Zoologi* Series 2-Band 23(nr. 1), 1–235.
- Malmberg, G. (1972). On a *Gyrodactylus* species from Northern Sweden and the subgeneric position of *G. hrabei* Ergens, 1957 (Trematoda, Monogenea). *Zoologica Scripta* **2**, 39–42.
- Malmberg, G. (1973). *Gyrodactylus* infestations on species of salmon in Danish and Swedish hatcheries. *Norwegian Journal of Zoology* **21**, 325–326.
- Malmberg, G. (1988). *Gyrodactylus salaris*-infeksjoner, laxfisktransporter och odling i Norden. *Vattenbruk* **6**, 22–29 [in Swedish].
- Malmberg, G. (1989). Salmonid transports, culturing and *Gyrodactylus* infections in Scandinavia. In: *Parasites of Freshwater Fishes of North-West Europe* (O. Bauer, ed.), pp. 88–104. Petrozavodsk: Institute of Biology, USSR Academy of Sciences, Karelian Branch.
- Malmberg, G. (1993). Gyrodactylidae and gyrodactylosis of Salmonidae. Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists 328, 5-46.
- Malmberg, G. (1998). On the evolution within the family Gyrodactylidae (Monogenea). *International Journal of Parasitology* **28**, 1625–1635.
- Malmberg, G. (2004). How the "salmon killer" *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 was discovered and described in Sweden. Report from the front. In: *Diagnosis and Control of Fish Diseases* (K. Buchmann, ed.), pp. 12–18. Fredriksberg C, Denmark: Sustainable Control of Fish Diseases (SCOFDA) Workshop, Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, November 3 and 4, 2004.
- Malmberg, G. and Fernholm, B. (1989). *Myxinidocotyle* gen.n. and *Lophocotyle* Braun (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea, Acanthocotylidae) with descriptions of three new species from hagfishes (Chordata, Myxinidae). *Zoologica Scripta* 18, 187–204.
- Malmberg, G. and Fernholm, B. (1991). Locomotion and attachment to the host of *Myxinidocotyle* and *Acanthocotyle* (Monogenea, Acanthocotylidae). *Parasitology Research* 77, 415–420.
- Malmberg, G. and Lilliemarck, Y. (1993). Sperm ultrastructure of *Isancistrum subulatae* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). *Folia Parasitologica* **40**, 97–98.
- Malmberg, G. and Malmberg, M. (1987). *Gyrodactylus* in salmon and rainbow trout farms. In: *Parasites and Diseases in Natural Waters and Aquaculture in Nordic Countries* (A. Stenmark and G. Malmberg, eds), pp. 199–204. Stockholm: Naturhistoriska Riksmuseets Reprocentral.

- Malmberg, G. and Malmberg, M. (1991). Investigations for *Gyrodactylus* on salmonids in natural waters and fish farms during the periods 1951–72 and 1986–May 1991. *Information från Söttvattenslaboratoriet*— *Drottningholm: Fiskeristyrelsens sötvattenslaboratorium* 2, 1–30 [in Swedish, English summary].
- Malmberg, G. and Malmberg, M. (1993). Species of *Gyrodactylus* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) on salmonids in Sweden. *Fisheries Research* 17, 59–68.
- Malmberg, G., Bakke, T.A. and Mo, T.A. (1994). Thirty years of *Gyrodactylus* research and future trends. *Bulletin of the Scandinavian Society for Parasitology* **4**, 76–91.
- Mangerud, J., Astakhov, V., Jacobsson, M. and Svendsen, J.I. (2001). Huge ice-age lakes in Russia. *Journal of Quaternary Science* 16, 773–777.
- Mangerud, J., Jakobsson, M., Alexanderson, H., Astakhov, V., Clarke, G.K.C., Henriksen, M., Hjort, C., Krinner, G., Lunkka, J.-P., Möller, P., Murray, A., Nikolskaya, O., Saarnisto, M. and Svendsen, J.I.J.I. (2004). Ice-dammed lakes and rerouting of the drainage of northern Eurasia during the Last Glaciation. *Quaternary Science Reviews* 23, 1313–1332.
- Matejusová, I. and Cunningham, C.O. (2004). The first complete monogenean ribosomal RNA gene operon: sequence and secondary structure of the *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 large subunit ribosomal RNA gene. *Journal of Parasitology* **90**, 146–151.
- Matejusová, I., Cunningham, C.O. and Gelnar, M. (2000a). Molecular diversity of gyrodactylids. *Acta Parasitologica* **45**, 155.
- Matejusová, I., Morand, S. and Gelnar, M. (2000b). Nestedness in assemblages of gyrodactylids (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidea) parasitising two species of cyprinid—with reference to generalists and specialists. *International Journal for Parasitology* 30, 1153–1158.
- Matejusová, I., Gelnar, M., McBeath, A.J.A., Collins, C.M. and Cunningham, C.O. (2001). Molecular markers for gyrodactylids (Gyrodactylidae: Monogenea) from five fish families (Teleostei). *International Journal for Parasitology* **31**, 738–745.
- Matejusová, I., Gelnar, M., Verneau, O., Cunningham, C.O. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2003). Molecular phylogenetic analysis of the genus *Gyrodactylus* (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) inferred from rDNA ITS region: subgenera versus species groups. *Parasitology* 127, 603–611.
- Matejusová, I., Felix, B., Sorsa-Leslie, T., Gilbey, J., Noble, L.R., Jones, C.S. and Cunningham, C.O. (2006). Gene expression profiles of some immune relevant genes from skin of susceptible and responding Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) infected with *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea) revealed by suppressive subtractive hybridization. *International Journal* for Parasitology 36, 1175–1183.

May, R.M. and Anderson, R.M. (1983). Epidemiology and genetics in the coevolution of parasites and hosts. *Proceedings of the Royal Society* B219, 281–313.

Mayr, E. (1963). Animal Species and Evolution. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press.

- Mazzanti, C., Monni, G. and Varriale, A.M.C. (1999). Observations on antigenic activity of *Pseudodactylogyrus anguillae* (Monogenea) on the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*). Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists **19**, 57–59.
- McHugh, W.S., Shinn, A. and Kay, J.W. (2000). Discrimination of the notifiable pathogen *Gyrodactylus salaris* from *G. thymalli* (Monogenea) using statistical classifiers applied to morphometric data. *Parasitology* 121, 315–323.
- Mehli, S.A. and Dolmen, D. (1986). Handlingsplan for tiltak mot lakseparasitten *Gyrodactylus salaris* for 10-års perioden 1987–1996. *Direktoratet for naturforvaltning, Fiskekontoret, Trondheim, Rapport* **1996**, 1–42 [in Norwegian].
- Meinilä, M., Kuusela, J., Ziętara, M. and Lumme, J. (2002). Primers for amplifying ~820 bp of highly polymorphic mitochondrial COI gene of *Gyrodactylus salaris. Hereditas* 137, 72–74.
- Meinilä, M., Kuusela, J., Ziętara, M. and Lumme, J. (2004). Initial steps in speciation by geographical isolation and host switch in the salmonid pathogen *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea). *International Journal for Parasitology* 34, 515–526.
- Meunier, B. (2001). Site directed mutations in the mitochondrially encoded subunits 1 and III of yeast cytochrome oxidase. *Biochemical Journal* **354**, 407–412.
- Mills, D. (1989). *Ecology and Management of Atlantic Salmon*. London and New York: Chapman and Hall.
- Mizelle, J.D. and Kritsky, D.C. (1967). Studies on monogenetic trematodes. XXXII. New species of marine Gyrodactylinae from California with the proposal of Archigyrodactylus gen. n. Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington 34, 130–136.
- Mo, T.A. (1987). Taksonomiske og biologiske undersøkelser, virksomheten i 1986 og forslag til virksomheten i 1987. Gyrodactylus *undersøkelsene ved Zoologisk museum, Universitetet i Oslo, Rapport nr.* **2**, 1–70 [in Norwegian].
- Mo, T.A. (1988). Gyrodactylusundersøkelsene av fisk i forbindelse med rotenon-behandlingen av Skibotnelva i august 1988. *Gyrodactylusundersøkelsene ved Zoologisk museum, Universitetet i Oslo Rapport* 5, 1–14 [in Norwegian].
- Mo, T.A. (1991a). Variation of opisthaptoral hard parts of *Gyrodactylus* salaris Malmberg, 1957 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) on rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum, 1792) in a fish farm, with comments on

the spreading of the parasite in south-eastern Norway. *Systematic Parasitology* **20**, 1–10.

- Mo, T.A. (1991b). Variation of opisthaptoral hard parts of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) on part of Atlantic Salmon Salmo salar L. in laboratory experiments. Systematic Parasitology 20, 11–19.
- Mo, T.A. (1991c). Seasonal variations of opisthaptoral hard parts of *Gyro-dactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) on part of Atlantic Salmon Salmo salar L. in the River Batnfjordselva, Norway. Systematic Parasitology 20, 231–240.
- Mo, T.A. (1992). Seasonal variations in the prevalence and infestation intensity of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) on Atlantic salmon parr, *Salmo salar* L., in the River Batnfjordselva, Norway. *Journal of Fish Biology* 41, 697–707.
- Mo, T.A. (1993). Seasonal variations of opisthaptoral hard parts of *Gyrodactylus derjavini* Mikailov, 1975 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) on brown trout *Salmo trutta* L. parr and Atlantic salmon *S. salmo* L. parr in the River Sandvikelva, Norway. *Systematic Parasitology* 26, 225–231.
- Mo, T.A. (1994). Status of *Gyrodactylus salaris* problems and research in Norway. In: *Parasitic Diseases of Fish* (A.W. Pike and J.W. Lewis, eds), pp. 43–58. Great Britain: Samara Publishing Ltd.
- Mo, T.A. (1997). Seasonal occurrence of *Gyrodactylus derjavini* (Monogenea) on brown trout, *Salmo trutta*, and Atlantic salmon, *S. salar*, in the Sandvikselva river, Norway. *Journal of Parasitology* **83**, 1025–1029.
- Mo, T.A. (2004). Innførsel av *Gyrodactylus salaris* til Norge og egenskaper hos parasitten av betydning for valg av strategi og tiltak mot den. *Norsk Veterinærtidsskrift* **3**, 164–166 [in Norwegian].
- Mo, T.A. and Appleby, C. (1990). A special technique for studying haptoral sclerites of monogeneans. *Systematic Parasitology* **17**, 103–108.
- Mo, T.A. and Lile, N.K. (1998). Gyrodactylus anarhichatis n.sp. and G. microanchoratus n.sp. (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) from the Atlantic wolf-fish Anarhichas lupus (Anarhichadidae) off the coast of Norway. Systematic Parasitology 40, 213–220.
- Mo, T.A. and Norheim, K. (2005). The surveillance and control programme for *Gyrodactylus salaris* in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout in Norway. *National Veterinary Institute, Annual Report* **2004**, 137–139.
- Mo, T.A., Norheim, K. and Hellesnes, I. (2004). The surveillance and control programme for *Gyrodactylus salaris* in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout in Norway. *Norsk Veterinærtidsskrift* 3, 157–163 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Møller, H. (1985). A critical review on the role of pollution as a cause of fish diseases. In: *Fish & Shellfish Pathology* (A.E. Ellis, ed.), pp. 169–182. London: Academic Press.

- Møller, H. (1987). Pollution and parasitism in the aquatic environment. International Journal for Parasitology 17, 353–361.
- Monni, G. and Cognetti-Varriale, A.M. (2002). Antigenicity of *Pseudo*dactylogyrus anguillae and *P. bini* (Monogenea) in the European eel (Anguilla anguilla, L.) under different oxygenation conditions. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 13, 125–131.
- Moore, M.M., Kaattari, S.L. and Olson, R.E. (1994). Biologically active factors against the monogenetic trematode *Gyrodactylus stellatus* in the serum and mucus of infective juvenile English soles. *Journal of Aquatic Animal Health* **6**, 93–100.
- Moravec, F. (2001). Checklist of the Metazoan Parasites of Fishes of the Czech Republic and the Slovak Republic. Ceske Budejovice: Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic.
- Morozinska-Gogol, J. (2002). Seasonal variation of parasite infection of three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus* L.) in the southern Baltic. *Wiadomosci Parazytologiczne* **48**, 359–373.
- Morrison, B.R.S. (1977). The effects of rotenone on the invertebrate fauna of three Hill streams in Scotland. *Fisheries Management* **8**, 128–139.
- Nelson, J.S. (1994). Fishes of the World, 3rd edn. New York: Wiley.
- Nicieza, A.G., Reyes-Gavilan, F.G. and Brana, F. (1994). Differentiation in juvenile growth and bimodality patterns between northern and southern populations of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 72, 1603–1610.
- Nieberding, C., Libois, R., Douady, C.J., Morand, S. and Michaux, J.R. (2005). Phylogeography of a nematode (*Heligmosomoides polygyrus*) in the western Palearctic region: persistence of northern cryptic populations during ice ages? *Molecular Ecology* 14, 765–779.
- Nielsen, C.V. and Buchmann, K. (2001). Occurrence of *Gyrodactylus* parasites in Danish fish farms. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists* **21**, 19–25.
- Nielsen, C.V. and Buchmann, K. (2003). Increased susceptibility of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* to infections with *Gyrodactylus derjavini* induced by dexamethasone bath treatment. *Journal of Helminthology* 77, 65–68.
- Nunez, M.C.O. (1975). *Paragyrodactyloides* nom. nov. für *Paragyrodactylus* Szidat, 1973. *Angewandte Zoologie* **16**, 49–50.
- Ogawa, K. (1986). A monogenean parasite *Gyrodactylus masu* sp. n. (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) of salmonid fish in Japan. *Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries* **52**, 947–950.
- Olafsdóttir, S.H. and Buchmann, K. (2004). Dexamethasone treatment affects skin mucous cell density in *Gyrodactylus derjavini* infected *Salmo salar*. *Journal of Helminthology* **78**, 87–90.
- Olafsdóttir, S.H., Lassen, H.P.O. and Buchmann, K. (2003). Labile resistance of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, to infections with *Gyrodactylus*

*derjavini* Mikailov, 1975: implications for host specificity. *Journal of Fish Diseases* **26**, 51–54.

- Olson, P.D. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2002). Phylogenetics of the Monogenea—evidence from a medley of molecules. *International Journal for Parasitology* **32**, 233–244.
- Olson, P.D. and Tkach, V.V. (2005). Molecular systematics of the parasitic Platyhelminthes. *Advances in Parasitology* **60**, 165–243.
- Olstad, K., Bachmann, L. and Bakke, T.A. (2005). Virulence differences between *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea) populations with the same mitochondrial haplotype. *The 5th International Symposium on Monogenea, Zhongshan University, Guangzhou, China, August 8th–12<sup>th</sup>*, p. 37.
- Olstad, K., Cable, J., Robertsen, G. and Bakke, T.A. (2006). Unpredicted transmission strategy of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae): survival and infectivity of parasites on dead hosts. *Parasitology* **133**, 33–41.
- Olstad, K., Robertsen, G., Bachmann, L. and Bakke, T.A. (2007). Variation in host preference within *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea): an experimental approach. *Parasitology* (in press).
- Östlund-Nilsson, S., Becker, J.H.A. and Nilsson, G.E. (2005). Shrimps remove ectoparasites from fishes in temperate waters. *Biology Letters* 1, 454–456.
- Overstreet, R.M. (1993). Parasitic diseases of fishes and their relationship with toxicants and other environmental factors. In: *Pathobiology of Marine and Estuarine Organisms* (J.A. Couch and W. Fournie, eds), pp. 111–156. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Page, D.M. and Charleston, M.A. (1998). Trees within trees: phylogeny and historical associations. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **13**, 356–359.
- Page, R.D.M., Clayton, D.H. and Paterson, A.M. (1996). Lice and cospeciation: a response to Barker. *International Journal for Parasitology* 26, 213–218.
- Paisley, L.G., Karlsen, E., Jarp, J. and Mo, T.A. (1999). A Monte Carlo simulation model for assessing the risk of introduction of *Gyrodactylus* salaris to the Tana river, Norway. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 37, 145–152.
- Palsson, J. and Beverly Burton, M. (1983). Laminiscus n. g. (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) from capelin, Mallotus villosus (Muller) (Pisces, Osmeridae), in the North West Atlantic with redescriptions of Laminiscus gussevi n. comb, Gyrodactyloides petruschewskii, and Gyrodactyloides andriaschewi. Canadian Journal of Zoology 61, 298–306.
- Paperna, I. (1968). Monogenetic trematodes collected from freshwater fish in Ghana. Second Report. Bamidgeh, Bulletin of Fish Culture, Israel 20, 80–100.
- Paperna, I. (1979). Monogenea of Inland Water fishes of Africa. Musee Royale de l'Afrique Centrale, Tervuren Belgium, Serie 8(226), 1–131.

- Parker, J.C. and Haley, A.J. (1960). Methods for determination of the number of gyrodactylid trematodes parasitizing the skin of goldfish. *Journal of Parasitology* 40, 417.
- Parker, J.D. (1965). Seasonal occurrence, transmission and host specificity of the monogenetic trematode Gyrodactylus elegans from the golden shiner Notemigonus crysoleucas. Ph.D. thesis, Southern Illinois University.
- Peeler, E.J. and Thrush, M.A. (2004). Qualitative analysis of the risk of introducing *Gyrodactylus salaris* into the United Kingdom. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* **62**, 103–113.
- Peeler, E.J., Gardiner, R. and Thrush, M.A. (2004). Qualitative risk assessment of routes of transmission of the exotic fish parasite *Gyrodactylus salaris* between river catchments in England and Wales. *Preventative Veterinary Medicine* 64, 175–189.
- Peeler, E., Thrush, M., Paisley, L. and Rodgers, C. (2006). An assessment of the risk of spreading the fish parasite *Gyrodactylus salaris* to uninfected territories in the European Union with the movement of live Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) from coastal waters. *Aquaculture* 258, 187–197.
- Pettersen, R.A., Vøllestad, L.A., Flodmark, L.E.W. and Poléo, A.B.S. (2006). Effects of aqueous aluminium on four fish ectoparasites. *Science* of the Total Environment 369, 129–138.
- Pickering, A.D. (1974). The distribution of mucuos cells in the epidermis of the brown trout *Salmo trutta* (L.) and the char *Salvelinus alpinus* (L.). *Journal of Fish Biology* 6, 111–118.
- Pie, M.R., Engers, K.B. and Boeger, W.A. (2006). Density-dependent topographical specialization in *Gyrodactylus anisophanrynx* (Monogenoidea, Gyrodactylidae): boosting transmission or evading competition? *The Journal of Parasitology* **92**, 459–463.
- Poeser, F.N. (2003). From the Amazon river to the Amazon molly and back again. Taxonomy and evolution of Poecilia Bloch and Schneider, 1801. Ph.D. thesis University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- Poléo, A.B.S., Schjolden, J., Hansen, H., Bakke, T.A., Mo, T.A., Rosseland, B.O. and Lydersen, E. (2004a). The effect of various metals on *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) infections in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Parasitology* **128**, 169–177.
- Poléo, A.B.S., Lydersen, E. and Mo, T.A. (2004b). Aluminium mot lakseparasitten *Gyrodactylus salaris*. *Norsk Veterinærtidsskrift* **3**, 176–180 [in Norwegian].
- Polglase, J.L., Bullock, A.M. and Roberts, R.J. (1983). Wound-healing and the hemocyte response in the skin of the lesser octopus *Elodone cirrhosa* (Mollusca, Cephalopoda). *Journal of Zoology* 201, 185–204.
- Popazoglo, F. and Boeger, W.A. (2000). Neotropical Monogenoidea 37. Redecription of *Gyrodactylus superbus* (Szidat, 1973) comb-n, and description of two new species of *Gyrodactylus* (Gyrodactylidea: Gyrodactylidae)

from *Corydoras paleatus* and *C. ehrhardti* (Teleostei: Siluriformes: Callichthyidae) of southern Brazil. *Folia Parasitologica* **47**, 105–110.

- Poulin, R. (1992). Toxic pollution and parasitism in freshwater fish. *Parasitology Today* **8**, 58–61.
- Prudhoe, S. (1957). Trematoda. Explorations du parc National de l'Upemba, Mission GT.F. *de Witte* **48**, 1–28.
- Putz, R.E. and Hoffman, G.L. (1963). Two new *Gyrodactylus* (Trematoda, Monogenea) species from cyprinid fishes with a synopsis of those found on North American fishes. *Journal of Parasitology* 49, 559–566.
- Raup, D.M. (1994). The role of extinction in evolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **91**, 6758–6763.
- Rawson, M.V. and Rogers, W.A. (1973). Seasonal abundance of *Gyrodactylus macrochiri* (Hoffman and Putz, 1964) on bluegill and largemouth bass. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* **9**, 174–177.
- Reuter, M. (1987). Immunocytochemical demonstration of serotonin and neuropeptides in the nervous system of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea). *Acta Zoologica* **68**, 187–193.
- Reuter, M., Mäntylä, K. and Gustafsson, K.S. (1998). Organization of the orthogon—main and minor nerve cords. *Hydrobiologia* **383**, 175–182.
- Reznick, D.N. and Endler, J.A. (1982). The impact of predation on life history evolution in Trinidadian guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*). *Evolution* 36, 160–177.
- Reznick, D.N., Shaw, F.H., Rodd, F.H. and Shaw, R.G. (1997). Evaluation of the rate of evolution in natural populations of guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*). Science 275, 1934–1937.
- Reznick, D.N., Bryant, M.J. and Bashey, F. (2002). R- and K-selection revisited: the role of density, resources, and environmental fluctuations in life-history evolution. *Ecology* 83, 1509–1520.
- Richards, G.R. and Chubb, J.C. (1995). Trichrome staining of *Gyrodactylus* sclerites and soft tissues following fixation in ammonium picrate-glycerin, including an improved rendition of the haptoral bars of *G. turnbulli. Journal of Helminthology* **69**, 149–154.
- Richards, G.R. and Chubb, J.C. (1996). Host response to initial and challenge infections, following treatment, of *Gyrodactylus bullatarudis* and *G. turnbulli* (Monogenea) on the guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*). *Parasitology Research* 82, 242–247.
- Richards, G.R., Veltkamp, C.J. and Chubb, J.C. (2000). Differentiation of *Gyrodactylus bullatarudis* Turnbull, 1956 and *G. rasini* Lucky, 1973 (Monogenea) with reassignment of *Gyrodactylus bullatarudis* Turnbull, 1956 sensu Harris (1986) to *G. rasini. Journal of Natural History* 34, 341–353.
- Rimaila-Pärnänen, E. and Wiklund, T. (1987). The occurrence of *Gyrodactylus salaris* in freshwater fish farms. *Suomen Eläinläakärilehti* **93**, 506–507 [in Finnish].

- Rintamäki, P. (1989). *Gyrodactylus salaris* at a fish farm in northern Finland. In: *Parasites of Freshwater Fishes in North-west Europe* (O.N. Bauer, ed.), pp. 123–130. Petrozavodsk: Institute of Biology, USSR Academy of Sciences, Karelian Branch.
- Rintamäki-Kinnunen, P. and Valtonen, T. (1996). Finnish salmon resistant to *Gyrodactylus salaris*: a long-term study at fish farm. *International Journal for Parasitology* **26**, 723–732.
- Robertsen, G., Hansen, H., Bachmann, L. and Bakke, T.A. (2007a). Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*) is a suitable host for *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) in Norway. *Parasitology* 134, 257–267.
- Robertsen, G., Olstad, K., Plaisance, L., Bachmann, L. and Bakke, T.A. (2007b). *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) infections on resident Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*) in southern Norway. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* (in press).
- Robertsen, G., Plaisance, L. and Bakke, T.A. (2006). *Gyrodactylus salaris* og røye, ørret, regnbueørret og bekkerøye: Utbredelse og potensiell overføring til laks. *Natural History Museum, Department of Zoology (Zoological Museum), University of Oslo, Final Rapport* **2006**, 1–25 [in Norwegian].
- Rogers, W.A. (1967). *Polyclithrum mugili* gen. et sp. n. (Gyrodactylidae, Polyclithrinae subfam. n.) from *Mugil cephalus. Journal of Parasitology* **53**, 274–276.
- Rohde, K. (1979). A critical evaluation of intrinsic and extrinsic factors responsible for niche restriction in parasites. *American Naturalist* **114**, 648–671.
- Rohde, K. (1989). Ultrastructure of the protonephridial system of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). *Zoologischer Anzeiger* **223**, 311–322.
- Rothschild, M. and Clay, T. (1952). *Fleas, Flukes and Cuckoos: A Study of Bird Parasites.* London: Collins New Naturalist.
- Roubal, F.R. and Quartararo, N. (1992). Observations on the pigmentation of the monogeneans, *Anoplodiscus* spp. (family Anoplodiscidae) in different microhabitats on their sparid teleost hosts. *International Journal of Parasitology* 22, 459–464.
- Rubio-Godoy, M., Porter, R. and Tinsley, R.C. (2004). Evidence of complement-mediated killing of *Discocotyle sagittata* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) oncomiracidia. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology* 17, 95–103.
- Salte, R. and Bentsen, H.B. (2004). Avl for økt motstand mot *Gyrodactylus* salaris-infeksjon. Norsk Vetreinærtidsskrift **3**, 186–189 [in Norwegian].
- Sandodden, R., Mo, T.A. and Skår, K. (2004). Bekjempelse av *Gyrodactylus* salaris med bruk av kombinerte løsninger. Norsk Veterinærtidssrift **3**, 182–185 [in Norwegian].
- Santamarina, M.T., Tojo, J.L., Ubeira, F.M., Quinteiro, P. and Sanmartín, M.L. (1991). Anthelminthic treatment against *Gyrodactylus* sp. *infecting*

rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 16, 39–43.

- Sarginson, J., Sorsa-Leslie, T., Matejusová, I., Collins, C., Cunningham, C., Mo, T.A., Sterud, E., Gilbey, J., Verspoor, E., Noble, L. and Jones, C. (2004). The genetic component of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) to *Gyrodactylus salaris* infection: expression of immune related genes. In: *Diagnosis and Control of Fish Diseases* (K. Buchmann, ed.), pp. 22–23. Fredriksberg C, Denmark: Sustainable Control of Fish Diseases (SCOFDA) Workshop, Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, November 3 and 4, 2004.
- Schardt, J.D. (1997). Maintenance control. In: Strangers in Paradise (D. Simberloff, D.C. Schmithz and T.C. Brown, eds), pp. 229–243. Washington, DC, USA: Island.
- Schechmeister, I.L., Cole, V.W., Jackson, L.L. and Watson, L.J. (1962). Effect of X-irradiation on goldfish. 1. Effect of X irradiation on survival and susceptibility of goldfish, *Carassius auratus*, to infection by *Aeromonas salmonicida* and *Gyrodactylus* spp. *Radiation Research* 16, 89–97.
- Schmahl, G. (1993). The chemoptherapy of monogeneans which parasitize fish: a review. *Folia Parasitologica* **38**, 97–106.
- Schmahl, G. and Elwasila, M. (1992). Fine structure of spermatogenesis in monopisthocotylean monogeneans (*Macrogyrodactylus polypteri*; *Pseudodactylogyrus bini*). Folia Parasitologica **39**, 19–31.
- Scott, A. (2004). Sleeping disease: a lesson in biosecurity. *Trout News* 37, 17–20.
- Scott, M.E. (1982). Reproductive potential of Gyrodactylus bullatarudis (Monogenea) on guppies (Poecilia reticulata). Parasitology 85, 217–236.
- Scott, M.E. (1985a). Experimental epidemiology of *Gyrodactylus bull-atarudis* (Monogenea) on guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*): short- and long term studies. In: *Ecology and Genetics of Host-Parasite Interactions* (D. (Rollinson and R.M. Anderson, eds), pp. 21–38. New York: Academic Press.
- Scott, M.E. (1985b). Dynamics of challenge infections of *Gyrodactylus bulla-tarudis* Turnbull (Monogenea) on guppies, *Poecilia reticulata* (Peters). *Journal of Fish Diseases* 8, 495–503.
- Scott, M.E. (1987). Temporal changes in aggregation: a laboratory study. *Parasitology* **94**, 583–595.
- Scott, M.E. and Anderson, R.M. (1984). The population dynamics of *Gyrodactylus bullatarudis* (Monogenea) within laboratory populations of the fish host *Poecilia reticulata*. *Parasitology* **89**, 159–194.
- Scott, M.E. and Nokes, D.J. (1984). Temperature-dependent reproduction and survival of *Gyrodactylus bullatarudis* (Monogenea) on guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*). *Parasitology* 89, 221–227.

- Scott, M.E. and Robinson, M.A. (1984). Challenge infections of *Gyrodactylus* bullatarudis (Monogenea) on guppies, *Poecilia reticulata* (Peters), following treatment. Journal of Fish Biology 24, 581–586.
- Shaw, P.W., Carvalho, G.R., Magurran, A.R. and Seghers, B.H. (1994). Factors affecting the distribution of genetic variability in the guppy, *Poecilia reticulata. Journal of Fish Biology* **45**, 875–888.
- Sherer, T.B., Betarbet, R., Testa, C.M., Seo, B.B., Richardson, J.R., Kim, J.H., Miller, G.W., Yagi, T., Matsuno-Yagi, A. and Greenamyre, J.T. (2003). Mechanism of toxicity in rotenone models of Parkinson's disease. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 23, 10756–10764.
- Shinn, A.P. (1994). The application of new biosystematic techniques in the discrimination of the genus *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea) on salmonid fish. Ph.D. thesis, University of Sterling, UK.
- Shinn, A.P., Gibson, D.I. and Sommerville, C. (1993). An SEM study of the haptoral sclerites of the genus *Gyrodactylus* Nordmann, 1832 (Monogenea) following extraction by digestion and sonication techniques. *Systematic Parasitology* 25, 135–144.
- Shinn, A.P., Gibson, D.I. and Sommerville, C. (1995a). A study of the composition of the sclerites of *Gyrodactylus* Nordmann, 1832 (Monogenea) using X-ray analysis. *International Journal for Parasitology* 25, 797–805.
- Shinn, A.P., Sommerville, C. and Gibson, D.I. (1995b). Distribution and characterization of species of *Gyrodactylus* Nordmann, 1832 (Monogenea) parasitizing salmonids in UK, and their discrimination from *G. salaris* Malmberg, 1957. *Journal of Natural History* **29**, 1383–1402.
- Shinn, A.P., des Clers, S.A., Gibson, D.I. and Sommerville, C. (1996). Multivariate analysis of morphometrical features from *Gyrodactylus* spp. (Monogenea) parasitising British salmonids: light microscope based studies. *Systematic Parasitology* 33, 115–125.
- Shinn, A.P., Gibson, D.I. and Sommerville, C. (1997). Argentophilic structures as a diagnostic criterion for the discrimination of species of the genus *Gyrodactylus* von Nordmann (Monogenea). *Systematic Parasitol*ogy 37, 47–57.
- Shinn, A.P., Gibson, D.I. and Sommerville, C. (1998a). Chaetotaxy of members of the Gyrodactylidae (Monogenea), with comments upon their systematic relationships with the Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea. Systematic Parasitology 39, 81–94.
- Shinn, A.P., Gibson, D.I. and Sommerville, C. (1998b). The application of chaetotaxy in the discrimination of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 (Gyrodactylidae: Monogenea) from species of the genus parasitising British salmonids. *International Journal for Parasitology* **28**, 805–814.

- Shinn, A.P., Kay, J.W. and Sommerville, C. (2000). The use of statistical classifiers for the discrimination of species of the genus *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea) parasitising salmonids. *Parasitology* **120**, 261–269.
- Shinn, A.P., Bron, J.E., Sommerville, C. and Gibson, D.I. (2003). Comments on the mechanism of attachment in species of the monogenean genus *Gyrodactylus*. *Invertebrate Biology* **122**, 1–11.
- Shinn, A.P., Hansen, H., Olstad, K., Bachmann, L. and Bakke, T.A. (2004). The use of morphometric characters to discriminate specimens of laboratory-reared and wild populations of *Gyrodactylus salaris* and *G. thymalli* (Monogenea). *Folia Parasitologica* 51, 239–252.
- Shulman, B.S., Shurov, I. and Ieshko, E.P. (2000). Seasonal dynamics of infection of young landlocked salmon (Salmo salar morpha sebago Girard) by the parasite Gyrodactylus salaris Malmberg, 1957. International Conference on Atlantic Salmon; Biology, Conservation and Reproduction, Petrozavodsk, Russia, September 4th–8th, 2000.
- Shulman, B.S. (1977). Seasonal dynamics of monogeneans of the genus *Gyrodactylus* from the Minnow, *Phoxinus phoxinus*, of the River Pech (Kola Peninsula). In: *Investigationa on Monogenoidea in U.S.S.R. Reports of the All Union Symposium on Monogeneoidea* (O.A. Skarlato, ed.), pp. 71–77. Leningrad: Akademiiya Nauk SSSR [in Russian].
- Shulman, B.S., Shurov, I.L. and Ieshko, E.P. (2005). Seasonal dynamics of the infestation of young landlocked salmon (*Salmo salar* morpha *sebago* Girard) by the monogenean species *Gyrodactylus salaris*. *Parazitologiia* **39**, 318–321 [in Russian, English summary].
- Simberloff, D. (1997). Eradication. In: Strangers in Paradise (D. Simberloff, D.C. Schmithz and T.C. Brown, eds), pp. 221–228. Washington, DC, USA: Island.
- Skjelstad, B. and Simolin, P. (2001). Vurdering av terapeutika mot lakseparasitten *Gyrodactylus salaris*, samt prinsipielle probelmstillinger knyttet til bruken av dem ved behandling av infiserte vassdrag. *VESO-Rapport* 01-2001, 1–30 [in Norwegian].
- Smyth, J.D. (1954). A technique for the histochemical demonstration of polyphenol oxidase and its application to egg shell formation in helminths and byssus formation in *Mytilus*. *Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science* **95**, 139–152.
- Snieszko, S.F. and Bullock, G.L. (1968). Freshwater fish diseases caused by bacteria belonging to the genera Aeromonas and Pseudomonas. U.S. Department of the Interior Fish Wildlife Services Fish Diseases Leaflet No. 11.
- Soleng, A. and Bakke, T.A. (1997). Salinity tolerance of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea): laboratory studies. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **54**, 1837–1845.
- Soleng, A. and Bakke, T.A. (2001a). The susceptibility of whitefish (*Coregonus coregonus* L.) to experimental infections with the monogenean

*Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957. *Bulletin of the Scandinavian Society for Parasitology* **11**, 32–36.

- Soleng, A. and Bakke, T.A. (2001b). The susceptibility of grayling, *Thy-mallus thymallus* to experimental infections with the monogenean *Gyro-dactylus salaris*. *International Journal for Parasitology* **31**, 793–797.
- Soleng, A., Poléo, A.B.S. and Bakke, T.A. (1997). Studier av aluminiums effekter på lakseparasitten *Gyrodactylus salaris* og Atlantisk laks, *Salmo salar. NINA Oppdragsmelding* 497, 10–13 [in Norwegian].
- Soleng, A., Bakke, T.A. and Hansen, L.P. (1998). Potential for dispersal of *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) by sea-running stages of the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): field and laboratory studies. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 55, 507–514.
- Soleng, A., Jansen, P.A. and Bakke, T.A. (1999a). Transmission of the monogenean *Gyrodactylus salaris*. Folia Parasitologica 46, 179–184.
- Soleng, A., Poléo, A.B.S., Alstad, N.E.W. and Bakke, T.A. (1999b). Aqueous aluminium eliminates *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) infections in Atlantic salmon. *Parasitology* 119, 19–25.
- Soleng, A., Poléo, A.B.S. and Bakke, T.A. (2005). Toxicity of aqueous aluminium to the ectoparasitic monogenean *Gyrodactylus salaris*. *Aquaculture* **250**, 616–620.
- Sproston, N.G. (1946). A synopsis of the monogenetic trematodes. *Transactions of the Zoological Society of London* 25, 191–194.
- Srivastrava, L.P. and James, B.L. (1967). The morphology and occurrence of *Gyrodactylus medius* Kathariner, 1894 (Monogenoidea) from *Onos mustelus* (L.). *Journal of Natural History* 4, 481–489.
- Sterud, E. (1999). Parasites of Norwegian freshwater fish. Norsk Zoologisk Forening, Rapport 7, 1–22 [in Norwegian, English summary].
- Sterud, E., Harris, P.D. and Bakke, T.A. (1998). The influence of *Gyro-dactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 (Monogenea) on the epidermis of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., and brook trout, *Salvelinus fontinalis* (Mitchill): experimental studies. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 21, 257–263.
- Sterud, E., Mo, T.A., Collins, C.M. and Cunningham, C.O. (2002). The use of host specificity, pathogenicity and molecular markers to differentiate between *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 and *G. thymalli* Zitnan, 1960 (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). *Parasitology* 124, 203–213.
- Steverding, D., Morgan, E., Tkaczynski, P., Walder, F. and Tinsley, R. (2005). Effect of Australian tea tree oil on *Gyrodactylus* spp. infection of the three-spined stickleback *Gasterosteus aculeatus*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 66, 29–32.
- Sunyer, J.O. (2005). The complement system in fish—pathways, isoforms and functional molecules. In: *Diagnosis and Control of Fish Diseases* (K. Buchmann, ed.), pp. 14–15. Fredriksberg C, Denmark: Sustainable Control of Fish Diseases (SCOFDA) Workshop, Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University, November 2 and 3, 2005.

- Svendsen, J.I., Alexanderson, H., Astakhov, V.I., Demidov, I., Dowdeswell, J.A., Funder, S., Gataullin, V., Henriksen, M., Hjort, C., Houmark-Nielsen, M., Hubberten, H.W., Ingolfsson, O., Jakobsson, M., Kjæri, K.H., Larsen, E., Lokrantz, H., Lunkka, J.P., Lysa, A., Mangerud, J., Matiouchkov, A., Murray, A., Moller, P., Niessen, F., Nikolskaya, O., Polyak, L., Saarnisto, M., Siegert, C., Siegert, M.J., Spielhagen, R.F. and Stein, R. (2003). Late Quaternary ice sheet history of northern Eurasia. *Quaternary Science Reviews* 23, 1229–1271.
- Tagliani, G. (1912). Enoplocotyle minima nov. gen. nov. sp. Trematodo monogenetico, parassita sulla cute di Muraena helena L. Richerche anatomische e sistematische. Archivo Zoologico Italiano 5, 281–319.
- Tanum, K. (1983). Studier av taksonomi og vertsforhold hos *Gyrodactylus*arter på laksefisk av slektene Salmo og Salvelinus i Norge. Cand. real. thesis, Zoological Museum, University of Oslo [in Norwegian].
- Thorstad, E.B., Johnsen, B.O., Forseth, T., Alfredsen, K., Berg, O.K., Bremset, G., Fjeldstad, H.-P., Grande, R., Lund, E., Myhre, K.O. and Ugedal, O. (2001). Fiskesperrer som supplement eller alternative til kjemisk behandling i vassdrag infisert med *Gyrodactylus salaris*. Utredning for DN nr. 2001-9, 1–66 [in Norwegian].
- Tinsley, R.C. (1996). Evolutionary inferences from host and parasite cospeciation. In: *The Biology of Xenopus* (R.C. Tinsley and H.R. Kobel, eds), pp. 403–420. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Tojo, J.L., Santamarina, M.T., Ubeira, F.M., Estevéz, J. and Sanmartín, M.L. (1992). Antihelminthic activity of benzimidazoles against *Gyrodactylus* sp. infecting rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 12, 185–189.
- Tojo, J.L., Santamarina, M.T., Ubeira, F.M., Estevéz, J. and Sanmartín, M.L. (1993a). Efficacy of antihelminthic drugs against gyrodactylosis in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists 13, 45–58.
- Tojo, J.L., Santamarina, M.T., Ubeira, F.M., Leiro, J. and Sanmartín, M.L. (1993b). Efficacy of antiprotozoal drugs against gyrodactylosis in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists 13, 79–82.
- Tripathi, Y.R. (1957). Monogenetic trematodes from fishes in India. *Indian Journal of Helminthology* 9, 1–149.
- Turnbull, E.R. (1956). Gyrodactylus bullatarudis n. sp. from Lebistes reticulatus Peters with a study of its life cycle. Canadian Journal of Zoology 34, 583–594.
- Tyler, A.V. (1963). A cleaning symbiosis between the rainwater fish, *Lucania parva* and the stickleback, *Apeltes quadracus*. *Chesapeake Science* **4**, 105–106.
- van Oosterhout, C., Harris, P.D. and Cable, J. (2003). Marked variation in parasite resistance between two wild populations of the Trinidadian

guppy, *Poecilia reticulata* (Pisces: Poeciliidae). *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **79**, 645–651.

- van Oosterhout, C., Joyce, D.A., Cummings, S.M., Blais, J., Barson, N.J., Ramnarine, I., Mohammed, R.S., Persad, N., and Cable, J. Balancing selection, random genetic drift and genetic variation at the Major Histocompatibility complex (HMC) in two wild populations of guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*). Evolution 60 (in press a).
- van Oosterhout, C., Mohammed, R.S., Hanson, H., Archard, G.A., McMullan, M., Weese, D.J. and Cable, J. Selection by parasites in spate conditions in wild Trinidadian guppies (*Poecilia reticulate*). *International Journal for Parasitology* (in press b).
- Veltkamp, C.J., Richards, G.R. and Chubb, J.C. (1996). Freeze fixationdehydration as a method of preparation of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea) for SEM. *Journal of Helminthology* **70**, 85–89.
- Vercammen Grandjean, P.H. (1960). Les trematodes du lac Kivu Sud (Vermes). Annales de la Musee Royale de l'Afrique Centrale, Tervuren n.s.
  4, Sciences zoologiques 5, 1–171.
- Volckaert, F.A.M., Hanfling, B., Hellemans, B. and Carvalho, G.R. (2005). Timing of the population dynamics of bullhead *Cottus gobio* (Teleostei: Cottidae) during the Pleistocene. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* **15**, 930–944.
- von Nordmann, A. (1832). Mikrographische Beiträge zur Naturgeschichte der wirbellosen Thiere, 1. Teil. Berlin [in German].
- von Sieboldt, C. (1849). *Gyrodactylus*, ein ammenartiges Wesen. *Zeitschrift für wissenschaftliche Zoologie* 1, 347.
- Vos, P., Hogers, R., Bleeker, M., Reijans, M., van de Lee, T., Hornes, M., Frijters, A., Pot, J., Peleman, J., Kuiper, M. and Zabeau, M. (1995). AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. *Nucleic Acids Research* **23**, 4407–4414.
- Wagener, E.D. (1860). Ueber *Gyrodactylus elegans* v. Nordm. Archiv für Anatomie, Physiologie und Wissenschaftliche Medizin, Leipzig, 768–797.
- Walsh, B.D. (1864). On phytophagic varieties and phytophagic species. Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Philadelphia 3, 403–430.
- Wang, G., Kim, J.-H., Sameshima, M. and Ogawa, K. (1997). Detection of antibodies against the monogenean *Heterobothrium okamotoi* in tiger puffer by ELISA. *Fish Pathology* 32, 179–180.
- Watson, N.A. and Rohde, K. (1994). Two new sensory receptors in *Gyro*dactylus sp. (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea, Monopisthocotylea). Parasitology Research 80, 442–445.
- Weiss, S., Persat, H., Eppe, R., Schlötterer, C. and Uiblein, F. (2002). Complex patterns of colonization and refugia revealed for European grayling *Thymallus thymallus*, based on complete sequencing of the mitochondrial DNA control region. *Molecular Ecology* 11, 1393–1407.

- Wells, P.R. and Cone, D.K. (1990). Experimental studies on the effect of *Gyrodactylus colemanensis* and *G. salmonis* (Monogenea) on the density of mucous cells in the epidermis of fry of *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Journal of Fish Biology* 37, 599–603.
- Whitear, M. (1970). The skin surface of bony fishes. *Journal of Zoology* **160**, 437–454.
- Whittington, I.D. (1996). Benedeniine capsalid monogeneans from Australian fishes: pathogenic species, site-specificity and camouflage. *Journal of Helminthology* **70**, 177–184.
- Whittington, I.D. (1998). Diversity "down under": monogeneans in the Antipodes (Australia) with a prediction of monogenean biodiversity worldwide. *International Journal of Parasitology* **28**, 1481–1493.
- Whittington, I.D. and Cribb, B.W. (2001). Adhesive secretions in the Platyhelminthes. *Advances in Parasitology* **48**, 102–174.
- Whittington, I.D., Cribb, B.W., Hamwood, T.E. and Halliday, J. (2000a). Host-specificity of monogenean (platyhelminth) parasites: a role for anterior adhesive areas? *International Journal for Parasitology* **30**, 305–320.
- Whittington, I.A., Chisholm, L.A. and Rohde, K. (2000b). The larvae of Monogenea (Platyhelminthes). *Advances in Parasitology* 44, 141–232.
- Williams, H.H. (1964). Some observations on the mass mortality of the freshwater fish *Rutilus rutilus*. *Parasitology* 54, 155–171.
- Wilson, S.M. (1991). Nucleic acid techniques and the detection of parasitic diseases. *Parasitology Today* 7, 255–259.
- Wingard, C.J. and Swanson, C.J. (1992). Ventilatory responses of four marine teleosts to acute rotenone exposure. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* **8**, 132–142.
- Winger, A.C., Bachmann, L., Shin, A. and Bakke, T.A. (2005). Taxonomy and systematics of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea) populations infecting riverine Alpine bullhead (*Cottus poecilopus*) in Norway and Slovakia. *Bulletin of the Scandinavian-Baltic Society for Parasitology* 14, 161.
- Woo, P.T.K. (1995). Fish and Disorders. Volume 1. Protozoan and Metazoan Infections. Wallingford, UK: Cab International.
- Yamaguti, S. (1963). Systema Helminthum Volume 4. Monogenea and Aspidocotylea. New York: Wiley.
- You, P., Yuan, P., Yang, J., Easy, R., Dong, Z. and Cone, D. (2006). Intense infections of *Gyrodactylus brachymystacis* (Monogenea) on *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Salmoniformes) at a fish farm in the Qinling Mountain region of China. *Journal of Fish Diseases* (in press).
- Ziętara, M.S. and Lumme, J. (2002). Speciation by host switch and adaptive radiation in a fish parasite genus *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). *Evolution* **56**, 2445–2458.
- Ziętara, M.S. and Lumme, J. (2003). The crossroads of molecular, typological and biological species concepts: two new species of *Gyrodactylus*

Nordmann, 1832 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *Systematic Parasitology* **55**, 39–52.

- Ziętara, M. and Lumme, J. (2004). Comparison of molecular phylogeny and morphological systematics in fish parasite genus *Gyrodactylus* Normann, 1832 (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). *Zoologica Poloniae* 49, 5–28.
- Ziętara, M.S., Arndt, A., Geets, A., Hellemans, B. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2000). The nuclear rDNA region of *Gyrodactylus arcuatus* and *G. branchicus* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 1368–1373.
- Ziętara, M.S., Huyse, T., Lumme, J. and Volckaert, F.A. (2002). Deep divergence among subgenera of *Gyrodactylus* inferred from rDNA ITS region. *Parasitology* 124, 39–42.
- Ziętara, M.S., Kuusela, J. and Lumme, J. (2006). Escape from an evolutionary dead end: a triploid clone of *Gyrodactylus salaris* is able to revert to sex and switch host (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). *Hereditas* 143, 84–90.
- Žitňan, R. (1960). Gyrodactylus thymalli n. sp. aus den Flossen der Äsche (Thymallus thymallus L.). Helminthologia 11, 161–166.
- Žitňan, R. and Čankovič, M. (1970). Comparison of the epizootological importance of the parasites of *Salmo gairdneri irideus* in the two coast areas of Bosna and Herzegovina. *Helminthologia* **11**, 161–166.

# Human Genetic Diversity and the Epidemiology of Parasitic and Other Transmissible Diseases

## **Michel Tibayrenc**

Institut pour la Recherche et Développement (IRD) Representative Office, French Embassy, 29 Thanon Sathorn Tai, Bangkok 10120, Thailand

	Abstract	378
	List of Abbreviations	379
1.	Introduction	380
	1.1. A Call for an Integrated Approach	380
	1.2. Key Concepts	380
2.	Exploring the Genetic Background of Human Genetic	
	Susceptibility to Infectious Disease	384
	2.1. Classical Methodology	384
	2.2. A Relatively Modest Harvest	385
	2.3. Problems Encountered	386
	2.4. Chagas Disease: An Ideal Model on Paper for Integrated	
	Genetic Epidemiology	387
3.	Human Diversity Revealed by	
	Neutral/Historical Genetic Markers.	391
	3.1. The Isoenzyme Revolution	394
	3.2. A Classical Pattern of Human Genetic Variability	394
4.	Genetically Driven Phenotypic Diversity	396
	4.1. The Major Gap between Genotype and Phenotype	396
	4.2. Phenotypic Traits that have an Obvious Genetic Basis	397
	4.3. The Probable Major Role of Genomic Rearrangements	~~~
_		398
5.	Are Races and Ethnic Groups Biologically Meaningful and	400
	Medically Relevant?	400
	5.1. The Biological Nature of Ethnic Groups/Races.	400
	5.2. Population and Etinnic Diversity with Regard to	400
	I ransmission and Severity of Infectious Diseases.	403
	5.3. Ethnic Diversity: A Gold Mine for Medical Research?	406

6.	Our Genetic Inheritance has been Sculpted by Infectious
	Diseases
7.	Major International Programmes that will Boost Understanding
	of Human Genetic Diversity
	7.1. The Human Genome Project
	7.2. The Human Genome Diversity Project
	7.3. The Hap Map Project
	7.4. Consortia, Databases, Networks and Networks of
	Networks
8.	Conclusion
	References
	Glossary

## ABSTRACT

This paper aims to review human genetic studies that are generally poorly known by parasitologists and scientists working on other pathogenic agents. The key proposals of this paper are as follows: (i) human susceptibility to transmissible diseases may often have a complex, multigenic background; (ii) recent discoveries indicate that major genomic rearrangements may be involved, possibly more so than DNA sequence; (iii) it is crucial to have a general population genetics framework of the human species based on neutral/historical markers to analyse reliably genetic susceptibility to infectious diseases; and (iv) the population level is a key factor. Ethnic diversity, a highly adaptive genetically driven phenotypic diversity, is possibly a valuable source for exploring human genetic susceptibility to transmissible diseases, since different populations have been exposed to drastically different geographic/climatic environments and different pathogens and vectors for tens of thousands of years. Studies dealing with human genetic susceptibility to transmissible diseases have mostly been based on the hypothesis that this factor is driven by only one or a few genes, and considered the individual more than the population level. Two different approaches have been developed for identifying the genes involved: (i) candidate genes and (ii) blind association studies (linkage analysis), screening the genome with a large number of high-resolution markers. Some loci involved in susceptibility to leishmaniosis, malaria and schistosomosis, for example, have already been identified. South American trypanosomosis (Chagas disease) is reviewed in detail to show the methodological problems of this classical approach. Current knowledge on the general impact of transmissible diseases on human genetic diversity, mainly HLA polymorphism, and the hopes raised by recent major international programmes such as the Human Genome Project (HGP), Human Genome Diversity Project (HGDP), International Human Haplotype Map Project (Hap Map) and extended databases, networks and networks of networks will also be reviewed.

sis
ject

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

# 1.1. A Call for an Integrated Approach

Human geneticists generally know nothing about the impact of a pathogen's genetic diversity on the transmission and severity of infectious disease; many may think that this impact is negligible, even though they do not have the slightest evidence for this belief. It is fair to acknowledge that most parasitologists and microbiologists have no information on the role played by human genetic variation in the transmission and severity of infectious diseases. It is now considered that this variation plays an important role. The host's and the pathogen's evolution can be considered as an arms race. The pathogen exerts a selective pressure on the host so that it can achieve its transmission cycle, and the host tends to eliminate the pathogen, or at least to control its populations, with its immune responses. The pathogen therefore has to escape these defence mechanisms. This co-evolutionary phenomenon (with a third player involved in vector-borne diseases) should be studied jointly as far as possible, in an integrated approach (Tibayrenc, 1998a, 2004). South American trypanosomosis (Chagas disease) could be an ideal model for this type of approach, both for experimental research and field studies (see Tibayrenc, 1998b, 2004). However, integrated studies remain the exception rather than the rule (Tibayrenc, 2002). It is hoped that specialists who work on pathogenic agents and are interested in integrative approaches may find the present review helpful. I have attempted to make the paper accessible to non-specialist readers who are not familiar with human genetics or, more generally, with genetics. A glossary of specialized terms has been provided on pp. 423-428, as has a list of abbreviations used (p. 379). The basic statistics used in this field of research are explained in Box 1 on p. 395.

# 1.2. Key Concepts

This article does not aim to be a comprehensive review of the state-ofthe-art on human genetic susceptibility to infectious diseases. Nor is it a catalogue of all those genes that have been suspected of playing a role in all known transmissible diseases. It deals rather with the manifestations of the constant co-evolution phenomena between our species and its pathogens that have proceeded through the entire evolutionary process of humankind. The article therefore considers not only those human genetic and genomic components that are involved in our susceptibility to infectious diseases, but also the general impact of the selective pressure exerted by pathogenic agents on the structure and diversity of our genome. Moreover, this article follows a few specific key concepts and working hypotheses. I stress that these concepts and working hypotheses are still highly debatable and are a reflection of my personal views (but not only mine), as follows.

- Even when examining a specific character (here susceptibility (i) to infectious disease), it is misleading to focus exclusively on those genes that are assumed a priori to be more directly linked with this particular character (candidate genes) without considering the general genetic background of the individuals or the populations under survey. It is preferable to have a clear idea of the overall genetic diversity of our species over its whole geographical range and the evolutionary origin of this diversity. This strategy has been successfully applied to the study of pathogens (see, for example, Tibayrenc, 1995). Working within a comprehensive population genetics framework of the whole species in its entire ecogeographical range makes the research and study of relevant genes (those that are involved in the transmission and pathogenicity of infectious diseases) easier and more informative.
- (ii) It is probable that genetic susceptibility to infectious diseases, like most phenotypic characteristics, generally involves multigene mechanisms rather than simple monogenic backgrounds.
- (iii) Even if the whole sequence of all the genes involved were known, it would not necessarily be possible to understand the precise way they drive susceptibility to infectious diseases. Indeed, interaction between the many genes involved and between these genes and environmental factors could be very complex.
- (iv) It is becoming apparent that major genomic rearrangements (macro-deletions and macro-duplications) play a major role in phenotypic expression (Check, 2005) in general (either normal or pathological) and in susceptibility to infectious diseases in particular. This has been verified in the case of HIV1/AIDS susceptibility, in which segmental duplications containing the gene *CCL3L1* could explain differences between people of different ancestry (African-Americans and Caucasian-Americans) (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2005).
- (v) Gene-based susceptibility to infectious disease is manifested as a phenotype, and constitutes only a specific case of the general fact that very little is known about how genotypes lead to phenotypes (see below).
- The overall functioning of the human genome has not yet been (vi) sufficiently grasped. This is currently true for any species. Indeed, in the present state-of-the-art, even knowing the entire sequence of a genome says little about the way this genome works to generate specific phenotypes. To illustrate this, the whole sequence of the human genome has now been completed (Craig Venter et al., 2001) and the sequence of the chimpanzee genome is almost entirely known (Chimpanzee Sequencing and Analysis Consortium, 2005). However, the results of this huge effort are disappointing because the answer to why humans and chimps are phenotypically so different while their sequences are so similar remains a total mystery. Only 1.23% of base pairs are different between the two genomes. This includes all types of gene sequences, including coding sequences. The implications of this amazing result are clear: considerable and heritable phenotypic differences can be compatible with very minor sequence differences. This could be true for susceptibility to infectious disease and to the different clinical forms of a disease. Again, major genome rearrangements may play a considerable role in phenotypic differences between humans and chimpanzees.
- (vii) When human genetic susceptibility to infectious disease is considered, the population level is as important, or more important, to consider than the individual level. Natural

selection acts on populations as well as, or more than, on individuals. Although the concept of race/ethnic diversity is controversial (Cho and Sankar, 2004), many scientists (see, for example, Jorde and Wooding, 2004) consider that it must be taken into account in biomedical research. As will become apparent, this is especially true in the case of transmissible diseases.

- (viii) Geographic and climatic zones play a considerable role in the spread of infectious diseases, since they drive pathogen diversity and distribution of pathogen species. This effect may be exacerbated in the case of vector-borne diseases since geography and climate also have a strong impact on vector distribution. Naturally, geography and climate have had a profound impact on the genetic and genetically driven phenotypic diversity of our species.
  - (ix) The compound need to understand both the overall functioning of the whole genome and the relevance of population diversity is a significant challenge that must be met. Genomic analyses are time-consuming and costly. It is therefore necessary to keep a balance between using genomic analyses that have sufficient resolution and considering representative population samples. This is the very goal of the Human Genome Diversity Project (HGDP) and of the Hap Map project (see Sections 7.2 and 7.3, pp. 410 and 411), which is the nucleus of a new discipline: population genomics. A further step will consider gene expression as well, again at the double scale of the whole genome and representative population samples (population proteomics).
  - (x) Lastly, exploring the innate characteristics of the host (and the pathogen and, in vector-borne diseases, the vector) involved in the transmission and severity of infectious diseases makes it indispensable to elucidate the role played by the environment. It is generally considerable, and socioeconomic factors are a leading cause of epidemics. The spread of malaria, tuberculosis and AIDS occurs for many reasons other than genetics. They have not been named 'the three diseases of poverty' for nothing. However, genetics does matter. One has to evaluate

the respective impact of the innate and the environmental, not an easy task, since environmental causes may mimic genetic causes, and they interact a great deal.

The ten concepts summarized above lead to drastically different approaches from the classical approach relying on the search for a few genes at the individual level.

# 2. EXPLORING THE GENETIC BACKGROUND OF HUMAN GENETIC SUSCEPTIBILITY TO INFECTIOUS DISEASE

# 2.1. Classical Methodology

The basic working hypothesis underlying this research is that there are differences among individuals in terms of susceptibility to infectious disease, and that these differences have a genetic base. This hypothesis is explored by analysing the 'sibling (or sib) risk' ( $\Delta s$ ): the statistical risk of one sibling exhibiting a given pathology when the other sibling does. In the case of infectious diseases,  $\Delta s$  is not inconsiderable, although lower than in the case of autoimmune diseases such as type I diabetes (Cooke and Hill, 2001). This is evidence for a genetic component (heritability) of susceptibility to infectious disease. Progress in genetics has provided efficient tools to look for the genes potentially involved in the susceptibility to infectious disease. Two main approaches can be classically distinguished: candidate genes and linkage studies.

In the candidate gene approach, the working hypothesis postulates that a given gene or a given set of genes is involved in susceptibility to a given disease. For example, a given gene or family of genes can be suspected because it is associated with biological processes that are usually involved in infectious processes. This is the case for those genes that are involved in immunological mechanisms. The genes that code for cytokine molecules are typical candidate genes. The same is true for the genes that pertain to the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), which are referred to as human leucocyte antigens (HLAs) in the human species. These families of genes are therefore frequently studied when the putative genetic background of a given pathological disorder is explored. Another possibility is that the equivalent gene has been observed to play an important role in infectious processes in animal models. However, this lead could prove to be unrewarding: comparable gene sequences sometimes encode drastically different functions in different animal species (Blackwell, 1996).

When the linkage approach is considered, a specific region of the genome is identified through genome mapping with a broad set of microsatellite markers or other high-resolution markers such as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and association analyses relying on twin sib pair/family/pedigree studies. Thanks to powerful new technologies, systematic screening is becoming easier and cheaper, and the number of microsatellite and SNP markers available is now high (see Section 7.3, p. 411). The exponential development of powerful bioinformatics tools is a great help in this kind of approach. The null hypothesis is a total lack of linkage disequilibrium, which is evidence for free recombination between the marker used and the pathological trait explored. If the recombination rate is significantly lower than 0.5, the linkage hypothesis is retained. This suggests that the region identified by the microsatellite mapping harbours genes that have something to do with the pathology considered. Even when such a region is delimited, one is far from the goal: such regions may contain hundreds of genes.

To look for this type of association, non-parametric tests have the advantage of not being dependent upon a working hypothesis involving genetic inheritance. However, they are less powerful than parametric tests. The more widely used parametric linkage test is the lod (logarithm of the odds) score (Morton, 1955):

 $lod = log_{10} \left( \frac{probability of data if disease and marker are linked}{probability of data if disease and marker recombine freely} \right)$ 

# 2.2. A Relatively Modest Harvest

A genetic component for susceptibility to infectious diseases has been postulated for many different diseases, including HIV (Dean *et al.*,

1996), tuberculosis (Alric *et al.*, 1999; Bellamy *et al.*, 2000), leprosy (Abel *et al.*, 1998), schistosomiasis (Dessein *et al.*, 1999), visceral leishmaniasis (Bucheton *et al.*, 2003) and malaria (Garcia *et al.*, 1998). Epidemiological surveys have provided evidence of familial aggregation of clinical phenotypes that are consistent with the existence of genetic factors involved in susceptibility to cutaneous leishmaniasis and visceral leishmaniasis in humans (Zijlstra *et al.*, 1994; Cabello *et al.*, 1995; Bucheton *et al.*, 2002). However, the links suggested in all the examples cited, although clear, are generally not very strong, and in many cases, the search for the genes that could be responsible for susceptibility to infectious diseases has been disappointing.

#### 2.3. Problems Encountered

The gene identification methods described above are more successful when the following conditions are brought together: (i) when the pathological trait (phenotype) is clearly and precisely defined, which is the case, for example, for the different clinical forms of leprosy; (ii) when the genetic component of susceptibility is strong; (iii) when a limited number of genes is involved; and (iv) when precise hypotheses on the Mendelian inheritance of the involved genes are available. Needless to say, such favourable situations resemble planetary conjunctions and are probably the exception rather than the rule (Cooke and Hill, 2001). This may be why the search for susceptibility genes has been somewhat disappointing. The genetic control of infectious diseases (and of many other pathological processes) probably most often depends on a complex interaction between (i) many genes and (ii) these genes and environmental factors. Also, it increasingly appears that the genes themselves are not the only factor to be considered: the numbers of repeats and various rearrangements may play an important role (see Check, 2005). Lastly, as emphasized in Section 1 (p. 380), it is probably misleading to limit oneself to an approach exclusively based on individuals, as many studies investigating susceptibility to infectious diseases have done. Natural selection targets the population more than the individual. With infectious diseases,

interaction phenomena among members of a given group play a major role. The term 'herd immunity' (Anderson and May, 1990) refers to a group's overall level of immune defence. Let us consider the case where almost all members of a human population are vaccinated against a given infectious disease. The few individuals who are not vaccinated are protected by the other individuals because epidemics cannot spread within the group. Such group phenomena most probably play a major role in the evolution of genetic susceptibility to infectious diseases and are not sufficiently considered by the classical research on susceptibility genes. This is why it is so important to consider the population/ethnic level of analysis, because obviously different populations and ethnic groups have been subjected to different selective pressures and to different pathogens, transmitted by different vectors in the case of vector-borne diseases.

# 2.4. Chagas Disease: An Ideal Model on Paper for Integrated Genetic Epidemiology

Chagas disease (South American trypanosomosis) can illustrate the type of approach used in searching for genetic susceptibility to infectious diseases, and can reveal the limitations of some of these methods and explain the great hopes that are raised by the advent of powerful new technologies. This example is selected because I am especially familiar with it. However, I have chiefly studied it through the genetic variability of its causative agent, Trypanosoma cruzi, and to a lesser extent of its vectors, triatomine bugs. Let us also consider the third player, the host. As previously noted (Tibayrenc, 1998b), Chagas disease is a wonderful model for the study of co-evolution between pathogens, vectors and hosts, and the role played by the environment. It is therefore quite suitable for the integrated approach called for in Section 1. The three players-host, pathogen and vector -display impressive genetic diversity. Hosts and vectors involve many different species, one aspect of this diversity, so one of the players can vary while the other two are constant. This is all the more possible since Chagas disease is easy to maintain in complete experimental cycles. Chagas disease is widespread over vast geographic

areas and diversified ecosystems. Distributed from the southern United States to Argentina, Chagas disease exists in either sylvatic or domestic cycles.

Apart from the legendary Escherichia coli, T. cruzi (the parasite responsible for Chagas disease) is possibly the pathogen whose genetic variability has been the most thoroughly explored, both experimentally (Gaunt et al., 2003) and by exhaustive analyses of the parasite's natural populations (for recent reviews, see Buscaglia and Di Noia, 2003; Tibayrenc, 2003; Campbell et al., 2004). Both longterm clonal evolution (Tibayrenc et al., 1986) and occasional bouts of genetic exchange (Gaunt et al., 2003) have shaped T. cruzi's genetic diversity. Although hybrid genotypes do exist and probably have a major epidemiological role (Campbell et al., 2004), they have been stabilized by clonal propagation. One major outcome of all these studies is that T. cruzi's natural multilocus genotypes are extremely stable on the scale of a human lifetime, and probably on an evolutionary scale. They therefore make easy-to-use units of analysis for all biomedical studies. Another major outcome is that the parasite's natural populations are subdivided into at least six clear-cut genetic subdivisions or discrete typing units (DTUs) separated from each other by great genetic distances (Tibayrenc, 1998a; Barnabé et al., 2000). These DTUs are robust units of analysis for integrated genetic epidemiology. To make a long story short, although further active research in this field remains desirable, a very sharp and clear-cut picture of T. cruzi's genetic diversity already exists, sufficient to construct an integrated genetic epidemiology of this disease (Tibayrenc, 1998b). The good news is that T. cruzi is extremely easy (although dangerous) to culture in vitro, which makes it excellent material for experiments.

As for the vector, the material for integrated approaches is also abundant. The vectors are 'true' bugs, heteropterous insects of the family Reduviidae, subfamily Triatominae. Three genera, *Triatoma*, *Rhodnius* and *Panstrongylus*, and dozens of species can transmit Chagas disease (Lent and Wygodzinsky, 1979). It is therefore easy to find a great deal of material to explore the role played by the vector in the transmission and severity of Chagas disease. Intra- and interspecific diversity of triatomine bugs has been widely explored by morphometric analysis (Dujardin *et al.*, in press), population genetics based on molecular markers (Marcet *et al.*, 2006) and phylogenetic analysis (Bargues *et al.*, 2006). Chagas disease vectors are easy to use in experiments, since many species are easy to rear in the laboratory.

When mammalian hosts, and especially humans, are involved, the ideal situation existing on paper does not fulfil its promise. This is astonishing, since, as is the case for the pathogen and the vectors, this should provide a favourable scenario. The reservoir host of Chagas disease is very large, since all mammals, both domestic and wild, can be infected by *T. cruzi*. This gives a very broad range in which to compare the effects of the pathogen in many different host backgrounds. For exploring the role played by the host's genetics, many animal experimental models can be used. The most widely used are dogs (with their many breeds) and mice (with many different inbred lines). The mammalian hosts should therefore have been able to provide a rich harvest of putative candidate genes. This simply did not happen.

Considering the human host, Chagas disease affects highly diversified populations, of European, African, Amerindian and mixed ancestry, which should make it possible to explore in depth the role played by population/ethnic diversity (see below). Moreover, the clinical diversity of the disease provides many different clearly defined phenotypic categories (Gentillini, 1993), which could be explored by association studies. The disease starts with an acute phase, which can be either asymptomatic or symptomatic with a severe infectious syndrome. About 10% of the patients die at this stage. Survivors enter the indeterminate phase, in which the parasite hides in the host's cells, serological reactions (explored by ELISA and indirect immunofluorescence) are positive, and there are no symptoms. The majority of patients never exhibit any symptoms. Roughly 30% develop patent Chagas disease. In this last case, the main clinical forms are (i) cardiac (the majority of the cases, with severe cardiopathy leading to severe cardiac insufficiency); (ii) digestive (megacolon and megaoesophagus, approximately 3% of the cases); and (iii) cardiac and digestive. Some patients with symptoms have negative serological tests (Brenière et al., 1984). Some patients have electrocardiographic abnormalities,

without clinical symptoms. Lastly, there are great differences in susceptibility to anti-chagasic drugs among patients (Toledo et al., 2003). There is therefore an abundant set of clearly defined clinical forms or phenotypic categories of Chagas disease. These different pathological phenotypes are not evenly distributed over the area of transmission. There are great differences among countries. In spite of these favourable conditions, knowledge of the possible role of human genetic diversity in the transmission of the disease and of its clinical forms is still in its infancy. Considerably more is known about leishmaniosis (Bucheton et al., 2003). Even the very cause of chronic Chagas disease remains under debate. It has been proposed that it could be a pure autoimmune disease (Kierzenbaum, 1985). However, it is now considered that the parasite is still present in the host's cells even in the chronic phase of the disease and causes a chronic inflammatory response. This is demonstrated by both PCR studies and classical xenodiagnosis. Obviously, in the search for genes of susceptibility, this debate is highly relevant.

A Brazilian study suggested a probable familial component in Chagas cardiopathy (Zicker et al., 1990). However, this was not confirmed in an Argentinian study (Morini et al., 1994). Many studies have looked for the possible role of HLA polymorphism in Chagas disease. Some of them reported significant associations (Fernandes-Mestre et al., 1998) while others did not (Fae et al., 2000). Large extended pedigrees have made it possible to demonstrate clear heritability of some serological characteristics. The heritability of T. cruzi seropositivity in Brazil is 0.556, which is high (Williams-Blangero et al., 1997), while the levels of immunoglobulins A and G in Brazil also have a heritability of 0.33 (Barbossa et al., 1981). These results fit personal observations made in some areas of Bolivia, where 100% of the triatomine bugs collected (all Triatoma infestans) were infected with T. cruzi, while 50% of the children were still seronegative at the age of 10 years. The presence of vectors in all houses was massive, and surely all the children had been bitten hundreds or thousands of times since they were born. However, only some of them had become infected.

These are the only robust results gathered in the search for genetic components of susceptibility to Chagas disease. To my knowledge, a

specific ethnic component has not been sought (see below). However, such an investigation could be informative. Some populations have lived for a very long time in areas that are free of Chagas disease. This is the case for the Aymara Indians of the Bolivian altiplano, which is at an altitude of 4000 m, while triatomine bugs are not found above an altitude of about 3500 m. Consequently, the Aymaras may have not been exposed to Chagas disease for thousands of years. It is only very recently (in the 20th century) that they have started colonizing lowland areas for economic reasons.

Our knowledge of human genetic susceptibility to Chagas disease and to its clinical forms therefore remains quite limited. The candidate gene approach (HLA polymorphism) has proved to be disappointing, as for many other diseases. Specialists in this field see its future in the use of extended pedigrees and genome-wide scans (see Section 7.3, p. 411) rather than in the search for candidate genes (Williams-Blangero *et al.*, 2003). I agree, but I consider that study of the pathogen and vector components is indispensable, using the integrated approach called for above.

# 3. HUMAN DIVERSITY REVEALED BY NEUTRAL/HISTORICAL GENETIC MARKERS

As noted above, rather than studying genes responsible for susceptibility (or those assumed to be so) in an isolated manner (the classical approach, see above), it is wiser first to build a general population genetics framework of the species under consideration (Tibayrenc, 2004). Neutral genes and neutral polymorphisms are the best choice for designing this overall picture because they are considered to be passive markers of the time elapsed. In other words, the extent of differences in neutral genes between two populations or species are considered to be proportional to the time elapsed since these two populations or species shared common ancestors (historical markers).

By definition, a neutral polymorphism is not influenced by natural selection. Although it is extremely difficult to strictly verify this assertion, many genetic traits are classically considered as neutral. For example, in the genetic code, synonymous mutations have no effect on the amino acid encoded. Non-coding sequences (introns, spacer DNA sequences) are considered neutral. This is supported by the fact that their molecular clock is generally faster than the molecular clock of coding sequences, which are prone to natural selective pressure. The use of genes that are highly selected for the study of population genetics could lead to very misleading results (see the discussion of HLA alleles in primates, Section 6, pp. 406).

Another requirement for establishing a reliable population genetic framework of any species is to use a sufficiently large set of genes. Sufficient does not mean thousands. It is interesting to note that the phylogenetic tree shown in Figure 1 was designed after study of the polymorphism of only 29 different genes. It gives the same general picture as the trees shown in Figure 2 (Plate 4.2 in the Colour Plate Section), based on a much broader range of markers. However, the use of two or three genes only could be grossly misleading.

Two factors could lower the correlation between how long two populations have been separated and the genetic distances by which they differ: (i) when the populations are not strictly separated and exchange migrants (the case for human populations), the genetic distances between them are underestimated, since migrants tend to homogenize the gene pools of the populations compared; and (ii) when founder effects interfere, which increases genetic distances. Absolute datings ('these populations split apart 123 351 years ago on a Friday morning') should therefore be considered with caution, which is not always done. Relative datings are more reliable. In Figure 1, it can safely be inferred that Iranians and Europeans shared more recent common ancestors than did Africans and Chinese.

By its nature, neutral polymorphism has a limited predictive power on adaptive polymorphism (see also Section 4). On the other hand, it permits construction of a general population genetic framework for the species under study, reveals the degree of genetic similarity between populations and their rates of migration and genetic exchange, and provides much other relevant information. As noted earlier, it is therefore convenient to have this general picture drawn before studying specific genes (for example, in the human species, those genes that are specifically involved in the transmission and severity of infectious



*Figure 1* Phylogenetic tree of the main human ethnic groups designed from isoenzyme markers (after Nei and Roychoudhury, 1993). Subdivisions match the ethnic groups classically distinguished by physical anthropology (Valois, 1971) and are supported by strong bootstrap values, although they do not correspond to phylogenetic subdivisions. Scale bar indicates genetic distance (Nei, 1972).

diseases). Specific markers, isoenzymes, have played a major role in elucidating the population structure of humans and a countless number of other organisms, including plants, animals and pathogenic agents.

#### 3.1. The Isoenzyme Revolution

In the late 1970s, a revolution occurred in population genetics. Until then, the theoretical basis of this discipline had remained very speculative, because direct analysis of genetic polymorphism was not available. The isoenzyme technique provided a direct measure of genetic polymorphism for the first time. Admittedly, this polymorphism dealt with a special category of genes, those that code for enzymes. However, provided that a sufficient number of enzyme loci were considered (multilocus enzyme electrophoresis or MLEE), it was thought that the polymorphism revealed was representative of the entire genetic variability of the organism. Our group's long experience shows that this is a very robust assertion. When pathogens are considered, population genetics and phylogenetic analyses designed after MLEE studies fit those relying on more sophisticated molecular markers extremely well (Tibayrenc, 1995; Tibayrenc and Ayala, 2002).

Isoenzymes were very fashionable in the 1970s and 1980s. An incredible number of papers on nearly the entire range of living organisms was published. Indeed, MLEE is the perfect example of a generalist genetic marker, i.e., a marker usable for any kind of organism (Tibayrenc, 1998a). This wide use of isoenzymes for a number of species, including organisms that can be crossed in the laboratory such as fruit flies, makes the Mendelian inheritance of this polymorphism fully understood. It is considered neutral and therefore is a time marker.

MLEE has been widely applied to the analysis of human genetic variability (Nei and Roychoudhury, 1993) and has made it possible to describe what is now considered to be a classical pattern of this variability (see Section 3.2 below).

### 3.2. A Classical Pattern of Human Genetic Variability

MLEE made it possible to gather the main results, which were confirmed and refined later by more modern technologies such as microsatellites, *Alu* insertion sequences, or SNPs.

(i) When historical markers are used, the main human ethnic groups are separated by genetic distances that are comparable

to the distances observed between local populations of *Drosophila*. Moreover, approximately 85% of human diversity is found within populations (for example, Europeans) and only 15% is due to differences between populations (for example, between Europeans and Africans) (Nei and Roychoudhury, 1974, 1993; Nei, 1978). Differences between populations can be measured by the  $F_{\rm ST}$  component of the *F* statistics (Box 1).

(ii) However, when phylogenetic trees are designed with MLEE and other, more modern markers, they reflect the ethnic subdivisions classically used in physical anthropology (Valois, 1971) quite well (Figures 1 and 2 [Plate 4.2]). It is interesting to note that the main subdivisions seen on this tree are supported by high bootstrap values. This results from the presence of certain alleles that have much higher frequencies in some ethnic groups than in others (domestic alleles). This property (the presence of markers that are specific to a given group, or at least have a much higher frequency in that group) has been widely used with more modern techniques to elaborate sets of markers capable of identifying ethnic groups (ancestry informative markers or AIMs) (Pfaff *et al.*, 2001). DNAprint Genomics markets kits that can identify the ancestry of any individual and even his or her

#### Box 1 F-statistics

A method was proposed by Wright (1951) for describing genetic population structure with three *F*-statistics,  $F_{IS}$ ,  $F_{IT}$  and  $F_{ST}$ , whose relationships are  $(1-F_{IT}) = (1-F_{ST})(1-F_{IS})$ , where  $F_{IS}$  can be defined as the correlation between homologous alleles in individuals in the local population and  $F_{IT}$  as the allelic correlation in the total population. They are also called fixation indices  $(F_I)$  and describe departures from Hardy–Weinberg expectations within local populations vs. the total population:  $F_I = (h_0/h_e)$ , where  $h_0$  is observed heterozygosity and  $h_e$  is expected heterozygosity.  $F_I = 0$  corresponds to Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium;  $F_I > 0$  indicates a deficit of heterozygotes, due to either inbreeding  $(F_{IS} > 0)$  or inbreeding and population subdivision  $(F_{IT} > 0)$ .

 $F_{\rm st}$  is a commonly used measure of population subdivision (if  $F_{\rm st} = 0$ ,  $F_{\rm rt} = F_{\rm rs}$ ) and can be interpreted as the variance of allelic frequencies among populations.

degree of admixture with a high rate of reliability (http://www. dnaprint.com/welcome/home/index.php). AIMs have been used in forensic medicine and are also used to compare the genetic susceptibility of different ethnic groups to given pathological traits (see Section 5, p. 400).

The high bootstrap values observed in the tree in Figure 1 show that a very cautious interpretation of the results of these statistics is indispensable. Many scientists consider that high bootstrap indices are a strong indication of the robustness of phylogenetic lines. The subdivisions shown in Figures 1 and 2 are by no means phylogenetic lines, but only geographical populations of the same species that have been isolated by geographical distance for a relatively short time: it is considered that all present human populations shared common ancestors in Africa roughly 100 000 years ago (Solignac, 1998). This is the 'Out of Africa' theory, which is considered the most parsimonious one by most geneticists (Torroni *et al.*, 2006).

It is remarkable that analyses based on a wide range of modern molecular markers have fully confirmed the results obtained by the pioneering MLEE studies of the 1970s (see Figure 1) (i) by showing that most of the genetic diversity observed is within rather than between populations and (ii) by clearly identifying the ethnic groups described by classical anthropology (Valois, 1971) (Figure 2 [Plate 4.2]).

#### 4. GENETICALLY DRIVEN PHENOTYPIC DIVERSITY

#### 4.1. The Major Gap between Genotype and Phenotype

It is hard for non-specialists to believe, but knowledge in genetics at the dawn of the 21st century is both immense and in its infancy. Anyone looking at a photograph of the author of this review (see http://www.th.ird.fr) will note that he does not have a thick head of hair. Now, nobody, not even the finest geneticist, knows the first thing about the genetic background of balding. This is true for most phenotypic traits that give rise to the appearance of human beings (and other living creatures): the shape of the nose, the eyes, the colour of the skin, size, weight, etc. We have only hypotheses, we know that balding has something to do with gender, since women are rarely affected. Testosterone obviously plays a role, but many very masculine men do not become bald, and the contrary is true for many less masculine men. To make a long story short, we do not know anything about the genetic mechanisms of balding. However, this characteristic has an obvious familial and ethnic component, which suggests that it is genetically driven. The same holds true for those characteristics that are not visually apparent: blood pressure, cardiac rhythm, number of red blood cells, etc., which obviously have strong implications for survival and fitness and whose genetic background is largely hypothetical. To me, this makes any theory on evolution presently very speculative in essence, since the target and basic material of natural selection is the phenotype, and the way it is driven by the genotype remains hypothetical.

# 4.2. Phenotypic Traits that have an Obvious Genetic Basis

Many morphological traits have strong heritability, even if they are also influenced by environmental factors. This is the case for size, body shape, skin colour, hair texture, etc. Everybody has been struck by the facial resemblance among members of the same family, which can skip generations. Three members of the Bourbon royal family of France, Louis XIV, Louis XV (his son) and Louis XVI (the unfortunate grandson who was guillotined) exhibited a striking facial resemblance through the famous Bourbon nose, which was apparently a dominant characteristic.

When phenotype is taken in a broad sense (any observable characteristic apart from the genome itself), this remains true. Most phenotypic traits have strong heritability, and this seems to be the case for susceptibility to infectious diseases (see Section 2, p. 384).

It is interesting to note that genetically driven phenotypic variability among populations can be much higher than the genetic differences among them as measured by neutral/historical markers. When the  $F_{\rm st}$  component (see Box 1) of these historical markers is as low as 0.15, the same component measured for skin colour among

human populations ranges from 0.6 to 0.9 (Harpending, 2002). It is true also for face morphology: the degree of variability between different human populations is far higher than the same character for two different ape species, chimpanzee (*Pan troglodytes*) and bonobo (*Pan paniscus*) (Sarich and Miele, 2004). From these facts it can be said that genetically driven phenotypic differences among populations and ethnic groups are far stronger than the genetic differences revealed by historical markers (Figures 1 and 2), although they roughly follow the same distribution pattern, which corresponds to the ethnic groups classically described. Susceptibility to infectious diseases is also a phenotype that has a certain genetic component, as demonstrated by heritability studies and the sib risk (Section 2.1, p. 384) (Cooke and Hill, 2001).

The working hypothesis that comes to mind is that the genetic background of this phenotype (susceptibility to infectious diseases) may also follow, to some extent, the pattern recorded for morphological phenotypes. In other words, this character, explored in the present review, has some significant connection with populations and ethnic groups. For this reason, it is useful to discuss below the scientific relevance of the concepts of race and ethnic group, the object of intense current debate (Wolf, 2005).

# 4.3. The Probable Major Role of Genomic Rearrangements in Phenotypic Expression

Possibly a major revolution in genetics is taking place today, comparable to the discoveries of exons, introns and transposons in the 1980s and, even, the genetic code in the 1950s. The Human Genome Project (HGP) (see Section 7.1, p. 407) and all sequencing projects are more or less founded on the hope that deciphering the entire DNA sequence of a given organism will provide a nearly complete understanding of how it works. Scientists may have promised too much here. Countless times I have read that the sequencing of *Plasmodium falciparum* will make it possible to eradicate malaria. Now we are possibly discovering that the sequence itself is not that important, or at least is not the only character to take into account. It is important to underline that, when one considers only the sequence, humans are strikingly alike. Two randomly selected individuals have an identical sequence for 99.9% of their genome (Feuk *et al.*, 2006). It is unexpected that these tiny sequence differences would account for genetically driven phenotypic differences among individuals and populations.

The unexpected discovery of the last few years is that genomic rearrangements are highly variable among individuals and populations. By comparing individual genomes, it has been found that, in some individuals, large segments are duplicated, while in other individuals portions are lacking or are inverted. This polymorphism, which has been called structural variation, is seen in individuals with no pathology. It is also referred to as large-scale copy-number variation (LCV) (Lafrate et al., 2004) or large-scale copy-number polymorphism (Sebat et al., 2004). The term 'copy-number variant' refers to either LCVs or smaller DNA segments that exist in variable copy numbers among individuals. LCV involves the gain or loss of DNA segments that can be as long as several hundred kilobases. Lafrate et al. (2004) have found an average of 12.4 LCVs per individual in 39 healthy individuals taken as controls and 16 individuals with previously identified chromosomal imbalances. The LCVs were randomly distributed throughout the genome. Many contained complete genes, which shows that they are not restricted to introns or intergenic regions. The number of CNVs of 50 kb or more is estimated at 100 per individual. There is also a significant number of intermediate-sized CNVs (8–40 kb) and many smaller structural variants (<8 kb) (Feuk et al., 2006). It is important to underline that this copy-number variation is seen in non-pathological individuals.

My belief is that these discoveries mark the entry of a new era in the field of genetics and will revolutionize our views on the links between genotype and phenotype, both at the individual and the population levels.

Studies are just beginning, and it is too early to know the relevance of LCVs and CNVs on the expression of normal vs. pathological phenotypes. Some data suggest that structural polymorphism might play a role in determining fitness, with strong implications for natural selection and evolution. A particular 900 kb inversion variation in European individuals is an example. This polymorphism seems to be positively selected in the population of Iceland. Carrier women are statistically more fertile (Stefansson et al., 2005). Gene enrichment as a consequence of structural polymorphism could also be involved in general defence responses, including resistance to bacteria (Feuk et al., 2006). It is important to explore to what extent the frequency of these LCVs differs among populations and ethnic groups (see Section 5.1, p. 400). This is still poorly known. However, the case of segmental duplications containing the gene CCL3L1 shows that (i) this kind of polymorphism may have drastic phenotypic effects (here resistance to a major transmissible disease) and (ii) may be differently distributed among different human populations (see Section 5.2, p. 403) (Gonzalez et al., 2005). Moreover, a well-documented study investigating 71 ethnically diversified individuals (23 African-Americans, 24 European-Americans and 24 Han Chinese) and 100 deletion polymorphisms has shown that African-Americans showed more diversity for this kind of polymorphism, as is the case for SNP polymorphism (Hinds et al., 2006).

Structural variation rather than sequence variation is possibly responsible for the important phenotypic differences between humans and apes. As we have seen (Section 1.2 (iv), p. 382), the sequences of our genome and the chimpanzee's genome are extremely similar (Chimpanzee Sequencing and Analysis Consortium, 2005). Recently, no fewer than 651 structural rearrangement differences have been described between us and our closest cousins (Newman *et al.*, 2005). The genes contained in these structural rearrangements could play a major role in the expression of different phenotypes between humans and apes.

The importance of this discovery has led to setting up a specialized database aiming to put all the information relevant to genomic variants in a single place (see Section 7.4, p. 412).

# 5. ARE RACES AND ETHNIC GROUPS BIOLOGICALLY MEANINGFUL AND MEDICALLY RELEVANT?

### 5.1. The Biological Nature of Ethnic Groups/Races

The biological relevance of races and ethnic groups is a highly ideologically loaded debate. Since most Western societies are now multiracial communities, the political implications of the debate are weighty, and it is hard to consider human populations with the same cold, objective eye as populations of newts or carabic beetles. If we try to do so, human ethnic groups fit rather well into the classical definition of subspecies or geographical races. As we have said above, population trees designed with historical markers closely follow classically identified ethnic groups (Figures 1 and 2), which supports the view that human ethnic groups can be considered as phenotypically differentiated geographical populations of the human species. Moreover, there are differences between ethnic groups at the level of structural genomics. The genome appears to be composed of linkage disequilibrium blocks separated by 'hot-spot' recombination blocks. The level of linkage disequilibrium is lower in Africans than in other populations, which suggests that non-African populations are subsets of Africans (Cavalli-Sforza and Feldman, 2003).

Phenotypic differentiation among ethnic groups, particularly skin colour, is probably adaptive to environmental factors (mostly climatic), although some authors (Harpending, 2002) postulate that they are mainly the result of sexual selection. Anybody having experienced long-term stays in tropical or equatorial areas can testify that people of African origin are better adapted to such climates than Europeans. French Guiana has not been called the 'white people's grave' for nothing. Indian populations of the Bolivian Altiplano are very well adapted to high altitudes (the Altiplano is 4000 m above sea level). Studies at the French-Bolivian Institute of High-Altitude Biology (IBBA) (http://saludpublica.bvsp.org.bo/ibba/) have shown that the original ethnic group of the Altiplano, the Aymara Indians, are the best adapted. They have a powerful respiratory capacity (barrel-like chest) and make red blood cells very easily. The Quechuas, who are more recent immigrants (they are the descendants of the Incas and came to the Altiplano area in the 15th century), are less well adapted. Bolivians of direct Spanish (or other European) ancestry are even more poorly adapted. Certain individuals suffer from certain pathologies (polyglobulia) even if they were born in La Paz, and have to live in lowland areas. Crossbred people are half-way between Indians and Caucasians in altitude adaptation. The least well adapted are of course the 'gringos', the Caucasians who were born outside the country. It is remarkable that the Aymara became so well adapted in only a few thousand years. This illustrates the very strong phenotypic adaptability of our species to environmental characteristics. It is logical to predict that this property involves genetic susceptibility to infectious diseases as well (see below). If the Aymaras are well adapted to altitude, the other side of the coin is that they do not enjoy living in lowland areas. However, many are obliged to for economical reasons. Experience at the IBBA has shown that they had greater susceptibility to transmissible diseases than native inhabitants of these lowland regions.

As for the biological validity of ethnic groups, it can be noted that in the special issue of Nature Genetics published on this topic in 2004 (Cho and Sankar, 2004; Jorde and Wooding, 2004; Keita et al., 2004; Rotini, 2004; Tishkoff and Kidd, 2004), the opinions of the different contributors were quite disparate. This shows that there is no consensus among specialists on this point. To a large extent, it is a war of words and a battle of definitions. In any case, it can be noted that a phylogenetic definition of subspecies or geographical race is not logical for any species, since by definition subspecies do not constitute distinct clades. They are still capable of interbreeding. It is therefore not unexpected that the existence of different human ethnic groups is not fully corroborated by strict phylogenetic criteria (Keita et al., 2004). This would be the case for any geographical race /subspecies in any species. Today the validity of the concept of subspecies/geographical race is debated by many, not only for our own species. This is really a matter of appreciation. Any reasonably trained naturalist knows that subspecies do exist. They result from recurrent, obvious observations and delight collectors of carabic or cetonic beetles. It is interesting to note that while many authors reject the biological validity of human ethnic subdivisions (Cho and Sankar, 2004) and do not accept their status as geographical races, other species receive totally different treatment with rather comparable genetic data. For very long, the zebu, which is completely interfertile when crossed with the European ox, has been considered a distinct species (Bos indicus). It is only recently that it has lost that status. It is nevertheless considered a full subspecies (Bos taurus indicus). The polar bear is considered a fully distinct species (Ursus maritimus), different from the brown bear (Ursus arctos). However, the two 'species' produce fertile

offspring, and are genetically very close, according to both nuclear and mitochondrial genes (Yu *et al.*, 2004; Fulton and Strobeck, 2006). When phylogenies are designed using mitochondrial genes, polar bears appear as a subset of brown bears. Brown bears from Alaska are genetically more closely related to polar bears than to other geographical populations of brown bears (Avise, 2004).

This debate on the validity of the subspecies concept is a neverending story (as is the current debate on the species concept; see Avise, 2004) and could fill an entire treatise. Apart from this debate, for the purposes of this article, the important point to be explored is the medical relevance of population/ethnic diversity in the specific case of transmissible diseases.

# 5.2. Population and Ethnic Diversity with Regard to Transmission and Severity of Infectious Diseases

The selective pressure caused by infectious diseases exhibits considerable differences among geographical locations, ecological areas, climatic zones and continents. Pathogens are not equally distributed; for example, malaria exerts its selective pressure mainly in tropical areas and almost totally spares northern countries. As noted in Section 1 (p. 380) this should be even more closely examined in the case of vectorborne diseases, since geography and climate strongly drive vector distribution as well, and in most instances there is high vectorial specificity for any given pathogen. For example, human African trypanosomiasis (HAT; formerly called sleeping sickness) is strictly transmitted by tsetse flies. These Diptera of the genus *Glossina* are found only in subtropical Africa. The selective pressure of HAT is therefore limited to that part of the world. Some authors have noted that the northern limit of tsetse fly distribution roughly follows the southern limit of the penetration of Islam in Africa; perhaps Arab invaders were stopped by HAT.

Different human populations would therefore be expected to exhibit different patterns of susceptibility/resistance to different infectious diseases. Moreover, the way our genome has been shaped by the selective pressure exerted by transmissible diseases would also be expected to be different in different ethnic groups. The data presented below support these expectations.

It is a classical notion that native Amerindian populations were decimated by the pathogens brought by Europeans. Tuberculosis is a classical example (Poulet, 1994). This concept has even been put to practical use in the first attempt at biological warfare by the British army in Canada during the French–British wars. Clothes of patients who had died from smallpox were given to the Indians who had collaborated with the French army. The Indians proved to be extremely susceptible to the smallpox virus.

The differences in AIDS epidemiology between Africa on the one hand, and North America and western Europe on the other, have obvious socioeconomic, environmental and behavioural explanations. However, it is now clear that genetic factors also have an effect (Dean *et al.*, 1996; Samson *et al.*, 1996), which makes Africans more susceptible to AIDS than Europeans. The proposed explanation is allelic frequency differences for a deletion in the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. This deletion, which seems to have a protective role, is much more frequent in Caucasians than in Africans. At the genomic level, as already noted, segmental duplications containing the gene *CCL3L1* are able to explain differences between people of different ethnic backgrounds (African-Americans and European-Americans) (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2005).

Another viral disease, hepatitis C, also has an unequal distribution of genetic susceptibility among ethnic groups (Thio *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, a parasitic disease, visceral leishmaniosis, shows strong ethnic differences in the ratio of asymptomatic to symptomatic infections (Ibrahim *et al.*, 1999; Bucheton *et al.*, 2002).

Turning to the impact of infectious diseases on our genome's structure, a classical example of differential ethnic impact is the case of malaria in Africans and African-Americans (Alison, 1954; Labie, 1994; Miller, 1994). Balanced polymorphism, due to the selective pressure of malaria, has been fairly well demonstrated for haemo-globin S (sickle cell anaemia). The homozygous genotype S/S is 100% lethal in Africa, whereas the heterozygous individuals (S/A) have a selective advantage compared with children (A/A) who do not have the mutant allele genotype. Heterozygous individuals (S/A) are resistant to *P. falciparum*, the causative agent of the most malignant form of malaria. This persistence of a deleterious gene due to selective pressure exerted by a disease is a case of balanced polymorphism.

Another illustrative case of balanced polymorphism is Melanesian ovalocytosis (Tanner *et al.*, 1991), which is caused by a mutation in erythrocyte band 3. The existence of the balanced polymorphisms involved in sickle cell anaemia and Melanesian ovalocytosis suggests a high mortality rate from malaria in Papua New Guinea and Africa. Interestingly, the trait persists in African-Americans, although they have been spared the selective pressure of *P. falciparum* malaria for more than one century.

Although their genetic relationships with malaria are less clear, it has been proposed (Miller, 1994) that the high frequency of other pathological traits in African-Americans and Africans are attributable to a selective advantage they confer in malaria-endemic areas. This could be the case for high blood pressure and iron overload with cirrhosis. It is worth noting that although African-Americans have undergone great genetic admixture from Caucasian populations, they still exhibit very specific genetic polymorphisms linked to malaria selective pressure. Statistical genetic differences between African-Americans and Caucasian-Americans are also reflected in their HLA polymorphism (see Section 6, p. 406), which is considered to be caused by the selective pressure of infectious diseases.

It is probable that major transmissible diseases other than malaria have played and still play a major selective role in sub-Saharan Africa. HAT and schistosomiasis are possible examples. Today, the HIV epidemic is most probably is having a drastic selective impact on African populations.

The few examples cited above support the view that ethnic diversity is a character to be taken into account in the study of the relationships between human genetic diversity and infectious diseases. Differences are not limited to the broad groups previously referred to as *grand'races* (Valois, 1971) (Caucasians, Africans, Asians) and seem to act also, if not more, at a finer level. This is conceivable since different selective pressures caused by pathogens and vectors may act at very subtle ecogeographical levels. An illustration is the differential susceptibility to malaria among West African ethnic groups. The Fulani ethnic group exhibits a high level of resistance to malaria compared to other groups, although all live in the same area (Modiano *et al.*, 1999).

Differences between ethnic groups, even at a subtle level, are important to take into account for research, surveillance and control of

infectious diseases, and easier identification of susceptible individuals. Tools are available to survey these differences even in the case of populations that have undergone admixture (Tang, 2006). Ancestry informative markers (Pfaff *et al.*, 2001) are able to detect the degree of admixture in individuals and populations with a high degree of reliability. For this reason, they are used in forensic medicine.

# 5.3. Ethnic Diversity: A Gold Mine for Medical Research?

My conviction is that the ethnic diversity of our species, the result of long-term strong selective pressure in drastically different environments, will prove to be an immense source of discoveries in the field of genetic susceptibility to infectious diseases, their clinical forms and the drugs and vaccines used to combat them. This could be true for many diseases, not only transmissible diseases (Tang, 2006). In this perspective, some recent proposals (Wolf, 2005) aiming to outlaw the making of any scientific reference to the concept of race, are most uncalled for. Racism is highly reprehensible. Scientific debates on the biological nature and medical interest of ethnic groups, are not.

Lastly, one must keep in mind that in the same population there can be considerable individual differences in genetic susceptibility to infectious diseases (Abel and Dessein, 1997). Both population and individual levels must therefore be considered in attempts to study and control infectious diseases.

# 6. OUR GENETIC INHERITANCE HAS BEEN SCULPTED BY INFECTIOUS DISEASES

Haldane (1949) was the first to propose that infectious diseases have been the most drastic selective pressure acting on the evolution of the human species over the last 5000 years. This selective pressure would have been exerted mainly by tuberculosis in Europe and malaria in Africa (Miller, 1994). It is certain that massive epidemics such as the black plague, or more recently Spanish influenza, which killed dozens of millions of individuals, had drastic demographic effects. But endemic diseases such as tuberculosis and malaria, which act continuously over thousands of years, probably have a stronger selective effect.

In fact, it is probable that the selective impact of infectious diseases has been operating for much longer than 5000 years and has acted through the whole evolutionary process of our species. However, epidemics spread more easily in large human populations grouped in large cities than in the scattered small populations which existed before the agricultural era. Selective pressure has therefore probably been stronger since the Neolithic era.

A solid indication of the impact of infectious diseases on human evolution is the very strange molecular evolution pattern of the HLA system. Some HLA human alleles have a very ancient coalescence time, before the phylogenetic divergence among Catarrhinians (Old World monkeys), and are genetically more closely related to some Macaca alleles than to other human HLA alleles (see Figure 3). The explanation suggested by Ayala and Escalante (1996) is balanced selection by infectious agents, mainly malaria. Logically, HLA polymorphism is very different between different human populations, for example between African-Americans and Americans of European ancestry, since the close ancestors of the first group underwent the selective pressure of malaria. This fact has practical medical consequences, since HLA typing in African-Americans lacked precision before the advent of sequence typing and led to a higher rate of organ transplant failures in this group. It is most probable that the HLA system is not the only part of our genome that has been drastically affected by the selective pressure exerted by transmissible diseases.

# 7. MAJOR INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMMES THAT WILL BOOST UNDERSTANDING OF HUMAN GENETIC DIVERSITY

# 7.1. The Human Genome Project

The HGP can be considered as the equivalent for molecular biology and genomics of the Apollo programme to conquer the moon. When the required technology (automatic gene sequencing) became





available, two rival programmes, one monitored by a private company (Celera Genomics; http://www.celera.com/) and one that relied on an international consortium of public institutes coordinated by the National Institutes of Health in Bethesda, Maryland, USA (http:// www.ornl.gov/sci/techresources/Human\_Genome/home.shtml), entered a race lasting several years and published the entire sequence of the human genome almost neck and neck, although Celera Genomics had a small advantage in time (Craig Venter *et al.*, 2001). The results were somewhat surprising, since our species, which is considered (probably with a high dose of anthropocentrism) as the most sophisticated product of evolution, possesses only roughly 25000 genes. This is a hard lesson for those speculative scientists who have professed for decades, without the slightest evidence, the dogma of a minimum number of 100000 genes for humans.

The HGP has proved to be an invaluable source of information and has already led to the discovery of many genes of interest involved in pathological processes (Gary, 2001). However, it is probable that knowing the whole sequence of the genome will not lead automatically to a thorough understanding of how genes drive the expression of phenotypes (see Section 1, p. 380). Inferring the contrary is possibly akin to thinking that knowledge of the alphabet makes it possible thoroughly to appreciate the genius of Shakespeare. Another limitation of the HGP is that it gives a dim idea of the entire picture of genetic diversity of our species, since only very few individuals, all of Caucasian origin, were used as donors. This is why the

*Figure 3* Phylogenetic tree based on 64 HLA (see the Glossary on p. 423) DQBI alleles (exon 2) of 10 species of primates: Hominoidea: Hs = Homo sapiens, Pp = Pan paniscus (bonobo), Pt = Pan troglodytes (chimpanzee), Gg = Gorilla gorilla (gorilla), Or = Pongo pygmaeus (orang-utang), Hl = Hylobates lar (gibbon); Cercopithecoidea: Ma = Macaca arctoides, Mf = Macaca fascicularis, Mm = Macaca mulatta (rhesus macaque), Ph = Papio hamadryas (hamadryas baboon). The numbers after each species designation refer to the alleles. The tree was designed according to the neighbour-joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987). Human alleles are scattered throughout the tree. Some of them appear to be phylogenetically closer to Gorilla or Macaca alleles than to other human alleles (after Ayala and Escalante, 1996).

two programmes discussed in Sections 7.2 and 7.3 (pp. 410, 411) were initiated.

## 7.2. The Human Genome Diversity Project

After the start of the HGP, it appeared that, with only one individual donor being used for each part of the genome to be sequenced, one important feature would be missed: the genetic polymorphism of our species. This was all the more worrying as the individuals selected for the HGP were all Caucasians. Today European populations exhibit strong genetic homogeneity, and much of the overall genetic variability of our species is found in African populations, at least when historical markers are considered (Solignac, 1998). It was soon proposed (Cavalli-Sforza et al., 1991) that a complementary programme to the HGP be designed, surveying a representative sample of human genetic polymorphism through the analysis of diversified gene sequences. The project, named the Human Genome Diversity Project (HGDP; http://www.stanford.edu/group/morrinst/hgdp.html), focused on those human populations that had remained genetically isolated for a very long time ('native people'), since they are considered to convey more precise information than urban populations, which have been subject to much admixture. The project generated great opposition from many organizations representing indigenous peoples, mainly the World Council of Indigenous Peoples (WCIP) (Kahn, 1994a). The scientists involved in the HGDP maladroitly claimed that it was urgent to analyse the genetic diversity of indigenous people because some of them were threatened with extinction. Although the concern of these organizations about what they termed genetic colonialism was quite understandable, from a scientific and medical point of view having a clear idea of human gene sequence polymorphism remains highly desirable. While the HGDP was in trouble, other valuable initiatives were launched. An African-American Diversity Project has been designed (Kahn, 1994b). The specific HLA polymorphism seen in this group is one of its particular interests (see above). The European Union has launched a diversity programme in Europe through a network of laboratories stretching from

Barcelona to Budapest (Kahn, 1994a). Lastly, a Chinese HGDP has already yielded valuable results (Chu et al., 1998). Fortunately, the HGDP has now been restarted on a happier basis (Cann et al., 2002). A total of 1064 lymphoblastoid cell lines have been collected at the Jean Dausset Foundation in Paris (http://www.cephb.fr/), corresponding to 51 populations from all continents. These have already been genotyped with 404 microsatellite markers distributed throughout the genome. However, this sample, although it is already broad, is considered insufficient by some authors, who propose the survey of up to 10000 individuals (Cavalli-Sforza and Feldman, 2003). Moreover, from the medical point of view, the information garnered will be drastically limited by the fact that the data on the samples concern only the gender, population and geographical origin of the subjects. For ethical reasons, no information will be issued on possible pathological traits. It will therefore be impossible to establish any links between given pathologies (including infectious diseases) and genetic polymorphisms. Limiting information derived from the data relating to the samples is ethically estimable. However, it is highly desirable to complement the HGDP with more specialized programmes, including thorough collection of relevant clinical and biomedical information. This will be beneficial not only for medical purposes, but also for basic understanding of human evolution, since a dominant characteristic is its long-term co-evolution with pathogens.

# 7.3. The Hap Map Project

'Hap Map' stands for International Human Haplotype Map Project (http://www.hapmap.org/). This huge programme is handled by an international consortium (International Hap Map Consortium, 2003) whose goal is to determine the genotypes of  $10^6$  or more sequence variants (SNPs), their frequencies and the degree of association between them. The goal was to make sure that one SNP would be assayed for every 5000 bases of sequence. This detailed mapping should provide a high-resolution tool to look for associations between the variants and many pathological traits. Four different populations have been studied: Africans (unfortunately represented by

only one ethnic group, the Yoruba from Nigeria), Han Chinese, Japanese and Caucasian-Americans. This sample, although better than the sample used for the HGP (which included only a few Caucasian individuals) is highly biased. Han Chinese and Japanese are ethnically very closely related and therefore should not be separately sampled. The genetic diversity of Africans, as already noted (Solignac, 1998), is considerable and will not be correctly represented by a single ethnic group. Lastly, many ethnic groups are lacking, including Australian natives, Amerindians, Indians, Middle-East populations and Pacific Islanders. The sample used for the HGDP is much better (see Section 7.2, p. 410). The use of the imperfect Hap Map sample will have limitations when looking for those diseases whose genetic background follows the so-called common disease/ common variant (CDCV) hypothesis, in which the genetic factors involved are evenly distributed among populations and are 'relatively' frequent (about one in ten million). If the opposite hypothesis prevails (the multiple rare variant [MRV] hypothesis), the Hap Map project will lack resolution (Rotini, 2004). Unfortunately, available data do suggest that genetic traits related to susceptibility to infectious diseases are population-linked and therefore follow the MRV pattern. It can therefore be feared that the Hap Map project will be of limited help in this specific biomedical field of research. However, the first results of this programme have provided many researchers with a mine of valuable data and have contributed to the discovery that genomic rearrangements (either deletions or duplications) are much more common in our genome than expected, and could play a major role in phenotypic expression (Couzin, 2006).

# 7.4. Consortia, Databases, Networks and Networks of Networks

The blossoming of new, diversified technologies and the increasing number of teams surveying human genetic/genomic variation and its medical implications run the risk of leading to cacophony and anarchy. Fortunately, many international initiatives are being taken to try to coordinate these disparate efforts. The Internet makes it possible to connect all the teams working worldwide on a given topic. The main goals of these many endeavours are to standardize methods and technological approaches, to avoid redundancies and to allow the dissemination of negative results, which are sometimes difficult to publish in the classical scientific literature. Among the many initiatives that have been born in recent years, a few illustrative examples are cited below.

As we have seen, the discovery of the importance of genomic rearrangements (copy-number variant, large-scale copy-number variation) has stimulated a great deal of research, and has shown that the polymorphism of the human genome does not limit itself to sequence and SNPs. The multi-entry, very user-friendly Database of Genomic Variants (http://www.projects.tcag.ca/variation/) collects all the relevant information in this field (Flintoft, 2005). It is constantly updated with new data obtained by the research teams that handle the database and from surveys of the published literature. It is possible to enter the database either by a gene of interest or by a whole chromosome. In the last case, all identified genomic variants and their location on the chromosome are presented. Interestingly, the population component of the variants is taken into account. The database provides information on the frequency of each variant and the ethnic origin of the individuals in whom it was identified.

Another database for genomic variation is being planned, the HUGOBase (Integrated Human Genome Variation database) (Anonymous, 2006). An internet site is not yet available.

An important initiative has been launched specifically to explore the links between pathologies and human variation at the genomic level. It is a network of networks, the HuGENet<sup>TM</sup> or Human Genome Epidemiology Network (http://www.cdc.gov/genomics/hugenet/default.htm). It is composed of 23 specialized networks (Ioannidis *et al.*, 2005) that cover a broad range of pathologies, from cardio-vascular disease to brain tumours and assisted reproduction. It is distressing that infectious pathologies are not sufficiently represented; a very specialized network covers HIV only. I have proposed to the coordinators of HuGENet<sup>TM</sup> that they should set up a general network of infectious diseases that will cover all transmissible pathologies, including those of viral, bacterial, parasitic and fungal origin. This

new network will be based on the integrated approach that is described in the present paper and will take into account the co-evolution phenomena between host, pathogen and vector. The proposed name of the network is Infection, Genetics and Evolution (inspired by the journal of the same name).

# 8. CONCLUSION

At least when historical markers are considered, our species has limited genetic variability because we are a fairly young species: our common mothers and fathers lived only 100 000 years ago (Solignac, 1998). At the same time, we have relatively high genetically driven phenotypic polymorphism resulting from strong selective pressures acting differently on separate geographical populations (Tibayrenc, 2004). Although direct evidence is still limited, strong circumstantial evidence clearly shows that susceptibility to infectious diseases has a genetic component acting both at the individual and population/ ethnic levels. This makes pharmacogenetics (Cressey and Lallemant, in press) a field that has a promising future: the administration of a given drug should be adapted to the genetic make-up of individuals and populations. When the population level is considered, it could be more informative to use a finer level (for example, Fulani vs. Mossi; see Section 5.2, p. 403) rather than the major subdivisions classically distinguished by physical anthropology (Valois, 1971). However, when analysing multiethnic populations from a medical point of view, it would be misleading to neglect the ethnic component, at least for research purposes.

The exponential development of new powerful technologies and the cross between genomics and bioinformatics is probably generating a new scientific revolution that can be compared only to the discovery of the double helix. It is apparent that our genetically driven phenotypic variability, both normal and pathological, is not explainable by sequence variation only. Major genomic rearrangements seem to play a major role. Since populations are the target of natural selection as well as individuals, it is all the more desirable to develop the new field of population genomics. More than ever, we are in the dark age to understanding susceptibility of infectious diseases but, fortunately, in the golden age of genetics (Tibayrenc, 2001).

Lastly, the indisputable impact of this genetic component of human susceptibility to infectious diseases, and its co-evolutionary interactions with the genetic diversity of vectors and pathogens, should not lead to the neglect of another major component acting on the transmission and severity of these human scourges: the crucial role of the environment, chiefly manifested as socioeconomic factors.

### REFERENCES

- Abel, L. and Dessein, A.J. (1997). The impact of host genetics on susceptibility to human infectious diseases. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 9, 509–516.
- Abel, L., Sanchez, F.O., Oberti, J., Thuc, N.V., Hoa, L.V., Lap, V.D., Skamene, E., Lagrange, P.H. and Schurr, E. (1998). Susceptibility to leprosy is linked to the human NRAMP1 gene. Journal of Infectious Diseases 177, 133–145.
- Alison, A.C. (1954). Protection afforded by sickle-cell trait against subtertian malarial infection. *British Medical Journal*, 290–294.
- Alric, L., Fort, M., Izopet, J., Vinel, J.P., Duffaut, M. and Abbal, M. (1999). Association between genes of the major histocompatibility complex class II and the outcome of hepatitis C virus infection. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 179, 1309–1310.
- Anderson, R.M. and May, R.M. (1990). Modern vaccines: immunization and herd immunity. *Lancet* 335, 641–645.
- Anonymous (2006). Jousting for HUGOBase. Nature Genetics 38, 599.
- Avise, J.C. (2004). *Molecular Markers, Natural History and Evolution*, 2nd edn. New York and London: Chapman and Hall.
- Ayala, F.J. and Escalante, A. (1996). The evolution of human populations: a molecular perspective. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 5, 188–201.
- Barbossa, C.A.A., Morton, N.E., Pao, D.C. and Krieger, H. (1981). Biological and cultural determinants of immunoglobulin levels in a Brazilian population with Chagas' disease. *Human Genetics* 59, 161–163.
- Bargues, M.D., Klisiowicza, D.R., Panzera, F., Noireau, F., Marcilla, A., Perez, R., Rojas, M.G., O'Connor, J.E., Gonzalez-Candelas, F., Galvão, C., Jurberg, J., Carcavallo, R.U., Dujardin, J.P. and Mas-Coma, S. (2006). Origin and phylogeography of the Chagas disease main vector *Triatoma infestans* based on nuclear rDNA sequences and genome size. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* 6, 46–62.

- Barnabé, C., Brisse, S. and Tibayrenc, M. (2000). Population structure and genetic typing of *Trypanosoma cruzi*, the agent of Chagas' disease: a multilocus enzyme electrophoresis approach. *Parasitology* 150, 513–526.
- Bellamy, R., Beyers, N., McAdam, K.P., Ruwende, C., Gie, R., Samaai, P., Bester, D., Meyer, M., Corrah, T., Collin, M., Camidge, D.R., Wilkinson, D., Hoal-Van Helden, E., Whittle, H.C., Amos, W., van Helden, P. and Hill, A.V. (2000). Genetic susceptibility to tuberculosis in Africans: a genome-wide scan. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* USA 97, 8005–8009.
- Blackwell, J.M. (1996). Genetic susceptibility to leishmanial infections: studies in mice and man. *Parasitology* **112** (supplement), S67–S74.
- Brenière, S.F., Poch, O., Selaes, H., Tibayrenc, M., Lemesre, J.L., Antezana, G. and Desjeux, P. (1984). Specific humoral depression in chronic patients infected by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Revista do Instituto de Medicina Tropica de São Paulo* 26, 254–258.
- Bucheton, B., Kheir, M.M., El-Safi, S.H., Hammad, A., Mergani, A., Mary, C., Abel, L. and Dessein, A. (2002). The interplay between environmental and host factors during an outbreak of visceral leishmaniasis in eastern Sudan. *Microbes and Infection* 4, 1449–1457.
- Bucheton, B., Abel, L., El-Safi, S., Kheir, M.M., Pavek, S., Lemainque, A. and Dessein, A.J. (2003). A major susceptibility locus on chromosome 22q12 plays a critical role in the control of kala-azar. *American Journal of Human Genetics* **73**, 1052–1060.
- Buscaglia, C.A. and Di Noia, J.M. (2003). *Trypanosoma cruzi* clonal diversity and the epidemiology of Chagas disease. *Microbes and Infection* 5, 419–427.
- Cabello, P.H., Lima, A.M., Azevedo, E.S. and Krieger, H. (1995). Familial aggregation of *Leishmania chagasi* infection in northeastern Brazil. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **52**, 364–365.
- Campbell, D.A., Westenberger, S.J. and Sturm, N.R. (2004). The determinants of Chagas disease: connecting parasite and host genetics. *Current Molecular Medicine* 4, 549–562.
- Cann, H.M., de Toma, C., Cazes, L., Legrand, M.F., Morel, V., Piouffre, L., Bodmer, J., Bodmer, W.F., Bonne-Tamir, B., Cambon-Thomsen, A., Chen, Z., Chu, J., Carcassi, C., Contu, L., Du, R., Excoffier, L., Ferrara, G.B., Friedlaender, J.S., Groot, H., Gurwitz, D., Jenkins, T., Herrera, R.J., Hunag, X., Kidd, J., Kidd, K.K., Langaney, A., Lin, A.A., Qasim Mehdi, S., Parham, P., Piazza, A., Pistillo, M.P., Qian, Y., Shu, Q., Xu, J., Zhu, S., Weber, J.L., Greely, H.T., Feldman, M.W., Thomas, G., Dausset, J. and Cavalli-Sforza, L. (2002). A human genome diversity cell line panel. *Science* 296, 261–262.
- Cavalli-Sforza, L. and Feldman, M.W. (2003). The application of molecular genetic approaches to the study of human evolution. *Nature Genetics* **33** (supplement), 266–275.

- Cavalli-Sforza, L.L., Wilson, A.C., Cantor, C.R., Cook-Deegan, R.M. and King, M.C. (1991). Call for a world-wide survey of human genetic diversity: a vanishing opportunity for the human genome project. *Genomics* 11, 490–491.
- Check, E. (2005). Patchwork people. Nature 437, 1084–1086.
- Chimpanzee Sequencing and Analysis Consortium (2005). Initial sequence of the chimpanzee genome and comparison with the human genome. *Nature* **437**, 69–87.
- Cho, M.K. and Sankar, P. (2004). Forensic medicine and ethical, legal and social implications beyond the clinic. *Nature Genetics* **36** (supplement), S8–S11.
- Chu, J.Y., Huang, W., Kuang, S.Q., Wang, J.M., Xu, J.J., Chu, Z.T., Yanga, Z.Q., Lina, K.Q., Li, P., Wu, M., Geng, Z.C., Tang, C.C., Du, R.F. and Jing, L. (1998). Genetic relationship of populations in China. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA 20, 11763–11768.
- Cooke, G.S. and Hill, A.V.S. (2001). Genetics of susceptibility to human infectious diseases. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **2**, 967–977.
- Couzin, J. (2006). The Hap Map gold rush: researchers mine a rich deposit. *Science* **312**, 1131.
- Craig Venter, J. and 273 others (2001). The sequence of the human genome. *Science*, **291**, 1304–1351.
- Cressey, Y. and Lallemant, M. (in press). Pharmacogenetics of antiretroviral drugs for the treatment of HIV-infected patients: an update. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution.*
- Dean, M., Carrington, M., Winckler, C., Huttley, G.A., Smith, M.W., Allikmets, R., Goedert, J.J., Buchbinder, S.P., Vittinghoff, E., Gomperts, E., Donfield, S., Vlahov, D., Kaslow, R., Saah, A., Rinaldo, C., Detels, R., Hemophilia Growth and Development Study, Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study, Multicenter Hemophilia Cohort Study, San Francisco City Cohort, ALIVE Study and O'Brien, S. (1996). Genetic restriction of HIV-1 infection and progression to AIDS by a deletion allele of the *CKR5* structural gene. *Science*, 273, 1856–1862.
- Dessein, A.J., Marquet, S., Henri, S., El Wali, N.E., Hillaire, D., Rodrigues, V., Prata, A., Ali, Q.M., Gharib, B., de Reggi, M., Magzoub, M.M., Saeed, O.K., Abdelhameed, A.A. and Abel, L. (1999). Infection and disease in human schistosomiasis mansoni are under distinct major gene control. *Microbes and Infection* 1, 561–567.
- Dujardin, J.P., Beard, C.B. and Ryckman, R. (in press). The relevance of wing geometry in entomological surveillance of Triatominae, vectors of Chagas disease. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*.
- Fae, K.C., Drigo, S.A., Cuha-Neto, E., Ianni, B., Mady, C., Kalil, J. and Goldberg, A.C. (2000). HLA and beta-myosin heavy chain do not influence susceptibility to Chagas disease cardiomyopathy. *Microbes and Infection* 2, 745–751.
- Felsenstein, J. (1985). Confidence limits on phylogenies: an approach using the bootstrap. *Evolution* **39**, 783–791.
- Fernandes-Mestre, M.T., Layrisse, Z., Montagnani, S., Acquatella, H., Catalioti, F., Matos, M., Balbas, O., Makhatadze, N., Dominguez, E., Herrera, F. and Madrigal, A. (1998). Influence of the HLA class II polymorphism in chronic Chagas disease. *Parasite Immunology* 20, 197–203.
- Feuk, L., Carson, A.R. and Scherer, S.W. (2006). Structural variation in the human genome. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 7, 85–97.
- Flintoft, L. (2005). Uniting human variation. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 6, 668.
- Fulton, T. and Strobeck, C. (2006). Molecular phylogeny of the Arctoidea (Carnivora): effect of missing data on supertree and supermatrix analyses of multiple gene data sets. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **41**, 165–181.
- Garcia, A., Marquet, S., Bucheton, B., Hillaire, D., Cot, M., Fievet, N., Dessein, A.J. and Abel, L. (1998). Linkage analysis of blood *Plasmodium falciparum* levels: interest of the 5q31–q33 chromosome region. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 58, 705–709.
- Gary, T. (2001). The human genome project and the future of medicine. *Tennessee Nurse* 64, 8–10.
- Gaunt, M.W., Yeo, M., Frame, I.A., Stothard, J.R., Carrasco, H.J., Taylor, M.C., Mena, S.S., Veazey, P., Miles, G.A., Acosta, N., Rojas de Arias, A. and Miles, M.A. (2003). Mechanism of genetic exchange in American trypanosomes. *Nature* 421, 936–939.
- Gentillini, M. (1993). Médecine Tropicale. Paris: Flammarion.
- Gonzalez, E., Kulkarni, H., Bolivar, H., Mangano, A., Sanchez, R., Catano, G., Nibbs, R.J., Freedman, B.I., Quinones, M.P., Bamshad, M.J., Murthy, K.K., Rovin, B.H., Bradley, W., Clark, R.A., Anderson, S.A., O'Connell, R.J., Agan, B.K., Ahuja, S.S., Bologna, R., Sen, L., Dolan, M.J. and Ahuja, S.K. (2005). The influence of *CCL3L1* gene-containing segmental duplications on HIV-1/AIDS susceptibility. *Science* 307, 1434–1440.
- Haldane, J.B.S. (1949). Disease and evolution. *La Ricerca Scientifica* **19** (supplement), 68–76.
- Harpending, H. (2002). Race: population genetics perspective. In: *Encyclopedia of Evolution* (M. Pagel, ed.), pp. 979–981. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Hennig, W. (1966). *Phylogenetic Systematics*. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press.
- Hinds, D.A., Kloek, A.P., Jen, M., Chen, X. and Frazer, K.A. (2006). Common deletions and SNPs are in linkage disequilibrium in the human genome. *Nature Genetics* **38**, 82–85.
- Ibrahim, M.E., Lambson, B., Yousif, A.O., Deifalla, N.S., Alnaiem, D.A., Ismail, A., Yousif, H., Ghalib, H.W., Khalil, E.A., Kadaro, A., Barker,

D.C. and El Hassan, A.M. (1999). Kala-azar in a high transmission focus: an ethnic and geographic dimension. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **61**, 941–944.

- International Hap Map Consortium (2003). The international Hap Map project. *Nature* **426**, 789–796.
- Ioannidis, J.P.A., Bernstein, J., Boffetta, P., Danesh, J., Dloan, S., Harteg, P., Hunter, D., Inskip, P., Jarvelin, M.R., Little, J., Maraganore, D.M., Bishop, J.A.N., O'Brien, T.R., Petersen, G., Riboli, E., Seminara, D., Taioli, E., Uitterlindenb, A.G., Vineis, P., Winn, D.M., Salanti, G., Higgins, J.P.T. and Khoury, M.J. (2005). A network of investigator networks in human genome epidemiology. *American Journal of Epidemiol*ogy 162, 302–304.
- Jaccard, P. (1908). Nouvelles recherches sur la distribution florale. *Bulletin de la Société Vaudoise de Sciences Naturelles* 44, 223–270.
- Jorde, L.B. and Wooding, S.P. (2004). Genetic variation, classification and 'race'. *Nature Genetics* **36** (supplement), S28–S33.
- Kahn, P. (1994a). Genetic diversity project tries again. Science 266, 720-722.
- Kahn, P. (1994b). An African-American diversity project. Science 266, 721 [insert in Kahn, 1994a].
- Keita, S.O.Y., Kittles, R.A., Royal, C.D.M., Bonney, G.E., Furbert-Harris, P., Dunston, G.M. and Rotimi, C.N. (2004). Conceptualizing human variation. *Nature Genetics* 36 (supplement), S17–S20.
- Kierzenbaum, F. (1985). Is there autoimmunity in Chagas disease? *Parasitology Today* **1**, 4–6.
- Labie, D. (1994). Polymorphismes génétiques et développement du paludisme: au delà du cas de la drépanocytose. *Médecine/Science* 10, 905–906.
- Lafrate, A.J., Feuk, L., Rivera, M.N., Listewnik, M.L., Donahoe, P.K., Qi, Y., Scherer, S.W. and Lee, C. (2004). Detection of large-scale variation in the human genome. *Nature Genetics* 36, 949–951.
- Lent, H. and Wygodzinsky, P. (1979). Revision of the Triatominae (Hemiptera, Reduviidae), and their significance as vectors of Chagas disease. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* **163**, 127–516.
- Marcet, P.L., Lehmann, T., Groner, G., Gürtler, R.E., Kitron, U. and Dotson, E.M. (2006). Identification and characterization of microsatellite markers in the Chagas disease vector *Triatoma infestans* (Heteroptera: Reduviidae). *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* 6, 32–37.
- Miller, L.H. (1994). Impact of malaria on genetic polymorphism and genetic diseases in Africans and African Americans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* **91**, 2415–2419.
- Modiano, D., Chiucchiuini, A., Petrarca, V., Sirima, B.S., Luoni, G., Roggero, M.A., Corradin, G., Coluzzi, M. and Esposito, F. (1999). Interethnic differences in the humoral response to non-repetitive regions

of the *Plasmodium falciparum* circumsporozoite protein. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **61**, 663–667.

- Morini, J.C., Berra, H., Davila, H.O., Pividori, J.F. and Bottasso, O.A. (1994). Electrocardiographic alteration among first degree relatives with serological evidence of *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. A sibship study. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 89, 371–375.
- Morton, N.E. (1955). Sequential tests for the detection of linkage. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 7, 277–318.
- Nei, M. (1972). Genetic distance between populations. *American Naturalist* **106**, 283–292.
- Nei, M. (1978). The theory of genetic distance and evolution of human races. *Japanese Journal of Human Genetics* 23, 341–369.
- Nei, M. and Roychoudhury, A.K. (1974). Genetic variation within and between the three major races of man, Caucasoids, Negroids and Mongoloids. *American Journal of Human Genetics* **26**, 421–443.
- Nei, M. and Roychoudhury, A.K. (1993). Evolutionary relationships in human populations on a global scale. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 10, 927–943.
- Newman, T.L., Tuzun, E., Morrison, A., Hayden, K.E., Ventura, M., McGrath, S.D., Rocchi, M. and Eichler, E.E. (2005). A genome-wide survey of structural variation between human and chimpanzee. *Genome Research* 15, 1344–1356.
- Pfaff, C.L., Parra, E.J., Bonilla, C., Hiester, K., McKeigue, P.M., Kamboh, M.I., Hutchinson, R.G., Ferrell, R.E., Boerwinkle, E. and Shriver, M.D. (2001). Population structure in admixed populations: effect of admixture dynamics on the pattern of linkage disequilibrium. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 68, 198–207.
- Poulet, S. (1994). Organisation Génomique de Mycobacterium tuberculosis et Epidémiologie Moléculaire de la Tuberculose. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Paris 6.
- Rotini, C.N. (2004). Are medical and nonmedical uses of large-scale genomic markers conflating genetics and 'race'? *Nature Genetics* **36** (supplement), S43–S47.
- Saitou, N. and Nei, M. (1987). The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **4**, 406–425.
- Samson, M., Libert, F., Doranz, B.J., Rucker, J., Liesnard, C., Farber, C.M., Saragosti, S., Lapoumeroulie, C., Cogneaux, J., Forceille, C., Muyldermans, G., Verhofstede, C., Burtonboy, G., Georges, M., Imai, T., Rana, S., Yi, Y., Smyth, R.J., Collman, R.G., Doms, R.W., Vassart, G. and Parmentier, M. (1996). Resistance to HIV-1 infection in Caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. *Nature* 382, 722–725.

- Sarich, V. and Miele, F. (2004). *Race. The Reality of Human Differences*. Boulder, CO and Oxford, England: Westview Press.
- Sebat, J., Lakshmi, B., Troge, J., Alexander, J., Young, J., Lundin, P., Maner, S., Massa, H., Walker, M., Chi, M., Navin, N., Lucito, R., Healy, J., Hicks, J., Ye, K., Reiner, A., Gilliam, T.C., Trask, B., Patterson, N., Zetterberg, A. and Wigler, M. (2004). Large-scale copy number polymorphism in the human genome. *Science* 305, 525–528.
- Solignac, M. (1998). Génétique, population et evolution. In: Principes de Génétique Humaine (J. Feingold, M. Fellous and M. Solignac, eds), pp. 511–558. Paris: Hermann.
- Stefansson, H., Helgason, A., Thorleifsson, G., Steinthorsdottir, V., Masson, G., Barnard, J., Baker, A., Jonasdottir, A., Ingason, A., Gudnadottir, V.G., Desnica, N., Hicks, A., Gylfason, A., Gudbjartsson, D.F., Jonsdottir, G.M., Sainz, J., Agnarsson, K., Birgisdottir, B., Ghosh, S., Olafsdottir, A., Cazier, J.-B., Kristjansson, K., Frigge, M.L., Thorgeirsson, T.E., Gulcher, J.R., Kong, A. and Stefansson, K. (2005). A common inversion under selection in Europeans. *Nature Genetics* 37, 129–137.
- Tang, H. (2006). Confronting ethnicity-specific disease risk. *Nature Genetics* 38, 13–15.
- Tanner, M.J., Bruce, L., Martin, P.G., Rearden, D.M. and Jones, G.L. (1991). Melanesian hereditary ovalocytes have a deletion in red cell band 3. *Blood* 78, 2785–2786.
- Thio, C.L., Thomas, D.L., Goedert, J.J., Vlahov, D., Nelson, K.E., Hilgartner, M.W., O'Brien, S.J., Karacki, P., Marti, D., Astemborski, J. and Carrington, M. (2001). Racial differences in HLA class II associations with hepatitis C virus outcomes. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 184, 16–21.
- Tibayrenc, M. (1995). Population genetics of parasitic protozoa and other microorganisms. *Advances in Parasitology* **36**, 47–115.
- Tibayrenc, M. (1998a). Genetic epidemiology of parasitic protozoa and other infectious agents: the need for an integrated approach. *International Journal for Parasitology* **28**, 85–104.
- Tibayrenc, M. (1998b). Integrated genetic epidemiology of infectious diseases: the Chagas model. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* **93**, 577–580.
- Tibayrenc, M. (2001). The golden age of genetics and the dark age of infectious diseases. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* 1, 1–2.
- Tibayrenc, M. (2002). Is integrated genetic epidemiology on the way? The MEEGID VI congress. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* **2**, 1.
- Tibayrenc, M. (2003). Genetic subdivisions within *Trypanosoma cruzi* (Discrete Typing Units) and their relevance for molecular epidemiology and experimental evolution. *Kinetoplastid Biology and Disease* **2**, 12–18.
- Tibayrenc, M. (2004). The impact of human genetic diversity in the transmission and severity of infectious diseases. In: Infectious Disease:

*Host–Pathogen Evolution* (K. Dronamraju, ed.), pp. 315–324. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Tibayrenc, M. and Ayala, F.J. (2002). The clonal theory of parasitic protozoa: 12 years on. *Trends in Parasitology* **18**, 405–410.
- Tibayrenc, M., Ward, P., Moya, A. and Ayala, F.J. (1986). Natural populations of *Trypanosoma cruzi*, the agent of Chagas' disease, have a complex multiclonal structure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* **83**, 115–119.
- Tishkoff, S.A. and Kidd, K.K. (2004). Implications of biogeography of human populations for "race" and medicine. *Nature Genetics* **36** (supplement), S21–S27.
- Toledo, M.J.de O., Bahia, M.T., Carneiro, C.M., Martins-Filho, O.A., Tibayrenc, M., Barnabé, C., Tafuri, W.L. and de Lana, M. (2003). Chemotherapy with benznidazole and itraconazole for mice infected with different *Trypanosoma cruzi* clonal genotypes. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 47, 223–230.
- Torroni, A., Achilli, A., Macaulay, V., Richards, M. and Bandelt, H.J. (2006). Harvesting the fruit of the human mtDNA tree. *Trends in Genetics* **22**, 339–345.
- Valois, H.V. (1971). Les Races Humaines. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Williams-Blangero, S., VandeBerg, J.L., Blangero, J. and Teixera, A.R.L. (1997). Genetic epidemiology of seropositivity for *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection in rural Goiás, Brazil. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 57, 538–543.
- Williams-Blangero, S., VandeBerg, J.L., Blangero, J. and Corrêa-Oliveira, R. (2003). Genetic epidemiology of *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection and Chagas disease. *Frontiers in Bioscience* 8, e337–e345.
- Wolf, S.M. (2005). Are we making progress in the debate over racial and ethnic categories in biomedical research? *Nature Genetics* **37**, 789–790.
- Wright, S. (1951). The genetical structure of populations. *Annals of Eugenics* **15**, 323–354.
- Yu, L., Li, Q.W., Ryder, O.A. and Zhanga, Y.P. (2004). Phylogeny of the bears (Ursidae) based on nuclear and mitochondrial genes. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 32, 480–494.
- Zicker, F., Slith, P.G., Netto, J.C.A., Oliveira, R.M. and Zicke, E.M.S. (1990). Physical activity, opportunity for reinfection, and sibling history of heart diseases as risk factors for Chagas' cardiopathy. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **43**, 498–505.
- Zijlstra, E.E., el-Hassan, A.M., Ismael, A. and Ghalib, H.W. (1994). Endemic kala-azar in eastern Sudan: a longitudinal study on the incidence of clinical and subclinical infection and post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 51, 826–836.

#### 423

#### Glossary

Allele. One of two or more different molecular form of a given gene.

Allelic frequency. The ratio of the number of a given allele to the total number of alleles present in the population under survey. For example, in a fruit fly population (fruit flies are diploid and sexual), a given gene is surveyed, of which two alleles, *a* and *b*, are present. Among 100 individuals, there are 36 *a/a* homozygous genotypes, 16 *b/b* homozygous genotypes and 48 *a/b* heterozygous genotypes. Since the organism is diploid, in 100 individuals there are 200 alleles. In an *a/a* homozygous individual, there are two *a* alleles. In a *b/b* homozygous individual, there are two *b* alleles. In an *a/b* heterozygous individual, there is only one *a* allele and only one *b* allele. The total number of *a* alleles is hence twice the number of *a/a* individuals (36 × 2) plus the number of *a/b* individuals (72+48 = 120). The frequency of this allele is 120/200 = 0.6. Similarly, the total number of *b* alleles is twice the number of *b/b* individuals (16 × 2) plus the number of *a/b* individuals = 80. The frequency of this allele is 80/200 = 0.4. Since there are only two alleles, this last figure could have been calculated by subtracting the frequency of the *a* allele from 1 (1-0.6 = 0.4).

Allopatry. The state of living in different geographic locations (cf. sympatry).

- Alu insertion sequence. Dispersed repeated DNA sequences in the human genome, consisting of roughly 300 base pairs in approximately  $3-5 \times 10^5$  copies, constituting roughly 5% of the human genome. These sequences are easily transposable. They are specifically cleaved by the restriction enzyme Alu I. (See also insertion sequence.)
- Ancestry informative marker (AIM) (Pfaff et al., 2001). AIMs are the subset of genetic markers that differ greatly in allele frequency across the populations of the world. Most polymorphisms are shared among all populations, and for most loci the most common allele is the same in each population. An AIM is a unique combination of genetic markers that occurs mostly in particular founder population sets but may also be found at varying levels across all or some of the populations found in different parts of the world (definition communicated by DNAprint Genomics from their website [see p. 396], with the permission of the company).
- *Balanced polymorphism (balanced selection).* Genetic polymorphism that persists in a population because the individuals heterozygous for the alleles concerned have a higher degree of fitness than either homozygous individual. The classical example is sickle-cell anaemia, in which heterozygous individuals are protected against malaria, whereas homozygous individuals are not and have a fatal form of the disease.
- *Bioinformatics.* The technology of informatics as applied to biological research, more specifically to genomic and phylogenetic analysis. Bioinformatics is the management and analysis of data using advanced computing techniques. Bioinformatics is particularly important as an adjunct to genomics research, because of the large amount of complex data this research generates. It is also widely used in the analysis of genomic expression (postgenomics, proteomics).
- *Bootstrap analysis* (Felsenstein, 1985). In phylogenetic analysis, generation of pseudo-replicate data sets by randomly sampling the original character matrix to create new matrices that are the same size as the original. The frequency with which a given branch is reproduced by this randomization procedure is recorded as the bootstrap proportion. These proportions can be used as an evaluation of the robustness of individual branches in the tree. A bootstrap value of 95 for a given branch means that this branch has been found by the procedure 95 times out of 100 or 950 times out of 1000. This statistic must be cautiously interpreted (see Figure 1).
- *Clade*. Evolutionary lineage defined by cladistic analysis. A clade is monophyletic (it has only one ancestor) and is genetically isolated (it evolves independently) from other clades.
- Cladistic analysis. A specific method of phylogenetic analysis designed by the German entomologist Willy Hennig (1966). It is based on the polarization of characters, that are

separated into ancestral (plesiomorphic) and derived (apomorphic) characters. Only those apomorphic characters that are shared by all members of a given clade (synapomorphic character) are considered to be phylogenetically informative. For example, feathers are specific to the clade 'birds' (which is a class) and are possessed by all birds. They are synapomorphic characteristics of that clade. Cladistic analysis was chiefly designed for morphological characteristics and its use for molecular data is still a matter of controversy (Tibayrenc, 1998a).

- *Coalescence time*. Time elapsed between the common ancestral copy (one gene in one individual) and two or more copies of a given gene at the present time.
- *Copy-number variant.* DNA sequence  $\ge 1 \text{ kb}$ , present with a variable copy number by comparison with a reference genome. Includes insertions, deletions and duplications (Feuk *et al.*, 2006).
- *Cytokine*. An intercellular messenger protein (lymphokine, monokine, interleukin, interferon, tumour necrosis factor), which is released by lymphocytes and macrophages. Cytokines favour communication among cells of the immune system and between immune system cells and cells belonging to other tissue categories. They play an important role in defence against infectious agents.
- *Discrete typing unit* (DTU) (Tibayrenc, 1998a). Sets of stocks that are genetically closer to each other than to any other stock, are stable in space and time, and are identifiable by common genetic, molecular or immunological markers called tags. DTUs are reliable units of analysis for applied studies in which the genetic diversity of the pathogen is taken into account and are an ideal target for molecular epidemiology surveys.
- *Ethnic group.* A group whose common identity is based on racial and/or cultural association. *Exon.* The DNA sequence of a gene that codes for proteins (cf. intron).
- *Fitness.* The relative ability of an organism to survive and to transmit its genes to the next generation.
- *Founder effect.* When a small subsample of a larger population settles as a distinct population, its genetic diversity might be only a small part of the genetic diversity of the original population. For example, the present population of French Canadians was founded by only a few thousand French people, most originating from a limited number of French regions. Their original genetic diversity (and the diversity of their last names) was therefore lower than that of the entire French population. For this reason, some genetic traits that are rare in the general French population were by chance over-represented in the original founder population. This explains why some pathological traits (e.g., amyotrophic lateral sclerosis) are more frequent in Québécois than in the present-day French population.
- F-statistics. See Box 1 (p. 395).
- Gene. A DNA sequence coding for a given polypeptide. More broadly, any given DNA sequence.
- *Gene sequence (genetic sequence, DNA sequence).* Can be compared to a series of letters corresponding to the primary structure of a real or hypothetical DNA molecule or strand. The possible letters are A, C, G and T, which correspond to the four nucleotide subunits of a DNA strand (adenine, cytosine, guanine and thymine). This coded sequence corresponds to the basic genetic information. A DNA sequence may code for proteins. In this case, it directly monitors the succession of amino acids that constitute the primary structure of the protein. Many DNA sequences have no known coding function.
- *Genetic distance.* Various statistical measures inferred from genetic data, estimating the genetic dissimilarities among individuals or populations. Genetic distances can be based on the percentage of band mismatches on gels (the case for markers such as MLEE or RAPD) or allelic frequency differences or the percentage of sequence divergence. Two very popular indices of genetic distance have been proposed by Jaccard (1908) and Nei (1972).
- Genomics. Molecular analysis of the whole genome of a species instead of particular genes.

#### HUMAN GENETIC DIVERSITY AND EPIDEMIOLOGY OF DISEASE

Genotype. Genetic constitution of a given organism (cf. phenotype).

Geographical race. Term equivalent to subspecies.

- *Heritability.* Proportion of variation in a trait among individuals in a population that can be attributed to genetic effects. The heritability of most common diseases is considered to be 40%.
- *Heterozygote.* An individual of a diploid organism in whom both copies of a given gene have a different molecular structure: this individual harbours two different alleles of the same gene (cf. homozygote).
- *Homozygote*. An individual of a diploid organism in whom both copies of a given gene have an identical molecular structure.
- Human leucocyte antigen (HLA). Cell surface protein detected by blood testing that exhibits considerable diversity among individuals and determines an individual's leucocyte type. Ten numbers constitute this system: two A numbers, two B numbers, two C numbers, two DR numbers and two DQ numbers. One number at each genetic locus (A, B, C, DR and DQ) comes from the mother, the other one is given by the father. HLAs are also called histocompatibility antigens or tissue antigens because organ recipients and donors should have compatible HLA genotypes, otherwise the transplanted organ is recognized as non-self (foreign) and is eliminated. This set of genes is involved in the presentation of antigenic peptides to the immune system and plays a major role not only in tissue compatibility but also in infectious processes (cf. major histocompatibility complex).
- Insertion sequence (IS). A small bacterial transposable element, approximately 1000 bases long, with short inverted repeated sequences at its ends.
- *Intron.* A gene region that is not translated into a protein sequence. In coding genes, introns are interspersed with coding regions called exons.
- *Isoenzymes.* Different electrophoretic variants of a given enzyme, reflecting the variability of the gene that codes for this enzyme in the population under survey. Differences in migration among different isoenzymes of the same enzyme are due to differences in their overall electric charge, which in turn is a result of the individual electric charge of each amino acid that composes the enzyme. Electrophoretic differences therefore reflect differences in the amino acid sequence and hence the upstream gene sequence.
- Large-scale copy-number variation. Copy-number variant up to several hundred bp in length (Lafrate *et al.*, 2004). Also called large-scale copy-number polymorphism (Sebat *et al.*, 2004).
- *Linkage disequilibrium.* Non-random association of genotypes occurring at different loci. See recombination.
- *Locus.* The physical location of a given gene on the chromosome. By extension, in the genetic 'jargon', the gene itself.
- *Major histocompatibility complex* (MHC). A complex of genes found in mammals that function especially in determining the histocompatibility antigens found on cell surfaces. MHC class I molecules on the surface of a cell infected by a virus or another pathogenic agent present foreign antigens to CD8 cytotoxic T lymphocytes. MHC class II molecules are found on the antigen-presenting cells of the immune system and display the antigen which activates CD4 cells [cf. human leucocyte antigens (HLA)].
- *Microarray.* Also called a gene chip or a DNA chip. Microarrays are composed of large numbers of molecules (generally, but not always, DNA) distributed in rows in a very small space. When DNA molecules are used, they act as probes for the DNA of the organism under study, to see whether the genes present on the test sample (the one plotted on the chip) are also present on the sample under study. Microarrays can also enable the study of gene expression by providing a 'snapshot' of all the genes that are expressed in a given cell at a particular time (transcriptome). Microarrays are powerful tools for screening complex samples (many genes of a given organism, or complex samples composed of several organisms).

- *Microsatellite*. A short DNA sequence, usually 1–4 bp long, that is repeated in a row along the DNA molecule. In humans, as in many other species, there is great variation from one person to another (widely used in forensic applications for individual identification) and among different populations in the number of repeats. Numbers of repeats for a given locus define microsatellite alleles. There are hundreds of places in human DNA and in most other species that contain microsatellites. Microsatellites are fast-evolving markers, with a high resolution level, and are found in many different organisms.
- *Molecular clock.* In its strict, original sense (more correctly called the DNA clock hypothesis), the concept that the rate of nucleotide substitutions in DNA remains constant or at least is a function of time. In a broader sense, simply the speed of evolution of that part of the genome that codes for the variability of a given genetic marker. This rate is driven by the rate of substitution/mutation and is influenced by natural selection; it can be regular or irregular.
- *Multilocus enzyme electrophoresis* (MLEE). Isoenzyme analysis based on the analysis of a broad range of enzyme systems. Each enzyme system corresponds to one or several genetic loci. MLEE has been widely used in population genetics for virtually any kind of living organism and has provided the first reliable picture of the general genetic diversity of human populations (Nei and Roychoudhury, 1974; see Figure 1).
- *Natural selection.* Process first described by Charles Darwin that favours certain genotypes to the detriment of others over generations because they are better adapted to survive and have therefore more abundant offspring (they have a higher fitness). It is entirely driven by the interaction of an organism with the environment.
- *Neutral gene.* (neutral polymorphism). A gene or genetic polymorphism that does not undergo natural selection.
- *Non-parametric test.* Statistical test for which a distribution curve cannot be designed, either because the parameters of the equation are unknown or because the statistical model cannot be represented by any equation. A non-parametric statistical test is typically simpler, and its results are more robust, than those of parametric statistics. However, all things being equal, it has lower resolution.
- *Panmixia* (adjective *panmictic*). A situation in which gene exchanges occur randomly in the population under survey.
- *Phenotype (phenotypic).* All observable characteristics of a given individual or a given population distinct from the genome. The phenotype is not limited to morphological characteristics and includes, for example, physiological quantities (blood pressure, muscular strength, etc.) or biochemical quantities (level of cholesterol, etc.). The phenotype is produced by the interaction between the genotype and the environment. The part that is driven by the action of the genotype constitutes the heritability of the character under study.
- *Phylogenetics.* A branch of genetics that aims at reconstructing the evolutionary past and relationships of taxa or of separate evolutionary lines.
- *Polymerase chain reaction* (PCR). Technique that copies the complementary strands of a target DNA chain through a series of cycles until the necessary quantity is obtained. PCR uses synthesized primers whose nucleotide sequences are complementary to the DNA flanking the target region. The DNA is heated to separate the complementary strands, then cooled to allow the primers to bind to the flanking sequences. The enzyme *Taq* DNA polymerase is added and the reaction is allowed to pass through the required number of replication cycles. PCR is widely used in molecular diagnosis of infectious diseases, but is also the basis for many molecular techniques used in human genetics, such as the study of microsatellites. This technique makes it possible to work on very small quantities of biological material (hair, small skin cuts, a few drops of blood). Since DNA molecules are extremely stable, PCR reactions can be carried out on dry samples or on tissues conserved in alcohol, or even on fossils.
- *Proteomics.* The study of the expression, function and interaction of all the proteins expressed by the genome of a given organism; it is widely used to explore pathogenic processes (by

comparing gene expression in healthy and sick individuals). Proteomics explores gene expression at the scale of the entire genome and is therefore the logical complement of genomics.

- *Race.* Population characterized by a set of common genetic features (Gentillini, 1993); the biological validity of the concept of race is presently the object of many debates (see below) (cf. ethnic group, subspecies and geographical race).
- *Recombination.* Reassortment of genotypes occurring at different loci through the processes of meiosis and crossing over. Random recombination leads to a total lack of linkage disequilibrium. Free recombination results in the expected probability of a given multilocus genotype being the product of the observed probabilities of the single genotype composing it. For example, in a panmictic human population, if the observed frequency of the AB blood group is 0.5 and the observed frequency of the Rh(+) blood group is 0.5, the expected frequency of the individuals who are both AB and Rh(+) is  $0.5 \times 0.5 = 0.25$ , because ABO and rhesus (Rh) blood groups are coded by distinct genes on separate genomic regions, which explains why they recombine randomly. Inhibition of recombination leads to linkage disequilibrium (i.e., the predictions of expected probabilities for multilocus genotypes are no longer met). As an example, if the observed frequency of the individuals who are AB and Rh (+) was statistically significantly higher than 0.25, this would be evidence that the two loci are linked together (i.e., not transmitted independently); if this frequency was 0.5, it would indicate total linkage between AB and Rh (i.e., the two characteristics are transmitted as a single unit).
- Restriction fragment length polymorphism. Variability in the DNA of a given organism evidenced by the use of bacterial restriction endonucleases. The endonuclease cuts the DNA at specific restriction sites characterized by given sequences and the polymorphism of the DNA fragments thus obtained can be visualized on gels, either directly by ethidium bromide staining or by Southern blot hybridization with specific probes.
- *Sexual selection.* Selection which promotes traits (e.g., the peacock's tail, the cock's crest, the lion's mane) that increase success in mating, sometimes to the detriment of the overall fitness of the organism.
- Short tandem repeat polymorphism (STRP). Synonymous with microsatellite.
- Sickle cell anaemia. A generally fatal form of haemolytic anaemia observed in individuals who are homozygous for the autosomal, codominant gene  $H^s$ . The erythrocytes of these individuals contain an abnormal haemoglobin, Hb<sup>s</sup>. These erythrocytes undergo a reversible shape alteration when the oxygen concentration in the plasma falls slightly and develop a sickle-like form. These pathological red cells have a shortened lifetime. Approximately 0.2% of African-American newborn babies suffer from sickle cell anaemia. Heterozygous individuals have some protection against malaria, which explains why this pathological trait has been maintained. It is a typical case of balanced polymorphism.
- Single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP, pronounced 'snip'). Polymorphism of one-letter variations in the DNA sequence. SNPs contribute to differences among individuals and populations. Most of them have no effect, others cause subtle differences in countless features, such as appearance, while some affect the risk for certain diseases. SNPs are widely used as high-resolution population markers and are the basic tool used in the so-called Hap Map project (see below). SNPs can be detected by (i) restriction fragment length polymorphism, (ii) sequencing, (iii) denaturating high-performance liquid chromatography, (iv) mass spectrometry and (v) array-based resequencing/microarrays. SNPs constitute approximately 90% of all human genetic variations, and SNPs with a minor allele frequency ≥1% occur every 100–300 bases throughout the human genome, on average. It is important to note that there are allelic frequency variations among different human populations, with the result that a SNP that is common in one geographical or ethnic group may be much rarer in another (see ancestry informative marker).

- *Spacer DNA*. In eukaryotic and some viral genomes, untranscribed DNA segments that flank functional genetic regions or cistrons.
- Subspecies (also called geographical race). A geographical population of the same species that exhibits distinct genetically-based phenotypic traits, making it possible to distinguish most individuals of one population from most individuals of another population. Subspecies are given trinomials in the Linnean nomenclature (e.g., *Triturus marmoratus pygmaeus*, the dwarf subspecies of the marbled newt in Spain). Since they pertain to the same biological species, different subspecies of the same species are potentially interfertile and have fertile offspring when they have overlapping geographical distributions.

Sympatry. Living in the same geographic location (cf. allopatry).

- *Synonymous mutation.* Mutation that results in a change in the DNA but not in any protein due to the redundancy of the genetic code.
- *Transposon.* A short DNA sequence that has the property of moving from one chromosomal location to another.
- *Xenodiagnosis.* A classical and efficient (although highly unpleasant) method of diagnosis for South American trypanosomiasis (Chagas disease). Triatomine bugs reared in the laboratory and fed on chickens (so that they are not infected with *Trypanosoma cruzi*) are allowed to feed on patient suspected of having Chagas disease. Three weeks later, the faeces of the bugs are checked for the presence of trypanosomes. Xenodiagnosis can work with a chronic case when circulating forms of the parasite are very rare; the triatomine bugs act as biological incubators for the parasite.

## Index

A2 protein, Leishmania, 49 Abramis brama (bream), 165 Acanthocotyle, 182, 226, 233 Acanthocotyle greeni, 205 Acanthocotyle lobianchi, 191 Acanthocotylidae, 232, 233, 234, 235 Acanthoplacatus, 182, 226 Accessorius, 226 African trypanosomiasis, 403, 405 African-American Diversity Project, 410 Afrogyrodactylus, 221–222, 225–226 Afrogyrodactylus characinis, 225 Aglaiogyrodactylus, 195, 224, 225 Aidablennius sphynx (Black Sea blenny), 216 Alestes, 225 Alloteuthis subulata, 207, 209, 211, 228, 253. 281 Alternate method (AM), waterborne protozoan parasites detection, 138 Alu sequences, human genetic diversity studies, 394 Aluminium, acidified, Gyrodactylus salaris control, 303, 305, 310, 315, 318, 323-324, 325 Amastigotes, Leishmania, 4, 6, 45 genomic microarray studies, 51 nuclear fusion/sexual reproduction, 27 proteomics, 52 Amazonetta grasilieassis, 123 American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM), waterborne protozoan parasites detection method, 137-138

Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP), Gyrodactylus salaris studies, 249, 276 Anas bahamensis, 123 Ancestry informative markers (AIMs), 395-396, 406 Ancistrus, 225 Anguilla anguilla, 265 Anonchohaptor, 225 Anonchohaptor anonchohaptor, 226 Anoplodiscidae, 234, 235 Antibiotic resistance, Leishmania variants, 25 Antigen presentation, Leishmania immune response, 11-12 Archigyrodactylus, 183, 226, 232 Argulus, 229, 230 Articulonchoinea, 235 Auchenipterid catfish, 230 Aymara Indians, 401-402

B cell epitopes, *Leishmania* pathogenic determinants, 48
Batillaria minima, 122
Bellamya aeruginosa, 118, 120
Bos taurus indicus, 402
Bothitrematidae, 235
Breeding strategies, *Leishmania*, 25

Caligus, 234 Candidate genes, human disease susceptibility, 381, 384 South American trypanosomiasis (Chagas disease), 389, 391 CCL3L1, 382, 400, 404 Cellulose acetate membrane (CAM)-filter dissolution method, waterborne protozoan parasites detection, 139 Cerithium scabridum, 122 Chagas disease see South American trypanosomiasis Clarias gariepinus (Nile catfish), 202 Co-evolution phenomena gyrodactylid-fish hosts, 218-219, 244, 259, 261, 265 human infectious disease susceptibility, 380, 381 South American trypanosomiasis (Chagas disease), 387 Comparative genomics, 59-61 drug/vaccine target studies, 62-63 gene function analysis, 61-62 genetic drift effects, 60 human populations see Human genetic diversity markers Leishmania genetics, 58, 64-65 mutation effects, 60 selection effects, 60-61, 64 synonymous versus nonsynonymous sites, 64-65 Copy number variants, 399, 413 Corbicula, 142 Coregonus lavaretus (whitefish), 256 Corydoras, 212, 231 Cottus gobio (bull-head), 270 Cottus poecilopus, 270 Cryptosporidium, 113, 124, 125, 126-130, 147, 148 clinical manifestations, 126, 127 immunosuppressed people, 125 epidemic outbreaks of infection, 126, 130 historical aspects, 128 oocyst stage, 126, 127 detection methods, 137, 138, 139 effects of water treatment processes, 140 - 141infectivity, 127 molluscan shellfish retention, 141, 142

surface water sample levels, 129 - 130viability, 126, 127 waterborne transmission, 126, 127, 128, 129 shellfish-vectored illness, 143-144 water contamination drinking, 129 recreational, 128 zoonotic infections, 128 watershed protection programs, 128 Cryptosporidium hominis, 126, 147 Cryptosporidium parvum, 125, 126, 128, 147, 148 molluscan shellfish retention, 141, 142, 143 transmission, 125-126 Cutaneous leishmaniasis, 10, 36, 48-49, 57.69 genetic component in human susceptibility, 386 Leishmania causative species, 36, 38 hybrid infections, 37 promastigote growth characteristics. 41 Leishmania genetic polymorphisms, 42-43 T cell responses, 12 Cyclo-oxygenase 2 (COX-2), gyrodactylid host immune response, 286 Cyclospora, 113, 124, 125, 134–135, 147 asymptomatic carriage, 135 clinical manifestations, 134-135 oocyst stage, 126 molluscan shellfish retention, 141 treatment of infection, 135 Cyclospora cayetanensis, 125, 134 Cysteine protease A (cpa), 45, 46 Cysteine protease B (cpb), 21, 30, 45, 46 Cysteine protease C (cpc), 45 Cysteine proteases, Leishmania invasive/ evasive determinants, 45, 46-47 Cytochrome oxidase 1 (CO1), Gyrodactylus salaris molecular marker, 249, 250, 276, 278

### 430

Dactylogyridae, 235 Database of Genomic Variants, 413 Diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis, 10, 36 Leishmania causative species, 36 Dreissena polymorpha, 142, 143 Echinochasmiasis, 116, 118 Echinochasmus, 116-120, 146 Echinochasmus beleocephalus, 116 Echinochasmus coaxatus, 117 Echinochasmus donaldsoni, 117 Echinochasmus fujianeses, 117 Echinochasmus japonicus, 117 Echinochasmus liliputanus, 116, 117-120 cercariae, 120 intermediate host, 118 tegument ultrastructure, 119-120 waterborne transmission, 118-119 Echinochasmus pertoliatus, 117 Encephalitozoon cuniculi, 124, 137 Encephalitozoon hellem, 124, 137 Encephalitozoon intestinalis, 124, 137, 142 Enoplocotyle, 196, 197, 198, 232, 233, 234. 235 Enoplocotyle kidakoi, 191, 233 Enoplocotylidae, 235 Enterocytozoon bieneusi, 124, 137, 142 Entobdella soleae, 191, 252 Erythrocyte band 3, 405 Espundia see Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis Ethnic diversity, human populations biological aspects, 400-403 genetic markers, 394-396 human leucocyte antigen (HLA) polymorphisms, 407 infectious disease susceptibility variations, 382, 383, 390-391, 403-406 large-scale copy-number polymorphisms, 399, 400 F-statistics, 395

F-statistics, 393 Farlowella, 224 Fasciola, 113, 114, 146 Giardia intestinalis co-infection. 115 metacercarial cysts, 114 floating, 115, 116 PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) studies, 114 Schistosoma co-infection, 115 transmission in raw/partially cooked vegetation, 114 waterborne, 114, 115-116 Fasciola gigantica, 114, 115 metacercarial cysts, 116 Fasciola hepatica, 114, 115 Fasciolid waterborne infections, 113-116 Fasciolopsis, 113, 114 metacercarial cysts, 114 Fasciolopsis buski, 114 Fish consumption, Echinochasmus transmission, 116, 117, 119 Fundulotrema, 183, 221, 225, 227, 231, 248, 299 Fundulus, 227, 231, 299 Furazolidone, 131

Gasterosteus aculeatus (three-spined stickleback), 207, 214, 216, 244, 253, 270, 271, 281 Genetic studies, fish host resistance to gyrodactylid infection, 288-290 Genetic studies, human infectious disease susceptibility, 377-415 abbreviations, 379 candidate genes, 381, 384, 389, 391 Chagas disease see South American trypanosomiasis classical methodology, 384-385 linkage studies, 385 problems, 386-387 sibling risk analysis, 384 co-evolution phenomena, 380, 381 environmental interactions, 383-384, 386

ethnic diversity, 382, 383, 390-391, 394-396, 403-406 biological aspects, 400-403 human leucocyte antigen (HLA) polymorphisms, 407 large-scale copy-number polymorphisms, 399, 400 genotype-phenotype relationships, 382, 396-400 geographic/climatic influences, 383, 401 glossary of terms, 423-428 international research programmes, 407-414 major genomic rearrangements, 382, 398-400 multigene mechanisms, 381 population genetic diversity, 381, 383 human genetic diversity markers, 391-396 population level of disease/immunity, 382-383, 386-387 selective pressure of infectious disease, 406-407 Genetic studies, Leishmania see Leishmania Genome Leishmania, 12-15 structural variation (copy-number polymorphisms), 399-400, 413 see also Comparative genomics Genotype-phenotype relationships, 382, 396-400 genome sequence differences, 398-399 heritable variation, 397-398 Giardia, 113, 124, 125, 131-134, 147, 148 clinical features, 131 cyst stage, 126, 131 detection methods, 137, 138, 139 effects of water treatment processes, 140 - 141infectivity, 131 molluscan shellfish retention, 141 recreational/drinking water contamination, 132-134 waterborne transmission, 131 zoonotic reservoirs, 131, 132, 134

treatment of infection, 131 water sample contamination levels. 129, 130 Giardia agilis, 131 Giardia intestinalis (G. lamblia; G. duodenalis), 125, 131, 132, 142 Fasciola co-infection, 115 Giardia muris, 131 Glossina, African trypanosomiasis transmission, 403 Glycosomes, Leishmania pathogenic determinants, 48 Glycosylphosphatidylinositol, Leishmania invasive/evasive determinants, 45 Gobiusculus, 263 Gobiusculus flavescens, 265 GP46 (promastigote surface antigen; PSA), Leishmania invasive/evasive determinant, 30, 47, 51 GP63 (leishmanolysin), Leishmania invasive/evasive determinant, 19, 21, 27, 30, 45, 46, 51 Gyrdicotylus, 190, 195, 211, 225, 227, 229, 283 Gyrdicotylus gallieni, 183, 203, 215, 254, 255, 281 Gyreteroncus, 229 Gyrodactylidae, 220, 235 taxonomy, 218 Gyrodactylids (Monogenea), 161-330 attachment, 175-185 suctorial, 183 behavioural repertoire, 201-207 cephalic lobes, 169, 203 adhesive glands, 170, 198, 204, 252 spike sensillae, 170, 193, 203, 223, 232, 233, 235 copulation, 203-204 digestive system, 185–189 gastrodermis, 185, 186 pharynx, 185–186 dorsal/ventral bars, 169, 175, 176, 177, 183, 184, 217, 220, 225, 227, 228, 236, 238, 241 embryo within uterus, 164, 165, 170

embryology, 198-201 blastomere anarchy, 200 environmental interactions, 295-306 epidemiological models (host-parasite dynamics), 279-280 eutely, 173 evolutionary affinities, 232-235 excretory system, 190, 218, 219, 246 feeding, 203, 251-252 fusiform body, 169 glandular system, 189-190 hamulus, 169, 175, 176, 177, 178, 182, 183, 184, 218, 220, 223, 225, 227, 228, 231, 236, 237, 238, 239, 240, 241 haptor, 169, 175, 182, 213, 220, 225, 226, 228, 231, 233, 236, 239, 240, 241 historical studies, 165, 198 host evolutionary relationships (coevolution), 218-219, 244, 259, 261, 265 host immune response, 280-288, 293, 298 cytokines, 285–286 epidermal mucous cell density, 287 - 288hormonal modulation, 284-285 role of complement, 282-284 host recognition, 252 host resistance heritability, 288-290 quantitative trait loci (QTL) screening, 289 host specificity, 251-259, 293-295 immunity relationship, 293 quantification, 293-295 host switching/range evolution, 168, 184, 219, 224, 244, 246, 260, 265, 269, 278 sympatric versus allopatric processes, 260-261 host transfer, 168, 202, 206, 214-217, 232 search mode, 206 stationary transmission mode, 206 vertical transfer, 216 juvenile (crawling larva), 232, 233

locomotion on host, 202 marginal hooks, 169, 175-176, 177, 178, 181, 182, 183, 217, 218, 223, 228, 231, 233, 234, 235, 236, 237, 238, 239, 240 micropredation, 295-296 by cleaner symbionts, 296 migrations on host, 207-208, 209, 210-211 molecular genetics, 242-251 intergenic spacers (IGS), 248, 273, 275, 276 internal transcribed spacer 1 (ITS1), 242, 243, 244, 248 internal transcribed spacer 2 (ITS2), 242, 243, 244, 248 ITS sequence phylogenies, 243, 244, 245, 246, 247, 248, 273 mitochondrial markers, 249-250, 266, 273, 274, 276, 278 5.8S rDNA, 242, 244, 248 V4 region, 173, 242, 243, 248 morphology, 169-201, 236-242 evironmental effects, 241 musculature, 184-185 nervous system, 190-193 oviparous, 164, 220, 222-225 egg-laying process, 205 genera, 222-225 pathogenicity, 290-293 phylogeny, 217-235 plesiomorphic features, 232 population growth rates, 292 progenesis, 170-174, 182, 193, 197, 198, 206 apomorphic characters, 232 life cycle abbreviation, 172, 173 protogynous hermaphroditism, 172, 194 questing behaviour, 202-203 reproductive system, 172, 193-201, 232 female. 196-198 male, 194-196 salinity influences, 302-305 seasonal variations abundance, 298-301 size, 241

sense organs, 191-192 site specificity, 207-214 niche restriction/specialisation, 213, 214 speciation ice age refugia, 266-271 micro-evolution on guppies, 262-263, 280 models, 259-261 Pleistocene dispersals, 266–271 species flocks on gobies, 263-266 species diversity/richness, 167, 168–169, 172, 218 survival away from host, 214-215 swimming behaviour, 202 systematics, 236-259 taxonomy, 166, 167, 168, 234, 236, 237, 238 chaetotaxy, 240 families, 220 genera, 220-232 historical aspects, 217-219 light microscopy, 237-239, 240, 242 measurement systems, 240-241 molecular techniques, 168, 238, 239, 242 scanning electron microscopy, 239, 240, 242 statistical analysis of measurements, 240 tegument, 174-175 complement-mediated damage, 282-283 temperature influences, 296-302 on host biology, 300-301 host immune response, 298 reproductive rate, 296-297 survival, 297 transmission, 205-207 viviparity, 164, 165, 172, 173-174, 197, 232 birth process, 204-205, 252 viviparous, 164-165, 220, 225-232 genera, 225-232 water chemistry influence, 302-305 water quality/pollution influence, 305-306

Gyrodactylinae, 220 Gyrodactyloides, 183, 227 Gyrodactylus adspersi, 178 Gyrodactylus aeglefini, 207 Gyrodactylus aksuensis, 184 Gyrodactylus alexanderi, 214, 281 Gyrodactylus alexgusevi, 243 Gyrodactylus alviga, 254 Gyrodactylus anguillae, 246, 247, 265 Gyrodactylus anisopharynx, 212 Gyrodactylus anudarinae, 183 Gyrodactylus aphyae, 244, 269, 271, 299 Gyrodactylus arcuatoides, 264, 265 Gyrodactylus arcuatus, 207, 209, 211, 213, 264, 299, 302 Gyrodactylus avaloniae, 178 Gyrodactylus bohemicus, 272, 278, 313 Gyrodactylus brachymystacis, 330 Gyrodactylus branchialis, 264, 265 Gyrodactylus branchicus, 207, 209, 243 Gyrodactylus bullatarudis, 174, 178, 184, 207, 212, 213, 215, 253, 262, 279, 292, 296 Gyrodactylus callariatis, 209 Gyrodactylus carassi, 299 Gyrodactylus cernuae, 207 Gyrodactylus colemanensis, 207, 281, 287, 292 Gyrodactylus costaricensis, 226 Gyrodactylus cotti, 270 Gyrodactylus cryptarum, 207 Gyrodactylus decorus, 283 Gyrodactylus derjavini, 165, 211, 212, 242, 254, 258-259, 281, 282, 285, 287, 288, 289, 290, 293, 302, 303, 312 Gyrodactylus elegans, 218, 247, 299 Gvrodactvlus errabundus, 254 Gyrodactylus eucaliae, 174, 184, 189, 196, 248 Gyrodactylus flavescensis, 264, 265 Gyrodactylus flesi, 184 Gyrodactylus funduli, 227, 231 Gyrodactylus gasterostei, 173, 174, 184, 185, 188, 189, 194, 199, 203, 207, 209, 210, 214, 215, 243, 244, 253,

270, 271, 284, 297

Gyrodactylus gemini, 201 Gyrodactylus gobiensis, 281, 298 Gyrodactylus gondae, 264 Gyrodactylus gracillis, 237 Gyrodactylus gurleyi, 178 Gyrodactylus gussevi, 231 Gyrodactylus harengi, 265 Gyrodactylus hrabei, 270 Gyrodactylus incognitus, 184 Gyrodactylus jiroveci, 184 Gyrodactylus jussii, 243, 244, 269 Gyrodactylus katharineri, 281, 298, 299, 301 Gyrodactylus limneus, 269 Gyrodactylus lotae, 243 Gyrodactylus luckyi, 183 Gyrodactylus macrochiri, 253, 299 Gyrodactylus macronychus, 244, 269, 299 Gyrodactylus maculosi, 292 Gyrodactylus magnificus, 299 Gyrodactylus magnus, 272 Gyrodactylus markakulensis, 246, 247 Gyrodactylus masu, 207 Gyrodactylus medius, 218, 299 Gyrodactylus megacanthus, 227 Gyrodactylus micropsi, 265 Gyrodactylus milleri, 178 Gyrodactylus neili, 242 Gyrodactylus nemacheili, 236 Gyrodactylus ostendicus, 265 Gyrodactylus pavlovskyi, 184 Gyrodactylus perlucidas, 207 Gyrodactylus phoxini, 218, 247, 269 Gyrodactylus picta, 263 Gyrodactylus pleuronecti, 184 Gyrodactylus poeciliae, 178, 226, 238 Gyrodactylus prolongis, 227 Gyrodactylus pterygialis, 300 Gyrodactylus pungitii, 206, 207, 244, 247, 270Gyrodactylus quadratidigitus, 265 Gyrodactylus rarus, 206, 211, 243 Gyrodactylus rhodei, 298 Gyrodactylus rogatensis, 270 Gyrodactylus rugiensis, 246, 247, 265 Gyrodactylus rutilensis, 298 Gyrodactylus rysavyi, 202, 215

Gyrodactylus salaris, 168, 181, 184, 185, 188, 190, 191, 202, 203, 206, 208, 209, 210, 211, 212, 213, 214, 215, 216, 217, 219, 237, 239, 242, 246, 247, 254, 261, 267, 270, 297, 329, 330 abundance seasonality, 301-302 Bosnia Herzegovina, 314 control measures, 309, 319-325 acidified aluminium, 303, 305, 310, 315, 318, 323-324, 325 barrier methods, 324 biological, 325 integrated programmes, 325 rotenone, 309, 315, 316, 317, 320-323, 324, 325 selective breeding, 324-325 Czech Republic, 313 Denmark, 312 European Union member states, 310-314 evolutionary biology, 168 Finland, 311–312 France, 313 Georgia, 314 Germany, 312 host immune response, 281, 282, 287, 293 host specificity, 255-258 Ireland, 312–313, 327 Italy, 312 Karelia, 314 Kola Peninsula, 313, 314, 326 molecular markers, 242, 248-249, 250 Norwegian epidemic current status, 314-319 history, 306-310 infection regions, 316-319 parasite dispersal, 307, 309, 310 potential for further spread, 326 - 328surveillance programme, 315-316 paraphyly, 271–278 pathogenicity, 290-292 epidemic disease, 165, 166-167 Portugal, 313 salinity tolerance, 302-303

Spain, 313 species complex terminology, 278 - 279Sweden, 310-311 Ukraine, 314 United Kingdon, 312-313, 326, 327-328 Gyrodactylus salmonis, 207, 290, 292 Gyrodactylus sphinx, 216 Gyrodactylus spp., 164, 165, 167, 168, 172, 175, 178, 182, 190, 191, 192, 194, 195, 198, 199, 201, 204, 218 evolutionary affinities, 233-234 host specificity, 254-255, 261 species concept, 167, 168, 218 taxonomy, 167, 168, 218, 219, 221, 222, 225, 227, 228, 234 molecular phylogenies, 246, 247-248 Gyrodactylus stableri, 227 Gyrodactylus stegurus, 227, 231 Gyrodactylus stellatus, 281, 282, 300 Gyrodactylus stephanus, 299 Gyrodactylus strelkowi, 232 Gyrodactylus teuchis, 239, 242, 243, 271–272, 273, 310, 312, 313 Gyrodactylus thlapi, 242 Gyrodactylus thymalli, 165, 168, 237, 242, 250, 255, 258, 270, 271, 272-273, 274, 277, 278, 292, 313, 330 Gyrodactylus tibetanus, 183 Gyrodactylus tincae, 213 Gyrodactylus trairae, 201 Gyrodactylus trematoclithrus, 227 Gyrodactylus truttae, 242, 312 Gyrodactylus turnbulli, 168, 174, 178, 184, 202, 203, 204, 207, 208, 212, 213, 215, 216, 249, 250, 252, 253, 262, 263, 279, 280, 281, 283, 288, 292, 296, 303, 305 Gyrodactylus unicopula, 301 Gyrodactylus unipons, 207 Gyrodactylus vimbi, 212, 216 Gyrodactylus wageneri, 219, 237, 246, 247, 269, 270

Hap Map project, 383, 411–412 Heat shock proteins, Leishmania pathogenic determinants, 48 Hepatitis C, ethnic differences in susceptibility, 404 High altitude adaptation, 401–402 HIV infection/AIDS, 383 cryptosporidiosis co-infection, 127, 130, 146 genetic component in susceptibility, 385, 405, 413 ethnic factors, 404, 405 major genomic rearrangements, 382 Leishmania co-infection, 37, 38 Toxoplasma gondii morbidity, 125 HuGENet (Human Genome Epidemiology Network), 413 HUGOBase (Integrated Human Genome Variation database), 413 Human genetic diversity markers, 394-396 ancestry informative markers (AIMs), 395-396 ethnic group domestic alleles, 395 F-statistics, 395 genetic distance estimates, 392, 395 infectious disease susceptibility studies see Genetic studies, human infectious disease susceptibility isoenzyme markers, 393, 394 neutral polymorphisms, 391-392, 394 Human Genome Diversity Project (HGDP), 383, 410-411, 412 Human Genome Epidemiology Network (HuGENet), 413 Human Genome Project (HGP), 398, 407, 409–410 Human immunodeficiency virus see HIV infection/AIDS Human leucocyte antigens (HLAs) disease susceptibility-related polymorphisms, 384-385, 410 South American trypanosomiasis, 390 molecular evolution, 407

Human-infective microsporidia, 113, 124, 125, 136-137, 149 spores, 126 molluscan shellfish retention, 141 transmission, 126, 137, 142 waterborne infection, 137 Hydroaeus hydrochaeris, 122 Hymenochirus, 227, 254 Hyperopletes, 195, 224 Hypostomus, 225 Immune response fish hosts to gyrodactylid ectoparasites, 280-288, 293, 298 *Leishmania*, 11–12 evasive strategies, 12, 25, 30, 46 modulating effects of sand-fly saliva, 68 mouse models, 39-40 pathoantigenic determinants, 49 Immunosuppressed host Cryptosporidium infection, 125, 127 human-infective microsporidia infection, 125, 136 toxoplasmosis, 125, 136 Information collection rule (ICR) method, waterborne protozoan parasites detection, 138 Integrated Human Genome Variarion database (HUGOBase), 413 Interferon-y, mucocutaneous/visceral leishmaniasis, 12 Intergenic Spacers (IGS), gyrodactylid molecular genetics, 248, 273, 275, 276 Interleukins gyrodactylid host immune response, 286 leishmaniasis, 12, 46 Internal transcribed spacer 1 (ITS1), 242, 243, 244, 248

Internal transcribed spacer 2 (ITS2), 242, 243, 244, 248

Internal transcribed spacer (ITS) sequence phylogenies, gyrodactylids, 243, 244, 245, 246, 247, 248, 273 International Human Haplotype Map Project (Hap Map), 383, 411-412 Isancistrinae, 220 Isancistrum, 169, 173, 182, 185, 190, 220, 225, 226, 228, 292 Isancistrum loliginis, 207, 211, 228 Isancistrum subulatae, 181, 207, 209, 211, 228, 253 Isoenzyme markers human genetic diversity markers, 393, 394 Leishmania taxonomy, 7

Kala-azar see Visceral leishmaniasis
Kinesin, Leishmania pathogenic determinants, 48
Kinetoplast genome, Leishmania, 15 molecular studies, 23–24 restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), 21 taxonomy, 6
Kronichthys, 224

Laminiscus, 183, 231 Large-scale copy-number polymorphism, 399, 400, 413 Lebiasina maculata, 226 Leishmania, 2 amastigote form, 4, 6, 27, 45, 51, 52 clinical pathogenicity, 3, 4 see also Leishmaniasis ecological diversity, 8-10 epidemiology, 8-10, 54, 57, 67-68 experimental infection (in Mesocricetus auratus), 5-6 genetic diversity, 24-30, 31-32 ecoepidemiological correlates, 32-35 genetics, 3-4, 28-30, 53-70 comparative genomics, 58, 64-65 gene amplification/duplication, 29 gene expression, 14, 29

linkage disequilibrium, 28, 42 single nucleotide polymorphisms, 58, 65-67 tandom repeats, 29-30 transcription, 14 virulence determinant studies, 44-45 genome kinetoplast, 15 nuclear, 12-15 immune response, 11-12, 39-40, 49, 68 antigenic determinants, 49 evasive strategies, 12, 25, 30, 46 life cycle, 4–6 breeding strategies, 25 invertebrate host stages, 4-5 vertebrate host stages, 5-6 mammalian hosts adaptation, 10, 35 genetic polymorphism relationship, 34 range, 9 reservoirs, 5, 8, 9 specificity, 5-6 microarray analysis, 49, 50-51, 58 molecular study methods, 15-24 kinetoplast DNA, 23-24 microsatellites, 20-21 molecular karyotyping, 18-19 multilocus enzyme electrophoresis, 16 - 18multilocus sequence typing, 18 PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), 21-22 random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), 21, 22 sequence-confirmed amplified region analysis (SCAR), 21, 23 MON1 zymodeme, 17 MON30 zymodeme, 17 pathogenicity, genetic determinants, 35 - 53animal models, 39-40 human disease, 41-53 in vitro strain differences, 40-41 indirect genetic markers, 42-43

phlebotomine sand fly vectors, 4-5, 8-9.68 ecological diversity, 9 parasite interactions, 68 permissive, 5, 68 restricted, 5, 68 population structure, 24-28, 42, 54-56 apparent panmixia, 25-26, 56 clonal model, 26, 27-28, 31, 54 molecular markers, 55 promastigote form, 4, 6, 27, 40-41, 45, 46, 50, 51, 52 proteomics, 49, 51-53 reproductive (mating) system, 24-25, 54. 55-56 asexual multiplication, 28, 31 evolutionary significance, 28-30 genetic exchanges/sexual reproduction, 27, 28-29, 42 interindividual recombination, 27 intrachromosomal recombination, 26 - 27intragenic recombination, 27 taxonomy, 6-8, 54, 56-57 clinical symptoms relationship, 35 - 38genetic heterogeneity, 32 species definition, 30-32 vaccine candidate screening, 51 virulence model, 44 invasive/evasive determinants, 44, 45-48 pathoantigenic determinants, 44, 48-49 Leishmania aethiopica, 33, 36 Leishmania amazonensis, 36, 38, 49 Leishmania arabica/Leishmania major hybrids, 27 Leishmania archibaldi, 8, 56 Leishmania braziliensis, 8, 9, 13, 14, 32, 36, 38, 40, 41, 49, 54 genetic markers of pathogenicity, 43 genome sequence, 64 heterogeneity, 34

hybrids clinical manifestations, 37 with Leishmania guyanensis, 27 with Leishmania peruviana, 27, 40-41 Leishmania chagasi, 8, 9, 31, 48, 56 Leishmania colombiensis, 56 Leishmania deanei, 8 Leishmania donovani, 8, 9, 15, 32, 33, 34, 36, 39, 45, 47, 48, 49, 51, 52, 53, 54, 58.69 genetic diversity, 17, 18, 20, 33 Leishmania infantum, hybrids with, 27 phylogeny, 33 Leishmania enriettii, 6 Leishmania equatoriensis, 56 Leishmania forattinii, 8, 46 Leishmania garnhami, 8, 46 Leishmania gerbilli, 7 Leishmania guyanensis, 7, 9, 31, 32, 34, 36, 37, 52 Leishmania braziliensis, hybrids with, 27 Leishmania hertigi, 8 Leishmania infantum, 7, 8, 9, 10, 13, 14, 31, 32, 38, 39, 40, 41, 47, 52, 54, 56, 58 genetic diversity, 17, 26, 33, 34 genetic markers of pathogenicity, 43 genome sequence, 64 Leishmania donovani hybrids with, 27 MON1 zymodeme, 17 phylogeny, 33 Leishmania major, 8, 12, 13, 14, 33, 36, 37, 39, 40, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 68 genome sequence, 64 Leishmania arabica hybrids, 27 Leishmania mexicana, 8, 13, 32, 36, 45, 47. 51. 52 Leishmania panamensis, 8, 31, 36, 56 Leishmania peruviana, 7, 8, 31, 34, 40, 56 genetic markers of pathogenicity, 43 hybrids clinical manifestations, 37 with Leishmania braziliensis, 27, 40 - 41molecular karyotyping, 25, 26

Leishmania pifanoi, 8, 46 Leishmania tropica, 9, 20, 33, 36, 40, 54, 68 Leishmania venezuelensis, 8, 46 Leishmaniasis, 1-70, 390 asymptomatic carriage, 10, 35, 69, 70 clinical features, 10-11, 44, 48, 68 co-infection with other pathogens, 37 - 38host factor determinants, 69-70 hybrid infections, 37-38 mixed infections, 37-38 parasite factors in diversity, 57-58 patient variables, 38 taxonomic relationships, 35-38 tissue tropisms, 36 cutaneous see Cutaneous leishmaniasis: Diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis; Post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis immune response, 11-12 modulating effects of sand fly saliva. 68 mouse models, 39-40 mucocutaneous see Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis pathogenic diversity, 57-58 direct genetic factors, 43-49 Leishmania genetic polymorphisms, 41 - 53molecular study techniques, 49 - 53public health burden, 3 transmission cycles, 8-9 biotypes, 9 primitive, 8 secondary (peridomestic), 8 tertiary (anthroponotic), 8-9 vaccines, 47 visceral (kala-azar) see Visceral leishmaniasis Leishmanolysin see GP63 Lepomis macrochirus, 253, 299 Leprosy, genetic component in susceptibility, 386 Leuciscus cephalus, 253

Limnonephrotus, 218, 246, 247 Linkage studies human disease susceptibility, 385, 401 statistical analysis, 385 Leishmania, 28, 42 Lipophosphoglycan (LPG), Leishmania virulence determinants, 45-46 Loligo, 228 Loricariid catfish, 223, 224, 225, 234 Lota lota, 243 Lutzomyia, 4 Lutzomyia longipalpis, 5, 9, 68 Lutzomyia peruensis, 9 Lutzomyia umbratilis, 9 Macrogyrodactylus, 172, 173, 183, 190, 193, 197, 219, 221, 225, 228-229, 230, 231, 296 Macrogyrodactylus clarii, 174, 185, 191 Macrogyrodactylus polypteri, 188, 189, 193, 194, 196, 203, 204, 212, 215, 219, 229, 285 Macrophages, Leishmania infection, 5, 6, 11 virulence determinants, 45, 46 Malaria, 383, 398, 403, 406, 407 genetic component in susceptibility, 386 selective impact on genome, 404-405 Marcusenius macrolepidotus, 229 Melanesian ovalocytosis, 405 Melanoides tuberculata, 121, 123 Melanopsis praemorsa, 123 Mesonephrotus, 218, 246, 247 Metacercaria, fasciolid waterborne infections, 114, 115, 116 Echinochasmus, 116, 117, 118-119 Philophthalmus, 121 Metagyrodactylus, 221, 230 Metanephrotus, 218, 246, 247 Method 1622/1623, waterborne protozoan parasites detection, 139 - 140Metronidazole, 131

Microarray analysis gyrodactylid host immune response, 285-286 Leishmania pathogenic diversity, 49, 50-51.58 Microgadus (Pacific tomcod), 226 Micropolyclithrum, 221, 230 Micropterus salmioides, 299 Microsatellites gyrodactylid phylogenetic analysis, 249 human genetic diversity studies, 394, 411 disease susceptibility, 385 Leishmania genetic diversity studies, 20 - 21pathogenicity markers, 42 population structure analysis, 55 length variation, 20 Microsporidial infection see Human-infective microsporidia Miniexon sequences, Leishmania gene overexpression enhancement, 29 - 30PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), 21 virulence determinants, 47-48 Mitochondrial markers, gyrodacylids, 249-250, 266, 273, 274, 276, 278 Molecular karyotyping, Leishmania, 18 - 19Molluscan shellfish, waterborne infections association, 141-146, 148, 149 public health aspects, 143-146 quantitation of parasite removal from water, 142-143 Monogenea, taxonomy, 234–235 Mormyrogyrodactylus, 183, 195, 225, 226, 229 Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis (espundia), 10, 11, 12, 36 Leishmania species, 36, 38 genetic polymorphism studies, 42 - 43hybrid infections, 37 T cell responses, 12

#### 440

Mugil cephalus (mullet), 230 Multilocus enzyme electrophoresis (MLEE) human genetic diversity markers, 394, 395, 396 Leishmania genetic diversity markers, 16-18, 55 pathogenicity determinants, 42, 43 Multilocus sequence typing, Leishmania, 18 Muraena, 234 Mycobacterium leprae, comparative genomics, 63 Mycobacterium tuberculosis comparative genomics, 63 Leishmania co-infection, 37 Myoxocephalus, 270

Myxinocotyl, 233 Neogyrodactylus, 221, 228, 229–230 Neonephrotus, 218, 246 Neutral polymorphisms, 391–392, 394 Nitric oxide synthase, gyrodactylid host immune response, 286 Notemigonus crysoleucas, 299 Nothogyrodactylus, 195, 225

Nucleosome components, *Leishmania* pathogenic determinants, 48

Oncomiracidium, 170, 232
Oncorhynchus mykiss (rainbow trout), 257, 258, 259, 260, 271, 272, 275, 276, 277, 278, 281, 282, 310, 311, 312, 313, 314, 316, 326, 330
Onos mustela (rockling), 299
Onychogyrodactylus, 195, 225
Onychogyrodactylus sudis, 195
Ooegyrodactylus, 172, 190, 194, 196, 205, 222, 224, 232
Ooegyrodactylus farlowellae, 170, 172,

178, 192, 195, 196, 201, 205

Orthogonal field alternative gel electrophoresis, Leishmania karyotyping, 19, 26 Palaemon adspersus, 296 Palaemon elegans, 296 Pan paniscus, 398 Pan troglodytes, 398, 400 Panstrongylus, 388 Paragyrodactyloides, 221, 231 Paragyrodactylus, 220, 231 Paragyrodactylus superbus, 231 Paranephrotus, 218, 246, 247 Pelecanus erythrochynchus, 117 Pelecanus occidentalis, 117 Phanerothecioides, 225 Phanerothecium, 222, 224–225 Phanerothecium caballeroi, 195 Philophthalmus, 113, 120-124, 146 biology, 121-124 experimental studies, 124 intermediate hosts, 122, 123 Philophthalmus distomatosa n. comb., 123 Philophthalmus gralli, 121–122, 123, 124 intermediate host, 121 Philophthalmus hegeneri, 122 body spine microscopy, 124 Philophthalmus lachrymosus, 122, 123 Philophthalmus lucipetus, 123 body spine microscopy, 124 Philophthalmus palperbrarum, 123 Philophthalmus zalophi, 122 Phlebotomine sand flies, leishmaniasis transmission, 4-5, 6, 68 Phlebotomus, 4 permissive/restricted vectors, 5, 68 Phlebotomus argentipes, 5, 68 Phlebotomus papatasi, 5, 68 Phlebotomus perniciosus, 9 Phlebotomus sergenti, 5, 68 Phoxinus phoxinus (minnow), 244, 253, 269 Phylogenetic analysis human genetic diversity markers, 394-396

Pimellodellids, 223, 230 Plasmodium comparative genomics, 63, 65 single nucleotide polymorphisms, 66 Plasmodium falciparum, 404, 405 Plecostomus, 225 Poecilia picta, 263 Poecilia reticulata (guppy), 207, 208, 213, 216, 262, 280, 281, 288, 292 Poecilopsis, 252 Polyclithrinae, 220 Polyclithrum, 183, 190, 197, 220, 221, 225, 226, 230, 231 Polymerase chain reaction-based studies Chagas disease chronic infection, 390 Giardia genotyping, 132 gyrodactylid monogenean molecular phylogeny, 242-243, 249 Leishmania genetic markers of pathogenicity, 42-43 kinetoplast DNA, 23-24 Polypertus, 219, 229, 285 Pomatoschistus, 263, 264, 300 Pomatoschistus lozanoi, 264, 265 Pomatoschistus microps, 264, 265 Pomatoschistus minutus, 264, 265 Pomatoschistus norvegicus, 265 Pomatoschistus pictus, 265 Population genomics, 383 Population proteomics, 383 Post-kala-azar dermal leishmaniasis, 11, 36 Leishmania species, 36 Praziquantel, 118 Promastigote form, Leishmania, 4, 6 genomic microarray studies, 50, 51 in vitro strain differences in growth, 40 - 41nuclear fusion/sexual reproduction, 27 proteomics, 52 virulence determinants, 45, 46 Promastigote secretory gel (PSG), 68 Promastigote surface antigen (PSA) see GP46

Proteomics, 383 Leishmania pathogenic diversity, 49, 51 - 53Protozoan waterborne infection, 111-149 molluscan shellfish associations. 141 - 146parasite detection methods, 137-140 water treatment in prevention, 140-141 psa-2, 19 Pseudo-recombination, Leishmania, 26 - 27Pulse field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), Leishmania genetic markers of pathogenicity, 42, 43 karyotyping, 18, 19, 25, 55 Pungitus pungitus (nine-spined stickleback), 207, 244, 253, 270 Quinacrine, 131 Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) Gyrodactylus salaris studies, 248-249 Leishmania genetic diversity studies, 21, 22, 26, 55 pathogenicity markers, 42, 43 Real-time polymerase chain reaction, Leishmania genetic markers of pathogenicity, 42 Reservoirs, zoonotic Giardia, 131, 132, 134 Leishmania, 5, 8, 9 South American trypanosomiasis (Chagas disease), 389 Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) Fasciola species, 114 Leishmania genetic diversity studies, 21-22 kinetoplast DNA, 24 pathogenicity markers, 42 Rhodeus sericeus (bitterling), 298 Rhodnius, 388 Ribosome components, Leishmania pathoantigenic determinants, 48-49

Rotenone Gyrodactylus salaris control, 309, 315, 316, 317, 321–323, 324, 325 human health concerns, 323 impact on benthic invertebrates, 322 Salinity, influence on gyrodactylids, 302-305 Salmo gairdneri, 292 Salmo salar (Atlantic salmon), 165, 167, 168, 256, 257, 258, 271, 277, 278, 288, 293, 310 Gyrodactylus salaris epidemic disease, 165, 166–167, 306–310, 314–319, 326-328 heritability of resistance, 289-290 selective breeding, 324-325 Salmo trutta (brown trout), 165, 212, 256, 258, 271, 272, 285, 293, 312 heritability of Gyrodactylus derjavini resistance, 289-290 Salmonella, Leishmania co-infection, 37 Salvelinus alpinus (Arctic charr), 257, 277, 281, 285, 316, 317, 326 Salvelinus fontinalis (brook trout), 257, 272, 281, 285, 287, 292, 313, 326 Salvelinus namavcush (lake trout), 256, 281 Schistosomiasis, 405 Fasciola co-infection, 115 genetic component for susceptibility, 386 Leishmania co-infection, 37 Scleroductus, 225, 230 Selection effects comparative genomics, 60-61, 64 synonymous versus nonsynonymous sites, 64-65 human infectious disease, 406-407 Semisulcospira libertine, 122 Sepiola atlantica, 253 Sequence-confirmed amplified region analysis (SCAR), Leishmania genetic diversity, 21, 23 Short tandem repeats see Microsatellites Sickle cell anaemia, 404, 405

Siganus, 226

Silurana, 227, 254

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) human genetic diversity, 394, 400 disease susceptibility linkage

studies, 385

Leishmania, 58, 65–67

recombination rate determination,

66

Sitta europacea, 116

Smallpox, 404

Socioeconomic factors, human disease susceptibility, 383

South American trypanosomiasis (Chagas disease), 380

clinical features, 389-390

genetic epidemiology (susceptibility factors), 387–391

candidate genes, 389, 391

host co-evolution, 387 human host populations, 389–390

reservoir hosts, 389 triatomine bug vectors, 387, 388–389

STI 1, *Leishmania* pathogenic determinants, 48

Struthio camelus, 121

Sundanonchidae, 235

Sus scrofa, 117

Swingleus, 183, 190, 197, 222, 225, 226, 230, 231

T cell epitopes, *Leishmania* pathogenic determinants, 49
T cell response, *Leishmania* infection, 11 animal models, 39 parasite escape strategies, 12 Th1/Th2, 12, 39
Temperature, influence on gyrodactylids, 296–302
Tetraonchoididae, 235 *Thymallus thymallus* (grayling), 165, 168, 256, 261, 272, 275, 292, 326
Tinidazole, 131 *Toxoplasma*, 113, 124, 125, 147 oocyst stage, 126, 136 molluscan shellfish retention, 141

### Toxoplasma gondii, 125, 135–136 clinical features, 136 transmission, 136 Transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ , gyrodactylid host immune response, 285 - 286Trematode waterborne infections. 113 - 124Triatoma, 388 Triatoma infestans, 390 Triatomine bugs, Trypanosoma cruzi transmission, 387, 388-389 Trichomycterid catfish, 223, 224 Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, 135 Trypanosoma, 65 Trypanosoma cruzi, 387 genetic diversity, 388 Leishmania co-infection, 37 triatomine bug vector, 387, 388-389 Tuberculosis, 383, 406, 407 genetic component in susceptibility, 386, 404 Tubulins, Leishmania pathogenic determinants, 48 Tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ 1, gyrodactylid host immune response, 285

*Udonella*, 232, 233, 234, 235 Udonellidae, 235 *Ursus arctos*, 402, 403 *Ursus maritimus*, 402, 403

V4 region, gyrodactylid molecular genetics, 173, 242, 243, 248
Vaccines, leishmaniasis, 47, 51
Varicorhinus steindachneri, 301
Viannia, 7 genetic heterogeneity, 32
leishmaniasis clinical manifestations, 36 animal models, 39 microsatellite markers, 20 New World distribution, 8 Visceral leishmaniasis (kala-azar), 10, 11, 17, 48–49, 57, 69 genetic/ethnic component in susceptibility, 386, 404 *Leishmania* species, 36, 38 promastigote growth characteristics, 40–41 T cell responses, 12 Water chemistry/quality, influence on gyrodactylids, 302–306 Water treatment, 140–141 Waterborne infections, 111–149 molluscan shellfish-vectored

molluscan shellfish-vectored outbreaks, 141–146, 148, 149 protozoan *see* Protozoan waterborne infection trematodes, 113–124 World Council of Indigenous Peoples

## (WCIP), 410

Xenopus (African clawed toad), 211, 227, 254, 281 Xenopus borealis, 254 Xenopus fraseri, 254 Xenopus gilli, 254 Xenopus laevis, 255 Xenopus laevis laevis, 254 Xenopus laevis victorianus, 254 Xenopus vestitus, 254, 255 Xenopus wittei, 254, 255

Zalophus wollebaeki, 122 Zungaro zungaro, 225 Zymodemes, Leishmania genetic diversity, 16 pathogenicity associations, 43

### 444

# **Contents of Volumes in This Series**

# Volume 41

Drug Resistance in Malaria Parasites of Animals and Man	1
W. Peters	
Molecular Pathobiology and Antigenic Variation of Pneumocystis	
carinii	63
Y. Nakamura and M. Wada	
Ascariasis in China.	109
P. WEIDONO, Z. XIANMIN AND D.W.T. CROMPTON	
The Generation and Expression of Immunity to Trichinella spiralis in	
Laboratory Rodents	149
R.G. Bell	
Population Biology of Parasitic Nematodes: Application of	
Genetic Markers	219
T.J.C. Anderson, M.S. BLOUIN AND R.M. BRECH	
Schistosomiasis in Cattle	285
J. DE BONT AND J. VERCRUYSSE	

The Southern Cone Initiative Against Chagas Disease	1
C.J. Schofield and J.C.P. Dias	
Phytomonas and Other Trypanosomatid Parasites of Plants and Fruit	31
E.P. CAMARGO	
Paragonimiasis and the Genus Paragonimus	113
D. BLAIR, ZB. XU AND T. AGATSUMA	
Immunology and Biochemistry of Hymenolepis diminuta	223
J. ANREASSEN, E.M. BENNET-JENKINS AND C. BRYANT	
Control Strategies for Human Intestinal Nematode Infections	277
M. Albonico, D.W.T. Crompton and L. Savioli	
DNA Vaccines: Technology and Applications as Anti-parasite and	
Anti-microbial Agents	343
J.B. Alarcon, G.W. Waine and D.P. McManus	

Genetic Exchange in the Trypanosomatidae	1
W. GIBSON AND J. STEVENS	
The Host–Parasite Relationship in Neosporosis	47
A. Hemphill	
Proteases of Protozoan Parasites	105
P.J. Rosenthal	
Proteinases and Associated Genes of Parasitic Helminths	161
J. TORT, P.J. BRINDLEY, D. KNOX, K.H. WOLFE AND J.P. DALTON	
Parasitic Fungi and their Interaction with the Insect Immune System	267
A. VILCINSKAS AND P. GÖTZ	

### Volume 44

Cell Biology of Leishmania	1
B. Handman	
Immunity and Vaccine Development in the Bovine Theilerioses	41
N. BOULTER AND R. HALL	
The Distribution of Schistosoma bovis Sonaino, 1876 in Relation to	
Intermediate Host Mollusc-Parasite Relationships	98
H. Moné, G. Mouahid and S. Morand	
The Larvae of Monogenea (Platyhelminthes)	138
I.D. WHITTINGTON, L.A. CHISHOLM AND K. ROHDE	
Sealice on Salmonids: Their Biology and Control	233
A.W. PIKE AND S.L. WADSWORTH	

The Biology of some Intraerythrocytic Parasites of Fishes, Amphibia	
and Reptiles	1
A.J. DAVIES AND M.R.L. JOHNSTON	
The Range and Biological Activity of FMRFamide-related Peptides and	
Classical Neurotransmitters in Nematodes	109
D. BROWNLEE, L. HOLDEN-DYE AND R. WALKER	
The Immunobiology of Gastrointestinal Nematode Infections	
in Ruminants	181
A. BALIC, V.M. BOWLES AND E.N.T. MEEUSEN	

Host–Parasite Interactions in Acanthocephala:	
a Morphological Approach	1
H. Taraschewski	
Eicosanoids in Parasites and Parasitic Infections	181
A. Daugschies and A. Joachim	

Remote Sensing and Geographic Information Systems in Epidemiology	
An Overview of Remote Sensing and Geodesy for Epidemiology and Public	
Health Application	1
S.I. Hay	
Linking Remote Sensing, Land Cover and Disease	37
P.J. CURRAN, P.M. ATKINSON, G.M. FOODY AND E.J. MILTON	
Spatial Statistics and Geographic Information Systems in Epidemiology and	
Public Health	83
T.P. Robinson	
Satellites, Space, Time and the African Trypanosomiases	133
D.J. Rogers	
Earth Observation, Geographic Information Systems and Plasmodium	
falciparum Malaria in Sub-Saharan Africa	175
S.I. HAY, J. OMUMBO, M. CRAIG AND R.W. SNOW	
Ticks and Tick-borne Disease Systems in Space and from Space	219
S.E. Randolph	
The Potential of Geographical Information Systems (GIS) and	
Remote Sensing in the Epidemiology and Control of Human	
Helminth Infections	247
S. BROOKER AND E. MICHAEL	
Advances in Satellite Remote Sensing of Environmental Variables for	
Epidemiological Applications	293
S.J. GOETZ, S.D. PRINCE AND J. SMALL	
Forecasting Diseases Risk for Increased Epidemic Preparedness in	
Public Health	313
M.F. Myers, D.J. Rogers, J. Cox, A. Flauhalt and S.I. Hay	
Education, Outreach and the Future of Remote Sensing in	
Human Health	335
B.L. WOODS, L.R. BECK, B.M. LOBITZ AND M.R. BOBO	

The Molecular Evolution of Trypanosomatidae	1
J.R. Stevens, H.A. Noyes, C.J. Schofield and W. Gibson	
Transovarial Transmission in the Microsporidia	57
A.M. DUNN, R.S. TERRY AND J.E. SMITH	
Adhesive Secretions in the Platyhelminthes	101
I.D. WHITTINGTON AND B.W. CRIBB	
The Use of Ultrasound in Schistosomiasis	225
C.F.R. HATZ	
Ascaris and Ascariasis.	285
D.W.T. CROMPTON	

## Volume 49

Antigenic Variation in Trypanosomes: Enhanced Phenotypic Variation in a	
Eukaryotic Parasite	1
H.D. BARRY AND R. MCCULLOCH	
The Epidemiology and Control of Human African Trypanosomiasis	71
J. Pépin and H.A. Méda	
Apoptosis and Parasitism: from the Parasite to the Host	
Immune Response	132
G.A. DosReis and M.A. Barcinski	
Biology of Echinostomes except <i>Echinostoma</i>	163
B. Fried	

The Malaria-Infected Red Blood Cell: Structural and	
Functional Changes	1
B.M. Cooke, N. Mohandas and R.L. Coppel	
Schistosomiasis in the Mekong Region: Epidemiology	
and Phytogeography	88
S.W. Attwood	
Molecular Aspects of Sexual Development and Reproduction in	
Nematodes and Schistosomes	153
P.R. BOAG, S.E. NEWTON AND R.B. GASSER	
Antiparasitic Properties of Medicinal Plants and Other Naturally	
Occurring Products	200
S. TAGBOTO AND S. TOWNSON	

Aspects of Human Parasites in which Surgical Intervention	
May Be Important	1
D.A. Meyer and B. Fried	
Electron-transfer Complexes in Ascaris Mitochondria	95
K. Kita and S. Takamiya	
Cestode Parasites: Application of In Vivo and In Vitro Models for Studies of	
the Host–Parasite Relationship	133
M. Siles-Lucas and A. Hemphill	

## Volume 52

The Ecology of Fish Parasites with Particular Reference to Helminth Parasites and their Salmonid Fish Hosts in Welsh Rivers: A Review of Some of	
the Central Questions	1
J.D. Thomas	
Biology of the Schistosome Genus Trichobilharzia	155
P. Horák, L. Kolárová and C.M. Adema	
The Consequences of Reducing Transmission of Plasmodium falciparum	
in Africa	234
R.W. SNOW AND K. MARSH	
Cytokine-Mediated Host Responses during Schistosome Infections:	
Walking the Fine Line Between Immunological Control	
and Immunopathology	265
K.F. Hoffmann, T.A. Wynn and D.W. Dunne	

Interactions between Tsetse and Trypanosomes with Implications for the	
Control of Trypanosomiasis	1
S. Aksoy, W.C. Gibson and M.J. Lehane	
Enzymes Involved in the Biogenesis of the Nematode Cuticle	85
A.P. PAGE AND A.D. WINTER	
Diagnosis of Human Filariases (Except Onchocerciasis)	149
M. Walther and R. Muller	

The Evolution of Parasitism – a Phylogenetic Perspective	
Introduction - Phylogenies, Phylogenetics, Parasites and the Evolution	
of Parasitism	1
D.T.J. Littlewood	
Cryptic Organelles in Parasitic Protists and Fungi	9
B.A.P. WILLIAMS AND P.J. KEELING	
Phylogenetic Insights into the Evolution of Parasitism in Hymenoptera	69
J.B. Whitfield	
Nematoda: Genes, Genomes and the Evolution of Parasitism	101
M.L. BLAXTER	
Life Cycle Evolution in the Digenea: a New Perspective from Phylogeny	197
T.H. CRIBB, R.A. BRAY, P.D. OLSON AND D. T. J. LITTLEWOOD	
Progress in Malaria Research: the Case for Phylogenetics	255
S.M. RICH AND F.J. AYALA	
Phylogenies, the Comparative Method and Parasite Evolutionary Ecology	281
S. Morand and R. Poulin	
Recent Results in Cophylogeny Mapping	303
M.A. CHARLESTON	
Inference of Viral Evolutionary Rates from Molecular Sequences	331
A. DRUMMOND, O.G. PYBUS AND A. RAMBAUT	
Detecting Adaptive Molecular Evolution: Additional Tools for	
the Parasitologist	359
J.O. McInerney, D.T.J. Littlewood and C.J. Creevey	

### Volume 55 (Cumulative Subject Index – Vols. 28–52)

Contents of Volumes 28–52	1
Cumulative Subject Indexes for Volumes 28–52	15
Contributors to Volumes 28–52	213

Glycoinositolphospholipid from Trypanosoma cruzi: Structure,	
Biosynthesis and Immunobiology	1
J.O. Previato, R. Wait, C. Jones, G.A. DosReis,	
A.R. TODESCHINI, N. HEISE AND L.M. PREVIATA	
Biodiversity and Evolution of the Myxozoa	43
E.U. CANNING AND B. OKAMURA	

### CONTENTS OF VOLUMES IN THIS SERIES

The Mitochondrial Genomics of Parasitic Nematodes of Socio-Economic Importance: Recent Progress, and Implications for Population Genetics and Systematics	133
M. HU, N.B. CHILTON AND R.B. GASSER The Cytoskeleton and Motility in Apicomplexan Invasion	213
Volume 57	
Canine Leishmaniasis	1

J. NIETO	
Sexual Biology of Schistosomes	89
H. Moné and J. Boissier	
Review of the Trematode Genus Ribeiroia (Psilostomidae): Ecology,	
Life History, and Pathogenesis with Special Emphasis on the	
Amphibian Malformation Problem	191
P.T.J. Johnson, D.R. Sutherland, J.M. Kinsella and	
K.B. Lunde	
The Trichuris muris System: a Paradigm of Resistance and Susceptibility	
to Intestinal Nematode Infection	255
L.J. CLIFFE AND R.K. GRENCIS	
Scabies: New Future for a Neglected Disease	309
S.F. Walton, D.C. Holt, B.J. Currie and D.J. Kemp	

# Volume 58

Leishmania spp.: on the Interactions they Establish with Antigen-Presenting	
Cells of their Mammalian Hosts	1
JC. Antoine, E. Prina, N. Courret and T. Lang	
Variation in <i>Giardia</i> : Implications for Taxonomy and Epidemiology	69
R.C.A. THOMPSON AND P.T. MONIS	
Recent Advances in the Biology of Echinostoma species in the	
"revolutum" Group	139
B. Fried and T.K. Graczyk	
Human Hookworm Infection in the 21st Century	197
S. BROOKER, J. BETHONY AND P.J. HOTEZ	
The Curious Life-Style of the Parasitic Stages of Gnathiid Isopods	289
N.J. Smit and A.J. Davies	

451

Genes and Susceptibility to Leishmaniasis	1
Emanuela Handman, Colleen Elso and Simon Foote	
Cryptosporidium and Cryptosporidiosis.	77
R.C.A. THOMPSON, M.E. OLSON, G. ZHU, S. ENOMOTO,	
MITCHELL S.ABRAHAMSEN AND N.S. HIJJAWI	
Ichthyophthirius multifiliis Fouquet and Ichthyophthiriosis in Freshwater	
Teleosts	161
R.A. Matthews	
Biology of the Phylum Nematomorpha	245
B. HANELT, F. THOMAS AND A. SCHMIDT-RHAESA	

### Volume 60

Sulfur-Containing Amino Acid Metabolism in Parasitic Protozoa	1
Tomoyoshi Nozaki, Vahab Ali and Masaharu Tokoro	
The Use and Implications of Ribosomal DNA Sequencing for the	
Discrimination of Digenean Species	101
Matthew J. Nolan and Thomas H. Cribb	
Advances and Trends in the Molecular Systematics of the Parasitic	
Platyhelminthes	165
Peter D. Olson and Vasyl V. Tkach	
Wolbachia Bacterial Endosymbionts of Filarial Nematodes	245
Mark J. Taylor, Claudio Bandi and Achim Hoerauf	
The Biology of Avian Eimeria with an Emphasis on their Control by	
Vaccination	285
Martin W. Shirley, Adrian L. Smith and Fiona M. Tomley	

Control of Human Parasitic Diseases	
Control of Human Parasitic Diseases: Context and Overview	1
David H. Molyneux	
Malaria Chemotherapy	47
Peter Winstanley and Stephen Ward	
Insecticide-Treated Nets	77
JENNY HILL, JO LINES AND MARK ROWLAND	
Control of Chagas Disease	129
Yoichi Yamagata and Jun Nakagawa	
Human African Trypanosomiasis: Epidemiology and Control	167
E.M. Fèvre, K. Picozzi, J. Jannin, S.C. Welburn and I. Maudlin	
Chemotherapy in the Treatment and Control of Leishmaniasis	223
Jorge Alvar, Simon Croft and Piero Olliaro	
Dracunculiasis (Guinea Worm Disease) Eradication	275
Ernesto Ruiz-Tiben and Donald R. Hopkins	

### CONTENTS OF VOLUMES IN THIS SERIES

Intervention for the Control of Soil-Transmitted Helminthiasis in the	
Community	311
MARCO ALBONICO, ANTONIO MONTRESOR, D.W.T. CROMPTON AND	
Lorenzo Savioli	
Control of Onchocerciasis	349
BOAKYE A. BOATIN AND FRANK O. RICHARDS, JR.	
Lymphatic Filariasis: Treatment, Control and Elimination	395
Eric A. Ottesen	
Control of Cystic Echinococcosis/Hydatidosis: 1863-2002	443
P.S. CRAIG AND E. LARRIEU	
Control of Taenia solium Cysticercosis/Taeniosis	509
Arve Lee Willingham III and Dirk Engels	
Implementation of Human Schistosomiasis Control: Challenges and	
Prospects.	567
Alan Fenwick, David Rollinson and Vaughan Southgate	

Global Mapping of Infectious Diseases	
Models for Vectors and Vector-Borne Diseases	1
D.J. Rogers	
Global Environmental Data for Mapping Infectious Disease	
Distribution	37
S.I. HAY, A.J. TATEM, A.J. GRAHAM, S.J. GOETZ AND	
D.J. Rogers	
Issues of Scale and Uncertainty in the Global Remote Sensing of	
Disease	79
P.M. Atkinson and A.J. Graham	
Determining Global Population Distribution: Methods, Applications and	
Data	119
D.L. Balk, U. Deichmann, G. Yetman, F. Pozzi, S.I. Hay and	
A. Nelson	
Defining the Global Spatial Limits of Malaria Transmission in 2005	157
C.A. GUERRA, R.W. SNOW AND S.I. HAY	
The Global Distribution of Yellow Fever and Dengue	181
D.J. ROGERS, A.J. WILSON, S.I. HAY AND A.J. GRAHAM	
Global Epidemiology, Ecology and Control of Soil-Transmitted Helminth	
Infections	221
S. BROOKER, A.C.A. CLEMENTS AND D.A.P. BUNDY	
Tick-borne Disease Systems: Mapping Geographic and	
Phylogenetic Space.	263
S.E. RANDOLPH AND D.J. ROGERS	
Global Transport Networks and Infectious Disease Spread	293
A.J. TATEM, D.J. ROGERS AND S.I. HAY	
Climate Change and Vector-Borne Diseases	345
D.J. ROGERS AND S.E. RANDOLPH	
## Volume 63

Phylogenetic Analyses of Parasites in the New Millennium	1
David A. Morrison	
Targeting of Toxic Compounds to the Trypanosome's Interior	125
Michael P. Barrett and Ian H. Gilbert	
Making Sense of the Schistosome Surface.	185
PATRICK J. SKELLY AND R. ALAN WILSON	
Immunology and Pathology of Intestinal Trematodes in Their Definitive Hosts	285
RAFAEL TOLEDO, JOSÉ-GUILLERMO ESTEBAN AND BERNARD FRIED	
Systematics and Epidemiology of <i>Trichinella</i>	367
Edoardo Pozio and K. Darwin Murrell	



*Plate 1.1* Life cycle of *Leishmania donovani*. During a blood meal, an infected phlebotomine sand fly releases metacyclic promastigotes into vertebrate hosts such as humans. The parasites are then phagocytosed by host macrophages and change into amastigotes. After amastigote multiplication and rupture of the macrophage, the amastigotes invade neighbouring macrophages. The life cycle is complete when a phlebotomine female is infected while feeding on the blood of an infected host. The amastigotes released in the sand fly's intestine change into procyclic promastigotes before migrating towards the pharynx and the proboscis (WHO, http://www.who.int/tdr/diseases/leish/leish.htm). CL, cutaneous leishmaniasis; VL, visceral leishmaniasis.



*Plate 1.2* Female *Phlebotomus papatasi*, a vector of *Leishmania*. Phlebotomine sand flies are small, with a body length seldom exceeding 3 mm. Their colour ranges from almost white to almost black. Three features make them easy to recognize: when at rest, they characteristically hold their wings at an angle above the abdomen; they are hairy; and, when coming to feed, they typically hop around on the host before settling down to bite. Unlike mosquitoes, their attack is silent (Killick-Kendrick, 1999) (WHO, http://www.who.int/tropical\_diseases/databases/imagelib.pl?imageid = 9106001).



*Plate 1.3* Promastigotes of *Leishmania tropica* (from culture); note multiplication by longitudinal binary fission (arrow) (http://www.msu.edu/course/zol/316/lsppscope.htm; photo by Brian E. Keas, reproduced with permission).



*Plate 1.4* Amastigotes of *Leishmania donovani* within macrophages in culture (arrows); (photo by Bruno Bucheton, reproduced with permission; all rights reserved).



*Plate 1.6* Pathology of leishmaniasis. (A) Cutaneous leishmaniasis (photo by Richard D. Ward, University of Keele, UK, reproduced with permission; http://www.keele.ac.uk/depts/aep/staff/rdwres.htm). (B) Mucocutaneous leishmaniasis, resulting in total disfigurement of the face (photo by Wolfgang Bommer, University Hospital Goettingen, Germany, reproduced with permission). (C) Diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis (photo by Philippe Desjeux, World Health Organization, reproduced with permission; http://www.who.int/leishmaniasis/en/). (D) Visceral leishmaniasis (photo by Philippe Desjeux, World Health Organization, reproduced with permission; http://www.who.int/leishmaniasis/disease\_epidemiology/en/index.html).



*Plate 3.17* (A) Transmission electron micrograph of spermatozoans and of (B) fluorescence microscopy image of inseminated sperm within the ECFR of a bis-Benzimide-stained (see Harris *et al.*, 1997) *Gyrodactylus gasterostei* specimen.



*Plate 3.25* The distribution of *Gyrodactylus salaris* on Atlantic salmon in Norwegian river systems per August 2005 since the first observation of the species in mid-1970s. In 2006, one new river is infected, Ranelva, *Region 3—Vefsn Region* (Nordland County); see text. (Reproduced with permission of the Directorate for Natural Resources, Trondheim, Norway.)



*Plate 4.2* Phylogenetic trees based on modern molecular markers. The overall pattern is comparable to that of Figure 1, clearly distinguishing between classical ethnic groups, although the overall difference between groups is limited [this page: neighbour-joining network of population similarities based on the frequencies of 100 *Alu* insertion sequences (Jorde and Wooding, 2004); next page: least-squares tree for 37 populations based on 80 independent loci (41 haplotyped loci, 36 biallelic loci and 3 STRPs) with about 620 statistically independent alleles, after Tishkoff and Kidd (2004)].



Plate 4.2 (continued)